Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia

Véronique Leblond Steve Treon Meletios Dimoploulos *Editors*



Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia

Véronique Leblond • Steve Treon • Meletios Dimoploulos Editors

Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia



Editors Véronique Leblond Haematology Hôpital Pitié-Salpêtriêre Paris, France

Meletios Dimoploulos School of Medicine University of Athens Athens, Greece Steve Treon Dana Farber Cancer Institute Boston, Massachusetts USA

ISBN 978-3-319-22583-8 ISBN 978-3-319-22584-5 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5

Library of Congress Control Number: 2016953044

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG Switzerland

Foreword

This book is dedicated to Jan Gosta Waldenström who described, more than 70 years ago, two patients who had a disease with features of both multiple myeloma and lymphoma but distinct from both. It was characterized by the presence of a large IgM heavy chain and either kappa or lambda light chains (monoclonal). The molecular weight of the protein approached 1 million and was produced by lymphoplasmacytic cells in the bone marrow. It is now known as Waldenström's macroglobulinemia.

Advances not only in diagnosis but especially the introduction of new, novel agents for this disease in the past 15 years justify a book because of the marked changes in therapy.

A collection of more than 20 experts in the field of Waldenström's macroglobulinemia have collaborated in producing this multiauthored book.

We hope this book will help to promote further interest and update the readers on the diagnosis and management of this uncommon hematologic disorder. We are grateful to the multiple authors from around the world.

Medicine and Laboratory Medicine Division of Hematology, Mayo Clinic Rochester, MN USA Robert A. Kyle, MD

Contents

Part I Tumor Cells and Microenvironment

| 1 | Waldenström Macroglobulinaemia: Pathological Featuresand Diagnostic AssessmentRoger G. Owen, Andy C. Rawstron, and Ruth M. de Tute | 3 | | |
|---|---|----|--|--|
| 2 | Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia Immunophenotype Noemí Puig, Enrique M. Ocio, Cristina Jiménez, Bruno Paiva, Jesús F. San Miguel, and Ramón García-Sanz | | | |
| 3 | Predispositions and Origins of Waldenstrom Macroglobulinemia: Implications from Genetic Analysis | 35 | | |
| 4 | Cytogenetics in Waldenström Macroglobulinemia (WM) Florence Nguyen-Khac | 49 | | |
| 5 | Genetic and Signaling Abnormalities in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia Zachary R. Hunter, Guang Yang, Lian Xu, Xia Liu, Jorge J. Castillo, and Steven P. Treon | 53 | | |
| 6 | Molecular Pathways in Growth and Survival: Epigenomics Antonio Sacco, Michele Moschetta, Salomon Manier, Giuseppe Rossi, Irene M. Ghobrial, and Aldo M. Roccaro | 67 | | |
| 7 | The Bone Marrow Microenvironment and Tumor CellsInteractions in Waldenström's MacroglobulinemiaEfstathios Kastritis, Aldo Roccaro, Magdalini Migou,and Irene Ghobrial | 73 | | |
| 8 | Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinaemia: Immunosurveillance and the Immune Micro-environment | 83 | | |

| Par | II Epidemiology and Genetic Predisposition | | | | | |
|-----|--|-------|--|--|--|--|
| 9 | Epidemiology of Waldenström Macroglobulinemia Vilhjálmur Steingrímsson, Ola Landgren, and Sigurður Yngvi Kristinsson | | | | | |
| 10 | Genetic Predisposition to Waldenström Macroglobulinemia Mary L. McMaster and Helga M. Ögmundsdóttir | | | | | |
| 11 | Immunoglobulin Type M Monoclonal Gammopathy of Undetermined Significance (IgM-MGUS) Mary L. McMaster, Helga M. Ögmundsdóttir, Sigurdur Y. Kristinsson, and Robert A. Kyle | | | | | |
| Par | III Clinical Features | | | | | |
| 12 | Hyperviscosity Syndrome, Cold Agglutinin Hemolytic Anemia, and Cryoglobulinemia | 171 | | | | |
| 13 | Neuropathy in Waldenström's Macroglobulinaemia | 185 | | | | |
| 14 | IgM Amyloidosis Morie A. Gertz, Taimur Sher, Angela Dispenzieri, and Francis K. Buadi | | | | | |
| 15 | The Bing-Neel Syndrome | 209 | | | | |
| 16 | Unusual Manifestations of IgM Monoclonal Gammopathies Giampaolo Merlini, Bouchra Asli, and Jean-Paul Fermand | | | | | |
| Par | IV Laboratory Investigations | | | | | |
| 17 | Laboratory Investigations and Findings: Hematological Abnormalities, Biochemical Investigations, Free Light and Heavy Chains | 239 | | | | |
| Par | V Response | | | | | |
| 18 | Response Assessment in Waldenström's Macroglobulinaemia | . 265 | | | | |

Eva Kimby, Roger G. Owen, and Enrica Morra

| Part | t VI Prognostic Factors | | | | |
|------|---|-----|--|--|--|
| 19 | Risk Stratification in Waldenström Macroglobulinemia Pierre Morel and Bénédicte Hivert | 279 | | | |
| Part | t VII Treatment Options and Recommendations | | | | |
| 20 | Indications for Treatment of Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia Robert A. Kyle, Stephen M. Ansell, and Prashant Kapoor | 297 | | | |
| 21 | Immunotherapy in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia | | | | |
| 22 | Signal Inhibitors in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia Steven P. Treon, Guang Yang, Zachary R. Hunter, and Jorge J. Castillo | 327 | | | |
| 23 | Immunomodulatory Agents and Proteasome Inhibitors in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia | 335 | | | |
| 24 | High-Dose Therapy and Haemopoietic Stem Cell Transplantationin Waldenström's MacroglobulinaemiaC. Kyriakou | 345 | | | |
| 25 | Long-Term Toxicity of Therapy in Waldenström Macroglobulinemia Enrica Morra, Anna Maria Frustaci, Paola Picardi, Antonino Greco, and Alessandra Tedeschi | 357 | | | |
| 26 | Treatment Recommendations in Waldenström Macroglobulinemia Véronique Leblond, Meletios A. Dimopoulos, and Steven P. Treon | 367 | | | |
| Inde | ех | 371 | | | |

Part I

Tumor Cells and Microenvironment

Waldenström Macroglobulinaemia: Pathological Features and Diagnostic Assessment

Roger G. Owen, Andy C. Rawstron, and Ruth M. de Tute

1.1 Morphology and Immunophenotype

Waldenström macroglobulinaemia (WM) is a distinct B-cell lymphoproliferative disorder (LPD) characterised by IgM monoclonal gammopathy and bone marrow (BM) infiltration by lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma (Fig. 1.1) LPL) [1]. The latter is defined as a small B-cell neoplasm composed of lymphocytes, plasma cells and plasmacytoid lymphocytes which does not meet the criteria of other small B-cell disorders [2]. Unfortunately LPL was shown to be one of the least reproducible lymphoma categories by the Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Classification Project [3]. Similarly, an IgM monoclonal (M) protein, regardless of concentration, cannot be considered indicative of a diagnosis of WM as they may be demonstrable in a proportion of patients with all B-cell LPD, with considerable overlap in serum concentrations [4–6].

Detailed morphologic and immunophenotypic assessment of the bone marrow along with close clinical correlation is therefore required if a definitive diagnosis of WM is to be made. It is good practice that a trephine biopsy be examined in addition to bone marrow aspirate cytology as the pattern of infiltration is important to assess, and it will also provide a better overall assessment of the degree of infiltration [7, 8]. LPL is a LPD comprised of small lymphocytes in which there is morphological evidence of plasma cell differentiation (Fig. 1.1) [2]. This phenomenon is most readily appreciated on trephine biopsy sections and can be further accentuated by staining sections with Giemsa as well as haematoxylin and eosin or more definitively by immunohistochemistry using plasma cell-specific antibodies such as CD138, CD319 and IRF4 (Fig. 1.1c, e, f). The pattern of infiltration is typically interstitial, nodular or diffuse, while a purely paratrabecular pattern is unusual and raises the possibility of follicular lymphoma [7]. Additional morphological clues

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_1

R.G. Owen (🖂) • A.C. Rawstron • R.M. de Tute

HMDS Laboratory, St James's Institute of Oncology, Leeds LS9 7TF, UK e-mail: rogerowen@nhs.net

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017



Fig. 1.1 Morphological features of WM. Bone marrow aspirate smears typically show an excess of lymphocytes and plasmacytoid forms with a minority population of plasma cells (image **a**). Trephine biopsy sections show similar appearances with a predominant lymphoid population and variable numbers of plasma cells (highlighted on image **b**). Plasma cell differentiation may be more readily appreciated on Giemsa-stained sections, which also highlight the increase in reactive mast cells typical of WM (image **c**). Immunoglobulin inclusions such as Dutcher bodies are also considered indicative of plasma cell differentiation (image **d**). Plasma cell differentiation may also be highlighted using CD138 immunostaining (image **e**), and this may be particularly prominent in a minority of cases such that IgM myeloma becomes part of the differential diagnosis (image **f**)

can be obtained from the trephine sections, and these include the presence of increased mast cells (readily seen on Giemsa-stained sections or highlighted with CD117 or mast cell tryptase staining) (Fig. 1.1c). These mast cells appear to provide growth and survival signals via CD40-ligand (CD154), APRIL and BLYS, the expression of which is in turn stimulated by soluble CD27 secreted by the LPL cells [9, 10]. Cytoplasmic immunoglobulin inclusions are also characteristically seen in WM and are considered further morphological evidence of plasma cell differentiation. Russell bodies are single or multiple ovoid cytoplasmic inclusions, while Dutcher bodies are also cytoplasmic in nature but occur as single large inclusions, which overlie or invaginate the nucleus (Fig. 1.1d) [11].

WM is a heterogeneous disorder in which there are significant variations in serum IgM levels and BM cellular content. Some studies have failed to demonstrate a correlation between serum IgM levels and overall BM cellular burden [12, 13]. Similarly, prognostic factor analyses have failed to demonstrate a reproducible effect of IgM concentration on overall outcome except in the context of very high levels when additional factors such as cardiovascular and cerebrovascular complications may also contribute to poor survival [14, 15]. However, when flow cytometry is used to quantify bone marrow B-cells and plasma cells, it is noted that while monotypic B-cells are demonstrable in all patients, they do not appear to correlate with IgM concentration. In contrast the percentage of plasma cells, despite representing a minority population in many patients, does correlate with IgM [16]. This is further supported by studies in which the extent of bone marrow B-cell and plasma cell infiltration has been estimated using CD20 and CD138 immunostaining on trephine biopsy sections [17, 18].

Immunophenotypic studies are necessary for a definitive diagnosis of WM, and this may be achieved using either flow cytometry or immunohistochemistry although the former allows for a more extensive assessment of antigenic determinants [1, 7, 19]. In WM it is generally possible to demonstrate both monotypic B-cells and monotypic plasma cells but extended phenotyping is usually only performed on the B-cell component. A recent study has shown that the majority of WM patients have a characteristic immunophenotype. In addition to the almost universal expression of the pan B-cell antigens CD19, CD20 and CD79, approximately 90% of cases have a CD22^{weak} CD25⁺ CD27⁺ IgM⁺ phenotype but lack expression of CD5, CD10, CD11c, CD23 and CD103 [19]. This provides a robust basis on which to make a diagnosis and in particular allows distinction from marginal zone lymphoma, which frequently has a CD22⁺CD25⁻CD103⁺ immunophenotype.

Flow cytometric studies may also provide useful prognostic information. The presence of 100 % light chain restriction within the bone marrow B-cells predicts, in multivariate models, for progression in patients with asymptomatic WM and overall survival in patients with symptomatic disease [19]. This criterion may also be used in conjunction with the International Prognostic Scoring System for WM (IPSSWM). Patients defined as high risk by IPSSWM who also have 100 % light chain restricted B-cells, a combination, which defines 20 % of symptomatic patients, have a particularly poor outcome (median survival 16 months) [14, 19].

It is also recognised that a proportion of patients with LPL have IgG or IgA rather than IgM M proteins. Recent data would suggest that these patients are also characterised by a CD22^{weak} CD25⁺ CD27⁺ immunophenotype as well as the MYD88 L265P mutation [20]. This has clear therapeutic implications in the era of targeted therapies but also suggests that such cases could also be included in WM clinical trials.

1.2 Extramedullary Involvement

Symptomatic extramedullary involvement is uncommon at diagnosis in WM. Lymphadenopathy is present in approximately 15% of patients at presentation but may be more common at disease progression but is infrequently the primary reason for treatment [13, 14]. Lymph node biopsies in addition to showing a lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate may show extracellular immunoglobulin deposition (both amyloid and non-congophilic) along with a giant cell reaction [21]. In some instances, this histiocytic response is particularly prominent resulting in a so-called pseudo-Gaucher appearance. Splenic involvement is relatively uncommon and splenectomy/splenic biopsy is rarely performed for diagnosis but red pulp infiltration is typical [22].

Examination of the peripheral blood can also be informative in WM. Red cell agglutination and rouleaux formation may be seen although an overt lymphocytosis is rare. Recent studies, using allele-specific PCR for the MYD88 L265P mutation (see below), have demonstrated the presence of low-level peripheral blood involvement in the majority of patients with untreated WM but also a significant proportion of patients with IgM MGUS [23]. Further studies are warranted as non-invasive methods are clearly desirable for both diagnosis and disease response assessment.

In a small minority (<5%) of patients, involvement of extramedullary sites other than the lymph node and spleen is documented although this does not appear to confer a poor survival outcome. Sites include the lung, central nervous system (CNS), soft tissue, bone and kidney [24]. CNS involvement has been best characterised in WM, the so-called Bing-Neel syndrome. This can be the presenting feature in WM but more commonly occurs as a progression event in patients with an established diagnosis although not necessarily in the context of systemic relapse [24–26]. Diagnosis can be made in the majority of patients through a combination of MRI imaging and CSF examination with flow cytometry showing monotypic B-cells and/or allele-specific PCR demonstrating the MYD88 L265P mutation [27, 28]. In some patients meningeal or parenchymal brain biopsies are however required for definitive diagnosis.

Renal dysfunction is a well-recognised feature of plasma cell myeloma but it is increasingly recognised that a range of renal syndromes can occur in the context monoclonal gammopathies regardless of heavy chain isotype, underlying pathologic diagnosis and disease burden [29, 30]. The concept of monoclonal gammopathy of renal significance (MGRS) has emerged, and a range of pathologies including light chain deposition disease (amyloid and non-amyloid types),

membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis, cast nephropathy, acquired Fanconi syndrome as well as direct tumour infiltration have all been described in WM [31, 32]. Renal biopsy should therefore be considered in WM patients with unexplained renal impairment and/or significant proteinuria.

1.3 Cytogenetics and Molecular Genetics

Conventional karyotyping has limited applicability in WM as it is difficult to obtain tumour metaphases because of the low rate of cell proliferation. There are no disease defining cytogenetic abnormalities but translocations involving the immunoglobulin heavy chain (IGH) locus at 14q32 are characteristically rare, and this can be helpful in distinguishing WM from IgM myeloma which is characterised by a high incidence of IGH translocations and the t(11;14) in particular (see below) [33–37]. Further data has been obtained with the use of high-resolution methodologies such as array-based comparative genomic hybridisation and single nucleotide polymorphism arrays. These studies have shown a wide range of copy number abnormalities in up to 80 % of patients with a median of three abnormalities per patient. Deletion of chromosome 6q appears to be the commonest cytogenetic abnormality occurring in up to 50% but other recurrent abnormalities include losses at 11q, 13q and 17p as well as partial or whole gains of chromosomes 3, 4, 18 and X [38-40]. These abnormalities have limited applicability in the diagnostic context but del 6q, del 11q and trisomy 4 appear to be associated with adverse clinical and laboratory parameters, while deletion of TP53 appears to predict for a short progression-free interval and duration of response [41, 42].

In 2012 whole genome sequencing (WGS) demonstrated the presence of a single T-to-C point mutation in the myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MYD88) gene at chromosome 3p22.2. This results in a leucine-to-proline amino acid change at position 265 and has been confirmed to be present in approximately 90% of patients with WM and results in activation of both interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase (IRAK) and Bruton tyrosine kinase (BTK) which ultimately results in downstream translocation of nuclear factor kappa B (NFkB) and malignant cell growth (43, 44]. Further studies have confirmed the very high incidence of the MYD88 L265P mutation in WM and its relative rarity in other B-cell LPD and myeloma [45-48]. This has obvious diagnostic utility, and allele-specific PCR strategies have been developed and are in routine use in many laboratories [45, 46, 48, 49]. Allele-specific PCR strategies have reported sensitivities of 0.1-0.25 % but it is recommended that each laboratory determines their own sensitivity thresholds through dilution experiments. There is a clear rationale for the use of allele-specific PCR in the routine assessment of patients with suspected WM but a small minority of patients would be missed with this approach. These patients may have alternative MYD88 mutations such as the S243N or an L265P occurring as a consequence TG-to-CT substitution rather than the single T-to-C point mutation [50]. WGS studies have also demonstrated a number of additional recurrent mutations occurring in >5% of patients. These involve in decreasing frequency, the following genes: CXCR4, ARID1A, CD79b, TP53 and MYBBP1A [51].

CXCR4 mutations occur in approximately 30% of patients and involve the carboxyl terminal of the gene which is responsible for regulating signalling following ligation with SDF-1a (CXCL12). A number of truncating nonsense and frameshift mutations have been described, and these are similar to those described in a known immunodeficiency disorder the warts, hypogammaglobulinaemia, infection and myelokathexis (WHIM) syndrome [51]. These mutations were initially evaluated by Sanger sequencing but recent studies with sensitive allele-specific PCR have suggested a higher incidence of mutation [52]. In addition these studies have demonstrated that CXCR4 mutations are almost exclusively seen in patients with the MYD88 L265P and appear to be subclonal in nature and that multiple mutations may occur in some patients [51, 52]. CXCR4 mutations are also demonstrable in approximately one third of IgM MGUS [52].

Recent studies have also demonstrated that tumour genotype has a profound influence on clinical phenotype, response to targeted therapy and overall survival. Patients who are wild type for MYD88 L265P are characterised by lower levels of IgM and marrow involvement, poor quality categorical responses to ibrutinib and an inferior overall survival outcome [53, 54]. Patients with CXCR4 mutations have a lower incidence of lymphadenopathy, and in particular those with nonsense mutations have higher levels of BM involvement and serum IgM and as a consequence more frequent hyperviscosity syndrome [53].

Immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region (*IGHV*) sequence analysis has been performed by a number of investigators, and this shows evidence of somatic hypermutation without intraclonal diversity in virtually all patients which is consistent with an origin in a post-germinal centre B-cell. Furthermore these studies have also demonstrated preferential use of *VH3* segments and the *VH3-23* in particular with no evidence of canonical motifs indicative of antigen selection [55–59]. This is in contrast to splenic marginal zone lymphoma which is characterised by both mutated and unmutated *IGHV* with a significant proportion of cases showing preferential use of *VH1-2* with canonical motifs [59].

1.4 IgM MGUS

It is important that IgG and IgA MGUS be distinguished from IgM MGUS as the former is a precursor of myeloma and the latter a precursor of WM or other B-cell LPD. IgM MGUS is defined by IgM monoclonal gammopathy without morphological evidence of BM infiltration or other features indicative of an underlying LPD such as lymphadenopathy [1]. It is however recognised that clonal B-cells are demonstrable in a significant proportion of patients without morphological evidence of BM disease. It has been demonstrated that B-cells comprise approximately 2% of total BM cells in IgM MGUS and that a median of 75% are monotypic, while only a small minority (~1%) of patients show complete light chain restriction and >10% B-cells [19]. This latter observation may provide a more meaningful

and reproducible definition of IgM MGUS. Similarly the MYD88 L265P mutation is demonstrable in approximately 50% of cases, while CXCR4 mutations and specific copy number abnormalities (+4, del 6q, +12 and +18q) are demonstrable in a significant minority of patients [40, 45, 46, 48, 52, 60].

The role of marrow assessment in asymptomatic individuals is not established but an arbitrary cut-off of 10 g/l has been proposed in some guidelines [61]. Bone marrow examination should however be considered at lower IgM concentrations particularly if the patient is suspected of having an IgM-related syndrome (see below). If marrow examination is performed, it is important that a trephine biopsy be obtained in addition to a marrow aspirate and that flow cytometry and molecular studies for MYD88 L265P be performed as they provide prognostic information. Some asymptomatic patients will be reclassified as asymptomatic WM following marrow examination and by definition have a greater risk of progression to symptomatic disease requiring therapy [62]. Similarly IgM MGUS patients with the MYD88 L265P mutation show a greater rate of progression to symptomatic disease [63]. It is unclear whether this prognostic impact relates to the presence or absence of the mutation per se or reflects disease burden above and below the sensitivity threshold of allele-specific PCR.

1.5 IgM-Related Syndromes

In a proportion of patients with IgM monoclonal gammopathy, clinical features may occur as a consequence of the physico-chemical and immunological properties of the M protein rather than disease burden. A number of syndromes are recognised, and these include anti-myelin-associated-glycoprotein (MAG) peripheral neuropathy, cold agglutinin disease (CAD), cryoglobulinaemia, Schnitzler syndrome and acquired von Willebrand disease [13]. There is limited specific pathological data in these disorders but overall marrow burdens are typically low, and many patients would be formally classified as IgM MGUS.

In CAD the monoclonal IgM (typically kappa) has binding specificity for I/i red cell antigens causing complement activation and phagocytosis by the reticuloendothelial system. The pathological features underlying CAD have been recently described [64]. Morphological evidence of marrow infiltration is demonstrable in the majority of patients but the level of infiltration is low (median 10%) and a nodular pattern is typical. Monotypic plasma cells are seen but these surround the lymphoid nodules but also show a dispersed interstitial pattern. Monoclonal B-cells are usually demonstrable by flow cytometry in those patients lacking morphological evidence of disease [64, 65]. There is some evidence to suggest that there may be significant immunophenotypic and genotypic differences between WM and CAD. Flow cytometry has shown that CAD B-cells show higher levels of CD19, CD79 and IgM compared to WM B-cells [65]. Similarly, *IGHV* sequencing has demonstrated almost universal usage of the *IGHV4-34* in CAD while *IGHV3* genes predominate in WM. The *IGHV4-34* framework region 1 (FR1) is mainly responsible for I-antigen binding [55–59, 66]. Two studies have also suggested a lower incidence of the MYD88 L265P mutation in CAD [64, 65].

1.6 IgM Plasma Cell Myeloma

In a proportion of patients with WM (up to 20 % in some series), the degree plasma cell differentiation may be such that plasma cells are the predominant cell type and IgM myeloma becomes part of the differential diagnosis (Fig. 1.1f) [67]. This phenomenon may also be seen at disease progression and may be promoted by rituximab-based therapies [68–70] (see below). Although this is a rare scenario, it is essential that a correct diagnosis be made given the availability of targeted therapies in WM and the poor clinical outcome in IgM myeloma [54, 71]. For a diagnosis of WM to be made, a CD20⁺ IgM⁺ B-cell component needs to be demonstrated, and this is most readily done by flow cytometry, which may also demonstrate the WM-specific immunophenotype [19]. Similarly WM plasma cells lack the phenotypic characteristics of myeloma plasma cells such as the absence of CD19 and the expression of CD56 and cyclin D1 [19, 33, 67].

IgM myeloma is characterised by translocations involving the *IGH* locus at 14q32 and the *CCND1-IGH* translocation in particular, and while only limited numbers of cases have been assessed, the MYD88 L265P appears to be lacking [33, 37, 72].

1.7 Assessment of Bone Marrow Response

Criteria for the assessment of post-treatment response were first proposed in 2003 and have been further revised in 2006 and 2013 [73–75]. These have been developed to promote uniform reporting of clinical trial data, and the response categories are predominantly based upon percentage reduction in IgM as this appears to predict progression-free survival in patients treated with rituximab-containing regimens [76, 77]. It has however become clear that there may be discrepancies between serum IgM and bone marrow responses. IgM responses are typically slow with purine analogue and monoclonal antibody-based therapy as these agents selectively deplete the CD20⁺ B-cell component while sparing the CD138⁺ plasma cell component of the disease [68, 69]. In this context it is possible to demonstrate significant B-cell depletion in the marrow but suboptimal IgM responses. Satisfactory IgM responses may subsequently be documented at a median of 6 months following the completion of therapy in fludarabine-treated patients for instance [68]. Conversely bortezomib-containing regimens may demonstrate excellent IgM responses but suboptimal BM responses [78, 79].

Previous studies in myeloma and CLL have shown the value of quantitative assessment of residual BM disease as there are demonstrable improvements in outcome with each log depletion [80–83]. Furthermore, it is noted that conventional complete response (CR; immunofixation-negative CR in myeloma and iWCLL

defined CR in CLL) fails to retain prognostic significance in multivariate models for both progression and overall survival when considered along with quantitative residual BM disease assessment by flow cytometry [82, 83]. Accurate and reproducible quantitative methods are clearly desirable in WM, and planned sequential BM assessments are encouraged in clinical trials. The most appropriate methodologies have not been established in WM. Flow cytometry can be used to quantitate residual B-cells and is applicable to most patients on the basis of the WM-specific CD22^{weak} CD25⁺ immunophenotype [19]. In this setting a single study has demonstrated that a residual B-cell burden of >5% is associated with an inferior outcome [84]. Given the heterogeneity of cellular responses in the BM, it is important to assess residual plasma cells as well as B-cells and to correlate this with quantitative changes in IgM. It is also possible to quantitatively assess residual disease with molecular methods based either on the presence of the disease defining MYD88 L265P mutation or unique immunoglobulin sequence. Molecular methods are likely to offer greater sensitivity compared to flow cytometry but they will not be able to demonstrate any heterogeneity within B-cell and plasma cell responses [81]. Ideally studies should evaluate the peripheral blood in parallel with the BM as non-invasive methods are clearly desirable.

Repeat BM assessments can provide significant value in the management of individual patients particularly if there are uncertainties surrounding IgM responses or persisting cytopenia. In order to make a detailed assessment of residual infiltrates, it is recognised that both BM aspirate and trephine biopsies should be obtained and that these should be routinely supplemented by flow cytometric and immunohistochemistry studies. Attempts should be made to characterise residual infiltrates with respect to their B-cell and plasma cell content, and immunohistochemical assessment of trephine biopsy sections provides the optimal method at present. CD138 and/or IRF4 may be used to demonstrate residual plasma cells, while CD20 may be used to define residual B-cell infiltration although additional markers such as PAX5 may be necessary in rituximab-treated patients due to the loss of CD20 expression which can be seen in post-treatment specimens.

1.8 Disease Progression and Histologic Transformation

Histologic transformation, primarily to diffuse large B-cell (DLBCL), is a wellrecognised phenomenon in all forms of indolent B-cell LPD. It has been reported to occur in 5–10 % of patients with WM which is similar to the incidence reported in CLL [7, 85–92]. Histologic transformation events have been thought traditionally to occur within a single B-cell clone through the sequential acquisition of additional genetic events. Analysis of paired samples has demonstrated this linear pattern of disease evolution in CLL. It is estimated that approximately 20 additional/novel events are acquired within the predominant CLL clone [93]. A more complex pattern has been demonstrated in follicular lymphoma with transformed and non-transformed clones appearing to arise by divergent evolution from a common precursor through the acquisition of distinct genetic events [94]. This so-called branching pattern of disease progression and transformation is clearly more complex than the traditional linear model of evolution. It is unclear whether disease transformation and progression in WM occurs through branching or linear patterns and detailed assessment of sequential biopsies will be required to clarify.

It is also noted that Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) may have a role in the aetiology of some transformation and progression events in patients with B-cell LPD. These may occur within EBV-infected but clonally unrelated B-cell populations as a consequence of both disease-related and treatment-induced immunosuppression. EBV-associated DLBCL is well recognised in CLL typically occurring in the context of highly immunosuppressive therapy such as purine analogues and alemtuzumab. Immunoglobulin sequencing has shown independent B-cell clones and a poor clinical outcome is typical [95–98]. EBV-associated DLBCL has been reported in WM [99].

EBV-associated mucocutaneous ulcer is also a well-recognised consequence of immunosuppression and is characterised by ulcerative lesions affecting the skin, oropharynx and GI tract. Histologically these lesions consist of a population of large "Hodgkin-like" mononuclear cells, which show expression of CD30 and IRF4 within a polymorphous inflammatory background. The large mononuclear cells, similar to Hodgkin Reed-Sternberg cells, show variable expression of B-cell antigens (CD20, CD79 and PAX5) and the transcription factors OCT2 and BOB1 [100, 101]. EBV-associated mucocutaneous ulcer has been described in WM in the context of fludarabine-based therapy and spontaneous regression can occur [102]. Rare cases of peripheral T cell lymphoma have also been described in WM, and these may also be associated with minority populations of CD30⁺ B-cells showing EBV incorporation [102].

Progression events in which plasma cells dominate have also been described [70, 102]. These can occur in the previously asymptomatic patients but also in heavily pretreated patients and may mimic plasmacytoma/myeloma. Rituximab-based conventional chemotherapy regimens may have a role in this pattern of disease progression given that they have been shown to selectively deplete B-cells in the post-treatment setting [68, 69].

Oncogenic MYD88 mutations, predominantly the L265P, are well described in de novo DLBCL and were originally described in approximately one third of patients with an activated B-cell (ABC) gene expression profile [103]. Subsequent studies have shown a particularly high incidence of the mutation in primary extranodal DLBCL at immune-privileged sites such as the brain, testis and breast [104–114]. It is unclear at this stage whether there is a unifying etiological link between these lymphomas and WM but it is intriguing to note that a recent study has demonstrated the MYD88 mutation in the peripheral blood of patients with primary CNS lymphoma [112].

The complex and diverse nature of disease progression events highlights the importance of detailed pathological evaluation that should include the assessment of EBV by immunohistochemistry and/or in situ hybridisation. The assessment of sequential samples using next-generation sequencing approaches is likely to provide insights into the nature of transformation and disease progression. Ideally

surgical biopsy specimen should be obtained if histologic transformation is suspected and PET imaging can guide biopsy procedures [115, 116].

References

- Owen R, Treon SP, Al-Katib A, et al. Clinicopathological definition of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: consensus panel recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:110–5.
- 2. Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Harris NL, et al. World Health Organization classification of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. Lyon: IARC; 2008.
- The Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma Classification Project. A clinical evaluation of the International Lymphoma Study Group classification of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Blood. 1997;89:3909–18.
- 4. Kyle RA, Garton JP. The spectrum of IgM monoclonal gammopathy in 430 cases. Mayo Clin Proc. 1987;62:719–31.
- 5. Owen RG, Parapia LA, Higginson J, et al. Clinicopathological correlates of IgM paraproteinemias. Clin Lymphoma. 2000;1:39–43.
- 6. Lin P, Hao S, Handy BC, et al. Lymphoid neoplasms associated with IgM paraprotein: a study of 382 patients. Am J Clin Pathol. 2005;123:200–5.
- Owen RG, Barrans SL, Richards SJ, et al. Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Development of diagnostic criteria and identification of prognostic factors. Am J Clin Pathol. 2001;116:420–8.
- 8. Ng AP, Wei A, Bhurani D, et al. The sensitivity of CD138 immunostaining of bone marrow trephine specimens for quantifying marrow involvement in MGUS and myeloma, including samples with a low percentage of plasma cells. Haematologica. 2006;91:972–5.
- Tournilhac O, Santos DD, Xu L, et al. Mast cells in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia support lymphoplasmacytic cell growth through CD154/CD40 signaling. Ann Oncol. 2006;17:1275–82.
- Ho AW, Hatjiharissi E, Ciccarelli BT, et al. CD27-CD70 interactions in the pathogenesis of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2008;112:4683–9.
- 11. Bain BJ. Dutcher bodies. Am J Hematol. 2009;84:589.
- 12. Bartl R, Frisch B, Mahl G, et al. Bone marrow histology in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia. Clinical relevance of subtype recognition. Scand J Haematol. 1983;31:359–75.
- 13. Treon SP. How I treat Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;114:2375-85.
- 14. Morel P, Duhamel A, Gobbi P, et al. International prognostic scoring system for Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;113:4163–70.
- 15. Morel P, Merlini G. Risk stratification in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Expert Rev Hematol. 2012;5:187–99.
- de Tute RM, Rawstron AC, Owen RG. Immunoglobulin M concentration in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: correlation with bone marrow B cells and plasma cells. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2013;13:211–3.
- Pasricha SR, Junega SK, Westerman DA, et al. Bone-marrow plasma cell burden correlates with IgM paraprotein concentration in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia. J Clin Pathol. 2011;64:520–3.
- Kyrtsonis MC, Levidou G, Korkolopoulou P, et al. CD138 expression helps distinguish Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia (WM) from splenic marginal zone lymphoma. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:99–102.
- Paiva B, Montes MC, Garcia-Sanz R, et al. Multiparameter flow cytometry for the identification of the Waldenstrom's clone in IgM-MGUS and Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia: new criteria for differential diagnosis and risk stratification. Leukemia. 2014;28:166–73.

- 20. Medlock R, de Tute R, Shingles J, et al. The presence of MYD88 L265P in non-IgM lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma: implications for diagnosis and therapy. Br J Haematol. 2016; abstract.
- Sargent RL, Cook JR, Aguilera NI, et al. Fluorescence immunophenotypic and interphase cytogenetic characterization of nodal lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2008;32:1643–53.
- 22. Sohani AR, Zukerberg LR. Small B-cell lymphomas of the spleen: how to tell them apart. J Hematop. 2014;7:109–21.
- 23. Xu L, Hunter ZR, Yang G, et al. Detection of MYD88 L265P in peripheral blood of patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Leukemia. 2014;28:1698–704.
- Banwait R, Aljawai Y, Cappuccio J, et al. Extramedullary Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol. 2015;90:100–4.
- Castillo JJ, D'Sa S, Lunn MP, et al. Central nervous system involvement by Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia (Bing-Neel syndrome): a multi-institutional retrospective study. Br J Haematol. 2016;172:709–15.
- 26. Simon L, Fitsiori A, Lemal R, et al. Bing-Neel syndrome, a rare complication of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: analysis of 44 cases and review of the literature. A study on behalf of the French Innovative Leukemia Organization (FILO). Haematologica. 2015;100:1587–94.
- Poulain S, Boyle EM, Roumier C, et al. MYD88 L265P mutation contributes to the diagnosis of Bing Neel syndrome. Br J Haematol. 2014;167:506–13.
- 28. Frustaci AM, Rusconi C, Picardi P, et al. Bing Neel syndrome in a previously untreated patient with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: contribution of MYD88 L265P Mutation on cerebrospinal fluid. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2016;16:e7–9.
- 29. Fermand JP, Bridoux F, Kyle RA, et al. How I treat monoclonal gammopathy of renal significance (MGRS). Blood. 2013;122:3583–90.
- 30. Bridoux F, Leung N, Hutchinson CA, et al. Diagnosis of monoclonal gammopathy of renal significance. Kidney Int. 2015;87:698–711.
- Gnemmi V, Leleu X, Provot F, et al. Cast nephropathy and light-chain deposition disease in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Am J Kidney Dis. 2012;60:487–91.
- 32. Chauvet S, Bridoux F, Ecotière L, et al. Kidney diseases associated with monoclonal immunoglobulin M-secreting B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders: a case series of 35 patients. Am J Kidney Dis. 2015;66:756–67.
- Feyler S, O'Connor SJM, Rawstron AC, et al. IgM myeloma: a rare entity characterized by a CD20-CD56-CD117- immunophenotype and the t(11;14). Br J Haematol. 2007;140:547–51.
- 34. Schop RF, Kuehl WM, Van Wier SA, et al. Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia neoplastic cells lack immunoglobulin heavy chain locus translocations but have frequent 6q deletions. Blood. 2002;100:2996–3001.
- 35. Avet-Loiseau H, Garand R, Lode L, et al. 14q32 translocations discriminate IgM multiple myeloma from Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:153–5.
- Ackroyd S, O'Connor SJ, Owen RG. Rarity of IgH translocations in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 2005;163:77–80.
- 37. Avet-Loiseau H, Garand R, Lode L, et al. Translocation t(11;14)(q13;q32) is the hallmark of IgM, IgE, and nonsecretory multiple myeloma variants. Blood. 2003;101:1570–1.
- 38. Braggio E, Keats JJ, Leleu X, et al. Identification of copy number abnormalities and inactivating mutations in two negative regulators of nuclear factor-KB signaling pathways in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Cancer Res. 2009;69:3579–88.
- Poulain S, Roumier C, Galiegue-Zouitina S, et al. Genome wide SNP array identified multiple mechanisms of genetic changes in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol. 2013;88:948–54.
- 40. Paiva B, Corchete LA, Vidriales MB, et al. The cellular origin and malignant transformation of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2015;125:2370–80.

- 41. Ocio EM, Schop RF, Gonzalez B, et al. 6q deletion in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia is associated with features of adverse prognosis. Br J Haematol. 2007;136:80–6.
- 42. Nguyen-Khac F, Lambert J, Chapiro E, et al. Chromosomal aberrations and their prognostic value in a series of 174 untreated patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Haematologica. 2013;98:698–711.
- Treon SP, Xu L, Yang G, et al. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:826–33.
- 44. Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, et al. A mutation in MYD88 (L265P) supports the survival of lymphoplasmacytic cells by activation of Bruton tyrosinekinase in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2013;122:1222–32.
- 45. Xu L, Hunter ZR, Yang G, et al. MYD88 L265P in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia, immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathy, and other B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders using conventional and quantitative allele-specific polymerase chain reaction. Blood. 2013;121:2051–8.
- 46. Jimenez C, Sebastian E, Chillon MC, et al. MYD88 L265P is a marker highly characteristic of, but not restricted to, Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Leukemia. 2013;27:1722–8.
- 47. Poulain S, Roumier C, Decambron A, et al. MYD88 L265P mutation in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2013;121:4504–11.
- 48. Varettoni M, Arcaini L, Zibellini S, et al. Prevalence and clinical significance of the MYD88 (L265P) somatic mutation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and related lymphoid neoplasms. Blood. 2013;121:2522–8.
- 49. Jimenez C, Chillon Mdel C, Balanzategui A, et al. Detection of MYD88 L265P mutation by real-time allele-specific oligonucleotide polymerase chain reaction. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2014;22:768–73.
- Treon SP, Xu L, Hunter Z. MYD88 Mutations and response to ibrutinib in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:584–6.
- 51. Hunter ZR, Xu L, Yang G, et al. The genomic landscape of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia is characterized by highly recurring MYD88 and WHIM-like CXCR4 mutations, and small somatic deletions associated with B-cell lymphomagenesis. Blood. 2014;123:1637–46.
- 52. Xu L, Hunter ZR, Tsakmaklis N, et al. Clonal architecture of CXCR4 WHIM-like mutations in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia. Br J Haematol. 2016;172:735–44.
- Treon SP, Cao Y, Xu L, et al. Somatic mutations in MYD88 and CXCR4 are determinants of clinical presentation and overall survival in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2014;123:2791–6.
- Treon SP, Tripsas CK, Meid K, et al. Ibrutinib in previously treated Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:1430–40.
- 55. Kriangkum J, Taylor BJ, Treon SP, et al. Clonotypic IgM V/D/J sequence analysis in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia suggests an unusual B-cell origin and an expansion of polyclonal B cells in peripheral blood. Blood. 2004;104:2134–42.
- 56. Rollett RA, Wilkinson EJ, Gonzalez D, et al. Immunoglobulin heavy chain sequence analysis in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2006;7:70–2.
- 57. Martin-Jimenez P, Garcia-Sanz R, Balanzategui A, et al. Molecular characterisation of heavy chain immunoglobulin gene rearrangements in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Haematologica. 2007;92:635–42.
- 58. Varettoni M, Zibellini S, Capello D, et al. Clues to pathogenesis of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia and immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance provided by analysis of immunoglobulin heavy chain gene rearrangement and clustering of B-cell receptors. Leuk Lymphoma. 2013;54:2485–9.
- 59. Gachard N, Parrens M, Soubeyran I, et al. IGHV gene features and MYD88 L265P mutation separate the three marginal zone lymphoma entities and Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia/ lymphoplasmacytic lymphomas. Leukemia. 2013;27:183–9.

- Landgren O, Staudt L. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in IgM MGUS. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:2255–6.
- 61. Bird J, Behrens J, Westin J, et al. UK Myeloma Forum (UKMF) and Nordic Myeloma Study Group (NMSG): guidelines for the investigation of newly detected M-proteins and the management of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS). Br J Haematol. 2009;147:22–42.
- Varettoni M, Arcaini L, Rattotti S, et al. Bone marrow assessment in asymptomatic immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathies. Br J Haematol. 2015;168:301–2.
- 63. Varettoni M, Zibellini S, Arcaini L, et al. MYD88 (L265P) mutation is an independent risk factor for progression in patients with IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Blood. 2013;122:2284–5.
- 64. Randen U, Troen G, Tierens A, et al. Primary cold agglutinin-associated lymphoproliferative disease: a B-cell lymphoma of the bone marrow distinct from lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. Haematologica. 2014;99:497–504.
- 65. de Tute R, Rawstron A, Evans P, et al. Cold agglutinin disease is a phenotypically distinct clonal B-cell disorder. Br J Haematol. 2016; Abstract.
- 66. Pascual V, Victor K, Spellerberg M, et al. VH restriction among human cold agglutinins. The VH4-21 gene segment is required to encode anti-I and anti-i specificities. J Immunol. 1992;149:2337–44.
- Morice WG, Chen D, Kurtin PJ, et al. Novel immunophenotypic features of marrow lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma and correlation with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Mod Pathol. 2009;22:807–16.
- Varghese AM, Rawstron AC, Ashcroft AJ, et al. Assessment of bone marrow response in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9:53–5.
- 69. Barakat FH, Medeiros LJ, Wei EX, et al. Residual monotypic plasma cells in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia after therapy. Am J Clin Pathol. 2011;135:365–73.
- Bashir Q, Lee CK, Stuart RW, et al. Phenotypic evolution of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia to extramedullary plasmacytoma. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:2408–10.
- Morris C, Drake M, Apperley J, et al. Myeloma Subcommittee of Chronic Leukaemia Working Party of EBMT. Efficacy and outcome of autologous transplantation in rare myelomas. Haematologica 2010;95:2126–33.
- 72. Willenbacher W, Willenbacher E, Brunner A, et al. Improved accuracy of discrimination between IgM multiple myeloma and Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia by testing for MYD88 L265P mutations. Br J Haematol. 2013;161:902–4.
- Weber D, Treon SP, Emmanouilides C, et al. Uniform response criteria in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: consensus panel recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:127–31.
- 74. Kimby E, Treon SP, Anagnostopoulos A, et al. Update on recommendations for assessing response from the Third International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2006;5:380–3.
- 75. Owen RG, Kyle RA, Stone MJ, et al. Response assessment in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: update from the VIth International Workshop. Br J Haematol. 2013;160:171–6.
- 76. Gertz MA, Abonour R, Heffner LT, et al. Clinical value of minor responses after 4 doses of rituximab in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: a follow-up of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group E3A98 trial. Br J Haematol. 2009;147:677–80.
- 77. Treon SP, Yang G, Hanzis C, et al. Attainment of complete/very good partial response following rituximab-based therapy is an important determinant to progression-free survival, and is impacted by polymorphisms in FCGR3A in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia. Br J Haematol. 2011;154:223–8.
- Treon SP, Hunter ZR, Matous J, et al. Multicenter clinical trial of bortezomib in relapsed/ refractory Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: results of WMCTG Trial 03-248. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:3320–5.

- 79. Chen CI, Kouroukis CT, White D, et al. National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. Bortezomib is active in patients with untreated or relapsed Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a phase II study of the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:1570–5.
- Bottcher S, Ritgen M, Fischer K, et al. Minimal residual disease quantification is an independent predictor of progression-free and overall survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a multivariate analysis from the randomized GCLLSG CLL8trial. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:980–8.
- 81. Martinez-Lopez J, Lahuerta JJ, Pepin F, et al. Prognostic value of deep sequencing method for minimal residual disease detection in multiple myeloma. Blood. 2014;123:3073–9.
- Rawstron AC, Gregory WM, de Tute RM, et al. Minimal residual disease in myeloma by flow cytometry: independent prediction of survival benefit per log reduction. Blood. 2015;125:1932–55.
- 83. Rawstron AC, Cohen D, de Tute RM, et al. The level of residual CLL objectively predicts the outcome of patients following FCR-based therapy with sequential benefits per log depletion and improved post-treatment monitoring. Blood. 2015;126:1717.
- 84. Garcia-Sanz R, Ocio E, Caballero A, et al. Post-treatment bone marrow residual disease >5% by flow cytometry is highly predictive of short progression-free and overall survival in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:168–71.
- Facon T, Brouillard M, Duhamel A, et al. Prognostic factors in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a report of 167 cases. J Clin Oncol. 1993;11:1553–8.
- Leblond V, Ben-Othman T, Deconinck E, et al. Activity of fludarabine in previously treated Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a report of 71 cases. Groupe Cooperatif Macroglobulinemie. J Clin Oncol. 1998;16:2060–4.
- Garcia-Sanz R, Montoto S, Torrequebrada A, et al. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia: presenting features and outcome in a series with 217 cases. Br J Haematol. 2001;115:575–82.
- 88. Leblond V, Levy V, Maloisel F, et al. Multicenter, randomized comparative trial of fludarabine and the combination of cyclophosphamide-doxorubicin-prednisone in 92 patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia in first relapse or with primary refractory disease. Blood. 2001;98:2640–4.
- Lin P, Mansoor A, Bueso-Ramos C, et al. Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma occurring in patients with lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Clinicopathologic features of 12 cases. Am J Clin Pathol. 2003;120:246–53.
- 90. Tamburini J, Levy V, Chaleteix C, et al. Fludarabine plus cyclophosphamide in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: results in 49 patients. Leukemia. 2005;19:1831–4.
- 91. Leblond V, Johnson S, Chevret S, et al. Results of a randomized trial of chlorambucil versus fludarabine for patients with untreated Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia, marginal zone lymphoma, or lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:301–7.
- 92. Castillo JJ, Olszewski AJ, Hunter ZR, et al. Incidence of secondary malignancies among patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: an analysis of the SEER database. Cancer. 2015;121:2230–6.
- Fabbri G, Khiabanian H, Holmes AB, et al. Genetic lesions associated with chronic lymphocytic leukemia transformation to Richter syndrome. J Exp Med. 2013;210:2273–88.
- Pasqualucci L, Khiabanian H, Fangazio M, et al. Genetics of follicular lymphoma transformation. Cell Rep. 2014;6:130–40.
- 95. Tsimberidou AM, Keating MJ. Richter syndrome: biology, incidence, and therapeutic strategies. Cancer. 2005;103:216–28.
- 96. Thornton PD, Bellas C, Santon A, et al. Richter's transformation of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. The possible role of fludarabine and the Epstein-Barr virus in its pathogenesis. Leuk Res. 2005;29:389–95.

- 97. Tsimberidou AM, O'Brien S, Khouri I, et al. Clinical outcomes and prognostic factors in patients with Richter's syndrome treated with chemotherapy or chemoimmunotherapy with or without stem-cell transplantation. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:2343–51.
- 98. Mao Z, Quintanilla-Martinez L, Raffeld M, et al. IgVH mutational status and clonality analysis of Richter's transformation: diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and Hodgkin lymphoma in association with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B- CLL) represent 2 different pathways of disease evolution. Am J Surg Pathol. 2007;31:1605–14.
- 99. Varghese AM, Sayala H, Evans PA, et al. Development of EBV-associated diffuse large B-cell lymphoma in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia and mantle cell lymphoma. Leuk Lymphoma. 2008;49:1618–9.
- 100. Dojcinov SD, Venkataraman G, Raffeld M, et al. EBV positive mucocutaneous ulcer a study of 26 cases associated with various sources of immunosuppression. Am J Surg Pathol. 2010;34:405–17.
- 101. Dojcinov SD, Venkataraman G, Pittaluga S, et al. Age-related EBV-associated lymphoproliferative disorders in the Western population: a spectrum of reactive lymphoid hyperplasia and lymphoma. Blood. 2011;117:4726–35.
- 102. Owen RG, Bynoe AG, Varghese A, et al. Heterogeneity of histological transformation events in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia (WM) and related disorders. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:176–9.
- 103. Ngo VN, Young RM, Schmitz R, et al. Oncogenically active MYD88 mutations in human lymphoma. Nature. 2011;470:115–9.
- 104. Gonzalez-Aguilar A, Idbaih A, Boisselier B, et al. Recurrent mutations of MYD88 and TBL1XR1 in primary central nervous systemlymphomas. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18:5203–11.
- 105. Kraan W, Horlings HM, van Keimpema M, et al. High prevalence of oncogenic MYD88 and CD79B mutations in diffuse large B-cell lymphomas presenting at immune-privileged sites. Blood Cancer J. 2013;3, e139.
- 106. Kraan W, van Keimpema M, Horlings HM, et al. High prevalence of oncogenic MYD88 and CD79B mutations in primary testicular diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Leukemia. 2014;28:719–20.
- 107. Bruno A, Boisselier B, Labreche K, et al. Mutational analysis of primary central nervous system lymphoma. Oncotarget. 2014;5:5065–75.
- 108. Nakamura T, Tateishi K, Niwa T, et al. Recurrent mutations of CD79B and MYD88 are the hallmark of primary central nervous system lymphomas. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2015. doi:10.1111/nan.12259 [Epub ahead of print].
- 109. Yamada S, Ishida Y, Matsuno A, et al. Primary diffuse large B-cell lymphomas of central nervous system exhibit remarkably high prevalence of oncogenic MYD88 and CD79B mutations. Leuk Lymphoma. 2015;56:2141–5.
- 110. Braggio E, Van Wier S, Ojha J, et al. Genome-wide analysis uncovers novel recurrent alterations in primary central nervous system lymphomas. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:3986–94.
- 111. Oishi N, Kondo T, Nakazawa T, et al. High prevalence of the MYD88 mutation in testicular lymphoma: immunohistochemical and genetic analyses. Pathol Int. 2015;65:528–35.
- 112. Fukumura K, Kawazu M, Kojima S, et al. Genomic characterization of primary central nervous system lymphoma. Acta Neuropathol. 2016;131(6):865–75.
- 113. Chapuy B, Roemer MG, Stewart C, et al. Targetable genetic features of primary testicular and primary central nervous system lymphomas. Blood. 2016;127:869–81.
- 114. Taniguchi K, Takata K, Chuang SS, et al. Frequent MYD88 L265P and CD79B mutations in primary breast diffuse large B-Cell lymphoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2016;40:324–34.
- 115. Falchi L, Keating MJ, Marom EM, et al. Correlation between FDG/PET, histology, characteristics, and survival in 332 patients with chronic lymphoid leukemia. Blood. 2014;123:2783–90.

116. Papajik T, Mysliveçek M, Urbanov R, et al. 2-[18F]fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose positron emission tomography/computed tomography examination in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia may reveal Richter transformation. Leuk Lymphoma. 2014;55:314–9.

Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia Immunophenotype

Noemí Puig, Enrique M. Ocio, Cristina Jiménez, Bruno Paiva, Jesús F. San Miguel, and Ramón García-Sanz

2.1 Introduction

According to World Health Organization (WHO), in Waldenström Macroglobulinemia (WM), the bone marrow (BM) is involved by a lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma (LPL) in which the infiltrating cells produce an IgM monoclonal component [1]. LPL is composed by a clonal population with small B lymphocytes, plasmacytoid lymphocytes, and plasma cells. Thus, the definition of the pathological cell population is rather wide among the spectrum of the B-cell differentiation, and the addition of a negative requirement in the histopathologic definition of WM has been necessary: the absence of diagnostic criteria for any of the other small B-cell lymphoid neoplasms that may also have plasmacytic differentiation. In fact, the WHO states that the differentiation between LPL and other lymphomas, especially some marginal zone lymphomas (MZL) [2], is not always clear-cut, and some cases are diagnosed only as small B-cell lymphomas with plasmacytic differentiation. This can be more complicated considering that an IgM paraprotein can also be observed in other lymphoma subtypes, as well as in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) [3]. In addition, the variability is also present at the clinical level, with a behavior ranging from asymptomatic indolent forms to highly symptomatic patients that can show hyperviscosity, organomegaly, or cytopenias, among other symptoms. Thus, differential diagnosis of WM requires the distinction between IgM of undetermined significance (MGUS), monoclonal gammopathy

N. Puig • E.M. Ocio • C. Jiménez • R. García-Sanz (🖂)

Servicio de Hematología, Hospital Universitario de Salamanca, Instituto de Investigación Biomédica de Salamanca (IBSAL), Centro de Investigación del Cáncer de Salamanca, P° San Vicente 58-182, 37007 Salamanca, Spain e-mail: rgarcias@usal.es

B. Paiva • J.F.S. Miguel

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), *Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_2

Clínica Universidad de Navarra, Centro de Investigación Medica Aplicada (CIMA), Instituto De Investigación Sanitaria De Navarra (IDISNA), Pamplona, Spain

asymptomatic WM (aWM) and symptomatic WM (sWM), as well as IgM related disorders (IgMRD) and the above mentioned pure LPL (without WM), MZL, CLL, and even IgM Multiple Myeloma. In summary, WM requires an accurate and comprehensive diagnosis based on well-defined histological, immunophenotypic, cytogenetic, and molecular criteria.

In recent years, multiparameter flow cytometry (MFC) immunophenotyping has become a very useful tool for the diagnosis and monitoring of hematological malignancies, with a particular role as an adjuvant technique for the differential diagnosis of monoclonal gammopathies (MG) [4]. We and others have previously reported that the immunophenotypic profile of tumor cells in WM could be very helpful for the differential diagnosis of WM vs. other lymphomas and IgM monoclonal gammopathies [5–9]. In addition, MFC assessment of residual tumor cells after therapy can be directly correlated with treatment response and may help with therapy selection and prognostic evaluation [10].

Here, we describe the main immunophenotypic features of WM tumor cells, as well as on the role of MFC as an adjuvant technique for the differential diagnosis with other entities, patient' prognostication, and monitoring of treatment response.

2.2 Immunophenotype of WM Lymphocytes

Clonal B-cells from WM patients are typically characterized by the constant expression of pan-B-cell markers (CD19, CD20, CD22) together with monoclonal expression of IgM surface immunoglobulins (sIg) and restricted κ or λ light chain expression (Table 2.1). Interestingly, the predominance of κ + over λ + cases is higher in WM than in other B-cell neoplasms (κ : λ ratio of 5:1) [6]. Compared to mature normal B lymphocytes, CD22 expression in WM is consistently lower, while lower staining for CD20 and sIg (CD20^{strong+}&sIg⁺) is only found in selected cases. In a high proportion of cases, clonal B-cells are FMC7 and CD25 positive (>20% of the cells) for 70\% and 66\% of the cases, respectively. FMC7 is usually heterogeneous, while CD25, when present, is homogenously expressed by virtually all tumor B-cells. Albeit not fully specific (e.g., MZL or CLL), the CD22^{low}CD25⁺ aberrant phenotypic expression profile is a hallmark of WM. Informative markers for the differential diagnosis of hairy cell leukemia and follicular lymphoma (CD103 and CD10, respectively) are constantly negative in WM. Adhesion molecules such as the β_2 integrins are rarely present in the clonal WM B-cells. CD11b is absent and CD11c is rarely positive and, if expressed, at a low intensity [5, 6]. Two antigens are very helpful in the differential diagnosis between WM and CLL: CD5 and CD23 [6, 7, 11, 12]. These two markers are typically expressed in CLL, but they are present in less than one-fifth of WM patients, and when present, they show a heterogeneous pattern of expression. CD38 is present in half of WM cases, and its expression is dimmer than that of progenitor B-cells as well as plasma cells (PCs). CD45 is homogeneously positive in all cases, though lower reactivity can be found in a small group of cases. CD45RA is consistently positive, whereas CD45RO is negative in virtually all patients. WM B-lymphocytes are also typically

| | B-lymphocytes | Plasma cells | | B-lymphocytes | Plasma cells |
|-------|---------------|--------------|--------|---------------|---------------|
| CD19 | 100 | 73 | CD38 | 21 (0-100) | 100 |
| _ | 0% | 0% | - | 70 % | 0% |
| Ŧ | 16% | 69 % | Ŧ | 15 % | 6% |
| + | 84 % | 31 % | + | 15 % | 94 % |
| CD5 | 5 (0-100) | 0 (0-50) | CD45 | 100 | 41 (0-100) |
| _ | 94 % | 92 % | - | 0% | 53 % |
| Ŧ | 2% | 8% | Ŧ | 0% | 12 % |
| + | 4% | 0% | + | 100 % | 35 % |
| CD10 | 1 (0-100) | 0 | CD45RA | 100 | 41 (0-100) |
| - | 98% | 100 % | - | 0% | 53 % |
| Ŧ | 1% | 0 | Ŧ | 0% | 12 % |
| + | 1% | 0 | + | 100 % | 35 % |
| CD11b | 1 (0-47) | 0 | CD45RO | 6 (0-64) | 0 |
| _ | 98% | 98 % | - | 87 % | 100 % |
| Ŧ | 2% | 2% | Ŧ | 13 % | 0% |
| + | 0% | 0% | + | 0% | 0% |
| CD11c | 7 (0-100) | 0% | CD56 | 0 (0-2) | 4 (0-50) |
| _ | 89 % | 100 % | - | 99 % | 68 % |
| Ŧ | 8% | 0% | Ŧ | 1 % | 32 % |
| + | 3% | 0% | + | 0% | 0% |
| CD20 | 100 | 48 (0-100) | CD103 | 0 | 0 |
| _ | 0% | 19 % | - | 100 % | 100 % |
| Ŧ | 6% | 54 % | Ŧ | 0% | 0% |
| + | 94 % | 27 % | + | 0% | 0% |
| CD22 | 88 (2-100) | 4 (0-100) | CD138 | 0 | 60 (0-100) |
| - | 11% | 96 % | - | 100 % | 37 % |
| Ŧ | 72% | 4% | Ŧ | 0% | 6% |
| + | 17 % | 0% | + | 0% | 57 % |
| CD23 | 5 (0-100) | 6 (0-100) | BCL2 | 100 | 96 % (46-100) |
| _ | 89 % | 84 % | - | 0% | 0% |
| Ŧ | 9% | 13 % | Ŧ | 2% | 12 % |
| + | 2% | 3% | + | 98 % | 88 % |
| CD24 | 90 (0-100) | 7 (0-100) | FMC7 | 55 (0-100) | 15 (0-100) |
| _ | 2% | 91 % | - | 14 % | 77 % |
| Ŧ | 17 % | 3% | Ŧ | 62 % | 14 % |
| + | 81 % | 6% | + | 34 % | 9% |
| CD25 | 90 (0-100) | 3 (0-100) | HLA-DR | 84 (30-100) | 35 (0-100) |
| _ | 1% | 91 % | - | 0% | 32 % |
| Ŧ | 33 % | 7% | Ŧ | 31 % | 50 % |
| + | 66 % | 2% | + | 69 % | 18 % |
| CD27 | 58 (0-100) | 100 | sIgM | 97 (40-100) | 83 (0-100) |
| - | 9% | 0% | - | 0% | 13 % |
| Ŧ | 66 % | 2% | Ŧ | 16 % | 13 % |
| + | 25 % | 98 % | + | 84 % | 74 % |

 $\label{eq:table_$

Results from 244 patients evaluated at the University Hospital of Salamanca. Results are expressed as median percentage of positive cells for a given antigen, whereas for each specific pattern of antigen expression the percentage of cases is shown (taken from [5])

positive for CD24, HLA-DR, and BCL2, whereas the memory-associated antigen CD27 is heterogeneously expressed (from negative to dim-positive) in more than half of WM patients [5, 6]. BCL2 and PAX5 usually show nuclear immunoreactivity, which requires to evaluate them by immunohistochemistry in tissue sections [13]. CD79b and CD81 are constantly positive though lower expression levels can be seen in selected cases; CD200 is positive in 60% of patients, and CD305 (LAIR1) is usually negative [9]. This last marker is important, because normal cells are usually CD305 positive. Accordingly, the Waldenström's clone most common immunophenotypic expression profile could be summarized as: CD5⁻ CD10⁻CD11c⁻CD19⁺CD20⁺CD22^{low}CD23⁻CD25⁺CD27^{het}CD38^{het}CD79b⁺CD81⁺ CD103⁻CD200^{het}CD305⁻. The clonal nature of B-lymphocytes harboring such immunophenotypes must be demonstrated by intracytoplasmic (K or L) light-chain restriction.

Importantly, the above-mentioned phenotype is very useful to distinguish WM from other specific mature lymphoid malignancies, including CLL [9], MZL [14], and MM [5]. However, when different antibodies are used in combination with different conjugates in a multi-tube panel, the criteria that we use for evaluating them (fluorescence intensity, stain index, etc.) are variable. Therefore, the unique staining pattern of each reagent needs to be evaluated in the different cell populations in a multidimensional space defined by all parameters included in a multicolor tube. Thus, the evaluation of immunophenotypic profiles of the WM cell populations must be based on a detailed comparison of the phenotypes of individual cells for several markers together, rather than on subjective interpretation of arbitrary mean fluorescence levels of a list of single markers [15]. Visualization of multidimensional flow data (based on principal component analysis (PCA) combining more than 10 parameters) and selection of the most relevant parameters for optimal discrimination between the relevant cell populations are now possible through new software tools that have proven to be essential for a critical evaluation and interpretation of the immunophenotypic profile of a B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders [16–18]. Accordingly, immunophenotypic protein expression profiles (iPEP) can be generated by merging data from different studies (tubes) with up to 8-color MoAb combinations (or more) for the same sample. The resulting fusion into a single data file contains all information measured for each cell in the sample [19]. Then, the calculation function of the specific software can be used to fill in the values of those antigens not directly evaluated ("missing values"), based on the "nearest neighbor" statistical principle, defined by its unique position in a multidimensional space created by the common parameters (backbone markers). Ultimately, the iPEP, generated for every single clonal B-cell, includes many phenotypic markers plus for ward light scatter (FSC)/side light scatter (SSC) [20]. Then, the iPEP of clonal WM B-cells can be compared with the iPEP of cells from other related diseases or situations. The EuroFlow group has tested this methodology proving to be a very useful approach to evaluate WM iPEP against other B-cell LPD, although it failed to distinguish related disorders such as LPL (including both IgM and non-IgM) and MZL [5]. In a very recent work, we used this methodology, but we have added up to 17 different phenotypic markers to generate a new specific iPEPof clonal B-cells in 31 cases of WM, and the same approach was conducted to generate the iPEP from patients with MZL and B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL) (Fig. 2.1). The most significant markers to discriminate the Waldenström's clone vs. MZL were sIgM, CD79b, and CD305, the first two markers being overexpressed in IgM MGUS/WM while CD305 was upregulated in MZL clonal B-cells [9]. PCA results showed a good separation of the respective iPEPs of these three disorders, which could be a very useful tool for a better differential diagnosis of WM, especially when CLL and MZL present with IgM monoclonal component.

Accordingly, we are currently recommending a single 8-color tube for screening purposes in cases with the suspected diagnosis of WM including the following MoAbs: surface immunoglobulin-M (sIgM), CD25, CD22, CD19, intracytoplasmic kappa (cyIg κ), intracytoplasmic lambda (cyIg λ), CD38, and CD27. While the former combination may suffice for detection, quantification, and identification of WM-resembling clonal B-cells, more comprehensive panels may be informative for an accurate characterization of the WM's clone and particularly for PCA-based discrimination between WM and other B-cell disorders. We currently recommend 4&8-color combinations in a clinical research goal:

CD38/CD45/sIgM/CD27/CD79b/CD19/cyIgκ/cyIgλ;

(2) CD38/CD45/CD20/CD25/CD22/CD19/cyIgκ/cyIgλ;



Fig. 2.1 Principal component analysis (PCA)-based classification model for the differential diagnosis between the Waldenström's clone (pooled data from IgM MGUS, smoldering and symptomatic WM patients) versus clonal B-cells from patients with marginal zone lymphoma (MZL, n = 8; Panel A) and chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL, n = 7; Panel B). This figure was originally published in Blood. (Paiva et al., The cellular origin and malignant transformation of Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia. Blood 2015;125:2370-80. © the American Society of Hematology)

2.3 Phenotypic Comparison with Lymphoplasmocytic Lymphoma Without IgM Component

The Immunophenotypic profile of clonal B lymphocytes in LPL without an IgM component is not well known. Most studies do not distinguish between this form and the classical WM (with BM involvement and IgM component), although it is likely that clonal cells could be different taking into account the differences in the clinical behavior of the disease [6]. Based on relatively small patient series, FMC7 is less frequently expressed (40%) in LPL cells with no IgM component, and CD5 and CD23 are more frequently positive (in 80% and 40% of cases, respectively). Interestingly, CD22 expression, constantly positive in WM, is usually negative in cells without IgM secretion, while CD11c is present in 80% of cases (it is positive in minor populations of only 15% of WM patients). No information is available for other markers such as CD19, CD103, CD25, CD10, or sIg expression. Ultimately, based on limited experience, it is not currently possible to discriminate clonal cells from LPL cases fitting or not WM criteria merely based on phenotypic grounds.

2.4 Phenotypical Heterogeneity Among the WM Clone

Clonal heterogeneity has become highly relevant in hemato-oncology with many potential implications in the biological pathogenesis of hematological malignancies [21], including disorders that are quite close to WM, such as CLL [22] and MM [23]. In WM, this variability is already recognized in the pathological definition of LPL, where at least three subpopulations are thought to belong to the clone: small B lymphocytes, lymphoplasmocytes, and PCs. Such heterogeneity has not been well established yet from the molecular point of view in WM, but some data reveal that this entity could also be molecularly heterogeneous, since the genetic landscape is very variable [24, 25] with some data pointing out that some mutations such as C1013G/CXCR4 could be present only in a subpopulation of total tumor cells [26].

In fact, high sensitive multiparameter FCM can also accurately quantify and characterize the PC compartment in WM. The number of BM PCs in WM patients (median: 0.3 %, range: 0.07–2.8 %) is usually within normal range (median: 0.36 %, range: 0.15–0.58 %) [5]. Actually, only in 10 % of WM patients, the percentage of BM PCs is beyond the normal limit. In addition, the PC antigenic profile does not differ from normal BMPCs (CD38⁺⁺⁺CD19^{++/-}CD56⁻CD45^{++/+}) although they show the same cytoplasmic immunoglobulin light chain restriction as the IgM component shows. Thus, less than 10 % of WM cases show antigenic aberrancies in PCs, although it is frequent that WM PCs show a relatively high CD20 expression compared to normal PCs. Interestingly, the BMPC rather than B-cell compartment seems to be the main responsible for the production of serum IgM monoclonal

component, since the total number of BMPCs (and not B-cells) is directly correlated with the size of the IgM component [5].

Mast cells (MC) are usually increased in the BM of WM patients [27]. This elevated number is confirmed by MFC, since the number of MC (0.058 $\% \pm 0.13 \%$, range: 0.01–0.47 %) is significantly higher than in BM from healthy individuals (0.019 $\% \pm 0.02 \%$; range: 0.002–0.08 %) [6]. Interestingly, this is not applicable to all patients, since only half of all WM cases display MC above the maximum normal limit. In addition, MC from WM patients show a normal morphological appearance (round cells, well granulated with round central nuclei) and immunophenotypic features (CD117+++, CD2–, CD25–, CD69+dim, CD63+dim, CD35–, FccRI++) in all patients [6], and no molecular abnormalities have been found in them (unpublished results). Overall, these results indicate that, although MC are increased in the WM microenvironment, they do not belong to the tumor clone.

2.5 Correlation Between Immunophenotype and Disease Characteristics

2.5.1 Immunophenotype to Differentiate Between IgM MGUS and WM

The evaluation of the BM aspirate by MFC reveals a progressive increase of monoclonal B-cells from IgM MGUS (~2%) to aWM (~9%) and sWM (~12%), in such a way that only 1% of IgM MGUS patients show more than 10% B-lymphocytes at baseline. By contrast, one-third of smoldering WM and half of symptomatic WM patients show less than 10% BM B-cells. In addition, there is also a progressive increment of light-chain restricted B-cells from IgM MGUS to WM. Of note, absence of residual normal B-cells is never observed in IgM MGUS patients, whereas we cannot detect normal B-cells in one-fifth of asymptomatic WM patients and in half of symptomatic WM patients [5]. Thus, although the presence of higher tumor burden and clonality virtually excludes the diagnosis of IgM MGUS, no MFC-based criteria can completely discriminate between IgM MGUS and WM. This reflects the thin lines that separate the three clinical stages of the disease [28–30].

As far as the value of individual antigens is concerned to distinguish between the different stages of the disease, some associations have been shown with the level of M-component and/or BM infiltration, but their relevance is low for daily clinical practice [6]. Something similar can be said for profiles, and virtually the same iPEPs can be found in MGUS, aWM, and sWM (Fig. 2.2a) [9]. Accordingly, we cannot use immunophenotyping information to directly distinguish between different aspects of the clinical spectrum in IgM monoclonal disorders, but we will be able to use such information to identify the tumor clone, and then to quantify the tumor load, which at the end will be of great help in the diagnostic discrimination.



Fig. 2.2 PCA analysis graphical view of IgM MGUS, aWM, and sWM according to disease stage (A) and *MYD88* mutational status (B). Every patient is represented by a single dot; disease reference groups are represented by *dashed color lines; solid lines* represent the standard deviation curve for each group. No differences can be observed between the above mentioned groups. This figure was originally published in Blood. (Paiva et al., The cellular origin and malignant transformation of Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia. Blood 2015;125:2370-80. (C) the American Society of Hematology)

2.5.2 Immunophenotype to Distinguish Molecular Subgroups

After the initial findings resulting in the identification of a recurrent somatic mutation (L265P) involving the *MYD88* gene in WM [31], other studies confirmed and extended such observations to IgM MGUS (with >50 % mutated cases) [32–34], thereby confirming its role as an early oncogenic event. This mutation promotes NF-kB signaling, JAK kinase activation of STAT3, and secretion of IL-6 [35], which could induce a disease-specific WM signature. However, MYD88 mutated and unmutated patients do not display very different immunophenotyping features. The only consistent difference could correspond to the FMC7 expression, since MYD88 wild-type cells are more frequently positive than mutated cases. CD23 antigen could also be different, because it is more frequently present in WM mutated cases that are also usually positive or strongly positive for CD27 [32]. However, based on PCA of multidimensional flow data, no differences can be found in the phenotype of MYD88 wild-type vs. mutated cases. Accordingly, the typical Waldenström's-related phenotypic aberrancies (CD22^{+low} CD25⁺) [9] were equally noted in both groups.

Nevertheless, PCA analysis of B-lymphocytes from WM patients allows a more accurate comparison of the iPEPs of clonal B-cells from patients with mutated vs. wild-type MYD88 gene. Although clonality is detected in most cases independently of the MYD88 status, comparison of the iPEP of wild-type vs. mutated MYD88 WM cases showed fully overlapping phenotypes (Fig. 2.2b), although more cases have to be analyzed to reach definitive conclusions. Anyway, these results suggest that the unique phenotypic characteristics of Waldenström's clonal B-cells are of help in the differential diagnosis between WM and other B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders, even in the absence of mutated MYD88. As far as other molecular abnormalities are concerned, such as CXCR4 and ARIC1A mutations, no data are yet available, and more cases have to be incorporated into the immunophenotypic and molecular parallel evaluation.

2.5.3 Prognostic Value of Immunophenotyping

A high degree of BM infiltration by clonal B-cells (i.e., >10%) is an independent prognostic factor to predict the risk of transformation among a WM patients [36]. Conversely, symptomatic WM patients in whom residual normal B-cells can be detected are characterized by a more indolent disease and superior OS; thus, patients in whom we cannot detect normal B-cells have a median of time to tumor progression of only 2 years, while patients retaining normal B-cells survive without progression more than one decade [5]. This concept is similar to the immuno paresis in smoldering MM patients: those who preserve normal immunoglobulins have a lower risk of progression to symptomatic disease [37]. These results suggest that, similarly to MGUS, MM, or AL amyloidosis [38–44], the degree of clonality (i.e., balance between malignant and residual normal cells) is at least as effective as the evaluation of total tumor burden in predicting outcome. So far, we and others have not reported on the correlation between specific antigen profiles and different patient' outcomes.

2.6 Immunophenotyping for Disease Monitoring After Therapy

Consensus criteria for the assessment of clinical response in patients with WM have been recently updated [45]. Challenges do however remain, based on the variability in kinetics of IgM reduction depending on treatment modalities, especially due to apparent discrepancies between IgM and bone marrow evaluations, which is a key point in clinical trials. IgM responses are typically slow with purine analogues and monoclonal antibody-based therapy, as it appears that these agents selectively deplete the CD20+ B-cell component with sparing of the CD138+ plasma cell component of the disease [10, 11, 46]. In this context, it is possible to demonstrate significant B-cell depletion in the marrow but suboptimal IgM responses. Conversely, treatment with regimens containing bortezomib, everolimus, or ibrutinib may demonstrate excellent IgM responses but discordant bone marrow results [47– 49]. Accordingly, the updated response criteria from the VI International Workshop recommended serial bone marrow assessments in all patients enrolled in clinical trials reinforcing its value as a guide in the routine management of individual patients. Although the value of determining the degree of BM infiltration is not supported by definitive data, it is recognized that both bone marrow aspirate and trephine biopsies should be obtained and that these should be routinely supplemented by flow cytometric and immunohistochemistry studies.

Attempts should be made to characterize the respective B-cell and PC content of residual infiltrates, and immunohistochemical assessment of trephine biopsy sections represents the optimal method [11, 46, 50]. However, the only methodology that has demonstrated a good correlation between the BM assessment after therapy and the final outcome is the evaluation of the residual disease by FCM [10]. Numerous studies in myeloma and CLL have shown that minimal residual disease is detectable by FCM in a significant proportion of patients in conventional CR and that this is highly predictive of outcome, with a reproducible sensitivity of 0.01% [38, 51]. Similar encouraging but limited results have been observed in WM, by evaluating the presence of residual disease with FCM in the BM of patients actively treated with chemotherapy [10]. The persistence of abnormal (clonal) B-cells after therapy is associated with a poorer conventional response, with very few discordant results. Accordingly, it is possible to observe clearance of the B-cell population despite detectable serum monoclonal IgM protein; such discordance is likely explained by the persistence of residual PC, and this situation is usually translated into a delayed response. On the other side, significant reduction of the M-component can be observed despite persistent residual clonal B-cells, which is frequently associated with early relapses. Overall, these results translate in a better prediction of survival with FCM than with serum determinations of the M protein [10]. Accordingly, the lower the number of BM tumor cells detected the longer the survival, including overall survival, disease free survival, and duration of response. The cutoff point for this evaluation can vary, although 5% of residual tumor cells would be a minimum desirable limit to be considered as a therapeutic goal. However, in view of the success of the new therapeutic possibilities, it is probable that future investigations will reduce this limit to 10^{-3} or 10^{-4} , as it has occurred for MM and CLL.

2.7 Conclusion

This chapter supports the high value of immunophenotyping in the diagnosis, prognostication, and monitoring of WM since it may help to discriminate WM from other LPD as well as to differentiate WM from IgM-MGUS. Immunophenotyping may also contribute to identify WM patients at higher risk of transformation, as well as WM cases with inferior survival based on accurate estimation of the tumor burden using sensitive immunophenotypic methods. Whether or not MFC can help to distinguish different cytogenetic and molecular subgroups or unique clinical features requires further investigation.
Acknowledgments The authors thank Alicia Antón, Montserrat Ruano, and Rebeca Maldonado for their technical assistance. This work has been partially supported by the grant PI12/02311 from the Spanish "Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII)" and GRS 847/A/13 from the Consejería de Sanidad de la Junta de Castilla y León and the Cooperative Research Thematic Network (RTICC) RD12/0036/0046-0048-0058 and Solórzano FS/23-2014.

References

- Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Harris NL, Jaffe ES, Pileri SA, Stein H, et al. WHO classification of tumours of the haematopoietic and tymphoid tissues. 4th ed. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2008.
- Thieblemont C, Felman P, Callet-Bauchu E, Traverse-Glehen A, Salles G, Berger F, et al. Splenic marginal-zone lymphoma: a distinct clinical and pathological entity. Lancet Oncol. 2003;4(2):95–103.
- Rizzo D, Chauzeix J, Trimoreau F, Woillard JB, Genevieve F, Bouvier A, et al. IgM peak independently predicts treatment-free survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia and correlates with accumulation of adverse oncogenetic events. Leukemia. 2015;29(2):337–45.
- Rawstron AC, Orfao A, Beksac M, Bezdickova L, Brooimans RA, Bumbea H, et al. Report of the European Myeloma Network on multiparametric flow cytometry in multiple myeloma and related disorders. Haematologica. 2008;93(3):431–8.
- Paiva B, Montes MC, Garcia-Sanz R, Ocio EM, Alonso J, de las Heras N, et al. Multiparameter flow cytometry for the identification of the Waldenstrom's clone in IgM-MGUS and Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia: new criteria for differential diagnosis and risk stratification. Leukemia. 2014;28(1):166–73.
- San Miguel JF, Vidriales MB, Ocio E, Mateo G, Sanchez-Guijo F, Sanchez ML, et al. Immunophenotypic analysis of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):187–95.
- Morice WG, Chen D, Kurtin PJ, Hanson CA, McPhail ED. Novel immunophenotypic features of marrow lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma and correlation with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Modern Pathol. 2009;22(6):807–16.
- Owen RG, Johnson SA, Morgan GJ. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia: laboratory diagnosis and treatment. Hematol Oncol. 2000;18(2):41–9.
- Paiva B, Corchete LA, Vidriales MB, Garcia-Sanz R, Perez JJ, Aires-Mejia I, et al. The cellular origin and malignant transformation of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2015;125(15):2370–80.
- 10. Garcia-Sanz R, Ocio E, Caballero A, Magalhaes RJ, Alonso J, Lopez-Anglada L, et al. Post-treatment bone marrow residual disease > 5% by flow cytometry is highly predictive of short progression-free and overall survival in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11(1):168–71.
- Varghese AM, Rawstron AC, Ashcroft AJ, Moreton P, Owen RG. Assessment of bone marrow response in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9(1):53–5.
- Hunter ZR, Branagan AR, Manning R, Patterson CJ, Santos DD, Tournilhac O, et al. CD5, CD10, and CD23 expression in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma. 2005;5 (4):246–9.
- Roberts MJ, Chadburn A, Ma S, Hyjek E, Peterson LC. Nuclear protein dysregulation in lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Am J Clin Pathol. 2013;139 (2):210–9.
- 14. Ocio EM, Hernandez JM, Mateo G, Sanchez ML, Gonzalez B, Vidriales B, et al. Immunophenotypic and cytogenetic comparison of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with splenic marginal zone lymphoma. Clin Lymphoma. 2005;5(4):241–5.
- 15. van Dongen JJ, Lhermitte L, Bottcher S, Almeida J, van der Velden VH, Flores-Montero J, et al. EuroFlow antibody panels for standardized n-dimensional flow cytometric

immunophenotyping of normal, reactive and malignant leukocytes. Leukemia. 2012;26 (9):1908-75.

- 16. Costa ES, Pedreira CE, Barrena S, Lecrevisse Q, Flores J, Quijano S, et al. Automated patternguided principal component analysis vs expert-based immunophenotypic classification of B-cell chronic lymphoproliferative disorders: a step forward in the standardization of clinical immunophenotyping. Leukemia. 2010;24(11):1927–33.
- 17. da Costa ES, Peres RT, Almeida J, Lecrevisse Q, Arroyo ME, Teodosio C, et al. Harmonization of light scatter and fluorescence flow cytometry profiles obtained after staining peripheral blood leucocytes for cell surface-only versus intracellular antigens with the Fix & Perm reagent. Cytometry B Clin Cytom. 2010;78(1):11–20.
- Pedreira CE, Costa ES, Barrena S, Lecrevisse Q, Almeida J, van Dongen JJ, et al. Generation of flow cytometry data files with a potentially infinite number of dimensions. Cytometry A. 2008;73(9):834–46.
- Pedreira CE, Costa ES, Lecrevisse Q, van Dongen JJ, Orfao A. Overview of clinical flow cytometry data analysis: recent advances and future challenges. Trends Biotechnol. 2013;31 (7):415–25.
- Kalina T, Flores-Montero J, van der Velden VH, Martin-Ayuso M, Bottcher S, Ritgen M, et al. EuroFlow standardization of flow cytometer instrument settings and immunophenotyping protocols. Leukemia. 2012;26(9):1986–2010.
- 21. Landau DA, Carter SL, Getz G, Wu CJ. Clonal evolution in hematological malignancies and therapeutic implications. Leukemia. 2014;28(1):34–43.
- Landau DA, Carter SL, Stojanov P, McKenna A, Stevenson K, Lawrence MS, et al. Evolution and impact of subclonal mutations in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Cell. 2013;152 (4):714–26.
- 23. Walker BA, Wardell CP, Melchor L, Brioli A, Johnson DC, Kaiser MF, et al. Intraclonal heterogeneity is a critical early event in the development of myeloma and precedes the development of clinical symptoms. Leukemia. 2014;28(2):384–90.
- 24. Hunter ZR, Xu L, Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Cao Y, et al. The genomic landscape of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia is characterized by highly recurring MYD88 and WHIMlike CXCR4 mutations, and small somatic deletions associated with B-cell lymphomagenesis. Blood. 2014;123(11):1637–46.
- Poulain S, Roumier C, Galiegue-Zouitina S, Daudignon A, Herbaux C, Aiijou R, et al. Genome wide SNP array identified multiple mechanisms of genetic changes in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol. 2013;88(11):948–54.
- 26. Roccaro AM, Sacco A, Jimenez C, Maiso P, Moschetta M, Mishima Y, et al. C1013G/CXCR4 acts as a driver mutation of tumor progression and modulator of drug resistance in lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. Blood. 2014;123(26):4120–31.
- 27. Tournilhac O, Santos DD, Xu L, Kutok J, Tai YT, Le Gouill S, et al. Mast cells in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia support lymphoplasmacytic cell growth through CD154/ CD40 signaling. Ann Oncol. 2006;17(8):1275–82.
- Gertz MA. Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: 2012 update on diagnosis, risk stratification, and management. Am J Hematol. 2012;87(5):503–10.
- Owen RG, Treon SP, Al-Katib A, Fonseca R, Greipp PR, McMaster ML, et al. Clinicopathological definition of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: consensus panel recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):110–5.
- Dimopoulos MA, Kyle RA, Anagnostopoulos A, Treon SP. Diagnosis and management of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(7):1564–77.
- Treon SP, Xu L, Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Cao Y, et al. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(9):826–33.
- 32. Jimenez C, Sebastian E, Chillon MC, Giraldo P, Mariano HJ, Escalante F, et al. MYD88 L265P is a marker highly characteristic of, but not restricted to Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Leukemia. 2013;27(8):1722–8.

- Landgren O, Staudt L. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in IgM MGUS. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(23):2255–6. author reply 6–7.
- 34. Varettoni M, Arcaini L, Zibellini S, Boveri E, Rattotti S, Riboni R, et al. Prevalence and clinical significance of the MYD88 (L265P) somatic mutation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and related lymphoid neoplasms. Blood. 2013;121(13):2522–8.
- Ngo VN, Young RM, Schmitz R, Jhavar S, Xiao W, Lim KH, et al. Oncogenically active MYD88 mutations in human lymphoma. Nature. 2011;470(7332):115–9.
- Morel P, Duhamel A, Gobbi P, Dimopoulos MA, Dhodapkar MV, McCoy J, et al. International prognostic scoring system for Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;113 (18):4163–70.
- 37. Perez-Persona E, Vidriales MB, Mateo G, Mateos MV, Garcia A, Galende J, et al. New criteria to identify risk of progression in smoldering multiple myeloma: multiparametric flow cytometry analysis of bone marrow plasma cells. Haematologica. 2006;91(S1):194–5.
- Paiva B, Vidriales MB, Mateo G, Perez JJ, Montalban MA, Sureda A, et al. The persistence of immunophenotypically normal residual bone marrow plasma cells at diagnosis identifies a good prognostic subgroup of symptomatic multiple myeloma patients. Blood. 2009;114 (20):4369–72.
- 39. Perez-Persona E, Vidriales MB, Mateo G, Garcia-Sanz R, Mateos MV, de Coca AG, et al. New criteria to identify risk of progression in monoclonal gammopathy of uncertain significance and smoldering multiple myeloma based on multiparameter flow cytometry analysis of bone marrow plasma cells. Blood. 2007;110(7):2586–92.
- Paiva B, Vidriales MB, Perez JJ, Lopez-Berges MC, Garcia-Sanz R, Ocio EM, et al. The clinical utility and prognostic value of multiparameter flow cytometry immunophenotyping in light-chain amyloidosis. Blood. 2011;117(13):3613–6.
- 41. Kyle RA, Therneau TM, Rajkumar SV, Remstein ED, Offord JR, Larson DR, et al. Long-term follow-up of IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Blood. 2003;102 (10):3759–64.
- 42. Zhan F, Barlogie B, Arzoumanian V, Huang Y, Williams DR, Hollmig K, et al. Geneexpression signature of benign monoclonal gammopathy evident in multiple myeloma is linked to good prognosis. Blood. 2007;109(4):1692–700.
- Larsen JT, Kumar SK, Dispenzieri A, Kyle RA, Katzmann JA, Rajkumar SV. Serum free light chain ratio as a biomarker for high-risk smoldering multiple myeloma. Leukemia. 2013;27 (4):941–6.
- 44. Katzmann JA, Clark R, Kyle RA, Larson DR, Therneau TM, Melton III LJ, et al. Suppression of uninvolved immunoglobulins defined by heavy/light chain pair suppression is a risk factor for progression of MGUS. Leukemia. 2013;27(1):208–12.
- 45. Owen RG, Kyle RA, Stone MJ, Rawstron AC, Leblond V, Merlini G, et al. Response assessment in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: update from the VIth International Workshop. Br J Haematol. 2013;160(2):171–6.
- 46. Barakat FH, Medeiros LJ, Wei EX, Konoplev S, Lin P, Jorgensen JL. Residual monotypic plasma cells in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia after therapy. Am J Clin Pathol. 2011;135(3):365–73.
- 47. Treon SP, Hunter ZR, Matous J, Joyce RM, Mannion B, Advani R, et al. Multicenter clinical trial of bortezomib in relapsed/refractory Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: results of WMCTG Trial 03-248. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(11):3320–5.
- 48. Strauss SJ, Maharaj L, Hoare S, Johnson PW, Radford JA, Vinnecombe S, et al. Bortezomib therapy in patients with relapsed or refractory lymphoma: potential correlation of in vitro sensitivity and tumor necrosis factor alpha response with clinical activity. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(13):2105–12.
- 49. Ghobrial IM, Witzig TE, Gertz M, LaPlant B, Hayman S, Camoriano J, et al. Long-term results of the phase II trial of the oral mTOR inhibitor everolimus (RAD001) in relapsed or refractory Waldenstrom Macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol. 2014;89(3):237–42.

- 50. Treon SP, Agus TB, Link B, Rodrigues G, Molina A, Lacy MQ, et al. CD20-directed antibodymediated immunotherapy induces responses and facilitates hematologic recovery in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. J Immunother. 2001;24(3):272–9.
- 51. Moreton P, Kennedy B, Lucas G, Leach M, Rassam SM, Haynes A, et al. Eradication of minimal residual disease in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia after Alemtuzumab therapy is associated with prolonged survival. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(13):2971–9.

Predispositions and Origins of Waldenstrom Macroglobulinemia: Implications from Genetic Analysis

3

Linda M. Pilarski, Jitra Kriangkum, Sophia Adamia, Helga M. Ogmundsdottir, and Andrew R. Belch

3.1 Introduction

Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia (WM), a slowly progressive clonal lymphoid malignancy, involves lymphoplasmacytic BM proliferation accompanied by a monoclonal IgM component. Familial WM is frequent, suggesting that genetic factors predispose to the development of WM [1, 2]. WM is associated with disseminated MALT lymphoma, primary splenic marginal zone lymphoma, nodal monocytoid lymphoma, and B-CLL. Analysis of Ig VDJ regions that identify the WM malignant clone indicates that these cells almost always express somatically mutated variable regions [3-6]. WM is frequently biclonal, with two different clones having differing molecular signatures and anatomic locations in blood or bone marrow [7]. The heterogeneity within the population of monotypic lymphoblastoid B cells in WM was dramatically illustrated by an analysis of CD45 isoform expression [8]. This revealed that the WM clone is dynamic, with the WM clone as a whole undergoing apparently continuous differentiation over time [8], providing early evidence of extensive WM heterogeneity and clonal evolution. These dynamic temporal tides of WM clonal phenotype, in the face of treatment, clearly have potentially profound implications for clinical management of the disease. WM is in many respects "moving target" for therapeutic intervention. That moving target includes cancer stem cells, a heterogeneous hierarchy of

e-mail: lpilarsk@ualberta.ca

S. Adamia Medical Oncology, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

H.M. Ogmundsdottir University of Iceland, Reykjavik, Iceland

L.M. Pilarski (🖂) • J. Kriangkum • A.R. Belch

University of Alberta and Cross Cancer Institute, 11560 University Ave., Edmonton, AB, Canada, T6G 1Z2

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_3

malignant WM cells in blood and bone marrow, and frequent inter-clonal diversity [4, 5, 7, 9, 10].

3.2 The WM Clone

WM is characterized by extensive morphological heterogeneity that includes lymphocytes, lymphoblastoid cells, and plasmacytoid cells. The extent to which each of these populations contribute to malignant progression is unknown. Informed speculation about originating events that lead to WM requires an accounting of the B cell populations and the clonal expansions that occur in WM patients. Because WM is a B cell malignancy, the IgM rearrangement in the parent B cell that originally gave rise to WM provides a unique molecular signature, termed clonotypic, with which to identify any member of the WM clone regardless or phenotype or morphology. It also provides a means to determine whether or not additional clones exist that are unrelated to the WM clone. As discussed below, nearly all WM clones arise from B cells that have encountered the somatic hypermutation system, with or without antigenic selection and in or out of the germinal center, as previously discussed [5, 10]. Overall, WM appears to arise from a B cell that is programmed to undergo hypermutation in the absence of antigenic selection, to bypass the germinal center and to avoid IgH class switch recombination.

3.2.1 Molecular Analysis of IgM Clonotypic Sequences

Based on clinical and phenotypic evidence, WM cells populate both the blood and bone marrow. Molecular analysis of IgM signatures in individual B cells indicates that during active disease, these share the same clonotypic IgM sequence [5]. However, WM colonization of the blood, confirmed to include B cells that harbor the IgM VDJ signature sequence, is not always reflected by abnormal numbers of B cells [5]. Conversely, when circulating IgM protein and clonotypic IgM transcripts are infrequent in blood, the number of B cells can be abnormally high [5]. This indicates that the number of circulating B cells can be a misleading indicator of malignant clonal expansion but at the same time raises questions about the nature of these expanded B cell populations. In one case, these were clearly polyclonal and unrelated to the WM clone [5], suggesting that one explanation may be a dysregulation of B cell development that increases B lymphopoiesis.

In some cases, however, a highly expanded second clone, unrelated to the WM clone as defined by different IgM CDR3 signatures, resides predominantly in the blood [11]. However, the increased numbers of B lineage cells and partner clones that circulate or are found in bone marrow of WM patients are not necessarily able to undergo the extensive clonal expansion characteristic of the primary WM malignant clone [9]. It seems likely that the clone with cancer stem cell capabilities is most likely to be the clinically relevant clone, based on its ability to undergo

clonal expansion, and thus to regenerate the malignancy post-therapy to mediate relapse. Overall, the clinical impact of inter-clonal diversity remains unknown.

Nearly all IgM CDR3 sequences from WM are somatically mutated [5, 6, 10]. The B cells in WM are unable to undergo class switch recombination [4, 6], perhaps due to an absence of mutations in the switch region of IgH [4]. Together, their mutational profile and inability to engage in class switch recombination suggest an unusual cell of origin [4, 5, 10]. IgM monoclonal gammopathies of undetermined significance (MGUS) are thought to be the most significant risk factor for developing WM [2]. However, since the IgM MGUS analyzed have mutated (normal) IgH switch regions, this means that by definition they could not give rise to a WM clone with unmutated switch regions [4]. This definitively limits the categories of IgM MGUS that can transform to WM.

3.2.2 Clonal Diversity in WM Patients

Although WM is a monoclonal IgM gammopathy, we have found that WM patients also harbor additional unrelated clones that have expanded and become frequent. For 4 of 20 WM patients analyzed, a frequent partner clone harboring a different IgH CDR3 was identified, being either completely unrelated to the nominal WM clone or being distantly related to it, perhaps through a common ancestral progenitor [7]. These second WM partner clones sometimes had anatomically distinct localization as well, with one clone predominant in the BM and a second predominant in blood. For some cases, the partner B cell clones appear to have arisen from separate transformation events. The extent to which each partner clone contributes to pathological symptoms and/or disease progression, whether separately or in synergy, is as yet unknown.

3.2.3 Clonal Dominance

B cell populations are frequently affected by clonal dominance in which one clone exerts inhibitory effects on other clones despite the fact that they may be better fitted to the antigenic challenge in question [12]. Only when dominant clones weaken do they allow subservient clones to expand [13]. The mechanism through which clonal dominance is imposed is as yet unknown but appears to be operative in patients with monoclonal gammopathies [14]. We speculate that in WM patients, multiple transformation events may occur that usually lead to the emergence of one dominant clone but sometimes result in two "dominant" clones. This also occurs in other systemic B cell malignancies [chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) [15] and multiple myeloma (MM)] [11, 14]. Multiple cryptic clones appear to arise and may participate in the disease process as WM progresses, raising questions as to the mechanisms that generate this kind of <u>inter</u>-clonal diversity.

3.2.4 Second Malignancies in WM

The inter-clonal diversity shown to appear in some WM patients may or may not have pathological consequences and may or may not contribute to disease processes. The relative frequency of second hematological malignancies in WM lends weight to the idea that inter-clonal diversity may give rise to new malignancies. There may be a treatment-related increase in incidence of second hematological malignancies in WM [16]. A substantial proportion of WM patients develop diffuse large cell lymphoma (Richter's transformation), acute myeloid leukemia (AML), myelodysplastic syndrome, multiple myeloma, or non-Hodgkin's lymphoma [17, 18], with an incidence of second lymphohematopoietic cancers of 8% at 15 years [19]. In this context, it is worth noting that a substantial proportion of AML harbor IgH VDJ gene rearrangements [20] and thus may be of otherwise cryptic B cell origin. This prompts the idea that apparent myeloid second malignancies arising in WM patients may mask their origin from a transformed B cell with myeloid morphology, but retain a rearranged IgH VDJ gene that definitively identifies the malignancy as in the B lineage. Some second cancers are likely to reflect inherited genetic predispositions towards lymphoid and/or hematological malignancies and some may arise through acquired mutations that promote transformation events.

3.3 Genetic Predispositions for WM

WM includes familial and sporadic forms of disease. Thus genetic factors certainly play a role in familial forms and likely also contribute to sporadic WM. Genetic influences on WM can be either inherited [e.g., single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs)] [21] or acquired (somatic mutations) [22–24]. A series of monoclonal gammopathy-prone families with IgM MGUS and WM as well as other B cell malignancies have been identified in Iceland [25, 26], further supporting the idea that IgM MGUS presents a risk for WM. First degree relatives of WM patients have a high relative risk for WM, with a lower but still increased risk for other lymphoproliferative disorders, including MGUS [1]. Relatives of CLL are at increased risk of CLL but also of WM [27].

Identification of genetic factors that contribute to a given cancer can take two approaches. One frequently used approach is to carry out whole genome or whole exome screening that identifies numerous genes with potential impact, whose biological relevance must be extensively confirmed later. Another approach is to evaluate genetic changes by targeted sequencing within a candidate gene already known to have a functional impact on cancer cells.

3.3.1 Genetic Changes Lead to Aberrant Splicing Events in WM

In this context, we have shown that the hyaluronan synthase 1 (HAS1) gene is aberrantly spliced in WM, with most WM cells expressing the aberrant intronic splicing product [28, 29], making it a promising candidate gene. We have identified a family of five aberrant splice variants of HAS1 expressed in WM and MM [28, 30]. Four of these result from aberrant intronic splicing, characteristic of cancer. Supporting a role in oncogenesis and progression of WM, intronic HAS1 splice variants are transforming [31]. The functional impact of HAS1 spice variants is likely driven through synthesis by these aberrant splice variants of intracellular hyaluronan (HA) and subsequent HA-mediated aberrant regulation of mitotic events [32], as well as via modulation of malignant spread mediated by extracellular HAS1 introns and exons, including both inherited and acquired mutations affecting splicing modulator sequences [21–23, 34, 35].

3.3.2 Splicing Defects Contribute to Origins of Cancer

It is becoming increasingly apparent that splicing defects play a key role in cancer and that genetic changes in splicing sites or in genes that encode spliceosome components promote aberrant splicing that leads to malignant transformation. In myeloid malignancies, acquired somatic mutations in splicing factors are frequent [36, 37]. Genes encoding splicing factors and/or splicing molecules are also mutated in CLL [38]. The close relationship between WM and CLL [27] and the frequent occurrence of myeloid disorders as second cancers in WM (whatever their origins, see above) are observations consistent with the observed extent of aberrant HAS1 splicing in WM and the influence of inherited and acquired mutations in HAS1 [22, 23].

WM provides a clear-cut example of genetic changes in splicing sites contributing to aberrant splicing events that promote transformation and oncogenesis. In individual WM cells, aberrant splice variants appear to be the dominant species with little or no synthesis of the normally spliced HAS1 gene product [34]. Normally spliced HAS1 and aberrant HAS1 splice variants form dimers and multimers through intermolecular bonds with themselves and with each other. HAS1 family members form heteromeric multimer assemblies that result in aberrant localization of HAS1 and a prolonged half-life inside the cell [31]. One of the intronic HAS1 splice variants found in patients is transforming in vitro and tumorigenic in vivo, when introduced as single oncogene to untransformed cells [31].

Inherited polymorphisms appear to predispose individuals to WM and together with acquired mutations promote aberrant splicing events [22, 23, 35]. Many novel HAS1 mutations found in WM patients are recurrent, defined as present in two or more unrelated patients with WM, and frequently found in both WM and MM [21, 22]. The presence of shared novel mutations among WM and MM patients implies that the early stages of oncogenesis are shared between these two cancers

and that the cell type in which the culminating genetic events occur determines whether an individual develops MM or WM. In turn, the close relationship between WM and CLL suggests that CLL may also arise from early events that are shared with WM and MM. These three systemic B cell malignancies may share at least some genetic predispositions and a common first progenitor with subsequent oncogenic events determining the cancer stem cells from which each malignancy ultimately arises in any given patient. Furthermore, the acquisition of recurrent HAS1 mutations shared by WM and MM but absent from healthy donors may, in the context of other oncogenic events, inexorably lead to malignant disease. As will be discussed below, these observations may provide insight into the originating events that lead to WM.

3.4 Inherited Polymorphisms in HAS1 as Predisposing Factors for WM

Inherited genetic changes, which are present at birth, must by definition have their impact well before transformation events occur. They may predispose to development of a given condition. For cancer, however, predisposing factors must almost certainly act in tandem with later changes acquired after birth and ultimately with further tumor-specific genetic changes in the parent B cells that give rise to WM. Single nucleotide polymorphisms, inherited single nucleotide changes/ mutations, alter gene products in a multiplicity of ways that include an enhanced predisposition to malignant diseases. Because WM is usually diagnosed in older adults, it is difficult to screen the general population and quantify the number of individuals with a given genotype that will develop the cancer. As a surrogate, the frequency of a given genotype in the WM population can be compared with that in the overall population to ask whether or not it has been enriched among WM patients. If so, one can infer that those harboring the genotype in question are at higher risk of having WM than those who do not. Cognizant of this constraint, we analyzed HAS1 SNPs in sporadic WM and other systemic B cell disorders (CLL, MM, sporadic MGUS) to determine whether or not these SNPs are enriched in patient populations.

For any given SNP, there are at least two alleles, one on each chromosome, termed major and minor alleles, with genotypes of homozygous major, homozygous minor, or heterozygous. Although alleles harbor the SNPs, the genotype is the genetic unit subject to selection. We analyzed a region of *HAS1* that we knew to be rich in mutations and to be important for aberrant splicing of HAS1 [22, 23, 35]. For over 1400 patients and healthy control groups, from genomic DNA we sequenced *HAS1* from exon 3 through intron 3, to genotype the SNP alleles present in these regions [23]. Of the HAS1 SNPs listed for this region in the NCBI dbSNP database, only five were in Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium, an essential criterion for analysis [39]. This includes two unlinked SNPs in exon 3 and three linked SNPS in HAS1 intron 3 (linkage disequilibrium).

For all of the systemic B cell malignancies analyzed, including MM, CLL, and WM as compared to their age-matched healthy controls, there was a significant association between the minor allele genotypes of the linked HAS1 intronic SNPs and presence of B cell malignancy [23, 40]. However, for breast cancer patients compared to their matched control group, the presence of HAS1 SNPs had no predictive value and did not associate with the presence of breast cancer [23]. As well, for all groups there was no association with the HAS1 exon 3 SNPs, providing an internal negative control. A highly significant risk of having a minor allele genotype was associated with sporadic WM and CLL, with lesser risk for MM and no significant risk for sporadic MGUS. To evaluate familial inheritance patterns in a group with a more homogeneous genetic background, we also sequenced HAS1 gene segments from a four generation Icelandic family that is prone to monoclonal gammopathies [25, 26]. Hyper-Ig synthesis from hyperactive B cells defined affected members of the family [26]. The minor allele genotypes of the linked intronic 3 SNPs, but not the exon 3 SNPs, were highly significantly associated with affected members of this family as compared to unaffected members who served as the control group. It is interesting that for the Icelandic kindred, the presence of familial MGUS or its surrogate, hyper-Ig synthesis, is strongly correlated with the minor allele genotypes of the intronic HAS1 SNPs [23]. Extrapolating from the Icelandic familial analysis, it seems likely that the infrequent sporadic MGUS having a high probability of transforming to frank malignancy would also have a high frequency of the minor allele genotypes as an indicator of that increased risk. Taken together, our work suggests that intronic HAS1 SNPs are strongly associated with the presence of systemic B cell malignancies but are not associated with a solid tumor.

3.5 Originating Events in WM

3.5.1 How Might HAS1 SNPs Promote Cancer?

The effects of *HAS1* SNPs are likely to be multifactorial [29]. Certainly, one consequence of harboring the minor alleles of the linked HAS1 intronic SNPs is a predisposition to aberrant splicing of HAS1 [22, 35] and the resulting changes in enzymatic function by the aberrantly spliced HAS1 variants [30, 31]. These include altered localization of HAS1 family proteins to intracellular compartments [31], de novo synthesis of intracellular HA, and increased synthesis of extracellular HA [30, 31], all of which potentially dysregulate mitosis [32] or alter motility and malignant spread.

The potential dysregulation of mitosis by intracellular HA provides a compelling rationale for the apparent impact of *HAS1* intronic SNPs as predisposing elements in the genome of WM patients [23]. In the context of other genetic events [22, 35], intronic *HAS1* SNPs promote aberrant splicing of HAS1 pre-mRNA to generate aberrant proteins that localize inside the cell. Aberrant HAS1 splice variants synthesize de novo HA, a polysaccharide known to have complex and

multifactorial effects in cancer [29]. Provocatively, aberrantly spliced HAS1 variants appear to synthesize intracellular HA [30, 31]. Although the functional outcomes of intracellular HA are not well described, in addition to their impact on mitosis, they may include interference with the activities of HA binding proteins inside the cell, including altered signaling, remodeled cytoskeletal architecture, and modulated miRNA activities.

It is reasonable to speculate that at least one mechanism through which HAS1 aberrant splicing and intracellular HA could promote cancer may involve mitotic events. The presence of HA within the cell will almost certainly have a functional impact on HA-binding proteins that participate in mitotic events. One such protein is the HA-binding receptor RHAMM (HMMR, CD168) which binds to the mitotic spindle through its HA-binding domain [41]. Intracellular HA may act as a competitor for RHAMM binding to mitotic spindle sites, thereby downregulating the mitotic toxicity of hyperexpressed RHAMM [29, 32, 42].

One potential pathway involves synthesis of intracellular HA by HAS1 splice variants as an enabler of oncogenic activities by RHAMM, an oncogene that is hyperexpressed in WM and MM [28, 42, 43]. Unbalanced RHAMM isoform expression predicts for poor outcome in MM [44]. But perplexingly, RHAMM which is hyperexpressed at levels comparable to those found in ex vivo WM and MM cells is toxic in transfectants, causing mitotic arrest and cell death [41]. Oncogenesis involving RHAMM may be critically dependent on rescue from RHAMMmediated toxicity. This in turn may facilitate the emergence of viable cancer variants with chromosomal abnormalities that confer enhanced growth potential and escape from normal control mechanisms, thereby facilitating development, clonal expansion, and progression of WM and other cancers [42]. Without a rescue mechanism, potentially malignant cells that hyper-express RHAMM will die, an outcome which benefits the patient who hosts the transformation process. However, if incipient malignant cells gain an ability to implement "rescue" mechanisms that modulate the toxicity of too much RHAMM, they will survive and may lead to frank malignancy, clearly benefiting the cancer at the expense of the patient. We speculate that intronic HAS1 SNPs promote development of HAS1-mediated rescue mechanisms that abrogate the toxicity of hyperactive RHAMM.

3.5.2 Potential Role of HAS1 in Systemic B Cell Malignancies

Intronic *HAS1* SNPs are associated with the presence of WM [23, 40], with a high degree of significance. A primary functional impact of these intronic SNPs may be to alter HAS1 splicing and thus promote the generation of aberrant HAS1 splice variants. If so, HAS1 splice variants may then act to dysregulate intracellular events and, in particular, promote the survival of genetically abnormal WM cancer variant clones. A variety of evidence discussed above supports this idea. These events may have their greatest impact in early stage progenitor populations that are actively proliferating and undergoing differentiation, cellular processes that may be ripe for disruption by aberrant HAS1 splice variant proteins and their HA products.



Fig. 3.1 Potential common progenitor for systemic B cell malignancies. Star indicates the presence of the three linked SNPs in HAS1 intron 3

Genetic analysis of WM, MM, and CLL indicates that intronic *HAS1* SNPs strongly associate with the presence of malignancy for all three cancers with the highest risk accruing to WM and CLL [23]. This suggests that the earliest transforming events and the first progenitor population in the hierarchy leading to frank malignancy may be shared by all three of these systemic lymphoid malignancies (Fig. 3.1). For any given patient, the malignancy that ultimately develops from this common progenitor will likely depend on cancer-specific events and the differentiation stage at which they occur.

Divergent commitment to a path that leads to systemic WM, CLL, or MM must occur later in development when disease-specific genetic changes begin to accumulate. However, WM continues to share many novel and recurrent HAS1 mutations with MM [21–23], suggesting that a close genetic relationship persists. In addition, all three cancers, WM, MM, and CLL, are characterized by the frequent occurrence of additional unrelated partner clones that have undergone sufficient expansion to be readily detectable against the significant background of the primary malignant clone. For all three cancers, partner clones lacked intraclonal diversity and in WM failed to undergo Ig class switching, both attributes being characteristic of malignant WM clones, suggesting relatively frequent transformation events. The partner clones in WM arise from independent transformation events. This leads to the supposition that multiple transformation events may continuously occur as WM progresses, with the strongest clone imposing dominance on the majority of partner



Fig. 3.2 Multiple transformation events and clonal dominance may characterize WM. *** indicates linked HAS1 intron 3 SNPs

clones (Fig. 3.2). Over time and with treatment, this dominance may begin to weaken, thereby allowing subservient clones to expand, as discussed above. This kind of clonal dynamic may occur both within and without the primary clone to expand intra-clonal and inter-clonal diversity.

3.5.3 Hypothesis: WM Undergoes Multiple and Continuing Transformation Events

Overall then, we speculate that transformation events occur on a continuous basis throughout the course of WM. The earliest stages are clinically invisible as the emerging clones "jockey" for dominance, a process that likely involves accumulation of additional genetic changes that promote malignancy and clonal survival. A primary WM clone eventually takes over and expands to the point where it becomes clinically detectable and has pathological consequences. Initiation of treatment is predicted to alter the clonal balance and may or may not disrupt patterns of established clonal dominance, depending on the way in which it affects the primary WM clone. Partner clones, unrelated or distantly related to the primary WM clone, also may expand and become detectable, but their clinical significance remains unknown.

3.6 Conclusion

Our work suggests that HAS1 plays a central predisposing role in the originating events that lead to WM, as well as participating in transformation and emergence of frank malignancy. It also suggests that HAS1 plays a role in events that underlie disease progression. Aberrant intronic splicing, as occurs in WM, is unique to cancer cells or abnormal clinical conditions. The aberrant HAS1 splice variants are transforming, indicating their ability to transfer malignant characteristics to otherwise "normal" cells. We speculate that the expression of intra-cellular HAS1 splice variants leads to multiple transformation events from which the primary WM clone ultimately emerges. Sequencing has revealed a series of novel HASI mutations that are independently acquired by more than one WM patient, termed "recurrent," indicating that acquisition of HAS1 mutations must be highly significant for the disease. The fact that some acquired mutations are recurrent means that they are selected among those in whom the disease eventually develops, leading to a high frequency in individuals who have WM. This is characteristic of a genetic event that, once acquired, leads to a high probability of developing WM. Understanding these events is critical for WM patients and has high clinical relevance. The properties of aberrant HAS1 splice variants provide a rationale for the highly significant correlation between the presence of WM and the inherited minor alleles for a set of linked *HAS1* intronic SNPs. There is thus a high probability that *HAS1* is clinically important as a predisposing gene imposing risk for WM as well as being a contributor to oncogenesis and to progression of WM. More precise understanding of the genetic events leading to aberrant splicing in WM may identify novel therapies that disrupt them, for example, use of inhibitory RNAs, and thereby halt the progression of malignant disease in WM patients.

References

- Kristinsson SY, Goldin LR, Turesson I, Bjorkholm M, Landgren O. Familial aggregation of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia with solid tumors and myeloid malignancies. Acta Haematol. 2012;127(3):173–7.
- Landgren O, Kristinsson SY, Goldin LR, Caporaso NE, Blimark C, Mellqvist UH, Wahlin A, Bjorkholm M, Turesson I. Risk of plasma cell and lymphoproliferative disorders among 14621 first-degree relatives of 4458 patients with monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance in Sweden. Blood. 2009;114(4):791–5.

- 3. Kriangkum J, Taylor BJ, Mant MJ, Treon SP, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. The malignant clone in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):132–5.
- Kriangkum J, Taylor BJ, Strachan E, Mant MJ, Reiman T, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Impaired class switch recombination (CSR) in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia (WM) despite apparently normal CSR machinery. Blood. 2006;107(7):2920–7.
- Kriangkum J, Taylor BJ, Treon SP, Mant MJ, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Clonotypic IgM V/D/J sequence analysis in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia suggests an unusual B-cell origin and an expansion of polyclonal B cells in peripheral blood. Blood. 2004;104:2134–42.
- Sahota SS, Forconi F, Ottensmeier CH, Provan D, Oscier DG, Hamblin TJ, Stevenson FK. Typical Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia is derived from a B-cell arrested after cessation of somatic mutation but prior to isotype switch events. Blood. 2002;100(4):1505–7.
- Kriangkum J, Taylor BJ, Treon SP, Mant MJ, Reiman T, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Molecular characterization of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia reveals frequent occurrence of two B-cell clones having distinct IgH VDJ sequences. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(7):2005–13.
- Jensen GS, Andrews EJ, Mant MJ, Vergidis R, Ledbetter JA, Pilarski LM. Transitions in CD45 isoform expression indicate continuous differentiation of a monoclonal CD5+CD11b+ B lineage in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol. 1991;37:20–30.
- Kirshner J, Thulien KJ, Kriangkum J, Motz S, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. In a patient with biclonal Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia only one clone expands in three-dimensional culture and includes putative cancer stem cells. Leuk Lymphoma. 2011;52(2):285–9.
- Kriangkum J, Taylor BJ, Reiman T, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Origins of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: does it arise from an unusual B-cell precursor? Clin Lymphoma. 2005;5 (4):217–9.
- Kriangkum J, Motz S, Debes Marun CS, Lafarge ST, Gibson SB, Venner CP, Johnston JB, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Frequent occurrence of highly expanded but unrelated B-cell clones in patients with multiple myeloma. PLoS One. 2013;8, e649927.
- 12. Askonas BA, Williamson AR. Dominance of a cell clone forming antibody to DNP. Nature. 1972;238(5363):339–41.
- 13. Williamson AR, Askonas BA. Senescence of an antibody-forming cell clone. Nature. 1972;238(5363):337–9.
- Pilarski LM, Debes-Marun CS, Martin LD, Venner CP, Pilarski PM, Belch AR. B lymphocytes as cancer stem cells in multiple myeloma. J Oncopathol. 2013;1:10–21.
- Kriangkum J, Motz SN, Mack T, Beiggi S, Baigorri E, Kuppusamy H, Belch AR, Johnston JB, Pilarski LM. Single-cell analysis and next-generation immuno-sequencing show that multiple clones persist in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. PLoS One. 2015;10(9), e0137232. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0137232.
- 16. Leleu X, Soumerai J, Roccaro A, Hatjiharissi E, Hunter ZR, Manning R, Ciccarelli BT, Sacco A, Ioakimidis L, Adamia S, Moreau AS, Patterson CJ, Ghobrial IM, Treon SP. Increased incidence of transformation and myelodysplasia/acute leukemia in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia treated with nucleoside analogs. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(2):250–5.
- 17. Leblond V, Levy V, Maloisel F, Cazin B, Fermand JP, Harousseau JL, Remenieras L, Porcher R, Gardembas M, Marit G, Deconinck E, Desablens B, Guilhot F, Philippe G, Stamatoullas A, Guibon O. Multicenter, randomized comparative trial of fludarabine and the combination of cyclophosphamide-doxorubicin-prednisone in 92 patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia in first relapse or with primary refractory disease. Blood. 2001;98 (9):2640–4.
- 18. Ojha RP, Thertulien R. Second malignancies among Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia patients: small samples and sparse data. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(2):542–3.
- Morra E, Varettoni M, Tedeschi A, Arcaini L, Ricci F, Pascutto C, Rattotti S, Vismara E, Paris L, Cazzola M. Associated cancers in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: clues for common genetic predisposition. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2013;13(6):700–3.

- 20. Stavroyianni N, Belessi C, Stamatopoulos K, Kosmas C, Paterakis G, Abazis D, Pangalos C, Yataganas X. Expression of recombination activating genes-1 and-2 immunoglobulin heavy chain gene rearrangements in acute myeloid leukemia: evaluation of biological and clinical significance in a series of 76 uniformly treated patients and review of the literature. Haematologica. 2003;88(3):268–74.
- Adamia S, Pilarski PM, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Genetic abnormalities in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9(1):30–2.
- 22. Adamia S, Reichert A, Kuppusamy H, Kriangkum J, Ghosh A, Hodges J, Pilarski PM, Treon SP, Mant MJ, Reiman T, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Inherited and acquired mutations in the hyaluronan synthase-1 (HAS1) gene may contribute to disease progression in multiple myeloma and Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2008;112:5111–21.
- 23. Kuppusamy H, Ogmundsdottir HM, Baigorri E, Warkentin A, Steingrimsdottir H, Haraldsdottir V, Mant MJ, Mackey J, Johnston JB, Adamia S, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Inherited polymorphisms in hyaluronan synthase 1 predict risk of systemic B-cell malignancies but not of breast cancer. PLoS One. 2014;9(6), e100691.
- 24. Treon SP, Xu L, Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Cao Y, Sheehy P, Manning RJ, Patterson CJ, Tripsas C, Arcaini L, Pinkus GS, Rodig SJ, Sohani AR, Harris NL, Laramie JM, Skifter DA, Lincoln SE, Hunter ZR. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(9):826–33.
- 25. Ogmundsdottir HM, Haraldsdottirm V, Johannesson GM, Olafsdottir G, Bjarnadottir K, Sigvaldason H, Tulinius H. Familiality of benign and malignant paraproteinemias. A population-based cancer-registry study of multiple myeloma families. Haematologica. 2005;90(1):66–71.
- Ogmundsdottir HM, Johannesson GM, Sveinsdottir S, Einarsdottir S, Hegeman A, Jensson O, Ogsmundsdottir HM. Familial macroglobulinaemia: hyperactive B-cells but normal natural killer function. Scand J Immunol. 1994;40(2):195–200.
- Goldin LR, Bjorkholm M, Kristinsson SY, Turesson I, Landgren O. Elevated risk of chronic lymphocytic leukemia and other indolent non-Hodgkin's lymphomas among relatives of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Haematologica. 2009;94(5):647–53.
- Adamia S, Crainie M, Kriangkum J, Mant MJ, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Abnormal expression of hyaluronan synthases in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):165–8.
- Adamia S, Pilarski PM, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Aberrant splicing, hyaluronan synthases and intracellular hyaluronan as drivers of oncogenesis and potential drug targets. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2013;13(4):347–61.
- Adamia S, Reiman T, Crainie M, Mant MJ, Belch A, Pilarski LM. Intronic splicing of hyaluronan synthase 1 (HAS1): a biologically relevant indicator of poor outcome in multiple myeloma. Blood. 2005;105:4836–44.
- 31. Ghosh A, Kuppusamy H, Pilarski LM. Aberrant splice variants of HAS1 (Hyaluronan Synthase 1) multimerize with and modulate normally spliced HAS1 protein: a potential mechanism promoting human cancer. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(28):18840–50.
- 32. Pilarski LM, Adamia S, Maxwell CA, Pilarski PM, Reiman T, Belch AR. Hyaluronan synthases and RHAMM as synergistic mediators of malignancy in B lineage cancers. In: Balazs EA, Hascall VC, editors. Hyaluronan structure, metabolism, biological activities, therapeutic applications. 1st ed. Edgewater, NJ: Matrix Biology Institute; 2005. p. 329–38.
- 33. Masellis-Smith A, Belch AR, Mant MJ, Turley EA, Pilarski LM. Hyaluronan-dependent motility of B cells and leukemic plasma cells in blood, but not of bone marrow plasma cells, in multiple myeloma: alternate use of receptor for hyaluronan-mediated motility (RHAMM) and CD44. Blood. 1996;87(5):1891–9.
- 34. Adamia S, Treon SP, Reiman T, Tournilhac O, McQuarrie C, Mant MJ, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Single nucleotide polymorphism of hyaluronan synthase 1 gene and aberrant splicing in Waldenstroms macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma. 2005;5:253–6.

- 35. Kriangkum J, Warkentin A, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Alteration of introns in a hyaluronan synthase 1 (HAS1) minigene convert pre-mRNA splicing to the aberrant pattern in multiple myeloma (MM): MM patients harbor similar changes. PLoS One. 2013;8(1), e53469.
- 36. Adamia S, Haibe-Kains B, Pilarski PM, Bar-Natan M, Pevzner S, vet-Loiseau H, Lode L, Verselis S, Fox EA, Burke J, Galinsky I, gogo-Jack I, Wadleigh M, Steensma DP, Motyckova G, Deangelo DJ, Quackenbush J, Stone R, Griffin JD. A genome-wide aberrant RNA splicing in patients with acute myeloid leukemia identifies novel potential disease markers and therapeutic targets. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20:1–11.
- Cazzola M, Rossi M, Malcovati L. Biologic and clinical significance of somatic mutations of SF3B1 in myeloid and lymphoid neoplasms. Blood. 2013;121(2):260–9.
- 38. Wan Y, Wu CJ. SF3B1 mutations in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2013;121 (23):4627-34.
- 39. Wilkins K, LaFramboise T. Losing balance: Hardy-Weinberg disequilibrium as a marker for recurrent loss-of-heterozygosity in cancer. Hum Mol Genet. 2011;20(24):4831–9.
- 40. Pilarski LM, Kuppusamy H, Kriangkum J, Warkentin A, Ghosh S, Gibson S, Steingrimsdottir H, Haraldsdottir V, Johnston JB, Ogmundsdottir HM, Belch AR. Functional and familial risk of B lineage malignancies in patients carrying single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the hyaluronan synthase 1 gene (HAS1). Blood. 2011;118:3930.
- 41. Maxwell CA, Keats JJ, Crainie M, Sun X, Yen T, Shibuya E, Hendzel M, Chan G, Pilarski LM. RHAMM is a centrosomal protein that interacts with dynein and maintains spindle pole stability. Mol Biol Cell. 2003;14:2262–76.
- 42. Adamia S, Kriangkum J, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Aberrant post-transcriptional processing of hyaluronan synthase 1 in malignant transformation and tumor progression. In: Simpson M, Heldin P, editors. Hyaluronan signaling and turnover, Advances in cancer research, vol. 123. 1st ed. New York, NY: Elsevier Academic Press; 2014. p. 67–94.
- Crainie M, Belch AR, Mant MJ, Pilarski LM. Overexpression of the receptor for hyaluronanmediated motility (RHAMM) characterizes the malignant clone in multiple myeloma: identification of three distinct RHAMM variants. Blood. 1999;93(5):1684–96.
- 44. Maxwell CA, Rasmussen E, Zhan F, Keats JJ, Adamia S, Strachan E, Crainie M, Belch AR, Pilarski LM, Shaugnessy J, Reiman T. RHAMM expression and isoform balance predicts aggressive disease and poor survival in multiple myeloma. Blood. 2004;104:1151–8.

Cytogenetics in Waldenström Macroglobulinemia (WM)

Florence Nguyen-Khac

Conventional Cytogenetic (CC), the first technics allowing whole genome analysis, has been hampered by the low mitotic activity of the malignant B-cells of Waldenström Macroglobulinemia [1]. The use of B-cell mitogens, especially the immunostimulatory CpG-oligonucleotide in combination with IL-2, has increased the rate of successful analysis [2]. Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH), a targeted approach, has also improved the rate of detection of cytogenetic abnormalities in WM because of both higher sensitivity and resolution. Overall, up to 50 % of cases exhibit abnormalities by CC and/or FISH. High-resolution genomic technics, such as aCGH (array-based comparative genomic hybridization) and SNPa (single nucleotide polymorphism array), detect genomic abnormalities in 61–83 % of WM patients, with a median of two or three abnormalities are detected in symptomatic WM [4].

If specific abnormalities were not recognized until now, the frequency and the association of chromosomal abnormalities distinguish WM from other B-cell malignancies.

Deletion of the long arm of chromosome 6 (6q) is the commonest recurrent chromosomal abnormality identified by several studies. Its frequency ranges from 22 to 54 % depending on the cohort (indolent patients, symptomatic patients either at diagnosis or relapse) and the technics used (cell sorting, cytoplasmic immuno-globulin m-FISH, FISH probes, whole genome arrays) [2–5]. Four separate minimal deleted regions were identified on 6q, two of these including *PRDM1* (*BLIMP1*) on 6q21 and *TNFAIP3* on 6q23, but their direct role in WM pathogenesis

F. Nguyen-Khac (🖂)

Service d'Hématologie Biologique, Hôpital Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

INSERM UMRS1138, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, Paris, France

UPMC, Paris 6, France e-mail: florence.nguyen-khac@psl.aphp.fr

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), *Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_4

has yet to be determined [3]. Although 6q deletion is associated with features of adverse prognosis (anemia, hypoalbuminemia, high B2-microglobulin), this abnormality has no adverse impact on patients' outcome [2, 6, 7].

The trisomy 4 was initially described in 8–20% of WM, involving the whole or partial gain of chromosome 4 [2, 8]. Poulain et al. reported partial gain of chromosome 4q that did not include the centromere [4]. Trisomy 4 is not specific to WM, since it is also observed in myeloid leukemia, but has not yet been reported in other low-grade B-cell malignancies [1]. Trisomy 18 is also frequent in WM (15%), and we have shown that trisomy 4 was significantly associated with trisomy 18 in WM [2]. The clinical implication of trisomy 4 is not well understood and no candidate gene has been identified to date [8].

Other recurrent abnormalities are described in WM, such as deletion 13q14, deletion 17p13 (involving the *TP53* gene), and deletion 11q22 (involving the *ATM* gene) and trisomy 12, which are observed in less than 13% of WM cases. Translocations involving *IGH* genes are very rare (2%) [2]. One study described a gain on 6p (short arm), always secondary to a deletion of 6q, in 16.6% of WM patients [3]. In our large series of previously untreated patients, we have shown that none of the chromosomal abnormalities influences overall survival. Patients with *TP53* deletion had short progression-free survival and short disease-free survival, and trisomy 12 was associated with short progression-free survival [2]. In WM patients with *TP53* deletion, the status of the remaining copy, wild type and functional or not, still has to be fully established. Deep sequencing, epigenetic status, and functional studies are required to address this point and establish clinical value of P53 (haplo-) deficiency.

Cytogenetic studies have first described recurrent abnormalities, which may play a role in progression and drug resistance of WM. While recent technological advances over the past decade have dramatically improved our understanding of the molecular pathogenesis of the disease, it remains important to investigate additional abnormalities, such as gains and deletions, at both cytogenetic and molecular levels, in order to better characterize individual malignancies, toward personalized therapy.

References

- 1. Mitelman F, Johansson B, Mertens F, editors. Mitelman database of chromosome aberrations and gene fusions in cancer. 2010. https://cgap.nci.nih.gov/Chromosomes/Mitelman
- 2. Nguyen-Khac F, et al. Chromosomal aberrations and their prognostic value in a series of 174 untreated patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Haematologica. 2013;98:649–54. doi:10.3324/haematol.2012.070458.
- Braggio E, et al. Identification of copy number abnormalities and inactivating mutations in two negative regulators of nuclear factor-kappaB signaling pathways in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Cancer Res. 2009;69:3579–88.
- Poulain S, et al. Genome wide SNP array identified multiple mechanisms of genetic changes in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol. 2013;88:948–54. doi:10.1002/ajh.23545.
- 5. Schop RF, et al. Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia neoplastic cells lack immunoglobulin heavy chain locus translocations but have frequent 6q deletions. Blood. 2002;100:2996–3001.

- Chang H, et al. Prognostic relevance of 6q deletion in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a multicenter study. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9:36–8.
- Ocio EM, et al. 6q deletion in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia is associated with features of adverse prognosis. Br J Haematol. 2007;136:80–6.
- 8. Terre C, et al. Trisomy 4, a new chromosomal abnormality in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a study of 39 cases. Leukemia. 2006;20:1634–6. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2404314.

Genetic and Signaling Abnormalities in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia

5

Zachary R. Hunter, Guang Yang, Lian Xu, Xia Liu, Jorge J. Castillo, and Steven P. Treon

5.1 Introduction

With the advent of next generation sequencing technology permitting large-scale genomic interrogation, many aberrations with implications for the diagnosis, clinical presentation, treatment, and overall survival in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia (WM) patients have been revealed [1–3].

5.2 Somatic Mutations in MYD88

Whole genome sequencing of CD19⁺ bone marrow (BM) cells from patients with WM led to the discovery of a somatic heterozygous NM_002468.4:c.978T>C mutation in MYD88 (rs387907272) resulting in a leucine to proline substitution p.Leu265Pro (L265P) in over 90 % of WM patients [1]. While not a kinase, MYD88 acts as an adaptor for the Toll-Like Receptor (TLR) and IL1R families by binding directly to the receptor or, as in the case of TLR4, through the adaptor molecule TIRAP. Upon receptor activation, MYD88 undergoes a conformational change promoting homodimerization and subsequent recruitment of signaling proteins including IRAK4 and IRAK1 [4–6]. Somatic activating mutations in MYD88 induce constitutive homodimerization and downstream MYD88 signaling independent of receptor activation [1, 7, 8]. This leads to the recruitment and activation of TRAF6 with subsequent nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB) activation (Fig. 5.1a) [8–10]. MYD88^{L265P} can also trigger IRAK-independent NF-kB signaling through direct interaction with BTK [8]. The importance of NF-kB signaling in the growth

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_5

Z.R. Hunter, PhD (🖂) • G. Yang, PhD • L. Xu, MA • X. Liu, MD • J.J. Castillo, MD •

S.P. Treon, MD, PhD

Bing Center for Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA, USA

e-mail: zachary_hunter@dfci.harvard.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

and survival of WM has been well documented in vitro, and inhibition of MYD88 dimerization results in loss of NF-kB nuclear localization and promotes apoptosis (Fig. 5.1b) [1, 11]. The high levels of phosphorylated IRAK4, IRAK1, and BTK are reduced by MYD88 inhibition and are all directly associated with the MYD88 complex [1, 8]. The knockdown or kinase inhibition of BTK is sufficient to reduce NF-kB signaling and promote apoptosis [8]. Moreover, a clinical trial of the BTK inhibitor ibrutinib resulted in a major response (>50 % reduction in serum IgM) in 46/57 (80.7%) of patients with activating MYD88 mutations while none of the 5 patients who were wild type for MYD88 achieved that level of response (P < 0.001) [12, 13]. Activated MYD88 can also promote the transcription of IL6 and HCK in WM lymphoplasmacytic cells leading to the activation of HCK via autocrine signaling through IL6R and IL6ST (GP130 at the protein level) as illustrated in Fig. 5.1a [10, 12]. HCK signaling through the mitogen activated protein kinase pathway (MAPK), and the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) pathway has been shown to promote the growth and survival of WM cells making HCK a relevant therapeutic target downstream of MYD88 [12].

The presence of MYD88 L265P in over 90% of WM patients has been confirmed in large independent series, using multiple modalities including Sanger, next generation sequencing, and polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based testing [10, 14– 18]. MYD88 mutations are typically heterozygous though copy number amplifications and acquired uniparental disomies (aUPD) affecting the MYD88 locus resulting in increased/homozygous mutant expression have been reported [2, 17].

MYD88 activating mutations are not unique to WM and were first described in activated B-cell (ABC) subtyped diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) where they were observed in 29 % of patients and subsequently in 3 % of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and up to 75 % of immune privileged DLBCL (i.e., testicular and primary central nervous system lymphoma) [7, 19, 20]. Somatic MYD88 mutations in hematological malignancies are not limited to L265P. In WM, other documented MYD88 mutations include p.Ser219Cys, p.Met232Thr, and p.Ser243Asn, all of which have also been have observed in DLBCL (Fig. 5.1c) [7, 13]. However, WM is distinct in the prevalence of the L265P mutations. In ABC DLBCL, L265P makes up approximately 76 % of MYD88 mutations [7]. In WM, a study of WM patients lacking the c.978T>C L265P mutation revealed alternative mutations in 3/19 (15 %) of patients [13]. With over 90 % of patients expressing the L265P mutation, MYD88^{L265P} likely accounts for over 95 % of the MYD88 mutations in WM [14].

The prevalence of MYD88^{L265P} relative to other MYD88 mutations in WM makes possible its use in diagnostic testing and as a biomarker of disease burden. Highly sensitive MYD88^{L265P} detection techniques such as allele-specific PCR (AS-PCR) can be used to help distinguish WM from a number of related hematological malignancies with lower incidences of MYD88^{L265P} mutations including marginal zone lymphoma (6–8 %), CLL (3 %), and IgM expressing multiple myeloma where MYD88^{L265P} has not been observed (Fig. 5.1d) [18, 19, 21]. This technique can also aid in the diagnosis of central nervous system (CNS)-involved



Fig. 5.1 MYD88 and CXCR4 mutations in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. (**a**) Diagram of MYD88 and CXCR4 signaling in WM. (**b**) Merged data of DAPI nuclear staining (*blue*), plasma membrane F-actin (*red*), and NFkB-P65 (*green*) shows the expulsion of NFkB from the nucleus of BCWM.1 cells following incubation with a MYD88 dimerization inhibitor IMG-2005-5 (Imgenex, San Diego, CA) compared to a scrambled peptide control. (**c**) Structure of human MYD88 TIR domain (MMDB: 108985) showing the location of the somatic mutations observed in

WM, known as Bing Neel syndrome, where MYD88^{L265P} can be detected in the spinal fluid [22]. Notably, MYD88^{L265P} can be detected in approximately 50–80 % of IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) cases using AS-PCR assays but not in IgG or IgA MGUS [15, 16, 18, 23]. Likewise, it is IgM, not IgA or IgG MGUS, that typically precedes WM diagnosis, suggesting that MYD88^{L265P} occurs very early in WM oncogenesis and may have some prognostic significance for patients with IgM MGUS [24].

The genetic alteration associated with MYD88^{WT} WM disease is an active area of research. One study of MYD88^{WT} patients reported that two of three (66.7%) had non-synonymous somatic mutations in MLL2 [2]. These two patients were further noted to have high levels of circulating WM CD23⁺ lymphoplasmacytic cells which is an uncommon finding in WM [25, 26]. MLL2 mutations are also associated with other lymphomas including 89% of follicular lymphoma and 32% of DLBCL [27].

5.3 CXCR4 Somatic Mutations

CXCR4 is the next most commonly mutated gene in WM and can be observed in 29% of patients [2, 3, 28]. These mutations occur nearly exclusively in patients harboring MYD88 mutations. CXCR4 is a G protein coupled receptor (GPCR) that in WM induces cell survival and migration to the BM mediated by its ligand, CXCL12 (SDF-1 α at the protein level) [29]. CXCR4 consists of seven transmembrane helices, the loops of which form the extracellular ligand-binding pocket for SDF-1 α and the intracellular signaling region responsible for downstream signaling through heterotrimeric G proteins (Fig. 5.1a). The intracellular carboxyl terminal tail (C-terminal) is important for receptor regulation, but does not participate in G protein signaling [30]. Following SDF-1 α binding, CXCR4 activates G_{αi} by catalyzing the exchange of its guanosine diphosphate (GDP) for guanosine triphosphate (GTP), releasing the heterotrimer from the receptor and dissociating the $G_{\beta}G_{\gamma}$ heterodimer from $G_{\alpha i}$ [31, 32]. The $G_{\beta}G_{\gamma}$ subunits signal through the phospholipase C (PLC) and phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) pathways until inhibited by another GDP bound G_{ai}. The G_{ai} subunit remains active, inhibiting adenylate cyclase and signaling through PI3K until the GTP is hydrolyzed to GDP by a regulator of G protein signaling family member (RGS). This G protein-based signaling is terminated when the C-terminal tail of CXCR4 is phosphorylated and the receptor internalized. Once the receptor is activated, several kinases including G protein receptor kinase (GRK), and protein kinase C (PKC) family members phosphorylate

Fig. 5.1 (continued) WM. (**d**) Violin plots displaying the density of delta cycle threshold (dCT) values from allele-specific PCR experiments detecting MYD88 L265P in healthy donors (HD), monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS), chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), multiple myeloma (MM), marginal zone lymphoma (MZL), and WM. Lower dCT values indicate a stronger MYD88 mutant signal

serines in the C-terminal tail. This recruits β -arrestin, inhibiting further signaling and transports the receptor to clathrin coated pits for internalization. During this process, β -arrestins signal through the MAPK pathway [33].

The CXCR4 somatic mutations in WM manifest as nonsense or frameshift mutations exclusively within the C-terminal domain (Fig. 5.2a) [2, 3]. The mutations are typically heterozygous though homozygous and compound heterozygous cases have been observed. Not only are these mutations typically found in MYD88-mutated patients, they are typically subclonal to MYD88 as well [34]. Highly sensitive techniques such as next generation sequencing and AS-PCR for highly recurrent mutations such as p.Ser338Ter have documented subclonal mutation rates of up to 43 %, far higher than the 29 % reported by Sanger sequencing studies [2, 28, 34]. While the clinical significance of these subclonal findings remains to be determined, their presence has implications for tumor evolution and the emergence of a more dominant CXCR4 mutant clone in the future.

The somatic mutational pattern in WM mirrors the germline variants found in familial warts, hypogammaglobulinemia, infection, and myelokathexis (WHIM) syndrome. In both diseases, these mutations occur after the last of the seven transmembrane helices, destroying the C-terminal tail but leaving the regions responsible for ligand binding and downstream signaling via G proteins intact (Fig. 5.2) [2, 35]. The loss of regulatory serines in the C-terminal tail of CXCR4 impairs receptor internalization via β -arrestins, thereby prolonging G protein and β -arrestin signaling [30, 33, 36]. In WHIM syndrome, this results in impaired B-cell class switching and constitutive homing to the bone marrow leading to peripheral neutropenia [37]. While this observation of somatic activation of a GPCR was first described in CXCR4 in WM patients, it affects a regulatory mechanism common to many GPCR chemokine receptors and a similar somatic mutation pattern can be found in the CCR4 c-terminal domain in up to 26 % of patients with adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma [2, 38, 39].

WM cell lines transduced to express these WHIM-like CXCR4 mutations (CXCR4^{WHIM}) exhibited impaired receptor internalization and increased signaling through AKT and MAPK1 compared to CXCR4 wild-type (CXCR4^{WT}) or empty vector lines when stimulated with SDF-1 α [28, 39]. Pre-incubating with a CXCR4 inhibitor prior to stimulation can block these effects. More robust signaling in the cell lines transduced with the most common nonsense mutation, p.Ser338Ter, compared with two separate CXCR4 frame shift lines was also observed [40].

5.4 Clinical Features Associated with MYD88 and CXCR4 Somatic Mutation Status

The clinical presentation of WM patients at diagnosis is partly determined by MYD88 and CXCR4 mutation status [3, 16, 18]. Patients harboring the MYD88^{L265P} mutation have significantly increased bone marrow involvement, higher serum IgM levels, and lower serum IgA levels. However, those patients who are wild type for

Α

MEGISIYTSDNYTEEMGSGDYDSMKEPCFREENANFNKIFLPTI YSIIFLTGIVGNGLVILVMGYQKKLRSMTDKYRLHLSVADLLFVI TLPFWAVDAVANWYFGNFLCKAVHVIYTVNLYSSVLILAFISLD RYLAIVHATNSQRPRKLLAEK VVYVGVWIPALLLTIPDFIFANVS EADDRYICDRFYPNDLW VVFQFQHIMVGLILPGIVILSCYCIIIS KLSHSKGHQKRKALKTTVILILAFFACWLPYYIGISIDSFILLEIIK QGCEFENTVHKWISITEALAFFHCCLNPILYAFLGAKFKTSAQH ALTSVSFCSSLALSKGKGCHSVSTSESSSFHSS LEGEND B

A - Germline variant in WHIM syndrome A - Transmembrane helix - Somatic frame shift or nonsense WM variant



Fig. 5.2 Genomic and clinical findings for MYD88 and CXCR4 mutations in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. (a) Location of the somatic CXCR4 nonsense and frameshift mutations found in 177 WM patient samples compared with germline variants associated with warts, hypogammaglobulinemia, infection, and myelokathexis (WHIM) syndrome based on the full length protein transcript NP_003458.1. (b) Crystal structure of homodimerized CXCR4 (MMDB ID: 85801) demonstrating the relative location of the regulatory carboxyl terminal tail domain. (c) Log-rank analysis of overall survival based on MYD88 and CXCR4 mutation status of 174 WM patients. The analysis was equally significant when stratified solely on MYD88^{L265P} (P < 0.0001 for both). Box plots indicating median, interquartile, and range values by CXCR4 and MYD88

MYD88 have shorter overall survival with a tenfold higher risk of death compared with patients with MYD88 mutations (Fig. 5.2c) [3]. No differences in overall survival based on CXCR4 mutation status were observed. Mirroring the in vitro observations, differences between nonsense (CXCR4^{WHIM-NS}) and frame shift (CXCR4^{WHIM-FS}) can be seen in patient characteristics at diagnosis. Patients with any CXCR4^{WHIM-NS} mutation have decreased rates of adenopathy and patients with CXCR4^{WHIM-NS} mutations have significantly increased BM involvement and serum IgM levels compared with CXCR4^{WHIM-FS} or CXCR4^{WT} patients (Fig. 5.2d) [3]. CXCR4^{WHIM-NS} patients also presented with significantly higher rates of symptomatic disease and serum hyperviscosity syndrome.

WM cell lines BCWM.1 and MWCL-1 transduced with the S338X CXCR4 ^{WHIM-NS} mutation demonstrate resistance to a variety of anti-neoplastic agents including the alkylator bendamustine, the nucleoside analog fludarabine, the proteasome inhibitor bortezomib, and the PI3K inhibitor idelalisib in the presence of SDF-1 α [39]. In a clinical trial of BTK inhibitor ibrutinib in relapsed or refractory WM, patients with any type of CXCR4^{WHIM} mutation had lower rates of overall and major response [41]. The protective effect of CXCR4^{WHIM} is not universal and one clinical trial using a combination of rituximab, dexamethasone, and carflizomib, demonstrated no differences in response based on CXCR4 mutation status [42]. Based on this data, it is strongly encouraged that CXCR4 and MYD88 genotyping be conducted as a part of all prospective clinical trials.

5.5 Other Recurrent Mutations

The chromatin remodeling proteins, ARID1A and ARID1B, are also somatically altered in WM [2, 43]. In one WM whole genome sequencing study, ARID1A mutations were found in 5/30 (17%), one of which was opposite a somatic deletion and another made homozygous by an aUPD. The alternate family member ARID1B is encoded within the region of chromosome 6q that is commonly deleted in WM patients [43–46]. Both ARID1A and ARID1B are members of the SWI/SNF family of proteins which and are mutated in other neoplastic malignancies wherein they exert their effects through regulation of TP53 and CDKN1A [47–49]. TP53 itself is either somatically deleted or mutated in 5–10% of WM patients [2, 45, 50].

Two studies identified somatic mutations in CD79B in 7–9% of WM patients [2, 51]. CD79B is mutated in 12–18% of ABC DLBCL were it activates B-cell receptor signaling [20, 52]. CD79B mutations were also reported in 23% of immune privileged DLBCL cases with one study reporting CD79B mutations in 11/18 (61%) of cases of primary DLBCL of the CNS [20, 53]. These same DLBCL populations are the ones with the highest rate of MYD88^{L265P} mutations indicating possible synergistic interaction between the two genes. Many mutations associated with WM affect NF-kB signaling and the MYD88 pathway. In one study,

Fig. 5.2 (continued) genotype. P = 0.05, 0.01, and 0.01 for serum IgM in CXCR4^{WHIM-NS} versus CXCR4^{WHIM-FS} MYD888^{L265P}CXCR4^{WT}, and MYD88^{WT}, respectively. P = 0.05 and 0.005 for WM BM involvement in CXCR^{WHIM-NS} versus CXCR4^{WHIM-FS} and MYD88^{WT}, respectively

MYBBP1A was mutated in 2/30 (7%) of patients and may inhibit NF-kB activity by repressing RELA [2, 54]. Somatic copy loss of HIVEP2, which competes with NF-kB for DNA binding sites, was present in 23/30 77% of patients [2, 55]. Biallelic loss of TRAF3, a negative regulator of NF-kB, has been reported in two studies at a frequency of 2–3% of WM patients [2, 56]. Finally, partial methylation of DLEU7 was reported in a study of 12/12 patients [51]. DLEU7 inhibits TNFRSF13B (also known as TACI) and TNFRSF17 (also known as BCMA) leading to suppression of NF-kB signaling [57].

5.6 Structural Variants

No recurrent translocations have been described in WM, further distinguishing it from IgM myeloma and other B cell malignancies [2, 58, 59]. However, karyotyping, FISH, and array-based studies have identified recurrent chromosomal abnormalities. These include deletions in chromosome 6q21-23 in 40–60% of WM patients, with concordant gains in 6p in 41% of 6q deleted patients [44–46]. Gains in chromosomes 3q, 4, 18, 8q, and Xq as well as losses of 11q23, 13q14, and 17p have also been described in up to 20% of WM cases [45, 50]. As 6q deletions represent the most recurrent cytogenetic finding, there has been a great deal of interest in identifying the minimally deleted regions and target genes within this locus. Two such candidates are TNFAIP3, a negative regulator of NF-kB, and PRDM1, a master regulator of B-cell development [44, 56]. The removal of an NF-kB negative regulator is of particular interest as the phosphorylation and translocation of NF-kB into the nucleus is a crucial event for WM cell survival [11]. This has led to speculation that the success of proteasome inhibitor therapy in WM is due in part to inhibition of the degradation of negative regulators of NF-kB such as inhibitor of kappa B (IkB) [11, 42, 60].

5.7 Summary

Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia has a unique mutational profile that distinguishes it from other B-cell malignancies. In addition to serving as an important diagnostic measure, MYD88 mutation status can impact disease presentation, response to therapy, and survival status, while CXCR4 status has important implications for disease presentation and treatment resistance. MYD88 and CXCR4 signaling pathways also represent novel targets for the development of targeted therapeutics for WM.

References

- Treon SP, Xu L, Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Cao Y, Sheehy P, Manning RJ, Patterson CJ, Tripsas C, Arcaini L, Pinkus GS, Rodig SJ, Sohani AR, Harris NL, Laramie JM, Skifter DA, Lincoln SE, Hunter ZR. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(9):826–33. PMID: 22931316.
- 2. Hunter ZR, Xu L, Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Cao Y, Manning RJ, Tripsas C, Patterson CJ, Sheehy P, Treon SP. The genomic landscape of Waldenstom's Macroglobulinemia is

characterized by highly recurring MYD88 and WHIM-like CXCR4 mutations, and small somatic deletions associated with B-cell lymphomagenesis. Blood. 2013;123(11):1637–46. PMID: 24366360.

- Treon SP, Cao Y, Xu L, Yang G, Liu X, Hunter ZR. Somatic mutations in MYD88 and CXCR4 are determinants of clinical presentation and overall survival in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2014;123(18):2791–6. PMID: 24553177.
- 4. Cohen L, Henzel WJ, Baeuerle PA. IKAP is a scaffold protein of the IkappaB kinase complex. Nature. 1998;395(6699):292–6. PMID: 9751059.
- Loiarro M, Gallo G, Fantò N, De Santis R, Carminati P, Ruggiero V, Sette C. Identification of critical residues of the MyD88 death domain involved in the recruitment of downstream kinases. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(41):28093–103. PMID: 19679662.
- Lin S-C, Lo Y-C, Wu H. Helical assembly in the MyD88-IRAK4-IRAK2 complex in TLR/IL-1R signalling. Nature. 2010;465(7300):885–90. PMID: 20485341.
- Ngo VN, Young RM, Schmitz R, Jhavar S, Xiao W, Lim K-H, Kohlhammer H, Xu W, Yang Y, Zhao H, Shaffer AL, Romesser P, Wright G, Powell J, Rosenwald A, Muller-Hermelink HK, Ott G, Gascoyne RD, Connors JM, Rimsza LM, Campo E, Jaffe ES, Delabie J, Smeland EB, Fisher RI, Braziel RM, Tubbs RR, Cook JR, Weisenburger DD, Chan WC, Staudt LM. Oncogenically active MYD88 mutations in human lymphoma. Nature. 2011;470 (7332):115–9. PMID: 21179087.
- Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Xu L, Cao Y, Manning RJ, Patterson CJ, Buhrlage SJ, Gray N, Tai Y, Anderson KC, Hunter ZR, Steven P, Treon SP. A mutation in MYD88 (L265P) supports the survival of lymphoplasmacytic cells by activation of Bruton tyrosine kinase in Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2013;88(7):1222–32. PMID: 23836557.
- Kawagoe T, Sato S, Matsushita K, Kato H, Matsui K, Kumagai Y, Saitoh T, Kawai T, Takeuchi O, Akira S. Sequential control of Toll-like receptor-dependent responses by IRAK1 and IRAK2. Nat Immunol. 2008;9(6):684–91. PMID: 18438411.
- Ansell SM, Hodge LS, Secreto FJ, Manske M, Braggio E, Price-Troska T, Ziesmer S, Li Y, Johnson SH, Hart SN, Kocher J-PA, Vasmatzis G, Chanan-Kahn A, Gertz M, Fonseca R, Dogan A, Cerhan JR, Novak AJ. Activation of TAK1 by MYD88 L265P drives malignant B-cell Growth in non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood Cancer J. 2014;4, e183. PMID: 24531446.
- 11. Leleu X, Eeckhoute J, Jia X, Roccaro AM, Moreau A-S, Farag M, Sacco A, Ngo HT, Runnels J, Melhem MR, Burwick N, Azab A, Azab F, Hunter Z, Hatjiharissi E, Carrasco DR, Treon SP, Witzig TE, Hideshima T, Brown M, Anderson KC, Ghobrial IM. Targeting NF-kappaB in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2008;111(10):5068–77. PMID: 18334673.
- 12. Yang G, Buhrlage S, Tan L, Liu X, Chen J, Hunter Z, Xu L, Tsakmaklis N, Chen J, Patterson CJ, Castillo JJ, Zhang W, Gray N, Treon SP. HCK is a highly relevant target of ibrutinib in MYD88 mutated Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Blood. 2015;126(23):705.
- Treon SP, Xu L, Hunter Z. MYD88 mutations and response to ibrutinib in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(6):584–6. PMID: 26244327.
- 14. Treon SP, Hunter ZR. A new era for Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: MYD88 L265P. Blood. 2013;121(22):4434–6.
- 15. Jiménez C, Sebastián E, Del Carmen Chillón M, Giraldo P, Mariano Hernández J, Escalante F, González-López TJ, Aguilera C, García de Coca A, Murillo I, Alcoceba M, Balanzategui A, Eugenia Sarasquete M, Corral R, Marín LA, Paiva B, Ocio EM, Gutiérrez NC, González M, San Miguel JF, García-Sanz R, Chillón MC, de Coca AG, Sarasquete ME. MYD88 L265P is a marker highly characteristic of, but not restricted to, Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Leukemia. 2013;27(8):1722–8. PMID: 23446312.
- Varettoni M, Arcaini L, Zibellini S, Boveri E, Rattotti S, Riboni R, Corso A, Orlandi E, Bonfichi M, Gotti M, Pascutto C, Mangiacavalli S, Croci G, Fiaccadori V, Morello L, Guerrera ML, Paulli M, Cazzola M. Prevalence and clinical significance of the MYD88 (L265P)

somatic mutation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and related lymphoid neoplasms. Blood. 2013;121(13):2522-8. PMID: 23355535.

- Poulain S, Roumier C, Decambron A, Renneville A, Herbaux C, Bertrand E, Tricot S, Daudignon A, Galiègue-Zouitina S, Theisen O, Grardel N, Nibourel O, Roche-Lestienne C, Quesnel B, Duthilleul P, Preudhomme C, Leleu X. MYD88 L265P mutation in Waldenstrom's macroglogulinemia. Blood. 2013;121(22):4504–11. PMID: 23532735.
- 18. Xu L, Hunter ZR, Yang G, Zhou Y, Cao Y, Liu X, Morra E, Trojani A, Greco A, Arcaini L, Varettoni M, Brown JR, Tai Y-T, Anderson KC, Munshi NC, Patterson CJ, Manning R, Tripsas C, Lindeman NI, Treon SP. MYD88 L265P in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia, IgM monoclonal gammopathy, and other B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders using conventional and quantitative allele-specific PCR. Blood. 2013;121(11):2051–8. PMID: 23321251.
- Puente XS, Pinyol M, Quesada V, Conde L, Ordóñez GR, Villamor N, Escaramis G, Jares P, Beà S, González-Díaz M, Bassaganyas L, Baumann T, Juan M, López-Guerra M, Colomer D, Tubío JMC, López C, Navarro A, Tornador C, Aymerich M, Rozman M, Hernández JM, Puente DA, Freije JMP, Velasco G, Gutiérrez-Fernández A, Costa D, Carrió A, Guijarro S, Enjuanes A, Hernández L, Yagüe J, Nicolás P, Romeo-Casabona CM, Himmelbauer H, Castillo E, Dohm JC, de Sanjosé S, Piris MA, de Alava E, San Miguel J, Royo R, Gelpí JL, Torrents D, Orozco M, Pisano DG, Valencia A, Guigó R, Bayés M, Heath S, Gut M, Klatt P, Marshall J, Raine K, Stebbings LA, Futreal PA, Stratton MR, Campbell PJ, Gut I, López-Guillermo A, Estivill X, Montserrat E, López-Otín C, Campo E, Miguel JS. Whole-genome sequencing identifies recurrent mutations in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Nature. 2011;475 (7354):3–7. PMID: 21642962.
- Kraan W, Horlings HM, van Keimpema M, Schilder-Tol EJM, Oud MECM, Scheepstra C, Kluin PM, Kersten MJ, Spaargaren M, Pals ST. High prevalence of oncogenic MYD88 and CD79B mutations in diffuse large B-cell lymphomas presenting at immune-privileged sites. Blood Cancer J. 2013;28(3):719–20. PMID: 24013661.
- 21. Xu L, Hunter ZR, Yang G, Cao Y, Liu X, Manning R, Tripsas C, Chen J, Patterson CJ, Kluk M, Kanan S, Castillo J, Lindeman N, Treon SP. Detection of MYD88 L265P in peripheral blood of patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia and IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Leukemia. 2014;28(8):1698–707. PMID: 24509637.
- 22. Poulain S, Boyle EM, Roumier C, Demarquette H, Wemeau M, Geffroy S, Herbaux C, Bertrand E, Hivert B, Terriou L, Verrier A, Pollet JP, Maurage CA, Onraed B, Morschhauser F, Quesnel B, Duthilleul P, Preudhomme C, Leleu X. MYD88 L265P mutation contributes to the diagnosis of Bing Neel syndrome. Br J Haematol. 2014;167(4):506–13. PMID: 25160558.
- 23. Baldini L, Goldaniga M, Guffanti A, Broglia C, Cortelazzo S, Rossi A, Morra E, Colombi M, Callea V, Pogliani E, Ilariucci F, Luminari S, Morel P, Merlini G, Gobbi P. Immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathies of undetermined significance and indolent Waldenstrom's macro-globulinemia recognize the same determinants of evolution into symptomatic lymphoid disorders: proposal for a common prognostic scoring system. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23 (21):4662–8. PMID: 16034042.
- 24. Kyle RA, Therneau TM, Rajkumar SV, Remstein ED, Offord JR, Larson DR, Plevak MF, Melton LJ. Long-term follow-up of IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Blood. 2003;102(10):3759–64. PMID: 12881316.
- Hunter ZR, Branagan AR, Manning R, Patterson CJ, Santos DD, Tournilhac O, Dorfman DM, Treon SP. CD5, CD10, and CD23 expression in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma. 2005;5(4):246–9. PMID: 15794857.
- 26. Owen RG, Treon SP, Al-Katib A, Fonseca R, Greipp PR, McMaster ML, Morra E, Pangalis GA, San Miguel JF, Branagan AR, Dimopoulos MA. Clinicopathological definition of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: consensus panel recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):110–5. PMID: 12720118.

- 27. Morin RD, Mendez-Lago M, Mungall AJ, Goya R, Mungall KL, Corbett RD, Johnson NA, Severson TM, Chiu R, Field M, Jackman S, Krzywinski M, Scott DW, Trinh DL, Tamura-Wells J, Li S, Firme MR, Rogic S, Griffith M, Chan S, Yakovenko O, Meyer IM, Zhao EY, Smailus D, Moksa M, Chittaranjan S, Rimsza L, Brooks-Wilson A, Spinelli JJ, Ben-Neriah S, Meissner B, Woolcock B, Boyle M, McDonald H, Tam A, Zhao Y, Delaney A, Zeng T, Tse K, Butterfield Y, Birol I, Holt R, Schein J, Horsman DE, Moore R, Jones SJM, Connors JM, Hirst M, Gascoyne RD, Marra MA. Frequent mutation of histone-modifying genes in non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Nature. 2011;476(7360):298–303. PMID: 21796119.
- Roccaro AM, Sacco A, Jimenez C, Maiso P, Moschetta M, Mishima Y, Aljawai Y, Sahin I, Kuhne M, Cardarelli P, Cohen L, San Miguel JF, Garcia-Sanz R, Ghobrial IM. C1013G/ CXCR4 acts as a driver mutation of tumor progression and modulator of drug resistance in lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. Blood. 2014;123(26):4120–31. PMID: 24711662.
- Ngo HT, Leleu X, Lee J, Jia X, Melhem M, Runnels J, Moreau A-S, Burwick N, Azab AK, Roccaro A, Azab F, Sacco A, Farag M, Sackstein R, Ghobrial IM. SDF-1/CXCR4 and VLA-4 interaction regulates homing in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2008;112(1):150–8. PMID: 18448868.
- Haribabu B, Richardson RM, Fisher I, Sozzani S, Peiper SC, Horuk R, Ali H, Snyderman R. Regulation of human chemokine receptors CXCR4. Role of phosphorylation in desensitization and internalization. J Biol Chem. 1997;272(45):28726–31. PMID: 9353342.
- Teicher BA, Fricker SP. CXCL12 (SDF-1)/CXCR4 pathway in cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(11):2927–31. PMID: 20484021.
- 32. Cojoc M, Peitzsch C, Trautmann F, Polishchuk L, Telegeev GD, Dubrovska A. Emerging targets in cancer management: role of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis. Onco Targets Ther. 2013;6:1347–61. PMID: 24124379.
- 33. Lagane B, Chow KYC, Balabanian K, Levoye A, Harriague J, Planchenault T, Baleux F, Gunera-Saad N, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Bachelerie F. CXCR4 dimerization and beta-arrestinmediated signaling account for the enhanced chemotaxis to CXCL12 in WHIM syndrome. Blood. 2008;112(1):34–44. PMID: 18436740.
- 34. Xu L, Hunter ZR, Tsakmaklis N, Cao Y, Yang G, Chen J, Liu X, Kanan S, Castillo JJ, Tai Y-T, Zehnder JL, Brown JR, Carrasco RD, Advani R, Sabile JM, Argyropoulos K, Lia Palomba M, Morra E, Trojani A, Greco A, Tedeschi A, Varettoni M, Arcaini L, Munshi NM, Anderson KC, Treon SP. Clonal architecture of CXCR4 WHIM-like mutations in Waldenström Macroglobulinaemia. Br J Haematol. 2015;13. PMID: 26659815.
- 35. Wu B, Chien EYT, Mol CD, Fenalti G, Liu W, Katritch V, Abagyan R, Brooun A, Wells P, Bi FC, Hamel DJ, Kuhn P, Handel TM, Cherezov V, Stevens RC. Structures of the CXCR4 chemokine GPCR with small-molecule and cyclic peptide antagonists. Science. 2010;330 (6007):1066–71. PMID: 20929726.
- Orsini MJ. Trafficking of the HIV Coreceptor CXCR4. Role of arrestins and identification of residues in the c-terminal tail that mediate receptor internalization. J Biol Chem. 1999;274 (43):31076–86.
- 37. Mc Guire PJ, Cunningham-Rundles C, Ochs H, Diaz GA. Oligoclonality, impaired class switch and B-cell memory responses in WHIM syndrome. Clin Immunol. 2010;135 (3):412–21. PMID: 20226738.
- Nakagawa M, Schmitz R, Xiao W, Goldman CK, Xu W, Yang Y, Yu X, Waldmann TA, Staudt LM. Gain-of-function CCR4 mutations in adult T cell leukemia/lymphoma. J Exp Med. 2014;211(13):2497–505. PMID: 25488980.
- 39. Cao Y, Hunter ZR, Liu X, Xu L, Yang G, Chen J, Patterson CJ, Tsakmaklis N, Kanan S, Rodig S, Castillo JJ, Treon SP. The WHIM-like CXCR4(S338X) somatic mutation activates AKT and ERK, and promotes resistance to ibrutinib and other agents used in the treatment of Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Leukemia. 2014;10. PMID: 24912431.
- 40. Cao Y, Hunter ZR, Liu X, Xu L, Yang G, Chen J, Tsakmaklis N, Kanan S, Castillo JJ, Treon SP. CXCR4 WHIM-like frameshift and nonsense mutations promote ibrutinib resistance but

do not supplant MYD88(L265P) -directed survival signalling in Waldenström macroglobulinaemia cells. Br J Haematol. 2015;168(5):701–7. PMID: 25371371.

- 41. Tripsas CK, Yang G, Cao Y, Xu L, Hunter Z, Cropper SJ, Mostyn P, Meid K, Warren D, Patterson C, Varma G, Laubach JP, Paba-Prada CE, Kunsman J, Ghobrial IM, Kanan S, Advani RH, Palomba ML. A prospective multicenter study of the Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitor ibrutinib in patients with relapsed or refractory Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2013;122(21):251.
- 42. Treon SP, Tripsas CK, Meid K, Kanan S, Sheehy P, Chuma S, Xu L, Cao Y, Yang G, Liu X, Patterson CJ, Warren D, Hunter ZR, Turnbull B, Ghobrial IM, Castillo JJ. Carfilzomib, rituximab and dexamethasone (CaRD) is active and offers a neuropathy-sparing approach for proteasome-inhibitor based therapy in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2014;124(4):503–10. PMID: 24859363.
- Nagl NG, Wang X, Patsialou A, Van Scoy M, Moran E. Distinct mammalian SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complexes with opposing roles in cell-cycle control. EMBO J. 2007;26(3):752–63. PMID: 17255939.
- 44. Treon SP, Hunter ZR, Aggarwal A, Ewen EP, Masota S, Lee C, Santos DD, Hatjiharissi E, Xu L, Leleu X, Tournilhac O, Patterson CJ, Manning R, Branagan AR, Morton CC. Characterization of familial Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Ann Oncol. 2006;17 (3):488–94. PMID: 16357024.
- 45. Braggio E, Keats JJ, Leleu X, Van Wier S, Jimenez-Zepeda VH, Schop RFJ, Chesi M, Barrett M, Stewart AK, Dogan A, Bergsagel PL, Ghobrial IM, Fonseca R. High-resolution genomic analysis in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia identifies disease-specific and common abnormalities with marginal zone lymphomas. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9 (1):39–42. PMID: 19362969.
- 46. Schop RFJ, Van Wier SA, Xu R, Ghobrial I, Ahmann GJ, Greipp PR, Kyle RA, Dispenzieri A, Lacy MQ, Rajkumar SV, Gertz MA, Fonseca R. 6q deletion discriminates Waldenström macroglobulinemia from IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 2006;169(2):150–3. PMID: 16938573.
- 47. Jones S, Li M, Parsons DW, Zhang X, Wesseling J, Kristel P, Schmidt MK, Markowitz S, Yan H, Bigner D, Hruban RH, Eshleman JR, Iacobuzio-Donahue CA, Goggins M, Maitra A, Malek SN, Powell S, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW, Velculescu VE, Papadopoulos N. Somatic mutations in the chromatin remodeling gene ARID1A occur in several tumor types. Hum Mutat. 2012;33(1):100–3.
- Guan B, Wang T-L, Shih I-M. ARID1A, a factor that promotes formation of SWI/SNFmediated chromatin remodeling, is a tumor suppressor in gynecologic cancers. Cancer Res. 2011;71(21):6718–27. PMID: 21900401.
- 49. Inoue H, Giannakopoulos S, Parkhurst CN, Matsumura T, Kono EA, Furukawa T, Tanese N. Target genes of the largest human SWI/SNF complex subunit control cell growth. Biochem J. 2011;434(1):83–92. PMID: 21118156.
- 50. Nguyen-Khac F, Lambert J, Chapiro E, Grelier A, Mould S, Barin C, Daudignon A, Gachard N, Struski S, Henry C, Penther D, Mossafa H, Andrieux J, Eclache V, Bilhou-Nabera C, Luquet I, Terre C, Baranger L, Mugneret F, Chiesa J, Mozziconacci M-J, Callet-Bauchu E, Veronese L, Blons H, Owen R, Lejeune J, Chevret S, Merle-Beral H, Leblondon V. Chromosomal aberrations and their prognostic value in a series of 174 untreated patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Haematologica. 2013;98(4):649–54. PMID: 23065509.
- 51. Poulain S, Roumier C, Galiègue-Zouitina S, Daudignon A, Herbaux C, Aiijou R, Lainelle A, Broucqsault N, Bertrand E, Manier S, Renneville A, Soenen V, Tricot S, Roche-Lestienne C, Duthilleul P, Preudhomme C, Quesnel B, Morel P, Leleu X. Genome wide SNP array identified multiple mechanisms of genetic changes in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol. 2013;16. PMID: 23861223.
- 52. Davis RE, Ngo VN, Lenz G, Tolar P, Young RM, Romesser PB, Kohlhammer H, Lamy L, Zhao H, Yang Y, Xu W, Shaffer AL, Wright G, Xiao W, Powell J, Jiang J-K, Thomas CJ,

Rosenwald A, Ott G, Muller-Hermelink HK, Gascoyne RD, Connors JM, Johnson NA, Rimsza LM, Campo E, Jaffe ES, Wilson WH, Delabie J, Smeland EB, Fisher RI, Braziel RM, Tubbs RR, Cook JR, Weisenburger DD, Chan WC, Pierce SK, Staudt LM. Chronic active B-cell-receptor signalling in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Nature. 2010;463(7277):88–92. PMID: 20054396.

- 53. Yamada S, Ishida Y, Matsuno A, Yamazaki K. Primary diffuse large B-cell lymphomas of central nervous system exhibit remarkably high prevalence of oncogenic MYD88 and CD79B mutations. Leuk Lymphoma. 2014;27:1–18. PMID: 25347427.
- Owen HR, Elser M, Cheung E, Gersbach M, Kraus WL, Hottiger MO. MYBBP1a is a novel repressor of NF-kappaB. J Mol Biol. 2007;366(3):725–36. PMID: 17196614.
- 55. Iwashita Y, Fukuchi N, Waki M, Hayashi K, Tahira T. Genome-wide repression of NF-kB target genes by transcription factor MIBP1 and its modulation by O-linked β-N-acetylglucosamine (O-GlcNAc) transferase. J Biol Chem. 2012;287(13):9887–900. PMID: 22294689.
- 56. Braggio E, Keats JJ, Leleu X, Van Wier S, Jimenez-Zepeda VH, Valdez R, Schop RFJ, Price-Troska T, Henderson K, Sacco A, Azab F, Greipp P, Gertz M, Hayman S, Rajkumar SV, Carpten J, Chesi M, Barrett M, Stewart AK, Dogan A, Bergsagel PL, Ghobrial IM, Fonseca R. Identification of copy number abnormalities and inactivating mutations in two negative regulators of nuclear factor-kappaB signaling pathways in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Cancer Res. 2009;69(8):3579–88. PMID: 19351844.
- Palamarchuk A, Efanov A, Nazaryan N, Santanam U, Alder H, Rassenti L, Kipps T, Croce CM, Pekarsky Y. 13q14 deletions in CLL involve cooperating tumor suppressors. Blood. 2010;115(19):3916–22. PMID: 20071661.
- Ackroyd S, O'Connor SJM, Owen RG. Rarity of IgH translocations in Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 2005;163(1):77–80. PMID: 16271961.
- Schuster SR, Rajkumar SV, Dispenzieri A, Morice W, Aspitia AM, Ansell S, Kyle R, Mikhael J. IgM multiple myeloma: disease definition, prognosis, and differentiation from Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol. 2010;85(11):853–5. PMID: 20842638.
- 60. Treon SP, Hunter ZR, Matous J, Joyce RM, Mannion B, Advani R, Cook D, Songer J, Hill J, Kaden BR, Sharon D, Steiss R, Leleu X, Branagan AR, Badros A. Multicenter clinical trial of bortezomib in relapsed/refractory Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: results of WMCTG Trial 03-248. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(11):3320–5. PMID: 17545538.

Molecular Pathways in Growth and Survival: Epigenomics

6

Antonio Sacco, Michele Moschetta, Salomon Manier, Giuseppe Rossi, Irene M. Ghobrial, and Aldo M. Roccaro

6.1 Introduction

The term "epigenetics" has been first described in 1939 by C.H. Waddington to define "the causal interactions between genes and their products, which bring the phenotype into being." This definition has been subsequently modified in order to describe as "epigenetics" those heritable changes in gene expression that are not due to any alteration in the DNA sequence [1]. Among the epigenetic markers, histone acetylation represents one of those that have been well described and studied in the context of tumorigenesis and tumor progression, both in solid tumor and hematologic malignancies, including several B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders, including Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia (WM) [2]. Specifically, primary WM tumor cells present with a microRNA (miRNA) profiling that differentiates bone marrow (BM)-derived WM cells from BM-derived B cells obtained from healthy individuals [3]. miRNAs are small, noncoding RNAs, described for the first time in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans [4]. They act as negative regulators of gene expression and have been implicated in several biological processes, both in physiological and pathological conditions, due to their role in modulating development, cell differentiation, apoptosis, and cell proliferation [5–7]. The literature has widely accepted the concept that miRNAs play a crucial role in modulating the pathogenesis of tumors, including both solid

G. Rossi • A.M. Roccaro, MD, PhD (🖂)

A. Sacco • I.M. Ghobrial

Centro per la Ricerca Emato-oncologica AIL (CREA), ASST Spedali Civili di Brescia, Brescia, BS 25123, Italy

M. Moschetta • S. Manier

Department of Medical Oncology, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, 02215 Boston, MA, USA

Department of Hematology, ASST Spedali Civili di Brescia, 25123 Brescia, BS, Italy e-mail: aldomaria.roccaro@asst-spedalicivili.it

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), *Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_6

tumors and hematologic cancers; and in the specific context of WM [2, 3, 8], deregulation of miRNAs in WM cells has been reported, demonstrating, among others, a reduced expression of miRNA-9*, responsible for modulation of histone acetylation in lymphoplasmacytic clonal cells [2, 3]. Taken together, these evidences suggest that epigenetic modifications occur in WM cells, in terms of enhanced histone acetylation, and that miRNAs may be responsible for regulating the histone acetylation status within the tumor clone.

6.2 miRNA Signature in WM Cells: Role of the Onco-miRNA-155

We have previously shown that WM cells are characterized by a specific miRNA signature that differentiates BM-derived WM cells from B cells obtained from healthy individuals [3]. Specifically, increased expression of miRNA-363*, miRNA-206, miRNA-494, miRNA-155, miRNA-184, and miRNA-542-3p was documented in WM cells, together with reduced levels of miRNA-9*. Predicted targets of the increased miRNAs in WM patients included cell tumor suppressors and inhibitors of cytokine-induced signaling and of cell cycle progression. In contrast, oncogenes and transcription factors were listed among the predicted targets of WM-decreased miRNAs. Overall, these findings support the concepts that deregulated miRNAs may be crucial elements that support WM pathogenesis. Among those miRNAs that presented with enhanced expression in WM cells, miRNA-155 has been shown to act as onco-miRNA in WM, as demonstrated both in vitro and in vivo [3]. Importantly, the oncogenic properties of miRNA-155 were also demonstrated in the context of other B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders, including primary mediastinal B-cell lymphomas, diffuse large B-cell lymphomas, as well as chronic lymphocytic leukemia [9, 10]. The oncogenic role of miRNA-155 in WM was supported by the demonstration of reduced WM cell proliferation both in vitro and in vivo in WM cells that were silenced for miRNA-155. The phenotype of WM-silenced miRNA-155 cells was also characterized by cell cycle arrest in G1 phase, leading to reduced number of tumor cells in the S phase. These findings were also supported by demonstrating the increased expression of p18, p19, p21, and p27, known to act as cyclindependent kinase inhibitors, together with decreased expression of cyclindependent kinase-2, kinase-4, and kinase-6, as well as cyclins D1, D2, D3, and E, known to be positive cell cycle regulators. Importantly, WM cells lacking of miRNA-155 presented with reduced activation of pro-survival signaling pathways, including both MAPK/ERK and AKT and AKT-downstream targeted proteins [3]. It has been clearly demonstrated that the BM milieu acts as a positive modulator of tumor growth, due to its ability to confer growth advantages and to induce drug resistance in malignant B cells [11]. Therefore, we further defined the role of miRNA-155 in possibly targeting WM cells in the context of the BM microenvironment and found that miRNA-155-silencing in WM cells led to inhibition of WM cell proliferation even in the context of the supportive BM milieu, together with
reduced WM cell adhesion, supported by downregulation of Rho GTPase activating proteins, p21 (CDKN1A) activating protein, and p21-activated kinase (PAK) 1-interacting protein, known to be modulators of cell adhesion. In addition, miRNA-155-lacking WM cells presented with reduced migratory abilities [3]. These in vitro findings were also corroborated by the in vivo demonstration of inhibited WM tumor growth in those mice that were harboring miRNA-155-silenced WM cells. Subsequent studies have further demonstrated inhibition of WM tumor growth in vivo obtained by treating WM-bearing mice with the LNA-anti-miRNA-155 [12], thus providing the preclinical rationale for using anti-miRNA-155-based therapeutic strategies in WM.

6.3 miRNA-9* and Regulation of Histone Acetylation in WM Cells

Transcriptional regulation of many genes is regulated by nucleosomal histone acetylation homeostasis: particularly, hypoacetylation leads to a condensed chromatin structure responsible for gene transcription repression, while hyperacetylation is associated with a more open chromatin structure leading to transcription activation [13, 14]. This balance is modulated by a tight regulation of histone deacetylase (HDAC) and histone acetyl transferases (HATs) levels. An unbalanced expression of HDACs and HATs occurs in several malignancies, where the clonal cells are characterized by an increased expression of HDACs that will be responsible for aberrant gene expression, leading to enhanced tumor cell proliferation [15, 16]. Most of the aberrant HAT and HDAC activity has been due to translocation, amplification, overexpression, or mutation in many tumors, including hematological malignancies; and recent studies report miRNAs to be able to interfere with the epigenetic machinery, thus modulating the expression of enzymes regulating DNA methylation or histone modification [15-18]. For instance, miRNA-101 is able to target the zeste homolog 2 (EZH2) enhancer, leading to increased expression of EZH2 in aggressive tumors with an invasive phenotype [18, 19]. Recent evidences have demonstrated that increased histone acetylation characterizes WM patient-derived tumor cells where enhanced expression of HDAC-2, HDAC-4, HDAC-5, HDAC-6, HDAC-8, and HDAC-9 and reduced expression of HAT-1, HAT-2, and HAT-3 were observed as compared to control cells. This was further sustained by a higher HDAC activity in WM tumor cells as compared to their normal cellular counterpart [2]. Of note, miRNA-206 and miRNA-9* were shown to be increased and decreased, respectively, in WM cells, as compared to normal cells [2]. Predicted targets for miRNA-206 and miRNA-9* include HATs and HDACs, respectively, suggesting a possible role of miRNA-206 and miRNA-9* in modulating histone acetylation in WM cells. Functional studies further confirmed that acetyl histone-H3 and histone-H4 were upregulated in pre-miRNA-9*-transfected cells and anti-miRNA-206-transfected cells, with a higher acetyl histone-H3 and histone-H4 upregulation upon miRNA-9* modulation. Moreover, miRNA-9*-dependent modulation of HDAC activity lead to reduced WM cell proliferation and increased WM cell toxicity, suggesting a key role of miRNA-9* in regulation WM progression [2].

6.4 Conclusions

miRNA modifications have recently gained considerable attention in the field of cancer research. In the specific field of WM, it has been shown that clonal lymphoplasmacytic cells present with a miRNA signature that specifically characterizes WM cells from their normal cellular counterpart. Among those deregulated miRNAs, miRNA-155 and miRNA-9* have been demonstrated to act as crucial regulator of WM pathogenesis, as supported by their influence on WM cell growth both in vitro and in vivo. Notably, miRNA-9* has been proven to enhance HDAC-4 and HDAC-5 expression in WM cells, further demonstrating the role of epigenetics in the pathogenesis of this disease. These findings may provide the preclinical rational for testing novel miRNA-based therapeutical strategies in WM as well as in other IgM-secreting low-grade lymphomas.

References

- 1. Waddington CH. Preliminary notes on the development of the wings in normal and mutant strains of drosophila. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1939;25(7):299–307.
- 2. Roccaro AM, Sacco A, Jia X, et al. microRNA-dependent modulation of histone acetylation in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2010;116(9):1506–14.
- 3. Roccaro AM, Sacco A, Chen C, et al. microRNA expression in the biology, prognosis, and therapy of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;113(18):4391–402.
- 4. Lee RC, Feinbaum RL, Ambros V. The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. Cell. 1993;75(5):843–54.
- 5. Lu J, Getz G, Miska EA, et al. MicroRNA expression profiles classify human cancers. Nature. 2005;435(7043):834–8.
- Roldo C, Missiaglia E, Hagan JP, et al. MicroRNA expression abnormalities in pancreatic endocrine and acinar tumors are associated with distinctive pathologic features and clinical behavior. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(29):4677–84.
- Xie X, Lu J, Kulbokas EJ, et al. Systematic discovery of regulatory motifs in human promoters and 3' UTRs by comparison of several mammals. Nature. 2005;434(7031):338–45.
- Calin GA, Liu CG, Sevignani C, et al. MicroRNA profiling reveals distinct signatures in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemias. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(32):11755–60.
- 9. Eis PS, Tam W, Sun L, et al. Accumulation of miR-155 and BIC RNA in human B cell lymphomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(10):3627–32.
- Rai D, Karanti S, Jung I, Dahia PL, Aguiar RC. Coordinated expression of microRNA-155 and predicted target genes in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 2008;181 (1):8–15.
- Mitsiades CS, Mitsiades NS, Munshi NC, Richardson PG, Anderson KC. The role of the bone microenvironment in the pathophysiology and therapeutic management of multiple myeloma: interplay of growth factors, their receptors and stromal interactions. Eur J Cancer. 2006;42 (11):1564–73.
- 12. Zhang Y, Roccaro AM, Rombaoa C, et al. LNA-mediated anti-miR-155 silencing in low-grade B-cell lymphomas. Blood. 2012;120(8):1678–86.

- 13. Bernstein BE, Meissner A, Lander ES. The mammalian epigenome. Cell. 2007;128 (4):669–81.
- 14. Mack GS. Epigenetic cancer therapy makes headway. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2006;98(20):1443-4.
- 15. Garzon R, Liu S, Fabbri M, et al. MicroRNA-29b induces global DNA hypomethylation and tumor suppressor gene reexpression in acute myeloid leukemia by targeting directly DNMT3A and 3B and indirectly DNMT1. Blood. 2009;113(25):6411–8.
- 16. Noonan EJ, Place RF, Pookot D, et al. miR-449a targets HDAC-1 and induces growth arrest in prostate cancer. Oncogene. 2009;28(14):1714–24.
- Fabbri M, Garzon R, Cimmino A, et al. MicroRNA-29 family reverts aberrant methylation in lung cancer by targeting DNA methyltransferases 3A and 3B. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(40):15805–10.
- Varambally S, Cao Q, Mani RS, et al. Genomic loss of microRNA-101 leads to overexpression of histone methyltransferase EZH2 in cancer. Science. 2008;322(5908):1695–9.
- 19. Friedman JM, Liang G, Liu CC, et al. The putative tumor suppressor microRNA-101 modulates the cancer epigenome by repressing the polycomb group protein EZH2. Cancer Res. 2009;69(6):2623–9.

The Bone Marrow Microenvironment and Tumor Cells Interactions in Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia

Efstathios Kastritis, Aldo Roccaro, Magdalini Migou, and Irene Ghobrial

Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (WM) is a lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma characterized by the secretion a monoclonal immunoglobulin IgM. The bone marrow (BM) is always involved and infiltrated by the monoclonal lymphoplasmacytic cells. BM infiltration and the production of IgM are causing most of the clinical features and complications of the disease. Other features which characterize this disease also include lymphadenopathy and organomegaly (especially liver and spleen) and, rather uncommonly, extramedullary and extralymphatic tissues (skin, pleura, etc.) [1]. Tumor microenvironment of WM contributes to malignant cell viability as well as immunoglobulin production. Furthermore, it has been postulated that BM microenvironment may play a critical role in the progression of the disease from the stage of MGUS to asymptomatic and symptomatic WM, and a permissive BM microenvironment has been postulated.

Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (WM) is characterized by widespread infiltration of the bone marrow with LPL cells, at the time of diagnosis, implying continuous trafficking and homing of LPL cells into the marrow. BM microenvironment has an important role in controlling this migration of LPL cells and also the survival of these cells in WM. Thus, there is continuous trafficking of WM cells in and out of the BM, leading to cell dissemination. Many of the biological features associated with this disease, such as cell survival, tumor cell proliferation, and drug resistance, may come as a result of the direct interactions of malignant LPL cells with the bone marrow microenvironment [2–4]. BM is a complex environment populated by several different cells types with different origins and is composed of a cellular and a noncellular compartment. The noncellular compartment is composed of the

E. Kastritis (🖂) • M. Migou

Department of Clinical Therapeutics, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece

e-mail: ekastritis@gmail.com

A. Roccaro • I. Ghobrial Department of Medical Oncology, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), *Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_7

extracellular matrix and soluble elements such as cytokines, growth factors, adhesion proteins, and so forth [5].

Oncogenesis in WM is a complex procedure which involves genetic and epigenetic events within the tumor clone [6–9]. WM arises from a cell, probably a B cell that has undergone somatic hypermutation prior to transformation and before the initiation of class switch recombination [10, 11], in contrast to IgM-secreting multiple myeloma where there is evidence of isotype switch transcripts. The incidence of IgH rearrangements is low in WM (<3%). Although several genetic and cytogenetic events have been shown to be involved in WM on cogenesis, these events may not be sufficient, and a permissive microenvironment may be required for frank malignancy to emerge [12]. In this chapter, we analyze the interactions that is observed between bone marrow microenvironment and WM cells that are crucial for WM pathogenesis and its impact on the treatment of patients with WM.

7.1 The Cellular Compartment of the BM and Its Role in WM

The cellular compartment of the BM is composed of hematopoietic cells, including hematopoietic stem cells; mesenchymal progenitor cells, fibroblasts, and BM stromal cells; endothelial precursor cells; mature endothelial cells; immune cells (B lymphocytes, T lymphocytes, natural killer cells, macrophages, mast cells, monocytes, natural killer T cells); erythrocytes, megakaryocytes, and platelets; and chondroclasts, osteoclasts, and osteoblasts [5, 13]. Under normal conditions, the cellular compartment of the BM is in a dynamic equilibrium but in disease, either primary BM disease or when extramedullary conditions affect the BM, the cellular compartment may undergo changes either due to adaptation in the new conditions or as a response to specific stimuli.

7.1.1 Stromal Cells

The role of BM stromal cells has been extensively studied in WM and other hematologic malignancies. Several different groups have shown that stromal cells are critical for the growth of WM cells [14–16]. Many of these data come from coculture of WM cells with stromal cells which show that may lead to resistance of WM cells to therapeutic agents, including rituximab [14–16]. Importantly, certain drugs may overcome the resistance to WM cell apoptosis caused by these interactions, through disruption of the pathways involved in the WM cell to stromal cell interaction.

7.1.2 Mast Cells

The presence of excess BM mast cells is a common finding in WM. These cells are in continuous interaction with LPL cells in patients with WM, and their abundance

is a clue supportive of the presence of the disease. Coculture of tumor cells from patients with WM with mast cells has induced proliferation of WM patient BM LPL cells, demonstrating that mast cells may support tumor cell expansion in WM [17].

7.1.3 Endothelial Cells

Interaction between endothelial cells and WM cells also plays an important role in WM cell growth. This interaction is mediated through different pathways involving a variety of cytokines and other ligands and different receptors. Eph receptors and ephrin ligands are overexpressed in several cancers, and the Ghobrial group has shown that ephrin-B2 (the ligand of the Eph-B2 receptor, a tyrosine kinase) is highly expressed on endothelial cells and BMSC isolated from the BM of patients with WM compared with controls [18]. In addition, Eph receptors are activated in WM patients compared with controls. Both the receptor and the ligand are membrane bound, and they play a role in cell-cell interaction. Activation of the Eph-B2 receptor with its ligand ephrin-B2 did not affect WM cell proliferation and cell cycle; however, it induced signaling in the endothelial cells that promotes adhesion of WM cells to endothelial cells and induces angiogenesis program on endothelial cells (Fig. 7.1). Signaling through Eph/ephrins can induce cell adhesion. This adhesion promotes WM cell proliferation through cell-cycle transition. Ephrin-B2-Eph-B2 receptor interaction in WM was found to affect regulation of cellcell interaction through an integrin-dependent system that involves downstream activation of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and Src. Inhibition of either Eph-B2 on WM cells or inhibition of ephrin-B2 on endothelial cells or both reduced the adhesion of WM cells to endothelial cells and reduced activation of the cytoskeletal signaling. Knockdown of Eph-B2 in WM cells prevented the proliferative effect and cell-cycle regulation in WM cells previously induced by coculture with endothelial cells. These findings were also confirmed in *in vivo* studies which showed that inhibition of Eph-B2 in WM cells reduced BM infiltration by these cells. The link between adhesion-regulating molecules and proliferative signaling pathways in WM is interesting and may lead to discovery of new therapeutic agents.

Endothelial cells may also interact with WM cells through additional pathways, involving cytokines that are directly or indirectly implicated in angiogenesis.

7.2 Noncellular Compartment of the BM and Its Role in WM

The noncellular compartment of the BM niche consists mainly of the extracellular matrix and a variety of cytokines, growth factors, and adhesion molecules that are secreted by the cells that compose the cellular compartment of the microenvironment. Cytokines are protein mediators that are known to be involved in many biologic processes including cell growth, survival, inflammation, and differentiation. Several studies have focused on the role of cytokines in the pathogenesis of WM. In many hematologic malignancies, cytokines are essential in the paracrine or



Fig. 7.1 Short description of the BM microenvironment–WM cell interactions and their role in the pathogenesis of Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia (WM). The bone marrow endothelial cells (BMEC) interact with the WM cells via the ephrin-B2–Eph-B2 interaction that increases WM cell adhesion to the endothelial cells. The bone marrow stromal cells (BMSC) and WM cells seem to stimulate each other via paracrine signaling by secretion of cytokines (CCL5 and IL6). WM cells also interact with the extracellular matrix (ECM) through several signaling pathways that may be initiated by miRNA-155 within the WM cell. The signaling of WM cells in and out of the bone marrow is partly regulated by the SDF-1 secreted by the bone marrow and the CXCR4 receptor on the WM cells (Adapted from Agarwal A and Ghobrial IM, Clinical Lymphoma, Myeloma & Leukemia, Vol. 13, No. 2, 218–21)

autocrine signaling pathways that are important for cell proliferation and survival. Microvessel density is increased in 30 % of patients with WM, but there is limited information about the role of angiogenic cytokines in this disease. Anagnostopoulos et al. [19] found increased levels of angiogenin, vascular endothelial growth factor, vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A), and basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF) in the sera of 56 patients with WM and 11 patients with IgM MGUS

compared with controls. A lower level of angiopoietin-1 (Ang-1) was also noted in WM compared with controls. Angiogenin levels correlated with disease status. Ang-1 is an antagonist of neovascularization, and microvessel density in the BM showed strong inverse correlation with Ang-1 [20]. These high levels of almost all angiogenic cytokines in patients with WM suggest that there is a role of angiogenesis in the biology of WM. This study raises the possibility of the cellular compartment of the BM microenvironment that supports neovascularization and contributes to WM pathogenesis through these angiogenic cytokines.

An interesting observation has been the association of the levels of von Willebrand factor (vWF) measured in the plasma of patients with WM to the prognosis. Some patients may have very low levels due to acquired vWF disease but in a study by Hivert et al., 59 % of patients with WM had increased levels of vWF. vWF is increased under conditions that lead to endothelial cell activation (such as inflammation or other stimuli). In this study, BM microvascular density was higher in patients with more elevated vWF levels, indicating a potential association between vWF levels and angiogenesis in the BM. The increased levels of vWF in patients with WM were also confirmed in another study, as well as the prognostic implications of this increase. In the study by Hivert et al. [21], both lymphoplasmacytic cells and mast cell stained positive for VEGF, indicating that these cells may also be a source of angiogenic cytokines. vWF is produced constitutively in the megakaryocytes and ECs where it is stored in the Weibel-Palade bodies together with several other mediators, including several with angiogenic activity (such as angiopoietin-2) and others associated with inflammation, hemostasis, and vascular tone [22]. vWF has a role in the trafficking and storage of these factors within ECs, including the maturation of adhesion molecules such as integrin $\alpha\nu\beta3$, while it colocalizes with molecules such as angiopoietin-2 [23]. The ECs release the content of Weibel-Palade bodies in response to stimuli, such as VEGF. vWF and other molecules are released simultaneously and a temporal association of vWF and angiopoietin-2 release has been shown [23, 24]. These data indicate that elevated levels of vWF are rather a marker of the increased endothelial cell activity due to increased "pro-angiogenic" signaling.

Elsawa et al. [25] performed a comprehensive cytokine analysis on serum and BM biopsy samples from patients with WM and from healthy donors. They found C-C motif ligand 5 (CCL5), granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, and soluble interleukin (IL)-2 receptor elevated in patients with WM, whereas IL-8 and epidermal growth factor levels were found to be lower compared with healthy controls [25]. CCL5 expression was higher in the BM microenvironment of patients with WM compared with controls. CCL5 levels were shown to correspond with disease aggressiveness, and there was a functional correlation between CCL5 and IL-6 levels. IL-6 is a proinflammatory cytokine mainly produced by BM stromal cell and has a role in normal and malignant B-cell biology. CCL5 stimulated IL-6 secretion from BM stromal cells by binding to a receptor C-C motif receptor 3 (CCR3) and induction of GLI2, a transcription factor via the PI3K-AKT-IkBα-p65 pathway [26]. Increased IL-6 production in turn resulted in increased IgM production by WM malignant cells via the JAK/STAT pathway (Fig. 7.1). The CCL5–IL-6

interaction may be a mechanism by which the WM cells and BM stromal cells stimulate each other wherein the WM cells produce CCL5, which stimulates the stromal cells to produce IL-6, and IL-6 in turn stimulates IgM production by the WM cells. IgM is a mediator of WM morbidity, and this study highlights the importance of the BM microenvironment in the pathogenesis of WM. B-lymphocyte stimulator (BLys) is a TNF family member that is critical for maintenance of B-cell homeostasis and is overexpressed in a variety of B-cell malignancies. BLys expression was found in bone marrow samples, and also serum levels were elevated in patients with WM.

Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 3 (CCL3) (formerly known as Macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha, MIP-1a) has also been assessed in the serum of patients with WM. CCL-3/MIP-1a was elevated and serum levels correlated positively with disease activity [27, 28]. An immunohistochemical study, performed in bone marrow biopsies of WM patients, showed that all neoplastic cells expressed CCL3 in all cases. This finding was constant in newly diagnosed patients with both symptomatic and asymptomatic WM and also in patients with active disease posttherapy [29]. These data suggest that the WM cells are probably a major source of CCL3. Also, CCL3 may have a significant role in WM biology while CCL3 could be a potential target for developing novel drugs against WM. CCL3 is also a potent MIP-1a that is also one of the most potent osteoclast activators and has been implicated in the pathogenesis of myeloma bone disease. However, the role of osteoclast and osteoblast in WM has not been studied extensively, and only some data regarding bone metabolism have been published. Lytic bone lesions are not a common finding in WM. Indeed, although Receptor activator of nuclear factorkappaB ligand (RANKL) serum levels was elevated in WM patients, there was also a balanced elevation of its decoy receptor osteoprotegerin production in a study of patients with WM. Subsequently, indices of bone formation and bone destruction were elevated, indicating increased bone turnover but no major shift towards bone destruction [28]. These findings may explain the absence of lytic lesions in WM patients.

The homing of LPL cells through the blood to the BM microenvironment is carried out through adhesion molecules that are expressed on the cellular compartment of bone marrow. Homing is a coordinated multistep process that involves signaling by stromal-derived factor (SDF-1), activation of lymphocyte functionassociated antigen 1, very late antigen (VLA)-4/5, and activation of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) 2/9 [30]. Ghobrial's group has shown that WM cells express high levels of CXCR4 (a receptor for SDF-1) and VLA-4 [2]. CXCR4 was found to be essential for the migration and transendothelial migration of WM cells under static and dynamic shear flow conditions, with significant inhibition of migration by using the CXCR4 knockdown or the CXCR4 inhibitor plerixafor. Inhibition of CXCR4 or VLA-4 led to decreased adhesion to fibronectin, stromal cells, and endothelial cells. Most importantly, decreased adhesion of WM cells to stromal cells by plerixafor led to increased sensitivity of these cells to cytotoxicity by bortezomib. PI3K and ERK signaling pathways were found to be activated by CXCR4 activation in this study. Polymorphisms in the SDF-1 gene may also have an impact in the pathogenesis and disease progression of WM [31]. These studies



Fig. 7.2 Model of the potential mechanism of action of ibrutinib and idelalisib in WM. Inhibition of BTK by ibrutinib or PI3Kδ by idelalisib impairs BCR-controlled integrin-mediated adhesion of WM cells in bone marrow (BM) and lymph nodes (LN), which results in their egress from these protective niches into the circulation, resulting in WM regression. The homing receptor CXCR4 is normally desensitized upon binding of CXCL12, which is highly expressed within the lymphoid organ microenvironment. However, in the presence of mutation affecting the regulatory domain (such as the WHIM-like mutation S338X), CXCR4 may aberrantly support retention of WM cells in the lymphoid organs. Since CXCR4-controlled integrin-mediated adhesion is insensitive to ibrutinib and idelalisib, this would counteract their ability to inhibit BCR-controlled integrin activation, thus explaining the clinically observed ibrutinib resistance of WM patients with the CXCR4^{S338X} mutation. (Figure adapted from de Rooij MF, Kuil A, Kraan W, Kersten MJ, Treon SP, Pals ST, and Spaargaren M. Ibrutinib and idelalisib target B cell receptor- but not CXCL12/CXCR4-controlled integrin-mediated adhesion in Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Haematologica. 2016 Mar;101(3):e111-5.)

showed the importance of the SDF-1-CXCR4 axis in the pathogenesis of WM and confirmed the protective effect of the BM microenvironment toward WM cells, providing a strong rationale for disrupting the WM–BM interaction to improve therapeutic efficacy. Subsequently, the clinical use drugs, such as BTK inhibitors, that disrupt this communication was associated with unprecedented activity. BTK inhibitors target signaling through B-cell Antigen Receptor (BCR), and their use was associated with very high response rates in patients with WM [32]. Recent data indicate that the BTK inhibitor ibrutinib modulate the adhesion and communication of WM cells with their microenvironment and that at least part of their activity is due to this effect. WM cells express a signaling-competent B-cell antigen receptor (BCR) which controls integrin-mediated adhesion. Both ibrutinib and idelalisib (a selective PI3k delta inhibitor) inhibit BCR-controlled signaling and integrinmediated adhesion, whereas chemokine (CXCL12/CXCR4)-controlled signaling, adhesion, and migration are not affected. Thus, ibrutinib and idelalisib target BCR-controlled retention of WM cells in the lymphoid organs, explaining the clinically observed mobilization of malignant cells from these protective niches into the circulation. This "mobilization" of the WM cells may deprive the tumor cells from essential microenvironmental growth and survival factors [33]. The relative resistance of WM harboring activating mutations in CXCR4 may also be explained [34] (Fig. 7.2).

Micro-RNA expression profiling of bone marrow-derived CD19+ WM cells was performed in a study by Roccaro et al. miRNA-155 was increased in WM compared to normal controls [3]; miRNA 155 has been shown to play an important role in the oncogenesis of other B-cell malignancies, such as diffuse large B cell lymphoma, primary mediastinal B-cell lymphomas, and Hodgkin lymphoma [3]. In this study, a significant inhibition of adhesion to fibronectin was observed in the miRNA-155 knockdown cells compared with controls. This was further supported by the downregulation of genes such as several Rho GTPase activating proteins, p21 (CDKN1A) activating protein, and p21-activated kinase 1 interacting protein, which are known to be involved in the adhesion process (see Fig. 7.1). Similarly, miRNA-155 knockdown significantly inhibited WM cell migration in response to SDF-1. By using an in vivo homing model, the study also showed that miRNA-155 knockdown WM cells homed and proliferated in the BM at a lower rate than control WM cells and led to decreased IgM production and a significant survival benefit in mice.

7.3 Summary

The role of the microenvironment in the BM and the lymphoid organs is key to the development and progression of WM. The accumulated data have shown that key players include certain cytokines and adhesions molecules. The modulation of the communication/interactions of the WM cells with their microenvironment is a therapeutic target which has recently been exploited with the use of BTK inhibitors.

References

- 1. Ghobrial IM, Gertz MA, Fonseca R. Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia. Lancet Oncol. 2003; 4(11):679–85.
- Ngo HT, Leleu X, Lee J, Jia X, Melhem M, Runnels J, et al. SDF-1/CXCR4 and VLA-4 interaction regulates homing in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2008;112(1):150–8.
- 3. Roccaro AM, Sacco A, Chen C, Runnels J, Leleu X, Azab F, et al. micro RNA expression in the biology, prognosis, and therapy of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009; 113(18):4391–402.
- Damiano JS, Dalton WS. Integrin-mediated drug resistance in multiple myeloma. Leuk Lymphoma. 2000;38(1–2):71–81.
- 5. Yin T, Li L. The stem cell niches in bone. J Clin Invest. 2006;116(5):1195-201.
- Terre C, Nguyen-Khac F, Barin C, Mozziconacci MJ, Eclache V, Leonard C, et al. Trisomy 4, a new chromosomal abnormality in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a study of 39 cases. Leukemia. 2006;20(9):1634–6.
- Liu YC, Miyazawa K, Sashida G, Kodama A, Ohyashiki K. Deletion (20q) as the sole abnormality in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia suggests distinct pathogenesis of 20q11 anomaly. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 2006;169(1):69–72.
- 8. Treon SP, Xu L, Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Cao Y, et al. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(9):826–33.

- Schop RF, Kuehl WM, Van Wier SA, Ahmann GJ, Price-Troska T, Bailey RJ, et al. Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia neoplastic cells lack immunoglobulin heavy chain locus translocations but have frequent 6q deletions. Blood. 2002;100(8):2996–3001.
- Kriangkum J, Taylor BJ, Treon SP, Mant MJ, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Clonotypic IgM V/D/J sequence analysis in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia suggests an unusual B-cell origin and an expansion of polyclonal B cells in peripheral blood. Blood. 2004;104(7):2134–42.
- 11. Sahota SS, Forconi F, Ottensmeier CH, Provan D, Oscier DG, Hamblin TJ, et al. Typical Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia is derived from a B-cell arrested after cessation of somatic mutation but prior to isotype switch events. Blood. 2002;100(4):1505–7.
- Raaijmakers MH, Mukherjee S, Guo S, Zhang S, Kobayashi T, Schoonmaker JA, et al. Bone progenitor dysfunction induces myelodysplasia and secondary leukaemia. Nature. 2010;464(7290):852–7.
- Podar K, Chauhan D, Anderson KC. Bone marrow microenvironment and the identification of new targets for myeloma therapy. Leukemia. 2009;23(1):10–24.
- Roccaro AM, Sacco A, Husu EN, Pitsillides C, Vesole S, Azab AK, et al. Dual targeting of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway as an antitumor strategy in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2010;115(3):559–69.
- Ngo HT, Azab AK, Farag M, Jia X, Melhem MM, Runnels J, et al. Src tyrosine kinase regulates adhesion and chemotaxis in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Clin Cancer Res. 2009; 15(19):6035–41.
- Leleu X, Eeckhoute J, Jia X, Roccaro AM, Moreau AS, Farag M, et al. Targeting NF-kappaB in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2008;111(10):5068–77.
- Tournilhac O, Santos DD, Xu L, Kutok J, Tai YT, Le Gouill S, et al. Mast cells in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia support lymphoplasmacytic cell growth through CD154/ CD40 signaling. Ann Oncol. 2006;17(8):1275–82.
- Azab F, Azab AK, Maiso P, Calimeri T, Flores L, Liu Y, et al. Eph-B2/ephrin-B2 interaction plays a major role in the adhesion and proliferation of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18(1):91–104.
- 19. Anagnostopoulos A, Eleftherakis-Papaiakovou V, Kastritis E, Tsionos K, Bamias A, Meletis J, et al. Serum concentrations of angiogenic cytokines in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: the ration of angiopoietin-1 to angiopoietin-2 and angiogenin correlate with disease severity. Br J Haematol. 2007;137(6):560–8.
- Kastritis E, Eleutherakis-Papaiakovou E, Gavriatopoulou M, et al. The role of angiopoietins system in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia: correlations with marrow microvessel density and survival. Blood. 2012;120(21):3901 [Meeting Abstract].
- Hivert B, Caron C, Petit S, Charpy C, Fankam-Siaka C, Lecocq S, et al. Clinical and prognostic implications of low or high level of von Willebrand factor in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2012;120(16):3214–21.
- Valentijn KM, Sadler JE, Valentijn JA, Voorberg J, Eikenboom J. Functional architecture of Weibel-Palade bodies. Blood. 2011;117(19):5033–43.
- Starke RD, Ferraro F, Paschalaki KE, Dryden NH, McKinnon TA, Sutton RE, et al. Endothelial von Willebrand factor regulates angiogenesis. Blood. 2011;117(3):1071–80.
- 24. Fiedler U, Scharpfenecker M, Koidl S, Hegen A, Grunow V, Schmidt JM, et al. The Tie-2 ligand angiopoietin-2 is stored in and rapidly released upon stimulation from endothelial cell Weibel-Palade bodies. Blood. 2004;103(11):4150–6.
- 25. Elsawa SF, Novak AJ, Ziesmer SC, Almada LL, Hodge LS, Grote DM, et al. Comprehensive analysis of tumor microenvironment cytokines in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia identifies CCL5 as a novel modulator of IL-6 activity. Blood. 2011;118(20):5540–9.
- Elsawa SF, Almada LL, Ziesmer SC, Novak AJ, Witzig TE, Ansell SM, et al. GLI2 transcription factor mediates cytokine cross-talk in the tumor microenvironment. J Biol Chem. 2011; 286(24):21524–34.

- 27. Elsawa SF, Novak AJ, Grote DM, Ziesmer SC, Witzig TE, Kyle RA, et al. B-lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS) stimulates immunoglobulin production and malignant B-cell growth in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2006;107(7):2882–8.
- 28. Terpos E, Anagnostopoulos A, Kastritis E, Bamias A, Tsionos K, Dimopoulos MA. Abnormal bone remodelling and increased levels of macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha (MIP-1alpha) in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia. Br J Haematol. 2006;133(3):301–4.
- 29. Terpos E, Tasidou A, Eleftherakis-Papaiakovou E, Christoulas D, Gavriatopoulou M, Gkotzamanidou M, et al. Expression of CCL3 by neoplastic cells in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: an immunohistochemical study in bone marrow biopsies of 67 patients. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11(1):115–7.
- 30. Lapidot T, Dar A, Kollet O. How do stem cells find their way home? Blood. 2005;106(6): 1901–10.
- Poulain S, Ertault M, Leleu X, Coiteux V, Fernandes J, Stalnikiewicz L, et al. SDF1/CXCL12 (-801GA) polymorphism is a prognostic factor after treatment initiation in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Leuk Res. 2009;33(9):1204–7.
- 32. Treon SP, Tripsas CK, Meid K, Warren D, Varma G, Green R, et al. Ibrutinib in previously treated Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(15):1430–40.
- 33. de Rooij MF, Kuil A, Kraan W, Kersten MJ, Treon SP, Pals ST, et al. Ibrutinib and idelalisib target B cell receptor- but not CXCL12/CXCR4-controlled integrin-mediated adhesion in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Haematologica. 2016;101(3):e111–5.
- 34. Cao Y, Hunter ZR, Liu X, Xu L, Yang G, Chen J, et al. The WHIM-like CXCR4(S338X) somatic mutation activates AKT and ERK, and promotes resistance to ibrutinib and other agents used in the treatment of Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Leukemia. 2015;29(1):169–76.

Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinaemia: Immunosurveillance and the Immune Micro-environment

D.E. Joshua, R. Brown, P.J. Ho, J. Gibson, and H. Suen

Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia (WM) is a lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma that involves the bone marrow and is associated with a monoclonal immunoglobulin of the IgM class [1]. The cytological spectrum of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia reflects cellular B lymphocyte differentiation that ranges from small B-cells to atypical lymphocytes and fully differentiated plasma cells. Atypical lymphocytes are usually referred to as plasmacytoid or plasmacytic lymphocytes [2]. It is a rare disease with an incidence one tenth that of myeloma with the median age of onset of approximately 70 years. The strongest risk factor for WM is the precursor condition of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance(MGUS) of the IgM class which is associated with an average annual risk of developing WM of approximately 1.5 % per year. It is associated with somatic mutations in the MYD88 gene [3].

The immune environment in WM is clinically characterised by susceptibility to infection [4]. Chronic immune stimulation associated with recurrent infections or autoimmune disease appears to be a predisposing factor to WM, reinforced by the fact that the immunoglobulin genes in WM cells have somatic mutations suggesting that the cell of origin of WM is a post-germinal-centre lymphocyte which has undergone antigenic stimulation and selection. However, unlike myeloma, WM arises from somatically mutated cells prior to immunoglobulin switch recombination [5–7]. The nature of the putative antigenic stimuli remains unclear, but the association with clinical syndromes, such as cryoglobulinaemia, cold agglutinin disease and neuropathy, suggests that autoimmune factors may be involved [8–10]. Recently it has been suggested that a T-cell-dependent response to phosphorylated autoantigens may be critical in the development of WM [11].

Institute of Haematology, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Camperdown, NSW, Australia

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_8

D.E. Joshua (🖂) • R. Brown • P.J. Ho • J. Gibson • H. Suen

Sydney University Medical School, Sydney, NSW, Australia e-mail: douglas.joshua@sswahs.nsw.gov.au

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

Immunological control of the disease is supported by the clinical features of stable or smouldering disease.

8.1 Antigenic Stimulation and Pathogenesis of WM

Large nationwide studies have explored the role of antigenic stimulation in the pathogenesis of WM and confirmed its significance. In US veterans, there was a two- to threefold risk of WM in patients with a personal history of autoimmune disease. Elevated risks of WM are also seen in association with hepatitis, HIV and certain infections. Studies in Sweden have shown that an increased risk of WM occurs with chronic immune stimulation with diseases such as Sjogren's syndrome, autoimmune haemolytic anaemia and polymyalgia rheumatica and certain infectious diseases such as a history of pneumonia, septicaemia hepatitis and herpes zoster being associated with an increased risk of disease [12, 13]. For example, hepatitis C confers a 20–30 % increased risk of lymphoma overall and an approximate threefold risk of WM [14].

Patients with WM are more likely to have first-degree relatives with a history of pneumonia and diabetes [15] also reinforcing concepts of the association with an autoimmune diathesis and immune stimulation, perhaps associated with genetic factors. Research data showing hyper-responsiveness of B-cells as an endophenotype, a functional phenotype, has been described suggesting a combination of exogenous and intrinsic features which may relate to the onset of this disease [16]. These observations point to the role of secondary or chronic immune stimulation interacting with familial susceptibility to account for the familial clustering of WM and suggest that there is a number of common susceptibility genes associated with WM and other lymphoproliferative diseases.

8.2 The Bone Marrow Micro-environment

Interactions in the marrow micro-environment in WM are an intrinsic part of the immune host-tumour relationship. The bone marrow environment consists of stromal, cellular and soluble components. To date most studies have reported on the cellular compartment of the bone marrow concerning lymphocytes, especially T-lymphocytes, natural killer cells, macrophages and mast cells. Less data is available on the interaction of the other stromal compartments comprising extracellular matrix, cytokines and growth factors with the malignant tumour.

Stromal cells have been shown to be critical for the growth of malignant cells as well as playing a role in drug resistance [17]. Mast cells support growth of WM cells through CD154/CD40 signalling [18]. CD27-CD70 interactions form a positive feedback loop via the secretion of the TNF family of proteins [19]. Endothelial cells also play an important role via the ephrin-B2 ligand, a pathway for adhesion of tumour cells to endothelial cells which has significant implications for drug

resistance [20]. Recently it has been shown that eosinophils play a supportive role to the malignant plasma cell in myeloma, although their role in WM remains unclear [21].

Studies on the role of cytokines in the tumour environment in WM have identified elevated levels of CCL5, G-CSF and soluble IL-2 receptor. CCL5 levels correlate with IL-6 levels, an important growth factor for plasma cells and immunoglobulin secretion, and high CCL5 levels correlate with features of disease aggressiveness such as IgM levels and bone marrow infiltration. This effect could be mediated via the JAK/STAT pathway [22] and is supported by the demonstration of constitutive activation of STAT5 in WM and evidence that inhibition of STAT5 significantly decreased IgM secretion [23].

Another important cytokine in the bone marrow micro-environment is IL-21 which contributes both to IgM secretion and proliferation of malignant cells in WM. IL-21 is secreted by activated T-cells. It activates the STAT pathway and results in phosphorylation of STAT 2 and increases expression of downstream targets of STAT 3, including IL-6, the main growth factor for plasma cells [23].

The overall role of IL-21 in the immune system is not fully characterised but IL-21 is produced by natural killer cells as well as Th17 cells and plays diverse roles including immunoglobulin production (as demonstrated in WM) and drives terminal differentiation of B-cells to plasma cells. It also regulates Th17 development and affects CD8 T-cells which may be playing a critical role in the immune micro-environment response to WM [24].

MicroRNAs are abnormally expressed in WM [25–29]. For example, overexpression of a family of seven miRNAs is related to prognostic factors including age, haemoglobin and IgM level [26]. Specifically miRNA-155 is increased and regulates proliferation of WM cells in vitro by inhibiting signalling cascades. The importance of the miRNA-155 in the immune system is suggested by a role in dendritic cell differentiation and function and its ability to stimulate T-cells [30]. Moreover, B-cells lacking miRNA-155 generate reduced extra-follicular and germinal centre responses upon stimulation with both thymus-dependent and thymus-independent antigens suggesting that miR-155 directly regulates class switching recombination in secondary lymphoid organs [31].

8.3 Clonal T-Cell Expansion in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinaemia

Approximately 50% of patients with myeloma have expansions of cytotoxic CD8 T-cells which are not associated with viral infections. These expanded T-cell clones are predominantly CD8+, CD57+ and CD28– and have an immunophenotype of terminally differentiated effector memory cells [32–34]. The presence of clonal cytotoxic T-cells in myeloma is associated with survival advantage and suggesting they may have an antitumour role or a role in tumour surveillance [35]. Clonal cytotoxic T-cells are stimulated by thalidomide, and the combination of thalidomide and the presence of clonal T-cells were a major positive prognostic factor in a

maintenance study of thalidomide in myeloma and correlated with an improvement in progression free survival [36]. Such cells also exist in patients with WM but are largely eliminated by nucleoside analogue therapy [37]. Their elimination by drugs such as fludarabine and cladribine suggest that clonal T-cells may play a significant role in tumour surveillance as illustrated by case reports of rapid transformation to large cell lymphoma following the introduction of cladribine or fludarabine [[38], [39]] spontaneous remission of transformed lymphoma following their cessation [40] and increased incidence of transformation in patients treated with fludarabine [41, 42]. An immunosurveillance role for cytotoxic T-cells in myeloma is supported by data showing that high numbers of T-cell receptor excision circles (TREC), demonstrating a previous proliferative history, are related to an improved prognosis in myeloma, both before and after autologous stem cell transplantation [43].

In both WM and in myeloma, such T-cell clones are in a state of proliferative hypo-responsiveness to T-cell receptor stimulation [32, 37]. Gene set expression analysis (GSEA), which detects changes in the expression of genes in entire pathways and is more robust than analysis based on single genes, has identified several up-regulated gene sets not specifically related to cytotoxic T-cells. These include RAS, CSK and TOB pathways and an unregulated TGF beta receptor. PTPN7, which plays a role in inactivating ERK, was also increased [37]. Up-regulation of TGF beta has been shown to be responsible for impaired dendritic cell function in myeloma and may play a similar role in Waldenstrom's [44–46]. A more precise characterisation of this dysfunctional signalling pathway may provide a target for restoring T-cell responsiveness.

Whether such T-cell hypo-responsiveness is a result of anergy, exhaustion (as seen in chronic viral infections) and immunological senescence or whether all processes are active is currently under active investigation [47, 48]. Current evidence suggests that these cells are not directly comparable to the exhausted T-cells seen in chronic viral infections as the hypo-responsiveness is not reversible by agents such as 1BBL, OX40, IL-2 and IL-15 [49]. In addition they do not exhibit high expression of PD-1, primarily associated with immune exhaustion. The expression of high levels of CD57 suggests that in myeloma and WM these cytotoxic T-cells may have been switched from a highly proliferative/low cytotoxic profile to a low proliferative/highly cytotoxic profile, which is reflective of senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) [50]. Further categorisation of these T-cells is needed to investigate techniques to restore their function.

Relevant to understanding cytotoxic T-cell activity in myeloma and WM are the results of a study which demonstrated that 100 % of MM patients who had survived for more than 10 years since their diagnosis of MM had T-cell clones [49]. Interestingly, the T-cell clones found in the 10-year survivors were not hypo-responsive as they were found to be proliferative after T-cell receptor stimulation. The discovery of T-cell clones which could still respond to stimulation provides a unique opportunity to identify the lesion in the non-responsive T-cell clones found in the majority of patients and conduct functional assays to restore the proliferative capacity of T-cell clones in WM and myeloma.

8.4 Natural Killer Cells in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinaemia

Unlike T- or B-cells which require gene rearrangements and costimulatory signals to initiate a cytotoxic response, cytotoxicity by NK cells is determined by a balance between inhibitory and stimulatory signals received via receptors on the surface of the cell. Despite the large amount of literature showing that NK cells play a critical role in the regulation of immune responses, in particular immune responses against tumours [51], there is little clinical evidence for a role in WM. In a study of an Icelandic family with WM, hyper-reactive B-cells were identified but no evidence for depressed NK function or NK numbers was seen [52].

In myeloma NK cells may play a protective role, and several studies have demonstrated in vitro cytotoxic anti-myeloma responses [53, 54].

NKT cells are true T-cells that recognise lipid antigens in the context of CD1d restriction and may play a role in tumour immunity. Type I NKT cells, defined by their invariant T-cell receptor (TCR), are protective, but contrastingly type II cells characterised by diverse TCRs are inhibitory. Subsets of NKT cells may thus play opposing roles in cancer [55].

Type I NKT cells recognise alpha galactosylceramide. In a mouse model, myeloma cells loaded with alpha galactosylceramide promoted therapeutic NKT-dependent antitumour immunity including the development of myelomaspecific antibodies and cellular immune responses including cytotoxic T-lymphocytes and memory T-cells. In addition these studies demonstrated the presence of decreased regulatory T-cells pointing to the complex interactions that are involved in antitumour immunity. Longitudinal studies have demonstrated a prolonged deficiency of NKT cells after high-dose chemotherapy; however, this appears to be unrelated to the clinical response. In myeloma there was no measurable effect of lenalidomide on NKT cell numbers, despite clinical response, and the clinical value of NKT cells as a marker of clinical activity as opposed to laboratory evidence of antitumour activity remains unclear.

The NK2 D receptor, one of the natural killer cell-activating receptors, is also expressed on the surface of cytotoxic T-cells as well as gamma delta T-cells and NKT cells. Blocking of the NK2 D receptor using antibodies will reverse in vitro cytotoxicity of cytotoxic T-cells to autologous myeloma cells and demonstrates the complex interactions of T-cells, NK cells and NKT cells [56]. Such findings do indicate a possible way in which a defective NKT cell pool may be associated with progressive disease and may be a target for therapy. For example, drugs like lenalidomide promote NKT cell activity in relapsed refractory myeloma and may play a similar role in WM.

The PD-1/PD-L1 axis has also been implicated in multiple myeloma and WM. PD-1 has been demonstrated to be expressed on NKT cells in myeloma, and NKT activation results in vitro toxicity against myeloma cells, including autologous myeloma cells. It has been demonstrated that PD-L1 is highly expressed on malignant cells of patients with WM and that they promote malignant B-cell growth [57]. Such data provide evidence for the possible efficacy of blockage of the PD-1 axis by monoclonal antibodies such as CT-101 [57, 58].

Thus the clinical importance of NKT cells in myeloma and WM remains uncertain at this time. Therefore, unlike cytotoxic T-cell populations which have been shown to have a clinical protective effect in vivo, the activity of NKT cells has yet to be shown to have clinical significance.

8.5 Treg and Th17 Cells: Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells

The importance of Treg cells is well documented in myeloma in which the Treg/ Th17 ratio is altered to an immunosuppressive state. Long-term survival is associated with reversal of this finding. Recent publications have also noted increased MDSC cells in both the blood and bone marrow of myeloma patients, although their role in WM is not clear [59–63].

8.6 Differences Between Tumour-Induced Immunosuppression in Myeloma and Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinaemia

The homeostatic balance between the activation and suppression of immune antitumour effector cells in vivo is controlled by a network of cytokines and regulatory cells in a defined micro-environment. In myeloma, malignant plasma cells appear to have multiple mechanisms of inhibiting the antitumour immune response. These include inactivation of clonal cytotoxic T-cell, depression of NK and dendritic cell function and altering the regulatory T-cell and pro-inflammatory Th17 cell balance in favour of a suppressive state [60]. In addition, in myeloma, trogocytosis (demonstrated by malignant membrane transfer to T-cells) of plasma cells by T-lymphocytes, results in the development of inhibitory Treg cells [64]. In addition myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) are numerically increased, localised to the bone marrow micro-environment and functionally more active in patients with myeloma as compared to normal [61]. The state of the immune homeostatic balance in WM has not yet been so clearly defined.

With the exception of clonal cytotoxic T-cells, which are present in the blood of 70 % of patients with WM (n = 20), 48 % of all myeloma (n = 120) and 100 % of 10-year myeloma survivors (n = 19) [37, 49], inhibition of the immune antitumour response was shown to be less active in WM compared to myeloma. In patients with WM, there is a normal Treg/Th17 ratio which in patients with myeloma is significantly increased. WM patients have a normal percentage of Treg cells in the blood, and an absence of trogocytosis which can affect an average of 12 % of MM T-cells to become acquired regulatory T-cells. Treg function is significantly enhanced in both myeloma (p = 0.05) and WM. In addition absolute numbers of G-MDSC are highly elevated in myeloma, while in WM they are within the normal range. Furthermore, there are major differences in therapy in Waldenstrom's such as the use of nucleoside analogues which has many immunosuppressive actions including the depletion of cytotoxic clonal T-cells (Fig. 8.1).



Fig. 8.1 Differences in host-tumour interactions in WM and myeloma. The malignant plasma cell has more effector mechanisms to protect itself from the host immune system compared to the WM malignant B-cell

Differences in the constitutive activation of signalling pathways of the Janus kinase family may also be associated with differences in immune modulation. pSTAT5 is constitutively activated in both WM [23] and myeloma [65]. While phosphorylated STAT5 does not have any prognostic significance in myeloma, its inhibition decreases the capacity of the malignant cell to secrete IgM in WM and suggests more active involvement of this pathway in the disease pathogenesis of WM and a possible target to control IgM levels with pSTAT5 inhibitors.

8.7 Summary

The ability of the host to control the malignant cells in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia appears to be less compromised than seen in myeloma, suggesting that active immune therapy, such as immunisation and T-cell therapy, may be more successful in WM than in myeloma (Table 8.1). However, considerations around the optimum therapy in WM must take into account the immune environment implying that while immunosuppressive drugs such as nucleoside analogues are highly effective in their cytotoxic effect, but the effect on immune surveillance may be counterproductive. Understanding the clonal

| Table 8.1 Relative potency of T-cell inhibitors | | Myeloma | WM |
|---|------------------------|---------|----|
| | MDSC | +++ | + |
| | Trogocytosis (acq reg) | +++ | + |
| | Dysfunctional DC | ++ | + |
| | Treg imbalance | +++ | + |
| | | | |

cytotoxic T-cell response and the role of NK cells may provide more insights into the immune interactions present in B-cell tumours and facilitate the development of effective immune therapies in the future.

References

- Owen RG, Treon SP, Al-Katib A, Fonseca R, Greipp PR, McMaster ML, Morra E, Pangalis GA, San Miguel JF, Branagan AR, Dimopoulos MA. Clinicopathological definition of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: consensus panel recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:110–5.
- 2. Naderi N, Yang DT. Lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma and Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2013;137:580–5.
- Treon SP, Xu L, Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Cao Y, Sheehy P, Manning RJ, Patterson CJ, Tripsas C, Arcaini L, Pinkus GS, Rodig SJ, Sohani AR, Harris NL, Laramie JM, Skifter DA, Lincoln SE, Hunter ZR. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:826–33.
- 4. Garcia-Sanz R, Montoto S, Torrequebrada A, de Coca AG, Petit J, Sureda A, Rodriguez-Garcia JA, Masso P, Perez-Aliaga A, Monteagudo MD, Navarro I, Moreno G, Toledo C, Alonso A, Besses C, Besalduch J, Jarque I, Salama P, Rivas JA, Navarro B, Blade J, Miguel JF. Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: presenting features and outcome in a series with 217 cases. Br J Haematol. 2001;115:575–82.
- Kriangkum J, Taylor BJ, Strachan E, Mant MJ, Reiman T, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Impaired class switch recombination (CSR) in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia (WM) despite apparently normal CSR machinery. Blood. 2006;107:2920–7.
- Sahota SS, Forconi F, Ottensmeier CH, Provan D, Oscier DG, Hamblin TJ, Stevenson FK. Typical Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia is derived from a B-cell arrested after cessation of somatic mutation but prior to isotype switch events. Blood. 2002;100:1505–7.
- 7. Sahota SS, Forconi F, Ottensmeier CH, Stevenson FK. Origins of the malignant clone in typical Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:136–41.
- 8. Pruzanski W, Shumak KH. Biologic activity of cold-reacting autoantibodies (first of two parts). N Engl J Med. 1977;297:538–42.
- 9. Pruzanski W, Shumak KH. Biologic activity of cold-reacting autoantibodies (second of two parts). N Engl J Med. 1977;297:583–9.
- 10. Ropper AH, Gorson KC. Neuropathies associated with paraproteinemia. N Engl J Med. 1998;338:1601–7.
- 11. Grass S, Preuss KD, Wikowicz A, Terpos E, Ziepert M, Nikolaus D, Yang Y, Fadle N, Regitz E, Dimopoulos MA, Treon SP, Hunter ZR, Pfreundschuh M. Hyperphosphorylated paratarg-7: a new molecularly defined risk factor for monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance of the IgM type and Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2011;117:2918–23.
- Kristinsson SY, Koshiol J, Bjorkholm M, Goldin LR, McMaster ML, Turesson I, Landgren O. Immune-related and inflammatory conditions and risk of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma or Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102:557–67.

- Lindqvist EK, Goldin LR, Landgren O, Blimark C, Mellqvist UH, Turesson I, Wahlin A, Bjorkholm M, Kristinsson SY. Personal and family history of immune-related conditions increase the risk of plasma cell disorders: a population-based study. Blood. 2011;118:6284–91.
- 14. Giordano TP, Henderson L, Landgren O, Chiao EY, Kramer JR, El-Serag H, Engels EA. Risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma and lymphoproliferative precursor diseases in US veterans with hepatitis C virus. JAMA. 2007;297:2010–7.
- Treon SP, Hunter ZR, Aggarwal A, Ewen EP, Masota S, Lee C, Santos DD, Hatjiharissi E, Xu L, Leleu X, Tournilhac O, Patterson CJ, Manning R, Branagan AR, Morton CC. Characterization of familial Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Ann Oncol. 2006;17:488–94.
- Ogmundsdottir HM, Steingrimsdottir H, Haraldsdottir V. Familial paraproteinemia: hyperresponsive B-cells as endophenotype. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:82–4.
- 17. Leleu X, Jia X, Runnels J, Ngo HT, Moreau AS, Farag M, Spencer JA, Pitsillides CM, Hatjiharissi E, Roccaro A, O'Sullivan G, McMillin DW, Moreno D, Kiziltepe T, Carrasco R, Treon SP, Hideshima T, Anderson KC, Lin CP, Ghobrial IM. The Akt pathway regulates survival and homing in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2007;110:4417–26.
- Tournilhac O, Santos DD, Xu L, Kutok J, Tai YT, Le Gouill S, Catley L, Hunter Z, Branagan AR, Boyce JA, Munshi N, Anderson KC, Treon SP. Mast cells in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia support lymphoplasmacytic cell growth through CD154/CD40 signaling. Ann Oncol. 2006;17:1275–82.
- Ho AW, Hatjiharissi E, Ciccarelli BT, Branagan AR, Hunter ZR, Leleu X, Tournilhac O, Xu L, O'Connor K, Manning RJ, Santos DD, Chemaly M, Patterson CJ, Soumerai JD, Munshi NC, McEarchern JA, Law CL, Grewal IS, Treon SP. CD27-CD70 interactions in the pathogenesis of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2008;112:4683–9.
- 20. Azab F, Azab AK, Maiso P, Calimeri T, Flores L, Liu Y, Quang P, Roccaro AM, Sacco A, Ngo HT, Zhang Y, Morgan BL, Carrasco RD, Ghobrial IM. Eph-B2/ephrin-B2 interaction plays a major role in the adhesion and proliferation of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18:91–104.
- 21. Wong TW, Kita H, Hanson CA, Walters DK, Arendt BK, Jelinek DF. Induction of malignant plasma cell proliferation by eosinophils. PLoS One. 2013;8, e70554.
- 22. Elsawa SF, Novak AJ, Ziesmer SC, Almada LL, Hodge LS, Grote DM, Witzig TE, Fernandez-Zapico ME, Ansell SM. Comprehensive analysis of tumor microenvironment cytokines in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia identifies CCL5 as a novel modulator of IL-6 activity. Blood. 2011;118:5540–9.
- Hodge LS, Ziesmer SC, Yang ZZ, Secreto FJ, Novak AJ, Ansell SM. Constitutive activation of STAT5A and STAT5B regulates IgM secretion in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2014;123:1055–8.
- Liu SM, King C. IL-21-producing Th cells in immunity and autoimmunity. J Immunol. 2013;191:3501–6.
- 25. Hodge LS, Elsawa SF, Grote DM, Price-Troska TL, Asmann YW, Fonseca R, Gertz MA, Witzig TE, Novak AJ, Ansell SM. MicroRNA expression in tumor cells from Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia reflects both their normal and malignant cell counterparts. Blood Cancer J. 2011;1, e24.
- 26. Roccaro AM, Sacco A, Chen C, Runnels J, Leleu X, Azab F, Azab AK, Jia X, Ngo HT, Melhem MR, Burwick N, Varticovski L, Novina CD, Rollins BJ, Anderson KC, Ghobrial IM. microRNA expression in the biology, prognosis, and therapy of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;113:4391–402.
- 27. Sacco A, Maiso P, Azab A, Azab F, Zhang Y, Liu Y, Ngo HT, Morgan B, Quang P, Issa G, Ghobrial IM, Roccaro AM. Key role of microRNAs in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia pathogenesis. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:109–11.

- Sacco A, Zhang Y, Maiso P, Manier S, Rossi G, Treon SP, Ghobrial IM, Roccaro AM. microRNA aberrations in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2013;13:205–7.
- Wong CK, Lau KM, Chan IH, Hu S, Lam YY, Choi AO, Lam CW. MicroRNA-21* regulates the prosurvival effect of GM-CSF on human eosinophils. Immunobiology. 2013;218:255–62.
- Montagner S, Deho L, Monticelli S. MicroRNAs in hematopoietic development. BMC Immunol. 2014;15:14.
- Vigorito E, Perks KL, Abreu-Goodger C, Bunting S, Xiang Z, Kohlhaas S, Das PP, Miska EA, Rodriguez A, Bradley A, Smith KG, Rada C, Enright AJ, Toellner KM, Maclennan IC, Turner M. microRNA-155 regulates the generation of immunoglobulin class-switched plasma cells. Immunity. 2007;27:847–59.
- 32. Sze DM, Giesajtis G, Brown RD, Raitakari M, Gibson J, Ho J, Baxter AG, Fazekas de St Groth B, Basten A, Joshua DE. Clonal cytotoxic T cells are expanded in myeloma and reside in the CD8(+)CD57(+)CD28(-) compartment. Blood. 2001;98:2817–27.
- 33. Raitakari M, Brown RD, Gibson J, Joshua DE. T cells in myeloma. Hematol Oncol. 2003;21:33–42.
- 34. Raitakari M, Brown RD, Sze D, Yuen E, Barrow L, Nelson M, Pope B, Esdale W, Gibson J, Joshua DE. T-cell expansions in patients with multiple myeloma have a phenotype of cytotoxic T cells. Br J Haematol. 2000;110:203–9.
- 35. Brown RD, Yuen E, Nelson M, Gibson J, Joshua D. The prognostic significance of T cell receptor beta gene rearrangements and idiotype-reactive T cells in multiple myeloma. Leukemia. 1997;11:1312–7.
- 36. Brown RD, Spencer A, Ho PJ, Kennedy N, Kabani K, Yang S, Sze DM, Aklilu E, Gibson J, Joshua DE. Prognostically significant cytotoxic T cell clones are stimulated after thalidomide therapy in patients with multiple myeloma. Leuk Lymphoma. 2009;50:1860–4.
- 37. Li J, Sze DM, Brown RD, Cowley MJ, Kaplan W, Mo SL, Yang S, Aklilu E, Kabani K, Loh YS, Yamagishi T, Chen Y, Ho PJ, Joshua DE. Clonal expansions of cytotoxic T cells exist in the blood of patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia but exhibit anergic properties and are eliminated by nucleoside analogue therapy. Blood. 2010;115:3580–8.
- 38. Cohen Y, Da'as N, Libster D, Amir G, Berrebi A, Polliack A. Large-cell transformation of chronic lymphocytic leukemia and follicular lymphoma during or soon after treatment with fludarabine-rituximab-containing regimens: natural history- or therapy-related complication? Eur J Haematol. 2002;68:80–3.
- 39. Ling S, Joshua DE, Gibson J, Young G, Iland H, Watson G, Ho PJ. Transformation and progression of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia following cladribine therapy in two cases: natural evolution or iatrogenic causation? Am J Hematol. 2006;81:110–4.
- 40. Lim Z, Cassells R, Giles A, Cheow HK, Mir N. Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma developing following treatment of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia: spontaneous resolution upon cessation of fludarabine. Leuk Lymphoma. 2007;48:1638–40.
- 41. Leleu X, Soumerai J, Roccaro A, Hatjiharissi E, Hunter ZR, Manning R, Ciccarelli BT, Sacco A, Ioakimidis L, Adamia S, Moreau AS, Patterson CJ, Ghobrial IM, Treon SP. Increased incidence of transformation and myelodysplasia/acute leukemia in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia treated with nucleoside analogs. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:250–5.
- 42. Leleu X, Tamburini J, Roccaro A, Morel P, Soumerai J, Levy V, Wemeau M, Balkaran S, Poulain S, Hunter ZR, Ghobrial IM, Treon SP, Leblond V. Balancing risk versus benefit in the treatment of Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia patients with nucleoside analogue-based therapy. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9:71–3.
- 43. Svaldi M, Lanthaler AJ, Dugas M, Lohse P, Pescosta N, Straka C, Mitterer M. T-cell receptor excision circles: a novel prognostic parameter for the outcome of transplantation in multiple myeloma patients. Br J Haematol. 2003;122:795–801.

- 44. Brown R, Murray A, Pope B, Sze DM, Gibson J, Ho PJ, Hart D, Joshua D. Either interleukin-12 or interferon-gamma can correct the dendritic cell defect induced by transforming growth factor beta in patients with myeloma. Br J Haematol. 2004;125:743–8.
- 45. Brown RD, Pope B, Murray A, Esdale W, Sze DM, Gibson J, Ho PJ, Hart D, Joshua D. Dendritic cells from patients with myeloma are numerically normal but functionally defective as they fail to up-regulate CD80 (B7-1) expression after huCD40LT stimulation because of inhibition by transforming growth factor-beta1 and interleukin-10. Blood. 2001;98:2992–8.
- 46. Turtle CJ, Brown RD, Joshua DE, Hart DN. DC in multiple myeloma immunotherapy. Cytotherapy. 2004;6:128–37.
- 47. Crespo J, Sun H, Welling TH, Tian Z, Zou W. T cell anergy, exhaustion, senescence, and stemness in the tumor microenvironment. Curr Opin Immunol. 2013;25:214–21.
- 48. Wherry EJ. T cell exhaustion. Nat Immunol. 2011;12:492-9.
- 49. Bryant C, Suen H, Brown R, Yang S, Favaloro J, Aklilu E, Gibson J, Ho PJ, Iland H, Fromm P, Woodland N, Nassif N, Hart D, Joshua DE. Long-term survival in multiple myeloma is associated with a distinct immunological profile, which includes proliferative cytotoxic T-cell clones and a favourable Treg/Th17 balance. Blood Cancer J. 2013;3, e148.
- Larbi A, Fulop T. From "truly naive" to "exhausted senescent" T cells: when markers predict functionality. Cytometry A. 2014;85:25–35.
- 51. Terabe M, Berzofsky JA. The role of NKT cells in tumor immunity. Adv Cancer Res. 2008;101:277–348.
- Steingrimsdottir H, Einarsdottir HK, Haraldsdottir V, Ogmundsdottir HM. Familial monoclonal gammopathy: hyper-responsive B cells in unaffected family members. Eur J Haematol. 2011;86:396–404.
- 53. Dhodapkar MV, Geller MD, Chang DH, Shimizu K, Fujii S, Dhodapkar KM, Krasovsky J. A reversible defect in natural killer T cell function characterizes the progression of premalignant to malignant multiple myeloma. J Exp Med. 2003;197:1667–76.
- Richter J, Neparidze N, Zhang L, Nair S, Monesmith T, Sundaram R, Miesowicz F, Dhodapkar KM, Dhodapkar MV. Clinical regressions and broad immune activation following combination therapy targeting human NKT cells in myeloma. Blood. 2013;121:423–30.
- Berzofsky JA, Terabe M. NKT cells in tumor immunity: opposing subsets define a new immunoregulatory axis. J Immunol. 2008;180:3627–35.
- 56. Talebian L, Fischer DA, Wu J, Channon JY, Sentman CL, Ernstoff MS, Meehan KR. The natural killer-activating receptor, NKG2D, on CD3+CD8+ T cells plays a critical role in identifying and killing autologous myeloma cells. Transfusion. 2014;54:1515–21.
- 57. Grote DMEA. Interactions between PD-1 and PD-L1 and PD-L2 promote malignant B cell growth in Waldenstroms macroglobulinemia. Blood Cancer J. 2013;122:4334.
- 58. Benson Jr DM, Bakan CE, Mishra A, Hofmeister CC, Efebera Y, Becknell B, Baiocchi RA, Zhang J, Yu J, Smith MK, Greenfield CN, Porcu P, Devine SM, Rotem-Yehudar R, Lozanski G, Byrd JC, Caligiuri MA. The PD-1/PD-L1 axis modulates the natural killer cell versus multiple myeloma effect: a therapeutic target for CT-011, a novel monoclonal anti-PD-1 antibody. Blood. 2010;116:2286–94.
- 59. Brimnes MK, Vangsted AJ, Knudsen LM, Gimsing P, Gang AO, Johnsen HE, Svane IM. Increased level of both CD4+FOXP3+ regulatory T cells and CD14+HLA-DR(-)/low myeloid-derived suppressor cells and decreased level of dendritic cells in patients with multiple myeloma. Scand J Immunol. 2010;72:540–7.
- 60. Favaloro J, Brown R, Aklilu E, Yang S, Suen H, Hart D, Fromm P, Gibson J, Khoo L, Ho PJ, Joshua D. Myeloma skews regulatory T and pro-inflammatory T helper 17 cell balance in favor of a suppressive state. Leuk Lymphoma. 2014;55:1090–8.
- 61. Favaloro J, Liyadipitiya T, Brown R, Yang S, Suen H, Woodland N, Nassif N, Hart D, Fromm P, Weatherburn C, Gibson J, Ho PJ, Joshua D. Myeloid derived suppressor cells are numerically, functionally and phenotypically different in patients with multiple myeloma. Leuk Lymphoma. 2014;55:2893–900.

- 62. Ramachandran IR, Martner A, Pisklakova A, Condamine T, Chase T, Vogl T, Roth J, Gabrilovich D, Nefedova Y. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells regulate growth of multiple myeloma by inhibiting T cells in bone marrow. J Immunol. 2013;190:3815–23.
- 63. Tadmor T. The growing link between multiple myeloma and myeloid derived suppressor cells. Leuk Lymphoma. 2014;55(12):2681–2.
- 64. Brown R, Kabani K, Favaloro J, Yang S, Ho PJ, Gibson J, Fromm P, Suen H, Woodland N, Nassif N, Hart D, Joshua D. CD86+ or HLA-G+ can be transferred via trogocytosis from myeloma cells to T cells and are associated with poor prognosis. Blood. 2012;120:2055–63.
- 65. Brown R, Yang S, Weatherburn C, Gibson J, Ho PJ, Suen H, Hart D, Joshua D. Phospho-flow detection of constitutive and cytokine-induced pSTAT3/5, pAKT and pERK expression highlights novel prognostic biomarkers for patients with multiple myeloma. Leukemia. 2015;29(2):483–90.

Part II

Epidemiology and Genetic Predisposition

Epidemiology of Waldenström Macroglobulinemia

Vilhjálmur Steingrímsson, Ola Landgren, and Sigurður Yngvi Kristinsson

9.1 Introduction

Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (WM) is a chronic lymphoproliferative disorder characterized by an IgM monoclonal gammopathy in the presence of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma (LPL) in the bone marrow [1]. Recently, Treon et al. identified a common somatic mutation, MYD88 L265P, to be found in over 90% of WM patients [2]. It is also found in over 50% of patients with IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) [3, 4] which is the strongest risk factor for developing WM [5]. Another somatic mutation that frequently presents in WM is a mutation in CXCR4 [6].

LPL/WM is a rare malignancy, accounting for only 1-2% of all hematologic tumors, with an incidence of 3-4 per million people per year [7, 8]. Due to the rarity of WM, acquiring epidemiological knowledge of the disease has been a challenge. In the beginning, much of the information was obtained from small clinical series but have recently been largely replaced by large population-based studies.

WM is a disease of the elderly, with less than 1% of patients diagnosed before 40 years of age [9]. The median age of diagnosis is around 70 years [9–11]. The incidence increases sharply with advancing age until the age 60–69 years, after

V. Steingrímsson

Faculty of Medicine, University of Iceland, Stapi v/Hringbraut, 101 Reykjavik, Iceland

O. Landgren

Myeloma Service, Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA

S.Y. Kristinsson, MD, PhD (🖂)

Faculty of Medicine, University of Iceland, Stapi v/Hringbraut, 101 Reykjavik, Iceland

Department of Medicine, Karolinska University Hospital and Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden e-mail: sigyngvi@hi.is

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 V. Leblond et al. (eds.), *Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_9 which, there is a slower increase in incidence [11]. Blacks have the youngest median age at diagnosis (63 years) whereas median age of diagnosis in whites is the highest (73 years) [12].

Difference in the incidence of diseases in various subgroups can provide information on the occupational or biological risk factors. WM is up to twice as common in males [7, 11], and the male predominance is consistent in all age categories [11] and also found in Asian countries [13]. In the USA, white males represent 52% of WM cases and white females represent 36% of cases, while blacks represent 5%, other races account for approximately 4% and in 3% of cases the race was unspecified [7]. The incidence rate in whites is more than twice as high as in other racial groups [11]. The incidence is even more variable between continents, and WM is up to 10 times less common in some Asian countries [13], and interestingly this incidence is lower than expected compared to Asian immigrants in the USA [14]. This supports that environmental and lifestyle factors are important in the pathogenesis of WM.

Trends in incidence over time can be difficult to estimate due to many factors, such as the possible increase in diagnosis due to more routine blood tests and electrophoresis and specialized health care due to the growing number of elderly people in Western countries. The age-adjusted incidence has been relatively stable since 1988, although there has been an increase in incidence in whites in the USA [11] and there has been some trend to increased incidence in males after 2007 in Sweden [11, 15]. There was also a significant increase in incidence found in Japan but not in Thailand [13].

9.2 Familiality

A role for genetic factors in the etiology has been implicated in researches for a long time. The first report on familiality in WM was published in 1962 [16], and since then papers on families with multiple cases, as well as small case-control and cohort studies, have been published showing family clustering in LPL and WM [16–27]. Treon et al. characterized clinicopathologic patterns of familial disease in a clinic-based series of 257 WM patients and found that 19% of the patients had at least one first-degree relative affected by WM or another B-cell disorder, including non-Hodgkin lymphoma, multiple myeloma, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, MGUS, acute lymphoblastic leukemia, and Hodgkin lymphoma [26]. They also found patients with a familial history of WM or a plasma cell disorder to have greater bone marrow involvement.

Clinical-based studies are, however, likely to be subjected to selection bias and could overestimate the familial component in WM. In a large population-based case-control study on 2144 LPL/WM patients (1539 WM [72%] and 605 LPL [28%]) and over 8000 first-degree relatives and more than 30,000 controls, the familiality of WM was thoroughly estimated [9]. First-degree relatives of LPL/WM patients had a 20-fold increased risk of developing LPL/WM and, furthermore, an increased risk of developing non-Hodgkin lymphoma, chronic lymphocytic

leukemia, and MGUS. There was, however, no excess risk of multiple myeloma or Hodgkin lymphoma. There was a similar excess risk among parents, siblings, and offspring, which favors the operation of dominant or codominant gene effects, rather than recessive genes. These results imply that gene-environment interaction is likely as WM has been associated with immune-gene polymorphisms [17, 28–33] as well as autoimmunity and chronic infections [17, 34, 35]. Interestingly, family history of lymphoproliferative disorders in LPL/WM patients is associated with a modest, but significant, increased risk of death [36], indicating that there might be biological differences between familial and sporadic disease and that genetic susceptibility predisposes patients to a more severe form of LPL/WM.

IgM-MGUS is a precursor to WM and has been observed in about 10% in firstdegree relatives of WM patients in multiple-case WM families [37]. IgM-MGUS is more common in first-degree relatives compared to more distant family members and is most commonly observed in siblings of cases.

Epidemiological studies on WM have also shed some light on other genetic mechanism of the disease. For example, some evidence supporting genetic anticipation has been shown in earlier studies. In their study, Treon et al. [26] showed that WM patients with a family history of WM or a plasma cell disorder were diagnosed at a younger age than sporadic WM cases. In a large population-based study, offspring of LPL/WM patients were diagnosed with LPL/WM at an earlier age than the parent group [9]. However, the age at diagnosis of LPL/WM was similar in offspring of controls and of cases, indicating that this difference is likely due to differences in follow-up time between generations and not explained by earlier diagnosis in children of parents with LPL/WM [9]. The possibility of anticipation in WM needs to be studied in more detail.

Taken together, there is convincing evidence that first-degree relatives of LPL/WM patients are in increased risk of developing LPL/WM and certain other types of lymphomas/leukemia. However, because of the low baseline risk of LPL/WM and other lymphoproliferative malignancies in the general population, the absolute risk for a relative of a LPL/WM patient to develop LPL/WM or another lymphoproliferative malignancy is still very low.

9.3 Risk Factors

The etiology of WM is to a large extent unknown. Many studies have estimated the role of environmental and biological factors on WM. The best-known risk factor for WM is IgM-MGUS, accounting for about 14% of all MGUS [38]. A personal history of IgM-MGUS has been associated with increased risk of developing WM [39]. Based upon long-term follow-up data from the Mayo Clinic, a history of IgM-MGUS is associated with a 1–1.5% yearly risk of developing WM [5] and a significant additional risk of developing chronic lymphocytic leukemia and non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) [5].

IgM-MGUS can in many ways be thought of as an early state of WM, rather than a cause of the disease, similar to IgG and IgA MGUS in multiple myeloma [40].

Chronic antigen stimulation is likely to have a role in the development of WM. Studies have reported evidence of somatic immunoglobulin gene mutations, suggesting that the WM cells originate from B cells that have undergone repeated antigenic stimulation and selection in the germinal centers of lymphoid follicles [41, 42]. A number of epidemiological studies [17, 22, 34, 35] have assessed the role of various types of chronic antigenic stimulatory condition in relation to the risk of developing LPL/WM; however, the results have been somewhat conflicting.

In a hospital-based study on 65 patients and 213 hospital-based controls, no association was found between autoimmune diseases and subsequently developing WM [22]. Interestingly, WM patients were more likely than controls to have first-degree relatives with a history of pneumonia, diphtheria, rheumatic fever, and diabetes mellitus, with relatives of two WM cases having IgM MGUS and about 40 % having diverse immunologic abnormalities.

Two nationwide US veterans studies [17, 34] were designed to explore the role of antigenic stimulation in the pathogenesis of WM. In the first study, including 146,394 patients infected with hepatitis C virus (HCV) and 572,293 controls [34], HCV infection confers a 20–30% increased risk of NHL overall and a threefold higher risk of WM. In the second study, WM risk was assessed in relation to a variety of chronic immune stimulatory conditions among 4 million US veterans and among 361 patients with WM with up to 27 years of follow-up, and revealed a two-to threefold elevated risk of WM in individuals with a personal history of an autoimmune disease and notably increased risks associated with hepatitis, human immunodeficiency virus, and rickettsiosis [17].

In a questionnaire-based study of 103 patients with WM and of 272 unaffected relatives [43] (35 patients with multiple cases of WM, 46 with mixed WM/related B-cell disorders kindred, and 28 patients with sporadic WM), familial WM patients were more likely than unaffected relatives to report a history of autoimmune disease and infections. Familial WM patients were also more likely to report exposure to farming, pesticides, wood dust, and organic solvents compared with unaffected family members.

In a large case–control study from the Swedish population that included approximately 2500 LPL-WM patients, more than 9000 matched controls, and approximately 30,000 first-degree relatives, personal history of certain immune-related and inflammatory conditions was associated with increased risk of LPL/WM, supporting the theory that chronic immune stimulation plays a role in the pathogenesis of LPL/WM. These patterns were also observed with previous studies [35, 44, 45] focusing on other subtypes of non-Hodgkin lymphoma. An increased risk of LPL/WM was associated with a personal history of the following autoimmune diseases: systemic sclerosis, Sjögren's syndrome, autoimmune hemolytic anemia, polymyalgia rheumatica, and giant cell arteritis. An increased risk of LPL/WM was associated with a personal history of the following infectious diseases: pneumonia, septicemia, pyelonephritis, sinusitis, herpes zoster, and influenza. Interestingly, an increased risk of LPL/WM was associated with a family history of Sjögren's syndrome, autoimmune hemolytic anemia, Guillain-Barré syndrome, cytomegalovirus, gingivitis and periodontitis, and chronic prostatitis. The observed relationship between LPL/WM and autoimmune diseases/infections could reflect a premalignant stage of LPL/WM with a disruption of the immune system [46]. Association of family history of autoimmune diseases and infections to LPL/WM could be caused by polymorphisms common to relatives. A third explanation, like earlier mentioned, is that chronic stimulation of B cells make malignant mutation more likely, leading to the development of WM.

These findings were further supported by a recent, large, population-based, casecontrol study that evaluated 5403 patients with MGUS and 21,209 matched controls with their respective first-degree relatives (14,535 for MGUS and 58,164 for controls) to assess for the association of MGUS with a personal or family history of infections and autoimmune and/or inflammatory conditions. In this study, both a personal history and a family history of autoimmune disease were independently associated with an increased risk of MGUS. Furthermore, a personal history of infections and inflammatory conditions also was associated with an increased risk of MGUS, which supports a role for shared susceptibility for these conditions [47].

A pooled analysis on 374 cases and 23,096 controls from 11 countries investigated associations with medical and family history, lifestyle, and occupational history [48]. Increased risk of LPL/WM was found in those with history of Sjögren's syndrome, systemic lupus erythromatosus, HCV infection, and a family history of hematologic malignancy. Furthermore, decreased risk was found for history of hay fever and high adult weight. The risk was increased for smoking history exceeding 40 years and occupation as a medical doctor.

9.4 Survival

Due to the rarity of WM, very few phase III randomized trials have been performed to compare different treatment strategies and estimate overall survival. Traditionally, treatment in WM is based on results in phase II trials and expert recommendation [49, 50]. Therefore, thorough observations of survival over time becomes of greater importance.

WM is a slowly progressive disease with good prognosis in asymptomatic patients. Series have shown that the median overall survival is 60-120 months [10, 51-58]. Based on 48 WM patients, a Mayo Clinic study showed an overall survival of 83% at 5 years and 50% at 9.6 years in asymptomatic patients [59]. A study of 345 patients showed no improvement over a 25-year period, between 1985 and 2010 [60]. The study included only symptomatic patients and therefore not likely to be affected by lead-time bias. It was, however, based on a referral center and thus subjected to selection bias and, furthermore, the follow-up after 2000 was only 39 months. As pointed out by the authors, longer follow-up is probably needed.

In a population-based study with 1555 WM/LPL patients diagnosed between 1980 and 2005, there was evidence of increased survival over time [61], and it is speculated to be due to introduction to new therapies, such as rituximab, and improvement in supportive care (Fig. 9.1). The improvement was found between



Fig. 9.1 Cumulative relative survival of LPL/WM patients diagnosed in Sweden 1980–2005, stratified by calendar period at diagnosis [61]

all calendar periods, the greatest improvement in survival was from 1980–1985 to 1986–1990. The improvement in survival was also found in the oldest patients (>80 years old), a trend that has not been found in many other hematologic malignancies, for example, multiple myeloma [62]. There was a consistently better survival in women, which might be contributed to different stage at diagnosis and distribution of prognostic factors in women compared to men. This is similar to observations made in other hematologic malignancies [62, 63] and also found in a large study from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) data on overall survival [64]. Increased age at diagnosis was also, as seen in other studies [64, 65], associated with worse overall survival, in concordance with other hematologic malignancies [62, 63].

A difficult issue to address in many epidemiological studies on survival in WM is the potential effect of lead-time bias. This issue is raised by a possible increase in the number of serum electrophoresis performed and the change in diagnostic criteria over time.

A SEER-database study on 6231 WM diagnosed between 1980 and 2010 found improved relative survival in 2000–2010 compared to 1980–2000 (Fig. 9.2) [66]. Consistent with the Swedish study [61], there was improvement overtime in all age categories. Also, both studies found worse relative survival in oldest



Fig. 9.2 Five-year relative survival in patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia from the SEER database 1980–2010, stratified by age at diagnosis [66]

patients; however, there did not appear to be a consistently worse overall survival in males when compared to females.

Another SEER-database study showed improved overall survival independent of age, sex, race, and site of involvement in a competing risk analysis [64]. Furthermore, they found that the overall survival had improved over the last decades in the oldest patients, agreeing with earlier studies.

Changes in survival are multifactorial and can be based on the stage of diagnosis, and furthermore, therapeutical, biological, economical, and environmental. When survival difference between ethnic groups was studied, Hispanics had the worst overall survival while the highest overall survival was in whites [12]. Another study on WM/LPL showed that black patients had worse overall survival [64], and these findings were ascribed to difference in socioeconomical status, health insurance coverage, attitude towards therapy, and biological factors. Improvement in relative survival over the recent years was found in whites and other races, but not in blacks [66].

9.5 Related Cancers and WM Complications

Given the implications for future studies aimed at uncovering underlying susceptibility genes, it is important to define the spectrum of tumors associated with LPL/WM. Hanzis et al. found in a single center study of 924 WM patients and their relatives that 24.3 % of patients had an additional cancer diagnosis, with 63 % preceding the diagnosis of WM [67]. Familial WM was more likely to be associated

with lung cancer, and furthermore, myeloid leukemias were more likely to be found in relatives of WM patients. However, no comparison was made with the US population in general [68].

Other small studies have also estimated the association with various cancers. Garzía-Sanz et al. found in a study of 217 patients that the most common associated malignancies in WM were lung cancer, colon cancer, and myelodysplastic syndrome [55]. An Italian study of 230 WM patients found that they had a 69% increased risk of developing a second cancer [69]. The highest risk was for diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, myelodysplastic syndrome/acute myeloid leukemia (all three cases in patients treated with alkylators), and brain cancer. This study estimated the incidence in treated vs. untreated patients and found that it was not statistically significant, likely due to few numbers. A large study, using the SEER data, was conducted with 1618 WM patients [70], and results were consistent with the Italian study regarding the increased risk of acute myeloid leukemia; however, it did not support the increased risk of brain cancer. They were unable to estimate the risk of diffuse large B-cell cancer; however, risk of NHL was also increased. Furthermore, there was an increased risk of multiple myeloma, melanoma, and cancers of the colon, lung, and kidney following the diagnosis of WM.

A more recent study based on the SEER data [68] found that WM patients had a 49% higher risk of secondary malignancy than the general population, and the median time from diagnosis to a second malignancy was 3.7 years. The risk was significant for lungs, urinary tract, thyroid, melanoma, aggressive, lymphoma, and acute leukemia. The risk was higher in patients younger than 65 years compared to older patients, and it was also higher in women. The authors speculated that the increased risk was due to genetic predisposition, immunologic dysfunction, therapy, and other environmental factors. Finally, another study from the SEER database showed that survival in WM patients with colorectal cancer, melanoma, and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma was worse than a matched population with the same cancers [71].

Several issues need to be taken into account when interpreting these results. A transformation of WM into more aggressive malignancy is well known, most commonly to diffuse large B-cell lymphoma [72, 73]. However, the increased risk of acute myeloid leukemia has mainly been attributed to therapy, i.e., nucleoside analogs and alkylating agents.

The Swedish study group analyzed the risks of myeloid hematological malignancies and solid tumors among first-degree relatives of LPL/WM patients [74]. First-degree relatives of LPL/WM patients did not have an increased risk of myeloid malignancies, including acute myeloid leukemia, myelodysplastic syndromes, chronic myeloproliferative neoplasms, and chronic myeloid leukemia. In addition, first-degree relatives of LPL/WM patients had no increased risk of solid tumors taken together (28 solid tumors tested), and relatives of LPL/WM patients who had only a borderline significantly increased risk of pancreas cancer.

It is known that patients with WM may have an increased risk of bleeding due to the IgM paraproteinemia-associated hyperviscosity. Furthermore, many malignancies, including multiple myeloma and its precursor, monoclonal gammopathy of unknown significant, are associated with an elevated risk of thromboembolism [75]. In a population-based study from Sweden, patients from WM/LPL had a fourfold increased risk of venous thrombosis during the first year, and although the risk was highest during the first year after diagnosis in the study, the risk of venous thrombosis was elevated 5 and 10 years after diagnosis [76]. There was, however, no increased risk of arterial thrombosis. The authors concluded that there was a potential role for prophylaxis, especially in the first year after diagnosis.

9.6 Implications and Future Directions

Recognizing familial association in WM is important for better understanding of the pathogenesis of the disease. However, its use in early detection of LPL/WM is not likely to affect outcome because, currently, asymptomatic LPL/WM is typically not treated. Instead, while relatives of patients with LPL/WM can be informed that they have a higher risk of developing LPL/WM and other lymphomas (compared with family members of unaffected individuals), it should be emphasized that the absolute risk for developing LPL/WM and other hematologic malignancies is very low, there is no treatment for early lesions, and thus no increased medical surveillance is necessary at this time.

The observation that immune-related and inflammatory conditions are associated with an excess risk of developing WM and other lymphomas might have clinical implications regarding the treatment of those conditions. Indeed, it has been suggested in some previous studies that autoimmune disease therapy (such as methotrexate and tumor necrosis factor-alpha blocking agents) might play a role in the development of subsequent lymphoma [77–79].

Studies showing improved survival are important in estimating development in WM therapy over recent decades. Building on the insights regarding activated pathways in WM (e.g., MYD88 and CXCR4), there are ongoing studies with drugs targeting active pathways. At this time, it is too early to tell whether such an approach will continue as a single drug approach or if targeted drugs will require combinations with other more broad acting drugs to prevent resistance and/or escape mechanisms by the tumor cells.

References

- Campo E, Swerdlow SH, Harris NL, Pileri S, Stein H, Jaffe ES. The 2008 WHO classification of lymphoid neoplasms and beyond: evolving concepts and practical applications. Blood. 2011;117:5019–32.
- Treon SP, Xu L, Yang G, et al. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:826–33.
- 3. Landgren O, Staudt L. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in IgM MGUS. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:2255–6. author reply 6–7.

- 4. Xu L, Hunter ZR, Yang G, et al. MYD88 L265P in Waldenström macroglobulinemia, immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathy, and other B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders using conventional and quantitative allele-specific polymerase chain reaction. Blood. 2013;121:2051–8.
- 5. Kyle RA, Therneau TM, Rajkumar SV, et al. Long-term follow-up of IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Blood. 2003;102:3759–64.
- 6. Hunter ZR, Xu L, Yang G, et al. The genomic landscape of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia is characterized by highly recurring MYD88 and WHIM-like CXCR4 mutations, and small somatic deletions associated with B-cell lymphomagenesis. Blood. 2014;123:1637–46.
- 7. Groves FD, Travis LB, Devesa SS, Ries LA, Fraumeni JF. Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: incidence patterns in the United States, 1988–1994. Cancer. 1998;82:1078–81.
- Herrinton LJ, Weiss NS. Incidence of Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 1993;82:3148–50.
- Kristinsson SY, Björkholm M, Goldin LR, McMaster ML, Turesson I, Landgren O. Risk of lymphoproliferative disorders among first-degree relatives of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/ Waldenström macroglobulinemia patients: a population-based study in Sweden. Blood. 2008;112:3052–6.
- Dimopoulos MA, Panayiotidis P, Moulopoulos LA, Sfikakis P, Dalakas M. Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: clinical features, complications, and management. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18:214–26.
- 11. Wang H, Chen Y, Li F, et al. Temporal and geographic variations of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia incidence: a large population-based study. Cancer. 2012;118:3793–800.
- Ailawadhi S, Kardosh A, Yang D, et al. Outcome disparities among ethnic subgroups of Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: a population-based study. Oncology. 2014;86:253–62.
- Iwanaga M, Chiang CJ, Soda M, et al. Incidence of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/ Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia in Japan and Taiwan population-based cancer registries, 1996–2003. Int J Cancer. 2014;134:174–80.
- 14. Carreon JD, Morton LM, Devesa SS, et al. Incidence of lymphoid neoplasms by subtype among six Asian ethnic groups in the United States, 1996–2004. Cancer Causes Control. 2008;19:1171–81.
- 15. The National Board of Health and Welfare. Statistikdatabas för Cancer, Antal nya cancerfall per 100 000, Kronisk lymfatisk leukemi, Riket, Ålder: 0–85+, Båda könen, 2014 [cited 2016 July 4]. Available from: http://www.socialstyrelsen.se/statistik/statistikdatabas/cancer.
- Fine JM, Lambin P, Massari M, Leroux P. Malignant evolution of asymptomatic monoclonal IgM after seven and fifteen years in two siblings of a patient with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Acta Med Scand. 1982;211:237–9.
- 17. Koshiol J, Gridley G, Engels EA, McMaster ML, Landgren O. Chronic immune stimulation and subsequent Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Arch Intern Med. 2008;168:1903–9.
- 18. Altieri A, Bermejo JL, Hemminki K. Familial aggregation of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma with non-Hodgkin lymphoma and other neoplasms. Leukemia. 2005;19:2342–3.
- Blattner WA, Garber JE, Mann DL, et al. Waldenström's macroglobulinemia and autoimmune disease in a family. Ann Intern Med. 1980;93:830–2.
- Fine JM, Muller JY, Rochu D, et al. Waldenström's macroglobulinemia in monozygotic twins. Acta Med Scand. 1986;220:369–73.
- Gétaz EP, Staples WG. Familial Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia: a case report. S Afr Med J. 1977;51:891–2.
- Linet MS, Humphrey RL, Mehl ES, et al. A case-control and family study of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Leukemia. 1993;7:1363–9.
- Ogmundsdóttir HM, Jóhannesson GM, Sveinsdóttir S, et al. Familial macroglobulinaemia: hyperactive B-cells but normal natural killer function. Scand J Immunol. 1994;40:195–200.
- 24. Seligmann M, Danon F, Mihaesco C, Fudenberg HH. Immunoglobulin abnormalities in families of patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Am J Med. 1967;43:66–83.
- 25. Taleb N, Tohme A, Abi Jirgiss D, Kattan J, Salloum E. Familial macroglobulinemia in a Lebanese family with two sisters presenting Waldenström's disease. Acta Oncol. 1991;30:703–5.
- Treon SP, Hunter ZR, Aggarwal A, et al. Characterization of familial Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Ann Oncol. 2006;17:488–94.
- 27. Youinou P, le Goff P, Saleun JP, et al. Familial occurrence of monoclonal gammapathies. Biomedicine. 1978;28:226–32.
- Jamroziak K, Balcerczak E, Smolewski P, et al. MDR1 (ABCB1) gene polymorphism C3435T is associated with P-glycoprotein activity in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Pharmacol Rep. 2006;58:720–8.
- Rudd MF, Sellick GS, Webb EL, Catovsky D, Houlston RS. Variants in the ATM-BRCA2-CHEK2 axis predispose to chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2006;108:638–44.
- Hohaus S, Massini G, D'Alo' F, et al. Association between glutathione S-transferase genotypes and Hodgkin's lymphoma risk and prognosis. Clin Cancer Res. 2003;9:3435–40.
- Purdue MP, Lan Q, Kricker A, et al. Polymorphisms in immune function genes and risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma: findings from the New South Wales non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Study. Carcinogenesis. 2007;28:704–12.
- 32. Shen M, Zheng T, Lan Q, et al. Polymorphisms in DNA repair genes and risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma among women in Connecticut. Hum Genet. 2006;119:659–68.
- 33. Skibola CF, Curry JD, Nieters A. Genetic susceptibility to lymphoma. Haematologica. 2007;92:960–9.
- 34. Giordano TP, Henderson L, Landgren O, et al. Risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma and lymphoproliferative precursor diseases in US veterans with hepatitis C virus. JAMA. 2007;297:2010–7.
- 35. Smedby KE, Hjalgrim H, Askling J, et al. Autoimmune and chronic inflammatory disorders and risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma by subtype. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2006;98:51–60.
- 36. Steingrímsson V, Lund SH, Turesson I, et al. Population-based study on the impact of the familial form of Waldenström macroglobulinemia on overall survival. Blood. 2015;125:2174–5.
- 37. McMaster ML. Familial Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:146-52.
- 38. Kyle RA, Therneau TM, Rajkumar SV, et al. Prevalence of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. N Engl J Med. 2006;354:1362–9.
- Schop RF, Kuehl WM, Van Wier SA, et al. Waldenström macroglobulinemia neoplastic cells lack immunoglobulin heavy chain locus translocations but have frequent 6q deletions. Blood. 2002;100:2996–3001.
- Landgren O, Kyle RA, Pfeiffer RM, et al. Monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) consistently precedes multiple myeloma: a prospective study. Blood. 2009;113:5412–7.
- 41. Aoki H, Takishita M, Kosaka M, Saito S. Frequent somatic mutations in D and/or JH segments of Ig gene in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia and chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) with Richter's syndrome but not in common CLL. Blood. 1995;85:1913–9.
- 42. Wagner SD, Martinelli V, Luzzatto L. Similar patterns of V kappa gene usage but different degrees of somatic mutation in hairy cell leukemia, prolymphocytic leukemia, Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia, and myeloma. Blood. 1994;83:3647–53.
- Royer RH, Koshiol J, Giambarresi TR, Vasquez LG, Pfeiffer RM, McMaster ML. Differential characteristics of Waldenström macroglobulinemia according to patterns of familial aggregation. Blood. 2010;115:4464–71.
- 44. Landgren O, Engels EA, Pfeiffer RM, et al. Autoimmunity and susceptibility to Hodgkin lymphoma: a population-based case-control study in Scandinavia. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2006;98:1321–30.
- 45. Ekström K, Hjalgrim H, Brandt L, et al. Risk of malignant lymphomas in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and in their first-degree relatives. Arthritis Rheum. 2003;48:963–70.

- 46. Landgren O, Kyle RA. Multiple myeloma, chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and associated precursor diseases. Br J Haematol. 2007;139:717–23.
- 47. Lindqvist EK, Goldin LR, Landgren O, et al. Personal and family history of immune-related conditions increase the risk of plasma cell disorders: a population-based study. Blood. 2011;118:6284–91.
- Vajdic CM, Landgren O, McMaster ML, et al. Medical history, lifestyle, family history, and occupational risk factors for lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: the Inter Lymph Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Subtypes Project. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. 2014;2014:87–97.
- Dimopoulos MA, Kastritis E, Owen RG, et al. Treatment recommendations for patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia (WM) and related disorders: IWWM-7 consensus. Blood. 2014;124:1404–11.
- 50. Treon SP. How I treat Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;114:2375-85.
- Morel P, Duhamel A, Gobbi P, et al. International prognostic scoring system for Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;113:4163–70.
- Facon T, Brouillard M, Duhamel A, et al. Prognostic factors in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: a report of 167 cases. J Clin Oncol. 1993;11:1553–8.
- 53. Morel P, Monconduit M, Jacomy D, et al. Prognostic factors in Waldenström macroglobulinemia: a report on 232 patients with the description of a new scoring system and its validation on 253 other patients. Blood. 2000;96(3):852–8.
- Merlini G, Baldini L, Broglia C, et al. Prognostic factors in symptomatic Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:211–5.
- 55. García-Sanz R, Montoto S, Torrequebrada A, et al. Waldenström macroglobulinaemia: presenting features and outcome in a series with 217 cases. Br J Haematol. 2001;115:575–82.
- 56. Dhodapkar MV, Jacobson JL, Gertz MA, Crowley JJ, Barlogie B. Prognostic factors and response to fludarabine therapy in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: an update of a US intergroup trial (SW0G S9003). Semin Oncol. 2003;30:220–5.
- 57. Gobbi PG, Bettini R, Montecucco C, et al. Study of prognosis in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: a proposal for a simple binary classification with clinical and investigational utility. Blood. 1994;83:2939–45.
- Björkholm M, Johansson E, Papamichael D, et al. Patterns of clinical presentation, treatment, and outcome in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a two-institution study. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:226–30.
- Kyle RA, Benson JT, Larson DR, et al. Progression in smoldering Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: long-term results. Blood. 2012;119:4462–6.
- 60. Kastritis E, Kyrtsonis MC, Hatjiharissi E, et al. No significant improvement in the outcome of patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia treated over the last 25 years. Am J Hematol. 2011;86:479–83.
- 61. Kristinsson SY, Eloranta S, Dickman PW, et al. Patterns of survival in lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/Waldenström macroglobulinemia: a population-based study of 1,555 patients diagnosed in Sweden from 1980 to 2005. Am J Hematol. 2013;88:60–5.
- 62. Kristinsson SY, Landgren O, Dickman PW, Derolf AR, Björkholm M. Patterns of survival in multiple myeloma: a population-based study of patients diagnosed in Sweden from 1973 to 2003. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:1993–9.
- 63. Kristinsson SY, Dickman PW, Wilson WH, Caporaso N, Björkholm M, Landgren O. Improved survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia in the past decade: a population-based study including 11,179 patients diagnosed between 1973-2003 in Sweden. Haematologica. 2009;94:1259–65.
- 64. Castillo JJ, Olszewski AJ, Kanan S, Meid K, Hunter ZR, Treon SP. Overall survival and competing risks of death in patients with Waldenström macroglobulinaemia: an analysis of the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results database. Br J Haematol. 2015;169:81–9.

- 65. Phekoo KJ, Jack RH, Davies E, Møller H, Schey SA, Committee STHS. The incidence and survival of Waldenström's Macroglobulinaemia in South East England. Leuk Res. 2008;32:55–9.
- 66. Castillo JJ, Olszewski AJ, Cronin AM, Hunter ZR, Treon SP. Survival trends in Waldenström macroglobulinemia: an analysis of the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results database. Blood. 2014;123:3999–4000.
- 67. Hanzis C, Ojha RP, Hunter Z, et al. Associated malignancies in patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia and their kin. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:88–92.
- Castillo JJ, Olszewski AJ, Hunter ZR, Kanan S, Meid K, Treon SP. Incidence of secondary malignancies among patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia: an analysis of the SEER database. Cancer. 2015;121:2230–6.
- Varettoni M, Tedeschi A, Arcaini L, et al. Risk of second cancers in Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Ann Oncol. 2012;23:411–5.
- 70. Ojha RP, Thertulien R. Second malignancies among Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia patients: small samples and sparse data. Ann Oncol. 2012;23:542–3.
- Castillo JJ, Olszewski AJ, Kanan S, Meid K, Hunter Z, Treon SP. Incidence and survival outcomes of secondary malignancies among survivors of Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2014;124:855.
- 72. Lin P, Mansoor A, Bueso-Ramos C, Hao S, Lai R, Medeiros LJ. Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma occurring in patients with lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Clinicopathologic features of 12 cases. Am J Clin Pathol. 2003;120:246–53.
- 73. Owen RG, Bynoe AG, Varghese A, de Tute RM, Rawstron AC. Heterogeneity of histological transformation events in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (WM) and related disorders. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:176–9.
- 74. Kristinsson SY, Goldin LR, Turesson I, Björkholm M, Landgren O. Familial aggregation of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/Waldenström macroglobulinemia with solid tumors and myeloid malignancies. Acta Haematol. 2012;127:173–7.
- 75. Kristinsson SY, Pfeiffer RM, Björkholm M, et al. Arterial and venous thrombosis in monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance and multiple myeloma: a population-based study. Blood. 2010;115:4991–8.
- 76. Hultcrantz M, Pfeiffer RM, Björkholm M, et al. Elevated risk of venous but not arterial thrombosis in Waldenström macroglobulinemia/lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. J Thromb Haemost. 2014;12:1816–21.
- Hakulinen T, Isomaki H, Knekt P. Rheumatoid arthritis and cancer studies based on linking nationwide registries in Finland. Am J Med. 1985;78:29–32.
- Mariette X, Cazals-Hatem D, Warszawki J, et al. Lymphomas in rheumatoid arthritis patients treated with methotrexate: a 3-year prospective study in France. Blood. 2002;99:3909–15.
- 79. Toussirot E, Wendling D. The use of TNF-alpha blocking agents in rheumatoid arthritis: an update. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2007;8:2089–107.

Genetic Predisposition to Waldenström Macroglobulinemia

10

Mary L. McMaster and Helga M. Ögmundsdóttir

10.1 Introduction

The presence of the product of a single clone of antibody-producing cells in the blood is termed paraproteinemia or monoclonal gammopathy. The identification of paraproteinemia is often an incidental finding and can involve immunoglobulins of all classes. Its prevalence increases with age and is estimated to be about 1 % by the age of 50 and about 3 % at 70 years [1]. Usually, no lymphoid infiltrate or clinical symptoms are associated with the electrophoretic findings, and this presentation is then referred to as monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS). Paraproteinemia may also reflect the presence of malignant clonal growth, typically either IgG/IgA-producing plasma cells in multiple myeloma or IgM-producing lymphoplasmacytic cells in Waldenström macroglobulinemia (WM). WM is a rare disease, but the precursor condition, IgM-MGUS, occurs with increasing prevalence above the age of 50 (See Chap. 11 for an in-depth discussion of IgM-MGUS). It is now recognized that these disorders form a continuum and that IgM-MGUS will progress to WM at an annual rate of about 1.5 % [2]; however, progression to malignancy cannot be predicted on an individual basis.

The recent identification of mutations in the *MYD88* gene in WM tumor cells is providing insights into WM tumor biology. Meanwhile, the host-related and

e-mail: Mary.McMaster@nih.hhs.gov

H.M. Ögmundsdóttir Faculty of Medicine, University of Iceland, Reykjavík, Iceland

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_10

M.L. McMaster (🖂)

Genetic Epidemiology Branch, Division of Cancer Epidemiology and Genetics, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 9609 Medical Center Drive, Room 6E516, MSC 9769, Bethesda, MD 20892-9769, USA

Commissioned Corps of the U.S. Public Health Service, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, DC, USA

environmental factors predisposing to WM development remain active areas of research. A number of putative risk factors have been evaluated and are discussed elsewhere in this volume. Mounting interest in a potential genetic component of WM susceptibility was sparked as familial clustering of IgM paraproteinemiasboth IgM-MGUS and WM-has been reported periodically over the last six decades. Observations from studies of these families provided the impetus for population-based epidemiological studies, which have provided further support for a hereditary component in the etiology of IgM-related monoclonal gammopathies. Over the past 15 years, an expanding array of technological tools has permitted more intensive genetic evaluation of familial clusters, and various approaches are being used to better characterize the phenotypic spectrum of WM. The ultimate goal is to establish genotype-phenotype correlations that will pave the way towards understanding the underlying pathogenetic mechanisms. Moreover, because monoclonal gammopathies are associated with advancing age, the study of the genetic mechanisms contributing to these disorders may lead to important insights into the aging immune system, which is highly relevant as older age groups continue to account for an increasing proportion of many populations.

10.2 Evidence Supporting Genetic Predisposition to WM

10.2.1 Familial Clustering of WM

Reports of familial clusters often provide the initial indication of a potential role for genetic factors in disease susceptibility. The familial occurrence of Waldenström macroglobulinemia was first reported by Massari [3], who published an example of WM occurring in two brothers more than 50 years ago. Familial clusters have subsequently been the subject of dedicated case reports [4–10] or embedded within larger family studies [8, 11–15]. Table 10.1 summarizes the most important studies of families published to date, some including extensive literature surveys. The inheritance pattern of WM within families is variable (Fig. 10.1). Many WM families include cases in multiple generations, thereby strengthening the argument for inherited factors rather than shared environment.

These studies generally predated the genomic era and therefore included only limited genetic analysis (reviewed in [31]). Some of these early studies were notable for extensive investigation of the characteristics of the IgM molecule in the WM and IgM-MGUS patients [6, 8, 10, 13]. In four of nine families where IgM was characterized, light chain typing was discordant among the cases [8, 13], including a family with two affected monozygotic twins [6]. Among the remaining five sets of familial WM cases, related patients differed in other characteristics of the IgM molecules, including light chain mobility, immunoglobulin allotyping, or idiotypic determinants [10, 13], suggesting that familial cases could not be explained by clonal B-cell expansion in response to some common exposure. In addition, HLA typing in a subset of WM families was also inconclusive, with only one family having a haplotype that co-segregated with disease [4].

| | | Numbe | er of LPDs c | securring in | 1 family | | | | | |
|------------------|----------|-------|--------------|------------------|-------------|---------------------------|------------------------|--------|-------------|-----------------|
| | | | | MGUS | | | Case Age and | Gender | | |
| | | | Other | IgM | Non- IgM | Relationships between all | | IgM | Symptomatic | Basis for WM |
| Author | Fam | ΜM | LPD | MGUS | MGUS | LPD cases ^a | LPD^{a} | MGUS | WM | diagnosis |
| Multiple-case WM | families | | | | | | | | | |
| Masari [3] | 1 | 7 | 0 | - | 0 | Brothers | 61 M, 61 M | 83 F | Yes, Yes | BMB, EP |
| Coste [11] | - | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | Brother-sister | 61 M, | | Yes, | BMB, |
| | | | | | | | 54 F | | nr | EP, anemia |
| Getaz [7] | 1 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | Father—son | 70 M, 47 M | | Yes, Yes | BMB, EP |
| Youinou [10] | MIN | 4 | 0 | 1 | 0 | Brothers | 61 M, | | nr | BMB, |
| | | | | | | | 62 M, 64 M, 68 M | | | EP |
| Blattner [4] | 1 | 4 | 0 | 1 ^b | 0 | Father-sons, | 77 M, | 52 M | No, | BMB, |
| | | | | | | daughter, grandson | 53 M, | | Yes, | EP |
| | | | | | | | 42 M, 57 F | | Yes, No | |
| Fine [5, 16] | 1 | | 0 | (2) ^c | 0 | Brother-brother, | 61 M, | 58 M, | Yes, | BMB, |
| | | | | | | sister | 65 M, 76 F | 61 F | Yes, Yes | EP |
| Fine [6] | - | 5 | 0 | 0 | 0 | Monozygotic twins | 75 M, | | No, | BMB, |
| | | | | | | | 75 M | | No | EP |
| Renier [8] | 1 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | Brothers | 76 M, | | Yes, | BMB, |
| | | | | | | | 75 M, | | No, | EP^d |
| | | | | | | | 72 M, 69 M | | Yes, Yes | |
| | | | | | | | | | | (continued) |

| Table 10.1 (contin | (pən | | | | | | | | | |
|----------------------------------|---------|---------|--------------------|--------------|-------------|--|---------------------------------|---------------|----------------------------|--|
| | | Numbe | er of LPDs o | occurring in | n family | | | | | |
| | | | | MGUS | | | Case Age and | l Gender | | |
| | | | Other | IgM | Non- IgM | Relationships between all | | IgM | Symptomatic | Basis for WM |
| Author | Fam | WM | LPD | MGUS | MGUS | LPD cases ^a | LPD^{a} | MGUS | WM | diagnosis |
| Jaccottet in [8] | - | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | Father-son | 74 M, 47 M | | Yes, Yes | BMB, EP |
| Du Pont de Romemont in [8] | - | 5 | 0 | 0 | 0 | Mother-daughter | 74 F, 52 F | | nr | u |
| Taleb [9] | 1 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 0 | Sisters | 64 F, 43 F | | Yes, Yes | BMB, EP |
| Deshpande [17] | 0047 | 7 | 1 MM; 1 HL° | 0 | 1 lgG | Aunt-miece, granddaughter | 72 F, 53 F, 65 M, nr F | | nr | Ŀ |
| McMaster [12] | в | 4 | 0 | - | 0 | Mother—daughter, granddaughter, grandson, grandson | 64 F, 51 F, 32 F, 57 M | 39 M | Yes, Yes, Yes, nr | BMB, EP; medical record review |
| McMaster [12] | υ | m | 1 NHL ^f | 2 | 0 | Brother—brother, sisters, son | 69 M, 69 F, mr F, 34 M | 59 M, 52 M | Yes, Yes, Yes | BMB, EP; medical record review |
| Single-case WM + | MGUS fe | unilies | | | | | | | | |
| Spengler [18] | IV | | 0 | 1 | 0 | Father—daughter | W 69 | 48 F | Yes | BMB, EP |
| Vannotti in [14] | ZA | - | 0 | 1 | 0 | Son-mother | 56 M | 82 F | nr | NR |

114

| nr BMB, EP | 4 nr BMB, EP | 4 nr BMB, EP | , nr BMB, 4, EP | Yes BMB, EP | Yes BMB, EP | 1 nr nr | F nr BMB or LNB, EP | F nr BMB or LNB, EP | nr nr | Yes nr | 1 Yes BMB, EP | 4 No BMB, EP | Yes BMB, EP | Yes BMB, |
|----------------|-----------------|-----------------|--------------------------------------|----------------|-------------|----------------|---------------------------|---------------------------|----------------|-----------------|-------------------|------------------------------------|----------------------|---------------|
| 70 F | 87 N | 70 N | 68 F 54 N 49 F | 71 F | 75 F | 42 N | >76 | >43 | 70 F | 50 F | 70 N | 65 N | | |
| 41 M | 57 M | 72 M | 65 F | 61 M | 53 M | 83 F | nr F | nr M | 73 M | 70 F | 65 M | 51 M , 57 F | 73 M, 46 F | 74 M, 62 F |
| Son-mother | Son-mother | Brother-brother | Sister —sister, son, daughter | Brother-sister | Son-mother | Mother-son | Sister—sister | Father—daughter | Brother-sister | Mother-daughter | Brother-brother | Brother —brother— sister | Uncle | Brother |
| 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 NT | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 NT ^g | 1 NT | 1 NT | 1 IgA |
| 1 | 1 | - | e | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | - | 1 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 |
| 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | | - | 1 | - | - | | | | 1 | 1 | - | - | - | - |
| PE | PO | LA | МО | Ru | Ho | 1 | А | В | 1 | 1 | Be | Ze | Br | Wij |
| Seligmann [14] | Seligmann [14] | Seligmann [14] | Seligmann [14] | Kalff [19] | Kalff [19] | Nardoni in [8] | Linet [20] | Linet [20] | Custodi [21] | Manschot [22] | Kalff [19] | Kalff [19] | Kalff [19] | Kalff [19] |

| Table 10.1 (contin | (pən | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------|---------|-------|--------------|-------------|------------------------------|---|-----------------------|-------------|-------------------|-----------------|
| | | Numbe | r of LPDs o | ccurring in | family | | | | | |
| | | | | MGUS | | | Case Age and | l Gender | | |
| | | | | | Non- | | | | | Basis for |
| Author | Fam | ММ | Other LPD | IgM MGUS | IgM MGUS | Relationships between all LPD cases ^a | LPD^{a} | IgM MGUS | Symptomatic WM | WM diagnosis |
| Kalff [19] | Vi | | 0 | 0 | 1 IgG | 2nd cousin —2nd cousin | 75 M , 85 F | | Yes | BMB, EP |
| Single-case WM + | LPD fam | ilies | | | | _ | | _ | | |
| Kalff [19] | Hn | | 1 CLL; | 1 | 1 IgG; | Complex, no male:male ^h | 80 M, | 35 F, | nr | EP |
| | | | 1 NHL | | $3 \mathrm{NT}^{\mathrm{s}}$ | | 67 F, | 55 F | | |
| | | | | | | | 62 M, 30 F | | | |
| | | | | | | | 78 F, 55 E | | | |
| | | | | | | | 49 M | | | |
| Fraumeni [23] | 1 | 1 | 4 NHL; | 0 | 0 | Complex, no male:male ⁱ | 70 M, | | Yes | BMB, |
| | | | 1 HL; | | | 1 | 75 M, | | | EP |
| | | | 1 ALL | | | | 54 M, | | | |
| | | | | | | | 50 M, | | | |
| | | | | | | | 68 F, | | | |
| | | | | | | | 23 M, 5 M | | | |
| :.4 | | | 1 1111 | | | | M C | | | |
| bjornsson [24] | _ | - | I NHL; | 7 | 0 | Sister—brothers and | /1 F, | 82 M, | Y es | BMB, |
| | | | 1 MM | | | niece | 72 M, 57 F | W 11 | | EP |
| Steingrimsdóttir | 1 | | 1 NHL; | 0 | 1 IgA; | Complex, no male:male ^k | F, | | nr | nr |
| [25] | | | 3MM | | 1 NT | | F, | | | |
| | | | | | | | M, | | | |
| | | | | | | | 'n, | | | |
| | | | | | | | F, F (ages nr) | | | |

116

|]] | σ | | 2 NHL; 2 MM; 1 HL | 0 | 2 lgG; 1 NT | Complex, no male:male' | F, M, F, M, M, | | ы | Ŀ |
|--------------|----------|--------|-------------------------|---|----------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|------------------------|---|----------------|
| ple-case IgM | MGUS fan | nilies | _ | | | | (| | _ | |
| ams [26] | L'Her | 0 | 0 | 5 | 0 | Brother-sister | | 48 M, 56 F | | n |
| [19] | Re | 0 | 0 | 5 | 0 | Brother-sister | | 46 M, 46 F | | BMB, EP; EP |
| dzki [27] | IIA | 0 | 0 | e | 0 | MZ twins— granddaughter | | 98 M, 98 M, 38 F | | EP |
| [28] | 1 | 0 | 0 | 5 | 0 | Mother-son | | nr F, nr M | | nr |
| n [29] | 1 | 0 | 0 | 5 | 0 | Sister-brother | | 68 F, 55 M | | BMB, EP |
| in [8] | 1 | 0 | 0 | m | 0 | Brother-sisters | | 72 M, 75 F, 70 F | | EP |
| chot [22] | 2 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 0 | Brother-brother | | 57 M, 65 M | | EP |
| | | | | | | | | | | (continued) |

| AuthorFamWMLPDAbbreviations:WM, WaldenströmDotherAbbreviations:WM, Waldenströmmacroglobulymphoproliferative disorder; M, male; F, female; JJymphoma; CLL,tyrped:, not applicable; >, greater than"WM cases are shown in bold type; complex relatiPidentified on follow-up of the family (A) by McM"This family was originally reported as having one"The mycloma and Hodgkin lymphoma cases were"The myclowing his NHL diagnosis, he was discove"The myclowing his NHL diagnosis, he was discove"The myclowing his NHL diagnosis, he was discove"The myclowing his NHL diagnosis, the was discove"The more range gand normal IgA and Ig"Thin this 3-generation family, the WM case had a sist"Multiple mycloma developed in a nicce and was re"In this 4-generation family, the WM case had a sister with"MM and one cousin with acute provisionally categorized as the was distored | ccurring in | family | | | | | |
|--|-------------------------------|---------------------------|---|-------------------------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------------------|------------------------------|
| Author Fam WM LPD Abbreviations: WM, Waldenström macroglobulymphoproliferative disorder; M, male; F, female; ilymphoproliferative disorder; M, male; F, female; ilymphoma; NHL, non-Hodgkin lymphoma; CLL, typed; —, not applicable; >, greater than ^a WM cases are shown in bold type; complex relation ^b Identified on follow-up of the family (A) by McM ^b This family was originally reported as having one 15 years later, respectively ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^c This family was originally reported as having one 15 years following his NHL diagnosis, he was discove ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^c The myeloma and Hodgkin lymphoma cases were ^f A son of a WM case was diagnosed at age 34 with years following his NHL diagnosis, he was discove ^f In Fin Fin Fin Fin Pamily Bc, member II.2 (70 year old male) is reference range, IgA level below the 95 % olerance ^f Th mys -generation family, the WM case had a sist with untyped monoclonal proteins. The sister with untyped monoclonal proteins. The sister with was releaded family, the WM case had a sister with MML and one cousin with acute negative with acute number and setter was a fullymphocytic leukemia | MGUS | • | | Case Age and | Gender | | |
| <i>Abbreviations</i> : WM, Waldenström macroglobu lymphoproliferative disorder; M, male; F, female; I lymphoma; NHL, non-Hodgkin lymphoma; CLL, typed; —, not applicable; >, greater than "WM cases are shown in bold type; complex relati ^b Identified on follow-up of the family (A) by MCM ^c This family was originally reported as having one 15 years later, respectively ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^e The myeloma and Hodgkin lymphoma cases were f'A son of a WM case was diagnosed at age 34 with years following his NHL diagnosis, he was discove ^g In Family Be, member IL2 (70 year old male) is reference range, IgA level below the 95 % tolerance member IV.4 (35 year old female) is definitively ci (55 year old female) is provisionally categorized as limit of the reference range and normal IgA and Ig ^h In this 3-generation family, the WM case had a sist with untyped monoclonal proteins. The sister with ⁱ In this 4-generation family, the WM case had one grandson with acute lymphocytic leukemia ^j Multiple myeloma developed in a niece and was re ^k In an extended family, the WM case had a sister with cousins with MM. and one cousin with acute mvelk | IgM MGUS | Non- IgM MGUS | Relationships between all LPD cases ^a | LPD ^a | IgM MGUS | Symptomatic WM | Basis for WM diagnosis |
| lymphoma; NHL, non-Hodgkin Jymphoma; CLL, typed: —, not applicable; >, greater than "WM cases are shown in bold type; complex relati ^a WM cases are shown in bold type; complex relati ^b Identified on follow-up of the family (A) by McM ^c This family was originally reported as having one ^c This family was originally reported as having one ^a Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^e The myelowing his NHL diagnosis, he was discove ^g In Family Be, member II.2 (70 year old male) is reference range, IgA level below the 95% tolerance member IV.4 (35 year old female) is definitively ci (55 year old female) is provisionally categorized as limit of the reference range and normal IgA and Ig ^h In this 3-generation family, the WM case had a sist with untyped monoclonal proteins. The sister with ⁱ In this 4-generation family, the WM case had one grandson with acute lymphocytic leukemia ⁱ Multiple myeloma developed in a nicce and was re ^k In an extended family, the WM case had a sister with cousins with MM, and one cousin with acute mvele | ulinemia;] nr, not repo | MGUS, 1 | nonoclonal gammopathy B, bone marrow biopsy; EP, | of undetermin electrophoresis | ed signifi ; MM, mu | cance; Fam, f ltiple myeloma; | amily; LPI HL, Hodgk |
| ^a WM cases are shown in bold type; complex relation ^b Identified on follow-up of the family (A) by McM ^c This family was originally reported as having one 15 years later, respectively ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 73 ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the blow the 95 % tolerance member IV.4 (35 year old female) is definitively ci (55 year old female) is provisionally categorized as limit of the reference range and normal IgA and Ig ^h In this 3-generation family, the WM case had a sist with untyped monoclonal proteins. The sister with ¹ In this 4-generation family, the WM case had one grandson with much eute lymphocytic leukemia ¹ Multiple myeloma developed in a niece and was re ^k In an extended family, the WM case had a sister w | , cnronic iy | mpnocyne | c leukemia; ALL, acute lym | pnocyuc leuker | ma; LNB, | iympn node Dio | opsy; N1, n |
| ^c This family was originally reported as having one 15 years later, respectively ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^e The myeloma and Hodgkin lymphoma cases were f A son of a WM case was diagnosed at age 34 with years following his NHL diagnosis, he was discove ^s In Family Be, member II.2 (70 year old male) is reference range, IgA level below the 95 % tolerance member IV.4 (35 year old female) is definitively ci (55 year old female) is provisionally categorized as limit of the reference range and normal IgA and Ig ^h In this 3-generation family, the WM case had one grandson with acute lymphocytic leukemia ^J Multiple myeloma developed in a niece and was re ^k In an extended family, the WM case had a sister with cousins with MM. and one consin with acute mvelo | ionships are Master et al. | e also nota [12] | ted regarding whether male- | to-male (male:r | nale) inher | itance was obser | rved |
| ^d Bone marrow biopsy was reported only for the 72 ^e The myeloma and Hodgkin lymphoma cases were ^f A son of a WM case was diagnosed at age 34 with years following his NHL diagnosis, he was discove ^g In Family Be, member II.2 (70 year old male) is reference range, IgA level below the 95 % tolerance member IV.4 (35 year old female) is definitively ci (55 year old female) is provisionally categorized as limit of the reference range and normal IgA and Ig ^h In this 3-generation family, the WM case had one grandson with acute lymphocytic leukemia ^J Multiple myeloma developed in a niece and was re kIn an extended family, the WM case had a sistre with cousins with MM. and one consin with acute mvele | e case of W | M and tw | o cases of IgM MGUS. The | two patients wi | th IgM M(| GUS progressed | to WM 7 a |
| ^e The myeloma and Hodgkin lymphoma cases were ^f A son of a WM case was diagnosed at age 34 with years following his NHL diagnosis, he was discove ^B In Family Be, member II.2 (70 year old male) is reference range, IgA level below the 95 % tolerance member IV.4 (35 year old female) is definitively c (55 year old female) is provisionally categorized as limit of the reference range and normal IgA and Ig ^h In this 3-generation family, the WM case had one grandson with acute lymphocytic leukemia ¹ Multiple myeloma developed in a niece and was re k ^{In} an extended family, the WM case had a sister with untyped monoclonal proteins. The sister with ¹ Multiple myeloma developed in a niece and was re k ^{In} an extended family, the WM case had a sister with cousins with MM. and one cousin with acute mvelo | 2 year old b | rother | | | | | |
| ⁻ A son of a WM case was diagnosed at age <i>54</i> with years following his NHL diagnosis, he was discove ^g In Family Be, member II.2 (70 year old male) is reference range, IgA level below the 95 % tolerance member IV.4 (35 year old female) is definitively ci (55 year old female) is provisionally categorized as limit of the reference range and normal IgA and Ig ^h In this 3-generation family, the WM case had a sist with untyped monoclonal proteins. The sister with ¹ In this 4-generation family, the WM case had one grandson with acute lymphocytic leukemia ¹ Multiple myeloma developed in a niece and was re ^k In an extended family, the WM case had a sister w | e both in the | e paternal | bloodline of the IgG MGUS | case, but not in | n the blood | lline of either W | M case |
| ^E In Family Be, member II.2 (70 year old male) is reference range, IgA level below the 95 % tolerance member IV.4 (35 year old female) is definitively c: (55 year old female) is provisionally categorized as limit of the reference range and normal IgA and Ig ^h In this 3-generation family, the WM case had a sist with untyped monoclonal proteins. The sister with ^{'I} In this 4-generation family, the WM case had one grandson with acute lymphocytic leukemia ['] Multiple myeloma developed in a niece and was re kIn an extended family, the WM case had a sister with cousins with MM. and one cousin with acute mvelo | r dirruse larg | ge B cell I e an IgM | ympnoma and was treated w MGUS at age 52. Both diagr | unout recurrenc toses appear ind | e auring 2 lependentl | I years or rollow y in the table | /-up. Eignie |
| reference range, IgA level below the 95 % tolerance member IV.4 (35 year old female) is definitively c: (55 year old female) is provisionally categorized as limit of the reference range and normal IgA and Ig ^h In this 3-generation family, the WM case had a sist with untyped monoclonal proteins. The sister with ^{'I} In this 4-generation family, the WM case had one grandson with acute lymphocytic leukemia ^{^k} In an extended family, the WM case had a sister w cousins with MM. and one cousin with acute mvelo | s provisiona | Ily catego | rized as IgM MGUS based o | on having an Ig | M level 60 | 00% of the uppe | er limit of t |
| ¹ In this 3-generation family, the WM case had an Ig ¹ In this 3-generation family, the WM case had a sist with untyped monoclonal proteins. The sister with ¹ In this 4-generation family, the WM case had one grandson with acute lymphocytic leukemia ¹ Multiple myeloma developed in a niece and was re ^k In an extended family, the WM case had a sister w | e limit for th | ie referenc as IgM M | e range, normal IgG level, an IGUS on the basis of a serum | d a monoclonal monoclonal n | protein tha | t was not typed. d as ΙσΜ while | In Family F member II |
| limit of the reference range and normal IgA and Ig ^h In this 3-generation family, the WM case had a sist with untyped monoclonal proteins. The sister with ^I In this 4-generation family, the WM case had one grandson with acute lymphocytic leukemia ^J Multiple myeloma developed in a niece and was re ^k In an extended family, the WM case had a sister w cousins with MM. and one cousin with acute mvelo | is IgM MGU | JS based o | in an untyped monoclonal pr | otein in the pres | ence of an | IgM level 230 9 | 6 of the upp |
| "In this 3-generation family, the WM case had a sist with untyped monoclonal proteins. The sister with ¹ In this 4-generation family, the WM case had one grandson with acute lymphocytic leukemia ¹ Multiple myeloma developed in a niece and was re ^k In an extended family, the WM case had a sister w cousins with MM. and one cousin with acute mvelo | gG levels | | | | | • | • |
| ¹ In this 4-generation family, the WM cases that one first the 4-generation family, the WM cases had one grandson with acute lymphocytic leukemia ¹ Multiple myeloma developed in a niece and was re ^k In an extended family, the WM case had a sister w cousins with MM. and one cousin with acute mvel | ster with IgC 16G MGU | MGUS (| or possibly myeloma) a granc a with an untyped monoclor | ldaughter with l al motein | gM MGUS | s, and a brother a | und a daught |
| grandson with acute lymphocytic leukemia ¹ Multiple myeloma developed in a niece and was re ^k In an extended family, the WM case had a sister w cousins with MM. and one cousin with acute myelo | le sister and | three bro | thers with NHL. The affecte | d sister had a s | on with He | odgkin lymphon | na and a gre |
| ¹ Multiple myeloma developed in a niece and was re ^k In an extended family, the WM case had a sister w cousins with MM. and one cousin with acute myelo | | : | | | | | |
| cousins with MM. and one cousin with acute myeld | reported by with IgA MC | Ögmunds GUS and a | dóttir et al. [30] father with untyped MGUS. | On the materns | ıl side wer | e two cousins wi | th NHL, thr |
| | logenous lei | ukemia (A | ML) | | | - | |
| In an extended Icelandic pedigree, the WM case hat (IgG and untyped), one paternal cousin with HL, a | ad a paterna and one pate | il aunt and ernal cous | cousin with MM, two patern in with AML | al cousins with | NHL, three | e paternal cousin | s with MGL |

4 -



Fig. 10.1 The diversity of Waldenström macroglobulinemia (WM) pedigrees. Panel (**a**) depicts one of the most common configurations, a family containing two affected individuals, in this case parent and offspring. All possible gender configurations, i.e., father to son or daughter and mother to son or daughter, have been observed. Panel (**b**) shows another common configuration consisting of affected siblings. Panel (**c**) depicts an autosomal dominant pattern of inheritance, with three generations of male-to-male transmission. Panel (**d**) illustrates a family that demonstrates



Fig. 10.1 (continued) incomplete penetrance. Panel (e) shows a pedigree configuration compatible with autosomal recessive transmission. Panel (f) demonstrates that a variety of lymphoproliferative disorders may be found in different combinations in some families. This family has been published previously [25]. Families C and E are remarkable for the large number of individuals affected with WM. However, often there is insufficient information about older generations to determine whether earlier family members may have been affected. *Abbreviations: NHL* non-Hodgkin lymphoma, *MM* multiple myeloma, *AML* acute myelogenous leukemia, *WM* Waldenström macroglobulinemia, *MGUS* monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance, *LPD* lymphoproliferative disorder

Although initial reports highlighted families defined by at least two cases of WM, investigators also recognized that WM might cluster with other B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders, including chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), other subtypes of non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL), and possibly multiple myeloma (MM), as well as with monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) [17, 23, 24, 30]. Ascertainment strategy has been a critical component of study design and results. For example, several studies reported families with plasma cell dyscrasias, and there was often not a clear distinction made between IgA/IgG and IgM disorders. Many studies were prompted by clinical findings and were often based in one hospital or center. Moreover, WM was not registered as a malignant disease in cancer registries until 1988 or later, and this has limited case-finding efforts through population-based registries. Thus, the Icelandic cancer-registry-based study was performed by first identifying all cases of multiple myeloma between 1954 and 1989 and then cross-referencing a specially collected database of monoclonal gammopathies based on all serum electrophoreses between 1976 and 1997. Therefore, this study was biased towards identifying families with IgG/IgA and IgM disorders occurring together, a combination that is otherwise rarely reported [25].

10.2.2 Population-Based Evidence for Inherited Predisposition to WM

Further support for both an inherited predisposition to WM and familial co-aggregation of WM/LPL with other B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders (LPD) has come from population-based data. To date, large epidemiologic studies have included both WM and lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma (LPL) as cases, both to increase power and to mitigate misclassification. Interlinked population registries in Sweden have been an invaluable tool to investigate WM/LPL familial aggregation using standardized incidence ratio [32] and case-control [33] methodology. Studies conducted using such registries tend to minimize recall bias and to increase generalizability of results, although they cannot completely eliminate the possibility of histopathological misclassification that is inherent in current LPD diagnostic methods. These studies show that first-degree relatives of WM/LPL patients have increased risk of developing B-cell malignancy, a pattern that is common to other lymphoproliferative disorders. As illustrated in Table 10.2, the data supporting co-aggregation are remarkably similar irrespective of the proband's diagnosis. In the largest such study of relatives of WM/LPL patients (6177 first-degree relatives of 2144 WM/LPL patients; 27,609 first-degree relatives of 8279 controls), Kristinsson [33] found that the highest risk—20-fold—was for a first-degree relative of a WM/LPL patient to develop WM/LPL (odds ratio [OR] = 20; 95 % confidence interval [CI] 4.1–98.4). The risk was significantly increased, though to a lesser extent, for other B-cell malignancies, including CLL (OR = 3.4; 95%CI 1.7-6.6) and NHL (OR = 3.0; 95%CI 2.0-4.4). Family members of WM/LPL patients were also at increased risk for MGUS, but immunoglobulin isotype data were unavailable. The increased risk applies to all first-degree relatives (parents,

| Table 10.2 Relative risk for lympho Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia or of | pproliferative and her lymphoprolif | plasma cell tumors among first-degre erative or plasma cell tumors or MGUS | ee relatives of patier S, compared with rel | ats with lymph atives of match | oplasmacytic ed controls ^a | lymphoma/ |
|--|--|--|--|-----------------------------------|--|--------------|
| | Non- Hodgkin | Lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/ | Chronic lymphocytic | Hodgkin | Multiple | |
| | lymphoma | Waldenström macroglobulinemia | leukemia | lymphoma | myeloma | MGUS |
| | OR | OR | OR | OR | OR | OR |
| Proband condition | (95 % CI) | (95 % CI) | (95 % CI) | (95 % CI) | (95 % CI) | (95 % CI) |
| Lymphoproliferative disorder | | | | | | |
| Non-Hodgkin lymphoma | 1.7 | - | 1.3 | 1.4 | 1.1 | |
| | (1.4–2.2) | | (0.9-1.9) | (1.0-2.0) | (0.8-1.5) | |
| Lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/ | 3.0 | 20.0 | 3.4 | 0.8 | 1.6 | 5.0 |
| Waldenström macroglobulinemia | (2.0-4.4) | (4.1–98.4) | (1.7–6.6) | (0.3-2.2) | (0.8-3.2) | (1.3 - 18.9) |
| Chronic lymphocytic leukemia | 1.9 | 4.0 | 8.5 | 1.5 | 1.2 | 1.4 |
| | (1.5–2.3) | (2.0-8.2) | (6.1–11.7) | (0.96–2.3) | (0.9-1.8) | (0.9 - 2.2) |
| Hodgkin lymphoma | 1.3 | | 2.1 | 3.1 | 1.0 | |
| | (0.9-1.8) | | (1.2–3.8) | (1.8–5.3) | (0.6-1.8) | |
| Plasma cell disorders | | | | | | |
| Multiple myeloma ^b | 1.1 | 1.4 | 1.1 | 0.9 | 2.1 | 2.1 |
| | (0.9 - 1.4) | (0.7–2.8) | (0.8–1.7) | (0.6-1.4) | (1.6-2.9) | (1.5 - 3.1) |
| MGUS | 1.1 | 2.0 | 2.0 | 1.3 | 2.9 | 2.8 |
| | (0.8 - 1.5) | (1.2–2.3) | (1.2–2.3) | (0.6-2.9) | (1.9-4.3) | (1.4-5.6) |
| <i>OR</i> odds ratio, <i>95 % CI 95 %</i> confident ^a Used with permission. Originally pub ^b A single study [35] subsequently repo | ce interval, <i>MGU</i> , lished in [34]. Ob orted a relationshi | S monoclonal gammopathy of undetern tained from the Haematologica Journal p between multiple myeloma in a prob | nined significance I website http://www and and risk of LPL/ | Anaematologics. AM in the off | t.org spring. See t | ext |

122

offspring, and siblings). There are suggestions that the risk may be modified by gender or age at diagnosis, but small numbers of cases may lead to imprecision in the estimates. Increased risks were not seen for Hodgkin lymphoma or multiple myeloma. A subsequent population-based study in two Swedish counties [36] confirmed a high prevalence of broadly defined familial WM. A more recent Swedish linkage study of 24,137 multiple myeloma patients found an increased risk of LPL/WM in offspring when a parent was diagnosed with multiple myeloma (standardized incidence ratio (SIR) = 3.47; n=8; 95% CI 1.82-6.61) [35]. Taken together, it appears that WM definitely co-aggregates with B-cell lymphoid disorders while co-aggregation of IgG/IgA and IgM disorders in the same family may occur. The relationship of multiple myeloma to familial WM remanis controversial.

Conventional case-control studies have provided some additional evidence supporting genetic susceptibility. An early hospital-based study of 65 cases of WM did not find increased risk among patients having a first-degree relative with hematolymphoproliferative malignancy, other cancer, or autoimmune disease but did document various immunologic abnormalities, including IgM-MGUS, in the families of those patients [20]. More recently, a large international study of 374 WM/LPL cases and 23,096 controls found a 64% increased risk for developing WM/LPL in individuals with a first-degree relative diagnosed with a hematologic malignancy [37]. Finally, WM patients in a large single-center series reported a high prevalence (18.7%) of either WM or another B-cell disorder in first-degree relatives [38]. These data are convincing for predominantly white, northern European populations, but similar studies have not yet been conducted in other demographic groups.

The data are less compelling for the co-segregation of WM and myeloid malignancies or solid tumors. Familial WM patients reported a proportional excess of myelopoietic cancers in their first- and second-degree relatives, compared to non-familial WM kindred [39]. The same study found no excess of solid tumors in WM families. A follow-up of the same clinically derived cohort used a populationbased family history registry to conduct an observed-to-expected analysis and found that familial WM patients differed from controls in their reporting of family history of some solid tumors [40]. Selection and reporting bias could not be ruled out, since these observations were based on family report rather than actual incidence data and were not independently verified. In contrast, an early registry study of WM/LPL patients found no increased risk for non-CLL leukemias in their relatives but did find an increased risk of gastric cancer in their parents [32]. Subsequent analyses in the Swedish population registries were unable to confirm either of these findings and instead reported a possible association with pancreas cancer [41]; the investigators concluded that they could not rule out a chance association based on multiple testing. Thus, the preponderance of evidence supports an association of WM with other B-cell malignancies but not myeloid leukemias or solid tumors.

Overall, there is a strong indication for the involvement of genetic mechanisms in the pathogenesis of WM. The diversity of reported inheritance patterns involving cases in one or more generations suggest that several different genes might be involved, and the co-aggregation of different B-cell disorders implies that causative genes may be operating at the level of lymphopoietic stem cells.

10.3 Phenotypic Correlations with Genetic Predisposition

Both population and family studies suggest that predisposition to WM may be associated with a broader clinical phenotype than simply development of WM alone. Characterizing the clinical phenotype may aid susceptibility-gene-discovery efforts by more precisely identifying at-risk individuals for inclusion in genetic studies. From a clinical standpoint, familiality may have implications for screening, diagnosis, surveillance, and outcomes. Ultimately, the goal is to establish genotypephenotype correlations to be able to address these issues. A classic paradigm is that of hereditary breast-ovarian cancer, in which the recognition that these two tumors clustered in families eventually led to the identification of BRCA1/2, which in turn led to: (1) a better understanding of the association of other cancer types (e.g., pancreas and prostate cancers) in some families but not others; (2) development of surveillance and prevention strategies for at-risk individuals; and (3) ongoing research to optimize treatment. At present, in the absence of a confirmed susceptibility gene(s) for WM, research efforts have focused primarily on family studies or cohorts of patients reporting a family history of WM. Until better treatments and/or prevention strategies are developed for WM, identification of genotype-phenotype correlations may have limited practical clinical utility. Notwithstanding, family studies provide an opportunity for the study of the natural history and pathophysiology of these disorders, which will also be of value for non-familial cases.

10.3.1 Descriptive Epidemiology of Familial WM

Descriptive studies of familial WM have included case studies of one or more specific family clusters [3] or studies of WM patients reporting a family history [38, 42]. In early studies of multiple-case WM family units, familial WM patients were noted to differ from non-familial WM in having a younger age at onset and stronger male predominance compared to expectations based on the medical literature for sporadic WM. Familial WM patients had similar presenting symptoms, signs, and laboratory findings as historical non-familial patients and were noted to have a frequent antecedent history of IgM monoclonal gammopathy. Laboratory studies revealed no distinguishing features of the IgM molecules isolated from familial patients. Limited cytogenetic studies found no chromosomal abnormalities that discriminated familial from sporadic cases [9, 10, 13, 43, 44].

More recent studies have focused on cohorts of patients who report a family history of WM or other B-cell LPD and have included non-familial WM cases as controls [38] and in some instances unaffected relatives [42]. These studies did not confirm younger age at diagnosis or skewed gender distribution for familial vs. - non-familial WM patients, although it should be noted that the median age at diagnosis in non-familial patients was substantially younger in both reports than expected in the general population [45] and may reflect ascertainment or access bias. In contrast, both studies confirmed no differences in presenting complaint, symptoms, signs, or routine laboratory results based on familial status, with the

exception that familial patients appeared to have higher IgM levels and a nonsignificant increase in tumor burden at referral. Cytogenetic analysis, including more sensitive FISH studies, of a subset of patients also confirmed no significant differences between groups.

Thus, while the question of age at onset remains unresolved, there appear to be no clinical features that reliably discriminate familial from non-familial WM at disease presentation. However, familial WM might be associated with a more indolent course, at least in its early stages, based on the observation that higher IgM levels at referral were not accompanied by more severe symptoms, signs, or other laboratory abnormalities. This conclusion has been challenged by more recent data from some of the same groups (see Section 10.3.6, below) and thus remains an active area of inquiry.

10.3.2 Autoimmunity and Familial WM

Multiple lines of evidence implicate a relationship between WM and autoimmunity (Table 10.3). Autoimmunity may be manifest either clinically, through diagnosis of a symptomatic autoimmune disorder, or sub-clinically, through demonstration of high titers of autoantibodies that have no-or minor-associated symptoms. While investigators reported instances of clinical autoimmune disease (e.g., rheumatoid arthritis) in family members, early family studies focused primarily on the latter phenomenon. A variety of autoantibodies were evaluated in a subset of multiplecase families and in families of sporadic WM. In nine reported multiple-case WM families that included assessment of first-degree relatives, 25 % of relatives were found to have at least one autoantibody [4, 8, 10, 13]. In two mixed WM/LPD families, 13% of tested first-degree relatives had at least one autoantibody [21, 23]. Finally, in one study including first-degree relatives of sporadic WM, 18 % of those tested had at least one autoantibody [14]. In contrast, in an Icelandic WM/LPL/MGUS family, a slightly raised autoantibody level was detected in only 1 of 25 family members tested [30]. A clinical diagnosis of autoimmune disease was rarely reported in early studies, although in only one study relevant medical history data were explicitly sought and validated [4]. More recently, Brandefors and colleagues reported validated autoimmune disease in relatives among 5 of 12 (42%)WM families [36]. These results raised the possibility that family members of WM patients might be predisposed to clinical and subclinical autoimmune phenomena. However, the lack of controls precluded definite conclusions. Moreover, the prevalence of many of these autoantibodies in the general population is unknown, though some (e.g., antithyroid antibodies and low-level rheumatoid factor levels) are known to be relatively common among apparently healthy subjects.

These family-based observations provided the impetus for a large populationbased study to evaluate family history of diagnosed autoimmune disease and risk of WM/LPL. In a case-control study of 2470 WM/LPL patients, 9698 controls and first-degree relatives of cases (n = 5710) and controls (n = 22,799), family history of Sjögren syndrome (OR = 5.0; 95%CI 2.1–12.0), autoimmune hemolytic anemia (OR = 3.8; 95%CI 1.1–13.2), and Guillain–Barré syndrome (OR 4.1; 95%CI

| m macroglobulinemi | |
|--------------------|--|
| Waldenströ | |
| | |
| amilia | |
| ÷ | |
| with | |
| iated | |
| / assoc | |
| mmunity | |
| Autoii | |
| 10.3 | |
| Ð | |
| Tabl | |

| Table 10.3 Auto | immunity as: | sociated v | vith tami | lial Walde | instrom ma | acroglobuli | nemia | | | |
|----------------------------------|--------------|------------|-----------|--------------|------------|-------------|---------------------------------|------------|--|--|
| | | | Unaffee | cted relativ | 'es | i | | - | | |
| | | | studied | | | Findings r | elated to autoimmunity in | relatives | | |
| | Families | ММ | | # 1st | | | | | | |
| | studied | cases | Total | degree | Age | Clinical | | Biological | Laboratory | Abnormal |
| Reference | n | u | u | u | range | u | Disease (n) | n | assays reported | assays (n) |
| Studies of aggreg | ated WM fan | ullies | | | | | | | | |
| Seligmann | 63 | 65 | 216 | 192 | 5-87 | | | 46 | ΑγG, ΑGA, ΑΝΔ ΑΤΑ ΓΑ | AγG |
| Linet [20] ^b | ~ | ~ | 45 | 45 | >9° | 5 | nr | | | |
| Studies of individ | ual WM fami | lies | | | | | - | | | |
| Fraumeni [23] | | | 6 | 2 | 42-64 | 3 | Raynaud (1), possible RA (2) | | | |
| Youinou [10] | | 4 | 35 | 8 | 1-65 | 0 | n.a. | 5 | ADA, RF | ADA (1); RF (4) |
| Blattner [4] | - | 4 | 16 | 13 | nr | 5 | Hashimoto thyroiditis (2) | ∞ | AMC, AMt, ANA, APA, ASM, ATG, ATM, RF | RF (3); ATG (2); ATM (3); AMC (2) |
| Renier [8] | 1 | 4 | 12 | 5 | 20-63 | | I | 2 | AMt, ANA, APA, ARA, ASM, ATG, ATM, RF | ANA (1); ATG (1) |
| Du Pont de Romemont in [8] | 1 | 2 | 5 | nr | nr | 0 | n.a. | 0 | nr | л |
| Ögmundsdóttir [30] | -1 | 1 | 34 | 1 | nr | | | 1 | ANA, RF | ANA (1) |
| Custodi [21] | 1 | 1 | 4 | 4 | 25-70 | | I | 1 | ATG, RF, cryo | ATG (1) |

| Brandefors | 12 | 19 | 59 | 45 | nr | 5 | RA (2), Sjögren's | 1 | | |
|---|---|--|---|---|---|--|---|--|--|---|
| et al. | | | | | | | syndrome (1), Hypothyroidism (1), PMR (1) | | | |
| Studies of multipl | e-case IgM M | AGUS far | nilies | | | | | | | |
| Petite [46] | 1 | 0 | 18 | 4 | 18-80 | 2 | Pernicious anemia (1), | 2 | ADA, A-IF, | ANA (1); |
| | | | | | | | RA (1) | | ANA, ANP, | ADA/ANP/ |
| | | | | | | | | | APA, ATG, RF | APA (1) |
| <i>Abbreviations</i> : W1 anti-gastric antibo factor; AMC, anti- anti-thyroglobulin antibodies; cryo, c ^a Includes two mu [15]. Although 21t ^b The study was ba 45 relatives (all fir | M, Waldenstr dies; ANA, an myocardial an myocardial an ryoglobulins; triple-case W 5 relatives we sed on the fau st-degree) fro | -m macr nti-nucle: ntibodies nyroid m 'M famil rre studie milies of m 8 fam | oglobulin ar antibod i; AMt, an icrosomal uation or ies report ies report is, immun 31 WM J | emia; mr, lies; ATA. ti-mitochc titi-mitochc titi-mitochc assay not ted by Ma loglobulin oglobulin patients. R | not report , anti-thyr ndrial ant nti-reticuli performec assari [3] levels we cesults wei ed here | ed; n.a., nol bid antibodi ibodies; AP n antibodie i; PMR, po and Coste re reported re reported | t applicable; RA, rheumatt ies; CA, cold agglutinin tit A, anti-parietal cell antibo s; cryo, cryoglobulins; A- lymyalgia rheumatica [11], respectively, and or only for the 192 first-degr as odds ratios for the agg | oid arthritis; / ers; ADA, an dies; ASM, ar lF, anti-intrin ne WM + M ve relatives regate study.] | vyG, anti-y-globulin i-DNA antibodies; R ti-smooth muscle ant sic factor; ANP, anti- sic fantily reporte- GUS family reporte- ndividual results we | F, rheumatoid F, rheumatoid ibodies; ATG, nucleoprotein 1 by Vannotti e reported for |

^cYear of birth was reported. For this table, age was estimated using date of birth and last date of study entry (December 31, 1983)

1.8–9.4) were each significantly associated with risk of WM/LPL [47]. Family history of systemic lupus erythematosus was also associated with increased risk for WM/LPL, at a borderline level of significance (OR = 3.9; 95%CI 1.0–15.6). Since this was a registry study, it did not include a laboratory screening arm for subclinical manifestations of autoimmunity.

Taken together, these findings suggest that an underlying immunoregulatory defect is present in WM families. Since immune dysfunction is a known predisposing factor for lymphoma, carefully designed studies will be required to determine whether the immune dysfunction itself predisposes to WM or whether there is a more general immunogenetic defect that may manifest as malignancy, autoimmunity, or both.

10.3.3 IgM Monoclonal Gammopathy of Undetermined Significance in Familial WM

One of the most interesting discoveries to arise from detailed evaluation of WM families is the relatively frequent occurrence of other immunoglobulin abnormalities in apparently unaffected relatives of WM patients. The most striking of these is IgM monoclonal gammopathy of uncertain significance (MGUS) (Table 10.4). The very first description of a WM family noted the occurrence of asymptomatic IgM monoclonal gammopathy in the healthy parent of two WM patients [3]. Subsequent family studies revealed that IgM-MGUS is a frequent finding in WM families [8, 10, 14, 36], although its prevalence remains undefined. In the initial report, the monoclonal gammopathy was transient. However, longterm follow-up studies have shown that relatives with IgM-MGUS may be at high risk for progression to WM, perhaps at a rate exceeding that of progression of IgM-MGUS to WM in the general population. Fine et al. reported a family in which two relatives with IgM monoclonal gammopathy progressed to WM in 7 and 15 years, respectively [5]. McMaster and colleagues [12] described three multiple-case WM families that presented with a total of eight WM cases. Of seven relatives found on screening to have IgM monoclonal gammopathy, three were subsequently diagnosed with WM, three others had progressive increases in their monoclonal IgM, and one had persistent, stable IgM monoclonal gammopathy, with a median follow-up of 17 years. In an Icelandic family, progression was observed in one case from MGUS to WM in 3 years and in another from MGUS to WM in 6 years and after further 4 years to LPL [25, 30]. Four of the five families in these reports were unusual in having more than two members affected with WM, so it is not yet clear whether the observed risk of progression applies to all WM families. IgM-MGUS has been recognized independently as a risk factor for subsequent development of WM and other B-cell LPD at a rate of 1.7 % per year [2]. These observations sparked further population-based studies and together these studies have established IgM-MGUS as a precursor condition for WM. Active areas of research include establishing the prevalence of IgM monoclonal gammopathy in WM families, defining the spectrum of outcomes, and estimating the risk of

| $ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | | | | Ilnoffa | otad | | Numb | her of rel | atives | found to l | have im | munogl | obulin a | bnorm | dities | | | | | | | | |
|---|------------------------------------|---------------------|-------------|----------|------------------|-----------------|-----------------|------------|--------|--------------------------|---------|-----------|----------|-------|-------------|-------------|---------|------|-----|-----|-------------|-------------|-----------------|
| | | | | relative | Se | | Mono | clonal c | nodmo | nent | Polycl | onal Ig i | increase | | | | Decreas | e Ig | | | | | |
| | | | | studied | - | | | | | | | | | | Multiple | -si | | | | | Multipl | e Ig | Ig abnl. |
| Reference n | | Families studied | WM cases | Total | # 1st degree | Age range | Any | IgM | Non- | MgI | Any | MgI | IgA | IgG | Incl IgM | Excl IgM | Any | MgI | IgA | IgG | Incl IgM | Excl IgM | other or NOS |
| Sufficiency of aggregated WM families Suffic of aggregated WM families 65 10 34 10 17 0 5 2 42 18 15 0 7 Suffig 101 12 12 12 28-1 55 11 3 8 18/s 4 46 37 11 9 5 2 14 2 6 0 3 Ruft [19]* 12 31 31 30 245' 57 2 0 4 6 0 6 1 4 0 Multifier 31 31 32 2 3 10 25 2 0 0 4 2 0 </th <th>Reference</th> <th>r.</th> <th>۲.</th> <th></th> <th>u</th> <th></th> <th>=</th> <th>=</th> <th>=</th> <th>Type</th> <th>u</th> <th>u.</th> <th>=</th> <th></th> <th>=</th> <th>_</th> <th>-</th> <th>5</th> <th>=</th> <th>-</th> <th>u</th> <th>=</th> <th>5</th> | Reference | r. | ۲. | | u | | = | = | = | Type | u | u. | = | | = | _ | - | 5 | = | - | u | = | 5 |
| Solition 63 64 192 5-87 6 0 34 10 17 0 5 22 18 15 0 7 (13, 14) ^T 12 12 22 210 11 3 8 1 gA; 46 37 11 9 5 14 2 6 0 3 Linet (20) 31 31 100 345 2 2 2 14 2 6 0 3 3 Linet (20) 31 31 100 245 2 2 0 9 5 0 4 2 6 0 | Studies of aggrey | ated WM fa | milies | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Kalf [9] ^b 12 12 282 72 >10 11 3 8 1 gA; 2 gGG 46 37 11 9 5 2 14 2 6 0 3 Linet [20] 31 10 >45 ⁴ >9 ^r 2 2 0 18 2 7 5 0 4 6 0 5 0 0 Remater 3 10 25 25 16-80 5 5 0 9 5 0 0 4 2 0 | Seligmann [13, 14] ^a | 63 | 65 | 216 | 192 | 5-87 | 9 | 9 | 0 | | 34 | 10 | 17 | 0 | s | 2 | 42 | 18 | 15 | 0 | 2 | 5 | ŝ |
| | Kalff [19] ^b | 12 | 12 | 282 | 72 | >10 | = | 6 | ~ | 1 IgA; 2 IgG; 5 NT | 46 | 37 | 11 | 6 | s | 2 | 14 | 5 | 9 | 0 | <i>w</i> | 6 | 2 ^c |
| McMaster 3 10 25 16-80 5 0 9 5 0 0 4 2 0 < | Linet [20] | 31 | 31 | 109 | >45 ^d | >9 ^e | 5 | 2 | 0 | | 18 | 2 | 7 | 5 | 0 | 4 | 9 | 0 | 5 | 0 | 0 | _ | 0 |
| Brandefors 12 19 59 45 nr 12 ^s 8 4 3 IgG: 1 FLC 4 2 2 0 0 6 1 1 4 0 <th< td=""><td>McMaster [12]^f</td><td>3</td><td>10</td><td>25</td><td>25</td><td>16-80</td><td>5</td><td>s</td><td>0</td><td></td><td>6</td><td>5</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>4</td><td>10</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>5</td><td>0</td></th<> | McMaster [12] ^f | 3 | 10 | 25 | 25 | 16-80 | 5 | s | 0 | | 6 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 4 | 10 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 5 | 0 |
| Statics of individual NM families Statics of individual NM families Spengler [18] 1 1 4 nr 1 1 0 0 0 | Brandefors et al. | 12 | 19 | 59 | 45 | Ŀ | 12 ⁸ | ~ | 4 | 3 IgG; 1 FLC | 4 | 2 | 7 | 0 | 0 | | 9 | _ | _ | 4 | 0 | 0 | |
| Spengler [18] 1 1 4 nr 1 1 0 0 <t< td=""><td>Studies of individ</td><td>lual WM fan</td><td>ulies</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td></td><td>ĺ</td><td>ĺ</td><td>ĺ</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<> | Studies of individ | lual WM fan | ulies | | | | | | 1 | | | | | | | 1 | | ĺ | ĺ | ĺ | | | |
| Williams [25]116mrnr0000 $$ | Spengler [18] | _ | _ | 4 | 4 | n | - | - | 0 | | 0 | 0 | | 1 | | | 0 | 0 | | | 1 | | |
| Fraumeni [23]1192 $42-64$ 00033000 | Williams [26] | _ | - | 9 | n | n | 0 | 0 | 0 | | | | 1 | 1 | 1 | | | | 1 | 1 | 1 | | |
| Zawadzki115530-98220 $$ | Fraumeni [23] | 1 | - | 6 | 2 | 42-64 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 3 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Youinou [10] 1 4 35 8 1-65 1 1 0 3 3 0 0 0 13 0 2 11 0 Fine [6] ^h 1 2 6 6 nr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 | Zawadzki [<mark>27</mark>] | | - | 5 | S | 30-98 | 2 | 7 | 0 | | | | | | | 1 | | | | | | I | I |
| $ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | Youinou [10] | 1 | 4 | 35 | 8 | 1-65 | _ | _ | 0 | | 3 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 13 | 0 | 12 | Ξ | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Renier [8] 1 4 [2 2 20-63 0 0 0 1 2 1 1 0 | Fine [6] ^h | - | 2 | 6 | 9 | n | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | | | 0 | 1 | | 0 | | | 0 | 1 | | 0 |
| | Renier [8] | 1 | 4 | 12 | 2 | 20-63 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 9 | | | 5 | 1 | | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Dupont de Romemont in [8] 1 2 2 nr nr nr 0 | Jaccottet in [8] | 1 | - | 4 | 7 | nr | | - | 0 | | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Taleb [9] 1 2 7 7 8-67 0 </td <td>Dupont de Romemont in [8]</td> <td>-</td> <td>7</td> <td>7</td> <td>п</td> <td>n</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td>0</td> | Dupont de Romemont in [8] | - | 7 | 7 | п | n | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Custodi [21] 1 1 4 4 25-70 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 | Taleb [9] | 1 | 2 | 2 | 7 | 8-67 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 4 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Nardoni in [8] 1 1 1 4 nr nr 3 1 2 2NT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 | Custodi [21] | - | - | 4 | 4 | 25-70 | _ | _ | 0 | | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | - | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 ⁱ |
| | Nardoni in [8] | 1 | 1 | 4 | nr | nr | ę | - | 5 | 2 NT | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

10 Genetic Predisposition to Waldenström Macroglobulinemia

| | | | Ilnoffa | otad | | Num | ber of | relativ | es found t | o have ii | ounuu | globulin | i abnori | nalities | | | | | | | | |
|--|---|--|---|--|--|---------------|--|---|--|---------------------------------------|---|--|--|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|---|--|
| | | | relative | SS | | Mon | oclona | l com | onent | Polyc | slonal Ig | g increa: | se | | | Ď | crease Ig | | | | | 1 |
| | | | studiec | | | | | - | | | | | | Multi | ple Ig | | | | | Mult | iple Ig | Ig abnl. |
| | Families studied | WM cases | Total | # 1st degree | Age range | Any | IgN | ź | MgI-nc | Any | IgM | IgA | IgG | Incl IgM | Excl IgM | - An | v IgN | I IgA | IgG | Incl IgM | Excl IgM | other or NOS |
| Reference | Ľ | - | 5 | u | | = | = | 2 | Type | = | a | = | = | = | a | = | - | = | = | = | c | c |
| Fine [16] | 1 | - | 27 | 7 | 1–67 | 15 | 7 | 0 | | 13 | 13 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Bjömsson [24] | - | - | 49 | 5 | л | 7 | 7 | 0 | | 12 | 6 | - | 0 | 0 | 7 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Studies of multip | le-case IgM | MGUS fe | milies | | | | | - | | | | - | | | | - | - | - | | | | |
| Williams [26] | - | 0 | 10 | 5 | 13-56 | 5 | 1 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Kalff [19] ^b | 2 | 0 | 16 | 11 | ≤72 | 7 | 7 | 0 | | 4 | ю | 0 | 0 | - | 0 | - | 0 | 0 | - | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Petite [46] | 1 | 0 | 18 | 4 | 18-80 | 3 | 2 | - | 1 IgG | 2 | | 0 | - | 0 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 ^k |
| 216 relatives two bThe study in WM ($n = 6$), gammopathy with possible ^c One case of ^d Relationship ^e Year of birth (December 3 ^f Includes the ^g IGM MGUS which may bi | were stud cluded 35. IgM mol wor MGU, wM. Res elevated I is were rep i was repo 1, 1983) family rep was inclu as the rest fereted for | The formula r is the formula | munog munog al gam 1). Res e also J gether v mly for only for only for only | final states of the second states of the second states and the second states of the second st | all families of the families o | al WJ | The second secon | ted c loclo occlo coclo | and control of the second seco | For the refore | 2 first by. The families of the familie | Autory, very, very | e rela e rela toimn toimn ring V ring V relate creas e was e was s had | trives trives vere c: vW, ir d IgM ed IgA ed IgA estim | $a_1 + a_2$ ategor fliseas(mono mono ated u ated u | (n = 1) ized i ized i $(n = 1)$ of $(n = 1)$ of $(n = 1)$ | A and the second | y report ng def bud "bu imopa f birth f birth | finite finite definition thy and la a | w WM (r w WM (r essent ite WN ite WN | (1 - 11), $(1 - 11)$, $(1 - 11)$, $(1 - 11)$, $(1 - 11)$, $(1 - 11)$, $(1 - 11)$, $(1 - 11)$, of IgM | possible possible familie familie dy entr- udy entr- udy entr- |
| ¹ Two membe ^j The two rela | rs of this f tives with | amily IgM N | had hig 1GUS ₁ | th IgE le | evels; n. sed to W | o oth /M 7 | er stu and | idy r 15 ye | eported ars late | IgE le [.] r [5] | vels ir | n parti | cipan | ts | | | | | | | | |

130

progression. In addition, the consequences of qualitative or small-volume IgM monoclonal gammopathy (defined as the presence of a monoclonal band on immunofixation that is not accompanied by a measurable M-spike on protein electrophoresis) have yet to be defined [48].

10.3.4 Other Immunoglobulin Abnormalities in WM Families

Relatives of WM patients may have other immunoglobulin abnormalities in addition to IgM monoclonal gammopathy (Table 10.4). In the largest published study, Seligmann et al. [14] screened 192 apparently healthy relatives of 65 WM patients. They found 27 instances (14%) of polyclonal increases of IgM (n = 10), IgA there (n = 17).or both. Similarly. were 33 occurrences (17%) of hypogammaglobulinemia affecting IgM or IgA. Abnormalities of IgG were not reported in this series. The polyclonal IgM gammopathy findings were corroborated by Kalff et al. [19], who studied 165 relatives of 11 WM patients and documented polyclonal IgM elevations in 22 (13%). Several studies of multiple-case WM or WM/LPD families have also confirmed abnormalities affecting IgM [8–10, 12, 23, 24, 30, 36], IgA [8, 10, 12, 36], and IgG [10, 12, 14, 36].

These observations are intriguing as they raise the possibility that the observed predisposition to WM may actually reflect a more generalized predisposition to immunodysregulation. Because the overall prevalence of subclinical immunoglobulin abnormalities in the general population is unknown, it is difficult to conclude that they are more frequent in the familial context. In one study of three multiplecase WM families, first-degree relatives were compared with non-bloodline family controls (i.e., spouses) [12]. In that study, polyclonal immunoglobulin elevations were more frequent in first-degree relatives of WM cases compared to controls, although the difference was not significant. There was no difference in the prevalence of immunoglobulin deficiencies in these families. Higher prevalence of polyclonal immunoglobulin elevations might reflect an underlying condition of polyclonal B cell activation, which would accord with the findings reported by Steingrimsdóttir [25]. All of these studies have been limited, however. None has controlled for confounding variables or has followed the relatives longitudinally to confirm that the immunoglobulin abnormalities are persistent over time or to document outcomes. It is known, for example, that immunoglobulin concentrations are influenced by age, race, and gender [49, 50]. Moreover, none has included medical evaluation of the relatives to rule out a concomitant diagnosis of a known immunodeficiency syndrome. Well-designed case-control studies are needed to determine whether relatives of WM cases are at increased risk of immunoglobulin abnormalities, and a clinical evaluation component would provide insight regarding potential underlying immunodeficiency diagnoses.

10.3.5 The Hyper-responder Phenotype

Blood levels of immunoglobulins and autoantibodies reflect B-cell function and activity in vivo. The first report of in vitro studies on lymphocytes from members of WM families was published by Fraumeni et al. in 1975 [23] and showed impaired responses to stimulation with phytohemagglutinin, a T-cell mitogen. This was not followed up further. Extensive in vitro testing of peripheral blood lymphocytes from unaffected relatives in Icelandic families led to the identification of the hyper-responder phenotype. This is defined as increased production of immunoglobulins, IgG and IgM, in poke-weed-mitogen-stimulated cultures. Seventeen hyper-responders have been identified in four families, 12 of them in one large family where 40 persons were tested [25, 30]. Lymphocytes from hyper-responders show enhanced survival in stimulated cultures and this is associated with increased levels of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 [51].

10.3.6 Presentation and Outcomes of Familial WM

As noted earlier, the indolent nature of WM has resulted in limited data pertaining to disease-specific characteristics of familial WM as well as outcomes. Historical survey of 40 years of accumulated individual family reports suggested that most features of the WM disease process in familial WM did not differ substantially from that expected based on review of the literature [31]. The exceptions were a marked difference in both age and gender distribution between WM patients from multiple-case families and historical registry-based controls. Familial WM patients were diagnosed nearly a decade younger than sporadic cases and were much more likely to be male. However, other disease characteristics, including presenting symptoms and signs, were consistent with expectations for sporadic WM.

Following up on these case report observations, Treon and colleagues [38] reported a hospital-based series of 48 patients who had a family history of either WM (n = 13) or a related B cell LPD (n = 35) and a comparison group of 205 non-familial patients. Familial patients were more likely than the non-familial group to present with a high IgM level (above 3000 mg/dL). Otherwise, there was no difference in age at diagnosis, gender, presenting complaint, extent of bone marrow involvement at diagnosis, lymphadenopathy, splenomegaly, concomitant IgA and IgG hypogammaglobulinemia, anemia, thrombocytopenia, or beta-2microglobulin. Similarly, Royer [42] examined several disease-related variables in a large family-based case-control analysis of 131 WM patients (57 cases with a family history of WM, 46 cases with a family history of other B cell LPD, and 28 nonfamilial cases) and 272 unaffected relatives. That study confirmed no significant differences in disease features at presentation based on family history, including age at diagnosis, gender, prior history of MGUS, onset or spectrum of symptoms, anemia, thrombocytopenia, lymphadenopathy, or splenomegaly. In addition, time from diagnosis to first treatment did not differ between groups, and there were insufficient events to permit meaningful survival analysis.

Treon et al. [52] also studied 135 patients (36 cases with a family history of WM or B cell LPD and 99 nonfamilial cases) who had been treated with rituximabcontaining regimen. Prior treatment history was not reported, and there was no difference between groups with respect to age at diagnosis, serum IgM level, hemoglobin, platelet count, prognostic score, or beta-2-microglobulin level. Familial patients had shorter time to progression and time to next therapy than nonfamilial patients, with too few events to assess survival. There was a suggestion that among familial patients, those treated with bortezomib may have had a better outcome than those receiving a regimen without a proteasome inhibitor. Although the subset analysis was limited by small numbers and relatively shorter follow-up, this observation may have important clinical implications and it deserves additional study.

Steingrímsson [53] recently performed a population-based study to address the impact of familial disease on survival. The investigators identified 2185 WM/LPL patients diagnosed between 1958 and 2007 and their 6460 first-degree relatives in Sweden. Overall survival in WM/LPL patients having a first-degree relative with any lymphoproliferative disease (WM/LPL, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, other non-Hodgkin lymphoma, Hodgkin lymphoma, multiple myeloma, or MGUS) was significantly inferior to patients without a family history (hazard ratio [HR] = 1.34; 95%CI 1.03–1.75). This finding could not be explained by differences in age or calendar period of diagnosis between groups; however, detailed clinical data (e.g., bone marrow results or treatment) were not available. Based on these findings, family history information should be routinely collected from all patients on clinical trials so that confirmatory analyses can be performed.

10.4 Genetic Studies in Familial Waldenström Macroglobulinemia

Recognition of WM familial clustering at the population level provided the foundation for studies directed at unraveling the genetic basis for WM. These efforts have proved challenging. Early reports suggested that the most common pedigree configuration consisted of two affected siblings, a pattern most consistent with autosomal recessive inheritance. As the National Cancer Institute WM family registry accumulated increasing numbers of families, it became apparent that multiple pedigree configurations exist (Fig. 10.1). A potential explanation for single-generation clusters is that affected individuals in earlier generations may have been undiagnosed or misclassified. In any case, the early evidence indicated that any susceptibility gene(s) will have low penetrance and possibly pleiotropic effects.

10.4.1 Cytogenetics in Familial WM

Unlike some hematologic malignancies, WM lacks a defining cytogenetic abnormality. The most common finding is the del6q21, which can be identified in the tumor cells of about half of WM cases by sensitive techniques such as fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) [54]. Subsequent studies have not discovered any evidence suggesting that this abnormality occurs in the germline as a predisposing genetic event. Early cytogenetic studies in family clusters were incomplete and inconclusive [9, 10, 43]. In a prospective study using conventional Giemsa banding, spectral karyotyping, and comparative genomic hybridization assays of bone marrow and peripheral blood from 21 familial WM patients (7 treated; 11 untreated) and 3 IgM-MGUS patients, McMaster et al. [44] found a small number of recurrent deletion events affecting chromosome 7 in both treated and untreated patients. However, only one abnormality was found in both tumor and peripheral blood mononuclear cells, and no abnormalities were seen in bone marrow cells from IgM-MGUS patients. In addition, no abnormality was shared between WM patients from the same family (11 patients from five families). Another prospective study of bone marrow cytogenetics in 22 familial WM patients found del6g21 by FISH in tumor cells in a high proportion of both familial and non familial patients but did not assess the germline [38]. Thus, to date, cytogenetic studies have not identified any regions that may contain WM predisposition genes.

10.4.2 Linkage Analysis in High-Risk WM Families

Genome-wide linkage analysis is an established tool for identifying chromosomal regions that may harbor susceptibility genes that co-segregate with disease in informative families. A genome-wide linkage screen was conducted in 11 well-characterized, informative high-risk WM families using densely spaced microsatellite markers to localize susceptibility genes [55]. The investigators conducted parallel analyses that either included or excluded IgM-MGUS as a phenotype indicating affected status. This study had two key findings. First, evidence for linkage to four chromosomal regions argued strongly for potential genetic heterogeneity. Second, IgM-MGUS was clearly shown for the first time to be part of the familial WM spectrum, since including patients with IgM-MGUS strengthened the evidence for linkage.

10.4.3 Candidate Gene Association Studies

Another strategy to identify susceptibility genes is to use a candidate gene approach. Liang [56] genotyped single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in a panel of 152 candidate genes based on published and unpublished data from case-control genome-wide association studies (GWAS) of NHL. Candidates included genes implicated in apoptosis/cell cycle regulation, DNA repair, immune response, T-helper cell type 1/2 subsets, tumor necrosis factor/nuclear factor kappa B pathways, and oxidative stress. Twenty SNPs in five genes (*BCL6, 1L10, 1L6, 1L8RA*, and *TNFSF10*) were significantly associated with WM following correction for multiple comparisons. Of these, two genes were also significantly associated

with CLL (*IL10* and *TNFSF10*), strengthening the hypothesis that CLL and WM are closely biologically related. Moreover, the results provide additional evidence supporting the notion that WM is characterized by genetic heterogeneity.

10.4.4 Other Genetic Markers of WM Risk

Early studies of individual families had limited genetic analysis tools. Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA) typing was undertaken in a small number of families. HLA A9 was expressed in two families [4, 10], but no haplotype was shared among families [31]. The A9-B8-DRw3 haplotype co-segregated with both WM and autoimmune thyroid disease in one family [4]. This observation is interesting in retrospect, as this haplotype has since been more extensively characterized and identified as the HLA 8.1 ancestral haplotype (AH), which is carried by 10% of Northern Europeans and also includes the TNF locus [57]. The AH 8.1 is associated with many autoimmune diseases, including some that are also risk factors for WM, for example, Sjögren syndrome and systemic lupus erythematosus [37]. Moreover, the AH 8.1 locus has been shown to interact with a variety of non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) risk factors, including family history, to modulate NHL risk [58]. In addition, the TNF G308A variant allele has been associated with diffuse large B cell lymphoma and marginal zone lymphoma [59]. Systematic evaluation of more WM families will determine whether the co-occurrence of the AH 8.1 with WM and autoimmune disease is a true and recurrent association.

An intriguing recent line of research has focused on the targets of paraproteins, termed "paratargs" by the investigators, as a risk factor for development of IgM-MGUS and WM. In an international study, the paraproteins from 11.2% of patients with either IgM-MGUS or WM were shown to react specifically with hyperphosphorylated paratarg-y (pP-7) [60]. Chronic antigenic stimulation by lifelong exposure to a hyperphosphorylated target protein is the proposed mechanism. Constitutive hyperphosphorylation of these proteins appears to be inherited as an autosomal dominant trait in some families, raising the possibility that an inherited aberrant autoantigen might account for familial clustering of WM. WM patients whose paraprotein targets pP-7 have been shown to have apparently healthy relatives who carry pP-7 in an autosomal dominant fashion. Co-segregation of WM and pP-7 carrier state has not yet been demonstrated as a recurrent event in multiple-case WM families; such a finding would augment the evidence supporting a true association. Further research in this area is ongoing.

10.4.5 Genetic Polymorphisms: HAS1

Research on the role of stroma and extracellular matrix in MM led to the discovery of the gene coding for hyaluronsynthase 1, *HAS1*, as a potentially important gene in B-cell-derived malignancies, showing associations with both somatic and germ-line mutations [61, 62]. Interestingly, the effects are not related to the role of *HAS1* in

synthesis of extracellular matrix. The identified genetic variants in introns lead to alternative splicing yielding proteins with intracellular effects. Transfection with these *HAS1* variants induces a malignant phenotype, and the variants show different intracellular distribution and interaction with the cytoskeleton [63]. The potential role of *HAS1* splice variants in the pathogenesis of WM is discussed in detail in Chap. 3 by Pilarski et al. In a recent study, it was shown that single nucleotide polymorphisms in *HAS1* intron3 that are associated with B-cell-derived malignancies have significantly increased frequency in affected members of an Icelandic family [64]. Remarkably, affected members were identified not only as those with clonal B-cell expansion (MGUS, WM, or MM) but also included those with the hyper-responder phenotype.

10.4.6 Next-Generation Technologies: Ongoing Studies and Future Directions

Next-generation sequencing technology has rapidly expanded, and hopes are high that it will help to elucidate the genetic determinants of WM susceptibility. Whole genome sequencing of tumor tissue led to the discovery that MYD88 mutation is a key somatic event in WM tumorigenesis [65]. Targeted sequencing has shown that the *MYD88* L265P mutation is not present in the germline of familial WM patients, effectively eliminating it as a WM susceptibility gene [66]. Whole exome and whole genome sequencing are also expected to be effective as part of a strategy to discover whether rare, high-penetrance germline mutations contribute to WM susceptibility. Such mutations have been convincingly demonstrated in Mendelian disorders. However, whether disease-related mutations can be identified and validated in complex diseases such as WM, even within large, multi-generational families, remains to be seen. Preliminary data suggest that there are significant challenges in the conduct and interpretation of large sequencing studies in cancerprone families generally [67] and that genetic heterogeneity may be extensive in WM/LPL [68]. A recent study identifying potentially deleterious rare variants in two genes that co-segregated in the affected members of a single family and appeared to be enriched in familial versus non-familial WM cases demonstrates the power and the challenges of this approach [69]. It is likely that genomic sequencing will be best utilized by incorporating it into multi-disciplinary studies using multiple technological approaches such as epigenetic and expression studies and RNA sequencing in addition to the strategies already discussed here.

Unlike other B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders, there has not yet been a genome-wide association study (GWAS) performed in WM to assess the role of common genetic polymorphisms in WM susceptibility. This is understandable given that WM is rare and therefore it is very difficult to assemble an adequately powered sample of WM cases for study. Nonetheless, over time it is likely that such a sample will be accumulated, and it will be interesting to discover whether GWAS findings are similar to those in other B-cell malignancies. Results from GWAS may

also address known biologically-plausible candidate genes, potential differences between familial and sporadic WM cases, and other relevant subgroup issues.

10.5 Conclusion

The precise contribution of genetic predisposition to the development of Waldenström macroglobulinemia remains undefined. The bulk of the available evidence, including familial clustering, population data, associated findings in relatives of patients with WM, and some genetic data, supports the hypothesis that genetic factors are important determinants in the development of WM. Whether such factors are directly responsible for WM or are operating through intermediary conditions such as immunodeficiency is less clear. Both clinical and genetic studies suggest that there may be extensive genetic heterogeneity in this disease. If true, this may have profound implications for the power of gene-discovery efforts directed at detecting highly-penetrant rare gene variants. Alternatively, WM susceptibility may be mediated by common variants in multiple genes, variants in regulatory regions, or through gene-environment interactions.

Family studies provide the opportunity for long-term observation of the natural history of disease progression and may thus contribute to identifying additional risk factors, refining the clinical phenotype, and guiding gene-discovery and other efforts aimed at unraveling the molecular determinants of WM. The example of family studies of breast cancer leading to the discovery of the BRCA1/2 genes has demonstrated the power of this approach with clinical consequences for these families. Even more importantly, it has become apparent that these genes are also involved in the pathogenesis of sporadic cases of breast cancer, thus having wider implications for therapeutic development. In WM the acquired L265P activating mutation in the MYD88 gene, found in a very high proportion of patients regardless of family history, is clearly a major determining event providing selective advantage. However, as yet no data support the L265P mutation as a likely germline mutation candidate in families with a predisposition for developing IgM-MGUS and WM as adults. The MYD88 gene and its pathway remain of interest in this context, however, as it is widely expressed in a variety of tissues, mediating the initiation of inflammatory responses and innate immunity. Moreover, deficiency of MYD88 is involved in inherited primary immunodeficiency disorders. Meanwhile, mutations in other rare, high-penetrance genes and more common, low-penetrance genes may be identified and will require careful study to delineate their role in WM susceptibility.

Finally, family studies were pivotal in the recognition of IgM-MGUS as a precursor condition for WM and may ultimately provide insights into determinants of disease progression. Further, in the research context, screening of high-risk family members for IgM-MGUS may identify a cohort that may benefit from future prevention strategies. Additional work in WM families may therefore hold the key to answering two remaining important questions: (1) identifying the link between age-related changes in the immune system and monoclonal gammopathies, and

(2) understanding what determines risk of malignant progression, there by paving the way towards prevention studies.

References

- 1. Kyle RA. Monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Blood Rev. 1994;8:135-41.
- Kyle RA, Therneau TM, Rajkumar SV, Remstein ED, Offord JR, Larson DR, Plevak MF, Melton III LJ. Long-term follow-up of IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Blood. 2003;102(10):3759–64.
- 3. Massari R, Fine JM, Metais R. Waldenström's macroglobulinæmia observed in two brothers. Nature. 1962;196:176–8.
- Blattner WA, Garber JE, Mann DL, McKeen EA, Henson R, McGuire DB, Fisher WB, Bauman AW, Goldin LR, Fraumeni Jr JF. Waldenström's macroglobulinemia and autoimmune disease in a family. Ann Intern Med. 1980;93:830–2.
- Fine JM, Lambin P, Massari M, Leroux P. Malignant evolution of asymptomatic monoclonal IgM after seven and fifteen years in two siblings of a patient with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Acta Med Scand. 1982;211:237–9.
- Fine JM, Muller JY, Rochu D, Marneux M, Gorin NC, Fine A, Lambin P. Waldenström's macroglobulinemia in monozygotic twins. Acta Med Scand. 1986;220(4):369–73.
- 7. Gétaz EP, Staples WG. Familial Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia: a case report. S Afr Med J. 1977;51:891–2.
- 8. Renier G, Ifrah N, Chevailler A, Saint-Andre JP, Boasson M, Hurez D. Four brothers with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Cancer. 1989;64(7):1554–9.
- Taleb N, Tohme A, Abi JD, Kattan J, Salloum E. Familial macroglobulinemia in a Lebanese family with two sisters presenting Waldenström's disease. Acta Oncol. 1991;30(6):703–5.
- 10. Youinou P, Le Goff P, Saleun JP, Rivat L, Morin JF, Fauchier C, le Menn G. Familial occurrence of monoclonal gammapathies. Biomedicine. 1978;28(4):226–32.
- 11. Coste F, Massais P, Menkes C. Un cas de macroglobulinemia. Rev Rhumat. 1964;31:37-9.
- McMaster ML, Csako G, Giambarresi TR, Vasquez L, Berg M, Saddlemire S, Hulley B, Tucker MA. Long-term evaluation of three multiple-case Waldenström macroglobulinemia families. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(17):5063–9.
- Seligmann M. A genetic predisposition to Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia. Acta Med Scand. 1966;179(S445):140–6.
- Seligmann M, Danon F, Mihaesco C, Fudenberg HH. Immunoglobulin abnormalities in families of patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Am J Med. 1967;43(1):66–83.
- Vannotti A. Etude clinique dun cas de macroglobulinemia de Waldenstrom a caractere familial, associe a des trouble endocriniens. Schweiz Med Wochenschr. 1963;93:1744–6.
- 16. Fine JM, Massari R, Boffa GA, Lambin P. Macroglobulinémie à caractère familial présente chez trois sujets d'une même fratrie. Transfusion (Paris). 1966;9(4):333–41.
- Deshpande HA, Hu XP, Marino P, Jan NA, Wiernik PH. Anticipation in familial plasma cell dyscrasias. Br J Haematol. 1998;103(3):696–703.
- Spengler GA, Butler R, Fischer CH, Ryssel HJ, Schmid E, Siebner H. On the question of familial occurrence of paraproteinemia. Helv Med Acta. 1966;3:208–19.
- Kalff MW, Hijmans W. Immunoglobulin analysis in families of macroglobulinaemia patients. Clin Exp Immunol. 1969;5(5):479–98.
- Linet MS, Humphrey RL, Mehl ES, Brown LM, Pottern LM, Bias WB, McCaffrey L. A casecontrol and family study of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Leukemia. 1993;7(9):1363–9.
- Custodi P, Cerutti A, Cassani P, Perazzi C, Ravanini P, Fortina G. Familial occurrence of IgMk gammopathy: no role of HCV infection. Haematology. 1995;80:484–5.

- 22. Manschot SM, Notermans NC, van den Berg LH, Verschuuren JJGM, Lokhorst HM. Three families with polyneuropathy associated with monoclonal gammopathy. Arch Neurol. 2000;57 (5):740–2.
- Fraumeni JF, Wertelecki W, Blattner WA, Jensen RD, Leventhal BG. Varied manifestations of a familial lymphoproliferative disorder. Am J Med. 1975;59(1):145–51.
- 24. Bjőrnsson OG, Arnason A, Gudmunosson S, Jensson O, Olafsson S, Valimarsson H. Macroglobulinaemia in an Icelandic family. Acta Med Scand. 1978;203(4):283–8.
- Steingrimsdóttir H, Einarsdóttir HK, Haraldsdóttir V, Ogmundsdóttir HM. Familial monoclonal gammopathy: hyper-responsive B cells in unaffected family members. Eur J Haematol. 2011;86(5):396–404.
- Williams Jr RC, Erickson JL, Polesky HF, Swaim WR. Studies of monoclonal immunoglobulins (M-components) in various kindreds. Ann Intern Med. 1967;67(2):309–27.
- Zawadzki ZA, Yoshiharu A, Kraj MA, Haradin AR, Fisher B. Familial immunopathies: report of nine families and survey of literature. Cancer. 1977;40:2094–101.
- Busis NA, Halperin JJ, Stefansson K, Kwiatkowski DJ, Sagar SM, Schiff SR, Logigian EL. Peripheral neuropathy, high serum IgM, and paraproteinemia in mother and son. Neurology. 1985;35:679–83.
- 29. Jensen TS, Schroder HD, Jonsson V, Ernerudh J, Stigsby B, Kamieniecka Z, Hippe E, Trojaborg W. IgM monoclonal gammopathy and neuropathy in two siblings. J Neurol Neurosurg Psych. 1988;51(10):1308–15.
- Ögmundsdóttir HM, Jóhannesson GM, Sveinsdóttir S, Einarsdóttir S, Hegeman A, Jensson O. Familial macroglobulinaemia: hyperactive B-cells but normal natural killer function. Scand J Immunol. 1994;40(2):195–200.
- McMaster ML. Familial Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30 (2):146–52.
- 32. Altieri A, Bermejo JL, Hemminki K. Familial aggregation of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma with non-Hodgkin lymphoma and other neoplasms. Leukemia. 2005;19(12):2342–3.
- 33. Kristinsson SY, Björkholm M, Goldin LR, McMaster ML, Turesson I, Landgren O. Risk of lymphoproliferative disorders among first-degree relatives of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/ Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia patients: a population-based study in Sweden. Blood. 2008;112(8):3052–6.
- 34. Kristinsson SY, Goldin LR, Björkholm M, Koshiol J, Turesson I, Landgren O. Genetic and immune-related factors in the pathogenesis of lymphoproliferative and plasma cell malignancies. Haematologica. 2009;94:1581–9.
- 35. Frank C, Fallah M, Chen T, Mai EK, Sundquist J, Försti A, Hemminki K. Search for familial clustering of multiple myeloma with any cancer. Leukemia. 2016;30:627–32.
- 36. Brandfors L, Kimby E, Lundqvist K, Melin B, Lindh J. Familial Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and relation to immune defects, autoimmune diseases, and haematological malignancies - a population-based study from northern Sweden. Acta Oncol. 2016;55(1):91–8.
- 37. Vajdic CM, Landgren O, McMaster ML, Slager SL, Brooks-Wilson A, Smith A, Staines A, Dogan A, Ansell SM, Sampson JN, Morton LM, Linet MS. Medical history, lifestyle, family history, and occupational risk factors for lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: the InterLymph Non-Hodgkin lymphoma subtypes project. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. 2014;2014(48):87–97.
- 38. Treon SP, Hunter ZR, Aggarwal A, Ewen EP, Masota S, Lee C, Santos DD, Hatjiharissi E, Xu L, Leleu X, Tournihac O, Patterson CJ, Manning R, Branagan AR, Morton CC. Characterization of familial Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Ann Oncol. 2006;17(3):488–94.
- 39. Hanzis C, Ojha RP, Hunter Z, Manning R, Lewicki M, Brodsky P, Ioakimidis L, Tripsas C, Patterson CJ, Sheehy P, Treon SP. Associated malignancies in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and their kin. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11(1):88–92.
- 40. Ojha RP, Hanzis CA, Hunter ZR, Greenland S, Offutt-Powell TN, Manning RJ, Lewicki M, Brodsky PS, Ioakimidis L, Tripsas CK, Patterson CJ, Sheehy P, Singh KP, Treon SP. Family

history of non-hematologic cancers among Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia patients: a preliminary study. Cancer Epidemiol. 2012;36(3):294–7.

- Kristinsson SY, Goldin LR, Turesson I, Björkholm M, Landgren O. Familial aggregation of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/Waldenström macroglobulinemia with solid tumors and myeloid malignancies. Acta Haematol. 2012;127:173–7.
- Royer RH, Koshiol J, Giambarresi TR, Vasquez LG, Pfeiffer RM, McMaster ML. Differential characteristics of Waldenström macroglobulinemia according to patterns of familial aggregation. Blood. 2010;115(22):4464–71.
- Elves MW, Brown AK. Cytogenetic studies in a family with Waldenstrom's macroglobuliaemia. J Med Genet. 1968;5(2):118–22.
- 44. McMaster ML, Giambarresi T, Vasquez L, Goldstein AM, Tucker MA. Cytogenetics of familial Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: in pursuit of an understanding of genetic predisposition. Clin Lymphoma. 2005;5(4):230–4.
- 45. Groves FD, Travis LB, Devesa SS, Ries LAG, Fraumeni Jr JF. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: incidence patterns in the United States, 1988–1994. Cancer. 1998;82(6):1078–81.
- 46. Petite J, Cruchaud A. Qualitative and quantitative abnormalities of immunoglobulins in relatives of patients with idiopathic paraproteinemia: a study of 12 families. Helv Med Acta. 1969;35:248–65.
- 47. Kristinsson SY, Koshiol J, Björkholm M, Goldin LR, McMaster ML, Turesson I, Landgren O. Immune-related and inflammatory conditions and risk of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma or Waldenström macroglobulinemia. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102(8):557–67.
- McMaster ML, Csako G. Protein electrophoresis, immunoelectrophoresis and immunofixation electrophoresis as predictors for high-risk phenotype in familial Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Int J Cancer. 2008;122:1183–8.
- 49. Crisp HC, Quinn JM. Quantitative immunoglobulins in adulthood. Allergy Asthma Proc. 2009;30:649–54.
- 50. Lock RJ, Unsworth DJ. Immunoglobulins and immunoglobulin subclasses in the elderly. Ann Clin Biochem. 2003;40(2):143–8.
- 51. Ögmundsdóttir HM, Sveinsdóttir S, Sigfússon A, Skaftadóttir I, Jónasson JG, Agnarsson BA. Enhanced B cell survival in familial macroglobulinaemia is associated with increased expression of *Bcl-2*. Clin Exp Immunol. 1999;117(2):252–60.
- 52. Treon SP, Tripsas C, Hanzis C, Ioakimidis L, Patterson CJ, Manning RJ, Sheehy P, Turnbull B, Hunter ZR. Familial disease predisposition impacts treatment outcome in patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2012;12(6):433–7.
- 53. Steingrímsson V, Lund SH, Turesson I, Goldin LR, Björkholm M, Landgren O, Kristinsson SY. Population-based study on the impact of the familial form of Waldenström macroglobulinemia on overall survival. Blood. 2015;125(13):2174–5.
- 54. Schop RF, Kuehl WM, Van Wier SA, Ahmann GJ, Price-Troska T, Bailey RJ, Jalal SM, Qi Y, Kyle RA, Greipp PR, Fonseca R. Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia neoplastic cells lack immunoglobulin heavy chain locus translocations but have frequent 6q deletions. Blood. 2002;100(8):2996–3001.
- 55. McMaster ML, Goldin LR, Bai Y, Ter-Minassian M, Boehringer S, Giambarresi TR, Vasquez LG, Tucker MA. Genomewide linkage screen for Waldenström macroglobulinemia susceptibility loci in high-risk families. Am J Hum Genet. 2006;79(4):695–701.
- Liang XS, Caporaso N, McMaster ML, Ng D, Landgren O, Yeager M, Chanock S, Goldin LR. Common genetic variants in candidate genes and risk of familial lymphoid malignancies. Br J Haematol. 2009;146:418–23.
- 57. Price P, Witt C, Allcock R, Sayer D, Garlepp M, Kok CC, French M, Mallal S, Christiansen F. The genetic basis for the association of the 8.1 ancestral haplogype (A1, Bi, DR3) with multiple immunopathological diseases. Immunol Rev. 1999;167:257–74.
- Wang SS, Lu Y, Rothman N, Abdou AM, Cerhan JR, De Roos A, Davis S, Severson RK, Cozen W, Chanock SJ, Bernstein L, Morton LM, Hartge P. Variation in effects of non-

Hodgkin lymphoma risk factors according to the human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-DRB1*01:01 allele and ancestral haplotype 8.1. PLoS One. 2011;6(11):326949.

- 59. Abdou AM, Gao X, Cozen W, Cerhan JR, Rothman N, Martin MP, Davis S, Schenk M, Chanock SJ, Hartge P, Carrington M, Wang SS. Human leukocyte antigen (HLA) A1-B8-DR3 (8.1) haplotype, tumor necrosis factor (TNF) G-308A, and risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Leukemia. 2010;24(5):1055–88.
- 60. Grass S, Preuss KD, Wikowicz A, Terpos E, Ziepert M, Nikolaus D, Yang Y, Fadle N, Regitz E, Dimopoulos MA, Treon SP, Hunter ZR, Pfreundschuh M. Hyperphosphorylated paratarg-7: a new molecularly defined risk factor for monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance of the IgM type and Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2011;117(10):2918–23.
- Adamia S, Crainie M, Kriangkum J, Mant MJ, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Abnormal expression of hyaluronan synthases in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):165–8.
- 62. Adamia S, Reichert AA, Kuppusamy H, Kriangkum J, Ghosh A, Hodges JJ, Pilarski PM, Treon SP, Mant MJ, Reiman T, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Inherited and acquired variations in the hyaluronan synthase 1 (*HAS1*) gene may contribute to disease progression in multiple myeloma and Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2008;112(13):5111–21.
- 63. Ghosh A, Kuppusamy H, Pilarski LM. Aberrant splice variants of HAS1 (Hyaluronan Synthase 1) multimerize with and modulate normally spliced HAS1 protein: a potential mechanism promoting human cancer. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(28):18840–50.
- 64. Kuppusamy H, Ögmundsdóttir HM, Baigorri E, Warkentin A, Steingrimsdóttir H, Haraldsdóttir V, Mant MJ, Mackey J, Johnston JB, Adamia S, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Inherited polymorphisms in hyaluronan synthase 1 predict risk of systemic B-cell malignancies but not of breast cancer. PLoS One. 2014;9(6):3100691.
- 65. Treon SP, Xu L, Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Cao Y, Sheehy P, Manning RJ, Patterson CJ, Tripsas C, Arcaini L, Pinkus GS, Rodig SJ, Sohani AR, Harris NL, Laramie JM, Skifter DA, Lincoln SE, Hunter ZR. *MYD*88 L265P somatic mutation in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(9):826–33.
- 66. Pertesi M, Galia P, Nazaret N, Vallée M, Garderet L, Leleu X, Avet-Loiseau H, Foll M, Byrnes G, Lachuer J, McKay JD, Dumontet C. Rare circulating cells in familial Waldenström macroglobulinemia displaying the *MYD88* L265P mutation are enriched by Epstein-Barr virus immortalization. PLoS One. 2015;10(9):30136515. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0136505.
- 67. Jacobs KB, Yeager M, Cullen MG, Zhang XJ, Boland J, Bacior J, Lonsberry V, Matthews C, Roberson D, Chen QA, Burdett L, Menashe I, Yang XR, Goldin LR, McMaster ML, Caporaso NE, Taylor PR, Landi MT, Sampson J, Chatterjee N, Nickerson ML, Mcgee K, Dean MC, Khan J, Tucker MA, Chanock SJ, Goldstein AM. Realities and limitations of coverage in current "whole"-exome sequencing capture approaches [abstract]. Genet Epidemiol. 2010;34(8):919–20.
- 68. McMaster ML, Goldin LR, Rotunno M, He J, Burdette L, Hutchinson A, Boland J, Yeager M, Tucker MA, Chanock SJ, Caporaso NE. Exploration of rare variants from exome sequencing in families with Waldenström macroglobulinemia [abstract]. In: Proceedings of the American Association for Cancer Research Annual Meeting 2014, Apr 5–9; San Diego, CA: AACR; 2014. Abstract nr 1300.
- 69. Roccaro AM, Sacco A, Shi J, Chiarini M, Perilla-Glen A, Manier S, Glavey S, Aljawai Y, Mishima Y, Kawano Y, Moschetta M, Correll M, Improgo MR, Brown JR, Imberti L, Rossi G, Castillo JJ, Treon SP, Freedman ML, Van Allen EM, Hide W, Hiller E, Rainville I, Ghobrial IM. Exome sequencing reveals recurrent germ line variants in patients with familial Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2016;127(21):2598–606.
- 70. Jaccottet MA, Ramel C. A propos des paraproteinoses atypique. Praxis. 1965;54:302-11.
- Jensson Ó, Björnsson ÓG, Árnason A, Birgisdóttir B, Pepys MB. Serum amyloid P-component and C-reactive protein in serum of healthy Icelanders and members of an Icelandic family with macroglobulinaemia. Acta Med Scand. 1982;211:341–5.
- 72. Wu SP, Minter A, Costello R, Zinglone A, Lee CK, Au WY, Landgren O. MGUS prevalence in an ethnically Chinese population in Hong Kong. Blood. 2013;121(12):2263–364.

Immunoglobulin Type M Monoclonal Gammopathy of Undetermined Significance (IgM-MGUS)

11

Mary L. McMaster, Helga M. Ögmundsdóttir, Sigurdur Y. Kristinsson, and Robert A. Kyle

11.1 Introduction

Monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) is one of the most common premalignant disorders in Western countries, affecting about 4% of whites aged 50 years or older. It is characterized by the presence of a monoclonal immunoglobulin (also known as M-protein, M-spike, M-component or paraprotein) on serum electrophoresis without evidence of underlying lymphoproliferative malignancy. MGUS is known to affect all major classes of immunoglobulin (Ig), including light chains. Initially, studies analyzed all types of MGUS together, and investigators reported aggregate results or, at most, reported the distribution of Ig subtypes. Over the past 15 years, however, there has been emerging appreciation that MGUS is more heterogeneous than previously recognized. In particular, there has been growing interest in MGUS of the immunoglobulin type M (IgM) class that

H.M. Ögmundsdóttir Faculty of Medicine, University of Iceland, Reykjavik, Iceland

S.Y. Kristinsson Faculty of Medicine, University of Iceland, Reykjavik, Iceland

Department of Medicine, Karolinska University Hospital and Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, Sweden

R.A. Kyle

Division of Hematology and internal Medicine, Mayo Clinic College of Medicine, Rochester, MN, USA

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 V. Leblond et al. (eds.), *Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_11

M.L. McMaster (🖂)

Division of Cancer Epidemiology and Genetics, Department of Health and Human Services, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, 9609 Medical Center Drive, Room 6E516, MSC 9769, Bethesda, MD 20892-9769, USA

Commissioned Corps, Department of Health and Human Services, United States Public Health Service, Washington, DC, USA e-mail: Mary.McMaster@nih.hhs.gov

has paralleled the enlarging body of research related to Waldenström macroglobulinemia, the typical malignancy associated with IgM-MGUS. In this section, we will focus on the prevalence, clinical aspects, and natural history of IgM-MGUS specifically and within the broader context of MGUS overall.

11.2 Definitions, Technical Considerations, and Caveats

Patients presenting with an IgM monoclonal gammopathy are classified according to the 2003 Consensus Panel Guidelines as having either IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (IgM-MGUS), an IgM-related disorder, or Waldenström macroglobulinemia (WM), which may be either asymptomatic or symptomatic [1]. Other indolent lymphoid malignancies, such as chronic lymphocytic leukemia and marginal zone lymphoma, may also be associated with an IgM M-protein. Patients who have symptoms attributable to the IgM monoclonal protein but no evidence of lymphoma are classified as having an IgM-related disorder. Examples of IgM-related manifestations include amyloid light chain (AL) amyloidosis, cold agglutinin disease, cryoglobulinemia, or peripheral neuropathy. Such patients constitute a clinically distinct group, and although they have no evidence of malignancy, they may be candidates for treatment to control their IgM-related symptoms. In contrast, IgM-MGUS is defined as a serum IgM monoclonal protein of any concentration in the absence of either unequivocal morphological evidence of bone marrow lymphoplasmacytic infiltration or constitutional symptoms, such as anemia, lymphadenopathy, hyperviscosity, or hepatosplenomegaly, related to the lymphoproliferative process or symptoms directly related to the IgM protein. The Consensus Panel noted the concentration of the IgM M-protein rarely exceeds 3 g/dL in MGUS. Further, the Consensus Panel recommended that patients with equivocal evidence of bone marrow infiltration, such as detection of clonal B-cells by flow cytometry or polymerase chain reaction in the absence of morphologically identifiable bone marrow infiltration, or equivocal bone marrow infiltrates without confirmatory phenotypic studies, should be classified as having IgM-MGUS. In contrast, the International Myeloma Working Group explicitly proposes an M-protein <3 g/dL and lymphoplasmacytic infiltration <10% as the threshold for a diagnosis of IgM-MGUS [2].

Methods to identify and type monoclonal proteins have evolved over time. Early diagnostic assays relied on low resolution techniques applied initially to paper and later to cellulose acetate and agarose substrates. These assays were supplanted by high resolution methods that improved detection of M-proteins of small size or that migrate outside the gamma region. Currently, serum protein electrophoresis (SPE), used to identify a monoclonal protein, followed by immunoelectrophoresis (IEP) or immunofixation electrophoresis (IFE) to determine isotype, is the mainstay of
diagnosis and remains the method of choice in many clinical centers. IFE avoids some of the limitations of IEP for identification of IgM [3]. Also, IFE is more sensitive than IEP for the detection of small monoclonal bands [4], but because the clinical and biological significance of these small bands has been unclear, many centers do not routinely employ IFE. However, the M-protein associated with MGUS is usually small and frequently below the densitometric threshold for measurement [5, 6]. Such small bands may be transient [7, 8]; however, progression to B-cell malignancy has been documented in patients whose M-proteins are <0.5 g/dL [9]. More recently, the serum free light-chain (FLC) assay has been developed as a very sensitive technique, though its utility in this setting is primarily related to the identification of light-chain MGUS [10–12].

When evaluating the MGUS literature, there are several points that must be kept in mind.

- The specific definition of MGUS employed. Although there is substantial overlap in the diagnostic criteria proposed by the WM and myeloma research communities, there are subtle differences in phenotype definition, as outlined above. Thus, depending on the background and practical orientation of the investigators, studies have variously included all monoclonal gammopathies irrespective of disease status or all asymptomatic patients irrespective of disease status, considered all IgM-related disorders together or separately, or adhered strictly to one of the two current definitions.
- 2. Inclusion or exclusion of the subgroup of IgM-MGUS that is associated with such conditions as non-hematologic malignancy or systemic autoimmune disease, in which the occurrence of IgM-MGUS may share some mechanistic determinant(s) with the associated condition, but the IgM molecule does not appear to be integral to the phenotype. Clinically, such patients may be seen by different types of providers (e.g., rheumatologists rather than hematologists) and consequently, studies may or may not include them, depending on the setting.
- 3. Choice of M-protein detection assay. Studies using IFE or similar highly sensitive technologies may report higher prevalence rates, include a larger proportion of patients with small M-proteins, or introduce relative lead-time bias in outcome studies, compared to studies that use other methodologies.
- 4. As detailed below, MGUS has variable age- and gender dependence in different racial groups; consequently, study results may be influenced by the age-, gender-, and racial distribution of the study population and must be adjusted appropriately.
- 5. Until recently, most studies have not distinguished between MGUS of differing Ig subtype, in part due to statistical power issues. As will be seen, the ability of recent larger population-based investigations to stratify analyses based on Ig class is yielding some interesting observations regarding MGUS heterogeneity.

11.3 Epidemiology

11.3.1 Prevalence of IgM-MGUS

IgM-MGUS represents a fraction of all MGUS. True incidence rates are unknown, and differences in study design make generalizable estimates difficult. Prevalence data for IgM-MGUS are derived from studies of monoclonal gammopathy or MGUS overall, in which IgM M-protein frequency is usually expressed as a relative percent distribution of immunoglobulin isotypes across all MGUS in the study population. Numerous such studies have been reported and are reviewed by McMaster [13]. The prevalence of MGUS overall varies according to the age, gender, racial, and geographic distribution of the population under study. Among populations studied for MGUS overall, the proportion attributable to IgM varies widely, although IgM-MGUS is often, but not always, intermediate in frequency among the three major subtypes (IgG, IgA, and IgM).

Most studies of MGUS have been in white populations. The largest populationbased study to date was performed in the USA in Olmsted County, MN, whose residents are overwhelmingly white [6]. In this well-characterized population, serum samples were obtained from 21,463 of the 28,038 (76.6%) known residents who were at least 50 years of age. The overall prevalence of MGUS in this cohort was found to be 4.0% in men and 2.7% in women, and it increased in an age-dependent manner. Another recent large population-based study in the USA was conducted as a nested investigation within the National Health and Nutritional Examination Study (NHANES), a large cross-sectional cohort designed to select a nationally representative sample of the civilian US population [14], using the same screening methods as the Minnesota study. In a sample of 12,482 adults age >50 years for whom serum was available, MGUS prevalence in the white subgroup was 2.3%, somewhat lower than seen in Olmsted County. Further stratification suggested geographic differences, with prevalence reaching 3.1 % in the North and Midwest compared to 2.1 % in the South and West. IgM accounted for 17.2 % of all MGUS in the homogeneous white upper Midwest population of Olmsted County and 15.4% in whites in the NHANES study, corresponding to an estimated IgM-MGUS prevalence of 0.6 % and 0.4 %, respectively.

Studies in African American, native African, and Asian populations have suggested racial variations in MGUS prevalence. For example, both MGUS and multiple myeloma have been shown to be twofold more common in African Americans compared to whites in the USA [15, 16], and MGUS is more common in Ghanaian blacks compared with US whites [17]. This doubling of MGUS risk among African Americans relative to whites was unchanged when obesity, education status, and income status were considered in the same multivariate model applied in another large population-based study [18]. However, although MGUS is much lower than in whites. IgM accounted for only 5.6% of MGUS in Ghanaians compared to 14% of MGUS in a historical white comparison group in the Ghanaian study and 2.7% in African Americans versus 15.4% in whites in NHANES.

However, the absolute excess of IgM-MGUS among whites compared with blacks is somewhat attenuated because the frequency of MGUS overall is higher among blacks. Thus, in the NHANES study, which provides a direct comparison between racial groups, whites had an apparent 5.7-fold increase in IgM distribution, but a lower prevalence of MGUS overall, compared to blacks. This translates to an absolute excess of 3.6-fold increased prevalence of IgM-MGUS in whites relative to blacks. This finding is consistent with the racial disparity in incidence of WM that has been observed in US Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) data in the USA [19].

IgM-MGUS also appears to be uncommon in Asian populations, but the prevalence varies widely. In a large study, Iwanaga [20] screened 52,781 adults who had survived the atomic bomb detonation in Nagasaki, Japan. Within an overall MGUS prevalence of 2.1%, IgM-MGUS comprised 7.5%, yielding an estimated prevalence of 0.16% for IgM-MGUS in this population. Men (n = 50, 8.7%) were affected 1.4-fold more commonly than women (n = 32, 6.2%). Studies in other Asian ethnic groups have been smaller and variable in design and outcome. A study within the ethnic Chinese population in Hong Kong surveyed 1000 male and female blood donors age 50-65 years and identified no IgM isotype among the eight patients found to have MGUS [21]. Similarly, IgM was not detected in a crosssectional study of 3260 residents age \geq 50 from urban, suburban, and rural communities in Thailand in which the overall prevalence of MGUS was 2.3 % [22]. In contrast, when Korean investigators screened 945 participants drawn mainly from a population-based, prospective cohort study of the elderly outside Seoul, Korea, they found an overall MGUS prevalence of 3.3 %, with IgM accounting for 19% (estimated IgM-MGUS prevalence 0.6%, similar to estimates in US whites) [23]. Notably, the Korean population was older (>65 years), which may contribute to the higher prevalence seen in that group overall. It is unknown whether observed variability in Asian populations relates to sample size or demographics. Larger studies are needed to confirm these patterns.

Finally, there is emerging evidence that both MGUS overall and IgM-MGUS may be less common in Hispanics than in whites. The first reports suggesting that the prevalence of MGUS and WM is very low in Mexicans were referral hospitalbased surveys in Mexico. Based on a prospective screening study of 14,246 Mexican patients with hematological diseases, investigators identified 17 patients with MGUS and 20 patients with WM [24]. This observation was confirmed in the NHANES study, in which the subgroup of 2475 Mexican Americans was found to have an overall prevalence of 1.75 % for MGUS and 0.1 % for IgM-MGUS. Taken together, these data support a role for genetic factors and possibly as yet undetermined environmental exposures in the development of IgM-MGUS.

In addition to racial differences, there is also evidence supporting regional variation in IgM-MGUS prevalence. Among western European population-based studies, the highest proportion of the IgM isotype (25%) has been reported in western France [25, 26] and the lowest (6–8%) in the Mediterranean basin [27] and Sweden [28]. Some of these differences may relate to study design, and all of the caveats outlined earlier apply. Large studies across populations that employ

uniform methods are needed to confirm these observations. For example, an early study of 13,400 blood donors in France demonstrated remarkable variability by region [29]. While MGUS was unusually uncommon in this population, IgM frequency ranged from 0% in a group of mostly urban dwellers in Paris to 33% in residents of an agricultural district in western France. More recently, the previously mentioned NHANES study found evidence of regional variation in MGUS prevalence rates within the USA, although regional data stratified by isotype were not reported.

11.3.2 Risk Factors for IgM-MGUS

Risk factors for IgM-MGUS have been investigated primarily as subset analyses in investigations of MGUS overall. The prevalence studies discussed earlier established that risk for MGUS overall increases with age and male sex. A population-based screening study conducted in nearly 2000 white and African American women [18] addressed the racial disparity suggested by prior prevalence studies. The investigators confirmed a lower frequency of IgM-MGUS (8 % of total) in black women compared to white females (19 % of total), but small numbers limited the analysis. To date, there have been no other direct comparisons of IgM-MGUS in different racial populations.

A large population-based study in Sweden examined the relationship of personal and family history of autoimmune disease and MGUS [30]. The study included 5403 MGUS patients and 21,209 matched controls, together with 14,535 firstdegree relatives of MGUS case patients and 58,164 first-degree relatives of MGUS controls. None of the analyses showed differences in risk based on immunoglobulin isotype, with IgM-MGUS constituting 10% of the sample. Increased risk for all MGUS was associated with a personal history of autoimmune disease overall (odds ratio [OR] = 2.1; 95 % confidence interval [CI], 1.9–2.4), including autoimmune diseases characterized by either systemic involvement (OR = 2.4; 95%CI, 2.0-2.9) or organ-specific involvement (OR = 1.7; 95%CI, 1.3-2.2). Certain specific autoimmune disorders, including rheumatoid arthritis, systemic sclerosis, Sjögren syndrome, immune thrombocytopenia, Guillain-Barré syndrome, celiac disease, chronic rheumatic heart disease, ankylosing spondylitis, polymyalgia rheumatica, giant cell arteritis, and aplastic anemia, were found to confer disease-specific increased risk for subsequent development of MGUS. In addition, a family history of autoimmune disease was associated with a significantly increased risk of MGUS, though the magnitude was small (OR = 1.1; 95%CI, 1.0-1.2). The same study also investigated personal history of infections and inflammatory disorders. Significantly increased risk of MGUS was seen in patients with a history of infections overall (OR = 1.6; 95%CI, 1.5–1.7), inflammatory conditions overall (OR = 1.4; 95%CI, 1.2–1.5), and any of a variety of specific infections and certain inflammatory conditions. Other specific exposures have not been investigated with respect to IgM-MGUS. These findings suggest that chronic antigen stimulation may trigger the development of a MGUS or that treatment of autoimmune disease might increase the risk. Furthermore, a common genetic or environmental susceptibility might play a role. There are numerous reports of familial clusters of MGUS, myeloma, and other hematologic malignancies, which are referenced in Chap. 10. These reports raised the question of whether familial clustering of these disorders occurs more frequently than expected by chance. The largest study addressing this question was conducted in a Swedish population and examined 14,621 relatives of 4458 patients with MGUS [31]. First-degree relatives of IgM-MGUS patients were found to have a significant fivefold (95%CI, 1.1–23) risk of developing chronic lymphocytic leukemia, as well as a nonsignificant excess risk of multiple myeloma (relative risk [RR] = 1.9; 95%CI, 0.3–10) and lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/WM (RR = 3.5; 95%CI, 0.2–63), based on small numbers. While the Swedish study found increased risk for family history of MGUS overall (RR = 2.8; 95%CI, 1.4–5.6), it could not confirm increased risk in the smaller IgM subset. Investigators at the Mayo Clinic screened 911 relatives of multiple myeloma (n = 232) and MGUS (n = 97) patients by a two-step serum protein electrophoresis followed by IFE method [32]. Relatives of MGUS patients had a higher prevalence of MGUS relative to the general Olmsted County reference population (risk ratio = 2.6; 95% CI, 1.9–3.4). The MGUS risk in relatives did not differ by the proband's isotype, which was stratified as IgG vs non-IgG. Overall, these data confirm that family history of MGUS is a significant risk factor for an individual's development of MGUS. Overall, these data extend the evidence suggesting a role for genetic susceptibility or possibly shared environmental factors in the development of these conditions. However, the influence of family history on risk of IgM-MGUS remains to be clarified and would benefit from further study.

A series of studies has shown an interaction between monoclonal protein and hyperphosphorylation of a protein of unknown function, called paratarg-7 (P-7), which is ubiquitously expressed in all human tissues. The M-proteins from 9 of 51 patients with IgM-MGUS (17.6%) were shown to react specifically with P-7, compared with 4 of 200 healthy controls (2%) [33]. The investigators concluded that the P-7 marker is associated with a 6.2-fold increased risk of IgM-MGUS or WM (P = 0.001). A second molecule in this class, sumoylated HSP90 (HSP90-SUMO1), was recently reported to be a target of IgM paraprotein [34]. The investigators propose that these proteins represent a source of chronic antigenic stimulation that contributes to susceptibility to plasma cell malignancies. These interesting preliminary results await confirmation in larger, well-defined cohorts.

11.4 Genetics

Our understanding of the cellular origins of WM and IgM-MGUS continues to evolve. It is not clear that WM and IgM-MGUS share a common cell of origin, given that patients with IgM-MGUS may evolve into a spectrum of B-cell lymphoproliferative malignancies that includes, but is not limited to, WM (see Outcomes, below). Immunoglobulin heavy chain (*IGH*) gene sequence analysis has been used to provide evidence regarding the B-cell differentiation status at the

initiation of WM oncogenesis. Early studies in small numbers of patients suggested that WM may originate from a post-germinal center cell that has undergone somatic hypermutation but not class switch recombination (CSR) [35, 36]. Analyses of $V_{\rm H}$ variable region genes further revealed that WM cells were skewed strongly toward V_{H3} family segments. Larger studies have confirmed the preferential usage of V_{H3} family segments. In a study of 64 WM and 8 IgM-MGUS patients, Martín-Jiménez [37] found a bias toward V_{H} 3-23 usage in >75 % cases, including 6 IgM-MGUS cases. In this study, WM and IgM-MGUS showed nonsignificant differences in frequency of antigenic selection (77% vs. 40%, respectively) and DJ_{H} rearrangements (42 % vs. 13 %, respectively), suggesting possible differences in their neoplastic origin. WM and IgM-MGUS also appear to diverge with respect to the mutational status of the switch mu (Su) region, suggesting that WM cells are arrested prior to CSR but that IgM-MGUS B-cells may retain CSR ability [35]. In another study, investigators were able to demonstrate clonal rearrangements in only 3 of 40 IgM-MGUS patients, presumably because of low numbers of monoclonal B-cells [38]. This study confirmed consistent somatic hypermutation and found evidence of intraclonal sequence variation in one case of IgM-MGUS (compared to zero of seven WM cases), suggesting that a portion of IgM-MGUS might be derived from cells under continued antigenic exposure. These data are interesting in that they provide a mechanism that might partially explain IgM-MGUS outcome heterogeneity. A more detailed explanation of clonal dynamics appears in Chap. 3.

To date, there have been no IgM-MGUS-specific genetic investigations, and until recently, investigators did not routinely include IgM-MGUS cases in their genetic studies of WM. McMaster [39] examined bone marrow and peripheral blood from 3 IgM-MGUS and 18 WM patients with a family history of WM using a combination of conventional G-banding, spectral karyotyping, and comparative genomic hybridization, supplemented with fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) to screen for translocations. The investigators found no evidence of rearrangements involving the *IGH* locus on chromosome 14q32, which have been shown to occur frequently in non-IgM-MGUS and multiple myeloma [40]. The only clonal abnormality identified in any of the IgM-MGUS patients was deletion of the Y chromosome in one patient. Following identification of 6q deletion as the most common recurring cytogenetic abnormality in WM, Schop and colleagues [41] were unable to detect loss of 6q by FISH in 12 IgM-MGUS patients, compared to detecting it in 21 of 38 WM cases (55.3 %). Both of these investigations were conducted in unsorted bone marrow cells.

In 2012, massively parallel sequencing identified *MYD88* L265P as a characteristic recurring somatic mutation in WM [42]. The initial study, using Sanger sequencing on CD19-selected bone marrow mononuclear cells, reported detection of the *MYD88* L265P mutation in 26 of 30 (87%) WM cases and 2 of 21 (10%) IgM-MGUS cases, raising the possibility that the mutation represented an oncogenic event in the transformation of IgM-MGUS to WM. Subsequent studies, using the highly sensitive allele-specific polymerase chain reaction (AS-PCR) assay, have demonstrated the *MYD88* L265P mutation in about half of IgM-MGUS patients [43–45]. Jiménez [46] reported a higher frequency of *MYD88* L265P in IgM-MGUS (87%); their selection criteria included ensuring that all cases had at least 1 tumor cell per 100 cells by flow, which may account for the higher rate of detection. In Xu's [45] follow-up study, 13 of 24 (54%) of IgM-MGUS patients had *MYD88* mutations by AS-PCR but only 3 were positive by Sanger sequencing. These three patients also had higher quantitative levels of the mutation based on AS-PCR ΔC_T values (correlating with the number of tumor cells) and later progressed to WM. Of the 12 IgM-MGUS patients from these studies who have been reported to progress to WM, all but 1 carried the mutation at diagnosis of IgM-MGUS. Varettoni [44] screened 77 IgM-MGUS patients and detected the *MYD88* L265P mutation in 36 patients (47%). During a median follow-up of 12 months, 9 patients evolved to WM (n=7) or marginal zone lymphoma (n=2). One patient who progressed to WM was *MYD88* wild type at the time of diagnosis of both MGUS and WM. Of the two patients who progressed to MZL, one had the *MYD88* mutation and one was *MYD88* wild type.

Very few studies have addressed germ-line genetics in IgM-MGUS. McMaster [39] found no germ-line cytogenetic abnormalities in IgM-MGUS patients. One genome-wide linkage association study was performed using parametric and non-parametric methods to analyze 1058 microsatellite markers in 11 families of probands with WM [47]. The study included 122 family members, including 10 with confirmed IgM-MGUS and 34 with WM. Among the findings was the observation that inclusion of the IgM-MGUS patients within the affected phenotype strengthened the evidence for linkage on chromosomes 1q and 4q. The 4q result is particularly interesting, given recent evidence that trisomy 4 may be unique to WM among low-grade B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders [48]. However, no relevant genes for either WM or IgM-MGUS have yet been identified on chromosome 4. Thus far, there have been no genome-wide association studies (GWAS) that include IgM-MGUS, likely due to power considerations. Genetic predisposition to WM is addressed more fully in Chap. 10.

11.5 Outcomes

11.5.1 Progression to Hematological or Lymphoid Malignancy

Outcome studies in IgM-MGUS fall into three broad categories: (1) studies analyzing MGUS overall that report findings for a limited number of IgM-MGUS patients; (2) studies of MGUS overall having sufficient numbers of IgM-MGUS patients to permit stratified analysis; and (3) studies of IgM-MGUS specifically. Numerous studies of MGUS overall containing limited numbers of IgM-MGUS patients provided the initial indication that these individuals are at risk for progression to B-cell malignancy [49–54]. Analyses performed for MGUS overall did not identify consistent predictors of prognosis, most likely because of differences in patient selection and limited power to detect differences between groups.

Among MGUS studies providing selected stratified analyses by Ig subtype, Ögmundsdóttir [55] performed an observed-to-expected (O/E) analysis and

determined that patients with IgM-MGUS were more likely to develop hematological malignancies compared to the general Icelandic population. The risk was higher for women (O/E = 11.2; 95%CI, 5.21–20.1) than for men (O/E = 6.88; 95%CI, 2.57-14.3). Gregersen [56] included 231 patients with IgM-MGUS in a study of 1247 MGUS patients defined by detection of an M-protein in the absence of a diagnosis of a plasma cell or lymphoproliferative malignancy within the next 100 days. Among the IgM-MGUS subset, the standardized incidence ratio (SIR) for malignant transformation was 17.2 (95%CI, 10.5–26.5) compared to the general Danish population. All subsequent malignancies were lymphoproliferative, with no cases of progression to myeloma observed. Poisson regression modeling identified female sex, increasing IgM concentration, younger age at diagnosis (<70 years), and the first year of follow-up as factors associated with risk of malignant transformation from MGUS overall. Cesana [57] reported outcomes for 130 IgM-MGUS patients. IgM-MGUS patients were characterized by a median age of 67 years (range, 23-91 years), median M-protein concentration of 0.75 g/dL (range, 0.16-2.95 g/dL), and median bone marrow involvement of 5 % (range, 0-10 %). During a median follow-up of 67 months (range, 12–180 months), 13 (10%) patients progressed to a lymphoid malignancy, including WM (n = 12) and multiple myeloma (n = 1; immunoglobulin class not reported). Multivariate analysis identified increasing level of bone marrow infiltration, presence of Bence Jones proteinuria, serum polyclonal Ig reduction (immunoparesis), and erythrocyte sedimentation rate >40 mm/h as independent predictors of progression of any MGUS to lymphoid malignancy. Turesson [58] reported the characteristics of 118 -IgM-MGUS patients within a larger study of MGUS overall conducted in two regional Swedish hospitals. During a median follow-up of 10 years, 18 patients developed a lymphoid malignancy (WM, n = 14; chronic lymphocytic leukemia, n=3) or a myeloid malignancy (acute myelocytic leukemia, n=1). No IgM-MGUS patient developed multiple myeloma or Hodgkin lymphoma. The investigators found no difference in risk of progression for non-IgG-MGUS vs. IgG-MGUS. They pointed out that comparison of rates of progression among Ig subtypes of MGUS is difficult because of the different patterns of outcomes (predominantly lymphoid for IgM-MGUS vs. multiple myeloma in IgG/IgA-MGUS). In addition, they noted that IgM and IgA have been shown to have a higher catabolic rate compared with IgG; consequently, at a given serum M-protein concentration, there are more clonal cells in IgM- or IgA-MGUS than in IgG-MGUS [59]. Using Cox proportional hazards models for MGUS overall, they confirmed the previously identified association of serum free light-chain ratio and M-protein concentration with risk of progression [60] and confirmed immunoparesis (P < 0.001) as a prognostic indicator. Although these studies did not consistently analyze IgM-MGUS separately, they provided data on potential prognostic factors that informed subsequent studies targeting IgM-MGUS.

Beginning in 2003, some studies were designed to focus specifically on IgM-MGUS (Table 11.1). Kyle [61] reviewed 213 IgM-MGUS patients diagnosed during a 34-year period in southeast Minnesota. Patients were diagnosed based on having a serum IgM monoclonal protein <3 g/dL and no signs or symptoms

| Author | Kyle [61] | Montoto [62] | Morra [63] | Baldini [64] ^a | | | |
|--|------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------|--|--|--|
| Study type | Retrospective | Retrospective | Retrospective | Retrospective | | | |
| | Population- | Single | Multi- | Multi- | | | |
| | based | institution | institution | institution | | | |
| Location | Southeast Minnesota | Spain | Italy | Italy, France | | | |
| Acrrual period | 1960–1994 | 1970-2001 | 1975-2001 | 1978–2003 | | | |
| IgM MGUS cases, n | 213 | 52 | 138 | 217 ^b | | | |
| IgM MGUS diagnostic criteria | | | | | | | |
| IgM MC | <3 g/dL | <3 g/dL | Any | <3 g/dL | | | |
| concentration | | | | | | | |
| BM infiltration | _ | - | normal | <10 % BMLPC | | | |
| Signs/symptoms of LPD | None | None | None | None | | | |
| Patient characteristics | | | | · | | | |
| Age, median (range), years | 74 (24–94) | 67 (46–84) | 66 (30–85) | Mean, 63.7 (29.9–89.3) | | | |
| Sex, M/F, n | 123/90 | 27/25 | 62 %/38 % | 131/86 | | | |
| Ratio | 1.4 | 1.1 | 1.6 | 1.5 | | | |
| MC concentration, | 1.2 (0–2.6) | 1.45 (0.7–2.9) | 0.9 (0.14–2.9) | Mean, 0.88 | | | |
| median (range), g/dL | | | | (0.2–2.86) | | | |
| IgM concentration, | 675 | - | - | 885.8 | | | |
| median (range), mg/dL | (40–4800) ^c | | | (210–2990) | | | |
| No. with bone | 27 | 39 | 138 | 217 | | | |
| DM involvement | <10() | 26(0667) | 5 (0, 0) | Maan 6.6 | | | |
| BM involvement, median (range) % ^d | <10 (-) | 2.0 (0.0-0.7) | 5 (0-9) | (2-10) | | | |
| Decreased | 35% of | IgG 12: | 9% of | (2-10) | | | |
| polyclonal Igs | 129 tested | $ IgO, 12, IgA, 10^{e} $ | 133 tested | _ | | | |
| Hemoglobin, median (range), g/dL | 14 (5.9–18.9) | 13.3 (9–16) | 14 (-) | Mean, 14.0 (10.1–17.9) | | | |
| Median follow-up | 6.3 years | 5 years | 80 months | 56.1 months | | | |
| (range) | (0-20.6) | (1–20.4) | (12–19[<i>sic</i>]) | (12–242.1) | | | |
| Outcome, n (%) | | | | | | | |
| MC resolved | 9 (4.2) | 0 (0.0) | 12 (8.7) | - | | | |
| Evolution to LPD | 30 (14.1) | 6 (11.5) | 14 (10) | 15 (6.9) | | | |
| WM | 6 | 5 | 13 | 13 | | | |
| NHL ^f | 17 | 1 | 0 | 2 | | | |
| CLL | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | | |
| MM ^g | 1 | 0 | 1 | 0 | | | |
| Amyloidosis | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | | |
| Time to LPD | 1.5 % per year | Median, 3.6 years | Median, 75 months | Median not reached | | | |
| Range | n.a. | 2.3-12.4 years | 12-117 months | n.a. | | | |

Table 11.1 Summary of IgM-MGUS-specific studies conducted to date, with malignant progression as the primary outcome

(continued)

| Risk of evolution to LPD at 5, 10, 15, 20 | 10 %, 18 %, 24 %, – | -, 13.3 %, -, 27.7 % | 8%, 29%, -, - ^h | -, 14.5 %, 24.9 %, - |
|---|------------------------|-------------------------|---|-------------------------|
| years | | | | |
| Multivariate predictors of progression ⁱ | Serum MC concentration | %BMPC (<5 vs. ≥5) | Serum MC size | Serum MC concentration |
| | Serum albumin | %BML (<20 vs. ≥20) | $\begin{array}{l} ALC > 4 \times 10 \\ (9)/L \end{array}$ | Hemoglobin |
| | | | | Male sex |
| Median survival | 7 years | - | - | Not reached |
| Survival at 5, 10, 15 years ^j | 69 %, 48 %, 35 % | - | 95 %, 83 %, - | -, 92 %, 75 % |

Table 11.1 (continued)

MC monoclonal component; *LPD* lymphoproliferative disorder, *M* male, *F* female, *No*. number; *BM* bone marrow, *BMPC* bone marrow plasma cells, *BMLP* bone marrow lymphoplasmacytes, *BMLPC* bone marrow lymphoplasmacytic cells, *Igs* immunoglobulins, *WM* Waldenström macroglobulinemia, *NHL* non-Hodgkin lymphoma, *CLL* chronic lymphocytic lymphoma, *MM* multiple myeloma, *BML* bone marrow lymphocytes, *ALC* absolute lymphocyte count, *n.a.* not applicable, *vs.* versus, – not reported

^aIn this study, measures of central tendencies were reported as means rather than medians

^bMay include some patients (n = 48) reported in [63]

^c15 % were normal at <300 mg/dL

^dBM involvement reported as BMPC (Kyle, Montoto), BMLP (Morra), or BMLPC (Baldini) ^e12 cases had decreased IgG and 10 cases had decreased IgA

^fReported types of NHL. Kyle reported lymphoplasmacytic (n = 6), diffuse large B cell (n = 5), mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) (n = 2), small lymphocytic (n = 1), and B-cell unclassified (n = 1). Montoto did not report NHL subtype. Baldini reported lymphoplasmacytic (n = 2)

^gKyle reported one patient who initially had IgM MGUS, later developed biclonal gammopathy (IgM 386 mg/dL + IgA λ 2840 mg/dL), and ultimately progressed to smoldering multiple myeloma with 15 % BMPC 5 years later. Morra reported one case of IgM multiple myeloma ^hIncludes aWM

ⁱIncludes factors found to be statistically significant at the P = 0.05 level

^jKyle reported survival indirectly, as related to death from causes other than nonlymphoid malignancy, Morra reported event-free survival, and Baldini reported overall survival

suggestive of a lymphoproliferative disorder; bone marrow examination was performed in 13 % and showed <10 % plasma cell infiltration in all cases. IgM burden was low (median M-protein, 1.2 g/dL; median quantitative IgM level, 675 mg/dL). Quantitative immunoglobulins were determined in 129 patients, and one-third had suppression of uninvolved immunoglobulins. During a median follow-up of 6.3 years, 29 progressed to a lymphoid malignancy (n = 26, 12 %) or amyloidosis (n = 3, 1.4 %). The highest RR was for patients to develop WM, and the most common malignant outcome was WM or lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. The overall risk of progression was 1.5 % per year (Fig. 11.1), and patients continued to be at risk more than 20 years after diagnosis. A competitive model in these patients showed that rates of death from non-hematologic causes were substantially higher than rates of progression to lymphoid disorders (Fig. 11.2). Conversely, the monoclonal protein disappeared in nine patients, all but one of



Fig. 11.1 Probability of progression in 213 monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance of IgM class (IgM-MGUS) patients. Patients were residents of southeastern Minnesota in whom IgM-MGUS was diagnosed from 1960 through 1994. *Curve* shows probability of progression of MGUS to lymphoma, Waldenström macroglobulinemia, primary amyloidosis, or chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Bars show 95 % confidence intervals. Numbers at bottom of the horizontal axis are numbers of patients at risk at each interval. *This research was originally published in Blood. Kyle RA, Therneau TM, Rajkumar SV, Remstein ED, Offord JR, Larson DR, Plevak MF, Melton LJ 3rd. Long-term follow-up of IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Blood. 2003;102(10):3759–3764. © The American Society of Hematology*



Fig. 11.2 Competitive model in 213 monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance of IgM class (IgM-MGUS) patients. Patients were residents of southeastern Minnesota in whom IgM-MGUS was diagnosed from 1960 through 1994. *Upper curve* shows probability of dying of nonlymphoid diseases. *Lower curve* shows probability of progression to lymphoma or a related disorder. *This research was originally published in Blood. Kyle RA, Therneau TM, Rajkumar SV, Remstein ED, Offord JR, Larson DR, Plevak MF, Melton LJ 3rd. Long-term follow-up of IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Blood. 2003;102(10):3759–3764. © The American Society of Hematology*

whom had an initial M-protein concentration ≤ 1.0 g/dL. Multivariate analysis identified the concentrations of the serum monoclonal protein (P = 0.03) and serum albumin (P = 0.01) as prognostic predictors of progression.

Montoto [62] analyzed 52 patients with IgM-MGUS ascertained between 1970 and 2001 and diagnosed on the basis of an M-protein size <3 g/dL and absence of signs or symptoms suggestive of WM. Bone marrow examination was not required; however, in the subset having bone marrow available for review, median percentage of bone marrow plasma cells and bone marrow lymphocytes was 2.6% and 16.1%, respectively. The cases were unusual in having nearly a 1:1 gender distribution. During a median follow-up of 5 years, six patients developed a lymphoid malignancy, most commonly WM. Median time to WM diagnosis was 3.6 years. Multivariate analysis identified percentage of bone marrow plasma cells and percentage of bone marrow lymphocytes to be independently associated with risk of progression, which was 27.7% at 20 years.

Morra [63, 65] studied 384 Italian patients with asymptomatic IgM monoclonal gammopathy. Of these, 138 had IgM-MGUS defined according to the 2003 WM Consensus Panel recommendations [1]. Events during the first 12 months of followup were excluded from analysis. Among the IgM-MGUS cohorts, there were 14 who progressed to either WM (n = 13) or IgM multiple myeloma (n = 1). For the entire group (IgM-MGUS and asymptomatic WM), cumulative probability of progression at 5 and 10 years was 8% and 29%, respectively, similar to the observations of Kyle et al. The M-protein disappeared in 12 patients (9%), all of whom had a low concentration of paraprotein (median, 410 mg/dL; range 139-573). Univariate analysis in the IgM-MGUS subset identified low hemoglobin (P=0.02) as significantly associated with progression, whereas M-protein size (P = 0.06), detectable Bence Jones proteinuria (P = 0.06), erythrocyte sedimentation rate (P = 0.07), and lymphocytosis (P = 0.1) were interpreted as showing a trend toward increased progression risk. A proposed risk stratification model incorporating these variables identified three risk groups among the entire series, and event-free survival in the high-risk group differed significantly from the other two groups combined. The utility of this prognostic index in the IgM-MGUS subgroup remains to be confirmed.

Baldini [64] investigated a multi-institution series of 217 IgM-MGUS patients in Italy and France. In their study, IgM-MGUS was defined as serum M-protein and bone marrow infiltration less than 3 g/dL and 10 %, respectively, and the absence of signs or symptoms of lymphoproliferative malignancy. The endpoint was chemotherapy for symptomatic lymphoproliferative malignancy. At a median of 56.1 months, 15 patients progressed to requiring chemotherapy for either WM (n = 13) or lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma (n = 2). A prognostic scoring model was devised using serum M-protein concentration, hemoglobin level, and sex—the three variables associated with risk of progression in multivariate analysis. Application of the scoring system stratified patients into three risk groups that differed significantly in time to evolution. The difference was most pronounced for the high-risk group, while the curves for the low- and intermediate-risk groups began to diverge after 96 months of follow-up.

Historically, it has not always been possible to separate IgM-MGUS from asymptomatic WM, and the two conditions are sometimes combined. However, data have emerged in the past few years showing substantially higher risk of progression for asymptomatic (or 'smoldering') WM [66], demonstrating the need for carefully designed eligibility criteria to reduce misclassification.

Using a retrospective approach, Steingrimsdottir [67] examined 10 patients with WM identified through the Icelandic Cancer Registry since 1991 who had frozen serum samples collected 3–14 years (median, 5.3 years) prior to diagnosis. Immunofixation electrophoresis identified a pre-diagnosis IgM M-protein in 3 of 10 WM patients. These results are unexpected based on other natural history data and require confirmation in larger studies. They may be due to chance, sample size, assay interval, or some other cause. It has been shown that non-IgM multiple myeloma is consistently preceded by MGUS [68, 69].

Investigations of familial WM have shown that a proportion of relatives of WM patients will be found to have IgM-MGUS if screened [70]. It is known that all first-degree relatives of WM patients are at increased risk of developing WM [71] and that familial WM may have poorer survival than sporadic [72]. It is not clear whether this increased familial WM risk reflects a higher prevalence of IgM-MGUS in relatives or is independent of it.

Based on these cumulative data, IgM-MGUS confers increased RR for subsequent development of WM, non-Hodgkin lymphoma, or chronic lymphocytic leukemia. The only consistent predictor of risk of progression is the size of the IgM M-protein at diagnosis. However, the absolute risk for an individual patient remains small, and most IgM-MGUS patients will never develop a lymphoproliferative malignancy.

11.5.2 Survival

MGUS patients overall appear to have a reduced life expectancy compared with the general population [50, 54, 73]. Three groups considered the impact of Ig subtype on survival. Gregersen [74] compared 1164 Danish MGUS patients with population data, demonstrating that deaths from malignant progression to multiple myeloma or lymphoproliferative malignancy (standardized mortality ratio [SMR] = 20.0; 95%CI, 16.2–24.4), non-hematologic malignancy (SMR = 2.3; 95%CI, 2.0–2.7), and nonmalignant causes (SMR = 1.8; 95%CI, 1.7-1.9) were more frequent in the MGUS cohort. The investigators went on to show that although malignant transformation was a major cause of death, it explained only one-fifth of the excess mortality among MGUS patients. Schaar [75] later conducted a prospective single-center study in the Netherlands that included 1464 patients with MGUS and confirmed that all MGUS patients had inferior survival compared to matched controls. Kristinsson [76] followed these studies with a population-based investigation of 4259 MGUS patients and 16,151 matched controls and concluded that MGUS patients had decreased life expectancy due to both malignant transformation and nonmalignant causes. These data therefore strongly suggest that MGUS

patients are at increased risk of dying from any cause compared to the general population. Questions remain regarding mortality related to IgM-MGUS, however. The Danish and Dutch studies found no difference in survival by Ig isotype, whereas the Swedish study found IgM-MGUS to be associated with superior survival compared to non-IgM-MGUS.

None of the previously mentioned specific studies of IgM-MGUS had survival as their primary endpoint (Table 11.1), and they varied in outcome definition. Morra [65] reported significantly increased event-free survival for IgM-MGUS compared to asymptomatic WM but concluded that there was no difference in overall survival between groups. Conversely, Baldini [64] reported a significantly better overall survival for IgM-MGUS patients compared to asymptomatic WM, noting that the median survival had not been reached for either group. The Minnesota study [61] took a yet different approach, calculating the rates of death due to causes other than plasmacytic or lymphoid malignancies (31 % at 5 years, 52 % at 10 years, and 65 % at 15 years). Median survival was 7 years, which was significantly shorter than expected among age- and sex-matched Minnesota residents (10.8 years; P < 0.001). In contrast, in a separate analysis of the Italian series, Gobbi [77] found a lower mortality (SMR = 0.42; 95%CI, 0.19–0.80) for 207 IgM-MGUS patients compared with that expected for the northern Italian population. The authors hypothesized that IgM-MGUS patients might enjoy a survival benefit due to increased medical surveillance following their diagnosis, permitting early diagnosis and treatment of cardiovascular risk factors (e.g., hypertension), second cancers, or infections. They further suggested that their results might differ from the Minnesota study because the Italian patients were younger (median age, 65 years vs. 74 years) and had lower M-protein (0.88 g/dL vs. 1.2 g/dL) at diagnosis.

11.6 Nonmalignant Clinical Correlates of IgM-MGUS

Although most patients with IgM-MGUS do not progress to malignancy, they are at risk for other comorbidities. Apart from the well-characterized IgM-mediated phenomena that are classified as IgM-related disorders, such as IgM-related peripheral neuropathy, there are numerous reports detailing co-occurrence of MGUS overall with a variety of other conditions. Given the high prevalence of MGUS in the general population, it is possible that many of these observed associations have occurred by chance [78]. Conversely, MGUS patients may have evidence of other disease manifestations prior to, or even in the absence of, progression to malignancy. Investigators have begun to address whether there are reproducible disease associations with MGUS overall, and some have included data for IgM-MGUS. For example, patients with IgM-MGUS may be at increased risk of infection. MGUS overall was found to be associated with increased risk of bacteremia in Denmark; nine cases of bacteremia were reported in IgM-MGUS patients, but these patients were not analyzed separately [79]. In a Swedish population registry study of 5326 MGUS patients and 20,161 matched controls, the 530 patients with IgM-MGUS were found to have significantly increased risk of any infection (hazard ratio [HR] = 1.7; 95%CI, 1.4–2.1), bacterial infections (HR = 1.7; 95%CI, 1.4–2.1), and viral infections (HR = 2.7; 95%CI, 1.3–5.7) at 10 years of follow-up [80]. Overall, the risk for infection was similar for patients with IgM- and non-IgM-MGUS, as well as for patients with an M-protein concentration less than 1 g/dL compared to greater than 1 g/dL. Furthermore, the risk did not appear to be related to patients' risk of progression to WM, suggesting that subclinical malignancy did not account for the results. Mechanistic studies suggest that susceptibility to infection, as well as poor vaccination responses, might be mediated by effects of the monoclonal protein on B-cell repertoire diversity and response [81]. Together, these data support the hypothesis that MGUS is associated with an underlying immunodeficiency.

Interestingly, while the skeletal complications of multiple myeloma are well known, it appears MGUS patients may also be at increased risk for fracture. Early studies found abnormal bone osteoclastic resorption in histomorphometric studies of bone biopsies from patients with MGUS, including IgM-MGUS, in progression to B-cell malignancy [82]. Although not replicated in all studies, these results were supported by investigations of serum markers of bone resorption in MGUS patients, including IgM-MGUS with and without progression to WM [83]. A follow-up study combined densitometric and morphometric indexes together with biochemical parameters of bone remodeling and confirmed that excessive bone resorption contributes to fractures in patients with MGUS, although only one patient with IgM-MGUS was included [84]. These results suggested that abnormal bone metabolism could occur in MGUS cases in the absence of malignancy. However, because of the small number of IgM-MGUS patients in these studies, questions remained regarding whether IgM-MGUS patients shared the fracture risk attributed to non-IgM-MGUS. These questions are important since bone manifestations are not a prominent feature of WM, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, or non-Hodgkin lymphoma, the most common malignant outcomes associated with IgM-MGUS. Melton [85] reported one of the first studies to analyze a substantial number of IgM-MGUS patients. In this population-based study of 488 MGUS patients (17% IgM), IgM-MGUS patients had an increased fracture risk compared to expected rates in the community (HR = 1.5; 95%CI, 1.02-2.1), exceeding that of patients with IgG-MGUS. Subsequently, Gregersen [86] conducted a case-control study of 1535 MGUS patients (299 IgM) and over 15,000 controls in Denmark to examine fracture risk. Because of concerns that some fractures observed in prior studies might have occurred in patients with smoldering malignancy misclassified as MGUS, the investigators excluded cases diagnosed with a relevant malignancy within a year following their MGUS diagnosis. Patients with IgM-MGUS were again noted to have significantly increased risk of fractures compared to controls (RR = 1.6; 95% CI, 1.1-2.2), despite adjustment for age, gender, comorbidity, and alcohol-related disease. Kristinsson [87] performed a similar investigation using Swedish registry data. In that study, risk of any fracture among 530 patients with IgM-MGUS was increased at 10 years (HR = 1.3; 95%CI, 1.0-1.6) but not at 5 years following diagnosis. Axial fractures accounted for most of the increased risk, and there was no difference in risk compared to non-IgM subtypes. All of the population-based studies were limited to some degree by lack of information on

potential confounders related to other conditions that might predispose to fracture risk and inability to perform assays of biochemical markers of bone metabolism or bone densitometry. A recent prospective clinically-based study also found no difference in fracture risk according to isotype [88]. It remains unclear whether the propensity to fracture is mediated in part by the monoclonal protein, disruptions in cytokine homeostasis, or some other mechanism.

In contrast to the findings for increased infection and fracture risks, another study in the same Swedish population showed that, unlike patients with non-IgM-MGUS, patients with IgM-MGUS did not have an increased risk for venous (HR = 1.0; 95%CI, 0.5–2.2) or arterial (HR = 0.8; 95%CI, 0.6–1.1) thrombosis compared with controls at 5 years of follow-up [89]. This null result was noted to be consistent with a series of WM patients treated with immunomodulatory agents, in whom no increased risk of venous thrombosis was observed [90]. However, in a population-based study from Sweden, an increased risk for venous but not arterial thrombosis was observed in patients with WM [91]. From these combined studies, it appears that IgM-MGUS patients are at risk for comorbidities in addition to cancer that may justify ongoing medical surveillance following diagnosis.

11.7 Conclusion

IgM-MGUS is an important premalignant condition. It shares many features common to all MGUS, but there is growing evidence that it differs in many important respects as well, including its racial distribution, clinical manifestations, genetics, spectrum of malignant outcomes, and mortality. It is worth repeating, however, that not all nonmalignant IgM monoclonal gammopathy is MGUS. Aside from syndromes such as hyper-IgM and POEMS, there is growing consensus that the category of IgM-related disorders is expanding to include, for example, skeletal and vascular outcomes. Furthermore, IgM-MGUS may indeed have clinical significance in some instances. To move the field forward, it will be important to harmonize definitions and to reach agreement about what nonmalignant phenotypes are truly attributable to IgM and should not be considered MGUS. For example, a recent Chinese survey of the clinical spectrum of IgM gammopathy found that only one-quarter of patients with nonmalignant IgM monoclonal gammopathy could be categorized as 'healthy', but not all identified comorbidities may be pathogenically related to IgM [92]. In the future, it would be highly desirable to target IgM-MGUS specifically in focused research studies. Moreover, because of institutional differences in case selection, population demographics, and detection methodology, large, well-coordinated consortial approaches are needed to harmonize approaches and to amass the numbers of cases required to conduct definitive analyses. Registry studies have provided valuable data, but many cancer registries do not routinely capture MGUS diagnoses and those that do often do not record immunoglobulin subtype data. Therefore, whenever possible, patients diagnosed with IgM-MGUS should be referred to an institution having an active research interest in it.

Familial relative risks for a patient with IgM-MGUS to develop WM are high. However, because of the rarity of WM in the general population, the absolute risk to an individual family member with IgM-MGUS is likely to be low. While valuable in the research context, routine screening for IgM-MGUS in relatives of WM patients is not recommended in clinical practice at present because of (1) the low rate of progression; (2) the inability to predict with precision which patients will progress; (3) the current lack of preventative or curative treatments for WM; and (4) the risk of inducing unwarranted psychosocial stress in both patients and their family members [93]. However, given the mounting evidence that MGUS patients may be at risk for both neoplastic and non-neoplastic complications, we recommend that, when discovered, IgM-MGUS patients should be followed for life. A few clinical trials have assessed possible prevention strategies, but to date there are no prevention or treatment strategies that have been proven effective. Future epidemiologic, genetic, and functional analyses should help to delineate the biological basis for the diverse outcomes associated with IgM-MGUS and may

References

 Owen RG, Treon SP, Al-Katib A, Fonseca R, Greipp PR, McMaster ML, Morra E, Pangalis GA, San Miguel JF, Branagan AR, Dimopoulos MA. Clinicopathological definition of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: consensus panel recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):110–5.

also provide insights into risk assessment, prognosis, and management.

- 2. Rajkumar SV, Dimopoulos MA, Palumbo A, Blade J, Merlini G, Mateos M-V, Kumar S, Hillengass J, Kastritis E, Richardson P, Landgren O, Paiva B, Dispenzieri A, Weiss B, Leleu X, Zweegman S, Lonial S, Rosinol L, Zamagni E, Jagannath S, Sezer O, Kristinsson SY, Caers J, Usmani SZ, Lahuerta JJ, Johnsen HE, Beksac M, Cavo M, Goldschmidt H, Terpos E, Kyle RA, Anderson KC, Durie BGM, San Miguel JF. International Myeloma Working Group updated criteria for the diagnosis of multiple myeloma. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(12):e538–48.
- 3. Keren DE. Procedures for the evaluation of monoclonal immunoglobulins. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 1999;123:126–32.
- Guinan JE, Kenny DF, Gatenby PA. Detection and typing of paraproteins: comparison of different methods in a routine diagnostic laboratory. Pathology. 1989;21:35–41.
- 5. Aguzzi E, Bergami MR, Gasparro C, Bellotti V, Merlini G. Occurrence of monoclonal components in general practice: clinical implications. Eur J Haematol. 1992;48:192–5.
- Kyle RA, Therneau TM, Rajkumar SV, Larson DR, Plevak MF, Offord JR, Dispenzieri A, Katzmann JA, Melton III LJ. Prevalence of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. N Engl J Med. 2006;354(13):1362–9.
- Murray DL, Seningen JL, Dispenzieri A, Snyder MR, Kyle RA, Rajkumar SV, Katzmann JA. Laboratory persistence and clinical progression of small monoclonal abnormalities. Am J Clin Pathol. 2012;138(4):609–13.
- Strobel SL. Transient paraproteinemia: an intriguing immunological anomaly. Ann Clin Lab Sci. 2003;33(3):265–70.
- Morra E, Cesana C, Kiersy C, Varettoni M, Cavanna L, Canesi B, Tresoldi E, Barbarano L, Lazzarino M. Predictive variables for malignant transformation in 452 patients with asymptomatic IgM monoclonal gammopathy. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):172–7.
- Dispenzieri A, Katzmann JA, Kyle RA, Larson DR, Melton III LJ, Colby CL, Therneau TM, Clark R, Kumar SK, Bradwell A, Fonseca R, Jelinek DF, Rajkumar SV. Prevalence and risk of

progression of light-chain monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance: a retrospective population-based cohort study. Lancet. 2010;375(9727):1721–8.

- 11. Drayson M, Tang L, Drew R, Mead G, Carr-Smith H, Bradwell A. Serum free light-chain measurements for identifying and monitoring patients with nonsecretory multiple myeloma. Blood. 2001;97:2900–2.
- Wood PB, McElroy YG, Stone MJ. Comparison of serum immunofixation electrophoresis and free light chain assays in the detection of monoclonal gammopathies. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2010;10(4):278–80.
- McMaster ML, Landgren O. Prevalence, clinical aspects and natural history of IgM MGUS. Cytometry B Clin Cytom. 2010;78 Suppl 1:S91–7.
- 14. Landgren O, Graubard BI, Katzmann JA, Kyle RA, Ahmadizadeh I, Clark R, Kumar SK, Dispenzieri A, Greenberg AJ, Therneau TM, Melton III LJ, Caporaso N, Korde N, Roschewski M, Costello R, McQuillan GM, Rajkumar SV. Racial disparities in the prevalence of monoclonal gammopathies: a population-based study of 12 482 persons from the National Health and Nutritional Examination Survey. Leukemia. 2014;28:1537–42.
- 15. Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, Garshell J, Miller D, Altekruse SF, Kosary CL, Yu M, Ruhl J, Tatalovich Z, Mariotto A, Lewis DR, Chen HS, Feuer EJ, Cronin KA, editors. SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975–2011. National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, MD. http://seer. cancer.gov/csr/1975_2011/, based on November 2013 SEER data submission, posted to the SEER website, April, 2014.
- 16. Landgren O, Gridley G, Turesson I, Caporaso NE, Goldin LR, Baris D, Fears TR, Hoover RN, Linet MS. Risk of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) and subsequent multiple myeloma among African American and white veterans in the United States. Blood. 2006;107(3):904–6.
- 17. Landgren O, Katzmann JA, Hsing AW, Pfeiffer RM, Kyle RA, Yeboah ED, Biritwum RB, Tettey Y, Adjei AA, Larson DR, Dispenzieri A, Melton III LJ, Goldin LR, McMaster ML, Caporaso NE, Rajkumar SV. Prevalence of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance among men in Ghana. Mayo Clin Proc. 2007;82(12):1468–73.
- 18. Landgren O, Rajkumar SV, Pfeiffer RM, Kyle RA, Katzmann JA, Dispenzieri A, Cai Q, Goldin LR, Caporaso NE, Fraumeni JF, Blot WJ, Signorello LB. Obesity is associated with an increased risk of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) among African-American and Caucasian women. Blood. 2010;116(7):1056–9.
- Wang H, Chen Y, Li F, Delasalle K, Wang J, Alexanian R, Kwak L, Rustveld L, Du XL, Wang M. Temporal and geographic variations of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia incidence: a large population-based study. Cancer. 2012;118(15):3793–800.
- 20. Iwanaga M, Tagawa M, Tsukasaki K, Kamihira S, Tomonaga M. Prevalence of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance: a study of 52,802 persons in Nagasaki City, Japan. Mayo Clin Proc. 2007;82(12):1474–9.
- 21. Wu SP, Minter A, Costello R, Zingone A, Lee C-K, Au W-Y, Landgren O. MGUS prevalence in an ethnically Chinese population in Hong Kong. Blood. 2013;121(12):2363–4.
- Watanaboonyongcharoen P, Nakorn TN, Rojnuckarin P, Lawasut P, Intragumtornchai T. Prevalence of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance in Thailand. Int J Hematol. 2012;95(2):176–81.
- 23. Park HK, Lee KR, Kim YJ, Cho HI, Eun Kim J, Woong Kim K, Jung Kim Y, Lee KW, Hyun Kim J, Bang SM, Lee JS. Prevalence of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance in an elderly urban Korean population. Am J Hematol. 2011;86(9):752–5.
- Ruiz-Argüelles GJ, Ruiz-Delgado GJ. On the prevalence and genetic predisposition of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS). Int J Hematol. 2012;96:144–5.
- 25. Cabrera Q, Macro M, Hebert B, Cornet E, Collignon A, Troussard X. Epidemiology of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS): the experience from the specialized registry of hematologic malignancies of Basse-Normandie (France). Cancer Epidemiol. 2014;38:354–6.

- Saleun JP, Vicariot M, Deroff P, Morin JF. Monoclonal gammopathies in the adult population of Finistère, France. J Clin Pathol. 1982;35(1):63–8.
- 27. Anagnostopoulos A, Evangelopoulou A, Sotou D, Gika D, Mitsibounas D, Dimopoulos MA. Incidence and evolution of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) in Greece. Ann Hematol. 2002;81(7):357–61.
- 28. Axelsson U, Bachmann R, Hällén J. Frequency of pathological proteins (M-components) in 6,995 sera from an adult population. Acta Med Scand. 1966;179:235–47.
- 29. Fine JM, Lambin P, Leroux P. Frequency of monoclonal gammopathy ('M components') in 13,400 sera from blood donors. Vox Sang. 1972;23:336–43.
- Lindqvist EK, Goldin LR, Landgren O, Blimark C, Mellqvist UH, Turesson I, Wahlin A, Björkholm M, Kristinsson SY. Personal and family history of immune-related conditions increase the risk of plasma cell disorders: a population-based study. Blood. 2011;118 (24):6284–91.
- 31. Landgren O, Kristinsson SY, Goldin LR, Caporaso NE, Blimark C, Meliqvist UH, Wahlin A, Bjorkholm M, Turesson I. Risk of plasma cell and lymphoproliferative disorders among 14621 first-degree relatives of 4458 patients with monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance in Sweden. Blood. 2009;114(4):791–5.
- 32. Vachon CM, Kyle RA, Therneau TM, Foreman BJ, Larson DR, Colby CL, Phelps TK, Dispenzieri A, Kumar SK, Katzmann JA, Rajkumar SV. Increased risk of monoclonal gammopathy in first-degree relatives of patients with multiple myeloma or monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Blood. 2009;114(4):785–90.
- 33. Grass S, Preuss K-D, Wikowicz A, Terpos E, Ziepert M, Nikolaus D, Yang Y, Fadle N, Regitz E, Dimopoulos MA, Treon SP, Hunter ZR, Pfreundschuh M. Hyperphosphorylated paratarg-7: a new molecularly defined risk factor for monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance of the IgM type and Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2011;117 (10):2918–23.
- Preuss K-D, Pfreundschuh M, Fadle N, Regitz E, Kubuschok B. Sumoylated HSP90 is a dominantly inherited plasma cell dyscrasias risk factor. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(1):316–23.
- 35. Kriangkum J, Taylor BJ, Reiman T, Belch AR, Pilarski LM. Origins of Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: does it arise from an unusual B-cell precursor? Clin Lymphoma. 2005;5 (4):217–9.
- 36. Sahota SS, Forconi F, Ottensmeier CH, Provan D, Oscier DG, Hamblin TJ, Stevenson FK. Typical Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia is derived from a B-cell arrested after cessation of somatic mutation but prior to isotype switch events. Blood. 2002;100(4):1505–7.
- 37. Martín-Jiménez P, García-Sanz R, Balanzategui A, Alcoceba M, Ocio E, Sanchez ML, González M, San Miguel J. Molecular characterization of heavy chain immunoglobulin gene rearrangements in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia and IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Haematologica. 2007;92:635–42.
- Rollett RA, Wilkinson EJ, Gonzalez D, Fenton JAL, Short MA, Evans PAS, Rawstron AC, Owen RG. Immunoglobulin heavy chain sequence analysis in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia and immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2006;7(1):70–2.
- McMaster ML, Giambarresi T, Vasquez L, Goldstein AM, Tucker MA. Cytogenetics of familial Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: in pursuit of an understanding of genetic predisposition. Clin Lymphoma. 2005;5(4):230–4.
- 40. Bergsagel PL, Kuehl WM. Molecular pathogenesis and a consequent classification of multiple myeloma. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(26):6333–8.
- 41. Schop RFJ, Van Wier SA, Xu R, Ghobrial I, Ahmann GJ, Greipp PR, Kyle RA, Dispenzieri A, Lacy MQ, Rajkumar SV, Gertz MA, Fonseca R. 6q deletion discriminates Waldenström macroglobulinemia from IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 2006;169:150–3.
- 42. Treon SP, Xu L, Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Cao Y, Sheehy P, Manning RJ, Patterson CJ, Tripsas C, Arcaini L, Pinkus GS, Rodig SJ, Sohani AR, Harris NL, Laramie JM, Skifter DA,

Lincoln SE, Hunter ZR. *MYD88* L265P somatic mutation in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(9):826–33.

- Landgren O, Staudt L. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in IgM MGUS. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(23):2255–6.
- 44. Varettoni M, Arcaini L, Zibellini S, Boveri E, Rattotti S, Riboni R, Corso A, Orlandi E, Bonfichi M, Gotti M, Pascutto C, Mangiacavalli S, Croci G, Fiaccadori V, Morello L, Guerrera ML, Paulli M, Cazzola M. Prevalence and clinical significance of the *MYD88* (L265P) somatic mutation in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia and related lymphoid neoplasms. Blood. 2013;121(13):2522–8.
- 45. Xu L, Hunter ZR, Yang G, Zhou Y, Cao Y, Liu X, Morra E, Trojani A, Greco A, Arcaini L, Varettoni M, Brown JR, Tai Y-T, Anderson KC, Munshi NC, Patterson CJ, Manning RJ, Tripsas CK, Lindeman NI, Treon SP. MYD88 L265P in Waldenström macroglobulinemia, immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathy, and other B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders using conventional and quantitative allele-specific polymerase chain reaction. Blood. 2013;121(11):2051–8.
- 46. Jiménez C, Sebastián E, Chillón MC, Giraldo P, Mariano Hernández J, Escalante F, González-López TJ, Aguilera C, de Coca AG, Murillo I, Alcoceba M, Balanzategui A, Sarasquete ME, Corral R, Marín LA, Paiva B, Ocio EM, Gutiérrez NC, San Miguel JF, Garcia-Sanz R. MYD88 L265P is a marker highly characteristic of, but not restricted to, Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Leukemia. 2013;27(8):1722–8.
- 47. McMaster ML, Goldin LR, Bai Y, Ter-Minassian M, Boehringer S, Giambarresi TR, Vasquez LG, Tucker MA. Genome wide linkage screen for Waldenström macroglobulinemia susceptibility loci in high-risk families. Am J Hum Genet. 2006;79(4):695–701.
- Braggio E, Fonseca R. Genomic abnormalities of Waldenström macroglobulinemia and related low-grade B-cell lymphomas. Clin Lymph Myeloma Leukemia. 2013;13(2):198–201.
- Baldini L, Guffanti A, Cesana BM, Colombi M, Chiorboli O, Damilano I, Maiolo AT. Role of different hematologic variables in defining the risk of malignant transformation in monoclonal gammopathy. Blood. 1996;87(3):912–8.
- Blade J, Lopez-Guillermo A, Rozman C, Cervantes F, Salgado C, Aguilar J-L, Vives-Corrons J-L, Montserrat E. Malignant transformation and life expectancy in monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Br J Haematol. 1992;81:391–4.
- 51. Colls BM. Monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) 31 year follow up of a community study. Aust NZ J Med. 1999;29(4):500–4.
- 52. Pasqualetti P, Casale R. Risk of malignant transformation in patients with monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Biomed Pharmacother. 1997;51:74–8.
- 53. van de Donk N, de Weerdt O, Eurelings M, Bloem A, Lokhorst H. Malignant transformation of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance: cumulative incidence and prognostic factors. Leuk Lymphoma. 2001;42(4):609–18.
- 54. van de Poel MHW, Coebergh JWW, Hillen HFP. Malignant transformation of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance among out-patients of a community hospital in Southeastern Netherlands. Br J Haematol. 1995;91:121–5.
- 55. Ögmundsdóttir HM, Haraldsdóttir V, Gudmundur MJ, Ólafsdótir G, Bjarnadóttir K, Sigvaldason H, Tulinius H. Monoclonal gammopathy in Iceland: a population-based registry and follow-up. Br J Haematol. 2002;118:166–73.
- 56. Gregersen H, Mellemkjaer L, Ibsen JS, Dahlerup JF, Thomassen L, Sørensen HT. The impact of M-component type and immunoglobulin concentration on the risk of malignant transformation in patients with monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Haematologica. 2001;86(11):1172–9.
- 57. Cesana C, Klersy C, Barbarano L, Nosari AM, Crugnola M, Pungolino E, Gargantini L, Granata S, Valentini M, Morra E. Prognostic factors for malignant transformation in monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance and smoldering multiple myeloma. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(6):1625–34.

- Turreson I, Kovalchik SA, Pfeiffer RM, Kristinsson SY, Goldin LR, Drayson MT, Landgren O. Monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance and risk of lymphoid and myeloid malignancies: 728 cases followed up to 30 years in Sweden. Blood. 2014;123(3):338–45.
- 59. Waldmann TA, Strober W. Metabolism of immunoglobulins. Prog Allergy. 1969;13:1–110.
- 60. Rajkumar SV, Kyle RA, Therneau TM, Melton III LJ, Bradwell AR, Clark RJ, Larson DR, Plevak MF, Dispenzieri A, Katzmann JA. Serum free light chain ratio is an independent risk factor for progression in monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Blood. 2005;106(3):812–7.
- Kyle RA, Therneau TM, Rajkumar SV, Remstein ED, Offord JR, Larson DR, Plevak MF, Melton III LJ. Long-term follow-up of IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Blood. 2003;102(10):3759–64.
- 62. Montoto S, Rozman M, Rosiñol L, Nadal E, Giné E, Aymerich M, Ferrer A, Esteve J, Bosch F, López-Guillermo A, Bladé J, Montserrat E. Malignant transformation in IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):178–81.
- Morra E, Cesana C, Klersy C, Barbarano L, Miqueleiz S, Varettoni M, Lucchesini C, Ricci F, Lazzarino M. Prognostic factors for transformation on asymptomatic immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathies. Clin Lymphoma. 2005;5(4):265–9.
- 64. Baldini L, Goldaniga M, Guffanti A, Broglia C, Cortelazzo S, Rossi A, Morra E, Columbi M, Callea V, Pogliani E, Ilariucci F, Luminari S, Morel P, Merlini G, Gobbi P. Immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathies of undetermined significance and indolent Waldenström's macro-globulinemia recognize the same determinants of evolution into symptomatic lymphoid disorders: proposal for a common prognostic scoring system. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23 (21):4662–8.
- 65. Morra E, Cesana C, Klersy C, Barbarano L, Varettoni M, Cavanna L, Canesi B, Tresoldi E, Miqueleiz S, Bernuzzi P, Nosari AM, Lazzarino M. Clinical characteristics and factors predicting evolution of asymptomatic IgM monoclonal gammopathies and IgM-related disorders. Leukemia. 2004;18:1512–7.
- 66. Kyle RA, Benson JT, Larson DR, Therneau TM, Dispenzieri A, Kumar S, Melton III JM, Rajkumar SV. Progression in smoldering Waldenström macroglobulinemia: long-term results. Blood. 2012;119(19):4462–6.
- Steingrimsdottir H, Haraldsdottir V, Olafsson Í, Gudnason V, Ogmundsdottir H. Monoclonal gammopathy: natural history studied with a retrospective approach. Haematologica. 2007;92 (8):1131–4.
- Landgren O, Kyle RA, Pfeiffer RM, Katzmann JA, Caporaso NE, Hayes RB, Dispenzieri A, Kumar S, Clark RJ, Baris D, Hoover R, Rajkumar SV. Monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) consistently precedes multiple myeloma: a prospective study. Blood. 2009;113(22):5412–7.
- 69. Weiss BM, Abadie J, Verma P, Howard RS, Kuehl WM. A monoclonal gammopathy precedes multiple myeloma in most patients. Blood. 2009;113(22):5418–22.
- McMaster ML, Csako G. Protein electrophoresis, immunoelectrophoresis and immunofixation electrophoresis as predictors for high-risk phenotype in familial Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Int J Cancer. 2008;122(5):1183–8.
- Kristinsson SY, Björkholm M, Goldin LR, McMaster ML, Turesson I, Landgren O. Risk of lymphoproliferative disorders among first-degree relatives of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/ Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia patients: a population-based study in Sweden. Blood. 2008;112(8):3052–6.
- Steingrímsson V, Lund SH, Turesson I, Goldin LR, Björkholm M, Landgren O, Kristinsson SY. Population-based study on the impact of the familial form of Waldenström macroglobulinemia on overall survival. Blood. 2015;125(13):2174–5.
- 73. Kyle RA. 'Benign' monoclonal gammopathy after 20-35 years of follow-up. Mayo Clin Proc. 1993;68:26–36.

- 74. Gregersen H, Ibsen JS, Mellemkjær L, Dahlerup JF, Olsen JH, Sørensen HT. Mortality and causes of death in patients with monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Br J Haematol. 2001;112:353–7.
- 75. Schaar CG, le Cessie S, Snijder S, Franck PFH, Wijermans PW, Ong C, Kluin-Nelemans H. Long-term follow-up of a population based cohort with monoclonal proteinaemia. Br J Haematol. 2008;144:176–84.
- 76. Kristinsson SY, Björkholm M, Andersson TM-L, Eloranta S, Dickman PW, Goldin LR, Blimark C, Mellqvist U-H, Wahlin A, Turesson I, Landgren O. Patterns of survival and causes of death following a diagnosis of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance: a population-based study. Haematologica. 2009;94(12):1714–20.
- 77. Gobbi PG, Baldini L, Broglia C, Goldaniga M, Comelli M, Morel P, Morra E, Cortelazzo S, Bettini R, Merlini G. Prognostic validation of the international classification of immunoglobulin M gammopathies: a survival advantage for patients with immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance? Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(5):1786–90.
- Bida JP, Kyle RA, Therneau TM, Melton III LJ, Plevak MF, Larson DR, Dispenzieri A, Katzmann JA, Rajkumar SV. Disease associations with monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance: a population-based study of 17,398 patients. Mayo Con Proc. 2009;84 (8):685–93.
- 79. Gregersen H, Madsen KM, Sørensen HT, Schønheyder HC, Ibsen JS, Dahlerup JF. The risk of bacteremia in patients with monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Eur J Haematol. 1998;61(2):140–2.
- Kristinsson SY, Tang M, Pfeiffer RM, Björkholm M, Goldin LR, Blimark C, Mellqvist U-H, Wahlin A, Turesson I, Landgren O. Monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance and risk of infections: a population-based study. Haematologica. 2012;97(6):854–8.
- Tete SM, Kipling D, Westra J, de Haan A, Bijl M, Dunn-Walters DK, Sahota SS, Bos NA. Monoclonal paraprotein influences baseline B-cell repertoire diversity and perturbates influenza vaccination-induced B-cell response. Exp Hematol. 2015;43:439–47.
- Bataille R, Chappard D, Alexandre C, Dessauw P, Sany J. Importance of quantitative histology of bone changes in monoclonal gammopathy. Br J Cancer. 1986;53:805–10.
- 83. Vejlgaard T, Abildgaard N, Jans H, Nielsen JL, Heickendorff L. Abnormal bone turnover in monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance: analyses of type I collagen telopeptide, osteocalcin, bone-specific alkaline phosphatase and propeptides of type I and type III procollagens. Eur J Haematol. 1997;58:104–8.
- 84. Pepe J, Petrucci MT, Nofornoi I, Fassino V, Diacinti D, Romagnoli E, Minisola S. Lumbar bone mineral density as the major factor determining increased prevalence of vertebral fractures in monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Br J Haematol. 2006;134:485–90.
- Melton III LJ, Rajkumar SV, Khosla S, Achenbach SJ, Oberg AL, Kyle RA. Fracture risk in monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. J Bone Miner Res. 2004;19:25–30.
- 86. Gregersen H, Jensen P, Gislum M, Jørgensen B, Sørensen HT, Nørgaard M. Fracture risk in patients with monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Br J Haematol. 2006;135:62–7.
- Kristinsson SY, Tang M, Pfeiffer RM, Björkholm M, Blimark C, Mellqvist U-H, Wahlin A, Turesson I, Landgren O. Monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance and risk of skeletal fractures: a population-based study. Blood. 2010;116(15):2651–5.
- 88. Piot JM, Royer M, Schmidt-Tanguy A, Hoppé E, Gardembas M, Bourrée T, Hunault M, François S, Boyer F, Ifrah N, Renier G, Chevailler A, Audran M, Chappard D, Libouban H, Mabilleau G, Legrand E, Bouvard B. Factors associated with an increased risk of vertebral fracture in monoclonal gammopathies of undetermined significance. Blood Cancer J. 2016;5: e345. doi:10.1038/bcj.2015.71.
- 89. Kristinsson SY, Pfeiffer RM, Björkholm M, Goldin LR, Schulman S, Blimark C, Mellqvist U-H, Wahlin A, Turesson I, Landgren O. Arterial and venous thrombosis in monoclonal

gammopathy of undetermined significance and multiple myeloma: a population-based study. Blood. 2010;115(24):4991–8.

- Treon SP, Soumerai JD, Branagan AR, Hunter ZR, Patterson CJ, Ioakimidis L, Chu L, Musto P, Baron AD, Nunnink JC, Kash JJ, Terjanian TO, Hyman PM, Nawfel EL, Sharon DJ, Munshi NC, Anderson KC. Lenalidomide and rituximab in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(1):355–60.
- Hultcrantz M, Pfeiffer RM, Björkholm M, Goldin LR, Turesson I, Schulman S, Landgren O, Kristinsson SY. Elevated risk of venous but not arterial thrombosis in Waldenström macroglobulinemia/lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. J Thromb Haemost. 2014;12(11):1816–21.
- 92. Cao XX, Meng Q, Mao YY, Su W, Zhen JF, Shen KN, Zhang CL, Huang XF, Duan MH, Zhang W, Zhu TN, Cai HC, Chen M, Zhou DB, Li J. The clinical spectrum of IgM monoclonal gammopathy: a single center retrospective study of 377 patients. Leukemia Res. 2016;46:85–8.
- Go R, Doyle LM. A monoclonal gammopathy in search of clinical significance: 57 years later. Blood. 2009;114(11):2355–6.

Part III

Clinical Features

Hyperviscosity Syndrome, Cold Agglutinin Hemolytic Anemia, and Cryoglobulinemia

Marvin J. Stone and Sigbjorn Berentsen

Morbidity in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (WM) is caused by the bone marrow lymphoma infiltration itself and/or by effects of the IgM production. This chapter describes some specific clinicopathological manifestations mediated by the physicochemical or immunological properties of monoclonal IgM.

12.1 Hyperviscosity Syndrome

Hyperviscosity syndrome (HVS) is a clinical feature in 10–30 % of patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (WM), sometimes as its presenting manifestation [1]. HVS occasionally accompanies other conditions, such as multiple myeloma, rheumatoid disease, polycythemia, sickle cell disease, leukemia, and spherocytosis. The latter four cellular causes of HVS are beyond the scope of this discussion. The purpose of this section is to discuss the characteristic features of HVS secondary to elevated plasma or serum viscosity and evaluate evidence supporting various diagnostic and treatment approaches.

In searching the Medline database on hyperviscosity syndrome, 594 English language references were listed back to 1965. Observational studies, systemic reviews, or case studies were included. No randomized trials on management of HVS were identified.

M.J. Stone, MD, MACP (🖂)

Baylor University Medical Center, Hematology & Oncology, Prestonshire Lane 6231, 75225 Dallas, TX, USA e-mail: marvstonemd@gmail.com

S. Berentsen, MD, PhD Department of Medicine, Haugesund Hospital, Haugesund, Norway

Clinical Institute 2, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway e-mail: sigbjorn.berentsen@haugnett.no

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 V. Leblond et al. (eds.), *Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_12

12.1.1 Methods to Measure Viscosity

Viscosity refers to resistance to flow or stickiness, from the Latin word "viscum alba" for mistletoe [2]. (Mistletoe berries were once used to make viscous glue.) Viscosity is classically measured in one of two ways: by determining the rate of fluid flow as a result of applying a predefined force and by measuring the amount of force required to achieve a predefined rate of fluid flow.

Although HVS is caused by hyperviscous blood, clinical laboratories generally only measure the serum or plasma component. Serum or plasma display Newtonian properties in that viscosity is independent of pressure drop or velocity gradient. Consequently, the method of measurement will not dramatically affect the test result. By contrast, whole blood viscosity is complex because of the suspension of red cells in plasma, resulting in non-Newtonian behavior. Different methods of measurement can yield various results.

In WM, serum or plasma viscosity measurements reflect the amount and properties of the IgM paraprotein. Monoclonal IgMs display a wide range of intrinsic viscosity values (0.106-0.162 dL/g), each protein having individual properties [3, 4]. However, relative viscosity values are highly reproducible for any individual protein. IgM is a star-shaped pentamer with a molecular size of 925 kDa (IgG is 150 kDa and albumin is 65 kDa). Thus it is not surprising that this giant IgM molecule, which is 80% intravascular, exerts profound effects on blood flow and cells, especially when present in the high concentrations found in WM patients.

In measuring serum or plasma viscosity, we suggest using the Ostwald method because of its simplicity, reproducibility, and clinical correlation [5].

12.1.2 Clinical Presentation

HVS was described by Jan Waldenström in his original 1944 report of two patients with macroglobulinemia [6]. Bleeding, usually skin and mucosal, is the most common manifestation of HVS. Blurred vision, headache, vertigo, dizziness, nys-tagmus, deafness, and ataxia also occur in HVS [1, 6–8]. Patients with severe HVS may have confusion, dementia, stroke, or coma. Heart failure and other cardiovascular signs are less common. Patients with WM have an increased blood volume because of an expanded plasma volume [9]. Thus a component of the anemia in WM is dilutional. Plasma volume expansion correlates with the rise in relative serum viscosity. HVS may be suspected because of abnormal results in antibody screening in the blood bank.

Most patients with HVS have WM. Normal viscosity measured with an Ostwald tube is 1.4-1.8 relative to water. HVS is unlikely unless the serum viscosity is greater than 4 [1, 5, 7–10]. For patients with an IgG paraprotein, such as in multiple myeloma, the increase in serum viscosity is approximately proportional to the concentration of the paraprotein. For IgM paraproteins above a concentration of 3 g/dL, relative viscosity can rise exponentially.

Fig. 12.1 Funduscopic appearance of patient with WM and mixed cryoglobulinemia. Note the marked retinal venous engorgement and "sausaging." The *white material* at the edge of the veins may be cryoglobulins. Serum from this patient is shown in Fig. 12.3



Viscosity levels in HVS vary significantly between patients. Such variation is the result, in part, of the previously mentioned wide range of intrinsic viscosity values noted in monoclonal macroglobulins. However, viscosity values correlate closely with signs and symptoms in the same patient ("symptomatic threshold") [1, 5, 7, 8, 11]. HVS can be diagnosed from the physical examination by the funduscopic finding of marked retinal venous engorgement resembling hot dogs on a string (i.e., "sausaging" Fig. 12.1) [5, 7, 8, 11]. Hemorrhages, exudates, microaneurysms, papilledema, and an appearance indistinguishable from central retinal vein occlusion may be seen in later stages. Prompt diagnosis of HVS from the eye examination enables the institution of appropriate therapy, i.e., plasmapheresis. In addition to raising plasma viscosity, macroglobulin coats red cells, leading to the characteristic stacking appearance (rouleaux) on peripheral blood smear in WM patients. Protein coating also contributes to a platelet functional defect that further accentuates the bleeding tendency.

The presence of cryoglobulinemia can result in a strikingly temperaturedependent elevation of serum viscosity in WM patients [12] (see Sect. 12.3). Most cryoglobulins are mixed monoclonal IgM-polyclonal IgG immune complexes with rheumatoid factor activity (type II). These antigen-antibody complexes have high thermal amplitude and precipitate at lower concentrations than singlecomponent (type I) monoclonal cryoglobulins.

12.1.3 Treatment of HVS

Plasmapheresis, first carried out manually for macroglobulinemia in the late 1950s, was demonstrated to reverse retinopathy and other clinical manifestations in most

patients with HVS [14, 15]. In common usage, the terms plasmapheresis and plasma exchange are used interchangeably. Plasmapheresis remains effective short-term treatment for HVS in WM because of the demonstrated correlation between IgM levels and serum viscosity and the 80% intravascular location of IgM. A relatively small reduction in IgM concentration has a significant effect on lowering serum viscosity. Because bleeding is the most common sign of HVS, urgent plasmapheresis using a cell separator should be carried out for patients experiencing visual symptoms to reduce the likelihood of blindness from retinal hemorrhages/retinal detachment [16]. Plasmapheresis can reverse HVS-induced retinal changes promptly, by reducing retinal venous diameter and increased venous blood viscosity [17]. Retinal examination findings correlate with symptomatic threshold for HVS in WM patients. Some WM patients can be managed predominantly with plasmapheresis [1, 5, 7, 18, 19]. Because plasma exchange does not affect the underlying disease process, systemic or pharmacologic therapy is often begun concomitantly. Initially, plasmapheresis can be carried out daily and then spaced out at longer intervals to keep the viscosity below the symptomatic threshold for that particular patient. Plasma exchange reduces plasma viscosity approximately 20-30 % per session [20]. Serial serum viscosity can be monitored daily to decide about further plasmapheresis. Generally, 1–1.5 plasma volumes are exchanged per session. Fluid replacement usually consists of albumin and saline in various proportions. Plasmapheresis is generally a safe and well-tolerated procedure. Various modifications of the apheresis procedure have been used for removal of paraprotein in patients with cryoglobulinemia (see Sect. 12.3 later in this chapter).

It is usually not necessary to plasmapherese patients down to normal viscosity to relieve symptoms. One potential exception is illustrated by a female patient with documented WM, who developed peripheral neuropathy associated with monoclonal IgM anti-myelin-associated glycoprotein antibody [8, 19]. Because her neurologic symptoms reproducibly recurred above a serum viscosity of 2.5–3, we sought to maintain the viscosity below 2.5 with frequent plasmapheresis. During a 23-year period, this patient underwent approximately 400 plasmapheresis procedures with little chemotherapy other than corticosteroids. Her prolonged course raises the possibility that patients with monoclonal IgM antibodies that produce neuropathy or other target organ dysfunction may benefit from a more aggressive effort to maintain serum viscosity near normal. Prospective clinical trials will be necessary to confirm this anecdotal observation.

Transient increases in IgM levels after single-agent rituximab therapy ("flares") occur in 30–70 % of WM patients [21, 22]. It has been recommended that plasmapheresis be carried out in advance of rituximab therapy if serum viscosity is more than 3.5 cp or IgM level is greater than 5 g/dL. The mechanism of the rituximab flare may involve release of IL-6 after stimulation of monocytes. The flare phenomenon may become less of a problem with combination regimens that administer bortezomib or cytotoxic chemotherapy before rituximab.

Although randomized trials of this procedure in HVS are lacking, plasmapheresis remains a valuable adjunct to the treatment of some patients with WM. It should be carried out urgently in high-risk HVS patients. HVS occurs uncommonly in myeloma [5]. Patients with the unusual IgG3 subclass are more likely to develop HVS than other myeloma patients because of concentration-dependent aggregation. Although IgG is only 40% intravascular, plasmapheresis should be instituted in myeloma-associated HVS. HVS also occurs occasionally in IgA and light chain myeloma because of formation of polymers. Rheumatoid HVS is rare and may develop from aggregates of rheumatoid factor or intermediate IgG complexes.

Observational studies have consistently demonstrated that plasmapheresis can promptly reverse most clinical manifestations of serum HVS [5, 23]. Thus early diagnosis is crucial. The concept of a symptomatic threshold in individual patients seems valid. Maintaining serum viscosity below each patient's symptomatic threshold effectively prevents recurrent HVS. Plasmapheresis is sometimes necessary as an emergency procedure and is a useful maintenance therapy in selected patients. Vigorous plasmapheresis in WM patients with autoreactive IgM antibodies requires further study.

12.1.4 Conclusion

Although controlled trials for treatment of serum HVS are lacking, experience with management of patients by plasmapheresis has consistently demonstrated efficacy. Most signs and symptoms are reversible with prompt diagnosis and treatment. HVS is readily diagnosed on funduscopic examination, treatable with plasmapheresis, and monitored with serum or plasma viscosity measurements [5]. Plasmapheresis is usually well tolerated and safe. When patients are maintained at a level below their symptomatic threshold, clinical manifestations of the syndrome are usually prevented [23]. Whether patients having IgM proteins with autoantibody activity and consequent immune-mediated organ damage should be more aggressively pheresed is unknown, but this approach warrants a prospective therapeutic trial.

12.2 Cold Agglutinin-Mediated Hemolytic Anemia

In general, approximately 15% of autoimmune hemolytic anemias (AIHA) are classified as primary chronic cold agglutinin disease (CAD). This well-defined entity should be distinguished from secondary cold agglutinin syndrome (CAS), which occasionally complicates specific infections and malignancies [24]. The cold agglutinins (CA) are monoclonal IgM-kappa in more than 90% of patients with CAD, nearly always with specificity for the carbohydrate antigen I on the erythrocyte surface.

12.2.1 Diagnosis

In some patients, CAD can be suspected from the history; in others, the presence of CA is demonstrated after agglutination in blood samples in the hematology laboratory or observation of red cell agglutinates in the peripheral blood smear. The diagnostic criteria for CAD are chronic hemolytic anemia, direct antiglobulin test (DAT) positivity for complement protein fragment 3d (C3d), CA titer \geq 64 at 4 °C, and no malignant disease other than low-grade B-cell disorders [24]. Evidence of clonality and the presence of cold-induced circulatory symptoms are considered confirmatory but not required for diagnosis. Blood specimens for CA titration and serum immunoglobulin analysis (including electrophoresis and, if required, immunofixation) must be kept at 37–38 °C from sampling until serum is removed from the clot.

12.2.2 Relationship Between CAD and WM

Although anemia is a major clinical manifestation in WM, the anemia is usually not hemolytic. When AIHA does occur in WM, the hemolysis is CA mediated in most cases. In a series of 122 untreated patients with WM, 3% had CA-mediated hemolytic anemia [25]. Among the 172 individuals with monoclonal IgM in serum, CA with anti-I-specificity was found in titers between 512 and 65,536 in 8.5% of the patients [13].

The frequencies of specific lymphoproliferative disorders in CAD have been studied in two series of more than 85 patients each [26, 27]. In one series, lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma (LPL) was reported in 50% of the patients. Only 10% had been diagnosed with WM in the other study; this retrospective series which went back to 1970, however, reported IgM-MGUS in 61% of the patients. Thus, the difference in frequency of WM/LPL between the two series may be a matter of method, classification, and sensitivity. Within each series, there was a striking heterogeneity in hematological and pathological classification of the underlying lymphoproliferative disorder [26, 27].

The explanation for this perceived heterogeneity has probably been revealed by a recent study in which bone marrow biopsy and aspirate samples from 54 patients with CAD were systematically reexamined by a group of lymphoma pathologists, using a standardized panel of morphological, immunohistochemical, flow cytometric, and molecular methods [28]. The findings were consistent with a surprisingly homogeneous disorder termed "primary cold agglutinin-associated lymphoproliferative disease" by the authors and distinct from LPL, marginal zone lymphoma, and other previously recognized lymphoma entities. Intertrabecular nodular infiltration of clonal B-cell aggregates was seen in 74 % of the biopsy specimens, while the remaining 26 % showed only few and scattered clonal B cells. In those with aggregates, infiltration varied between 5 % and 80 % of the intertrabecular surface, with a median of 10 %. The *MYD88* L265P mutation could not be identified in samples from CAD patients. Somatically mutated clonal

IGHV4-34 gene rearrangement was found in all of eight fresh-frozen samples; mean sequence homology was 95.4 %.

These findings may indicate that most patients diagnosed with "WM and CAD" do not have typical WM but a distinct type of IgM-producing clonal lymphoproliferation specific for CAD [28]. The presence or absence of the *MYD88* L265P mutation should be determined in such cases. In CAD-associated lymphoproliferative disease, the cumulative rate of transformation to aggressive lymphoma is very low (probably 3–4%), and the survival of the patients does not differ significantly from that of an age-matched general population [26].

12.2.3 Role of Complement

The CA-initiated destruction of red blood cells in CAD is entirely complement dependent [29, 30]. Cooling of blood during passage through acral parts of the circulation allows CA to bind to erythrocytes and cause agglutination. The antigenantibody complex binds complement protein 1 (C1) and thereby triggers the classical complement pathway. C1 esterase activates C4 and C2, generating C3 convertase which cleaves C3 into C3a and C3b. Upon rewarming in the central parts of the circulation, CA detaches from the cell surface, allowing agglutinated cells to separate from each other, while C3b remains bound. C3b-opsonized erythrocytes are sequestered by macrophages of the reticuloendothelial system in the liver (extravascular hemolysis). On the surface of the surviving red blood cells, C3b is cleaved, generating C3d. These mechanisms explain why the monospecific DAT is strongly positive for C3d and, in a majority, negative for IgM and IgG (Fig. 12.2).

Complement activation may proceed beyond the C3b formation step, resulting in C5 cleavage, formation of the membrane attack complex, and intravascular hemolysis. Classical isotope studies as well as a recent in vitro study have shown, however, that clinically significant activation of the terminal complement pathway does not occur in most patients [29, 30]. The major mechanism of hemolysis in stable disease, therefore, is the extravascular destruction of C3b-coated erythrocytes. Despite this, C5-mediated intravascular hemolysis does occur in severe acute exacerbations and in some profoundly hemolytic patients, as evidenced by the frequent finding of hemosiderinuria, hemoglobinuria in 15% of the patients, and a beneficial effect of C5 inhibition by eculizumab in at least occasional patients (Fig. 12.2) [26, 27, 32].

12.2.4 Clinical Manifestations

In some patients, hemolytic anemia is mild; occasional patients have a fully compensated hemolysis. Median hemoglobin level, however, was 8.9 g/dL in a series of 86 unselected patients, with a lower tertile at 8.0 g/dL and lower range at 4.5 g/dL [26]. Hemolytic anemia often shows characteristic seasonal variations. At



least in a cool climate, 90% of the patients have cold-induced acrocyanosis or Raynaud's phenomenon which can vary between slight and disabling. Approximately 75% of the patients experience exacerbation of hemolytic anemia in febrile diseases or following major trauma or surgery. The probable explanation for such "paradoxical" exacerbation is that in stable, chronic CAD, most patients are complement depleted with low levels of C3 and very low levels of C4. During acute phase reaction, complement levels are repleted and exacerbation of hemolysis ensues [24].

12.2.5 Therapy

Patients with very mild anemia and no or negligible cold-induced circulatory symptoms can be managed just by warm clothing and avoidance of cold. Descriptive studies from Norway and the United States have shown, however, that 73 % and 82 % of the patients, respectively, had received pharmacological therapy [26, 27]. Corticosteroids and other unspecific immunosuppression should not be used for the treatment of CAD. Less than 20 % respond to corticosteroids, and, in

the few responders, unacceptably high doses are often required to maintain the remission [24, 26].

The relative success in treatment of CAD during the last 10-12 years has been achieved by targeting the pathogenic B-cell clone. Rituximab monotherapy produces remission rates of about 50% and approximately 12 months of median response duration [33, 34]. Fludarabine and rituximab combination therapy has resulted in 75% remission rate (20% complete remissions) and median response duration of more than 66 months, however with some toxicity [35]. Remission following bortezomib-based regimens or the combination of bendamustine and rituximab has been reported in single cases.

Given that hemolysis in CAD is entirely complement mediated, complement modulation would be an alternative therapeutic approach (Fig. 12.2) [30-32]. Improvement during therapy with the anti-C5 monoclonal antibody eculizumab has been observed in single cases [32]. In vitro experiments have shown that TNT003, a mouse monoclonal antibody targeting C1s serine protease, prevented CA-induced, complement-mediated lysis of human red blood cells. TNT003 completely inhibited CA-induced deposition of C3 fragments on erythrocytes at the same antibody concentration that stopped hemolysis. The monoclonal antibody also inhibited erythrophagocytosis by a phagocytic cell line efficiently suppressed the classical pathway-driven generation and of anaphylatoxins C4a, C3a, and C5a. Furthermore, compstatin Cp40, а low-molecular peptide that inhibits cleavage of C3, has been shown in vitro to prevent complement-mediated lysis of erythrocytes from patients with paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria but has not been tested in the CAD setting [36].

Complement modulation is currently not an evidence-based therapeutic approach in CAD. If safe and efficacious inhibitors can be developed, however, such drugs would enable rapidly acting therapy for acute exacerbations following acute phase reaction as well as treatment of severely affected patients not responding to immunochemotherapy.

Erythrocyte transfusions can safely be given in CAD provided some specific precautions are observed [24]. Antibody screening and, if required, compatibility tests should be performed at 37 °C. The patient and, in particular, the extremity used for infusion should be kept warm, and most authors recommend the use of an in-line blood warmer.

12.3 Cryoglobulinemia

Cryoglobulins (cryos) are immunoglobulins (Ig) in plasma or serum that precipitate (ppt) or gel at <37 °C and dissolve on rewarming. The presence of a cryoglobulin indicates a monoclonal gammopathy, an immune complex, or both. Cryofibrinogen is a normal component of plasma and not present in serum. The role of cryofibrinogen in clinical disease is unclear.

Cryos were first described by Wintrobe and Buell in a 57-year-old female with cold sensitivity and multiple myeloma [37]. Cryos may be monoclonal single

component (type I) that are usually IgM or IgG. Type II cryos are mixed monoclonal IgM—polyclonal IgG. The IgM is an antibody (Ab) to the IgG antigen (Ag) [38, 39]. These are rheumatoid factor positive, often in high titer. Occasionally the Ab is IgG. Type III cryos are mixed polyclonal Ab-Ag (90% IgM-IgG). In Dallas, 70% of cryos are mixed type II and 20% single monoclonal component type I [40]. Complement components and viral RNA may be present in the mixed type II cryoprecipitate.

The incidence of cryos varies considerably in different series and locales. The frequency is especially high in Italy [41]. Some patients with cryos are asymptomatic but others have a variety of manifestations including purpura, arthralgias, weakness, acrocyanosis, Raynaud's phenomenon, peripheral neuropathy, leg ulcers, gangrene, and renal functional impairment [41]. Kidney involvement is most frequently manifested as membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis [42].

If a cryoglobulin is suspected, proper specimen collection is essential. The blood must be drawn and allowed to clot at 37 °C. The quantity of cryoprecipitate can be underestimated or totally lost if the blood sample is not collected and processed at 37 °C.

Formation of the cryoprecipitate or gel typically occurs within 48–72 h at 4 °C and often within minutes (Fig. 12.3). Single-component cryos (type I) are usually IgM or IgG and are often concentration dependent. Type II mixed cryos are composed of monoclonal IgM Ab bound to the Fc portion of polyclonal IgG Ag. Either isolated reactant is soluble but the cryoprecipitability is due to the immune *complex* [11, 12, 39, 40]. Thermal amplitude (temperature at which the cryo precipitates) is often quite high (near 37 °C) with mixed cryos. Therefore, careful collection and processing are even more important if accurate quantification is to be determined. Mixed IgM-IgG cryos have higher thermal amplitude and precipitate at lower concentrations than single-component cryos [40]. Cryocrit measurement is not an accurate method for quantifying either singly or serially.

Fig. 12.3 Serum from patient Sie at 4 °C and 37 °C on September 20, 2002. This specimen was collected on March 30, 1970. The antibody activity of this Waldenström's macroglobulin was demonstrated in [8, 11, 12]. Stone et al., Semin Oncol 30: 318–324, 2003 [13]



After proper collection, measurement of the redissolved cryo is best achieved by protein concentration and immunologic methods.

Type II mixed cryos are associated with hepatitis C. Mixed cryos with hepatitis C may indicate a preneoplastic condition. Some patients with hepatitis C develop non-Hodgkin's lymphoma including Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (WM). It is possible that hepatitis C virus is involved in multistep lymphomagenesis in certain patients [41, 43, 44].

Chronic B-cell stimulation may result from HCV infection leading to antigendriven expansion. B-cell clones producing monoclonal IgM rheumatoid factor can be found in the peripheral blood, bone marrow, and liver, which bind to anti-HCV antibodies. Intrahepatic B cells are able to synthesize rheumatoid factors with a major cross-reactive idiotype (WA). Thus HCV may have a role in driving B-cell expansion including rheumatoid factor-producing cells. It is possible that type III (polyclonal) cryos precede the development of type II mixed cryos with monoclonal IgM.

Either type I or II cryos can be associated with WM.

12.3.1 Treatment

Therapy of cryoglobulinemia is based on severity of clinical manifestations and etiology [41, 45]. In asymptomatic patients, treatment may not be necessary. Since type I single-component cryos are often concentration dependent, treatment to reduce the M-component—plasmapheresis and chemotherapy—is often effective. By contrast, mixed type II cryos are often associated with hepatitis C. Therefore, sequential or combination antiviral therapy may be employed [41, 45]. Biologic therapy to reduce B-cell proliferation is frequently added. Cryos can dramatically worsen hyperviscosity syndrome [5, 12]. Urgent plasmapheresis is indicated for HVS with cryoglobulinemia [5, 8, 11]. Monoclonal Ab (rituximab), plasmapheresis, and chemotherapy are often used in addition to antiviral agents. The possibility of adverse events due to complex formation between rituximab, which is IgG, and monoclonal IgM rheumatoid factor should be kept in mind [46]. Double filtration plasmapheresis has been reported to be effective in cryoglobulinemic vasculitis and HVS [45]. When viscosity is lowered, clinical signs and symptoms of cryoglobulinemia usually improve. Mixed cryos often respond to corticosteroids with or without cyclophosphamide. Newer antiviral drugs appear more effective for hepatitis C and thus favorably influence the incidence of malignancy, including non-Hodgkin lymphoma/WM [47]. It is likely that the incidence of mixed cryoglobulinemia and HCV-related lymphoma will decrease in the coming years.

References

2. Phillips MJ, Harkness J. Plasma and whole blood viscosity. Br J Haemotol. 1976;34:347–52.

^{1.} Mehta J, Singdahl S. Hyperviscosity syndrome in plasma cell dyscrasias. Semin Thromb Hemost. 2003;29:467–71.

- 3. Metzger H. Structure and function of gamma M macroglobulins. Adv Immunol. 1970;12:57–116.
- MacKenzie MR, Babcock J. Studies of the hyperviscosity syndrome: II. Macroglobulinemia. J Lab Clin Med. 1975;85(2):227–34.
- Stone MJ, Bogen S. Evidence-based focused review of management of hyperviscosity syndrome. Blood. 2012;119(10):2205–8.
- 6. Waldenström J. Incipient myelomatosis or essential hyperglobulinemia with fibrinogenopenia; a new syndrome? Acta Med Scand. 1944;117:217–47.
- 7. Fahey JL, Barth WF, Solomon A. Serum hyperviscosity syndrome. JAMA. 1965;192 (6):120–3.
- 8. Stone MJ. Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: hyperviscosity syndrome and cryoglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9(1):97–9.
- 9. MacKenzie MR, Lee TK. Blood viscosity in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 1977;40(4):507–10.
- 10. Bloch KJ, Maki DG. Hyperviscosity syndromes associated with immunoglobulin abnormalities. Semin Hematol. 1973;10(2):113–24.
- 11. Stone MJ, Pascual V. Pathophysiology of Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Haematologica. 2010;95:359–64.
- Stone MJ, Fedak JE. Studies on monoclonal antibodies: II. Immune complex (IgM-IgG) cryoglobulinemia: the mechanism of cryoprecipitation. J Immunol. 1974;113(4):1377–85.
- Stone MJ, McElroy YG, Pestronk A, Reynolds JL, Newman JT, Tong AW. Human monoclonal macroglobulins with antibody activity. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):318–24.
- Schwab PJ, Fahey JL. Treatment of Waldenström's macroglobulinemia by plasmapheresis. N Engl J Med. 1960;263(2):574–9.
- Solomon A, Fahey JL. Plasmapheresis therapy in macroglobulinemia. Ann Intern Med. 1963;58(5):789–800.
- Thomas EL, Olk RJ, Markman M, et al. Irreversible visual loss in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Br J Opthalmol. 1983;67:102–6.
- Menke MN, Feke GT, McMeel JW, et al. Ophthalmologic techniques to assess the severity of hyperviscosity syndrome and the effect of plasmapheresis in patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9(1):100–3.
- 18. Buskard NA, Galton DA, Goldman JM, et al. Plasma exchange in the long-term management of Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Can Med Assoc J. 1977;117:135–7.
- Frase LL, Stone MJ. Long-term survival in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Am J Med. 1998;104:507–8.
- Ballestri M, Ferrari F, Magistroni R, et al. Plasma exchange in acute and chronic hyperviscosity syndrome: a rheological approach and guidelines study. Ann 1st Super Sanita. 2007;43 (2):171–5.
- 21. Treon SP. How I treat Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;114(2):2375-85.
- Ansell SM, Kyle RA, Reeder CB, et al. Diagnosis and management of Waldenström macroglobulinemia: mayo stratification of macroglobulinemia and risk-adapted therapy (mSMART) guidelines. Mayo Clin Proc. 2010;85(9):824–33.
- Stone MJ, Bogen SA. Role of plasmapheresis in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2013;13(2):238–40.
- 24. Berentsen S, Tjonnfjord GE. Diagnosis and treatment of cold agglutinin mediated autoimmune hemolytic anemia. Blood. 2012;26(3):107–15.
- 25. Dimopoulos MA, Hamilos G, Zervas K, Symeonidis A, Kouvatseas G, Roussou P, et al. Survival and prognostic factors after initiation of treatment in Waldenström's macro-globulinemia. Ann Oncol. 2003;14(8):1299–305.
- Berentsen S, Ulvestad E, Langholm R, Beiske K, Hjorth-Hansen H, Ghanima W, et al. Primary chronic cold agglutinin disease: a population based clinical study of 86 patients. Haematologica. 2006;91(4):460–6.
- 27. Swiecicki PL, Hegerova LT, Gertz MS. Cold agglutinin disease. Blood. 2013;122(7):1114-21.
- Randen U, Troen G, Tierens A, Steen C, Warsame A, Beiske K, et al. Primary cold agglutininassociated lymphoproliferative disease: a B-cell lymphoma of the bone marrow distinct from lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. Haematologica. 2014;99(3):497–504.
- Jaffe CJ, Atkinson JP, Frank MM. The role of complement in the clearance of cold agglutininsensitized erythrocytes in man. J Clin Invest. 1976;58(4):942–9.
- 30. Shi J, Rose EL, Singh A, Hussain S, Stagliano NE, Parry GC, et al. TNT003, an inhibitor of the serine protease C1s, prevents complement activation induced by cold agglutinin disease patient antibodies. Blood. 2014;123(26):4015–22.
- 31. Berentsen S. Complement, cold agglutinins, and therapy. Blood. 2014;123(26):4010-2.
- 32. Roth A, Huttmann A, Rother RP, Duhrsen U, Philipp T. Long-term efficacy of the complement inhibitor eculizumab in cold agglutinin disease. Blood. 2009;113(16):3885–6.
- 33. Berentsen S, Ulvestad E, Gjertsen BT, Hjorth-Hansen H, Langholm R, Knutsen H, et al. Rituximab for primary chronic cold agglutinin disease: a prospective study of 37 course of therapy in 27 patients. Blood. 2004;104(8):2925–8.
- 34. Schollkopf C, Kjeldsen L, Bjerrum OW, Mourits-Andersen HT, Nielsen JL, Christensen BE, et al. Rituximab in chronic cold agglutinin disease: a prospective study of 20 patients. Leuk Lymphoma. 2006;47(2):253–60.
- 35. Berentsen S, Randen U, Vagan AM, Hjorth-Hansen H, Vik A, Dalgaard J, et al. High response rate and durable remissions following fludarabine and rituximab combination therapy for chronic cold agglutinin disease. Blood. 2010;116(17):3180–4.
- 36. Risitano AM, Ricklin D, Huang Y, et al. Peptide inhibitors of C3 activation as a novel strategy of complement inhibition for the treatment of paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria. Blood. 2014;123(13):2094–101.
- Wintrobe MM, Buell MV. Hyperproteinemia associated with multiple myeloma. Bull Johns Hopkins Hosp. 1933;52:156–65.
- 38. Stone MJ. Monoclonal antibodies in the prehybridoma era: a brief historical perspective and personal reminiscence. Clin Lymphoma. 2001;2:148–54.
- Merlini G, Stone MJ. Translational hematology: dangerous B-cell clones. Blood. 2006;108:2520–30.
- Stone MJ. Pathogenesis and morbidity or autoantibody syndromes in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:157–9.
- 41. Ramos-Casals M, Stone JH, Cid MC, Bosch X. The cryoglobulinaemias. Lancet. 2012;379:348–60.
- 42. Sethi S, Fervenza FC. Membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis a new look at an old entity. N Eng J Med. 2012;366:1119–31.
- 43. Zignego AL, Ferri C, Pileri SA, et al. Extrahepatic manifestations of Hepatitis C virus infection: a general overview and guidelines for a clinical approach. Dig Liver Dis. 2007;39:2–17.
- 44. Minopetrou M, Hadziyannis E, Deutsch M, et al. Hepatitis C virus (HCV)-related cryoglobulinemia: cryoglobulin type and anti-HCV profile. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2013;20:698–703.
- Dammacco F, Sansonno D. Therapy for Hepatitis C virus-related cryoglobulinemia vasculitis. N Eng J Med. 2013;369:1035–45.
- 46. Sene D, Ghillani-Dalbin P, Amoura Z, Musset L, Cacoub P. Rituximab may form a complex with IgM-kappa mixed cryoglobulin and induce severe systemic reactions in patients with Hepatitis C virus-induced vasculitis. Arthritis Rheum. 2009;60:3848–55.
- Hoofnagle JH, Sherker AH. Therapy for Hepatitis C the costs of success. N Eng J Med. 2014;370:1552–3.

Neuropathy in Waldenström's Macroglobulinaemia

Karine Viala and Michael Lunn

13.1 Introduction

Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (WM) is the result of a malignant proliferation of lymphocytes that produce monoclonal immunoglobulin (Ig) M. The diagnostic criteria for WM require the presence of monoclonal IgM of any concentration in the serum and bone marrow infiltration by small lymphocytes, plasmacytoid cells and plasma cells immunophenotypically characterised as CD19+ CD20+ CD5- CD10- CD23- [1].

Neuropathy is the most common organ-specific complication of WM and is frequently the presenting feature. It is estimated that neuropathy occurs in 40% of patients [2–4], but there is almost certainly acquisition bias in these estimates and true rates may be higher. Neurophysiological involvement of peripheral nerves, not evident without close clinical examination, may occur in the majority of patients with IgM paraproteins [5]. Clinically relevant peripheral neuropathy may be disabling and as a result can determine a decision to treat in otherwise nonprogressive disease; as such it is important to recognise. Furthermore accurate diagnosis of the type of peripheral nerve involvement is important as some neuropathies respond to non-WM treatment regimens or may not respond to therapy at all.

A typical neuropathy is distal and symmetrical, involving the legs more than the arms and both motor and sensory modalities. Typical neuropathy unrelated to WM (such as diabetic neuropathy or idiopathic axonal neuropathy) occurs by chance in this generally older group of patients. Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia however

K. Viala (🖂)

M. Lunn

Département de Neurophysiologie Clinique, Pitié-Salpêtrière Hospital, APHP, Paris, France e-mail: Karine.viala@aphp.fr

MRC Centre for Neuromuscular Disease, National Hospital for Neurology Queen Square, London WC1N 3BG, UK e-mail: michael.lunn@uclh.nhs.uk

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_13

also causes one of a number of neuropathies and by a variety of different mechanisms [6]. These result in a number of phenotypic presentations differing very greatly from 'typical' neuropathy.

Paraproteinaemic IgM in WM and MGUS can possess activity against peripheral nerve epitopes, most typically myelin-associated glycoprotein, but also GM1 and other gangliosides [7, 8]. Anti-MAG neuropathy is the commonest of the presentations, with a sensory ataxic neuropathy associated with tremor. IgM anti-GM1 activity can result in a patchy pure multifocal motor neuropathy with electrophysiological conduction block sometimes confused with motor neurone disease [9, 10]. Small-fibre neuropathies occur in which the presentation is sensory symptoms of prominent nocturnal burning discomfort and a 'normal' neurological examination. IgM can also act as a cryoglobulin and deposit in vessels resulting in vasculitis. Vasculitis is usually rapidly progressive and can be devastating. Vasculitis is usually easy to recognise from the other associated systemic features. Acquired AL amyloid can occur with deposition and polymerisation of free light chains in numerous tissues, with a painful progressive motor and sensory axonal neuropathy with autonomic involvement. Rarely tumourous deposits of amyloid can occur in individual nerves resulting in mononeuropathies. These may be less accessible to neurophysiology or biopsy but can be identified with targeted MRI in specialist centres where biopsy may also be possible. Even more rarely still WM cells invade the peripheral nerves sometimes without significant systemic load and can result in a presentation that looks like an inflammatory neuropathy but requires nervous system penetrating chemotherapy.

13.2 Neuropathy with Direct Antibody Targeting of Nerve Epitopes

13.2.1 IgM Anti-MAG Paraproteinaemic Peripheral Neuropathy

Anti-MAG neuropathy is the easiest of the WM syndromes to recognise. Patients present with progressive distal sensory loss in the feet. Although pain is described, IgM anti-MAG paraproteinaemic peripheral neuropathy is usually painless or with a tightness or aching. Early unsteadiness and frequently a tremor are reported in the majority [7, 11]. The tremor is postural and has cerebellar and peripheral components, frequently with a side-to-side finger tremor and some jerkiness [12]. Motor weakness occurs late and predominantly in the distal legs. As a result of the sensory loss, patients walk with a broad-based gait and are unsteady in the dark. On examination, a neuropathy with reduced or absent reflexes is found. The defining features are of a tremor of the upper limbs, little or no wasting of muscles and a rather typical sensory loss where pinprick is reduced distally in the lower limbs, joint position sense is only minimally impaired, but vibration sensation is reduced often to the hips or even the costal margin.

Neurophysiological findings are very typical. The neurophysiologist finds a patchy demyelinating neuropathy with very prolonged distal motor latencies in

comparison to the slowing of the main motor trunk; this results in a terminal latency index of <0.25 in tested nerves [13].

Anti-MAG activity is part of the innate antibody repertoire. IgM anti-MAG activity can be detected in the serum using one of a number of techniques, usually now ELISA based. Anti-MAG antibodies cross react with SGPG and SGLPG, gangliosides with the common HNK-1 epitope. Although there are various ways that these antibodies are reported, anti-MAG activity is much more likely to be relevant when the levels of activity are reported as 'strongly positive'; simply finding an anti-MAG antibody does not make a diagnosis of an anti-MAG neurop-athy, and the clinical and electrophysiological picture must also be correct.

A nerve biopsy may be performed in cases where there is diagnostic uncertainty. The finding of pathognomic widely spaced myelin by electron microscopy confirms the pathogenic potential of the anti-MAG antibodies [14, 15] (Fig. 13.1), but other pathologies such as vasculitis can exist in parallel which may be more relevant to the clinical presentation.

Some anti-MAG neuropathies are slowly progressive and non-disabling and some appear to become static, not requiring treatment. Those associated with WM rather than MGUS tend to be more aggressive and more frequently treated. In IgM paraproteinaemic neuropathies, the evidence to support effective treatments is not extensive [16]. Intravenous immunoglobulin is effective in some cases in the short term, but is not sustained for many weeks and frequently does not persist on repetition. Two randomised controlled trials of rituximab treatment for IgM paraproteinaemic neuropathies exist, neither reporting success in their primary outcome, but both reporting functional benefit from the patients in about half of the treated (and none of the placebo) patients [17, 18]. Small series of patients treated with plasma exchange, steroids, cyclophosphamide, chlorambucil, cladribine, fludarabine and combinations of these exist with varied but unconvincing evidence for consistent benefit. There is a theoretical benefit to extending

Fig. 13.1 Widely spaced myelin as a diagnostic pathognomic feature of anti-MAG neuropathy. The normally densely compacted intraperiod line is widened from 2–4 nm to between 20 and 30 nm, and an amorphous material is seen in the new space at high magnification, possibly immunoglobulin



single-agent rituximab to a combination therapy with a purine analogue or proteasome inhibitor [19]. If this can be justified from the WM point of view, then patients may stabilise.

13.2.2 Neuropathies with IgM Activity Directed to Other Peripheral Nerve Epitopes

Gangliosides are present on the surface of many cells, but are elaborated on nervous system cells with over 100 species detected [20]. They present a somewhat flexible carbohydrate antigenic target, rather like the glycoprotein MAG, and likewise can be targeted by the IgM of WM.

Antibodies to ganglioside GM1 result in a progressive pure motor phenotype often with cramping and fasciculation that can be mistaken for motor neurone disease [10]. There are never any upper motor neurone features other than those caused by a second pathology (e.g. cervical spondylosis). Neurophysiology, which needs to be performed by a skilled operator, demonstrates multiple conduction blocks away from typical sites of compression, although sometimes these are difficult to find on the first examination. The sensory examination is normal. High-titre anti-GM1 antibodies, sometimes with anti-GD1b antibodies, can be found by ELISA.

The disialosyl group of gangliosides (GD1b, GT1b, GQ1b, GD3) share a common epitope and hence activity against all is found in the serum. The rare CANOMAD syndrome (chronic ataxic neuropathy with ophthalmoplegia, M-protein, agglutinins and disialosyl antibodies) can be found in occasional patients [21]. Diplopia in combination with their ataxia is very disabling.

Other anti-ganglioside activities are frequently reported but are of uncertain significance. Anti-sulphatide antibodies are not uncommon, often of very high titre, but not associated with any particular phenotype of neuropathy except perhaps loosely sensory. Anti-GM2 antibodies are also associated with both motor and sensory phenotypes and are of limited use in planning or justifying treatment.

13.3 Neuropathies Linked to Physicochemical Properties of IgM

13.3.1 Cryoglobulinaemic Vasculitis

The IgM of WM can act as a cryoglobulin and deposit in vessels resulting in vasculitis [19]. Occasionally IgM anti-MAG activity can also be found in the serum; whether they are one and the same is unknown [22]. Patients with a cryoglobulinaemic vasculitis will present with painful distal sensory neuropathy with burning, shooting pains and deep aching. Motor weakness appears early and the neuropathic involvement is symmetrical and distal. Large- and small-fibre modalities are equally affected and the clinical picture usually confluent and length dependent. Systemic clues are livedo reticularis of the skin and lower limb

ulceration, the ulcers being multiple, often small in diameter and 'punched out' [23]. There is not necessarily any other systemic response.

Neurophysiology demonstrates a confluent length-dependent sensorimotor neuropathy. A biopsy is essential to make the diagnosis, and an affected sensory nerve can be selected from the neurophysiology, usually sural or superficial peroneal. This should be excised, processed and examined at a centre competent in nerve biopsy and analysis. Skin biopsies are not necessarily helpful [24].

Treatment is not supported by RCT evidence. Plasma exchange and steroids can be useful acutely. Cyclophosphamide and steroids can also be helpful with rituximab receiving support from multiple experts [25]. Aggressive treatment of the WM in this situation is however usually warranted as vasculitis is progressive and potentially fatal.

13.3.2 Amyloidosis

Light chains can deposit in any tissue and condense to the hard, insoluble and amyloid fibrils visible on electron microscopy [26]. Amyloidosis also presents with a progressive distal painful sensorimotor axonal neuropathy [6]. The clues to amyloidosis are the addition of coincident carpal tunnel syndrome and autonomic involvement with erectile failure, postural dizziness, diarrhoea and urinary difficulties.

Amyloid can deposit in all tissues and thus systemic screening with a SAP (serum amyloid protein) scan can be very useful [26, 27]. Rectal biopsies or fat aspirates can be useful as can a bone marrow aspirate. Detection of amyloid in peripheral nerves is very feasible with Congo red staining with appropriate protocols and may be the only site where it is detected.

Preventing further accumulation of amyloid is the key to treatment, but the depth of remission needed to achieve this is unknown [26]. Patients may have poor performance status because of co-existing autonomic failure.

Autonomic failure can, in its own right, be very disabling, and fludrocortisone, ephedrine and midodrine are useful in maintaining blood pressure, alongside fluid and electrolyte management and physical manoeuvres. Bladder overactivity may respond to anticholinergics or even intravesical botulinum toxin, and bowel involvement can be managed with codeine, loperamide or octreotide.

Pain is the most disabling aspect of amyloidosis in the long term. Combinations of gabapentinoids, tricyclic antidepressants or duloxetine and opiates may be necessary.

13.3.3 Deposition of Light Chains in the Endoneurium

Light chain deposition disease is only rarely described in peripheral nerve disease [28]. Light chains probably deposit in vessel walls before condensing into more recognisable amyloid deposits, with the symptoms and signs above.

The aetiology of small-fibre neuropathies in WM is not known but might be postulated to be related to light chain deposition. Small-fibre neuropathies are distal, symmetrical, purely sensory and painful [29]. The characteristic pain is burning and very prominent at night, often disturbing sleep. Patients will expose their feet outside the bed covers, spray them with or immerse them in cold water or seek out cold ceramic surfaces on which to stand. No signs are found on examination as the tendon reflexes are preserved and joint position, vibration and sometimes pinprick sensation are preserved. Most usually distal pinprick and temperature sensation are impaired. Standard neurophysiology testing is also normal, but thermal thresholding (quantitative sensory testing) is able to demonstrate abnormalities. Dermal and epidermal skin biopsies stained for the axonal marker PGP9.5 can quantitate epidermal fibre loss against normal values for confirmation [30].

There is no definitive treatment for small-fibre neuropathies; pain can be managed as above. Occasionally plasma exchange or IVIG can be effective in resistant patients.

13.3.4 Tumefactive Amyloid Deposition

Deposition of amyloid locally within individual nerve trunks can be the most difficult WM complication to diagnose. Mononeuropathy or multiple neuropathies can occur, with motor and sensory involvement often without pain. A competent neurological examination in combination with directed high-field MRI neurography can locate intraneural deposits (Fig. 13.2) and direct a diagnostic biopsy [31]. PET of the deposits is cold. Often it is difficult to localise proximal neural deposits initially and they may be MRI invisible. Persistence and repetition of investigations can be rewarding.

Treatment is directed at inducing remission from WM if possible; deposits do not tend to regress even with the most aggressive treatment. External orthotic devices can be helpful for lower limb instability. For stable and nonprogressive disease, tendon transfer can facilitate active movement in muscles in the affected nerve territories.

13.4 Direct Intraneural Invasion by WM

Bing-Neel syndrome is a disease without a clear definition, but involves central nervous system invasion by WM cells or the deposit and activity in the CNS of immunoglobulin released by them [32]. Certainly cord involvement in Bing-Neel syndrome can present with symptoms of distal sensory loss that may superficially resemble peripheral neuropathy; spastic tone in the limbs with preserved or brisk reflexes and a central sensory loss soon redirect the clinician.

Invasion of the peripheral nervous system can also occur [33] and perhaps should come within the definition of Bing-Neel. Invasion can present with almost any of the symptoms or signs above; mono- or multiple neuropathies, confluent



Fig. 13.2 Light chain amyloid, staining positively with Congo red (with birefringence in polarised light), can deposit in peripheral nerves just as in other tissues. Biopsy of the proximal right radial nerve (*top panels*). Tumefactive deposits in nerves can be seen (*arrowed*) on the fat saturated T2 MRI scans of the right and left proximal upper limb. The most affected side was less notable by MRI

motor and sensory distal neuropathies or proximal and distal weakness of a polyradiculoneuropathy reminiscent of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (CIDP) can all be presenting features. Electrophysiology can also be confluent or patchy and axonal or demyelinating. All are progressive over weeks and can be aggressive and disabling. PET scanning can identify affected nerves and sometimes can correlate with high-field MRI neurography images to direct biopsy if peripheral sites for biopsy cannot be identified clinically or with electrophysiology. The biopsy will show clonal lymphoid cells, sometimes with endoneurial immunoglobulin deposition [34].

Treatment decisions should be made with the knowledge that both CNS and PNS tissues are hidden behind the blood nerve and blood-brain barriers, immunologically restrictive structures preventing ingress and egress of materials from the endoneurium CNS tissues. Standard chemotherapy regimens without CNS penetration will not be effective and relapse is not uncommon if response is achieved at all; outcomes and survival are universally poor. CNS-penetrating chemotherapy should

be selected as a matter of course with high-dose methotrexate as a minimum and other agents (e.g. idarubicin and Adriamycin) considered in addition.

13.5 Conclusions

The true extent of the peripheral neurological complications of WM has not ever been accurately studied but they are common and result in substantial disability. The different types of peripheral neurological involvement are easily distinguished clinically and investigations are available for confirmation. Some are more treatable than others, but advances in standard systemic WM chemotherapy and regimens for neural penetration will improve outcomes and survival.

References

- Owen RG, Treon SP, Al-Katib A, Fonseca R, Greipp PR, McMaster ML, et al. Clinicopathological definition of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: consensus panel recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):110–5.
- Baldini L, Nobile-Orazio E, Guffanti A, Barbieri S, Carpo M, Cro L, et al. Peripheral neuropathy in IgM monoclonal gammopathy and Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a frequent complication in elderly males with low MAG-reactive serum monoclonal component. Am J Hematol. 1994;45(1):25–31.
- Levine T, Pestronk A, Florence J, Al-Lozi MT, Lopate G, Miller T, et al. Peripheral neuropathies in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2006;77(2):224–8.
- Klein CJ, Moon JS, Mauermann ML, Zeldenrust SR, Wu Y, Dispenzieri A, et al. The neuropathies of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia (WM) and IgM-MGUS. Can J Neurol Sci. 2011;38(2):289–95.
- 5. Vrethem M, Cruz M, Wen-Xin H, Malm C, Holmgren H, Ernerudh J. Clinical, neurophysiological and immunological evidence of polyneuropathy in patients with monoclonal gammopathies. J Neurol Sci. 1993;114:193–9.
- 6. Viala K, Stojkovic T, Doncker AV, Maisonobe T, Lenglet T, Bruneteau G, et al. Heterogeneous spectrum of neuropathies in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a diagnostic strategy to optimize their management. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2012;17(1):90–101.
- Chassande B, Leger JM, Younes-Chennoufi AB, Bengoufa D, Maisonobe T, Bouche P, et al. Peripheral neuropathy associated with IgM monoclonal gammopathy: correlations between M-protein antibody activity and clinical/electrophysiological features in 40 cases. Muscle Nerve. 1998;21(1):55–62.
- Nobile-Orazio E. Antigenic determinants in IgM paraprotein-related neuropathies. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9(1):107–9.
- 9. Bosch EP, Smith BE. Peripheral neuropathies associated with monoclonal proteins. Med Clin North Am. 1993;77:125–39.
- 10. Pestronk A, Cornblath DR, Ilyas AA, Baba H, Quarles RH, Griffin JW, et al. A treatable multifocal motor neuropathy with antibodies to GM1 ganglioside. Ann Neurol. 1988;24 (1):73–8.
- 11. Ellie E, Vital A, Steck A, Boiron J-M, Vital C, Julien J. Neuropathy associated with 'benign' anti-myelin-associated glycoprotein IgM gammopathy: clinical, immunological,

neurophysiological and pathological findings and response to treatment in 33 cases. J Neurol. 1996;243:34–43.

- Saifee TA, Schwingenschuh P, Reilly MM, Lunn MP, Katschnig P, Kassavetis P, et al. Tremor in inflammatory neuropathies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2013;84(11):1282–7.
- 13. Kaku DA, England JD, Sumner AJ. Distal accentuation of conduction slowing in polyneuropathy associated with antibodies to myelin-associated glycoprotein and sulphated glucuronyl paragloboside. Brain. 1994;117:941–7.
- Yeung KB, Thomas PK, King RHM, Waddy H, Will RG, Hughes RAC, et al. The clinical spectrum of peripheral neuropathies associated with benign monoclonal IgM, IgG and IgA paraproteinaemia. Comparative clinical, immunological and nerve biopsy findings. J Neurol. 1991;238:383–91.
- Vital A, Vital C, Julien J, Baquey A, Steck AJ. Polyneuropathy associated with IgM monoclonal gammopathy. Immunological and pathological study in 31 patients. Acta Neuropathol. 1989;79(2):160–7.
- Lunn MP, Nobile-Orazio E. Immunotherapy for IgM anti-myelin-associated glycoprotein paraprotein-associated peripheral neuropathies. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;5, CD002827.
- Dalakas MC, Rakocevic G, Salajegheh M, Dambrosia JM, Hahn AF, Raju R, et al. Placebocontrolled trial of rituximab in IgM anti-myelin-associated glycoprotein antibody demyelinating neuropathy. Ann Neurol. 2009;65(3):286–93.
- Léger J-M, Viala K, Bombelli F, Nicolas G, Créange A, Vallat JM, et al., for the RIMAG trial group (France and Switzerland). Randomized controlled trail of rituximab in demyelinating neuropathy associated with antiMAG IgM gammopathy (RIMAG study). J Periph Nerv Syst. 2010;15:269.
- Hospital MA, Viala K, Dragomir S, Levy V, Cohen-Aubart F, Neil J, et al. Immunotherapybased regimen in anti-MAG neuropathy: results in 45 patients. Haematologica. 2013;98:155–7.
- Gong Y, Tagawa Y, Lunn MP, Laroy W, Heffer-Lauc M, Li CY, et al. Localization of major gangliosides in the PNS: implications for immune neuropathies. Brain. 2002;125 (Pt 11):2491–506.
- Willison HJ, O'Leary CP, Veitch J, Blumhardt LD, Busby M, Donaghy M, et al. The clinical and laboratory features of chronic sensory ataxic neuropathy with anti-disialosyl IgM antibodies. Brain. 2001;124(Pt 10):1968–77.
- Brouet JC, Clauvel JP, Danon F, Klein M, Seligmann M. Biologic and clinical significance of cryoglobulins. A report of 86 cases. Am J Med. 1974;57(5):775–88.
- 23. Vital A, Favereaux A, Martin-Dupont P, Taupin JL, Petry K, Lagueny A, et al. Anti-myelinassociated glycoprotein antibodies and endoneurial cryoglobulin deposits responsible for a severe neuropathy. Acta Neuropathol (Berl). 2001;102(4):409–12.
- Wagner DR, Eckert F, Gresser U, Landthaler M, Middeke M, Zollner N. Deposits of paraprotein in small vessels as a cause of skin ulcers in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Investig. 1993;72(1):46–9.
- 25. Collins MP. The vasculitic neuropathies: an update. Curr Opin Neurol. 2012;25(5):573-85.
- Wechalekar AD, Lachmann HJ, Goodman HJ, Bradwell A, Hawkins PN, Gillmore JD. AL amyloidosis associated with IgM paraproteinemia: clinical profile and treatment outcome. Blood. 2008;112(10):4009–16.
- Hawkins PN, Myers MJ, Lavender JP, Pepys MB. Diagnostic radionuclide imaging of amyloid: biological targeting by circulating human serum amyloid P component. Lancet. 1988;1(8600):1413–8.
- Vital C, Deminiere C, Bourgouin B, Lagueny A, David B, Loiseau P. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and peripheral neuropathy: deposition of M-component and kappa light chain in the endoneurium. Neurology. 1985;35(4):603–6.
- 29. Lauria G, Merkies IS, Faber CG. Small fibre neuropathy. Curr Opin Neurol. 2012;25(5):542-9.

- Lauria G, Lombardi R. Skin biopsy in painful and immune-mediated neuropathies. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2012;17 Suppl 3:38–45.
- Vital C, Vallat JM, Deminiere C, Loubet A, Leboutet MJ. Peripheral nerve damage during multiple myeloma and Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: an ultrastructural and immunopathologic study. Cancer. 1982;50(8):1491–7.
- 32. Ly KI, Fintelmann F, Forghani R, Schaefer PW, Hochberg EP, Hochberg FH. Novel diagnostic approaches in Bing-Neel syndrome. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11(1):180–3.
- Massengo S, Riffaud L, Morandi X, Bernard M, Verin M. Nervous system lymphoid infiltration in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. A case report. J Neurooncol. 2003;62(3):353–8.
- 34. Vital A, Vital C. Immunoelectron identification of endoneurial IgM deposits in four patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a specific ultrastructural pattern related to the presence of cryoglobulin in one case. Clin Neuropathol. 1993;12(1):49–52.

IgM Amyloidosis

14

Morie A. Gertz, Taimur Sher, Angela Dispenzieri, and Francis K. Buadi

14.1 History

The association of amyloidosis and Waldenström macroglobulinemia predates the publication by Drs. Isobe and Osserman in 1973 that recognized that the amyloid deposits of patients with "primary amyloidosis" were composed of immunoglobulin light chains [1]. Amyloid arthropathy associated with Waldenström macroglobulinemia was first recognized as early as 1969 [2]. Earlier publications from 1966 recognized the association between amyloidosis and an IgM monoclonal protein [3] as well as with full-blown Waldenström macroglobulinemia [4]. Amyloid neuropathy associated with Waldenström was first characterized as early as 1973 [5]. A publication in 1976 claimed to be the 14th reported case of Waldenström macroglobulinemia associated with amyloidosis with primary lymph nodal involvement [6]. In this era, it was not possible to determine what form of amyloidosis these patients had consistently because of the lack of uniformly accepted criteria for classifying the subunit protein.

e-mail: gertz.morie@mayo.edu

T. Sher, MD Department of Hematology, Mayo Clinic, Jacksonville, FL, USA

A. Dispenzieri, MD • F.K. Buadi, MD Division of Hematology, Mayo Clinic, 200 First Street, SW, Rochester, MN, USA

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 V. Leblond et al. (eds.), *Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_14

M.A. Gertz, MD, MACP (🖂) Division of Hematology, Mayo Clinic, 200 First Street, SW, Rochester, MN, USA

Department of Medicine, College of Medicine, Mayo Distinguished Clinician, Rochester, MN 55905, USA

14.2 Prevalence

In an effort to understand the association between Waldenström and amyloidosis, a study of non-hereditary amyloidosis from the Cancer Registry in Sweden was undertaken for a 13-year period from 1997 to 2010. Among 1400 identified amyloidosis patients, cancer risk was increased for myeloma, non-Hodgkin lymphoma, and squamous cell skin cancer. In looking at patients with light chain amyloidosis, the relative risk of myeloma was 204. Presumably, this was all non-IgM amyloid. Remarkably, in patients with amyloidosis, the relative risk of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma and Waldenström macroglobulinemia was 51.4, demonstrating the strong association between amyloidosis and the recognition of Waldenström macroglobulinemia [7].

14.3 Diagnosis of Waldenström Macroglobulinemia with Amyloidosis

Failure to recognize amyloidosis as being a significant risk factor in patients with IgM monoclonal proteins often leads to clinically important delays in diagnosis. This failure to recognize is particularly prevalent in patients who present with a peripheral neuropathy and IgM monoclonal protein. These patients are frequently diagnosed as having chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP) and are often treated empirically with plasma exchange or intravenous immunoglobulin without taking sufficient biopsy samples to exclude the possibility that the IgM-associated neuropathy is due to light chain amyloidosis. The same is true of the kidney. There is a large body of literature on Waldenström and the kidney, suggesting immune complex deposition in the kidney directly related to Waldenström, often leading to empiric trials of corticosteroid therapy without histologic exclusion of amyloid fibrillar deposition in the kidney. One patient reported had amyloidosis that was erroneously diagnosed as benign follicular lymphoma. This patient suffered from hypotension and was found to have minimal enlargement of retroperitoneal lymph nodes with an IgM >5 g/dL. This patient had multiple hospitalizations for infection and progressive disability and ultimately died of progressive heart failure. At postmortem exam, extensive systemic amyloidosis was found with significant cardiac involvement, which was unrecognized premortem. This points out that when a patient with Waldenström macroglobulinemia has heart failure or hypotension, amyloid must be kept in the differential diagnosis and appropriate stains obtained [8].

Attempts to recognize amyloidosis by imaging are ongoing. In a study of ten patients with AL amyloidosis, two were recognized to have associated Waldenström macroglobulinemia. PET scanning showed abnormal results in seven of ten patients, and the FDG update on PET was concordant with the known amyloid organ impairment in six of the seven in which it was positive. The recognition that high FDG update can be present in amyloidosis is important in the differential diagnosis [9].

14.4 Forms of Amyloidosis Associated with Waldenström

One unique feature of Waldenström macroglobulinemia is that it can be associated with both localized as well as systemic amyloidosis. Moreover, the systemic amyloidosis may be of AL (immunoglobulin light chain) type or AA (secondary) type. The syndrome of pulmonary Waldenström is widely recognized. However, when lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma involves the lung, secreted monoclonal IgM can form amyloid in the lung, which appears as nodular deposits, which are not a threat to the patient and do not require intervention or resection. The presence of pulmonary amyloid deposits in the presence of Waldenström macroglobulinemia may not reflect a systemic disorder [10].

Multiple reports of secondary systemic amyloidosis associated with Waldenström exist in the literature. Over 30 years ago, a patient with known Waldenström macroglobulinemia had the amyloid fibril protein sequenced and was proven to be of AA type, confirming it was secondary [11]. A patient with malabsorption, nephrotic syndrome, orthostatic hypotension and Waldenström macroglobulinemia had AA amyloidosis detected immunohistochemically in a rectal biopsy [12]. Although the prevalence of secondary amyloidosis has been falling dramatically over the past 30 years, cases of Waldenström and secondary amyloidosis continue to be reported as recently as 2010 [13] and again in 2013. Remarkably, in this patient, the patient underwent a melphalan-based autologous stem cell transplantation to treat the underlying Waldenström and thereby control the secondary amyloid [14].

Even though localized and secondary amyloidosis must be considered in the differential diagnosis of patients with amyloidosis and Waldenström, the overwhelming majority of patients described have light chain or heavy chain amyloidosis. The first recognition that the immunoglobulin heavy chain M can be amyloidogenic was reported in 2003 in a patient with Waldenström macroglobulinemia with nephrotic syndrome whose renal biopsy only stained for mu heavy chain and no immunoglobulin light chains [15]. Among 17 patients who were found by mass spectroscopy to have heavy chain amyloid or heavy combined with light chain amyloid, 1 had an IgM λ monoclonal protein with M in the amyloid deposits. Laser microdissection and mass spectrometry were invaluable in detecting heavy chain deposits in the amyloid. Interestingly, these patients had less frequent cardiac involvement than light chain amyloidosis. Occasionally, patients with heavy chain amyloid will have a completely normal immunoglobulin free light chain level and ratio, further adding confusion to the diagnosis [16]. In a follow-up study from the same institution, combined light and heavy chain amyloidosis was recognized in 15 patients, 2 of whom had IgM monoclonal proteins. It appears that combined light and heavy chain amyloidosis comprises 6 % of patients who have immunoglobulinderived amyloid [17].

14.5 Amyloid Evolving from an IgM Monoclonal Gammopathy of Undetermined Significance

Many physicians recognize that patients with a monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance must be followed indefinitely because of the development of multiple myeloma. What is much less frequently recognized is that these patients can go on to develop amyloidosis with their IgM monoclonal protein, and there are a number of series that have examined this. In a long-term follow-up study of 430 patients in whom a monoclonal IgM serum protein had been identified, 6 (1%) developed primary amyloidosis. The median time from the recognition of the M protein until the development of AL ranged from 4 to 9 years. Changes in the size of the IgM or the bone marrow were not reliable predictors of progression [18]. An Italian series investigating 452 patients seen over 26 years with a median follow-up of 49 months recognized one patient to develop immunoglobulin amyloidosis. Patients with asymptomatic IgM monoclonal proteins need indefinite follow-up for the rare possibility that amyloidosis will develop [19]. The Mayo Clinic experience has been regularly updated. Looking at a population-based study of 213 southeast Minnesota patients with IgM monoclonal proteins, amyloidosis was diagnosed in 3, indicating that the relative risk of amyloidosis in patients with an IgM monoclonal protein was 16 times baseline [20]. In patients with strictly defined smoldering Waldenström macroglobulinemia, 48 patients were identified; and during follow-up, 1 patient developed immunoglobulin amyloidosis [21, 22].

14.6 Clinical Characteristics of IgM Amyloidosis

The kidney is a common target of amyloid deposits, but the IgM monoclonal protein can also produce immune complex deposition in the kidney. One patient was reported who had both renal amyloidosis and crescentic glomerulonephritis. At autopsy, crescent formation was present in 80% of the glomeruli and breaks in the glomerular basement membrane coincided with amyloid deposits [23]. A 67-yearold woman with a monoclonal IgM protein and nephrotic syndrome was found on kidney biopsy to have amyloidosis. Chemotherapy with cyclophosphamide, vincristine, and prednisolone reduced the IgM but did not impact the renal amyloidosis [24]. A 61-year-old patient with Waldenström macroglobulinemia and an IgM of 3244 mg/dL had a renal biopsy that showed diffuse amyloid deposition in the mesangium with classic changes of membranous nephropathy, suggesting that the lambda light chain deposited as amyloid and served as an antigenic stimulus to immune complex formation [25]. A case series of 14 patients with a monoclonal IgM protein and a renal disorder were identified retrospectively. Etiologies included light chain deposition disease, membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis, and amyloidosis in three, two of whom were associated with heavy chain deposits only and one with a lambda light chain deposit. This reflects a wide spectrum of renal lesions and the need for renal biopsy before assuming a direct connection between Waldenström macroglobulinemia and a renal process [26]. In a large series of patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia and amyloidosis, the kidney was identified as being the most commonly involved organ and failure to recognize was a major cause of irreversible organ damage. It was suggested that patients with IgM MGUS be serially monitored with urine assessments for albumin and measurements of natriuretic peptides to diagnose early development of cardiac failure [27].

14.7 Nerve

There is often confusion when a patient presents with Waldenström macroglobulinemia and a peripheral neuropathy. It may represent amyloid or CIDP. In a case series where nerve biopsies of amyloid were reviewed, 100 patients were seen and 47 were proven to be AL. Thirty-two of these patients had immunoglobulin subtyping, and nine had an IgM monoclonal protein. All the patients with IgM amyloidosis demonstrated significant inflammation. In most instances, moderate to large collections of inflammatory cells were directly contiguous with the amyloid deposits. Inflammation was more often seen in IgM amyloid than other amyloid subtypes [28, 29].

The presence of anti-myelin-associated glycoprotein (anti-MAG) is considered a diagnostic of CIDP. However, in a case series of 46 patients with IgM amyloidosis in whom 21 had polyneuropathy, 7 of the 20 with known amyloidosis had elevation of the anti-MAG by ELISA and 2 additional had antibodies by Western blot. One of the patients with proven amyloid had the highest anti-MAG titer. It was important to recognize that finding serum anti-MAG antibodies does not exclude the diagnosis of amyloid neuropathy [30]. Two case series on amyloid polyneuropathy with Waldenström macroglobulinemia exist. In the first, 24 neuropathy patients were diagnosed with an M protein over a 27-year period. Three were found to have an IgM monoclonal protein, and it was concluded that light chain amyloid polyneuropathy should be suspected when there is painful neuropathy and weight loss. Approximately one in eight of these patients will have an IgM monoclonal protein or Waldenström macroglobulinemia [31]. The Waldenström Macroglobulinemia Center at the Dana-Farber Cancer Institute reported on the clinical characteristics of IgM peripheral neuropathy with amyloidosis. Among 61 patients tested for amyloid, 13 were positive, 1 of whom was also positive for MAG antibody. Only one patient with amyloid-related neuropathy received intravenous immunoglobulin, and this was without benefit. Improvements in symptomatic neuropathy were more likely with IgM non-amyloid neuropathy vs. IgM amyloidrelated neuropathy. Improvement was only reported in 15.4% of patients [32].

14.8 Lung

The lung is also a common target organ, both in Waldenström macroglobulinemia and in amyloidosis. Macroglobulinemia-associated amyloidosis was reported in both the pulmonary parenchyma and hilar and mediastinal lymph nodes [33]. Three patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia and extensive deposition in the lung were reported. The deposits were intraalveolar and extensive [34].

14.9 Soft Tissue

Amyloid arthropathy has also been reported in Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Arthropathy is most commonly seen in dialysis-associated amyloid, but a patient with proven Waldenström macroglobulinemia presented with bilateral symmetric polyarthritis who had a synovial membrane biopsy that was Congo red positive. Chemotherapy effectively alleviated the joint manifestations [35]. Secondly, a patient with IgM kappa monoclonal gammopathy who had large lymph nodes and received two courses of vincristine, doxorubicin, and dexamethasone followed by high-dose chemotherapy and stem cell transplantation was in hematologic remission 4 years posttransplant with marked reduction in the size of the amyloid-laden lymph nodes. This was proof that amyloid deposits can regress from the tissue if chemotherapy succeeds in reducing the precursor amyloidogenic light chain [36].

14.10 Case Series of IgM-Associated Amyloidosis (Table 14.1)

We first reported on 50 patients with an IgM monoclonal gammopathy and biopsyproven amyloidosis. The ratio of men to women was 64:36, and the age range was 43–93 years. The percentages of patients presenting with cardiac, renal, hepatic, and pulmonary amyloid were 44%, 32%, 14%, and 10%, respectively. A 10% prevalence of pulmonary amyloid is remarkably high. Forty-two percent of the patients had an M protein >1.5 g/dL, and only 12% had an M component >3 g/dL. The diagnosis was generally established noninvasively with deposits found in subcutaneous fat, the rectum, and the bone marrow in 84%, 72%, and 50%, respectively. The bone marrow biopsy was diagnostic of Waldenström macroglobulinemia in only 10. An additional 11 showed a clonal lymphoproliferative disorder. The median survival of this group was 24.6 months. Fifty-three percent of deaths were due to cardiac amyloid, 12% due to respiratory failure, and only 7% due to macroglobulinemia. Of the patients presenting with cardiomyopathy, the median survival was 11.1 months with only two surviving over 5 years. There were only eight 5-year survivors in the group [37, 38].

A multicenter French study identified 72 patients with IgM-associated amyloidosis. AL was found in 64, localized was found in 5, and AA in 3. This group also noted the unusually high pattern of lymph node amyloid (31%) and lung amyloid (17%). The hematologic response rate in this group was only 37% and organ response only 21%. The hematologic response rate to stem cell transplantation was 100%, complete in 75%, and 75% organ responses. Purine analogs with rituximab produced hematologic response rates in 73%. The prognostic factors for survival were serum albumin and the presence of cardiac involvement [39]. The National Amyloidosis Centre of Great Britain published 103 consecutive IgM-associated

| Table 14.1 Cas | e series of | IgM amyloid | osis | | | | | | |
|----------------|-------------|-------------|---------|-------|---------|-----------|-------|----------------------|-----------|
| Institution | # | M/F | Cardiac | Renal | Hepatic | Pulmonary | Nodal | Survival | Reference |
| Mayo | 50 | 32/18 | 44 | 32 | 14 | 10 | | 246 | [38] |
| French | 72 | 47/25 | 33 | 50 | 25 | 15 | 31 | 47 | [39] |
| British | 103 | 65/38 | 35 | 53 | 14 | 3 | 21 | 49 | [40] |
| Pavia | 60 | 36/24 | 53 | 70 | 17 | 10 | 25 | 76 | [42] |
| Bari | 4 | 3/1 | y | y | y | y | y | 10 months to 2 years | Abstract |
| Boston U. | 50 | 31/19 | 37 | 59 | | | | | Abstract |

| amyloidosis |
|-------------|
| L |
| Ę, |
| ිත |
| |
| of |
| series |
| Case |
| 4.1 |
| ÷. |
| Ð |
| - |
| ~ |

amyloidosis patients seen over an 18-year period. They found renal, cardiac, and lymph node amyloid in 53 %, 35 %, and 21 % of patients, respectively, and two or more organs involved in 54 %. Eighty-seven percent showed lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma in the marrow. The median IgM monoclonal protein level was 0.8 g/dL, and the free light chain ratio was abnormal in 77 of 87 (88 %). An involved free light chain >10 mg/dL was seen in only 31 % of patients. Thirty-two percent achieved a partial hematologic response to therapy with a greater response to combination rather than single-agent alkylator. Four achieved organ responses. None of the patients with lymph node involvement showed nodal improvement, and median overall survival was 49 months [40].

The National Italian Amyloidosis Center found 60 patients representing 7 % of all amyloidosis patients with an IgM monoclonal protein. These patients had a significantly older age (67 years vs. 62 years) and had a high frequency of lymph node involvement (25%). The extent of renal involvement was also less with a median urinary protein of only 1.2 g. There was also less prevalent cardiac involvement. Involved free light chain concentrations were lower than in non-IgM amyloid (6.3 vs. 18.2 mg/dL). Survival was predicted by serum albumin and NT-proBNP. Fourteen patients who received melphalan and dexamethasone showed a 64 % hematologic (29 % complete) and a 43 % organ response rate. In this cohort, organ dysfunction was less advanced, and melphalan and dexamethasone were effective [41, 42]. In an Italian series of 121 patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia, 4 were found to have amyloidosis (3.3%). There were three men and one woman, age ranging 46-82 years with heart, kidney, liver, lymph node, and pulmonary involvement. Two patients were treated with chlorambucil and prednisone, two others melphalan and prednisone for a median of six cycles. Survival ranged from 10 months to 2 years [43].

The Boston amyloidosis research center reported their results and found 94 patients with IgM-related amyloidosis constituting 6% of their total population of amyloidosis patients. Complete treatment data was available in 50. The median age was 65 years, 62% men. The kidney, heart, and GI tract involvement was seen in 59%, 37%, and 22%, respectively. The mean IgM was 1049 mg/dL. Sixty-eight percent were lambda light chain amyloid. The highest hematologic response rate was seen with high-dose melphalan and stem cell transplantation 100% (n = 10). Alkylating agents produced responses in 73% (16/22), bortezomib 70% (7/10), rituximab 69% (9/13), and immunomodulatory drugs 50% (2/4). There was no association between a response to treatment and types of organs involved, gender, or age at diagnosis [44]. A summary of the case series is given in Table 14.1.

14.11 Therapy

14.11.1 Stem Cell Transplantation

We reviewed our results in the transplantation of patients with IgM-associated amyloidosis. In our first report, we reported on 12 patients, 1 of whom died related to therapy. The overall hematologic response rate was 89 %, and the organ response rate was 67 %. Our results were similar to those of other forms of immunoglobulin-derived amyloidosis [45].

We updated our results 3 years later on 17 patients. These patients were older, had a higher incidence of amyloid neuropathy, and a lower instance of cardiac involvement based on cardiac biomarkers. Median survival had not been reached [46]. By 2011, we had transplanted 22 such patients. Overall survival was not different from non-IgM-amyloidosis, and we confirmed the lower level of involved immunoglobulin free light chains previously reported. A Japanese group reported a patient with IgM amyloidosis who received high-dose melphalan and autologous stem cell support with a complete hematologic remission and improvement in nephrotic syndrome. No studies exist to help define the appropriate conditioning regimen for these patients, whether it be melphalan or carmustine, etoposide, cytarabine, and melphalan [47].

14.11.2 Conventional Dose Chemotherapy

Given the high response rate using rituximab, bortezomib, and dexamethasone in the treatment of Waldenström macroglobulinemia, it was logical to use this same triplet combination in patients with IgM-associated amyloidosis. Ten patients with IgM amyloidosis received this regimen. A hematologic response was achieved in 78 %, including three refractory to prior rituximab alone. Grade 3 toxicity or greater was seen in three of the patients. This is a regimen that warrants further exploration [48]. Bendamustine has been used in the treatment of amyloidosis. Thirty-six patients from two European referral centers were treated with bendamustine and prednisone. The patients received 28-day cycles of bendamustine ranging from 60 to 100 mg/day, day 1 and 2 of each cycle. Ten of the 36 patients (28 %) had IgM monoclonal protein. Of these ten, eight received rituximab with bendamustine and prednisone. By intention to treat, 47 % achieved a hematologic response, complete in 3%. Among the eight subjects with IgM amyloidosis receiving bendamustine and prednisone with rituximab, six (75%) responded with one complete response. The 3-year survival was 65 %. Response to bendamustine conferred a significant survival advantage [49]. A series comprising 267 patients with IgM-related amyloidosis was reported in 2012. Sixty-four percent of patients fulfilled criteria for lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma (Waldenström). Lymph nodal amyloid was found in 18%, renal involvement in 64%, and cardiac involvement in 42%. The free light chain ratio was abnormal in 72 %. One hundred thirty-five patients were treated, 124 evaluable for response. The overall hematologic response rate was 28 % with a better outcome noted for frontline high-dose melphalan, cytoxan, vincristine, prednisone and cyclophosphamide, fludarabine, and rituximab. The median overall survival was 48 months. A difference between involved and uninvolved free light chain >18 mg/dL was predictive of a poor outcome (48 vs. 29 months, respectively). Mayo cardiac stage predicted outcomes with the three stages having survivals of 74, 24, and 10 months, respectively. A survival advantage was seen for hematologic responders. A survival advantage was also seen for high-dose melphalan, bortezomib combinations, and fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab [50].

A subset of patients over the age of 75 years was reported. Two patients had IgM amyloidosis and were treated with rituximab, cyclophosphamide, vincristine, and prednisone. A third patient received rituximab, cyclophosphamide, and dexamethasone for IgM-associated amyloid. The median overall survival for the entire cohort was 10.7 months. Hematologic response VGPR or better resulted in an improved overall survival [51].

14.12 Conclusion

IgM amyloidosis represents approximately 6% of all amyloidosis patients and is a rare complication of Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Failure to recognize this complication of Waldenström is a major cause of morbidity. These patients appear to have an unusually high incidence of lymph node and lung involvement. High-dose therapy with stem cell reconstitution-, bortezomib-, and alkylator-based therapies all appear to have activity in this disease.

References

- 1. Isobe T, Osserman EF. Patterns of amyloidosis and their association with plasma-cell dyscrasia, monoclonal immunoglobulins and Bence-Jones proteins. N Engl J Med. 1974;290 (9):473–7.
- Goldberg LS, Fisher R, Castronova EA, Calabro JJ. Amyloid arthritis associated with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 1969;281(5):256–7.
- Ranlov P, Nielsen PE. Systemic (primary) amyloidosis associated with an IgM (beta-2M) paraproteinaemia. Biochemical, histochemical and immunohistochemical investigations. Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand. 1966;66(2):154–68. Prepublished on 1966/01/01 as DOI.
- Forget BG, Squires JW, Sheldon H. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with generalized amyloidosis. Arch Intern Med. 1966;118(4):363–75.
- 5. Scott RB, Elmore SM, Brackett Jr NC, Harris Jr WO, Still WJ. Neuropathic joint disease (Charcot joints) in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with amyloidosis. Am J Med. 1973;54 (4):535–8.
- Stevens DB, Whitehouse GH. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia with amyloidosis–lymphographic findings. Lymphology. 1976;9(4):142–4.
- Hemminki K, Li X, Forsti A, Sundquist J, Sundquist K. Cancer risk in amyloidosis patients in Sweden with novel findings on non-Hodgkin lymphoma and skin cancer. Ann Oncol. 2014;25 (2):511–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdt544.

- Silvestre J, Saad S. Missed diagnosis of waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and systemic amyloidosis in a patient diagnosed as follicular Lymphoma. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2012;60: S190. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2012.04000.x.
- Mekinian A, Jaccard A, Soussan M, et al. 18F-FDG PET/CT in patients with amyloid lightchain amyloidosis: case-series and literature review. Amyloid. 2012;19(2):94–8. http://dx.doi. org/10.3109/13506129.2012.682833.
- Okuda M, Okuda Y, Ogura T, et al. Primary lung involvement with amyloid deposition in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: observations from over 20 years. Respirology. 2004;9 (3):414–8. Prepublished on 2004/10/23 as DOI.
- 11. Moyner K, Sletten K, Husby G, Natvig JB. An unusually large (83 amino acid residues) amyloid fibril protein AA from a patient with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia and amyloidosis. Scand J Immunol. 1980;11(5):549–54.
- Gardyn J, Schwartz A, Gal R, Lewinski U, Kristt D, Cohen AM. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia associated with AA amyloidosis. Int J Hematol. 2001;74(1):76–8.
- Tatara R, Nagai T, Kobayashi H, et al. AA amyloidosis associated with macroglobulinemia. Int J Hematol. 2010;92(4):675–7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12185-010-0700-z.
- 14. Muzaffar J, Katragadda L, Haider S, Abdallah AO, Anaissie E, Usmani SZ. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia associated with serum amyloid A protein amyloidosis: pitfalls in diagnosis and successful treatment with melphalan-based autologous stem cell transplant. Acta Haematol. 2013;130(3):146–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1159/000347036.
- Mai HL, Sheikh-Hamad D, Herrera GA, Gu X, Truong LD. Immunoglobulin heavy chain can be amyloidogenic: morphologic characterization including immunoelectron microscopy. Am J Surg Pathol. 2003;27(4):541–5. Prepublished on 2003/03/27 as DOI.
- 16. Nasr SH, Said SM, Valeri AM, et al. Renal heavy chain and heavy+light chain amyloidosis: a report of 17 cases and comparison with renal light chain amyloidosis. Blood. 2012;120 (21):3992.
- Said SM, Sethi S, Cornell LD, et al. Renal amyloidosis: origin and pathology of 445 recent cases from a single center. Lab Invest. 2012;92:404A. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/labinvest. 2012.41.
- Kyle RA, Garton JP. The spectrum of IgM monoclonal gammopathy in 430 cases. Mayo Clin Proc. 1987;62(8):719–31. Prepublished on 1987/08/01 as DOI.
- 19. Morra E, Cesana C, Klersy C, et al. Predictive variables for malignant transformation in 452 patients with asymptomatic IgM monoclonal gammopathy. Semin Oncol. 2003;30 (2):172–7. Prepublished on 2003/04/30 as DOI 10.1053/sonc.2003.50068.
- 20. Kyle RA, Dispenzieri A, Kumar S, Larson D, Therneau T, Rajkumar SV. IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) and smoldering Waldenstrom's macro-globulinemia (SWM). Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11(1):74–6. Prepublished on 2011/04/02 as DOI 10.3816/CLML.2011.n.011.
- Kyle RA, Benson JT, Larson DR, et al. Progression in smoldering Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: long-term results. Blood. 2012;119(19):4462–6. Prepublished on 2012/03/28 as DOI 10.1182/blood-2011-10-384768.
- Kyle RA, Therneau TM, Dispenzieri A, et al. Immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance and smoldering Waldenstrom Macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2013;13(2):184–6. doi:10.1016/j.clml.2013.02.005.
- Ogami Y, Takasugi M, Soejima M, et al. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia associated with amyloidosis and crescentic glomerulonephritis. Nephron. 1989;51(1):95–8.
- Hirose H, Takemura Y, Honma S, et al. Nephrotic syndrome associated with generalized amyloidosis and IgM-monoclonal proteinemia. Jpn J Med. 1991;30(2):130–4. Prepublished on 1991/03/01 as DOI.
- Muso E, Tamura I, Yashiro M, et al. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia associated with amyloidosis and membranous nephropathy. Nihon Jinzo Gakkai Shi. 1993;35(11):1265–9. Prepublished on 1993/11/01 as DOI.

- Audard V, Georges B, Vanhille P, et al. Renal lesions associated with IgM-secreting monoclonal proliferations: revisiting the disease spectrum. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2008;3 (5):1339–49. Prepublished on 2008/07/18 as DOI 10.2215/cjn.01600408.
- Palladini G, Merlini G. Diagnostic challenges of amyloidosis in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2013;13(2):244–6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.clml. 2013.02.001.
- Loavenbruck A, Dyck P, Singer W, Dyck PJB. Al versus TTR amyloidosis and their relationship to inflammatory infiltrates in nerve. Neurology. 2013;80 (1 Meeting Abstracts).
- Loavenbruck A, Dyck PJ, Singer W, Dyck PJB. Primary versus transthyretin amyloidosis and their relationship to inflammatory infiltrates in nerve. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2013;18:S64–5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jns5.12025.
- 30. Garces-Sanchez M, Dyck PJ, Kyle RA, et al. Antibodies to myelin-associated glycoprotein (anti-Mag) in IgM amyloidosis may influence expression of neuropathy in rare patients. Muscle Nerve. 2008;37(4):490–5. Prepublished on 2008/02/01 as DOI 10.1002/mus.20955.
- Adams D, Lozeron P, Ribrag V, et al. Inaugural light-chain amyloid polyneuropathy: clinical presentation and course, a monocentric study of 24 patients. Amyloid. 2010;17:190–1. http:// dx.doi.org/10.3109/13506121003737419.
- 32. Treon SP, Hanzis C, Ioakimidis L, et al. Clinical characteristics and treatment outcome of amyloid and IgM-related peripheral neuropathy in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Amyloid. 2010;17:64–5. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/13506121003737401.
- Zatloukal P, Bezdicek P, Schimonova M, Havlicek F, Tesarova P, Slovakova A. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with pulmonary amyloidosis. Respiration. 1998;65 (5):414–6.
- Celli BR, Rubinow A, Cohen AS, Brody JS. Patterns of pulmonary involvement in systemic amyloidosis. Chest. 1978;74(5):543–7.
- Gisserot O, Landais C, Cremades S, et al. Amyloid arthropathy and Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Joint Bone Spine. 2006;73(4):456–8. Prepublished on 2005/08/10 as DOI 10.1016/j. jbspin.2005.03.009.
- 36. Tazawa K, Katoh N, Shimojima Y, Matsuda M, Ikeda S. Marked shrinkage of amyloid lymphadenopathy after an intensive chemotherapy in a patient with IgM-associated AL amyloidosis. Amyloid. 2009;16(4):243–5. Prepublished on 2009/11/20 as DOI 10.3109/ 13506120903090924.
- Gertz MA, Kyle RA. Amyloidosis with IgM monoclonal gammopathies. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):325–8. Prepublished on 2003/04/30 as DOI 10.1053/sonc.2003.50060.
- Gertz MA, Kyle RA, Noel P. Primary systemic amyloidosis: a rare complication of immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathies and Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. J Clin Oncol. 1993;11(5):914–20. Prepublished on 1993/05/01 as DOI.
- Terrier B, Jaccard A, Harousseau JL, et al. The clinical spectrum of IgM-related amyloidosis: a French nationwide retrospective study of 72 patients. Medicine (Baltimore). 2008;87 (2):99–109. Prepublished on 2008/03/18 as DOI 10.1097/MD.0b13e31816c43b6.
- Wechalekar AD, Lachmann HJ, Goodman HJ, Bradwell A, Hawkins PN, Gillmore JD. AL amyloidosis associated with IgM paraproteinemia: clinical profile and treatment outcome. Blood. 2008;112(10):4009–16. Prepublished on 2008/08/19 as DOI 10.1182/blood-2008-02-138156.
- 41. Palladini G, Russo P, Bosoni T, et al. AL amyloidosis with IgM monoclonal protein. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9:S66.
- 42. Palladini G, Russo P, Bosoni T, et al. AL amyloidosis associated with IgM monoclonal protein: a distinct clinical entity. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9(1):80–3. Prepublished on 2009/04/14 as DOI 10.3816/CLM.2009.n.021.
- Merchionne F, Procaccio P, Dammacco F. AL amyloidosis is a rare complication of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Amyloid. 2010;17:202–3. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/ 13506121003737419.

- 44. Sissoko M, Sanchorawala V, Seldin DC, Sworder B, Berk JL, Sloan JM. Clinical presentation and treatment responses in IgM-related AL amyloidosis. Blood. 2013;122(21):1991.
- 45. Valente M, Roy V, Lacy MQ, Dispenzieri A, Gertz MA. Autologous stem cell transplantation and IgM amyloidosis. Leuk Lymphoma. 2006;47(6):1006–12. Prepublished on 2006/07/15 as DOI 10.1080/10428190600572624.
- 46. Gertz MA, Hayman SR, Buadi FK. Transplantation for IgM amyloidosis and IgM myeloma. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9(1):77–9. Prepublished on 2009/04/14 as DOI 10.3816/ CLM.2009.n.020.
- 47. Gono T, Matsuda M, Shimojima Y, et al. IgM AL amyloidosis due to B cell lymphoproliferative disorder: efficacy of high-dose melphalan followed by autologous stem cell transplantation. Amyloid. 2004;11(2):130–5. Prepublished on 2004/10/14 as DOI.
- Palladini G, Foli A, Russo P, et al. Treatment of IgM-associated AL amyloidosis with the combination of rituximab, bortezomib, and dexamethasone. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11(1):143–5. Prepublished on 2011/04/02 as DOI 10.3816/CLML.2011.n.033.
- Palladini G, Schonland SO, Milani P, et al. Treatment of al amyloidosis with bendamustine. Blood. 2012;120(21):4057.
- 50. Roussel M, Palladini G, Gibbs SDJ, et al. Treatment and outcome of 267 patients with IGM-related al amyloidosis. Blood. 2012;120(21):4074.
- 51. Venner CP, Gillmore JD, Lane T, et al. Complete and very good partial responses are attainable endpoints in elderly patients (>75 years) with AL amyloidosis and are associated with improved overall survival. Blood. 2011;118(21):3975.

The Bing-Neel Syndrome

15

K. Ina Ly, Florian Fintelmann, Reza Forghani, Ephraim P. Hochberg, and Fred H. Hochberg

15.1 Introduction

The care of patients with extranodal non-Hodgkin's lymphomas (NHL) and Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (WM) falls to the hematologist/oncologist who is seldom prepared for the central nervous system (CNS) complications of these diseases. The risk factors for CNS involvement in WM are unknown, but insights may be gleaned from those of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL). CNS involvement in DLBCL correlates with elevated serum levels of LDH, involvement of more than one extranodal site of disease, and possibly retroperitoneal lymph node involvement, hypoalbuminemia, and advanced age [1]. When lymphomatous invasion occurs in the subarachnoid space, it usually coexists with relapse in the brain or systemic sites [2]. WM is characterized by elevated levels of circulating pentameric monoclonal immunoglobulin (Ig) M with resulting CNS complications mediated by hyperviscosity and direct malignant cell invasion [3]. In WM, IgM antibody activity against peripheral nerve constituents, such as

K.I. Ly

F. Fintelmann Department of Radiology, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

R. Forghani Department of Radiology, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

E.P. Hochberg

Department of Hematology/Oncology, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

F.H. Hochberg (⊠) Department of Neurosurgery, University of California at San Diego, La Jolla, CA, USA

18 Clovelly Road, Chestnut Hill, MA 02467, USA e-mail: fhochberg@rcn.com

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 V. Leblond et al. (eds.), *Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_15

Stephen E. and Catherine Pappas Center for Neuro-Oncology, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG), can produce a demyelinating peripheral neuropathy [3]. Other peripheral nervous system (PNS) complications include IgM deposition without antibody activity, causing an axonal neuropathy; accumulation of IgM cryoglobulin; amyloid deposition; and direct malignant cell infiltration of nerve structures [3]. While up to one-third of WM patients can have PNS involvement [3], WM lymphoplasmacytic (LPC) cell invasion of dura, leptomeninges, subarachnoid space, and brain parenchyma is rare [4]. Involvement of these CNS structures constitutes the Bing-Neel syndrome (BNS) [5]. Although BNS was first reported over 70 years ago [5], half a decade before Jan Waldenström's seminal paper, there remains no consensus as to diagnostic criteria, staging evaluation, or therapy. To aid the International Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia Foundation (IWMF) and hematologists, we have drawn from our experience and 26 examples in the literature. We separate WM patients with CNS involvement into two groups: those with LPC cells in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (>5 LPC cells/mm³) and/or LPC cells on biopsy of brain parenchyma, leptomeninges, or dura and those without apparent CSF LPC cells (<5 LPC cells/mm³) [6, 7]. Literature cases were accrued from published reports as previously described [6], excluding cases of cerebrovascular accidents, transformation events, infections, disorders of peripheral nerve or root, and those who lacked MRI data.

15.2 Background

This chapter aims to provide WM caregivers with a base for identification of the BNS. The International Prognostic Scoring System (IPSS) for WM [8] provides no insight into PNS and CNS complications of WM, and yet these complications often necessitate immediate therapy. As IPSS scores do not presage BNS, these CNS complications should be appended to this prognostic system to provide additional indications for therapy. Medical oncologists tend to apply the term "Bing-Neel syndrome" to all neurologic conditions in WM patients, even in the absence of evidence of direct LPC infiltration or paraneoplastic effects in the CNS. We thus recommend the *exclusion* of cases with masses of brain parenchyma [4, 9], WM with malignant transformation ([10–13], Case IV [9], Cases I–II [14]), hyperviscosity or brain ischemia from pentameric IgM deposits in blood vessels [15], and those presenting as isolated IgM-related peripheral neuropathies [16].

15.3 History

In 1936, Jens Bing and Axel Neel reported two patients with CNS difficulties, assumed to be related to a "universal toxic effect (...) and not to a local effect" in the absence of "signs of myeloma (...) found either by clinical examination, including X-ray photography (...) or by autopsy" [5]. The index case was a 36 year-old woman who presented with fatigue and loss of appetite, followed by pain affecting her back, ankle, and shoulders. Sedimentation rate was as high as

168 mm/h and she had proteinuria. Serum protein was 10.8% and globulin 7.1%. Three months after symptom onset, she "noticed great loss of power in arms, legs and whole body, (...) vomiting and severe headaches, (...) the voice has been a whisper." She then became aphonic. On neurologic exam, tone was increased but reflexes were normal and sensation preserved. CSF contained one third lymphocytes and was notable for elevated protein (150–160 mg/dl). She succumbed to pneumonia. Postmortem examination revealed "no sign of myeloma" but evidence of a polyradiculitis, myelitis, and encephalitis. In the cervical spinal cord, "a number of anterior horn cells seemed to be missing" and there was "proliferation of (...) macro- and microglia." Plasma cells were found along the capillaries and small vessels of the medulla, spinal cord, and cauda equina. In addition, Grampositive bacteria were identified penetrating the walls of blood vessels.

The second patient, a 59 year-old woman, developed dizziness, tingling, and loss of finger sensation after 6 months of weight loss, fatigue, and vomiting. She was anemic, sedimentation rate was 156 mm/h, and serum protein and globulin were 6.7 % and 4.6 %, respectively. X-rays were not suggestive of myeloma. The lymph glands and spleen were hyperplastic. A polyradiculitis and toxi-infectious "myelo-encephalopathia" were diagnosed on the basis of degenerative changes in the spinal cord and roots, anterior horn, and ganglion cells, medulla, and pons. One single medullary vessel contained a round cell infiltrate. In neither case was bone marrow examined extensively.

Eleven months later, the authors reported three additional patients [17]. Cases 1 and 2 had multiple myeloma. Case 3 had "fatigue of the extremities"; neurologic exam revealed upper and lower extremity weakness, reduced reflexes, and upgoing toes. ESR was 137 mm/h. CSF contained "30/3 cells" and elevated protein of 180–200 mg/dl. On postmortem examination, LPC infiltrates were seen in the perivascular space of nerve roots and meninges as well as within and around the lumen of cortical blood vessels. In addition, degenerative changes were found in the spinal cord tracts, medulla, and nerve roots.

15.4 Manifestations of BNS

We identified 26 cases of BNS in the literature from 1992 and 2010, supplemented by 10 cases ("Cases 1–10") from our experience (Table 15.1). Males predominated (23 males vs. 13 females) with median age of symptom onset at 65 years (range 51–82).

15.4.1 The Setting of BNS

Twenty-three (64%) patients had received chemotherapy (CTH) with rituximab (RTX) (22%), either alone or with CHOP (cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisone) or COP (cyclophosphamide, vincristine, prednisone) as treatment for WM. No CTH combination appeared to predispose to or prevent

| BNS |
|------------------------------------|
| rv ^b MRI |
| Daunology |
| onset Di |
| BNS features ons |
| at BNS onset? ^a BN |
| WM to sta BNS at at (months) on |
| WM: prior BI therapy (IT |
| at BNS, W sex the |
| Case number |

 Table 15.1
 Summary of BNS cases at our institution

| | | | | | | | | | | 6 |
|------------|-------------|----------------|----------------|--------------|--------------------------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------|--------------------------|
| Case 6 | /7, M | AKA-C, | 96 | No | Memory | N/a | CSF: | Enhancement of | XK1, 11 | ΓK |
| | | RTX, | | | problems, leg | | suspicious | meninges (T10 to | ARA-C | |
| | | K-CHUP | | | pain, urinary incontinence | | LPC cells Biopsy: LPC | cauda equina); brain and CNs | | |
| | | | | | | | cells | | | |
| LPC cells | s absent in | CSF and/or oi | n biopsy | | | | | | | |
| Case 7 | 62, M | RTX, Ph | 0° | No | Seizure, | IgM: | CSF: 0 cells | T2/FLAIR in the | RTX, | PR |
| | | | | | depression, | 6.1 | | brain/cerebellum/ | flud, Ph | |
| | | | | | visual | | | midbrain white | | |
| | | | | | hallucinations, gait ataxia | | | matter | | |
| Case 8 | 65, F | Sild | Between | No | Homonymous | IgM: | CSF: 0 cells | Large enhanced optic | Steroids, | PR |
| | | | 137 and | | hemianopia | 19.9 | | nerves, chiasm and | MTX, | |
| | | | 148 | | | | | tracts; T2/FLAIR in | RTX | |
| | | | | | | | | globus pallidus/ | | |
| | | | | ; | | , | | | | ; |
| Case 9 | 59, M | None | 0, | No | CN XI palsy, | IgM: | CSF: 0 cells | Normal brain | RTX, | None |
| | | | | | facial | 1.3 | | | steroids, | |
| | | | | | numbness | | | | R-COP | |
| Case | 55, F | Clad; RTX | 72 | N/a | Gait ataxia, | N/a | CSF: 0 cells | Enhancement: dura/ | Steroids, | N/a |
| 10 | | +Ph; COP | | | behavior, sleep | | Biopsy: no | leptomeninges of | Ph | |
| | | | | | change | | LPC cells, | cervical cord; | | |
| | | | | | | | perivascular | T2/FLAIR: cord/ | | |
| | | | | | | | IgM+ cells | medulla/brain | | |
| Bor bortez | comib; Ch. | lor chlorambuc | il; Clad cladr | ribine; CN (| cranial nerve; ARA | -C cytarabi ^r radiation | ne; CPA cyclopho | sphamide; <i>Dex</i> dexameth | asone; $Flud$ | ludarabine; osnhamide |

^aDefined as: normal or stable IgM levels, regression of WM on BM biopsy, and/or explicit statement by treating physicians vincristine, prednisone; *R-CHOP* rituximab + cyclophosphanide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisone; *Sild* sildenafil ^bIncludes flow cytometry of CSF and/or immunohistochemistry of CNS tissue ^c0 months: denotes BNS as initial presenting feature of systemic WM progression to BNS. Nine patients, including six with BNS diagnosed prior to WM, received either no treatment or had insufficient therapy data. Six patients underwent plasmapheresis in addition to CTH (Cases 3, 7, 10, [18–20]). Twenty-eight percent (n = 10) of patients had stable WM at BNS onset but almost two-thirds of BNS (n = 23) occurred in the setting of rising or elevated levels of plasma IgM, clinical and/or radiographic deterioration, and/or increased LPC marrow infiltrates (Table 15.2). Most commonly, serum viscosity was normal. The diagnosis of WM anteceded neurologic symptoms by a median of 57 months (range 0–180). Although most cases of BNS appeared at least 1 year after WM diagnosis, one-fifth of patients had BNS onset prior to WM.

15.4.2 Clinical, Imaging, and Histopathologic Features (Table 15.2)

The most common symptom of BNS was cognitive problems (39%; n = 14), including memory deficits, personality changes, confusion, hallucinations, and depression. Notably, these changes occurred in the absence of hyperviscosity, thrombocytopenia, or cryoglobulinemia. For example, Case 4 became confused and exhibited memory difficulties and belligerent personality in the setting of progressive WM, and Case 7's BNS was heralded by depression, visual hallucinations, and micrographia. Progression was often rapid over months. Case 10 developed cognitive decline that progressed to hypersomnolence and a nearly persistent vegetative state over 3 months. Twenty-eight percent (n = 10) of symptoms were related to spinal cord, nerve root, or cranial nerve problems. Less common were headaches (19%), seizures (14%), cerebellar syndromes, and basal ganglia difficulties [18, 20]. Concomitant PNS involvement was rare (11%; n = 4).

MRI findings of BNS included foci of T2/FLAIR hyperintensity and/or abnormal contrast enhancement in 30 of 36 cases. Most patients had areas of abnormal gadolinium enhancement in the brain, spinal cord, or both, usually in the presence of concomitant CSF pleocytosis. In half of patients, there was no correlation between location of MRI abnormalities and clinical findings. MRI was reportedly normal in 17 % (n = 6) of patients but this included four who lacked contrast-enhanced studies [20–23].

The diagnosis of BNS was based on biopsy in 14 patients (39%), which targeted brain parenchyma (Case 10, [18, 24–28]), dura (Cases 1–2, [29]), meninges (Case 6, [30]), or orbit [31, 32]. Biopsies corresponded to areas of either contrast enhancement or T2/FLAIR hyperintensity when no enhancement was seen on MRI. Histologic exam revealed the presence of LPC cells staining for IgM, with light chain restriction in seven subjects (Cases 1–2, [24, 27, 28, 30, 32]).

CSF studies were available in 31 patients (86 %). Twenty-one of these contained \geq 5 leukocytes/mm³, with immunophenotypic studies performed in 9 and monoclonal kappa light chain restriction confirmed in 5 (Case 4, [21, 23, 33, 34]). IgH gene rearrangement was not studied in any patient. Ten patients' CSF contained fewer than 5 leukocytes/mm³. Four of these had LPC infiltrates on biopsy or at autopsy (Cases 1, 2, [26, 28]).

| | | | | Our institution | |
|--|--|---------------|----|-----------------|---|
| | | <i>n</i> = 36 | % | (case number) | Literature |
| WM stability at BNS onset | Yes | 10 | 28 | | [18, 21, 22, 25, 28, 34, 35 (Patients 1–3), 36] |
| | No | 23 | 64 | 1–9 | [19, 20, 23, 24, 26, 27, 29–31, 33, 37, 45–47] |
| | N/a | 3 | 8 | 10 | [32, 40] |
| Clinical | Seizure | 5 | 14 | 7 | [22, 25, 30, 36] |
| presentation | Headache | 7 | 19 | 2 | [21, 25, 29, 34, 40, 45] |
| | Cognitive | 14 | 39 | 1, 4, 6–7, 10 | [19, 21–24, 27, 28, 45, 46] |
| | Cranial nerve | 10 | 28 | 5, 7–9 | [21, 26, 31, 32, 34, 35 (Patient 3)] |
| | Spinal cord/nerve root | 10 | 28 | 1, 3, 5–6, 10 | [33, 35 (Patients 1–2), 37, 47] |
| | Cerebellar | 6 | 17 | 7 | [19, 26, 36, 45, 46] |
| | Basal ganglia | 2 | 6 | | [18, 20] |
| Biopsy from | LPC cells present | 13 | 36 | 1–2, 6 | [18, 24–32] |
| dura, | LPC cells absent | 1 | 3 | 10 | |
| leptomeninges, and/or parenchyma | N/a | 22 | 61 | 3-5, 7-9 | [19–23, 33, 34, 35 (Patients 1–3), 37, 40, 45–47] |
| CSF studies | Leukocytosis | 21 | 58 | 3–6 | [19, 21–23, 25, 29, 32–34, 35 (Patients 1–3), 37, 45–47] |
| | Flow cytometry | 9 | 25 | 4 | [21, 23, 25, 32–34, 36, 47] |
| | Confirmed Ig light chain restriction | 5 | 14 | 4 | [21, 23, 33, 34] |
| | No leukocytosis | 10 | 28 | 1-2, 7-10 | [20, 26, 28, 40] |
| | N/a | 5 | 14 | | [18, 24, 27, 30, 31] |
| MRI | Enhancing lesions | 23 | 64 | 1-2, 5-6, 8 | [18, 24, 25, 27–32, 33–35 (Patients 1–3), 37, 40, 46, 47] |
| | Brain | 12 | 33 | 2 | [18, 24, 25, 27–31, 35 (Patient 3), 40, 46] |
| | Spinal cord | 7 | 19 | 6 | [33–35 (Patients 1–2), 37, 47] |
| | Brain and cord | 4 | 11 | 1, 5, 8 | [32] |
| | Normal MRI | 6 | 17 | 3, 9 | [20–23] |

Table 15.2 Characteristics of BNS

15.4.3 Treatment of BNS (Table 15.3)

No WM therapy heralded the appearance of BNS. Three quarters of WM patients had received systemic CTH and one-third intrathecal (IT) therapy. Neuraxis irradiation was given to 42 % (n = 15) and plasmapheresis to 14 % (n = 5). Two patients underwent stem cell transplantation after failing three cycles of systemic CHOP and

| | | | | Our institution | |
|-----------|----------------|---------------|----|-----------------|----------------------------------|
| | | <i>n</i> = 36 | % | (case number) | Literature |
| Treatment | XRT | 15 | 42 | 1–2, 4–6 | [18, 24, 27, 29, 31, 32, 34, 35 |
| regimen | | | | | (Patients 1–2), 45] |
| | Systemic CTH | 27 | 75 | 2-5, 7-10 | [18, 19, 23, 25, 26, 29–35 |
| | | | | | (Patients 1–3), 36, 37, 45–47] |
| | IT CTH | 12 | 33 | 4, 6 | [21, 23, 32, 33, 35 (Patients 1- |
| | | | | | 3), 37, 47] |
| | Plasmapheresis | 5 | 14 | 3, 7, 10 | [30, 37] |
| | BM Tx | 2 | 6 | | [23, 32] |
| | Other | 5 | 14 | 9 | [20, 25, 32, 40] |
| | No Rx; n/a | 2 | 6 | | [22, 28] |
| Treatment | CR | 7 | 19 | 1 | [18, 21, 24, 25, 30, 32] |
| response | PR | 20 | 56 | 2-3, 5-8 | [20, 23, 27, 29, 31, 33–35 |
| | | | | | (Patients 1-3), 36, 37, 45, 47] |
| | None/ | 5 | 14 | 4, 9 | [26, 28, 46] |
| | progressive | | | | |
| | Awaiting; n/a | 4 | 11 | 10 | [19, 22, 40] |
| | CR on imaging | 9 | 25 | 1 | [18, 24, 25, 30, 32, 35 (Patient |
| | | | | | 2), 37] |
| | Death | 10 | 28 | 2, 5 | [21, 26, 28, 34, 35 (Patients 1, |
| | | | | | 3), 45, 46] |

Table 15.3 Treatment of BNS

IT methotrexate (MTX) [23] and to consolidate a major response to steroids, MTX, and focal XRT [32]. Hematologists had a tendency to treat both the neuraxis as well as systemic WM when BNS presented in the setting of stable or progressive WM. Treatment included systemic CTH (in 70% and 78% with stable and progressive WM, respectively) and neuraxis radiation (in 40% and 43% with stable and progressive WM, respectively). There was a predilection for rituximab (RTX) administration to those with progressive WM (35% vs. 10% in stable patients). In the setting of BNS and progressive WM, therapies included CHOP (n=3), COP (n=2), chlorambucil (n=2), vindesine (n=1), IT CHT (n=6), plasmapheresis (n=4), and stem cell transplantation (n=3), procarbazine (n=1), vincristine (n=1), and IT CTH (n=5).

Patients with LPC infiltrates of the neuraxis based on ≥ 5 leukocytes/mm³ in CSF received XRT (50%, n = 15), IT CTH (40%, n = 12), bone marrow transplantation (7%, n = 2), and systemic high-dose MTX (23%, n = 7). In this group, two-thirds (n = 14) achieved a partial response (PR) and seven a complete response (CR) after XRT, systemic MTX, IT MTX, or a combination thereof. Patients lacking cells in CSF were treated with systemic CTH, plasmapheresis, and symptomatic therapies such as carbidopa/levodopa for parkinsonian features [20].

Neurologic symptoms and CSF cell counts improved in 27 BNS patients, including 7 with CR. Six had resolution of MRI abnormalities after XRT, systemic CTH, IT MTX and cytarabine, and stem cell transplantation (Cases 1, [18, 24, 25, 30, 32]). Three patients with MRI resolution had residual clinical difficulties and were classified as partial responders (Patient 2 [35–37]). Response to treatment lasted a median of 18 months (range 2–120 months). Duration of response for complete responders was 21 months vs. 18 months for partial responders. Nine patients succumbed after a median of 2.5 months (range 1–26 months) following PR or progressive disease (PD).

Recently, two retrospective studies analyzed 34 and 44 BNS patients; response rate was respectively 68% and 70%, with heterogeneous treatment regimens [38, 39]. Overall survival rate was 59% at 3 years and 71% at 5 years, respectively.

15.4.4 Specialized Forms of BNS That Suggest Antibody-Mediated Disease

Although the majority (83 %, n = 30) of BNS appeared to be mediated by direct malignant cell invasion of the CNS, a small subset of patients did not have the evidence of LPC cells in CSF (Cases 7–10, [20, 40]). Whether these cases reflected covert infiltrates of LPC cells, which were not sampled or suppressed by therapy, is unclear. It is conceivable that WM-associated IgM antibody binds to CNS myelin in a fashion analogous to selective binding to myelin of peripheral nerves [41]. Similar selective binding of WM IgM underlies Schnitzler syndrome, WM protein-losing enteropathy, and POEMS syndrome [3]. We have identified two patients with optic nerve involvement by WM in a fashion that would be antibody-mediated rather than cell-mediated (unpublished data). In addition, two cases in the literature support a possible antibody-mediated CNS disease process [20, 42]. One patient with known WM developed a demyelinating sensorimotor polyneuropathy in the setting of elevated titers to MAG, followed by emergence of a Parkinsonian syndrome 3 years later [20]. CSF did not show pleocytosis. MRI brain was normal but PET imaging revealed decreased FDOPA uptake in the bilateral caudate and putamen and glucose hypometabolism in the lentiform nuclei, arguing against idiopathic Parkinson disease. Scheithauer et al. [42] reported a case of WM with progressive left-sided tremors, in the absence of CSF pleocytosis. Postmortem brain examination revealed focal areas of acellular myelin loss, with concomitant infiltration by focal LPC cells and positive staining for IgM kappa light chains.

15.5 A View to the Future of BNS

Hematologists and oncologists should be knowledgeable to the clinical features of BNS. Although BNS occurred in the setting of progressive WM in most patients (64 %, n = 23), a subset (28 %, n = 10) developed neuraxis involvement during stable or remitting WM. As with DLBCL prognostic indices, further analyses will be needed to identify BNS risk factors. Thirty of 36 patients had areas of enhancement and/or T2/FLAIR hyperintensity on MRI. Contrast-enhancing lesions were seen in the vast majority (21 of 23) of patients with >5 LMP cells/mm³ in CSF. suggesting breakdown of the blood-brain barrier secondary to direct invasion of malignant cells. None of these lesions had signal characteristics consistent with ischemia. Clinicians may benefit from use of diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) sequences, which are sensitive for acute and subacute brain ischemia, to differentiate ischemia/infarction from true LPC cellular invasion. Similarly, there is future utility to use of advanced MRI techniques such as measurement of cerebral blood volume, cerebral blood flow, and dynamic contrast-enhanced MR imaging to assess changes in permeability of the blood-brain barrier. Imaging findings of patients without CSF pleocytosis, on the other hand, were most remarkable for focal areas of T2/FLAIR hyperintensity. MRI may thus be helpful in distinguishing between celland antibody-mediated forms of BNS.

Therapy with XRT, systemic MTX, and IT MTX provided complete MRI response in nine patients with LPC CSF cells, with corresponding clinical remission and/or normalization of serum IgM levels in six subjects. Given our experience with primary CNS lymphoma, there is a predilection to provision of systemic MTX to BNS patients with LPC cells. However, BNS patients without LPC cells might benefit from reduction of circulating IgM with plasmapheresis and systemic cytoreductive WM therapy as in Case 7 in whom plasmapheresis and RTX led to a PR. The activity of ibrutinib in WM suggests a possible role in the cellular variant of BNS although the penetration of this agent into the neuraxis is unknown.

We suggest neurologic additions to the IPSS for WM, particularly for patients with new-onset altered mental status, memory and behavioral changes, headache, seizures, or focal neurologic deficits [7]. These additions should include CSF studies (flow cytometry, cytology, immunohistochemistry) along with contrastenhanced MR imaging of the brain and entire spine. Excellent examples exist in the literature of patients with careful evaluation of LPC cells in the CNS [21, 25, 29]. In the setting of CSF LPC cells, clinicians should obtain CSF for polymerase chain reaction (PCR) analysis for clonal IgH gene rearrangement or in situ hybridization for kappa and lambda Ig light chains on CNS tissue. Without LPC cells, CSF studies should include molecular studies for clonal B cells and consideration given to a brain biopsy. Special attention is warranted to advanced MRI studies and demonstration of IgM deposits in the brain [42]. On a molecular level, use of allele-specific PCR for the L265P mutation in the MYD88 gene may be a potential tool for detection of WM [43], and the diagnostic of BNS could be improved by the detection of this mutation in CSF specimens, as recently published [44]. To these staging criteria should be added standardized assays of performance status and response to treatment, including sequential blood tests, CSF studies, and contrast-enhanced MRI [7]. Assessment of these parameters in future large-scale studies will improve risk stratification of patients.

Disclosure RF is a consultant radiologist, shareholder, and member of the medical and quality assurance committee for Real Time Medical Inc. RF has also acted as a consultant for Biogen Idec in the past and as a speaker at a lunch and learn session titled "Dual-Energy CT Applications in Neuroradiology and Head and Neck Imaging" sponsored by GE Healthcare at the 27th Annual Meeting of the Eastern Neuroradiological Society in September 2015.

EPH is a consultant for Flatiron and Intervention Insights. FHH has declared financial interests in Cascent and Tavec Pharmaceuticals. All remaining authors have declared no conflicts of interest.

Authorship and Acknowledgments All authors reviewed and approved the manuscript. The authors thank Dr. Russell J. H. Ryan for hematopathologic expertise and Julien Colbert for his help in organizing the clinical data.

Funding No funding to be declared.

References

- 1. Hollender A, Kvaloy S, Nome O, et al. Central nervous system involvement following diagnosis of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: a risk model. Ann Oncol. 2002;13:1099–107.
- Jahnke K, Thiel E, Martus P, et al. Retrospective study of prognostic factors in non-Hodgkin lymphoma secondarily involving the central nervous system. Ann Hematol. 2006;85:45–50.
- 3. Treon SP. XIII. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia: an indolent B-cell lymphoma with distinct molecular and clinical features. Hematol Oncol. 2013;31 Suppl 1:76–80.
- Logothetis J, Silverstein P, Coe J. Neurologic aspects of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia; report of a case. Arch Neurol. 1960;3:564–73.
- 5. Bing J, Neel AV. Two cases of hyperglobulinemia with affection of the central nervous system on a toxi-infectious basis. Acta Med Scand. 1936;88:492–506.
- 6. Fintelmann F, Forghani R, Schaefer PW, et al. Bing-Neel syndrome revisited. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9:104–6.
- Ly KI, Fintelmann F, Forghani R, et al. Novel diagnostic approaches in Bing-Neel syndrome. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:180–3.
- Morel P, Duhamel A, Gobbi P, et al. International prognostic scoring system for Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;113:4163–70.
- Monteiro PL, Wildi E. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with lymphoproliferative changes in the central nervous system. 4 cases. Schweiz Arch Neurol Neurochir Psychiatr. 1975;116: 59–82.
- 10. Edgar R, Dutcher TF. Histopathology of the Bing-Neel syndrome. Neurology. 1961;11: 239–45.
- 11. Garderet L, Baudel JL, Cervera P, et al. 'Indolent' Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and a cerebrospinal fluid protein level of 16 g/L. Eur J Haematol. 2006;77:80–2.
- Langevin JP, Bergsneider M, Yashar P, et al. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and large B-cell central nervous system lymphoma: a case report. Surg Neurol. 2008;69:407–10.
- Quilichini R, Benderitter T, Lafeuillade A, et al. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with cerebral lymphoproliferative involvement of tumor appearance (Bing and Neel syndrome). An anatomo-clinical case. Ann Med Interne (Paris). 1989;140:25–9.

- Neau JP, Guilhot F, Dumas P, et al. Central neurologic forms of Waldenstrom's disease. Bing-Neel syndrome. 3 cases. Rev Neurol (Paris). 1991;147:56–60.
- 15. Arias M, Pereiro Zabala I, Requena Caballero I, et al. Rapidly progressing dementia as the presenting symptom of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: findings from magnetic resonance imaging of the brain in Bing Neel syndrome. Rev Neurol. 2004;38:640–2.
- Seitzer B, Spieker C, Schoon ML, et al. Bing-Neel syndrome. Polyneuropathy within the scope of paraproteinemia. Fortschr Med. 1989;107:291–3.
- 17. Bing J, Fog M, Neel AV. Reports of a third case of hyperglobulinemia with affection of the central nervous system on a toxi-infectious basis. Acta Med Scand. 1937;91:410–27.
- 18. Delgado J, Canales MA, Garcia B, et al. Radiation therapy and combination of cladribine, cyclophosphamide, and prednisone as treatment of Bing-Neel syndrome: case report and review of the literature. Am J Hematol. 2002;69:127–31.
- 19. Donix M, Beuthien-Baumann B, Von Kummer R, et al. Nonfluent aphasia in a patient with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. J Clin Neurosci. 2007;14:601–3.
- Rudnicki SA, Harik SI, Dhodapkar M, et al. Nervous system dysfunction in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: response to treatment. Neurology. 1998;51:1210–3.
- Bhatti MT, Yuan C, Winter W, et al. Bilateral sixth nerve paresis in the Bing-Neel syndrome. Neurology. 2005;64:576–7.
- 22. Koller H, Von Giesen HJ, Siebler M. Impairment of electrophysiological function of astrocytes by cerebrospinal fluid from a patient with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. J Neuroimmunol. 1995;61:35–9.
- Messaoudene A, Sbai A, Ghillani-Dalbin P, et al. Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia and involvement of the central nervous system. A case report. Ann Biol Clin (Paris). 2003;61: 99–102.
- Imai F, Fujisawa K, Kiya N, et al. Intracerebral infiltration by monoclonal plasmacytoid cells in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia–case report. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 1995;35:575–9.
- 25. Malkani RG, Tallman M, Gottardi-Littell N, et al. Bing-Neel syndrome: an illustrative case and a comprehensive review of the published literature. J Neurooncol. 2010;96:301–12.
- 26. Philippeau F, Honnorat J, Nighoghossian N, et al. JC virus infection and lympho-plasmocytic infiltration of the central nervous system revealed by a cerebellar syndrome. Rev Neurol (Paris). 1999;155:961–5.
- Shimizu K, Fujisawa K, Yamamoto H, et al. Importance of central nervous system involvement by neoplastic cells in a patient with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia developing neurologic abnormalities. Acta Haematol. 1993;90:206–8.
- Welch D, Whetsell Jr WO, Weil RJ. Pathologic quiz case. A man with long-standing monoclonal gammopathy and new onset of confusion. Central nervous system involvement by Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia-Bing-Neel syndrome. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2002;126: 1243–4.
- 29. Kim HD, Shin KC, Cho HS, et al. Therapeutic experience of Bing-Neel Syndrome associated with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. J Korean Med Sci. 2007;22:1079–81.
- 30. Richards AI. Response of meningeal Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia to 2-chlorodeoxyadenosine. J Clin Oncol. 1995;13:2476.
- Ettl AR, Birbamer GG, Philipp W. Orbital involvement in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: ultrasound, computed tomography and magnetic resonance findings. Ophthalmologica. 1992; 205:40–5.
- 32. Stacy RC, Jakobiec FA, Hochberg FH, et al. Orbital involvement in Bing-Neel syndrome. J Neuroophthalmol. 2010;30:255–9.
- Drouet T, Behin A, Psimaras D, et al. Bing-Neel syndrome revealing Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Rev Neurol (Paris). 2010;166:66–75.
- 34. Sutter R, Arber C, Tichelli A, et al. Cranial and peripheral neuropathy due to leptomeningeal infiltration in a patient with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. J Neurol. 2007;254:1122–3.
- Abad S, Zagdanski AM, Brechignac S, et al. Neurolymphomatosis in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia. Br J Haematol. 1999;106:100–3.
- 36. Kolbaske S, Grossmann A, Benecke R, et al. Progressive gait ataxia and intention tremor in a case of Bing-Neel syndrome. J Neurol. 2009;256:1366–8.
- Liberato B, Riethmuller A, Comenzo RL, et al. Myelopathy from Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: improvement after Rituximab therapy. J Neurooncol. 2003;63:207–11.
- Castillo J, D'Sa S, Lunn M, et al. Central nervous system involvement by Waldenström macroglobulinemia (Bing-Neel syndrome): a multi-institutional retrospective study. Br J Haematol. 2016;172:709–15.
- 39. Simon L, Fitsiori A, Lemal R, et al. Bing-Neel syndrome, a rare complication of Waldenström macroglobulinemia: analysis of 44 cases and review of the literature. A study on behalf of the French Innovative Leukemia Organization (FILO). Haematologica. 2015;100(12):1587–94.
- 40. Drappatz J, Akar S, Fisher DC, et al. Imaging of Bing-Neel syndrome. Neurology. 2008;70: 1364.
- Ropper AH, Gorson KC. Neuropathies associated with paraproteinemia. N Engl J Med. 1998; 338:1601–7.
- Scheithauer BW, Rubinstein LJ, Herman MM. Leukoencephalopathy in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Immunohistochemical and electron microscopic observations. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1984;43:408–25.
- Treon SP, Xu L, Yang G, et al. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:826–33.
- Poulain S, Boyle EM, Roumier C, et al. MYD88 L265P mutation contributes to the diagnosis of Bing Neel syndrome. Br J Haematol. 2014;167(4):506–13.
- 45. Fain O, Wechsler B, Vidailhet M, et al. Involvement of central nervous system disclosing Waldenstrom's disease: demonstration of intrathecal secretion of immunoglobulin M. Rev Med Interne. 1992;13:58–60.
- Kim HJ, Suh SI, Kim JH, et al. Brain magnetic resolution imaging to diagnose Bing-Neel syndrome. J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2009;46:588–91.
- 47. Massengo S, Riffaud L, Morandi X, et al. Nervous system lymphoid infiltration in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. A case report. J Neurooncol. 2003;62:353–8.

Unusual Manifestations of IgM Monoclonal **16** Gammopathies

Giampaolo Merlini, Bouchra Asli, and Jean-Paul Fermand

In addition to symptoms directly caused by the clonal cells, such as bone marrow infiltration, lymphadenopathy, and splenomegaly, immunoglobulin M (IgM)-secreting monoclonal B-cell proliferations can be featured by symptoms due to the monoclonal IgM, either by deposition of all or part of its molecule or because of a symptomatic autoantibody activity. Some of these IgM-related manifestations such as hyperviscosity can only occur in high tumor mass proliferation. The others can also complicate an overt IgM-secreting proliferation but most often occur in the context of an indolent proliferation or even of a MGUS. This situation has led to the introduction of the concept of "dangerous" small B-cell clone [1] and of monoclonal gammopathy of renal significance (MGRS) [2].

Autoantibody activities of the monoclonal IgM are involved in several manifestations of IgM gammopathies such as type II cryoglobulinemia (CG), cold agglutinin disease, and peripheral neuropathies which are described in other chapters of this book. The deposition mechanism is mainly illustrated by AL amyloidosis that is treated in the first part of this chapter. The two other parts are devoted to kidney and skin manifestations of IgM gammopathies, which are not uncommon and could in some cases involve other mechanisms than deposition or autoantibody activity.

G. Merlini (🖂)

Amyloidosis Research and Treatment Center, Department of Molecular Medicine, Fondazione Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico Policilnico San Matteo, Pavia, Italy

University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy e-mail: gmerlini@unipv.it

B. Asli • J.-P. Fermand Immuno-Haematology Unit, Hôpital Saint-Louis, Paris, France e-mail: jpfermand@yahoo.fr

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 V. Leblond et al. (eds.), *Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_16

16.1 AL Amyloidosis in IgM Gammopathies

In AL amyloidosis, a monoclonal light chain (LC) misfolds, aggregates, and deposits in tissues, which causes organ dysfunction and ultimately death if left untreated [3]. An IgM clone is responsible for the disease in approximately 4% to 7% of cases [4-8]. Immunoglobulin M (IgM)-related amyloidosis remains a rare and little-known complication of monoclonal IgM-associated disorders, and it may be easily missed. Older patients with IgM-AL amyloidosis are being increasingly recognized posing particular challenges in management [9]. In a large European collaborative study comprising 263 patients with IgM-related AL amyloidosis, the underlying lymphoplasmacytic proliferative disorder was more frequently the Waldenström macroglobulinemia (WM)/lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma (LPL) (40%) followed by other non-Hodgkin lymphomas (NHLs) (23%), IgM MGUS (20%), and patients with predominant plasma cell bone marrow infiltration (8%). In 27 % of patients, the underlying lymphoplasmacytic disorder was uncertain [10]. It is important to note that although infrequently (4%), WM and other IgM-related NHL can be associated with reactive AA amyloidosis, not AL amyloidosis, with important practical implications [7]. Although patients with IgM-AL amyloidosis share many of the major characteristics of other patients with this disease, this condition presents distinct features. Amyloid deposition affects more frequently the lungs (up to 22 %) and lymph nodes (20–31 %) as well as peripheral or autonomic nervous system (up to 38%) [4-8]. Moreover, patients with IgM-AL amyloidosis have a lower concentration of circulating amyloidogenic free LCs (FLCs), and only two-thirds had evaluable dFLC > 50 mg/L [4, 6, 8, 9], which may render difficult the evaluation of response to therapy and the participation in trials. The heart is less frequently and less severely involved than in non-IgM-AL amyloidosis, with the concentration of the cardiac biomarkers N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) and troponins significantly lower in IgM-AL amyloidosis [4, 6].

In recent series, the median survival of patients with AL amyloidosis and an underlying IgM clone ranged from 48 to 78 months, with no significant differences compared with patients without IgM [4, 6, 8, 9]. Risk stratification may be performed also in these patients using the Mayo cardiac staging system [11], as recently validated in the large European cohort [10].

The diagnostic criteria for IgM-related amyloidosis are:

- (a) Presence of an IgM monoclonal component (with LC of the same isotype of that identified in the amyloid deposits).
- (b) Biopsy-proven amyloidosis (the preferred biopsy site is the periumbilical fat pad; if negative, the biopsy of the minor labial salivary glands may be helpful. The biopsy of the affected organ, particularly the kidney, is safe, while for the liver, the transjugular route is suggested due to the severe bleeding risk.) [3].

- (c) Demonstration of AL type by immunohistochemistry or immuno-electron microscopy or mass spectrometry, if AA amyloidosis is suspected.
- (d) Organ involvement (the heart, kidney, liver, peripheral nervous system, or soft tissue including LN). No amyloid-specific syndrome, such as carpal tunnel syndrome or skin purpura as the only evidence of disease.

Additional adverse prognostic factors have been validated in different series, such as performance status >1 [8], differential FLC concentration >180 mg/L [10], and serum albumin < 35 g/L [12]. A recent European collaborative study, including 250 patients, has reported that cardiac involvement/advanced Mayo disease stage, peripheral neuropathic involvement, and low albumin<30 g/L were independent factors at multivariate analysis, impacting survival. A novel staging system combining abnormal NT-proBNP and troponin-T with low albumin (<30 g/L), and the presence of peripheral neuropathy gives a better risk model: median survival of patients with none, one, or two/more abnormal factors was 73, 55, and 17 months, respectively [9]. In non-IgM-AL amyloidosis, hematologic and cardiac response criteria have been defined and validated throughout an international effort [13]. These criteria have been validated also in the large European population of patients with IgM-related amyloidosis [9, 10]. However, only 2/3rd of patients had evaluable dFLC > 50 mg/L. There is consensus among the experts that in patients with low dFLC, response can be defined by M-protein changes (i.e., partial response: decrease by >50%) evaluated either by serum electrophoresis or by nephelometry/ turbidimetry assays. The results of the recent European study indicate that in IgM AL both light chains and the monoclonal IgM should be used for response assessment, contrary to emerging literature in non-IgM-AL amyloidosis [9]. Organ response can be defined using the same criteria used in non-IgM-AL amyloidosis for cardiac [13] and renal response [14], which have been validated in large populations.

Treatment should be aimed at the underlying IgM-related condition in order to reduce the concentration of the LC rapidly and deeply, since it has been reported that hematological response to treatment improves the survival [10]. As in non-IgM AL, the goal of VGPR or better remains the therapeutic end point in patients with IgM-related AL amyloidosis. There is no consensus on the best treatment of IgM-related amyloidosis, and evidence is limited to small, noncontrolled trials. Bortezomib, bendamustine, cyclophosphamide, and purine analogs in combination with rituximab and dexamethasone are increasingly favored, but hematological responses remain poor with very few complete responses [9, 10, 15]. The striking paucity of complete responses and few VGPRs observed in a large European study [9] highlights the difficulties of deep clonal eradication in low-grade NHL.

In patients with peripheral neuropathy, bortezomib should be avoided. Stem cell-sparing regimens should be used in patients potentially eligible for autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT), and patients achieving less than very good partial response should be considered for ASCT [16]. Ibrutinib has been recently approved in the States for the treatment of WM, but no data are available regarding the efficacy and tolerability (especially cardiac and bleeding adverse events) in these

patients. Overall, current evidence indicates that ASCT and bortezomib-based regimes are associated with best responses [9]. For patients with other NHL, therapy should be tailored to the specific lymphoma. New and novel combinations need to be studied into prospective studies to improve responses and survival.

16.2 Renal Manifestations of IgM Gammopathies

Renal disease is a frequent complication of all B-cell lymphoid proliferations. Indirect mechanisms, such as infection, metabolic disorders, or treatment-related renal lesions, are often involved. In addition, clonal cells may cause renal damage by various mechanisms, including urinary tract obstruction by lymph nodes, tumor infiltration of the renal parenchyma, or deposition of a monoclonal immunoglobulin (Ig). Regarding IgM-secreting proliferations, renal manifestations are usually considered as less frequent and less diverse than in other B-cell lymphoid disorders. However, recent data have shown their previously unexpected heterogeneity and their clinical, therapeutic, and prognostic importance in many cases [17].

16.2.1 Tumor Mass-Related Renal Manifestations

Some renal manifestations of IgM-secreting monoclonal B-cell proliferations only occur in the course of a high tumor mass proliferation. They include glomerular monoclonal IgM intracapillary deposits, light chain (LC) cast nephropathy (CN), and interstitial infiltration of the kidney.

Glomerular monoclonal IgM intracapillary deposits occluding capillary lumens have been recognized for decades as the hallmark of renal disease in WM [18, 19]. Lesions are typically featured by isolated monotypic IgM thrombi, which occurred in patients with advanced disease and high serum IgM levels, usually with hyperviscosity syndrome and sometimes with detectable cryoglobulinemia. The frequency of this complication has decreased over time, thanks to the improvement in the management of WM [18].

LC cast nephropathy (CN) is not exceptional in patients with high tumor burden IgM-secreting monoclonal B-cell proliferations [17, 20]. Although usually relatively low in all IgM gammopathies, urinary excretion of LC may be elevated in some patients with symptomatic WM. In addition, cast formation, which is the trademark of CN, is determined by both urine LC concentration and peculiarities of LC variable sequence that determine interaction with uromodulin [21]. Moreover, local conditions in the tubule milieu, such as a decrease in urine flow and an acid pH, are key favoring factors. Accordingly, as in multiple myeloma, symptomatic measures to prevent LC intratubular precipitation should be considered in patients with overt WM, particularly with high FLC levels or Bence Jones proteinuria. These preventive measures are important since CN appears to be associated with poor renal outcome in WM [17, 20]. The infiltration of the interstitium of the kidney by lymphoplasmacytic cells is the more frequent tumor mass-related renal complication. The renal biopsy shows a lymphoplasmacytic patchy infiltration of the renal interstitium predominantly made of CD20 positive lymphocytes which also stained positive for μ and k or λ light chains. Associated interstitial fibrosis is frequent. When dense, the tumor parenchymal infiltration may cause acute kidney injury, usually in association with acute tubular necrosis. It may be associated with any other renal diseases occurring in the setting of a high tumor mass IgM-secreting proliferation and, in this case, is likely to contribute significantly to the severity of renal disease [17, 22].

16.2.2 Tumor Mass-Unrelated Renal Manifestations: Monoclonal Gammopathy of Renal Significance (MGRS) of IgM Type

In addition to the renal complications which occur only during the course of an overt B-cell proliferation, others are tumor mass-unrelated. They may complicate another symptomatic disease, but much more often, they feature either an indolent and asymptomatic proliferation or even a MGUS. The concept of monoclonal gammopathy of renal significance, the so-called MGRS, was recently introduced to highlight the causal relationship between the gammopathy and renal damage and the need for early hematological treatment to preserve renal prognosis [2]. As in all MGRS, the main mechanism of MGRS of IgM type is Ig deposition, and all or part of the monoclonal IgM can depose in the glomerular or in the tubular structure of the kidney [23].

With regard to glomerulopathies, IgM deposits can be either organized or non-organized according to their ultrastructural pattern. As mentioned above, *amyloidosis* belongs to the organized type, in a fibrillar structure. IgM deposits complicating *type I or type II cryoglobulinemia* also have an organized structure, which is microtubular. *The so-called GOMMID or immunotactoid GN* is also due to Ig deposits with a tubular structure. It is usually associated with a silent chronic lymphocytic leukemia but rarely, if ever, features an IgM-secreting monoclonal B-cell proliferation such as WM [17, 23].

Monoclonal Ig deposition diseases, which are sometimes called Randall's diseases, have also rarely been described in the course of WM and other IgM-secreting monoclonal B-cell proliferations. Another type of glomerulopathy characterized by non-organized granular Ig deposits is more frequent, namely, *proliferative glomerulonephritis with monoclonal Ig deposits (PGMID)*. This nephropathy is characterized by cellular proliferation associated with granular subendothelial deposits in the absence of intracapillary thrombi. On the renal biopsy, endocapillary hypercellularity and mesangial matrix increase are key features, and immunofluorescence studies revealed a bright μ (and either k or λ) staining of capillary walls with a granular pattern [23].

Regarding tubulopathy, *Fanconi's syndrome* is a rare but possible complication of IgM monoclonal gammopathies. It is invariably related to the proximal tubule

reabsorption of LC of kappa isotype and may occur alone or in the setting of extrarenal manifestations of a crystal-storing histiocytosis (CSH) [17].

16.2.3 Diagnostic Approach

The incidence of the different renal complications of IgM gammopathies is not well known. A recently published short retrospective study (n = 35) pointed out an under-recognized frequency of tubulointerstitial disorders, including CN (5/35), LC-Fanconi syndrome (3/35), and isolated severe tumor infiltration (1/35) [17]. Otherwise, glomerular symptoms, usually with nephrotic syndrome, featured about ³/₄ of cases, AL amyloidosis, and membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis, including PGMID and cryoglobulinemic kidney, accounting for most cases. Only one-third of patients had symptomatic hematological disease, usually WM, and the two other thirds had MGRS [17].

From a clinical point of view, the distinction between the different renal diseases mainly relies upon analysis of proteinuria. When detected during the course of an overt IgM-secreting monoclonal proliferation, a low-grade proteinuria mixing small amounts of albumin and LC will suggest a lymphoid infiltration of the kidney. This is usually observed in the presence of a moderate renal failure, sometimes with kidney enlargement. Less frequently, a proteinuria predominantly made of LC will indicate cast nephropathy, usually in the context of precipitating factors such as dehydration, infection, and use of toxic drugs. The Fanconi syndrome should be suspected when a monoclonal IgM always associated with a k free LC is detected in a patient with metabolic disorders such as hypouricemia and hypophosphatemia and normoglycemic glycosuria which should prompt further explorations for proximal tubular dysfunction.

Proteinuria mainly composed of albumin indicates a glomerular process. Its nature may be suspected by the assessment of other renal symptoms, by careful search for extrarenal manifestations and by the characteristics of monoclonal gammopathy, particularly its LC isotype and whether it corresponds to an overt gammopathy or not. Very rarely, in the context of a high tumor mass WM, usually with symptoms of hyperviscosity, the diagnosis will be glomerulonephritis with IgM intracapillary thrombi. Much more often, the issue is determining the nature of the nephropathy featuring an IgM MGRS. Thus, a lambda IgM MGUS revealed by nephrotic syndrome in a patient presenting with suggestive extrarenal symptoms, including, for example, heart failure or, less frequently, signs such as macroglossia or purpura of the eyelids, will reveal AL amyloidosis [3]. Alternatively, nephrotic syndrome associated with vascular purpura lesions in the skin mostly suggests cryoglobulinemic glomerulonephritis. Other glomerular disorders also mostly manifest as nephrotic syndrome. In all cases, the diagnosis should be confirmed by an appropriate biopsy, of an extrarenal site when possible, or of the kidney. If AL amyloidosis is suspected, the suggested biopsy site is the abdominal fat; if negative, a renal biopsy is always diagnostic and can be performed relatively safely [3, 24].

The diagnosis is not always so easy since clinicopathological correlations may be misleading, and past medical history potentially responsible for renal disease, such as hypertension or diabetes, may be confusing. In addition, association between the different renal lesions is not rare as well as overlapping between the different forms. For example, the concomitant discovery of interstitial diffuse infiltration with clonal B cells and a non-amyloid glomerular disorder is not rare, particularly in patients with severe renal disease at presentation [17, 18]. Accordingly, the indication of a kidney biopsy should be discussed in most patients, including detailed immunofluorescence (and electron microscopic) studies in most cases. This will impact both treatment decisions and prognosis, not only in patients with overt WM, but more importantly in patients with MGRS. Indeed, in these patients, starting a treatment as for WM is often justified for renal reasons with the aim of preserving the kidney, even if the IgM gammopathy is an indolent one or even a MGUS [25].

16.3 Cutaneous Manifestations of IgM Gammopathies

IgM monoclonal gammopathies can be featured by various cutaneous manifestations that can be due to the clonal cells, to the monoclonal IgM, or to as yet unknown mechanisms.

16.3.1 Cutaneous Manifestations Due to Clonal Cells

Although rare, cutaneous nodules and plaques due to *tumor infiltration* made of lymphoplasmacytic IgM-producing clonal cells may be observed in WM, usually in the course of an overt disease lasting for several years [26]. The clonal cells can also provoke skin manifestations indirectly by absorbing biologically active molecules, such as the von Willebrand factor (VWF) or C1q inhibitor (see below). Another mechanism can be the secretion, by the clonal cells themselves or by their environment, of cytokine such as vascular endothelial growth factor. This is likely to explain the angiomas of the so-called POEMS syndrome, which was exceptionally reported as associated with an IgM-producing monoclonal proliferation [27].

16.3.2 Monoclonal IgM-Related Cutaneous Manifestations

Cutaneous and mucosal hemorrhagic manifestations are common features of the *hyperviscosity syndrome* that can complicate the monoclonal IgM when present in the serum at high concentration.

As in the kidney, all or part of the monoclonal Ig can deposit in various structures of the skin. Non-organized deposits are rare and mostly represented by the so-called *cutaneous macroglobulinosis*, characterized by localized or

coalescent papules, caused by amorphous intradermal deposits made of monoclonal IgM molecules [28].

Organized deposits are more frequent. Cutaneous signs of *AL amyloidosis* of IgM type are classical, including purpuric lesions and waxy papules or nodules, often with purpuric appearance and located on flexural areas. The most suggestive skin manifestations of *type I cryoglobulinemia* (CG) are cold-triggered ischemic symptoms located on the extremities including Raynaud's phenomenon, retiform or stellar purpura, and skin necrosis. Painful leg ulcers and cold urticarial are also frequent and suggestive [29]. Of note, palpable purpura related to leukocytoclastic vasculitis, which is the hallmark of mixed type II CG, is rarely observed if ever. Indeed, cutaneous symptoms of type I CG are due to cold-induced intravascular precipitation of the monoclonal Ig, thrombotic obstruction of the vessels, and ischemia of the underlying skin [29, 30].

Conversely, palpable purpura, ischemic and ulcerous lesions, and other cutaneous manifestations of *type II-mixed CG* are consecutive to vasculitis. Here, the rheumatoid autoantibody activity of the monoclonal IgM results in immune complexes, made of the monoclonal IgM and polyclonal IgG, which depose in the vascular walls and trigger consumption of the main complement pathway and chemoattraction of cells forming the perivascular infiltrate characteristic of true leukocytoclastic vasculitis.

Other autoantibody activity of monoclonal Ig can be symptomatic at the cutaneous level because of the precipitation of immune complexes not in peripheral vessels, but in macrophages. This is exemplified by *xanthomatosis*, a condition characterized by the deposition of cholesterol-rich material in large foam cells accumulating in the skin and the tendons. Particularly in its normolipemic form, it is associated with monoclonal Ig which can be an IgM, although very rarely [31]. Complement abnormalities (with, most often, a low C4 serum level) are nearly constant, indicating an activation of the classical complement pathway by immune complexes that may result from antigen-antibody interactions between the monoclonal immunoglobulin and various lipoproteins. Such interaction, which has been documented in some cases, seems to result in enhanced lipid accumulation in the macrophages [32].

IgM gammopathies can be associated with *autoimmune bullous skin diseases*, involving autoantibodies either recognizing antigens of the intercellular substance of the epidermis (pemphigus group) or directed against antigens of the dermoepidermal junction [bullous and cicatricial pemphigoid and epidermolysis bullosa acquisita (EBA)]. In the first group, the so-called paraneoplastic pemphigus, which is clinically featured by usually severe polymorphous blistering eruption with prominent mucosal and acral involvement, has been rarely described, mostly in patients with B-cell lymphoproliferation who were treated by fludarabine, and a potential favoring role of the drug has been suggested [33]. Cutaneous manifestations associated with linear Ig deposits at the dermoepidermal junction are frequently atypical and limited to few discrete blisters or vesicles. In most cases, immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting studies demonstrate autoantibodies targeting type VII collagen, which are a characteristic of EBA [34]. Immunofluorescence studies most often show polytypic cutaneous Ig deposits, and a restriction of Ig LCs to the one expressed by the monoclonal IgM is rarely observed. In addition, the autoimmune and the lymphoid processes usually do not display a parallel course, reinforcing the hypothesis that the monoclonal IgM does not bear the skin autoantibody activity which is likely to be produced by bystander B cells not related to the B-cell clone. So, the pathogenesis of these immunobullous diseases appears similar to that of the autoimmune disorders that target hematopoietic cell antigens and explain the frequency of autoimmune thrombocytopenic purpura and hemolytic anemia in chronic IgM-secreting B-cell lymphoproliferation [34].

16.3.3 Unknown Mechanisms: The Schnitzler Syndrome

Several skin diseases that are frequently or constantly associated with a monoclonal Ig have a still largely unknown physiopathology. Some are exceptionally, if ever, associated with a monoclonal IgM, such as *neutrophilic dermatosis*, *cutaneous mucinosis*, and *acquired cutis laxa* [35].

In contrast, the Schnitzler syndrome is defined by the combination of a chronic/ recurrent urticarial rash with a monoclonal IgM gammopathy, most often with the characteristics of a MGUS. The skin rash consists of rose pale macules or slightly raised papules and plaques, clearly distinct from common urticaria, since the eruption is fixed and usually not or only moderately itchy. Lesions, which can occur on every body part, though involvement of face and extremities is rare, resolve within hours without any sequel. The frequency of flares is variable from patient to patient and in the same patient from unknown factors (Fig. 16.1). In addition to urticarial outbreaks, intermittent spiking fever and fatigue are frequent. Musculoskeletal involvement is another cardinal feature of the disease, affecting about ³/₄ of patients. Bone pain, mostly of iliac bone and tibia, is the most characteristic finding. Almost 50 % of the patients showed bone lesions on imaging. The most frequent radiological finding is osteocondensation with cortical hyperostosis, particularly of distal femora and proximal tibiae. Bone technetium scanning reveals hyperfixation in the areas of radiological involvement, and magnetic resonance imaging confirms thickening of cortices.

At examination, lymphadenopathy, liver, and spleen enlargement are not rare. In addition to the monoclonal IgM, laboratory investigations usually show a major increase in sedimentation rate, C-reactive protein (CRP), and fibrin serum levels. On the blood count, neutrophilic leukocytosis is very common (2/3), inflammatory anemia and elevated platelet count are frequent. Pathological findings are most often featured by a mild dermal perivascular neutrophilic infiltrate without detection of any Ig or complement deposition. In the absence of any biological or other confirmative examination, diagnosis of Schnitzler's syndrome is considered definite in any patient with current urticarial rash and a monoclonal IgM gammopathy (obligate criteria) and two minor criteria (recurrent fever, objective signs of abnormal bone remodeling, elevated CRP level or leukocytosis, and neutrophilic



Fig. 16.1 Schnitzler's syndrome. The patient presented with a recurrent urticarial rash and monoclonal IgMk with recurrent fever

infiltrate on skin biopsy). It is considered probable, if only one minor criterion is present [36].

Until recently, treatment of the Schnitzler syndrome was only symptomatic and unsatisfactory, as assessed by the long list of treatments that were proposed. In fact, steroids were nearly the only effective drug, usually within a precise daily threshold dosage which is often relatively high. Thalidomide, α -interferon, and antibiotic, pefloxacin, are also symptomatically effective. This was changed with the introduction, in 2005, of the IL-1 receptor antagonist anakinra [37]. Indeed, within hours after the first injection, anakinra produces a dramatic improvement of all clinical and biological manifestations of the disease, including fatigue and pain, inflammatory abnormalities, and hyperleukocytosis. Patients recover a health state that they often did not know for years. Anakinra does not modify the level of the monoclonal IgM, and similarly to steroids, it does not cure the disease, but only has a symptomatic effect. Because of the short half-life of the drug (about 6 h), daily subcutaneous injections are usually required. Anakinra can be maintained over several months and even years, with sustained efficacy and good tolerability ([38]; Asli and Fermand, personal data). So, most investigators consider that any patient with symptoms, significant alteration in the quality of life, and/or regularly elevated inflammation markers such as CRP needs to be treated with anakinra 100 mg/day [36].

The course of the disease is long-lasting. The overall prognosis of the syndrome depends on the possible evolution into a symptomatic lymphoproliferative disorder, with a similar risk as compared to isolated IgM gammopathy. Before the era of anakinra, reactive AA amyloidosis complicated the course of at least four patients ([39, 40]; Merlini personal data). Importantly, the hypothesis of a potential causal relationship between the gammopathy and the manifestations of the syndrome is documented by the resolution of all symptoms of the disease observed in one patient in whom the monoclonal IgM spontaneously disappeared and by the parallel dual complete remission that was obtained in another patient who was treated by a

rituximab, cyclophosphamide, and dexamethasone (RCD) regimen because of an overt WM [41, 42].

NOD-like receptor mutations, particularly gain-of-function mutations within the NOD domain of cryopyrin, are associated with genetic autoinflammatory disorders [43]. Importantly, these are characterized by skin rashes and periodic fever, and they mimic the Schnitzler syndrome. Accordingly, this syndrome might be an acquired autoinflammatory disorder, due to an unregulated secretion of IL-1 via interaction of a clonal product (may be the IgM) with a key component of the IL-1 pathway. However, the precise physiopathology of this syndrome remains to be established.

16.4 Miscellaneous

16.4.1 Acquired C1 Inhibitor Deficiency

Angioedema, due to the acquired deficiency of the inhibitor of the first component of human complement (C1-INH), the so-called acquired angioedema (AAE), is rare. Its clinico-biological characteristics are similar to those of hereditary angioedema, except for the later onset of symptoms, the absence of a family history, and the association with MGUS, non-Hodgkin B-cell lymphoma (NHL), and/or anti-C1-inhibitor autoantibodies. Various types of NHL can be observed, but indolent forms, particularly lymphoplasmacytic, including WM and marginal zone lymphoma, are the most frequent. Patients usually have advanced stage disease, with bone marrow infiltration. For MGUS, the IgM isotype accounts for about 25 % of cases [44, 45].

The physiopathology of AAE is most often related to an autoantibody activity directed against C1-INH, leading to enhanced clearance or inhibition of function, increased proteolytic degradation, and/or adsorption by neoplastic cells when present [45]. The only consumption of C1-INH by neoplastic cells, independently of associated autoantibodies, is sometimes identified as type I AAE but is likely to be rare [46]. In patients with MGUS or NHL, AAE may be consecutive to an autoantibody activity of the monoclonal Ig, whether or not secreted. Alternatively, it may be caused by polyclonal Ig produced by bystander B cells not related to the B-cell clone, particularly in WM and other indolent lymphomas in which autoimmune manifestations are frequent.

AAE patients are usually poorly sensitive to attenuated androgens and antifibrinolytic agents which are normally used in hereditary angioedema. Acute attacks can be treated by high dose of plasma-derived C1-inhibitor or by the bradykinin B2 receptor antagonist icatibant. In all cases, treatment targeting the underlying B-cell proliferation should be discussed, including in patients with IgM-secreting MGUS who may receive rituximab alone which can improve angioedema symptoms and complement parameters [45].

16.4.2 Acquired Von Willebrand Syndrome

Disturbance with coagulation pathway is a well-known complication of IgM gammopathy. It comprises procoagulant activity with thrombosis [47] and bleeding disorders involving various interactions between the monoclonal component and primary hemostasis or plasma coagulation factors [48].

Acquired von Willebrand syndrome (AVWS) is uncommon and usually associated with an underlying disorder. Most frequently, this is а lymphoproliferative disease, often an IgM-secreting monoclonal gammopathy including an IgM MGUS [49, 50]. As in AAE, the AVWS associated with a lymphoid disease is usually due to autoantibodies which either interfere with platelet or collagen-binding or increase von Willebrand factor (VWF) clearance from the plasma. Nonimmune mechanisms such as adsorption to malignant cells (or platelets) or increased proteolytic degradation are rarer [51, 52]. Treatment of the underlying lymphoproliferative disorder, when present, should always be considered. Successful chemotherapy with rituximab usually results in remission of the AVWS which are associated with IgM gammopathy. Otherwise, plasmapheresis combined with VWF-containing concentrates may be proposed for controlling and preventing bleeding. Desmopressin usually results in short-lived improvement of VWF, and IVIG are considered to be effective only in patients with monoclonal IgG and not in patients with monoclonal Ig of IgM class [49].

Acknowledgments GM is supported by grant from "Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro – Special Program Molecular Clinical Oncology 5 per mille n. 9965" and from CARIPLO "Structure-function relation of amyloid: understanding the molecular bases of protein misfolding diseases to design new treatments n. 2013-0964."

References

- 1. Merlini G, Stone MJ. Dangerous small B-cell clones. Blood. 2006;108:2520-30.
- 2. Leung N, Bridoux F, Hutchison CA, et al. Monoclonal gammopathy of renal significance: when MGUS is no longer undetermined or insignificant. Blood. 2012;120:4292–5.
- 3. Merlini G, Wechalekar AD, Palladini G. Systemic light chain amyloidosis: an update for treating physicians. Blood. 2013;121:5124–30.
- 4. Gertz MA, Buadi FK, Hayman SR. IgM amyloidosis: clinical features in therapeutic outcomes. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:146–8.
- 5. Gertz MA, Kyle RA. Amyloidosis with IgM monoclonal gammopathies. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:325–8.
- Palladini G, Russo P, Bosoni T, et al. AL amyloidosis associated with IgM monoclonal protein: a distinct clinical entity. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9:80–3.
- Terrier B, Jaccard A, Harousseau JL, et al. The clinical spectrum of IgM-related amyloidosis: a French nationwide retrospective study of 72 patients. Medicine (Baltimore). 2008;87:99–109.
- Wechalekar AD, Lachmann HJ, Goodman HJ, Bradwell A, Hawkins PN, Gillmore JD. AL amyloidosis associated with IgM paraproteinemia: clinical profile and treatment outcome. Blood. 2008;112:4009–16.

- Sachchithanantham S, Roussel M, Palladini G, et al. European collaborative study defining clinical profile outcomes and novel prognostic criteria in monoclonal immunoglobulin Mrelated light chain amyloidosis. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:2037–45.
- Roussel M, Palladini G, Gibbs SD, et al. Treatment and outcome of 267 patients with IgMrelated AL amyloidosis. ASH Annu Meet Abstr. 2012;120:4074.
- Dispenzieri A, Gertz MA, Kyle RA, et al. Prognostication of survival using cardiac troponins and N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide in patients with primary systemic amyloidosis undergoing peripheral blood stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2004;104:1881–7.
- Palladini G, Merlini G. Diagnostic challenges of amyloidosis in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2013;13:244–6.
- 13. Palladini G, Dispenzieri A, Gertz MA, et al. New criteria for response to treatment in immunoglobulin light chain amyloidosis based on free light chain measurement and cardiac biomarkers: impact on survival outcomes. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:4541–9.
- Palladini G, Hegenbart U, Milani P, et al. A staging system for renal outcome and early markers of renal response to chemotherapy in AL amyloidosis. Blood. 2014;124:2325–32.
- Palladini G, Foli A, Russo P, et al. Treatment of IgM-associated AL amyloidosis with the combination of rituximab, bortezomib, and dexamethasone. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:143–5.
- Gertz MA, Hayman SR, Buadi FK. Transplantation for IgM amyloidosis and IgM myeloma. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9:77–9.
- Chauvet S, Bridoux F, Ecotiere L, et al. Kidney diseases associated with monoclonal immunoglobulin M-secreting B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders: a case series of 35 patients. Am J Kidney Dis. 2015;66:756–67.
- Audard V, Georges B, Vanhille P, et al. Renal lesions associated with IgM-secreting monoclonal proliferations: revisiting the disease spectrum. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2008;3:1339– 49.
- Morel-Maroger L, Basch A, Danon F, Verroust P, Richet G. Pathology of the kidney in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Study of sixteen cases. N Engl J Med. 1970;283:123–9.
- Gnemmi V, Leleu X, Provot F, Moulonguet F, Buob D. Cast nephropathy and light-chain deposition disease in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Am J Kidney Dis. 2012;60:487–91.
- Ying WZ, Allen CE, Curtis LM, Aaron KJ, Sanders PW. Mechanism and prevention of acute kidney injury from cast nephropathy in a rodent model. J Clin Invest. 2012;122:1777–85.
- 22. Tornroth T, Heiro M, Marcussen N, Franssila K. Lymphomas diagnosed by percutaneous kidney biopsy. Am J Kidney Dis. 2003;42:960–71.
- 23. Bridoux F, Leung N, Hutchison CA, et al. Diagnosis of monoclonal gammopathy of renal significance. Kidney Int. 2015;87:698–711.
- 24. Soares SM, Fervenza FC, Lager DJ, Gertz MA, Cosio FG, Leung N. Bleeding complications after transcutaneous kidney biopsy in patients with systemic amyloidosis: single-center experience in 101 patients. Am J Kidney Dis. 2008;52:1079–83.
- 25. Fermand JP, Bridoux F, Kyle RA, et al. How I treat monoclonal gammopathy of renal significance (MGRS). Blood. 2013;122:3583–90.
- Libow LF, Mawhinney JP, Bessinger GT. Cutaneous Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: report of a case and overview of the spectrum of cutaneous disease. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2001;45:S202–6.
- 27. Haider S, Latif T, Hochhausler A, Lucas F, Abdel Karim N. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and peripheral neuropathy, organomegaly, endocrinopathy, monoclonal gammopathy, and skin changes with a bleeding diathesis and rash. Case Rep Oncol Med. 2013;2013:890864.
- Camp BJ, Magro CM. Cutaneous macroglobulinosis: a case series. J Cutan Pathol. 2012;39:962–70.
- 29. Harel S, Mohr M, Jahn I, et al. Clinico-biological characteristics and treatment of type I monoclonal cryoglobulinaemia: a study of 64 cases. Br J Haematol. 2015;168:671–8.
- 30. Cohen SJ, Pittelkow MR, Su WPD. Cutaneous manifestations of cryoglobulinemia—clinical and histopathologic study of 72 patients. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1991;25:21–7.

- 31. Szalat R, Arnulf B, Karlin L, et al. Pathogenesis and treatment of xanthomatosis associated with monoclonal gammopathy. Blood. 2011;118:3777–84.
- Szalat R, Pirault J, Fermand JP, et al. Physiopathology of necrobiotic xanthogranuloma with monoclonal gammopathy. J Intern Med. 2014;276:269–84.
- 33. Gooptu C, Littlewood TJ, Frith P, et al. Paraneoplastic pemphigus: an association with fludarabine? Br J Dermatol. 2001;144:1255–61.
- 34. Aractingi S, Bachmeyer C, Prost C, Caux F, Flageul B, Fermand JP. Subepidermal autoimmune bullous skin diseases associated with B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders. Medicine (Baltimore). 1999;78:228–35.
- 35. Rongioletti F, Patterson JW, Rebora A. The histological and pathogenetic spectrum of cutaneous disease in monoclonal gammopathies. J Cutan Pathol. 2008;35:705–21.
- 36. Simon A, Asli B, Braun-Falco M, et al. Schnitzler's syndrome: diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up. Allergy. 2013;68:562–8.
- Martinez-Taboada VM, Fontalba A, Blanco R, Fernandez-Luna JL. Successful treatment of refractory Schnitzler syndrome with anakinra: comment on the article by Hawkins et al. Arthritis Rheum. 2005;52:2226–7.
- 38. Neel A, Henry B, Barbarot S, et al. Long-term effectiveness and safety of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (anakinra) in Schnitzler's syndrome: a French multicenter study. Autoimmun Rev. 2014;13:1035–41.
- 39. Lipsker D. The Schnitzler syndrome. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2010;5:38.
- 40. Mittal N, Renaut P, Sharma R, Robbie M. Gastrointestinal amyloidosis associated with Schnitzler's syndrome. Pathology. 2013;45:424–6.
- 41. Aouba A, Pressiat C, Pricopi M, et al. Complete remission of Schnitzler syndrome and Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia under rituximab-cyclophosphamide-dexamethasone. Dermatology. 2015;230:18–22.
- 42. Asli B, Brouet JC, Fermand JP. Spontaneous remission of Schnitzler syndrome. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2011;107:87–8.
- Sarrabay G, Grandemange S, Touitou I. Diagnosis of cryopyrin-associated periodic syndrome: challenges, recommendations and emerging concepts. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2015;1–9.
- 44. Castelli R, Lambertenghi Delilliers D, Pogliani EM, Zingale LC, Cicardi M. Lymphoproliferative disease and acquired C1 inhibitor deficiency. Haematologica. 2007;92:716–8.
- Castelli R, Zanichelli A, Cicardi M, Cugno M. Acquired C1-inhibitor deficiency and lymphoproliferative disorders: a tight relationship. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2013;87:323–32.
- 46. Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Guinnepain MT, Cacoub P, et al. Prevalence of monoclonal gammopathy in patients presenting with acquired angioedema type 2. Am J Med. 2002;113:194–9.
- 47. Spicka I, Rihova Z, Kvasnicka J, Cieslar P, Prochazka B, Klener P. Disturbances of anticoagulation and fibrinolytic systems in monoclonal gammopathies—another mechanism of M-protein interference with hemostasis. Thromb Res. 2003;112:297–300.
- Eby C, Blinder M. Hemostatic complications associated with paraproteinemias. Curr Hematol Rep. 2003;2:388–94.
- 49. Tiede A, Rand JH, Budde U, Ganser A, Federici AB. How I treat the acquired von Willebrand syndrome. Blood. 2011;117:6777–85.
- 50. Voisin S, Hamidou M, Lefrancois A, Sigaud M, Mahe B, Trossaert M. Acquired von Willebrand syndrome associated with monoclonal gammopathy a single-center study of 36 patients. Medicine. 2011;90:404–11.
- 51. Federici AB, Budde U, Castaman G, Rand JH, Tiede A. Current diagnostic and therapeutic approaches to patients with acquired von Willebrand syndrome: a 2013 update. Semin Thromb Hemost. 2013;39:191–201.
- 52. Kumar S, Pruthi RK, Nichols WL. Acquired von Willebrand disease. Mayo Clin Proc. 2002;77:181–7.

Part IV

Laboratory Investigations

Laboratory Investigations and Findings: Hematological Abnormalities, Biochemical Investigations, Free Light and Heavy Chains

Guillemette Fouquet, Stéphanie Poulain, Suzanna Schraen, Efstathios Koulieris, Elisabeth Bertrand, Stéphanie Guidez, Cécile Tomowiak, Marie-Christine Kyrtsonis, Efstathios Kastritis, Irene Ghobrial, Véronique Leblond, and Xavier Leleu

17.1 Introduction

Waldenström macroglobulinemia (WM) was first described by Jan Gosta Waldenström in 1944 when he reported the cases of two patients presenting with lymphadenopathy, infiltration of the bone marrow by lymphoid cells resulting in anemia and thrombocytopenia, and various symptoms (such as oronasal bleeding, elevated erythrocyte sedimentation rate, and high serum viscosity) which he attributed to the presence of an abnormally elevated high-molecular-weight serum protein; later to be demonstrated as a monoclonal pentameric IgM.

G. Fouquet • S. Schraen • S. Guidez
Maladies du sang, Hôpital Huriez, CHRU, Lille, France
S. Poulain • E. Bertrand
U837 Inserm, IRCL, CHRU, Lille, France
E. Koulieris • M.-C. Kyrtsonis
Hematology Section and Laboratory, University of Athens, Athens, Greece
C. Tomowiak
Hématologie et Thérapie cellulaire, Hôpital de la Mileterie, CHU, Poitiers, France
E. Kastritis
Department of Clinical Therapeutics, University of Athens, Athens, Greece
I. Ghobrial

Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

V. Leblond Hématologie, Hôpital Pitié-Salpêtrière, APHP, Paris, France

X. Leleu (⊠) Maladies du sang, Hôpital Huriez, CHRU, Lille, France

U837 Inserm, IRCL, CHRU, Lille, France

Hématologie et Thérapie cellulaire, Hôpital de la Mileterie, CHU, Poitiers, France e-mail: xavier.leleu@chu-poitiers.fr

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 V. Leblond et al. (eds.), *Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_17 Interestingly, decades later, the finding that IgM is a hallmark of WM remains in its diagnosis criteria [1]. The IgM monoclonal protein is also still used for prognostication [2], monitoring of response to therapy, and so on, despite many flaws in its measurement [3, 4].

Herein, we discuss the diagnostic workup of WM, along with the various attempts to either replace IgM or develop new tools to improve IgM serum measurement.

17.2 Hematological Abnormalities

As a result of bone marrow infiltration and the presence of large quantity of serum IgM, patients are often diagnosed with cytopenias, essentially anemia in WM. A complete blood count is, thus, mandatory at diagnosis.

Anemia Anemia is observed in more than half of WM patients. Anemia is usually normocytic, normochromic, nonregenerative. The mean corpuscular volume can be falsely macrocytic related to pseudoagglutination due to the excess of IgM coating the erythrocyte surfaces, also described as Rouleaux formation on blood smear.

The presence of anemia and importantly its relation to WM is important to recognize, as it is the most common indication for initiation of treatment. As treatment decision may rely on it, exclusion of other causes of anemia is critical; indeed, one is expecting to treat WM based on anemia when secondary to the presence of tumor cells in the bone marrow.

Anemia is often multifactorial; the most common causes being apoptosis of erythroid precursors mediated by Fas/FasL interactions, along with bone marrow involvement resulting in inadequate erythropoiesis, and anemia of chronic disease. The erythroid precursors indeed express the Fas receptor as a physiological mechanism of regulation of the erythroblast population in the bone marrow, but this death signal is exacerbated in WM due to the expression of FasL on WM tumor cells. An increased plasma viscosity has also been shown responsible for inappropriate erythropoietin formation by renal peritubular cells, resulting in lack of maturation and differentiation of erythroid colonies and erythroid progenitors in the bone marrow [5]. The level of hemoglobin is also partly decreased related to dilution induced by the presence of high concentrations of IgM monoclonal immunoglobulin in the serum—especially above 30 g/L. Interestingly, a falsely elevated hemoglobin can be found as well, due to abnormal reactions between reagents and monoclonal Ig present in excess [6].

Considering that the median age of WM is above 65 years old, other causes of anemia are frequently encountered in patients with WM, which may require specific therapy but rarely treatment of WM per se. For example, many patients display iron or vitamin deficiency. Interestingly, iron deficiency anemia if often refractory to oral treatment in WM, but not to intravenous iron repletion [7]. Furthermore, WM patients may present with occult hyperviscosity-related gastrointestinal bleeding, which should be considered and eventually explored in these patients who may develop second malignancies. It is though worth noting that serum levels of ferritin can be falsely low due to interference related to the IgM monoclonal protein [8]. It has also been demonstrated that lymphoplasmatic cells produce hepcidin, which could contribute to anemia in WM [9]. Hepcidin indeed regulates iron metabolism by inhibiting ferroportin, which leads to sequestration of iron in enterocytes, monocytes, and macrophages. Therefore, since absorbed iron cannot be released (unless given intravenously), it is not available for erythroblasts; this situation can also be found in chronic inflammation.

Anemia can, as well, be a consequence of myelosuppressive chemotherapy. Late development of anemia may indicate development of myelodysplasia after treatment [10].

Hemolytic anemia can also occur in some patients with WM, either warm or cold agglutinin hemolytic anemia. If the reticulocytes count shows that anemia is regenerative, a test for cold agglutinins and an erythrocyte Coombs test should, thus, be performed. The Coombs test is positive in about 10% of patients, but less than 5 % of patients develop significant hemolysis [11]. Warm autoimmune hemolytic anemia is mediated by IgG autoantibodies, resulting from an activation of autoreactive T cells stimulated by the tumor cells and is, thus, not directly related to tumor cells or the monoclonal IgM component. Warm autoimmune hemolytic anemia is likely to be primarily extravascular [7], mainly of splenic type. However, the monoclonal IgM may present with cold agglutinin activity, resulting in chronic immune hemolytic anemia with acute phases of intravascular hemolytic anemia [12]. This disorder occurs in less than 10% of WM patients. In most cases, it is associated with cold agglutinin titers > 1:1000; the monoclonal component is usually an IgMk and it reacts most commonly with I/i antigens, with complement fixation and activation. Mild chronic hemolytic anemia can be exacerbated after cold exposure but is rarely responsible for a hemoglobin decrease below 70 g/L. Clinical manifestations can include Raynaud syndrome, acrocyanosis, and livedo reticularis. It is important to identify this hemolytic syndrome, as patients may benefit from a treatment of hemolytic syndrome and only get treated for WM later on if the primary proposed treatment failed.

Thrombocytopenia Thrombocytopenia $< 100 \times 10^{9}$ /L is not infrequent, seen in about 15 % of patients and mainly related to bone marrow involvement; while a thrombocytopenia $< 50 \times 10^{9}$ /L is observed in less than 5 % of patients [11]. Of note, immune thrombocytopenia (ITP) is a frequent etiology in patients with WM, an important condition to diagnose since these patients may also benefit from a specific treatment prior to be treated for the underlying WM [8]. Other causes of thrombocytopenia include hypersplenism or myelosuppressive chemotherapy. Similarly to anemia, late development of thrombocytopenia may be related to development of myelodysplasia secondary to treatment [10]. Severe thrombocytopenia may increase the risk of bleeding associated with hyperviscosity, particularly when hyperviscosity presents with acquired von Willebrand syndrome [8].

White Blood Cells In most cases, the white blood cell count is normal. Neutropenia is rare, with less than 5 % of patients presenting with neutropenia $< 1 \times 10^9$ /L. However, a lymphocytosis can be observed that rarely exceed 15×10^9 /L in about 10 % of patients [11]. Even if not detected in standard white blood cell count, a circulating clonal population can be detected by flow cytometry immunophenotyping in many more patients. This is the source of several research projects to try and understand the significance and utility of such identification. Performing a flow cytometry immunophenotyping to seek for circulating WM tumor cells is not part of the recommended diagnosis check up so far.

Recommendation

To perform a CBC count with smear, plus reticulocyte count and hemolytic workup at diagnosis of WM.

If hemolysis is suspected (cold or warm hemolysis or ITP), a workup, including peripheral smear, reticulocyte count, LDH, bilirubin, haptoglobin, and Coombs test, should be performed. Hemolysis is, however, most often extravascular. Testing for cold agglutinins, and direct and indirect Coombs antibody testing if cold agglutinins are negative, is advised as part of the workup of hemolytic anemia.

17.3 Bone Marrow Investigations

Characterization of the bone marrow infiltration is essential in WM and should be performed in all symptomatic patients to confirm the diagnosis of WM prior to start treatment. In asymptomatic patients, its value is not clearly established but an arbitrary threshold of 10 g/L of serum IgM has been proposed to consider performing a bone marrow assessment [13].

A bone marrow biopsy is the recommended exam, as it allows better quantification of the infiltration and reveals the classically intratrabecular pattern of bone marrow infiltration, which may be diffuse, interstitial, or nodular. In contrast, a solely paratrabecular pattern is rare in WM and should raise suspicion of other low-grade B-cell lymphoma subtypes. A myelofibrosis with reticulin fibers can be detected in some cases. Intranuclear and cytoplasmic immunoglobulin inclusions, termed as Dutcher and Russell bodies, respectively, are frequently observed in the WM tumor lymphoplasmacytic cells. Interestingly, an increased number of mast cells close to lymphoid aggregates are also a common finding in WM, although the exact meaning of this histologic finding remains to be fully unraveled [12]. Besides the demonstration that mast cells and WM tumor cells cross talk, it is not yet known whether the tumor cells stimulate the production and aggregation of the mast cells or whether the mast cells are part of the modified bone marrow microenvironment which helps provide survival and proliferation advantage to the WM tumor cells.

If the marrow biopsy cannot be performed, a bone marrow aspiration along with bone marrow smear and flow cytometry immunophenotyping can be proposed as an adequate alternative. **Concerning the amount of infiltration**, the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia criteria does not require a minimum amount of bone marrow involvement to make the diagnosis of WM or recommend to start WM treatment [1]; however, the Mayo Clinic criteria require at least 10% bone marrow involvement to differentiate IgM MGUS from WM [14].

The bone marrow infiltration is characterized by a lymphoplasmacytic clone constituted of a mixture (also called a continuum) of clonal B lymphocytes, plasma cells, and plasmacytoid/lymphoplasmacytic lymphocytes [15].

Immunophenotypic studies (flow cytometry and/or immunohistochemistry) should always be performed to confirm the diagnosis, showing the following profile: sIgM+, CD19+, CD20+, CD22+, and CD79+. The lymphoid component typically lacks CD10 (unlike follicular lymphoma) and can show some degree of CD5 expression, however, weak, clearly not the kind of strong CD5 expression observed in chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma or mantle cell lymphoma, similar to CD23. The plasmacytic component expresses the same Ig light chain as the lymphocytic component, is positive for CD38 or CD138, and shows normal expression of B-cell-associated antigens (CD19, CD20, PAX5, etc.), which allows differential diagnosis from IgM secreting myeloma plasma cells. WM cells have also been shown to be CD25⁺, CD27⁺, CD75⁻, FMC7⁺, Bcl2⁺, and Bcl6⁺ [1, 16, 17], although the latter panel is not required in routine practice for the diagnosis of WM. Characteristics of the immunophenotype in WM is summarized in Table 17.1.

To note, tissue biopsy is not recommended in WM since the primary recommended biopsy for the diagnosis is the bone marrow biopsy; however, a

| Markers | Proteins | % | Remarks |
|-----------------------|-------------|--------|--------------------------|
| Clonality | Surface IgM | 100 | High level of expression |
| | Light chain | 100 | Kappa > Lambda |
| B cell phenotype | CD19/CD20 | 100 | |
| | CD22 | 100 | Low intensity |
| | CD79 | 100 | |
| | FMC7 | >85 | Low intensity |
| | CD5/CD19 | 10-27 | Low intensity |
| | CD23 | 14–33 | Low intensity |
| | CD10 | <10 | |
| Plasma cell phenotype | CD38 | 0-60 | Important variability |
| | CD138 | <10 | |
| Memory lymphocytes | CD27 | 42 | |
| Other | CD25 | 90–100 | Homogeneous expression |
| | CD103 | 0 | Always negative |
| | CD43 | <20 | Low level of expression |
| | CD11c | 0-31 | Low level of expression |
| | CD52 | 100 | Always positive |
| | | | |

Table 17.1 Characteristic immunophenotype in WM

tissue biopsy is recommended in all patients with suspected histological transformation. Detailed pathological assessment should include assessment of Epstein– Barr virus (EBV) [16].

Cytogenetics and Molecular Biology The normal equivalent of the WM malignant cell is believed to be a post-germinal center B cell that has undergone somatic hypermutation but transforms before isotype class switching and terminal differentiation to plasma cells.

The molecular study of IgVH sequence, thus, reveals somatic hypermutation without intraclonal diversity (no switch). There is a biased use of the heavy chain gene repertoire with an overrepresentation of VH3 and JH4 families.

Cytogenetic analysis is required for the routine diagnostic assessment of WM patients [16]. Conventional karyotyping without specific stimulation has limited applicability in WM, as it is difficult to obtain tumor metaphases because of the low rate of cell proliferation. The absence of IgH involving translocation can be used in difficult cases for differential diagnosis; indeed, it was shown that although WM never harbors IgH translocations, multiple myeloma producing IgM frequently has this abnormality, particularly the t(11;14)(q13;q32) [18].

Several frequent cytogenetic abnormalities, such as del(6q) and trisomy 4, can be explored but are better detected by FISH analysis than conventional karyotyping.

Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) improved cytogenetic studies, even though it only looks at prespecified probes. Although not completely specific for WM, deletion of the long arm of chromosome 6 encompassing del(6)(q21) is the most common genetic abnormality detected by FISH, being detected in 40–50 % of patients [19, 20]. This genetic abnormality is rarely seen in other lymphoproliferative or plasmaproliferative malignancies, but can be found in IgM gammopathy of unknown significance (MGUS) [21]. Several candidate tumor suppressor genes in this region are under study, in order to provide an explanation for the frequency of this abnormality. Among these genes is BLIMP-1, which regulates the transition of mature B cells to terminally differentiated plasma cells and is, thus, a major candidate [22]. Deletion of TP53 occurs in a minority of patients and appears to confer a poor outcome [23]. The deleted region of TP53 varies a lot between patients; a minimal deleted region has been described by Poulain et al. [24].

Other cytogenetic abnormalities can be found in WM: trisomy 4 is reported in up to 20% of cases, and trisomy 5, monosomy 8, and deletion of the long arm of chromosome 20 have also been reported, along with del17p and del13q [20].

MYD88 L265P Mutation, A Molecular Signature The recent finding of MYD88 L265P mutation in about 90% of cases of WM made it a major marker of the disease [25].

Our understanding of the pathogenesis of WM has improved considerably since this discovery. MYD88 (myeloid differentiation primary response 88) indeed plays a significant role in Toll-Like Receptor (TLR) and interleukin-1 receptor signaling. The acquired gain-of-function mutation of MYD88 gene on the short arm of chromosome 3, resulting in the change in the amino acid leucine to proline at position 265 (L265P), activates downstream signaling of the transcription protein complex NF-kB (nuclear factor kappa-light chain-enhancer of activated B cells), thereby promoting WM cell growth and survival [26]. MYD88L265P also activates Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK), another crucial enzyme involved in NF-kB regulation [27].

This single point somatic mutation, detected by PCR, is also present in 87% of IgM MGUS, suggesting that this may be an early oncogenic event [28]. It remains, however, unclear whether MYD88 is a driver mutation for the transformation of MGUS to WM or solely a marker of MGUS with predisposition to progress to WM [29, 30].

The MYD88 mutation can also be useful in distinguishing WM from splenic marginal-zone lymphoma and IgM MM, as it is present in more than 90% of WM patients but is uncommon in IgM MM and found in only 5–7% of patients with marginal-zone lymphoma [25, 31, 32].

Its presence has been associated with early onset of WM presentation and a greater bone marrow involvement compared to MYD88 WT [28]. It has been described that WM patients with the absence of MYD88 mutation were characterized with a female predominance, a splenomegaly, a gain of chromosome 3, and CD27 expression [32].

Inhibition of MYD88 signaling has been shown to induce cytotoxicity and inhibit cell growth of cell lines issued from patients with WM [32].

All of these recent data confirmed the value of screening for the MYD8 L265P mutation in the routine diagnostic setting, and promising novel treatments resulting from its discovery are under study [28, 33].

Mutations of CXCR4 at the carboxyl (C) terminal domain have also been observed in approximately 30% of patients with WM and 20% of IgM MGUS patients [28].

WM cells are known to express high levels of chemokine and adhesion receptors. The C–X–C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4), via its interaction with its ligand, stromal derived factor-1 (SDF-1/CXCL-12), is believed to play a critical role, particularly in modulating clonal lymphoplasmacytic cell homing to the bone marrow niches [26].

CXCR4 mutations in WM are the first reported acquired somatic mutations of CXCR4 in any human cancer. They have been described in patients with WHIM syndrome—a rare, congenital immunodeficiency disease characterized by Warts, Hypogammaglobulinemia, recurrent Infections and bone marrow Myelokathexis resulting in chronic neutropenia. In WM, two types of CXCR4 mutations have been observed in equal proportions: the frame shift mutations (CXCR4^{WHIM/FS}) and nonsense mutations (CXCR4^{WHIM/NS}) [26].

Ninety-eight percent of CXCR4 mutations coexist with MYD88 L265P mutations. While the MYD88 L265P mutation has a role in WM cell proliferation and survival, CXCR4 mutation has been implicated in tumor progression and drug

resistance. CXCR4 mutation indeed mediates drug resistance to mTOR, PI3K, and BTK inhibitors by blocking CXCR4 receptor internalization and leading to a persistently activated CXCR4, which prolongs and enhances activation of AKT1 and MAPK1 [34]. CXCR4^{WHIM/NS} mutations have been reported to be associated with more aggressive disease features such as greater marrow involvement and higher serum IgM levels with increased risk of hyperviscosity syndrome, but without impact on overall survival [26].

Anti-CXCR4 drug, plerixafor, has been shown to successfully inhibit this pathway.

As multiple CXCR4 mutations can be found, the development of a PCR-based assay is difficult, and routine testing for these mutations is not recommended yet.

Recommendation

To perform a bone marrow biopsy accompanied by immunophenotyping. Cytogenetic is recommended, particularly to identify whether del6q is present; however, to date the identification of MYD88 L265P mutation has clearly became a hallmark of the diagnosis of WM along with histology. It seems CXCR4 is not yet to be recommended in routine check up for WM identification, as its role may be more into understanding the risk of chemoresistance.

17.4 Hemostasis

Viscosity Hyperviscosity syndrome is a classical feature of WM but occurs in less than 15% of patients. It is related to an increased vascular resistance and blood viscosity secondary to the presence of elevated serum IgM levels. Common symptoms include headache, blurred vision, vertigo, oronasal bleeding, or hearing defects. Other manifestations can be observed, such as neurological symptoms or aggravation of congestive heart failure due to the increased blood viscosity and expanded plasma volume arising from increased osmotic pressure. Thromboembolic events can also be observed. Symptoms typically occur when the serum viscosity reaches 4–5 cP, which usually correlates with a serum IgM level > 30 g/L [12]. Although it can prove a very useful adjunct to the clinical assessment of patients, measurement of plasma viscosity is not routinely available. A high sedimentation rate is another marker for hyperviscosity.

In symptomatic patients or if IgM levels are > 30 g/L, a fundoscopic examination is recommended in order to screen for indicators of hyperviscosity, such as retinal venous engorgement with dilated and tortuous veins and focal constrictions ("venous sausaging") or flame-shaped retinal hemorrhages in the macular area [7].

If hyperviscosity syndrome is suspected, plasmapheresis and treatment of WM should be started quickly to rapidly remove IgM.

Thromboembolism Patients with WM present an increased risk of venous thromboembolism, especially during the first year following diagnosis but also up to 10 years after [35]. Unlike patients with multiple myeloma, no excess risk of arterial thrombosis was described. There is no consensual approach concerning venous thromboembolism prophylaxis for WM patients yet; however, this prophylaxis should be considered in periods of additional risk, such as surgery [16].

Bleeding Syndrome Monoclonal IgM component may interact with circulating proteins or with proteins expressed on cell membranes. Interaction with platelets, fibrinogen, and coagulation factors (especially factors V, VII, and VIII) may cause thrombopathy and coagulation disorders, such as acquired hemophilia, acquired von Willebrand disease, or defects in fibrin formation.

Clinically, these alterations are responsible for abnormalities in bleeding and clotting times [12].

Acquired von Willebrand Syndrome (AVWS) [36] Among manifestations caused by IgM in WM, the occurrence of acquired von Willebrand syndrome (AVWS) is a rare event, characterized by bleeding related to the decrease of von Willebrand factor (VWF) activity [37]. By contrast with congenital von Willebrand disease, patients do not have any personal or family history of bleeding.

VWF is an adhesive glycoprotein produced by the vascular endothelium and megakaryocytes, which plays a key role in primary hemostasis. Multiple pathogenic mechanisms are described in AVWS, including selective VWF adsorption on tumoral cells, increased VWF proteolysis, and the presence of both neutralizing and non-neutralizing anti-VWF antibodies [38].

In a recent study including 72 patients with WM, 13 % fulfilled criteria of AVWS [37]. Patients with AVWS had higher serum IgM concentration, higher serum viscosity, and more frequent cryoglobulinemia than unaffected patients; it appeared to be unrelated to the bone marrow infiltration.

AVWS could offer protection against venous thromboembolism and can lead to sometimes severe hemorrhagic events, even though patients often present biological features without clinical manifestation [37].

Systematic screening of AVWS should be performed in patients with WM as it may have important clinical implications. If an AVWS is detected, treatment includes plasma exchanges which by reducing hyperviscosity allow a quick resolution of the VWF defect, desmopressin, or replacement therapy to cover invasive procedures [37].

Recommendation

It is recommended to identify patients at risk for hyperviscosity and, in parallel, patients that will present with bleeding disorders, particularly prior to performing biopsies.

17.5 Biochemical Investigations

Diagnostic biological workup for WM is summarized in Table 17.2.

| Hematological workup | |
|--------------------------------------|--|
| Cell blood count Peripheral smear | Normocytic or macrocytic anemia, normochromic, reticulocyte count, thrombocytopenia |
| | Rouleaux on smear |
| Hemolytic workup | Elevated reticulocyte count, bilirubin, haptoglobin, LDH, Coombs, cold agglutinin |
| Hemostasis workup | Acquired VWD |
| Bone marrow | |
| Histological analysis | Lymphoplasmacytic cells (small lymphocytes with plasmacytoid differentiation and plasma cells) |
| Immunophenotype | sIg ⁺ , CD19 ⁺ , CD20 ⁺ , CD22 ⁺ , CD79 ⁺ , CD5 ^{+/-} , CD23 ^{+/-} , CD138 ⁺ , CD10 ⁻ , CD103 ⁻ |
| Cytogenetic | 6q deletion by FISH in 30-50 % of cases |
| Molecular biology | MYD88 L265P mutation in 90% of cases Discussion on CXCR4 mutation to identify chemoresistance and decide for specific treatment |
| IgM immunoglobulin measurement | |
| SPEP, IFS | Monoclonal Ig difficult to detect if cryoglobulin, sampling to be done, maintained, and performed at 37°. Lower sensitivity in low level, migration defect. Monitor hypogammaglobulinemia |
| Proteinuria | It is possibly more important to check for albuminuria (glomerulopathy of cryoglobulinemia type, AL amyloidosis type, renal infiltration by tumor cells) and that can simply be done with urine bandelette UPEP and IFU: Bence-Jones proteinuria frequently positive but exceptionally associated to occurrence of CAST nephropathy |
| sFLC | Serum free light chain is increased similar to IgM to perform possibly in patients informative to sFLC and pauci informative on IgM measurement |
| Plasma viscosity | Elevated viscosity > 3cp: indication of treatment and plasmapheresis |
| Beta-2 microglobulin | Prognostic marker |

Table 17.2 Diagnostic biological workup recommended for WM, adapted from [12]

LDH lactate dehydrogenase, *SPEP* serum protein electrophoresis, *IF* immunofixation, *sFLC* serum free light chain, *UPEP* urine protein electrophoresis

Serum IgM Monoclonal Protein Biochemically, IgM monoclonal protein remains the hallmark of WM; indeed, the definition of WM [1] requires the presence of a monoclonal IgM protein, irrespective of its serum level—although most of the time, this level is > 5 g/L.

The first clue to diagnosis of WM is often the identification of the presence of an excess of serum protein (elevated serum sedimentation rate and/or elevated serum protein level) suggesting an IgM monoclonal component. The presence of a monoclonal component is often characterized using serum protein electrophoresis (SPEP). An immunofixation is then recommended to demonstrate clonality and further characterize the isotype of the monoclonal component; this immunofixation should be performed in all cases, since SPEP could miss small quantities of IgM. The IgM M-spike can sometimes migrate into the beta region rather than the gamma region. In rare cases, two M-spikes can be identified, which represent either the association of monomeric and pentameric forms of IgM or true biclonality. Class switching with corresponding IgG or IgA M-spikes is unusual.

An elevated IgM is usually associated with a reciprocal hypogammaglobulinemia in WM, made of a profound decrease in polyclonal IgM along with IgG and IgA. There is no correlation between the serum level of IgM and the percentage of bone marrow involvement or to the depth of hypogammaglobulinemia.

However, many limitations are associated with the use of this IgM marker, and development of more accurate markers is needed as discussed below.

Limitations to IgM Measurement in WM Even though IgM monoclonal protein remains the key marker in WM, many limitations can be argued against its use:

- The definition of WM [1] requires the presence of a monoclonal IgM protein, irrespective of its serum level, which means that serum IgM level is not sensitive enough to differentiate WM from Monoclonal Gammopathy of Undetermined Significance (MGUS).
- Although the presence of serum monoclonal IgM protein is the hallmark of WM, it is not a disease-specific finding. A study found that nearly 60% of patients with IgM paraprotein-related lymphoid neoplasms had WM; other causes included CLL (20%), marginal-zone lymphoma (7%), follicular lymphoma (5%), DLBCL (5%), and MCL (3%) [39]. Furthermore, serum IgM paraprotein level was not a reliable discriminator in the differential diagnosis.
- The measurement of IgM can be obtained by SPEP (serum protein electrophoresis) or by nephelometry, but none of these techniques allow measurement of the exact concentration of monoclonal IgM. Furthermore, a number of studies have identified discordance between the two methods, preventing direct comparison of results [40]. IgM measurement using nephelometry is not a valuable technique, not only does it not allow differentiation between clonal and non-clonal Ig but it is affected by technical problems.
- It is also difficult and unreliable to compare IgM-spike concentrations from different laboratories.
- Moreover, monoclonal Ig can be difficult to detect in some WM patients, due to the presence of cryoglobulins, because of the migration defect of the IgM protein or because low IgM concentrations can be obscured by the polyclonal background.
- In the IPSS WM score [2], IgM has an adverse prognostic impact only when >70 g/L, a rare occurrence at such a very high serum level: IgM serum level is, thus, not a sensitive prognostic marker.
- In addition, even a high IgM serum level is not a sufficient indication by itself to initiate therapy [41] because IgM does not correlate to tumor mass.

- However, although serum IgM level is not correlated to tumor mass, it is included in the response criteria for WM [42] but with considering the above limitations in its measurement.
- As IgM has a prolonged half-life (IgM clearance from the serum takes about 3 weeks) [43], it is not a sensitive marker for early response.
- Moreover, serum IgM can vary differently depending on the treatment. Serum IgM level may indeed increase following rituximab therapy, and distinction between progression and flare effect might be difficult to affirm [44], making response or progression assessment impossible in this situation. Following nucleoside analogues, response can be delayed by months, sometime a 1-year period of time, and, therefore, patients with delayed response can be miscategorized as non- or poor responders [42]. Conversely, bortezomib-containing regimens may demonstrate excellent IgM responses, while suboptimal bone marrow responses [45].

For all these reasons, there is a need to identify new surrogate markers for measurement of tumor burden in WM, especially for patients with low or high IgM levels, and extramedullary disease.

Study of Urine Proteinuria in WM There are numerous reasons for renal alteration in WM, and one must be aware of the various types of syndromes that can be encountered to properly guide the tests needed to optimally treat the renal alterations in WM, to avoid worsen the prognosis often associated to renal insufficiency.

Although Bence-Jones proteinuria [identified using urine electrophoresis (UPEP) with subsequent urine immunofixation (IFU)] is frequently present in WM patients (40–80%), it rarely exceeds 1 g/24 h (about 3% of cases) and is, therefore, not always routinely performed [12]. Furthermore, CAST nephropathy as a consequence of excess of Bence-Jones proteinuria is rarely seen in WM [46].

Glomerular nephropathy is more often seen in WM as a consequence of several kidney alterations, among which the most frequent are glomerulopathy of cryoglobulinemia type, AL amyloidosis type, and renal infiltration by tumor cells [47]. The diagnosis of these various types of renal alteration is performed on a kidney biopsy using histopathology tests, along with red congo staining, polarized birefringence, and immunofluorescence identification of light chain deposits for AL amyloidosis. Consequently, one would then recommend to seek for the presence of albuminuria and to quantify the importance of albuminuria, using, for example, a very simple test in routine practice, i.e., the urine bandelette.

Cryoglobulins Cryoglobulins (type I anti-IgM monoclonal component related or type II with immune complex of monoclonal IgM anti-IgG type) can occur in WM and can lead to underestimation of the serum IgM levels and increased blood viscosity. Diagnosis is confirmed by measurement of cryoglobulins using a warm

bath collection; this test should be repeated if necessary. The temperature range of cryoglobulins can be wide.

Type I cryoglobulinemia may be detected in 7-20% of WM patients but is symptomatic in less than 5% [12]. Due to impaired blood flow in small vessels, manifestations such as Raynaud phenomenon, acrocyanosis, arthralgias, purpura, and skin ulcers can occur [48, 49]. It is usually associated with lymphoproliferative disorders.

Type II cryoglobulinemia results from the autoantibody activity of the monoclonal IgM against the Fc portion of IgG, acting as a monoclonal rheumatoid factor [12, 48, 49]. Rheumatoid factor blood test is, thus, usually positive. The cryoprecipitating property results from the size and limited solubility of the IgM–IgG immune complex. Deposition of these immune complexes on the walls of small vessels and subsequent activation of the complement cascade can result in a systemic vasculitis—clinical features of which are purpura, arthralgias, weakness, liver involvement, renal involvement (cryoglobulinemic glomerulonephritis), peripheral neuropathy, and widespread vasculitis [12]. Type II cryoglobulinemia has been associated with the hepatitis C virus.

Dosage of antinuclear antibodies and syphilis serology can be falsely positive in case of the presence of cryoglobulins. Patients with cryoglobulinemia should be screened for hepatitis C infection [16].

If a symptomatic cryoglobulinemia is identified, plasmapheresis is indicated to rapidly remove cryoglobulins from the blood circulation.

Complement Exploration Among abnormalities in complement exploration, serum C4 levels can be found very low. Exceptionally, an acquired C1 esterase inhibitor deficiency can be observed, leading to angioedema [50].

Serum Free Light Chain Test The serum free light chain (sFLC) assay is a nephelometric measurement of serum kappa and lambda light chains that circulate as light chain monomers or dimers and that are not bound to immunoglobulin heavy chain. It can be analyzed whether using iFLC (involved FLC level), ratio kappa/lambda, or dFLC (difference between clonal and non-clonal sFLC); the most informative being iFLC, although the difference or the ratio are recommended for patients with some degree of renal insufficiency. This test has been widely used in the assessment of response in patients with multiple myeloma and other plasma cell dyscrasias and is now relatively widely available among laboratories worldwide.

It has been previously shown that the use of iFLC values accurately diagnosed patients with WM and differentiated them from patients with IgM MGUS (monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance) who presented with significantly lower values [51, 52]. sFLC assay was further demonstrated to be a useful and sensitive marker of tumor measurement in WM that correlates well with IgM and M-spike measurement [52]. Response according to iFLC was indeed comparable with the response obtained using SPEP or IgM measurement by nephelometry, indicating that it can be used in the future as a reliable measurement of disease response [52]. However, there are two particular interests in iFLC measurement: first, it allowed a more rapid detection of response and progression than standard tests studying intact immunoglobulin, due to its significantly shorter half-life [53], and next, it has been proven a sensible marker to assess lower tumor burden compared with SPEP.

sFLC could also be useful in situations where SPEP is defective. For instance, a case of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with type I cryoglobulinemia was reported where quantification of the paraprotein was not possible using conventional serum protein electrophoresis due to the high serum viscosity, but monitoring using serial sFLC measurements was proved successful [54].

Moreover, sFLC should be measured and followed if amyloidosis is suspected.

sFLC can also be used as a prognostic marker in WM, as elevated iFLC has been shown to correlate to shorter time to first treatment [55]. Interestingly, patients with early iFLC response seem more likely to have intermediate/high ISS-WM stage, elevated β -2 microglobulin or low hemoglobin levels [52, 56]. These results may be indicating that high iFLC and rapid reductions after therapy could reflect a more aggressive disease.

There are caveats to sFLC test in WM, such as the flare effect previously reported with IgM measurement and which has also been observed with sFLC test. An iFLC flare was observed following rituximab therapy, with a lack of correlation with IgM flare, which suggests that iFLC cannot help to differentiate progression from flare in this situation [52], similar to serum IgM measuring tests. No correlation between iFLC flare and response rate was observed.

Further studies should help determine whether sFLC assay will help in making decision of treatment modification in WM.

Hevylite Assay (HLC for Heavy/Light Chain) The serum IgM Hevylite immunoassay measures specifically serum IgM kappa and IgM lambda separately [57, 58]. It is based on specific polyclonal antibodies, which recognize unique epitopes spanning the junction of the heavy and light chains of the individual immunoglobulin isotypes. This test allows true quantitative measurement of the intact immunoglobulin involved in the clone serum secretion, e.g., the IgMk M-spike for IgM kappa WM. The test measures separately the involved and uninvolved immunoglobulin for all existing immunoglobulins. Involved IgM HLC measurements indeed reflect the clonal IgM production, and quantification of uninvolved IgM HLC assesses the tumor-induced polyclonal suppression, e.g., the hypogammaglobulinemia, both more precisely than available tests.

It has been shown that the IgM Hevylite ratio (involved monoclonal immunoglobulin/uninvolved polyclonal immunoglobulin) correlated well with the M-spike measured by SPEP [55, 59].

Hevylite levels were indeed higher in WM than in IgM MGUS and higher in symptomatic than asymptomatic WM. Interestingly, high Hevylite serum levels predicted a shorter time to treatment for patients with asymptomatic WM, traducing a shorter survival free of evolution towards symptomatic WM requiring treatment. Koulieris et al. also showed that Hevylite was a potential prognostic marker of high tumor burden and poor prognosis. They have proposed a prognosis score including Hevylite level above median, beta-2 microglobulin > 5.5 mg/L, and elevated LDH at diagnosis, which distinguished four groups of patients with significantly different overall survival (the four groups were constituted according to the number of adverse factors: 0, 1, 2, or 3) [60].

Hevylite, thus, represents a promising technique to monitor the monoclonal IgM in WM.

These novel M-component-based biomarkers appear to be reliable markers for the diagnosis of WM, for the monitoring of WM, and potentially the prognosis of WM. They are easy to perform in routine practice, which make these tools of potential choice to replace IgM measurement. However, they do not seem to be really superior to IgM measurement, at least for sFLC. More studies are needed to demonstrate the impact of Hevylite in WM and whether the couple sFLC and Hevylite could replace the current tests for all patients with WM or solely a subset yet to identify.

Spurious Results Monoclonal proteins can interfere in certain measurements because they may form precipitates during the procedure. This can result in artifactually increased total bilirubin concentration, low high-density lipoprotein and cholesterol, and low ferreting and transferring [61].

Recommendation

It is recommended to use SPEP and IFS to monitor IgM M-component. In certain cases, sFLC could be of some help. Cryoglobulinemia should be looked at particularly in symptomatic WM patients to prevent complications and to optimize measurement of IgM M-component in these patients. Urine albuminuria is far more important to investigate compared to Bence-Jones proteinuria, given the greater risk of glomerulopathy over CAST tubular nephropathy.

17.6 Flare Effect

IgM flare is defined as any increase (relative to baseline) in IgM levels that occurred before the end of therapy and that would not be related to disease escape, e.g., progression of WM. As such, this phenomenon should be transient and decrease thereafter to the level of the depth of response.

This phenomenon was first suggested when it was reported that some patients treated with rituximab or cladribine for WM developed transient increases in monoclonal protein levels [62, 63], and its exact mechanism remains unraveled. It was then further characterized by Ghobrial et al. who found that an IgM flare could be observed in up to 54% of patients following rituximab monotherapy, but that 73% of these patients will have a decrease of their IgM levels within 4 months of therapy [44]. This phenomenon, thus, should not discourage physicians from continuing to administer this treatment. Response rates were, however, poorer for patients who experienced an initial IgM flare compared with those who did not (28% versus 80%). In patients with high IgM levels (>40 g/L), the use of

rituximab as single-agent therapy should be avoided, as considerably lower response rates were reported in those patients [64, 65]. Similarly, the IgM flare can occur in the maintenance phase of rituximab therapy and can be mistaken for progression [7]. A bone marrow biopsy should be performed if differentiating these two situations appears difficult.

Patients with increased IgM levels after treatment might develop hyperviscosity and require plasmapheresis, and IgM flare may also lead to worsening of IgM-related neuropathy, cryoglobulinemia, and other IgM-related complications [7]. Serum IgM levels should, therefore, be closely monitored (at least weekly) during the time of risk to develop flare effect, for example, early on during the first cycle on rituximab-based therapy, particularly if not combined to regular chemotherapy. The IgM flare may last for several weeks and even months [44, 66]. No factor has been identified for predicting the occurrence of this IgM flare.

In combination therapy, the occurrence of the rituximab-mediated IgM flare can vary considerably and seems to depend both on the associated drugs and the administration schedule of rituximab [67]. For instance, bortezomib appears to suppress IgM production independently of tumor cell killing [7].

In order to try and avoid the rituximab-related IgM flare and its possible effects on IgM-related morbidity, the introduction of rituximab can be deferred in patients considered at high risk, arbitrarily defined by an IgM level > 40 g/L and/or a plasma viscosity > 4 cP [16].

17.7 Other

Workup for Peripheral Neuropathy Peripheral neuropathy is frequent in IgM dyscrasia, including WM, as it has been reported in about 25 % of patients, with various etiology to consider [7]. One of the most frequent mechanisms involved in IgM-related peripheral neuropathy, including WM, is related to demyelinization and is the consequence of the anti-myelin autoactivity of the IgM monoclonal component.

Common etiologies related to WM are lymphoplasmacytic infiltration of the nerve fibers, IgM deposition, autoantibody deposition, cryoglobulinemia, and amyloidosis; differential diagnosis includes radiculopathy, diabetic neuropathy, cobalamin deficiency, thyroid dysfunction, HIV infection, Lyme disease, autoimmune processes such as systemic lupus erythematosus and other vasculitides, and chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy.

If a peripheral neuropathy is suspected, the etiologic workup should include: measurement of serum anti-MAG (anti-myelin-associated glycoprotein) antibodies, anti-ganglioside M1 antibodies, anti-sulfatide IgM antibodies, along with electromyography signature. The nerve biopsy should be avoided when it comes to diagnosis of anti-MAG neuropathy as it affects sensitive nerves that are not comprised in the biopsy. If performed, one could visualize IgM deposits at the site of MAG localization or sulfatide moieties on nerve sheaths. However, this biopsy might be helpful for the differential diagnosis such as peripheral neuropathy related to cryoglobulin deposits and AL amyloidosis [7, 12]. Amyloidosis can also be ruled out using other histology exams such as salivary glands and/or fat pad biopsy and congo red staining.

Hepatic and Renal Function Renal and hepatic functions are to be assessed before any therapy.

Renal failure is rarely a manifestation of WM. Proteinuria can be observed due to deposition of the monoclonal protein in the kidneys. CAST nephropathy as a consequence of excess of Bence-Jones proteinuria is, however, a rare event in WM [46]. Proteinuria still needs to be assessed, but mainly to detect albuminuria. If albuminuria is detected, suggesting a glomerulopathy, prompt investigation should indeed be performed to detect AL amyloidosis, cryoglobulinemia, or infiltration of the kidney by tumor cells [7].

Hypercalcemia is unusual in WM.

HIV, Hepatitis B and C Status Viral status should be assessed before starting therapy. Screening for hepatitis B and C viruses is specifically required prior to the introduction of rituximab-containing regimens, and hepatitis C should be screened in case of cryoglobulinemia [16]. The role of chronic antigenic stimulation was suspected in WM; however, the implication of hepatitis C or HHV8 viruses remains controversial [68].

17.8 Prognostic Markers

As for most cancer types, the prognosis of WM can be summarized based on three main entities: (i) the disease itself, e.g., the intrinsic agressivity of tumor cells, (ii) the patient characteristics, e.g., a mix of age and comorbidities, particularly given that WM is a disease of the elderly, and finally (iii) the sensitivity of tumor cells to treatment, e.g., a prolonged progression-free survival that translates into a prolonged overall survival, in patients that would not die from WM but from other age-related causes.

Interestingly, one may consider that the patient- and disease-based entities of the prognosis of WM are summarized into the International Staging System (ISS WM) [2]. This prognosis score of WM depends on five major factors: age > 65 years, anemia < 11.5 g/dL, thrombocytopenia < 100×10^9 /L, β-2 microglobulin > 3 mg/L, and IgM level > 70 g/L. Low risk disease is defined by 0–1 adverse features excluding age, intermediate risk by two adverse factors or age, while high-risk is defined by >2 adverse features. These risk categories each comprise approximately 1/3 of patients and are associated with 5-year survival rates of 87 %, 68 %, and 36 %, respectively.

This staging system appears robust and was validated in the relapse setting as well, with the main caveats that it was created in the era of "old" WM-based

treatments. Another limitation would be that there is no evidence yet that it should influence treatment decisions for individual patients.

Elevated LDH, low albumin, B symptoms, poor performance status, and increased C-reactive protein, but not transformation to high-grade B cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma (DLBCL), have also been associated to poor prognosis.

17.9 New Biomarkers to Measure the Activity of Tumor Cells in WM Independently of the M-Component

Soluble CD27 Soluble CD27 (sCD27) is a tumor necrosis factor family member secreted by WM cells and was proposed to be a faithful marker of disease burden in WM [69]. It was demonstrated to strongly correlate to serum IgM levels and clinical responses in patients with WM and is unaffected by the rituximab-induced flare or by plasmapheresis. However, it cannot be used in routine lab practice and, therefore, did not develop beyond research purpose.

17.10 Conclusion

Major progress have been made in understanding the pathophysiology of WM, and biological tests are now of great interest in the characterization of this disease. Biological markers may lead to personalized treatments in patients with WM. New biomarkers are under investigation, offering a quantitative alternative to traditional electrophoretic techniques, and could, therefore, be of great use in the management of patients with WM.

Disclosures of Potential Conflicts of Interest None.

References

- Owen RG, Treon SP, Al-Katib A, Fonseca R, Greipp PR, McMaster ML, Morra E, Pangalis GA, San Miguel JF, Branagan AR, Dimopoulos MA. Clinicopathological definition of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: consensus panel recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):110–5. doi:10. 1053/sonc.2003.50082.
- Morel P, Duhamel A, Gobbi P, Dimopoulos MA, Dhodapkar MV, McCoy J, Crowley J, Ocio EM, Garcia-Sanz R, Treon SP, Leblond V, Kyle RA, Barlogie B, Merlini G. International prognostic scoring system for Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;113(18): 4163–70. doi:10. 1182/blood-2008-08-174961.
- Dimopoulos MA, Gertz MA, Kastritis E, Garcia-Sanz R, Kimby EK, Leblond V, Fermand JP, Merlini G, Morel P, Morra E, Ocio EM, Owen R, Ghobrial IM, Seymour J, Kyle RA, Treon SP. Update on treatment recommendations from the Fourth International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(1):120–6. doi:10.1200/jco.2008.17.7865.

- 4. Owen RG, Kyle RA, Stone MJ, Rawstron AC, Leblond V, Merlini G, Garcia-Sanz R, Ocio EM, Morra E, Morel P, Anderson KC, Patterson CJ, Munshi NC, Tedeschi A, Joshua DE, Kastritis E, Terpos E, Ghobrial IM, Leleu X, Gertz MA, Ansell SM, Morice WG, Kimby E, Treon SP, Macroglobulinaemia VIIWoW. Response assessment in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: update from the VIth International Workshop. Br J Haematol. 2013; 160(2):171–6. doi:10. 1111/bjh.12102.
- Singh A, Eckardt KU, Zimmermann A, Gotz KH, Hamann M, Ratcliffe PJ, Kurtz A, Reinhart WH. Increased plasma viscosity as a reason for inappropriate erythropoietin formation. J Clin Invest. 1993;91(1):251–6. doi:10.1172/jci116178.
- McMullin MF, Wilkin HJ, Elder E. Inaccurate haemoglobin estimation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia. J Clin Pathol. 1995;48(8):787.
- 7. Treon SP. How i treat Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;114(12):2375–85. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-05-174359.
- Ghobrial IM, Gertz MA, Fonseca R. Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia. Lancet Oncol. 2003; 4(11):679–85.
- Ciccarelli BT, Patterson CJ, Hunter ZR, Hanzis C, Ioakimidis L, Manning R, Yang G, Xu L, Zhou Y, Sun J, Liu X, Tseng H, Cao Y, Sheehy P, Rodig SJ, Treon SP. Hepcidin is produced by lymphoplasmacytic cells and is associated with anemia in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11(1):160–3. doi:10.3816/CLML.2011.n.038.
- Kyle RA, Greipp PR, Gertz MA, Witzig TE, Lust JA, Lacy MQ, Therneau TM. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia: a prospective study comparing daily with intermittent oral chlorambucil. Br J Haematol. 2000;108(4):737–42.
- 11. Garcia-Sanz R, Montoto S, Torrequebrada A, de Coca AG, Petit J, Sureda A, Rodriguez-Garcia JA, Masso P, Perez-Aliaga A, Monteagudo MD, Navarro I, Moreno G, Toledo C, Alonso A, Besses C, Besalduch J, Jarque I, Salama P, Rivas JA, Navarro B, Blade J, Miguel JF, Spanish Group for the Study of Waldenstrom M, PETHEMA. Waldenstrom macro-globulinaemia: presenting features and outcome in a series with 217 cases. Br J Haematol. 2001;115(3):575–82.
- 12. Ghobrial IM. Are you sure this is Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia? Hematology. 2012;2012:586–94.
- 13. Bird J, Behrens J, Westin J, Turesson I, Drayson M, Beetham R, D'Sa S, Soutar R, Waage A, Gulbrandsen N, Gregersen H, Low E, Haemato-oncology Task Force of the British Committee for Standards in Haematology UKMF, Nordic Myeloma Study G. UK Myeloma Forum (UKMF) and Nordic Myeloma Study Group (NMSG): guidelines for the investigation of newly detected M-proteins and the management of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS). Br J Haematol. 2009;147(1):22–42. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2009. 07807.x.
- Rajkumar SV, Dispenzieri A, Kyle RA. Monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance, Waldenström macroglobulinemia, AL amyloidosis, and related plasma cell disorders: diagnosis and treatment. Mayo Clin Proc. 2006;81(5):693–703.
- Remstein ED, Hanson CA, Kyle RA, Hodnefield JM, Kurtin PJ. Despite apparent morphologic and immunophenotypic heterogeneity, Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia is consistently composed of cells along a morphologic continuum of small lymphocytes, plasmacytoid lymphocytes, and plasma cells. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):182–6. doi:10.1053/sonc.2003. 50073.
- Owen RG, Pratt G, Auer RL, Flatley R, Kyriakou C, Lunn MP, Matthey F, McCarthy H, McNicholl FP, Rassam SM, Wagner SD, Streetly M, D'Sa S, British Committee for Standards in H. Guidelines on the diagnosis and management of Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia. Br J Haematol. 2014;165(3):316–33. doi:10.1111/bjh.12760.
- Dimopoulos MA, Kyle RA, Anagnostopoulos A, Treon SP. Diagnosis and management of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(7):1564–77. doi:10.1200/jco.2005. 03.144.

- Avet-Loiseau H, Garand R, Lode L, Harousseau JL, Bataille R, Intergroupe Francophone du M. Translocation t(11;14)(q13;q32) is the hallmark of IgM, IgE, and nonsecretory multiple myeloma variants. Blood. 2003;101(4):1570–1. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-08-2436.
- Ocio EM, Hernandez JM, Mateo G, Sanchez ML, Gonzalez B, Vidriales B, Gutierrez NC, Orfao A, San Miguel JF. Immunophenotypic and cytogenetic comparison of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with splenic marginal zone lymphoma. Clin Lymphoma. 2005;5(4):241–5.
- Schop RF, Kuehl WM, Van Wier SA, Ahmann GJ, Price-Troska T, Bailey RJ, Jalal SM, Qi Y, Kyle RA, Greipp PR, Fonseca R. Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia neoplastic cells lack immunoglobulin heavy chain locus translocations but have frequent 6q deletions. Blood. 2002;100(8):2996–3001. doi:10.1182/blood.V100.8.2996.
- 21. Treon SP, Hunter ZR, Aggarwal A, Ewen EP, Masota S, Lee C, Santos DD, Hatjiharissi E, Xu L, Leleu X, Tournilhac O, Patterson CJ, Manning R, Branagan AR, Morton CC. Characterization of familial Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Ann Oncol. 2006; 17(3):488–94. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdj111.
- Turner Jr CA, Mack DH, Davis MM. Blimp-1, a novel zinc finger-containing protein that can drive the maturation of B lymphocytes into immunoglobulin-secreting cells. Cell. 1994;77(2): 297–306.
- 23. Nguyen-Khac F, Lambert J, Chapiro E, Grelier A, Mould S, Barin C, Daudignon A, Gachard N, Struski S, Henry C, Penther D, Mossafa H, Andrieux J, Eclache V, Bilhou-Nabera C, Luquet I, Terre C, Baranger L, Mugneret F, Chiesa J, Mozziconacci MJ, Callet-Bauchu E, Veronese L, Blons H, Owen R, Lejeune J, Chevret S, Merle-Beral H, Leblondon V, Groupe Francais d'Etude de la Leucemie Lymphoide Chronique et Maladie de W, Groupe Ouest-Est d'etude des Leucemie Aigues et Autres Maladies du S, Groupe d'Etude des Lymphomes de lA. Chromosomal aberrations and their prognostic value in a series of 174 untreated patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Haematologica. 2013;98(4): 649–54. doi:10.3324/haematol.2012.070458.
- 24. Poulain S, Roumier C, Galiegue-Zouitina S, Daudignon A, Herbaux C, Aiijou R, Lainelle A, Broucqsault N, Bertrand E, Manier S, Renneville A, Soenen V, Tricot S, Roche-Lestienne C, Duthilleul P, Preudhomme C, Quesnel B, Morel P, Leleu X. Genome wide SNP array identified multiple mechanisms of genetic changes in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol. 2013;88(11):948–54. doi:10.1002/ajh.23545.
- 25. Treon SP, Xu L, Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Cao Y, Sheehy P, Manning RJ, Patterson CJ, Tripsas C, Arcaini L, Pinkus GS, Rodig SJ, Sohani AR, Harris NL, Laramie JM, Skifter DA, Lincoln SE, Hunter ZR. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(9):826–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200710.
- Kapoor P, Paludo J, Vallumsetla N, Greipp PR. Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: what a hematologist needs to know. Blood Rev. 2015;29(5):301–19. doi:10.1016/j.blre.2015.03.001.
- 27. Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Xu L, Cao Y, Manning RJ, Patterson CJ, Buhrlage SJ, Gray N, Tai YT, Anderson KC, Hunter ZR, Treon SP. A mutation in MYD88 (L265P) supports the survival of lymphoplasmacytic cells by activation of Bruton tyrosine kinase in Waldenstrom macro-globulinemia. Blood. 2013;122(7):1222–32. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-12-475111.
- Treon SP, Cao Y, Xu L, Yang G, Liu X, Hunter ZR. Somatic mutations in MYD88 and CXCR4 are determinants of clinical presentation and overall survival in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2014;123(18):2791–6. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-01-550905.
- Landgren O, Staudt L. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in IgM MGUS. N Engl J Med. 2012; 367(23):2255–7. doi:10.1056/NEJMc1211959#SA1.
- 30. Varettoni M, Arcaini L, Zibellini S, Boveri E, Rattotti S, Riboni R, Corso A, Orlandi E, Bonfichi M, Gotti M, Pascutto C, Mangiacavalli S, Croci G, Fiaccadori V, Morello L, Guerrera ML, Paulli M, Cazzola M. Prevalence and clinical significance of the MYD88 (L265P) somatic mutation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and related lymphoid neoplasms. Blood. 2013;121(13):2522–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-09-457101.
- Jimenez C, Sebastian E, Chillon MC, Giraldo P, Mariano Hernandez J, Escalante F, Gonzalez-Lopez TJ, Aguilera C, de Coca AG, Murillo I, Alcoceba M, Balanzategui A, Sarasquete ME,
Corral R, Marin LA, Paiva B, Ocio EM, Gutierrez NC, Gonzalez M, San Miguel JF, Garcia-Sanz R. MYD88 L265P is a marker highly characteristic of, but not restricted to, Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Leukemia. 2013;27(8):1722–8. doi:10.1038/leu.2013.62.

- 32. Poulain S, Roumier C, Decambron A, Renneville A, Herbaux C, Bertrand E, Tricot S, Daudignon A, Galiegue-Zouitina S, Soenen V, Theisen O, Grardel N, Nibourel O, Roche-Lestienne C, Quesnel B, Duthilleul P, Preudhomme C, Leleu X. MYD88 L265P mutation in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2013;121(22):4504–11. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-06-436329.
- 33. Xu L, Hunter ZR, Yang G, Zhou Y, Cao Y, Liu X, Morra E, Trojani A, Greco A, Arcaini L, Varettoni M, Brown JR, Tai YT, Anderson KC, Munshi NC, Patterson CJ, Manning RJ, Tripsas CK, Lindeman NI, Treon SP. MYD88 L265P in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia, immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathy, and other B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders using conventional and quantitative allele-specific polymerase chain reaction. Blood. 2013; 121(11):2051–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-09-454355.
- 34. Roccaro AM, Sacco A, Jimenez C, Maiso P, Moschetta M, Mishima Y, Aljawai Y, Sahin I, Kuhne M, Cardarelli P, Cohen L, San Miguel JF, Garcia-Sanz R, Ghobrial IM. C1013G/ CXCR4 acts as a driver mutation of tumor progression and modulator of drug resistance in lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. Blood. 2014;123(26):4120–31. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-03-564583.
- Hultcrantz M, Pfeiffer RM, Bjorkholm M, Goldin LR, Turesson I, Schulman S, Landgren O, Kristinsson SY. Elevated risk of venous but not arterial thrombosis in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia/lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. J Thromb Haemost. 2014;12(11):1816–21. doi:10.1111/jth.12724.
- Mazurier C, Parquet-Gernez A, Descamps J, Bauters F, Goudemand M. Acquired von Willebrand's syndrome in the course of Waldenstrom's disease. Thromb Haemost. 1980; 44(3):115–8.
- 37. Hivert B, Caron C, Petit S, Charpy C, Fankam-Siaka C, Lecocq S, Zawadzki C, Susen S, Rusu M, Duhamel A, Tournilhac O, Goudemand J, Morel P. Clinical and prognostic implications of low or high level of von Willebrand factor in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2012;120(16):3214–21. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-11-388256.
- Tiede A, Rand JH, Budde U, Ganser A, Federici AB. How i treat the acquired von Willebrand syndrome. Blood. 2011;117(25):6777–85. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-11-297580.
- 39. Lin P, Hao S, Handy BC, Bueso-Ramos CE, Medeiros LJ. Lymphoid neoplasms associated with IgM paraprotein: a study of 382 patients. Am J Clin Pathol. 2005;123(2):200–5.
- Murray DL, Ryu E, Snyder MR, Katzmann JA. Quantitation of serum monoclonal proteins: relationship between agarose gel electrophoresis and immunonephelometry. Clin Chem. 2009; 55(8):1523–9. doi:10.1373/clinchem.2009.124461.
- 41. Treon SP, Gertz MA, Dimopoulos M, Anagnostopoulos A, Blade J, Branagan AR, Garcia-Sanz R, Johnson S, Kimby E, Leblond V, Fermand JP, Maloney DG, Merlini G, Morel P, Morra E, Nichols G, Ocio EM, Owen R, Stone MJ. Update on treatment recommendations from the Third International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2006; 107(9):3442–6. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-02-0833.
- 42. Kimby E, Treon SP, Anagnostopoulos A, Dimopoulos M, Garcia-Sanz R, Gertz MA, Johnson S, LeBlond V, Fermand JP, Maloney DG, Merlini G, Morel P, Morra E, Nichols G, Ocio EM, Owen R, Stone M, Blade J. Update on recommendations for assessing response from the Third International Workshop on Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2006;6(5):380–3. doi:10.3816/CLM.2006.n.013.
- Ghobrial IM, Witzig TE. Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Curr Treat Options Oncol. 2004; 5(3):239–47.
- 44. Ghobrial IM, Fonseca R, Greipp PR, Blood E, Rue M, Vesole DH, Gertz MA, Eastern Cooperative Oncology G. Initial immunoglobulin M'flare' after rituximab therapy in patients diagnosed with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: an eastern cooperative oncology group study. Cancer. 2004;101(11):2593–8. doi:10.1002/cncr.20658.

- 45. Treon SP, Hunter ZR, Matous J, Joyce RM, Mannion B, Advani R, Cook D, Songer J, Hill J, Kaden BR, Sharon D, Steiss R, Leleu X, Branagan AR, Badros A. Multicenter clinical trial of bortezomib in relapsed/refractory Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: results of WMCTG Trial 03–248. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(11):3320–5. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-06-2511.
- 46. Gnemmi V, Leleu X, Provot F, Moulonguet F, Buob D. Cast nephropathy and light-chain deposition disease in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Am J Kidney Dis. 2012;60(3):487–91. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2012.01.030.
- 47. Salviani C, Guido G, Serriello I, Giannakakis K, Rocca AR. Renal involvement in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: case report and review of literature. Ren Fail. 2014; 36(1):114–8. doi:10.3109/0886022x.2013.832859.
- Treon SP How I treat Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood 2015, doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-01-553974
- Vijay A, Gertz MA. Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2007;109(12):5096–103. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-11-055012.
- 50. Wellwood J, Taylor K, Wright S, Bentley M, Eliadis P. Angioedema in the emergency department: a presentation of lymphoma. Emerg Med. 2001;13(4):465–8.
- 51. Leleu X, Moreau AS, Weller E, Roccaro AM, Coiteux V, Manning R, Nelson M, Leduc R, Robu D, Dupire S, Hatjiharissi E, Burwick N, Darre S, Hennache B, Treon SP, Facon T, Gertz MA, Ghobrial IM. Serum immunoglobulin free light chain correlates with tumor burden markers in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2008;49(6):1104–7. doi:10. 1080/10428190802074619.
- 52. Leleu X, Xie W, Bagshaw M, Banwait R, Leduc R, Roper N, Weller E, Ghobrial IM. The role of serum immunoglobulin free light chain in response and progression in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(9):3013–8. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-10-2954.
- Mead GP, Carr-Smith HD, Drayson MT, Morgan GJ, Child JA, Bradwell AR. Serum free light chains for monitoring multiple myeloma. Br J Haematol. 2004;126(3):348–54. doi:10.1111/j. 1365-2141.2004.05045.x.
- 54. Pattenden RJ, Davidson KL, Wenham PR. The value of serum free light chains in a case of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia that produces a type I cryoglobulinaemia. Ann Clin Biochem. 2009;46(Pt 6):531–2. doi:10.1258/acb.2009.009056.
- 55. Itzykson R, Le Garff-Tavernier M, Katsahian S, Diemert MC, Musset L, Leblond V. Serumfree light chain elevation is associated with a shorter time to treatment in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Haematologica. 2008;93(5):793–4. doi:10.3324/haematol.12107.
- 56. van Rhee F, Bolejack V, Hollmig K, Pineda-Roman M, Anaissie E, Epstein J, Shaughnessy Jr JD, Zangari M, Tricot G, Mohiuddin A, Alsayed Y, Woods G, Crowley J, Barlogie B. High serum-free light chain levels and their rapid reduction in response to therapy define an aggressive multiple myeloma subtype with poor prognosis. Blood. 2007;110(3):827–32. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-01-067728.
- 57. Fourrier NJB et al. Nephelometric immunoassay measurements of IgMk and IgM λ for the assessment of patients with IgM monoclonal gammopathies. (abs. 120a). Clin Chem 56 (2); 2010
- Bradwell AR, Harding SJ, Fourrier NJ, Wallis GL, Drayson MT, Carr-Smith HD, Mead GP. Assessment of monoclonal gammopathies by nephelometric measurement of individual immunoglobulin kappa/lambda ratios. Clin Chem. 2009;55(9):1646–55. doi:10.1373/clinchem. 2009.123828.
- 59. Leleu X, Koulieris E, Maltezas D, Itzykson R, Xie W, Manier S, Dulery R, Boyle E, Gauthier J, Poulain S, Tatiana T, Panayiotidis P, Bradwell AR, Harding S, Leblond V, Kyrtsonis MC, Ghobrial IM. Novel M-component based biomarkers in Waldenstrom's macro-globulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11(1):164–7. doi:10.3816/CLML.2011. n.039.
- 60. Koulieris E, Kyrtsonis M, Maltezas D, Tzenou T, Mirbahai L, Kafassi N, Bartzis V, Dimou M, Georgiou G, Matsouka C, Pangalis G, Panayiotidis P, Bradwell A, Harding S. Quantification of

serum IgM{kappa} and IgM{lambda} in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia (WM) at diagnosis and during disease course; clinical correlations. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstract) 116;2010 Abstract 3004

- Smogorzewska A, Flood JG, Long WH, Dighe AS. Paraprotein interference in automated chemistry analyzers. Clin Chem. 2004;50(9):1691–3. doi:10.1373/clinchem.2004.037499.
- 62. Dimopoulos MA, Zervas C, Zomas A, Kiamouris C, Viniou NA, Grigoraki V, Karkantaris C, Mitsouli C, Gika D, Christakis J, Anagnostopoulos N. Treatment of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with rituximab. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(9):2327–33.
- Krishna VM, Carey RW, Bloch KJ. Marked increase in serum IgM during treatment of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with cladribine. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(20):2045–6. doi:10.1056/nejm200305153482025.
- 64. Foran JM, Rohatiner AZ, Cunningham D, Popescu RA, Solal-Celigny P, Ghielmini M, Coiffier B, Johnson PW, Gisselbrecht C, Reyes F, Radford JA, Bessell EM, Souleau B, Benzohra A, Lister TA. European phase II study of rituximab (chimeric anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody) for patients with newly diagnosed mantle-cell lymphoma and previously treated mantle-cell lymphoma, immunocytoma, and small B-cell lymphocytic lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18(2):317–24.
- 65. Treon SP, Agus TB, Link B, Rodrigues G, Molina A, Lacy MQ, Fisher DC, Emmanouilides C, Richards AI, Clark B, Lucas MS, Schlossman R, Schenkein D, Lin B, Kimby E, Anderson KC, Byrd JC. CD20-directed antibody-mediated immunotherapy induces responses and facilitates hematologic recovery in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. J Immunother. 2001;24(3):272–9.
- 66. Treon SP, Branagan AR, Hunter Z, Santos D, Tournhilac O, Anderson KC. Paradoxical increases in serum IgM and viscosity levels following rituximab in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Ann Oncol. 2004;15(10):1481–3. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdh403.
- Nichols GL, Savage DG (2004) Timing of rituximab/fludarabine in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia may avert hyperviscosity. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstract) 104 2004; Abstract 4612
- 68. Leleu X, O'Connor K, Ho AW, Santos DD, Manning R, Xu L, Hatjiharissi E, Moreau AS, Branagan AR, Hunter ZR, Dimmock EA, Soumerai J, Patterson C, Ghobrial I, Treon SP. Hepatitis C viral infection is not associated with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol. 2007;82(1):83–4. doi:10.1002/ajh.20724.
- 69. Ciccarelli BT, Yang G, Hatjiharissi E, Ioakimidis L, Patterson CJ, Manning RJ, Xu L, Liu X, Tseng H, Gong P, Sun J, Zhou Y, Treon SP. Soluble CD27 is a faithful marker of disease burden and is unaffected by the rituximab-induced IgM flare, as well as by plasmapheresis, in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9(1):56–8. doi:10.3816/CLM.2009.n.014.

Part V

Response

Response Assessment in Waldenström's Macroglobulinaemia

18

Eva Kimby, Roger G. Owen, and Enrica Morra

18.1 Introduction

Waldenström macroglobulinaemia (WM) is a distinct B-cell lymphoproliferative disorder characterized by the presence of a monoclonal immunoglobulin M (IgM) in serum and an infiltration of a lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma in bone marrow [1, 2]. Recent studies have demonstrated that the majority of patients have a MYD88 L265P mutation and that this is central to the pathogenesis of the disorder but also is of diagnostic utility [3].

Besides the bone marrow, the tumour cells can infiltrate lymphoid organs, such as lymph nodes and spleen. The most common symptoms of the disease are fatigue, anaemia and thrombocytopenia. Symptoms can also occur as a consequence of the concentration and physical properties of the M-component, and these include hyperviscosity syndrome, cryoglobulinaemia, cold agglutinin disease, peripheral neuropathy and amyloidosis.

Formal criteria for assessment of treatment response were first proposed during the Second International Workshop on WM and were published in 2003 [4]. These were developed with the principle aim of promoting and facilitating the uniform reporting of clinical trials. Evolving biological knowledge about the disease and new targeted therapies leading to new treatment paradigms along with requirements

E. Kimby (🖂)

Division of Hematology, Department of Medicine at Huddinge, Karolinska Institute and University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden e-mail: eva@kimby.se

R.G. Owen

E. Morra Niguarda Ca'Granda Hospital, 20162 Milan, Italy e-mail: enrica.morra@ospedaleniguarda.it

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 V. Leblond et al. (eds.), *Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_18

HMDS Laboratory, St James's Institute of Oncology, Leeds, UK e-mail: rogerowen@nhs.net

of regulatory agencies have resulted in re-evaluation of the response criteria following the Second, Third and Sixth International Workshops [4, 5, 6]. The consensus process by the eight (IWWM8) International Task Force on response assessment chaired by Roger Owen will further update the 2013 criteria. This effort will result in refined categorical response criteria with a better definition of bone marrow and lymph node response.

It is acknowledged in developing response criteria that they should be evidence based and that categories of response predict outcome, at least in terms of progressionfree survival (PFS), but also allow for meaningful comparison with historical data.

Criteria for response in nodal non-Hodgkin lymphoma and classical Hodgkin lymphoma have also been updated recently, the so-called Lugano criteria [7], but these are currently not recommended in WM as evidence of their predictive value is lacking. In this disease, symptoms due to the elevated monoclonal IgM and bone marrow infiltration of tumour cells are dominating and it is unusual for patients to be treated on the basis of nodal and/or splenic disease in isolation [8].

The assessment of response in patients with IgM-related disorders such as anti-MAG neuropathy, cryoglobulinaemia and cold agglutinin disease requires specific criteria to assess clinical benefit.

Uniform reporting of response may aid physicians in the routine clinical management of individual patients. Symptomatic benefit in patients remains the main goal of therapy and this can occur also in the absence of high-quality categorical responses. However, reproducible response criteria are needed for prediction of outcomes in clinical trials and for allowing comparison with historical data.

18.2 Categorical Response Definitions

Categories remain based on assessment of sequential changes in IgM as these have been demonstrated to predict outcome in terms of PFS with rituximab-based therapy. The value of the response definition is less well established in patients with relapsed disease. Continued prospective evaluation of these criteria is encouraged in clinical studies.

The response categories are outlined in Table 18.1. Besides conventional complete response (CR) and partial response (PR), two specific response categories have been used in WM: very good PR (VGPR) and minor response (MR) [9, 10]. Also the category major response rate (MRR), defined as the proportion of patients obtaining a PR or better, is frequently used.

The most appropriate time point for categorical response assessment has been discussed. The varying kinetics of IgM responses across different therapies (see below) and the advent of continuous targeted therapies such as ibrutinib make the documentation of best response necessary [11]. The reporting of time to best response is also a clinically meaningful criterion particularly for patients where rapid disease control is relevant such as hyperviscosity syndrome.

It is essential that treatment responses continue to be critically evaluated in clinical studies and in this context, pre-planned bone marrow and extramedullary

| Response category | Definition |
|--------------------------------------|--|
| Complete response (CR) | Absence of serum monoclonal IgM protein by immunofixation Complete resolution of extramedullary disease, i.e. lymphadenopathy and splenomegaly if present at baseline Absence of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma cells in bone marrow aspirate and trephine biopsy No new signs or symptoms of active disease |
| Very good partial response (VGPR) | Monoclonal IgM protein is detectable by immunofixation and IgM within normal range and/or ≥90 % reduction in serum IgM level from baseline No new signs or symptoms of active disease |
| Partial response (PR) | Monoclonal IgM protein is detectable ≥50 % but <90 % reduction in serum IgM level from baseline No new signs or symptoms of active disease |
| Minor response (MR) | Monoclonal IgM protein is detectable ≥25 % but <50 % reduction in serum IgM level from baseline No new signs or symptoms of active disease |
| Stable disease (SD) | Monoclonal IgM protein is detectable <25 % reduction and <25 % increase in serum IgM level from baseline No new signs or symptoms of active disease |
| Progressive disease (PD) | ≥25% increase in serum IgM level from lowest nadir and/or^a New signs or symptoms of active disease. Progression in anaemia and/or thrombocytopenia attributable to the disease |

Table 18.1 Categorial response definitions

^aAn absolute increase of at least 5 g/l is required to define progression when the IgM level is the only applicable criterion

disease assessments are encouraged regardless of IgM responses. The time points chosen for such assessments may vary and should be determined by choice and duration of the therapies under evaluation.

All categories of response should be confirmed by a second assessment at minimum of 4 weeks after initial assessment and the date of the first assessment should be used for response duration calculations.

18.2.1 Complete Remission

Absence of serum monoclonal IgM protein by immunofixation and a normalized serum IgM level are required for CR. Full recovery of polyclonal IgG, IgM and IgA are not, however, required as they frequently remain reduced following a range of therapies [12]. Bone marrow evaluation is mandatory for confirmation of CR, requiring absence of morphological infiltration by lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma in both bone marrow aspirate and trephine biopsy. Complete resolution of lymph-adenopathy and splenomegaly, if present at baseline, confirmed by imaging and disappearance of WM-associated symptoms is also required for a CR.

There is only limited data on minimal residual disease (MRD) assessment in WM [13], but further studies are strongly encouraged given the prognostic value of MRD assessment in patients with CLL and myeloma [14, 15]. The most appropriate methodology has not yet been established, but multiparameter flow cytometry along with molecular methods utilizing either the MYD88 L265P mutation or the unique immunoglobulin gene sequence are all potentially applicable and have their merits. Prospective evaluation of these techniques is encouraged in clinical studies. Such studies should also evaluate methods that are applicable to the peripheral blood as non-invasive techniques are clearly desirable.

18.2.2 Very Good Partial Response

The VGPR category was introduced in the 2013 criteria [6], as it had been noted that a group of patients with this type of response had comparable prognosis to that of patients in CR [10]. Proposed criteria now suggest, given the large variations in IgM concentrations that occur between patients, that VGPR is defined by the presence of monoclonal IgM on immunofixation and serum IgM within the normal range and/or \geq 90 % reduction in serum IgM. For VGPR, there is no requirement for complete resolution of extramedullary disease or bone marrow confirmation.

18.2.3 Partial Remission

Monoclonal IgM protein is detectable but with >50% but <90% reduction in serum IgM level from baseline and >50% decrease in adenopathy/organomegaly, if present at baseline, on physical examination or on CT scan. No new symptoms or signs of active disease.

18.2.4 Minor Response

MR was also introduced in the 2013 criteria and is defined by a >25 % but <50 % reduction in serum IgM level from baseline. This category was introduced as a consequence of data that demonstrated an outcome benefit over non-responders [9, 10].

18.2.5 Stable Disease and Non-response

SD is defined as those patients who do not meet the criteria for either MR or progressive disease (PD). This category will largely consist of patients who have not experienced any symptomatic benefit and who require alternative treatment and are, thus, considered as "non-responders". It may be appropriate to define non-response as lack of at least a MR following a minimum of 3 months therapy.

Repeat marrow assessment may be of value in this context particularly with treatments associated with slow or delayed IgM responses and selective bone marrow B-cell depletion (see below).

18.2.6 Progressive Disease

Progressive disease is defined by an increase of at least 25 % in IgM compared to the lowest recorded level (nadir) and needs to be confirmed by a repeat assessment. An absolute increase of at least 5 g/l is required to define progression, when the IgM level is the only applicable criterion.

The development of new signs and symptoms should be suspicious for progression, even in the absence of IgM increase. However, PD requires the demonstration that new symptoms are specifically due to WM and not to other causes such as treatment toxicity and other co-morbidities. In case of unclear anaemia and/or thrombocytopenia, a bone marrow evaluation is required to reaffirm or exclude progressive/refractory disease.

A new enlarged lymph node and/or progressive lymphadenopathy may require biopsy to confirm progressive disease. Histological transformation, Bing–Neel syndrome and the development of amyloidosis are all considered as progressive disease.

18.3 Survival Outcome Definitions and Other Efficacy Endpoints

The proposed efficacy measures for clinical trials are defined in Table 18.2. At this time, progression-free survival (PFS) remains the most appropriate primary survival outcome measure for use in clinical trials.

| Endpoint | Definition |
|-------------------------------------|--|
| Overall survival | Time from the initiation of treatment to death from any cause |
| Cause-specific survival | Time from the initiation of treatment to death censoring for deaths from unrelated causes |
| Progression-free survival (PFS)) | Time from the initiation of treatment to disease progression or death from any cause |
| Time to progression (TTP) | Time from the initiation of treatment to disease progression with deaths due to unrelated causes censored |
| Disease-free survival (DFS) | Time from the first documentation of CR to disease progression with deaths due to unrelated causes censored |
| Duration of response (DOR) | Time from the first documentation of response to disease progression with deaths due to unrelated causes censored |
| Time to next treatment (TTNT) | Time from the initiation of treatment to initiation of next line of therapy |

 Table 18.2
 Survival outcome definitions and other efficacy endpoints

Data regarding time to achieve best response and time to next line of treatment (TTNT) are also important efficacy measures for patients with WM.

Overall survival (OS) is clearly a relevant criterion to report, but it is becoming increasingly difficult to interpret as patients may receive novel effective therapies at disease progression. Moreover, mortality unrelated to WM is a significant confounding factor especially for older patients [16, 17] and cause-specific survival is, therefore, of interest.

Disease-free survival (DFS) is often reported for patients achieving CR, while duration of response (DOR) is applicable for all responding patients.

18.4 Specific Comments for Response Evaluation in WM

18.4.1 Monoclonal Immunoglobulin M

Sequential quantitative assessment of IgM is the principal response measure in WM. Quantitative IgM responses are determined either by M protein quantitation or total serum IgM quantitation. Total IgM values as assessed by nephelometry are systematically higher than M protein values determined by densitometry [18, 19]. It is, therefore, crucial that sequential response assessments for individual patients are performed in the same laboratory with the same methodology (i.e. densitometry or nephelometry).

The percentage reduction in IgM has been demonstrated to predict progressionfree survival (PFS) in patients treated with rituximab-based regimens [9, 10]. It remains unclear whether this is also predictive of overall survival outcome, as patients at progression may now receive highly active therapeutic agents leading to increase in overall survival [17].

The kinetics of IgM response can vary considerably with treatment. IgM reduction may be seen late with alkylating agents, purine analogues and monoclonal anti-CD20 antibodies (rituximab and ofatumumab) [20–22] and is mostly more rapid with bortezomib- and ibrutinib-based therapies [11, 23–25]. Another factor to consider is the "IgM flare" phenomenon, which has been described largely not only in the context of therapy with single agent rituximab [26] but also transient rising in IgM during temporary drug holds (as for surgery) with ibrutinib.

Discrepancies can be found between IgM and lymph node/bone marrow responses. For instance, purine analogue-based therapies may be associated with significant bone marrow response, but suboptimal IgM response [21, 27], while bortezomib and everolimus can be associated with excellent IgM response, but discordant marrow and tissue responses [23, 28].

A number of studies have shown the serum free light chain assay and the hevylite assay to be informative in WM [29–32]. There is, however, insufficient data to support their inclusion in the consensus criteria and further prospective study is encouraged. The serum free light chain assay is, however, useful in the monitoring of patients with WM-related amyloidosis and those rare patients with light chain associated cast nephropathy [33].

18.4.2 Bone Marrow

The assessment of bone marrow post-treatment is of value for response evaluation in WM, but is only mandatory for confirmation of a CR. Heterogeneity in marrow responses has been shown after some therapies, particularly those containing monoclonal antibodies, alkylating agents and purine analogues [21, 27]. These therapies appear to deplete the B-cell component, but spare the plasma cell component which may explain at least in part the delayed IgM responses seen with such therapies [20–22]. The CD20-positive clonal B-cells are often depleted after rituximab therapy, while CD138-positive clonal plasma cells may persist, which may influence disease phenotype at relapse/progression and subsequent choice of therapy.

Morphological quantitation of disease on trephine biopsies is subjective and is unlikely to be reproducible across institutions and is not used for categorization of response in WM. Flow cytometry can be used to quantitate residual B-cells and might be applicable to WM patients on the basis of the WM-specific CD22^{weak} CD25+ immunophenotype [34]. In this setting, Garcia-Sanz and colleagues have demonstrated that a residual B-cell burden of >5% is associated with an inferior outcome [13].

Thus, accurate and reproducible quantitative methods are desirable in WM and planned sequential marrow assessments are encouraged in all clinical trials. Also, molecular methods utilizing either the MYD88 L265P mutation or the unique immunoglobulin gene sequence are potentially applicable.

18.4.3 Lymph Nodes/Splenomegaly

Regress of measurable/palpable lymphadenopathy/splenomegaly is considered indicative of a response to therapy in WM, but the impact on survival outcomes has not been established. In the updated Lugano criteria [7], a pathologic lymph node is defined by a longest dimension of >15 mm and pathological splenomegaly by a longitudinal measurement of >13 cm and response to therapy is evaluated with PET/CT. In WM, lymphadenopathy is documented in only around 15 % of newly diagnosed patients, but is more common if a CT is performed, as well as in patients with advanced disease and those without the MYD88 L265P mutation [8, 11, 35–37]. Evidence is, however, lacking for the need of CT and PET imaging for most categorical responses, and currently, CT is recommended only for the confirmation of CR in patients with evaluable nodal and/or splenic disease.

In WM patients with a suspected histologic transformation to a more aggressive disease, PET/CT might be useful to guide biopsy, like in patients with other indolent lymphoproliferative disorders [38, 39].

18.4.4 Haemopoietic Recovery

Incomplete or suboptimal haemopoietic recovery remains a difficult issue in WM response assessment since some treatments may themselves impact haemopoietic recovery. Anaemia remains one of the principal indications for therapy in clinical trials and the impact of therapy on haemoglobin should be recorded in parallel to conventional categorical response.

18.5 Conclusions

Evidence-based data for response evaluation in WM patients are still in progress. The updated consensus panel response definitions include evaluation of the monoclonal immunoglobulin M in serum, the tumour burden in bone marrow and in extramedullary sites and symptoms of disease. The value of quantitative assessment of the tumour in bone marrow, imaging techniques for extramedullary/nodal disease and assessment of haematological response is still under discussion. New biomarkers such as MYD88, CXCR4 and other mutations and exploratory endpoints associated with clinical benefit/improvement will need further studies.

References

- Owen RG, Treon SP, Al-Katib A, et al. Clinicopathological definition of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: consensus panel recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):110–5.
- Swerdlow SH. WHO classification of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues, vol.
 Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008.
- Treon SP, Xu L, Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Cao Y, Sheehy P, Manning RJ, Patterson CJ, Tripsas C, Arcaini L, Pinkus GS, Rodig SJ, Sohani AR, Harris NL, Laramie JM, Skifter DA, Lincoln SE, Hunter ZR. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(9):826–33.
- 4. Weber D, Treon SP, Emmanouilides C, Branagan AR, Byrd JC, Bladé J, Kimby E. Uniform response criteria in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: consensus panel recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:127–31.
- 5. Kimby E, Treon SP, Anagnostopoulos A, Dimopoulos M, Garcia-Sanz R, Gertz MA, Johnson S, LeBlond V, Fermand JP, Maloney DG, Merlini G, Morel P, Morra E, Nichols G, Ocio EM, Owen R, Stone M, Bladé J. Update on recommendations for assessing response from the Third International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2006;6(5):380–3.
- 6. Owen RG, Kyle RA, Stone MJ, Rawstron AC, Leblond V, Merlini G, Garcia-Sanz R, Ocio EM, Morra E, Morel P, Anderson KC, Patterson CJ, Munshi NC, Tedeschi A, Joshua DE, Kastritis E, Terpos E, Ghobrial IM, Leleu X, Gertz MA, Ansell SM, Morice WG, Kimby E, Treon SP. Response assessment in Waldenström macroglobulinaemia: update from the VIth International Workshop. Br J Haematol. 2013;160(2):171–6.
- Cheson BD, Fisher RI, Barrington SF, Cavalli F, Schwartz LH, Zucca E, Lister TA. Recommendations for initial evaluation, staging, and response assessment of Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphoma: the Lugano classification. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(27):3059–68.

- Morel P, Duhamel A, Gobbi P, Dimopoulos MA, Dhodapkar MV, McCoy J, Crowley J, Ocio EM, Garcia-Sanz R, Treon SP, Leblond V, Kyle RA, Barlogie B, Merlini G. International prognostic scoring system for Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;113 (18):4163–70.
- Gertz MA, Abonour R, Heffner LT, Greipp PR, Uno H, Rajkumar SV. Clinical value of minor responses after 4 doses of rituximab in Waldenström macroglobulinaemia: a follow-up of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group E3A98 trial. Br J Haematol. 2009;147:677–80.
- 10. Treon SP, Yang G, Hanzis C, Ioakimidis L, Verselis SJ, Fox EA, Xu L, Hunter ZR, Tseng H, Manning RJ, Patterson CJ, Sheehy P, Turnbull B. Attainment of complete/very good partial response following rituximab-based therapy is an important determinant to progression-free survival, and is impacted by polymorphisms in FCGR3A in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia. Br J Haematol. 2011;154(2):223–8.
- Treon SP, Xu L, Hunter Z, et al. MYD88 mutations and response to ibrutinib in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:584–6.
- Hunter ZR, Manning RJ, Hanzis C, Ciccarelli BT, Ioakimidis L, Patterson CJ, Lewicki MC, Tseng H, Gong P, Liu X, Zhou Y, Yang G, Sun J, Xu L, Sheehy P, Morra M, Treon SP. IgA and IgG hypogammaglobulinemia in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Haematologica. 2010;95 (3):470–5.
- 13. García-Sanz R, Ocio E, Caballero A, Magalhães RJP, Alonso J, López-Anglada L, Villaescusa T, Puig N, Hernández JM, Fernández-Calvo J, Aguilar A, Martín A, López R, Paiva B, Orfao A, Vidriales B, San-Miguel JF, Del Carpio D. Post-treatment bone marrow residual disease >5% by flow cytometry is highly predictive of short progression-free and overall survival in patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:168.
- Böttcher S, Ritgen M, Kneba M. Flow cytometric MRD detection in selected mature B-cell malignancies. Methods Mol Biol. 2013;971:149–74.
- 15. Rawstron AC, Böttcher S, Letestu R, Villamor N, Fazi C, Kartsios H, de Tute RM, Shingles J, Ritgen M, Moreno C, Lin K, Pettitt AR, Kneba M, Montserrat E, Cymbalista F, Hallek M, Hillmen P, Ghia P. European research initiative in CLL Improving efficiency and sensitivity: European research initiative in CLL (ERIC) update on the international harmonised approach for flow cytometric residual disease monitoring in CLL. Leukemia. 2013;27(1):142–9.
- 16. Kastritis E, Kyrtsonis MC, Morel P, Gavriatopoulou M, Hatjiharissi E, Symeonidis AS, Vassou A, Repousis P, Delimpasi S, Sioni A, Michalis E, Michael M, Vervessou E, Voulgarelis M, Tsatalas C, Terpos E, Dimopoulos MA. Competing risk survival analysis in patients with symptomatic Waldenström macroglobulinemia: the impact of disease unrelated mortality and of rituximab-based primary therapy. Haematologica. 2015;100(11):e446–9.
- 17. Castillo JJ, Olszewski AJ, Kanan S, Meid K, Hunter ZR, Treon SP. Overall survival and competing risks of death in patients with Waldenström macroglobulinaemia: an analysis of the surveillance, epidemiology and end results database. Br J Haematol. 2015;169(1):81–9.
- Riches PG, Sheldon J, Smith AM, Hobbs JR. Overestimation of monoclonal immunoglobulin by immunochemical methods. Ann Clin Biochem. 1991;28(Pt 3):253–9.
- Murray DL, Ryu Snyder MR, Katzmann JA. Quantitation of serum monoclonal proteins: relationship between agarose gel electrophoresis and immunonephelometry. Clin Chem. 2009;55(8):1523–9.
- Del Giudice I, Matutes E, Osuji N, Parry-Jones N, Swansbury J, Catovsky D. Delayed response to fludarabine in lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Haematologica. 2005;90:268–70.
- Varghese AM, Rawstron AC, Ashcroft AJ, Moreton P, Owen RG. Assessment of bone marrow response in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9:53–5.
- 22. Tedeschi A, Benevolo G, Varettoni M, Battista ML, Zinzani PL, Visco C, Meneghini V, Pioltelli P, Sacchi S, Ricci F, Nichelatti M, Zaja F, Lazzarino M, Vitolo U, Morra E. Fludarabine plus cyclophosphamide and rituximab in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia:

an effective but myelosuppressive regimen to be offered to patients with advanced disease. Cancer. 2012;118(2):434–43.

- 23. Chen CI, Kouroukis CT, White D, Voralia M, Stadtmauer E, Stewart AK, Wright JJ, Powers J, Walsh W, Eisenhauer E, National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. Bortezomib is active in patients with untreated or relapsed Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a phase II study of the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(12):1570–5.
- 24. Treon SP, Ioakimidis L, Soumerai JD, Patterson CJ, Sheehy P, Nelson M, et al. Primary therapy of Waldenströmmacroglobulinemia with bortezomib, dexamethasone, and rituximab: WMCTG clinical trial 05–180. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:3830–35.
- 25. Dimopoulos MA, García-Sanz R, Gavriatopoulou M, Morel P, Kyrtsonis MC, Michalis E, Kartasis Z, Leleu X, Palladini G, Tedeschi A, Gika D, Merlini G, Kastritis E, Sonneveld P. Primary therapy of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia (WM) with weekly bortezomib, low-dose dexamethasone, and rituximab (BDR): long-term results of a phase 2 study of the European Myeloma Network (EMN). Blood. 2013;122(19):3276–82.
- 26. Ghobrial IM, Fonseca R, Greipp PR, Blood E, Rue M, Vesole DH, Gertz MA, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. Initial immunoglobulin M'flare' after rituximab therapy in patients diagnosed with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: an eastern cooperative oncology group study. Cancer. 2004;101(11):2593–8.
- Barakat FH, Medeiros LJ, Wei EX, Konoplev S, Lin P, Jorgensen JL. Residual monotypic plasma cells in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia after therapy. Am J Clin Pathol. 2011;135:365–73.
- Treon SP, Hunter ZR, Matous J, Joyce RM, Mannion B, Advani R, Cook D, Songer J, Hill J, Kaden BR, Sharon D, Steiss R, Leleu X, Branagan AR, Badros A. Multicenter clinical trial of bortezomib in relapsed/refractory Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: results of WMCTG Trial 03–248. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(11):3320–5.
- Itzykson R, Le Garff-Tavernier M, Katsahian S, Diemert MC, Musset L, Leblond V. Serumfree light chain elevation is associated with a shorter time to treatment in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Haematologica. 2008;93(5):793–4.
- 30. Leleu X, Moreau A-S, Weller E, Roccaro AM, Coiteux V, Manning R, Nelson M, Leduc R, Robu D, Dupire S, Hatjiharissi E, Burwick N, Darre S, Hennache B, Treon SP, Facon T, Gertz MA, Ghobrial IM. Serum immunoglobulin free light chain correlates with tumor burden markers in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2008;49:1104–7.
- 31. Leleu X, Xie W, Bagshaw M, Banwait R, Leduc R, Roper N, Weller E, Ghobrial IM. The role of serum immunoglobulin free light chain in response and progression in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17:3013–8.
- 32. Leleu X, Koulieris E, Maltezas D, Itzykson R, Xie W, Manier S, Dulery R, Boyle E, Gauthier J, Poulain S, Tatiana T, Panayiotidis P, Bradwell AR, Harding S, Leblond V, Kyrtsonis M-C, Ghobrial IM. Novel M-component based biomarkers in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma, Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:164–7.
- Gnemmi V, Leleu X, Provot F, Moulonguet F, Buob D, et al. Cast nephropathy and light-chain deposition disease in Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Am J Kidney Dis. 2012;60(3):487–91.
- 34. Paiva B, Montes MC, García-Sanz R, Ocio EM, Alonso J, de Las HN, Escalante F, Cuello R, de Coca AG, Galende J, Hernández J, Sierra M, Martin A, Pardal E, Bárez A, Alonso J, Suarez L, González-López TJ, Perez JJ, Orfao A, Vidríales MB, San Miguel JF. Multiparameter flow cytometry for the identification of the Waldenström's clone in IgM-MGUS and Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia: new criteria for differential diagnosis and risk stratification. Leukemia. 2014;28(1):166–73.
- 35. Jiménez C, Sebastián E, Chillón MC, Giraldo P, Mariano Hernández J, Escalante F, González-López TJ, Aguilera C, de Coca AG, Murillo I, Alcoceba M, Balanzategui A, Sarasquete ME, Corral R, Marín LA, Paiva B, Ocio EM, Gutiérrez NC, González M, San Miguel JF, García-Sanz R. MYD88 L265P is a marker highly characteristic of, but not restricted to Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Leukemia. 2013;27(8):1722–8.

- 36. Banwait R, O'Regan K, Campigotto F, Harris B, Yarar D, Bagshaw M, Leleu X, Leduc R, Ramaiya N, Weller E, Ghobrial IM. The role of 18F-FDG PET/CT imaging in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol. 2011;86:567–72.
- 37. Treon SP, Cao Y, Xu L, Yang G, Liu X, Hunter ZR. Somatic mutations in MYD88 and CXCR4 are determinants of clinical presentation and overall survival in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2014;123(18):2791–6.
- 38. Falchi L, Keating MJ, Marom EM, Truong MT, Schlette EJ, Sargent RL, Trinh L, Wang X, Smith SC, Jain N, Estrov Z, O'Brien S, Wierda WG, Lerner S, Ferrajoli A. Correlation between FDG/PET, histology, characteristics, and survival in 332 patients with chronic lymphoid leukemia. Blood. 2014;123(18):2783–90.
- 39. Papajík T, Mysliveček M, Urbanová R, Buriánková E, Kapitáňová Z, Procházka V, Turcsányi P, Formánek R, Henzlová L, Flodr P, Jarošová M, Indrák K. 2-[18F]fluoro-2deoxy-D-glucose positron emission tomography/computed tomography examination in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia may reveal Richter transformation. Leuk Lymphoma. 2014;55(2):314–9.

Part VI

Prognostic Factors

Risk Stratification in Waldenström Macroglobulinemia

Pierre Morel and Bénédicte Hivert

19.1 Introduction

Waldenström macroglobulinemia (WM) is a rare lymphoproliferative disorder characterized by the production of serum monoclonal immunoglobulin (Ig) M and lymphoplasmacytic (LPL) bone marrow infiltration [1, 2]. Whole genome sequencing identified a new specific molecular abnormality, the MYD88^{L265P} mutation, in up to 90 % of patients as discussed elsewhere. These molecular studies also identified other abnormalities in a significant proportion of patients, such as mutations in the TNFAIP gene and the CXCR4 gene [3]. Median age at diagnosis is around 65 years in most series [4–10].

Assessing the prognosis in WM is not an easy issue. First, the patterns of evolution are very heterogeneous; for example, at least 25% of patients are asymptomatic at diagnosis and 50% of asymptomatic patients who are observed will not require therapy within 3 years [5, 11]; one in 10 within 10 years [5, 11]. Furthermore, the availability of many effective therapies during the recent years likely improved the outcome and survival; thus, the events required for the power of statistical tests or estimates are less and less frequent and consequently, more and more prolonged follow-up is mandatory. In addition, a multiplicity of events besides the progression of the disease such as treatment-related late adverse events

B. Hivert Service d'Hématologie, Centre Hospitalier Schaffner, Lens, France

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

P. Morel (🖂)

Service d'Hématologie, Centre Hospitalier Schaffner, Lens, France

Department of Biostatistics, Equipe d'Accueil 2694, University Lille Nord de France, Lille, France

Service d'Hématologie Clinique et Thérapie Cellulaire, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire d'Amiens, Amiens, France

e-mail: Morel.Pierre@chu-amiens.fr

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_19

or unrelated comorbidities may occur more and more frequently during this prolonged follow-up.

19.2 Overall Survival Estimates

Median overall survival (OS) ranged from 60 to 77 months in patients who received alkylating agent or purine analogs alone as first-line therapy, with 10 year OS estimates at 41 % [4, 6, 12–14]. In a large population-based study of 1555 patients with LPL and WM diagnosed in Sweden from 1980 to 2005, 1- and 5-year relative survival rates improved significantly during the study period in all age groups. Patients diagnosed after 2000 had significantly lower excess mortality compared with patients diagnosed in the preceding periods [15]. Similarly, median overall survival of 5784 WM patients diagnosed between 1991 and 2010 from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) database was 6 and 8 years for the 1991–2000 and the 2001–2010 periods, respectively. Thus, the former estimate was in agreement with previous estimates. Symptomatic and asymptomatic patients were not recognizable in these studies and the lead-time bias (i.e., smaller follow-up and exposure time to events in recent patients) may be an unavoidable limit of these comparisons [16].

In contrast with previous studies, no survival improvement was observed when comparing the outcomes of patients with symptomatic WM who started treatment before January 1, 2000 (mainly with alkylating agent-based regimens) and patients who started treatment later (mainly with rituximab-based regimens) [17]. The prolonged and indolent course of WM in some patients, the limited effectiveness of initial therapy in other patients with high-risk disease, may explain this disappointing result because of an insufficient follow-up duration in former patients or the persistence of a subset of latter patients refractory to rituximab-based regimen.

In addition, the advanced age of a large subset of patients is associated with the presence of competing causes of death unrelated to the disease. Unrelated deaths and progression of the WM with symptoms related to marrow failure or transformation to high grade lymphoma are the main causes of death [5, 6]. Second malignancy and infection were the causes of 31 and 19% of deaths recorded in the Spanish series [5]. Transformation to high grade lymphoma occurred in approximately 2 % of patients [5, 18, 19] and solid tumors in 10–14 % of patients during the follow-up of patients with WM [5, 6, 18, 20] or even before the diagnosis [6]. Cumulative incidence of solid cancer and second malignancy has been estimated 17 and 8% at 15 years, respectively, with an overall risk of second cancer in WM 1.69 times higher than expected (P = 0.002). WM patients were at increased risk for diffuse large B-cell lymphoma [standardized incidence ratio (SIR) 9.24, P < 0.0001, myelodysplastic syndrome/acute myeloid leukemia (SIR) 8.4, P < 0.0001), and brain cancer (SIR 8.05, P = 0.0004) [18] without clearly identified risk factor [18, 21]. For this reason, disease-specific survival has been considered as an appropriate endpoint because it controls many unrelated deaths [5, 9, 22]. However, related and unrelated deaths may be very difficult to distinguish for many (16%) elderly patients because of the various disease-related complications that may occur during the course of the disease [6]. In the recently published analysis of SEER data, only death from leukemia, lymphoma, or myeloma was considered WM related and 29 % of causes of death were undefined. With these assumptions, the competing-risk analysis identified a significant relative improvement in WM-related as well as non-WM-related deaths during the last decade. In a Greek study, WM related causes of death were those due to progressive disease, transformation (myelodysplastic syndrome or diffuse large B-cell lymphoma), infections, or treatment-related complications. There was no difference in the crude mortality between patients who received primary therapy with rituximab and those who did not. However, patients who did not receive primary therapy with rituximab had significantly higher 5-year WM-related death rate than patients who received rituximab-based therapy but significantly lower 5-year WM-unrelated death rate, probably because more elderly and frail patients had received primary therapy with rituximab. The comparison of relative mortality of this subgroup of symptomatic patients with that observed in a general population of individuals with similar age and gender distribution may also accurately express the effects of the disease [23, 24].

Altogether, these data suggest that survival estimates should be considered very cautiously for estimating survival of currently managed patients. As indicated above, the downward trend in the occurrence of WM-related events and the improvement of outcome of the general population are associated with a trend upward of follow-up duration required for getting the required number of events for accurate estimates. Therefore, the treatment of patients enrolled in a prognostic study is frequently different from that proposed at the time of its publication. This is an unavoidable limitation in the clinical usefulness of available survival estimates.

19.3 Prognostic Value of the Presence of at Least One of the Criteria for Initiating Therapy

More than 10 years ago, a consensus panel agreed that initiation of therapy was appropriate for patients with constitutional symptoms, progressive or symptomatic lymphadenopathy or splenomegaly, anemia with a hemoglobin value of 10 g/dL or lower, thrombocytopenia with a platelet count lower than 100×10^9 /L due to marrow infiltration, hyperviscosity syndrome, symptomatic sensorimotor peripheral neuropathy, systemic amyloidosis, renal insufficiency, or symptomatic cryoglobulinemia [25]. The presence of at least one of these initiation treatment criteria is a strong prognostic factor that should be systematically taken into account in prognostic studies: Asymptomatic WM had a mortality rate equivalent to that of the general population, whereas the standardized mortality ratio of patients with symptomatic WM was 5.4 [24]. However, some of the treatment initiation criteria (lymphadenopathy or splenomegaly, hyperviscosity syndrome, constitutional symptoms, IgM-related disorder) retained no prognostic role in most studies designed in symptomatic patients only [10].

19.4 Risk Assessment in Asymptomatic Patients

Asymptomatic WM is defined as a serum IgM monoclonal protein concentration of 3 g/dL or higher and/or bone marrow lymphoplasmacytic infiltration of 10% or greater and no evidence of criteria for initiating therapy. The risk of progression of asymptomatic to symptomatic Waldenström macroglobulinemia has been estimated 6% per year, and progression within 5 years had been observed in 55% of patients with asymptomatic Waldenström macroglobulinemia [26]. Twenty-one percent of the previously untreated asymptomatic patients enrolled in the prospective SWOG study [8] required therapy later, with a median follow-up of 100 months. The median time to evolution has been estimated 46–141.5 months for indolent WM [26–28]. Main variables adversely related to evolution were high monoclonal IgM [26–28], hemoglobin concentrations [27, 28], the degree of bone marrow infiltration [26], and the degree of reduction of uninvolved Ig [26, 27]. In addition, a significant correlation between initial free light chain serum concentration and time to treatment initiation was observed in asymptomatic patients (p = 0.047) [29].

19.5 Prognostic Factors in Symptomatic WM

Response rates between 26 and 92 % and from 55 to 96 % have been reported after single-agent first-line therapy [4, 8, 13, 30–33] and combination chemotherapy or chemo-immunotherapy, respectively [34–42]. Median response durations and/or progression-free survival (PFS) from 7 to 29 months have been observed in most reports on single-agent regimen [4, 8, 13, 31, 43–46]. These endpoints were around 36 months after purine analogs alone [47] and up to 42 months after chemo-immunotherapy [34, 39–42, 48].

Most prognostic studies focused on overall survival. Despite the description of treatment initiation criteria, many studies have pooled symptomatic and asymptomatic patients. The cutoff values and the statistical significance would probably have been different if studies had focused on the two main categories of WM patients, namely asymptomatic or symptomatic patients only.

The main adverse prognostic factors were older age [4–7, 9, 10, 23, 49, 50], anemia [4–8, 10, 23, 50], low albumin serum concentrations [6, 8, 23], high β 2-microglobulin (β 2M) values [5, 8, 9, 51], leukopenia [4, 6, 9], and thrombocytopenia [4, 6, 7, 9, 49, 50]. The different cutoff values associated with these covariates are summarized in Table 19.1.

An adverse prognostic value has been reported also in association with the following characteristics: a poor performance status (World Health Organization criteria) more than 1 [9, 49], hepatomegaly [5, 6], organomegaly, splenomegaly [9], 2 cytopenias or pancytopenia [6, 49], cryoglobulinemia [7, 23], male gender [4, 6], hyperviscosity [5, 9], urine monoclonal component [5], C-Reactive protein more than 1 mg/L [8], the presence of constitutional symptoms or weight loss [4, 5, 7], and a diffuse pattern of bone marrow histology [49].

| | | Prognostic information (hazard ratio) | | |
|-------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|-------------------------|--|
| Characteristics | Cutoff | Treated patients only | All patients | |
| Advanced age | >60 years | 2.85 [4] | 2.28 [4] | |
| | >65 years | 1.95 [50]; | 1.7 [6]; | |
| | | 2.5 [10]; | 2.6 [5] | |
| | | 2.5 [9] | | |
| | >70 years | 3.15 [7]; | | |
| | | 2 [8] | | |
| Low hemoglobin concentration | <9 g/dL | 1.95 [7] | | |
| | <10 g/dL | 2.28 [4]; | 2.32 [4] | |
| | | 1.28 [50]; | | |
| | | 1.4 [9] | | |
| | <10.5 g/dL | | 2.49 [5] | |
| | <11.5 g/dL | 1.7 [10] | | |
| | <12 g/dL | 1.9 [8] | 2.18 [6] | |
| Low platelet count | $<100 \times 10^{9} / \text{mm}^{3}$ | 1.94 [50]; | | |
| | | 1.76 [10] | | |
| | $<150 \times 10^{9} / \text{mm}^{3}$ | 2.27 [4]; | 2.4 [4]; | |
| | | 1.6 [9] | 1.67 [<mark>6</mark>] | |
| Low absolute neutrophil count | $< 1.5 \times 10^{9} / \text{mm}^{3}$ | 1.93 [10] | | |
| High β2-microglobulin | >3 mg/L | 2,5 [8]; | | |
| | | 1.93 [10] | | |
| | >4 mg/L | 1.45 [51] | | |
| | Continuous | 1.4 [9] | | |
| Low serum albumin | <40 g/L | 2 [9] | | |
| concentration | <35 g/L | 1.45 [50]; | | |
| | | 1.34 [10]; | | |
| | | 1.7 [8] | | |
| Monoclonal IgM concentration | <40 g/L | 2.4 [8] | | |
| | >45 g/L | | 2.48 [5] | |
| | \geq 25 g/L | | 1.15 [<mark>6</mark>] | |
| | ≥70 g/L | 1.83 [10] | | |

Table 19.1 Hazard ratio associated with main clinical prognostic factors in WM patients at the time of first-line therapy

Abbreviations: IgM immunoglobulin M, HR hazard ratio

^aAll series included more than 200 patients, except [4, 7, 50] 122-167 patients

The international prognostic scoring system for WM (IPSSWM) has been designed only to predict survival after first-line therapy in symptomatic patients [10] in a series of 587 patients mainly treated with alkylating agent (63%) or purine analog (33%). Besides most of the adverse features listed above (age more than 65 years, hemoglobin less than or equal to 11.5 g/dL, platelet count less than or equal to 100×10^9 /L, β 2M more than 3 mg/L), IPSSWM also takes into account monoclonal IgM serum concentration more than 70 g/L for identifying three risk groups with significantly different 5-year survival rates [10]. Besides age, all other prognostic factors included in the IPSSWM indicate the presence of a high tumor

burden. IPSSWM and most other prognostic systems identified only limited subgroups of young high-risk patients (6–24 % of young patients) [6, 8, 10, 52]. Thus, the rarity of young high-risk patients may be a distribution feature mainly related to the disease itself rather than a drawback of scoring systems. IPSSWM has been validated in patients prospectively treated with alkylating agents and nucleoside analogs [21] and in patients who received rituximab-based therapy [22]. Several studies supported the usefulness of lactate dehydrogenase, mainly in the subgroup of IPSSWM high-risk patients [12, 49, 53].

Besides the clinical features, characteristics of the microenvironment may also play a role in the behavior of tumoral clone. The angiogenin concentration correlated with albumin levels, while vascular endothelial growth factor-A correlated with β 2M. Angiopoietin-1/angiopoietin-2 ratio showed a negative correlation with β 2M and positive correlations with albumin, hemoglobin, and lymphadenopathy [54]. High von Willebrand factor (VWF) concentration has been identified in 59 % of 72 consecutive patients. This characteristic was associated with an adverse survival and survival after first-line treatment. Moreover, VWF antigen (VWF:Ag) level and IPSSWM (or each parameter of this scoring system) retained independent prognostic values. Since IPSSWM was built as a combination of age and covariates mainly related to tumor burden, VWF:Ag may express the presence of a microenvironment favorable to growth and survival of tumor cells. High VWF concentration was associated with chronic endothelial activation, increased bone marrow microvessel density, and the presence of mast cells on vascular endothelial growth factor [55].

Genomic and molecular abnormalities of malignant lymphoplasmacytic cells may also account for the heterogeneity of the disease and provide useful prognostic information (Table 19.2). A 17p13 (TP53) deletion (8 % of the patients) has been associated with a shorter PFS and a shorter disease-free survival and trisomy 12 (less than 5 % of patients) with a shorter PFS (12.2 months versus 31.2) even when adjusting for treatment arm and IPSSWM risk groups [56].

Genetic polymorphisms may also influence the outcome of WM patients. Thus, IL6 (-174G/G) was associated with an adverse survival after first-line therapy only in patients aged 65 years or less, probably because this genotype was associated with young age [57]. The CXCL12 (-801G/G) genotype [58] has been associated also with adverse survival after first-line therapy. The clinical characteristics associated with MYD88^{L265P} mutation and warts, hypogammaglobulinemia, infections and myelokathesis (WHIM) syndrome-like mutations in CXCR4 gene have been evaluated in two studies yet. Treon et al. [6] genotyped lymphoplasmacytic cells from 175 WM patients (symptomatic or asymptomatic). Schmidt et al. reported 90 patients including 51 LPL/WM patients (1 with IgG paraprotein). Both studies reported lower platelet count in MYD88L^{L265P}P/CXCR4^{WHIM} patients. Bone marrow involvement was lower in MYD88^{WT}/CXCR4^{WT} patients and higher in MYD88^{L265P}/CXCR4^{WHIM} patients. Hyperviscosity syndrome was more frequent in the latter patients and absent in the former patients. MYD88^{WT}/ CXCR4^{wT} patients were older in the Treon series; the two patients with this unfrequent genotype of the series of Schmidt had cold agglutinin disease.

| Unfavorable | Population characteristics | | | Prognostic information | | |
|-----------------------------|-------------------------------------|------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--|--|
| characteristics | Nb patients | Disease status | Treatment | Endpoint | Hazard ratio | |
| VWF: Ag > 250% | 10/55 | Symptomatic, first line | Various | OS after first-line | 5.08 | |
| [55] | | | | therapy | | |
| TP53 deletion [56] | 11/140 | Symptomatic, first line | Chlorambucil versus fludarabine | PFS | 1.66 | |
| Trisomy 12 [56] | 6/140 | Symptomatic, first line | Chlorambucil versus fludarabine | PFS | 2.58 | |
| IL6 (-174G/ C) [57] | 22/75 (12/29 in pts aged <65) | Symptomatic, first line | Various | OS after first-line therapy | 4.29 | |
| CXCL12 (-801GG) [58] | 48/82 | Symptomatic, first line | Various | OS after first-line therapy | 8.52 | |
| MYD88 ^{WT} [59] | 15/175 | Symptomatic and asymptomatic | Various | OS | 10.54 (age and B2M adjusted risk of death) | |

Table 19.2 Hazard ratio associated with main biological characteristics in WM patients

Abbreviations: *VWF Ag* von Willebrand factor antigen, *OS* overall survival, *PFS* progression-free survival, *B2M* β 2 microglobulin

MYD88^{L265P}/CXCR4^{WT} patients more frequently presented with lymphadenopathy in both studies; the difference was significant in the Treon's report. Patients with MYD88^{WT}/CXCR4^{WT} had a shorter estimated overall survival (asymptomatic and symptomatic patients were pooled and there was a high proportion of early censored patients at the stopping date of the analysis).

Finally, microRNA expression may also play a prognostic role: decreased expression of six microRNAs significantly correlated with a low IPSSWM risk in a series of 20 patients [60].

19.6 Prognostic Role of Response to Treatment

Response criteria have been defined and updated in the last few years. Briefly, a complete response is defined by the resolution of all symptoms, normalization of serum IgM concentration with complete disappearance of IgM monoclonal protein by immunofixation, a bone marrow biopsy demonstrating no evidence of disease, and resolution of any adenopathy or splenomegaly. A minor response (MR), a partial response (PR), and a very good partial response (VGPR) were defined as achieving a 25-49%, 50-90%, and >90% reduction in serum IgM levels, respectively [61]. However, delayed IgM monoclonal protein responses may cause important difficulties in response assessment [61]. In addition, discrepancies

between the kinetics of serum M protein reduction and the clearance of monoclonal B-cells from the bone marrow have been reported [62]. Nevertheless, the prognostic value of these discrepancies remains to be evaluated.

The prognostic role of response on OS had been reported earlier [4]. On one hand, achievement of at least a VGPR was associated with improved PFS (P < 0.0001) in 159 WM patients who received rituximab-based therapy [63] and in patients who received the fludarabine rituximab combination [35]. No difference in PFS was observed between CR and VGPR [63]. Similarly, a landmark analysis showed the absence of significant difference in subsequent PFS or survival between patients who achieved a negative immunofixation test within the first 6 months after autologous stem-cell transplantation (ASCT) and those patients who retained a positive immunofixation test [64]. On the other hand, patients who achieved a MR have been reported to do as well as those achieving an objective response after rituximab single agent therapy [65]. Furthermore, achieving at least a MR to salvage therapy with fludarabine containing regimen was also significantly associated with prolonged subsequent survival [66].

Using allele-specific PCR assay, MYD88^{L265P} mutation was detectable and quantifiable in the blood of most (97%) untreated WM and 62% of previously treated WM. Similarly to serum IgM, peripheral blood MYD88^{L265P} Δ Ct is correlated to bone marrow disease burden. Peripheral blood MYD88 ^{L265P} Δ Ct correlated also with serum IgM and hemoglobin levels in IgM MGUS and WM patients (including previously treated patients) [67]. Therefore, the prognostic role of the information provided by this test besides serum IgM concentration and bone marrow assessment remains to be evaluated.

Finally, there is probably a need for improving response evaluation, taking the potential prognostic role of bone marrow evaluation and MYD88^{L265P} load into account, in order to express the prognostic consequences of responses achieved with new treatments.

19.7 Risk Factors Associated with Type of Treatment and Predictive Factors of Response

Reports on new treatment approaches provided also valuable prognostic information for response achievement and/or duration of response. Most treatment studies reported prognostic factors similar to covariates included in the IPSSWM. However, specific predictive factors have been identified for cladribine or rituximab single-agent regimen. Most predictive factors for response and/or response duration are summarized in Table 19.3.

Drug resistance was observed in CXCR4^{S338X} cells exposed to Bruton's tyrosine kinase, mammalian target of rapamycin, and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase inhibitors, but not proteasome inhibitors [74]. Indeed, Cao et al. [4] showed that the most common CXCR4^{WHIM}-like somatic mutation in WM (CXCR4^{S338X}), present in up to 30% of WM patients, confers decreased CXCL12-triggered

| and an and an and and and | | | avi ogrooginioning | |
|---|-------------------------------------|--|---|--|
| | | Adverse characteristic for response, r | response duration, or survival | |
| Treatment | Patients | Response rate | Response duration, PFS | Subsequent survival |
| Fludarabine (71 patients) [68] | Previously treated | Short interval between first treatment and fludarabine | | Hemoglobin < 9.5 g/dL, platelet < 75×10^9 /L |
| Fludarabine (182 patients) [8] | Untreated and previously treated | Age \geq 70 years | $\beta 2$ -m $\ge 3 \text{ mg/L}$ and mIgM $< 40 \text{ g/L}$ (PFS) | Age \geq 70 years, previous therapy, disease duration >1 year, $\beta 2$ -m \geq 3 mg/L, mIgM < 40 g/L, and CRP \geq 1 mg/L |
| Fludarabine cyclophosphamide (49 patients) [37] | Untreated and previously treated | | Age > 65 years and mIgM < 40 g/L | Age > 65 years and mIgM < 40 g/L |
| Cladribine (29 patients) [69] | Untreated and previously treated | Low levels of human concentrative nucleoside transporter 1 (hCNT1) | | |
| Cyclophosphamide rituximab fludarabine (43 patients) [70] | Untreated and 1 prior treatment | High β2-m concentration | | |
| Rituximab (58 patients) [30] | Untreated and previously treated | Fcy ReceptorIIIA(F/F) phenotype | | |
| Rituximab (159 patients) [63] | Rituximab-naïve patients | Fcy receptors (FcyR)3A-48 (L/L) and FcyR 3A-158 (F/F) | | |
| Rituximab (51 patients) [32] | Untreated and previously treated | mIgM ≥ 40 g/l and serum albumin < 35 g/L | $mIgM \ge 40 \text{ g/L}$ (TTP) | Serum albumin <35 g/L |
| Bortezomib rituximab (37 patients) [71] | Previously treated | Age >65 years | | |
| Ibrutinib (63 patients) [72] Previously treated | | MYD88 ^{WT} CXCR4 ^{WT} unfavorable; CXCR4 ^{WHIM} unfavorable among MYD88 ^{L265P} patients | High IPSSWM at progression, >3 previous regimen, and MYD88 ^{WT} CXCR4 ^{WT} genotype | |
| Perifosine (37 patients) [73] | Previously treated | | $\beta 2-m > 3.5 mg/L$ | |
| | | | | |

 Table 19.3
 Adverse prognostic factors for treatment effectiveness in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia

Abbreviations: β2-mβ2-microglobulin, mlg M monoclonal immunoglobulin M, CRP C-reactive protein, PFS progression-free survival, TTP time to progression. Only significant tests are reported in table. Predictive factor of a specific treatment are indicated in bold characters CXCR4 internalization, enhanced AKT and ERK activation, and resistance to ibrutinib-triggered apoptosis in WM cells. Similarly, patients with advanced WM and with MYD88^{L265P}/CXCR4^{WT} had significantly higher best serum IgM and hemoglobin response rates and higher major response rates after ibrutinib therapy than patients with MYD88^{L265P}/CXCR4^{WHIM}. However, patients with MYD88^{WT} CXCR4^{WT} retained lower major and overall response rates than remaining MYD88^{L265P} mutated patients.

19.8 Risk Assessment After Relapse or Before Salvage Therapy

In patients with relapsing or refractory WM, overall response rate ranged from 89 to 90% in recently reported trials of bortezomib and rituximab combined with dexamethasone [71], everolimus [75] and in the ibrutinib trial [72]. Median PFS were estimated 15.6, and 21 months in former trials respectively and 2-year was PFS 69% in the latter report.

The SWOG study of the efficacy of fludarabine in WM included untreated and previously treated patients. The hazard ratio associated with previous therapy was estimated 1.61 [8]. Few reports focused on the prognosis after relapses or failures requiring therapy. Levy et al. [76] found a strong prognostic value associated with the Lille scoring system based on the total number of cytopenia (mainly anemia and thrombocytopenia), age, and serum albumin concentration. The prognostic role of IPSSWM has been assessed before salvage therapy including fludarabine in 51 patients [66]. Patients had been more heavily treated before enrollment than patients of the previous report by Levy et al. [76]. Patients at high risk before the initiation of salvage therapy had a shorter subsequent survival than remaining patients (Hazard ratio: 10.18, p = 0.019) without difference in survival of lowand intermediate-risk patients. The prognostic value of IPSSWM in patients with advanced WM has been recently confirmed in the ibrutinib study [72]. Kyriakou et al. analyzed 158 adult patients with WM reported to the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation [64]: chemorefractory disease and a poor performance status at ASCT were associated with higher non-relapse mortality in univariate analysis. Having received at least three treatment lines before ASCT and having chemorefractory disease at ASCT were adverse prognostic factors for response rate after ASCT. Heavily pretreated patients, patients with refractory disease, and those with poor performance status had shorter PFS and OS in univariate analysis.

Future studies should assess the prognostic role of previous therapy because the hazard ratio estimate provided by the SWOG study has probably changed with the use of combination therapy as first-line therapy. In addition, it is conceivable that the type of previous therapy, initial response, and the response duration may also have a prognostic role in addition or in place of clinical covariates assessed at the time of initiation of salvage therapy.

19.9 Conclusion

The identification of asymptomatic and symptomatic disease and the assessment of IPSSWM remain the main tools for prognostic assessment in WM patients and for making treatment decision at the time of the initiation of the first-line therapy. However, therapy options have changed during the last few years. Therefore, available estimates of survival should be taken with caution when used for currently managed patients. IPSSWM has been designed to be improved, with the assessment of biological characteristics of the disease. However, appropriate demonstration of the prognostic role of new characteristics should take into account the information provided by conventional characteristics (symptomatic versus asymptomatic and IPSSWM). In addition, predictive factors and comorbidity assessment should also be considered for treatment decision.

Waiting an efficient surrogate endpoint of OS that could avoid the observation of a more and more prolonged follow-up, a sufficient number of events remains to be reported in prognostic studies. Hopefully, this is now a difficult paradigm because of the availability of very effective new agents.

References

- Owen RG, Treon SP, Al-Katib A, et al. Clinicopathological definition of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: consensus panel recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:110–5.
- Swerdlow SH, Berger F, Pileri SA, et al. Lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. In: Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Harris NL, et al., editors. WHO classification of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2008.
- Treon SP, Xu L, Yang G, et al. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:826–33.
- Facon T, Brouillard M, Duhamel A, et al. Prognostic factors in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a report of 167 cases. J Clin Oncol. 1993;11:1553–8.
- Garcia-Sanz R, Montoto S, Torrequebrada A, et al. Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: presenting features and outcome in a series with 217 cases. Br J Haematol. 2001;115:575–82.
- Morel P, Monconduit M, Jacomy D, et al. Prognostic factors in Waldenström macroglobulinemia: a report on 232 patients with the description of a new scoring system and its validation on 253 other patients. Blood. 2000;96:852–8.
- Gobbi PG, Bettini R, Montecucco C, et al. Study of prognosis in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a proposal for a simple binary classification with clinical and investigational utility. Blood. 1994;83:2939–45.
- Dhodapkar MV, Jacobson JL, Gertz MA, et al. Prognostic factors and response to fludarabine therapy in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: results of United States intergroup trial (Southwest Oncology Group S9003). Blood. 2001;98:41–8.
- Ghobrial IM, Fonseca R, Gertz MA, et al. Prognostic model for disease-specific and overall mortality in newly diagnosed symptomatic patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia. Br J Haematol. 2006;133:158–64.
- Morel P, Duhamel A, Gobbi P, et al. International prognostic scoring system for Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;113:4163–70.
- 11. Gertz MA. Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: 2011 update on diagnosis, risk stratification, and management. Am J Hematol. 2011;86:411–6.

- Dhodapkar MV, Hoering A, Gertz MA, et al. Long-term survival in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: 10-year follow-up of Southwest Oncology Group-directed intergroup trial S9003. Blood. 2009;113:793–6.
- Kyle RA, Greipp PR, Gertz MA, et al. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia: a prospective study comparing daily with intermittent oral chlorambucil. Br J Haematol. 2000;108:737–42.
- 14. Morel P, Merlini G. Risk stratification in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Expert Rev Hematol. 2012;5:187–99.
- Kristinsson SY, Eloranta S, Dickman PW, et al. Patterns of survival in lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: a population-based study of 1555 patients diagnosed in Sweden from 1980 to 2005. Am J Hematol. 2013;88:60–5.
- Castillo JJ, Olszewski AJ, Kanan S, et al. Survival outcomes of secondary cancers in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: An analysis of the SEER database. Am J Hematol. 2015;90:696–701.
- Kastritis E, Kyrtsonis MC, Hatjiharissi E, et al. No significant improvement in the outcome of patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia treated over the last 25 years. Am J Hematol. 2011;86:479–83.
- Varettoni M, Tedeschi A, Arcaini L, et al. Risk of second cancers in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Ann Oncol 2012;23(2):411–415.
- Leleu X, Soumerai J, Roccaro A, et al. Increased incidence of transformation and myelodysplasia/acute leukemia in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia treated with nucleoside analogs. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:250–5.
- Stalnikiewicz L, Carrotte-Lefebvre I, Detourmignies L, et al. Prognostic factors in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: description of the complications during the evolution-preliminary results on 101 patients. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:216–9.
- 21. Leblond V, Lejeune J, Tournilhac O, et al. International phase III study of chlorambucil versus fludarabine as initial therapy for Waldenström's macroglobulinemia and related disorders: results in 414 patients on behalf of FCGCLL/WM, GOELAMS, GELA and NCRI Annals Oncol 2011;22:134.
- 22. Dimopoulos MA, Kastritis E, Delimpassi S, et al. The international prognostic scoring system for Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia is applicable in patients treated with rituximab-based regimens. Haematologica. 2008;93:1420–2.
- Merlini G, Baldini L, Broglia C, et al. Prognostic factors in symptomatic Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:211–5.
- 24. Gobbi PG, Baldini L, Broglia C, et al. Prognostic validation of the international classification of immunoglobulin M gammopathies: a survival advantage for patients with immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance? Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11: 1786–90.
- 25. Kyle RA, Treon SP, Alexanian R, et al. Prognostic markers and criteria to initiate therapy in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: consensus panel recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:116–20.
- Kyle RA, Benson J, Larson D, et al. IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance and smoldering Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009; 9:17–8.
- 27. Cesana C, Miqueleiz S, Bernuzzi P, et al. Smouldering Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: factors predicting evolution to symptomatic disease. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:231–5.
- 28. Baldini L, Goldaniga M, Guffanti A, et al. Immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathies of undetermined significance and indolent Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia recognize the same determinants of evolution into symptomatic lymphoid disorders: proposal for a common prognostic scoring system. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:4662–8.
- 29. Itzykson R, Le Garff-Tavernier M, Katsahian S, et al. Serum-free light chain elevation is associated with a shorter time to treatment in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Haematologica. 2008;93:793–4.

- Treon SP, Hansen M, Branagan AR, et al. Polymorphisms in FcgammaRIIIA (CD16) receptor expression are associated with clinical response to rituximab in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:474–81.
- 31. Chen CI, Kouroukis CT, White D, et al. Bortezomib is active in patients with untreated or relapsed Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a phase II study of the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:1570–5.
- 32. Dimopoulos MA, Alexanian R, Gika D, et al. Treatment of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with rituximab: prognostic factors for response and progression. Leuk Lymphoma. 2004;45: 2057–61.
- 33. Kyrtsonis MC, Vassilakopoulos TP, Angelopoulou MK, et al. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: clinical course and prognostic factors in 60 patients: experience from a single hematology unit. Ann Hematol. 2001;80:722–7.
- Weber DM, Dimopoulos MA, Delasalle K, et al. 2-Chlorodeoxyadenosine alone and in combination for previously untreated Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30: 243–7.
- 35. Treon SP, Branagan AR, Ioakimidis L, et al. Long-term outcomes to fludarabine and rituximab in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;113:3673–8.
- 36. Tam C, Seymour JF, Brown M, et al. Early and late infectious consequences of adding rituximab to fludarabine and cyclophosphamide in patients with indolent lymphoid malignancies. Haematologica. 2005;90:700–2.
- Tamburini J, Levy V, Chaleteix C, et al. Fludarabine plus cyclophosphamide in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: results in 49 patients. Leukemia. 2005;19:1831–4.
- Dimopoulos MA, Hamilos G, Efstathiou E, et al. Treatment of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with the combination of fludarabine and cyclophosphamide. Leuk Lymphoma. 2003;44: 993–6.
- 39. Dimopoulos MA, Garcia-Sanz R, Gavriatopoulou M, et al. Primary therapy of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia (WM) with weekly bortezomib, low-dose dexamethasone, and rituximab (BDR): long-term results of a phase 2 study of the European Myeloma Network (EMN). Blood. 2013;122:3276–82.
- Treon SP, Ioakimidis L, Soumerai JD, et al. Primary therapy of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia with bortezomib, dexamethasone, and rituximab: WMCTG clinical trial 05–180. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:3830–5.
- 41. Kastritis E, Gavriatopoulou M, Kyrtsonis MC, et al. Dexamethasone, rituximab, and cyclophosphamide as primary treatment of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: final analysis of a phase 2 study. Blood. 2015;126:1392–4.
- 42. Ghobrial IM, Xie W, Padmanabhan S, et al. Phase II trial of weekly bortezomib in combination with rituximab in untreated patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol. 2010;85:670–4.
- Johnson SA. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Rev Clin Exp Hematol. 2002;6:421–34. Discussion 449–50.
- 44. Gertz MA, Rue M, Blood E, et al. Multicenter phase 2 trial of rituximab for Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia (WM): an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Study (E3A98). Leuk Lymphoma. 2004;45:2047–55.
- 45. Dimopoulos MA, Zervas C, Zomas A, et al. Treatment of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with rituximab. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20:2327–33.
- 46. Treon SP, Anderson KC. The use of rituximab in the treatment of malignant and nonmalignant plasma cell disorders. Semin Oncol. 2000;27:79–85.
- 47. Leblond V, Levy V, Maloisel F, et al. Multicenter, randomized comparative trial of fludarabine and the combination of cyclophosphamide-doxorubicin-prednisone in 92 patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia in first relapse or with primary refractory disease. Blood. 2001;98:2640–4.

- Dimopoulos MA, Anagnostopoulos A, Kyrtsonis MC, et al. Primary treatment of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia with dexamethasone, rituximab, and cyclophosphamide. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:3344–9.
- Owen RG, Barrans SL, Richards SJ, et al. Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: development of diagnostic criteria and identification of prognostic factors. Am J Clin Pathol. 2001;116:420–8.
- 50. Dimopoulos MA, Hamilos G, Zervas K, et al. Survival and prognostic factors after initiation of treatment in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Ann Oncol. 2003;14:1299–305.
- Anagnostopoulos A, Zervas K, Kyrtsonis M, et al. Prognostic value of serum beta2-microglobulin in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia requiring treatment. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2006;7:205–9.
- 52. Dimopoulos MA, Gertz MA, Kastritis E, et al. Update on treatment recommendations from the Fourth International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27: 120–6.
- 53. Kastritis E, Kyrtsonis MC, Hadjiharissi E, et al. Validation of the international prognostic scoring system (IPSS) for Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia (WM) and the importance of serum lactate dehydrogenase (LDH). Leuk Res. 2010;34:1340–3.
- 54. Anagnostopoulos A, Eleftherakis-Papaiakovou V, Kastritis E, et al. Serum concentrations of angiogenic cytokines in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: the ration of angiopoietin-1 to angiopoietin-2 and angiogenin correlate with disease severity. Br J Haematol. 2007;137: 560–8.
- 55. Hivert B, Caron C, Petit S, et al. Clinical and prognostic implications of low or high level of von Willebrand factor (VWF) in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia (WM) Patients (pts). A Clinicopathological Study on 72 Pts. ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts 116:2438, 2010.
- 56. Nguyen-Khac F, Lejeune J, Chapiro E, et al. Cytogenetic abnormalities in a cohort of 171 patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia before treatment: clinical and biological correlations. ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts 116:801, 2010.
- Poulain S, Dervite I, Leleu X, et al. The IL6(-174G/C) polymorphism is a prognostic factor for survival after treatment initiation in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia patients aged 65 years or less. Haematologica. 2008;93:1109–11.
- Poulain S, Ertault M, Leleu X, et al. SDF1/CXCL12 (-801GA) polymorphism is a prognostic factor after treatment initiation in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Leuk Res. 2009;33: 1204–7.
- Treon SP, Cao Y, Xu L, et al. Somatic mutations in MYD88 and CXCR4 are determinants of clinical presentation and overall survival in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2014; 123:2791–6.
- 60. Roccaro AM, Sacco A, Chen C, et al. microRNA expression in the biology, prognosis, and therapy of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;113:4391–402.
- 61. Kimby E, Treon SP, Anagnostopoulos A, et al. Update on recommendations for assessing response from the Third International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2006;6:380–3.
- Varghese AM, Rawstron AC, Ashcroft AJ, et al. Assessment of bone marrow response in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9:53–5.
- 63. Treon SP, Yang G, Hanzis C, et al. Attainment of complete/very good partial response following rituximab-based therapy is an important determinant to progression-free survival, and is impacted by polymorphisms in FCGR3A in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia. Br J Haematol. 2011;154:223–8.
- 64. Kyriakou C, Canals C, Sibon D, et al. High-dose therapy and autologous stem-cell transplantation in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: the lymphoma working party of the European group for blood and marrow transplantation. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:2227–32.
- 65. Gertz MA, Abonour R, Heffner LT, et al. Clinical value of minor responses after 4 doses of rituximab in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: a follow-up of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group E3A98 trial. Br J Haematol. 2009;147:677–80.

- 66. Hivert B, Tamburini J, Vekhoff A, et al. Prognostic value of the international scoring system and response in patients with advanced Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Haematologica. 2011;96:785–8.
- 67. Xu L, Hunter ZR, Yang G, et al. Detection of MYD88 L265P in peripheral blood of patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Leukemia. 2014;28:1698–704.
- Leblond V, Ben-Othman T, Deconinck E, et al. Activity of fludarabine in previously treated Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a report of 71 cases: Groupe Cooperatif Macroglobulinemie. J Clin Oncol. 1998;16:2060–4.
- 69. Laszlo D, Andreola G, Rigacci L, et al. Rituximab and subcutaneous 2-chloro-2-'-deoxyadenosine combination treatment for patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: clinical and biologic results of a phase II multicenter study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:2233–8.
- 70. Tedeschi A, Benevolo G, Varettoni M, et al. Fludarabine plus cyclophosphamide and rituximab in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: an effective but myelosuppressive regimen to be offered to patients with advanced disease. Cancer [Epub ahead of print]. 2011.
- Ghobrial IM, Hong F, Padmanabhan S, et al. Phase II trial of weekly bortezomib in combination with rituximab in relapsed or relapsed and refractory Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:1422–8.
- Treon SP, Xu L, Xu Z. MYD88 mutations and response to ibrutinib in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:584–6.
- 73. Ghobrial IM, Roccaro A, Hong F, et al. Clinical and translational studies of a phase II trial of the novel oral Akt inhibitor perifosine in relapsed or relapsed/refractory Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16:1033–41.
- 74. Roccaro AM, Sacco A, Jimenez C, et al. C1013G/CXCR4 acts as a driver mutation of tumor progression and modulator of drug resistance in lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. Blood. 2014;123:4120–31.
- 75. Ghobrial IM, Redd R, Armand P, et al. Phase I/II trial of everolimus in combination with bortezomib and rituximab (RVR) in relapsed/refractory Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Leukemia. 2015;29(12):2338–46.
- Levy V, Morel P, Porcher R, et al. Advanced Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: usefulness of Morel's scoring system in establishing prognosis. Haematologica. 2005;90:279–81.

Part VII

Treatment Options and Recommendations

Indications for Treatment of Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia

Robert A. Kyle, Stephen M. Ansell, and Prashant Kapoor

Seventy-two years ago, Jan Gosta Waldenström described two patients with oronasal bleeding, thrombocytopenia, normochromic anemia, elevation of the erythrocyte sedimentation rate, lymphadenopathy, and low serum fibrinogen levels [1]. A large homogeneous gamma globulin component with a sedimentation coefficient of 19–20 and a molecular weight of approximately one million was present in both patients. The serum viscosity was elevated and the serum of one patient precipitated at low temperatures indicating cryoglobulinemia. The serum globulin was subsequently identified as an immunoglobulin and was later designated as IgM. The protein results from the proliferation of clonal cells with lymphocyte and plasmacytoid characteristics. The clone develops from a post-germinal center IgM memory B-cell that has undergone somatic hypermutation but not isotype class switching. The typical immunophenotype consists of surface IgM⁺, CD19⁺, CD20⁺, CD5⁻, CD10⁻, and CD23⁻. Mutation of the MYD88 gene (L265P) is present in approximately 90% of patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (WM) [2]. The presence of C1013G/CXCR4 [warts, hypogammaglobulinemia, infections, and myelokathexis (WHIM)]-mutation is found in 28% of WM patients [3]. Copy number alterations and structural variants have been reported [4]. Paiva et al. have recently reported that specific copy number abnormalities [+4, del (6q23.3–6q25.3), +12, and +18q11–18q23] increase from the precursor states, IgM MGUS and smoldering Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (SWM) [5]. There was considerable overlapping of phenotypic profiles in the three entities.

The diagnosis of Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (WM) depends upon the presence of an IgM monoclonal protein of any size in the serum and 10% or more infiltration of the bone marrow aspirate or biopsy by monoclonal small

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_20

R.A. Kyle, MD (⊠) • S.M. Ansell, MD, PhD • P. Kapoor, MD Division of Hematology, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA e-mail: kyle.robert@mayo.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

lymphocytes and/or plasma cells in an intertrabecular pattern [6]. This is manifested as a lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma.

The onset of WM is usually insidious and the patient complains of slowly developing weakness and fatigue. Constitutional symptoms including fever, night sweats, and weight loss may occur. Chronic oozing of blood from the nose and gums as well as pallor may be noted. Epistaxis and bleeding from the gastrointestinal tract may occur. Hepatomegaly is found in up to 25% of patients at diagnosis, while splenomegaly and generalized lymphadenopathy are slightly less common.

Neurologic abnormalities are found in one-fifth of patients [7]. Peripheral neuropathy is characterized by a distal, symmetric, and slowly progressive sensorimotor process. The lower extremities are usually more involved than the upper extremities. Anti-myelin-associated glycoprotein (anti-MAG) is found in almost one-half of patients with the sensorimotor neuropathy, but the titer of anti-MAG correlates poorly with the clinical features. Infiltration of the meninges by plasmacytoid lymphocytes is uncommon. Retinal vein engorgement with vascular segmentation (sausaging), flame-shaped hemorrhages, and exudates are common with hyperviscosity, but papilledema is rare. Occasionally, diffuse pulmonary infiltrates or masses may be seen. Renal involvement is uncommon. A bleeding diathesis is common and results from interference of the IgM protein with clotting factors and platelet function as well as hyperviscosity.

20.1 Precursor Conditions

20.1.1 IgM Monoclonal Gammopathy of Undetermined Significance

MGUS of the IgM class was recognized in 213 Mayo Clinic patients residing in the 11 counties of Southeastern Minnesota from 1960 to 1994 [8]. The median age at diagnosis was 74 years (range 24–94 years) but only 1% were younger than 40 years and almost two-thirds were older than 70 years. Fifty-eight percent were men. The size of the M protein ranged from unmeasurable (visible on electrophoresis but not quantifiable by densitometry) to 2.6 g/dL with a median of 1.2 g/dL. Fifteen percent of patients had a normal nephelometric IgM value (<300 mg/dL). IgM kappa light chain was found in 70% and lambda in the remaining 30%. Thirty-five percent had a reduction in one or more uninvolved immunoglobulins. Only three patients had more than 100 mg of urinary light chain/24 h. Anemia, thrombocytopenia, or renal insufficiency did not result from WM and was unrelated to the lymphoplasmacytic proliferative process.

These 213 patients were monitored for 1567 person-years during which time 71% died. During follow-up, non-Hodgkin lymphoma developed in 17 persons, WM in 6, AL amyloidosis in 3, and chronic lymphocytic leukemia in 3 persons. The standardized incidence rate of progression was increased 15.9-fold compared to an expected rate of 1.8-fold based upon the Iowa SEER registry (Table 20.1). The cumulative probability of progression to one of these disorders was 10% at 5 years, 18% at 10 years, and 24% at 15 years (Fig. 20.1). The overall average risk of

| Disease progression | Observed | Expected ^a | SIR | 95 % CI |
|------------------------------|----------|-----------------------|------|------------|
| Non-Hodgkin lymphoma | 17 | 1.1 | 14.8 | 8.6–23.7 |
| Amyloidosis | 3 | 0.18 | 16.3 | 3.4-47.5 |
| Macroglobulinemia | 6 | 0.02 | 262 | 96.0-569.5 |
| Chronic lymphocytic leukemia | 3 | 0.53 | 5.7 | 1.2–16.5 |
| Total group | 29 | 1.83 | 15.9 | 11.0-22.8 |

Table 20.1 Observed and expected progression and standardized incidence rates among 213 patients with IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance

MGUS was diagnosed between 1960 and 1994 in patients in southeastern Minnesota

SIR indicates standardized incidence rate; 95 % CI, 95 % confidence interval

^aIowa SEER Registry

This research was originally published in Blood. Kyle RA et al., Long-Term follow-up of IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Blood. 2003;Vol 102:3759–3764. © the American Society of Hematology

progression was approximately 1.5 % per year. Patients were at risk for progression even after having had a stable MGUS for 20 years or more.

It is important to recognize that the rates of death due to cardiovascular or cerebrovascular diseases and nonlymphoid or plasmacytic malignancies were 31% at 5 years, 52% at 10 years, and 65% at 15 years reflecting an older population. In a competitive model, the rates of progression to lymphoplasmacytic malignancies were 8% at 5 years, 12% at 10 years, and 15% at 15 years (Fig. 20.2).

Risk factors for progression consisted of the concentration of the serum M protein at the time of recognition of MGUS (p = 0.03) and the serum albumin value (p = 0.01). These factors were the only independent predictors of progression on multivariate analysis. Reduction in one or more uninvolved immunoglobulins or the presence of a monoclonal light chain in the urine did not appear to be risk factors for progression in this series. The relative risk for progression was directly related to the concentration of the M protein in the serum at the time of recognition of MGUS. The risk of progression to lymphoma or a related malignancy 10 years after recognition of MGUS was 14 % for an initial M protein value of 0.5 g/dL or less but 41 % for those with an initial M protein of 2.5 g/dL (Fig. 20.3).

20.1.2 Smoldering Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia

Virtually all patients with symptomatic WM have passed through IgM MGUS and then SWM, but the latter phase is infrequently recognized. SWM is defined as the presence of a serum IgM monoclonal protein ≥ 3 g/dL and/or ≥ 10 % bone marrow lymphoplasmacytic infiltration without evidence of end-organ damage such as constitutional symptoms, symptomatic lymphadenopathy or hepatosplenomegaly, or hyperviscosity that can be attributed to a lymphoplasmacytic proliferative disorder [6, 9]. Clinically, all patients with SWM have had an IgM MGUS.

Nineteen percent of 452 patients with WM diagnosed at Mayo Clinic appeared to have had SWM. The majority of excluded patients had no bone marrow



Fig. 20.1 Probability of progression in 213 patients. Patients were residents of southeastern Minnesota in whom monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) of IgM class was diagnosed from 1960 through 1994. Curve shows probability of progression of MGUS to lymphoma, Waldenström macroglobulinemia, primary amyloidosis, or chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Bars show 95% confidence intervals. Numbers at bottom of the horizontal axis are numbers of patients at risk at each interval. This research was originally published in Blood. Kyle RA et al., Long-Term follow-up of IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Blood. 2003; Vol 102:3759–3764. © the American Society of Hematology



Fig. 20.2 Competitive model in 213 patients. Patients were residents of southeastern Minnesota in whom monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) of IgM class was diagnosed from 1960 through 1994. Upper curve shows probability of dying of nonlymphoid diseases. Lower curve shows probability of progression to lymphoma or a related disorder. This research was originally published in Blood. Kyle RA et al., Long-Term follow-up of IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Blood. 2003; Vol 102:3759–3764. © the American Society of Hematology

examination results within 30 days of diagnosis and five others were excluded because of biclonal gammopathy. The median age of the 48 documented patients was 63 years with 2 % younger than age 40. Two-thirds were male. Asymptomatic palpable hepatosplenomegaly was present in 20 %, while asymptomatic


Fig. 20.3 Relative risk of disease progression in 213 patients. Patients were residents of southeastern Minnesota in whom monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) of IgM class was diagnosed from 1960 through 1994. Risk is by monoclonal protein value at diagnosis. Error bars show 95 % CI. This research was originally published in *Blood*. Kyle RA et al., Long-Term follow-up of IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. *Blood*. 2003;Vol 102:3759–3764. © the American Society of Hematology

lymphadenopathy was noted in 10% [10]. An initial hemoglobin value < 10 g/dL was the result of unrelated causes and all had < 50 % lymphoplasmacytic infiltration of the bone marrow. The serum monoclonal (M) protein level at diagnosis ranged from 1.5 to 5.2 g/dL (median 3.3 g/dL). IgM kappa was present in 75 %. Levels of uninvolved (background, normal) immunoglobulins were reduced in 47 %. Only five patients had a urine M protein > 200 mg/24 h. Serum albumin ranged from 2.5 to 4.3 g/dL with a median of 3.6 g/dL. Ten percent had a serum albumin level < 3 g/dL. Lymphoplasmacytic infiltration of the bone marrow aspirate and biopsy ranged from 3 to 80 % (median 30 %).

During a median follow-up of 15.4 years, 71% progressed to WM requiring chemotherapy, 1 to AL amyloidosis, and 1 to lymphoma (total progression 75%). One would have expected 0.004 cases of WM on the basis of the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results data. Thus, the relative risk of progression was increased 8034-fold for the whole cohort.

The cumulative probability of progression to symptomatic WM requiring therapy, AL amyloidosis, or lymphoma was 6% at 1 year, 39% at 3 years, 59% at 5 years, and 68% at 10 years (Fig. 20.4). Thus, the cumulative probability of progression was 12% per year for the first 5 years and then 2% per year for the next 5 years.

The percentage of bone marrow lymphoplasmacytic cells, size of the serum monoclonal spike, hemoglobin value, and the presence of IgA reduction were identified as significant factors for progression. The percentage of lymphoplasmacytic infiltration of the bone marrow was the most important risk factor for progression. The size of the serum M protein and hemoglobin value each



Fig. 20.4 Cumulative probability of progression to symptomatic WM requiring therapy, amyloidosis, or lymphoma in the cohort of 48 patients with SWM. This research was originally published in *Blood*. Kyle RA et al., Progression in smoldering Waldenström macroglobulinemia: long-term results. *Blood*. 2012;Vol 119:4462–4466. © the American Society of Hematology

contributed significantly to a model already containing the percentage of lymphoplasmacytic bone marrow cells (Table 20.1).

During the first 5 years, 92% of 13 patients who had 50% or more lymphoplasmacytic cells in the bone marrow at diagnosis progressed, while 46% of those with a bone marrow lymphoplasmacytic infiltration < 50% progressed (p = 0.001) (Fig. 20.5). Sixty-one percent of patients with an M protein ≥ 3 g/dL and 10% or more bone marrow lymphoplasmacytic infiltration progressed at 5 years. The risk of progression at 5 years was 49% for those with an M protein < 3 g/dL and a bone marrow lymphoplasmacytic level $\ge 10\%$. The median level of lymphoplasmacytic infiltration in the bone marrow was 15% in the 12 patients who did not progress during follow-up (Table 20.2).

Seventy-five percent of the 48 patients with SWM died during follow-up. The overall survival of the 48 SWM patients was 83 % at 5 years and 50 % at 9.6 years (Fig. 20.6). Seven patients died of cardiovascular disease or other unrelated disorders before developing WM or a related disorder. The median survival after progression to symptomatic WM was 5.1 years. Only five SWM patients are alive and still at risk for progression; they have been followed for 14–24.6 years [10].

20.1.3 Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia

The clinical features of WM relate to the organs involved. Clinically, it is important to recognize symptoms and signs caused by the clonal neoplastic cells and the rheologic consequences of the monoclonal IgM protein that is produced.

Two-hundred seventeen patients from 46 Spanish institutions diagnosed between 1989 and 1999 fulfilled the WM diagnostic criteria of (1) presence of a serum monoclonal IgM protein of ≥ 3.0 g/dL at diagnosis and (2) a bone marrow containing > 20 % lymphocytes or > 5 % lymphoplasmacytes [7]. Twenty-eight



Fig. 20.5 Probability of progression to symptomatic WM requiring therapy on the basis of lymphoplasmacytic bone marrow infiltration. This research was originally published in *Blood*. Kyle RA et al., Progression in smoldering Waldenström macroglobulinemia: long-term results. *Blood*. 2012;Vol 119:4462–4466. © the American Society of Hematology

Table 20.2 Risk factors for progression to treatment among 48 patients with smoldering Waldenström's macroglobulinemia

| Multivariate model | | | | | | |
|-------------------------------------|----------------|---------|--|--|--|--|
| | Hazard ratio | p Value | | | | |
| Bone marrow lymphoplasmacytic cells | 1.31 (1.1–1.5) | < 0.001 | | | | |
| Hemoglobin value | 0.7 (0.5–0.9) | 0.002 | | | | |
| Serum M Protein value | 2.1 (1.3–3.5) | 0.003 | | | | |
| IgA reduction | 2.4 (1.1–5.4) | 0.036 | | | | |

This research was originally published in Blood. Kyle RA et al., Long-Term follow-up of IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. *Blood*. 2003;Vol 102:3759–3764. © the American Society of Hematology



Fig. 20.6 Probability of survival of SWM in 48 patients. This research was originally published in *Blood*. Kyle RA et al., Progression in smoldering Waldenström macroglobulinemia: long-term results. *Blood*. 2012;Vol 119:4462–4466. © the American Society of Hematology

percent (n = 61) were asymptomatic at diagnosis, while 15 % (n = 32) did not receive chemotherapy and were classified as SWM.

The median age of the 217 patients was 69 years with a male/female predominance of 2:1. At diagnosis, the most common findings were anemia (38%), hyperviscosity (31%), constitutional B symptoms (23%), bleeding (23%), and neurologic symptoms (22%) [7]. Evidence of hyperviscosity was found in the fundus of 34%, while hepatomegaly (24%), splenomegaly (19%), and lymphadenopathy (25%) were present on physical examination. The median IgM monoclonal protein was 4.4 g/dL, while monoclonal light chains were found in the urine of 31%. The LDH was elevated in 11%, while the β 2-microglobulin value was increased in 54%. Neutropenia was seen in 4.3% and thrombocytopenia in 2.4% at diagnosis. No lytic lesions were identified but severe osteoporosis was present in 7%.

Twenty-eight percent (n = 61) were asymptomatic at presentation but 29 patients required therapy eventually and 15 % remained asymptomatic throughout and did not receive chemotherapy. The presence of hemoglobin < 12.5 g/dL, elevated beta-2 microglobulin (β 2-M), or a monoclonal IgM > 4.0 g/dL predicted a shorter time free of therapy. Chlorambucil/prednisone was given in 43 %, continuous chlorambucil in 26 %, intermittent chlorambucil in 11 %, cyclophosphamide, vincristine, and prednisone (COP) in 13.5 %, and other therapy in the remaining 6.5 %. A complete response occurred in 2 %, partial response in 48 %, and minor response in 10 %. Progression-Free Survival (PFS) was 43 % at 5 years, while the projected overall survival was 55 % at 10 years. The most frequent cause of death was the development of second malignancies. The most frequent cause of death was solid tumors (n = 10), myelodysplasia (MDS) (n = 3), and aggressive lymphoma (n = 3). Infection was the cause of death in 19 %. Multivariate analysis revealed that the presence of symptomatic disease at diagnosis, age > 65 years, and hemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL were the most important causes of death.

Ghobrial et al. reported on 337 symptomatic patients with WM seen at the Mayo Clinic between 1960 and 2001 [11]. The inclusion criteria for diagnosis were: (1) symptomatic disease, (2) serum M spike \geq 3.0 g/dL, (3) quantitative IgM \geq 3000 mg/dL or IgM \geq 1500 mg/dL or serum M spike > 1.5 g/dL with an associated \geq 20% bone marrow lymphoplasmacytic involvement. The median age at diagnosis was 64 years with 47% > 65 years and 65% were male. Enlargement of the liver or spleen was noted in 25%. A prior MGUS was present in 19%, while systemic amyloidosis occurred in 4%. The median serum M spike was 3.8 g/dL and the quantitative IgM 5,140 mg/dL. IgM kappa was present in 75%, IgM lambda 22% and biclonal or indeterminate in 3%. The median hemoglobin was 9.9 g/dL (range 4.0–15.5 g/dL). The hemoglobin was < 10 g/dL in 51%. The leukocytes were < 4.0×10^9 /L in 20%, while the platelets were < 150×10^9 /L in 26%. The median serum viscosity was 3.2 (range 1.3–17.2) centipoise (cP). The median serum albumin was 3.5 g/dL, while 81% were < 4.0 g/dL.

The median duration of follow-up of the 337 patients was 11 years with death occurring in 70 % of patients. The cause of death was due to WM or complications of therapy in 53 %. Myelodysplasia or leukemia occurred in 7 %.

The median survival of all patients was 6.4 years with a 5-year survival of 57 % and 10-year survival of 31 %. Multivariate analyses revealed that age > 65 years and organomegaly were the only two parameters significantly associated with a poor prognosis. The median survival of patients who had neither factor was 10.6 years but only 3.1 years for those who had both risk factors. The year of diagnosis had no effect on overall survival, but these patients were seen prior to the wide-scale introduction of rituximab or novel agents.

The β 2-microglobulin value was available in only 98 patients but it added significantly to the model containing age > 65 years and organomegaly. A β 2-microglobulin value \geq 4 was associated with a threefold increase in the risk of death.

Approximately, 20% of patients with WM present with neurologic abnormalities. Peripheral neuropathy is common and is usually a distal, symmetric, and slowly progressive sensorimotor process. The lower extremities are more involved than the upper extremities. If one utilizes electrophysiologic tests rather than clinical examination, the frequency of peripheral neuropathy is higher.

While peripheral neuropathy is a more common neurological manifestation, cranial nerve palsies, mononeuropathy, and mononeuritis multiplex may result from infiltration of the nerves by tumor cells, hyperviscosity, or a bleeding diathesis. The myelin sheath may contain IgM deposits, but it is not possible to determine whether the deposition of IgM is causative or whether it represents passive deposition of IgM in an already damaged nerve. Typically, biopsy of the sural nerve shows myelin degeneration but no significant infiltration by lymphocytes or plasma cells.

The central nervous system may also be involved with plasmacytoid lymphocytic infiltration of the meninges [12]. Multifocal leukoencephalopathy is rare. Sudden hearing loss may be a presenting symptom [13].

Hyperviscosity syndrome may produce headache, blurred vision, dizziness, vertigo, ataxia, diplopia, seizures, altered consciousness, or coma. Cerebral hemorrhage may occur. Hyperviscosity is frequently associated with retinal vein engorgement with vascular segmentation (sausaging) and flame-shaped hemorrhages, as well as exudates. Papilledema is rare.

Renal insufficiency is uncommon in WM despite the presence of deposits of monoclonal IgM on the basement membrane. The presence of lymphocytes or plasmacytoid cells identical to those seen in the bone marrow is frequent. Nephrotic syndrome is rare, but when present, is often due to systemic AL amyloidosis.

Occasionally, diffuse pulmonary infiltrates, masses, or pleural effusion may be seen. A review of 20 patients with WM by Winterbauer et al. revealed that five patients had pulmonary involvement consisting of multiple nodular infiltrates and/or pleural effusion. Cough and dyspnea were the major symptoms [14].

Rarely, deposition of IgM protein produces an amorphous hyaline-like material in the small intestine. Infiltration of lymphocytes and plasma cells may be seen, but diarrhea and steatorrhea are uncommon in WM. Retroperitoneal and/or mesenteric lymph nodes may be prominent. Erythematous urticarial skin lesions and the presence of an IgM monoclonal protein (Schnitzler syndrome) has been described and may occur in WM. Lymphoplasmacytic cells may also infiltrate the dermis and produce lesions. Rarely, the IgM monoclonal protein may be deposited in the skin. Monoclonal IgM (type 1 cryoglobulin) may precipitate at room temperature and produce Raynaud's phenomena, urticaria, purpura, acrocyanosis, or tissue necrosis upon exposure to the cold [15].

A bleeding diathesis is common in WM and may result from interference of the IgM protein with clotting factors and platelet function. Purpura and gross bleeding especially from the gastrointestinal tract may be a major clinical problem. Thrombocytopenia from bone marrow infiltration, chemotherapy, hypersplenism, or idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP) may play a role in bleeding.

It must be emphasized that IgM MGUS and SWM are asymptomatic and precede symptomatic WM. Often these two precursor states are not recognized and the patient is thought to present with symptomatic WM. The presence of IgM MGUS or SWM is not an indication for treatment. It oftentimes takes years to become symptomatic and many will die of an unrelated cardiac or cerebrovascular event or a malignancy unrelated to the lymphoplasmacytic infiltration.

20.1.4 Laboratory Features

Anemia is present in the majority of patients with WM and is due to inadequate red blood cell synthesis, decreased red blood cell survival, blood loss, or a combination thereof. An acquired hemolytic anemia with a positive Coombs test may occur. The plasma volume is increased and responsible for spuriously low hemoglobin and hematocrit levels. The sedimentation rate is usually very high and Rouleaux formation is striking. Lymphocytosis, neutropenia, and thrombocytopenia may all be found.

The presence of the monoclonal IgM protein may result in low values for serum cholesterol, elevated values for bilirubin, and abnormal inorganic phosphate levels. The serum creatinine is usually normal, while hyperuricemia is not uncommon. The β 2-microglobulin value is increased in about half of patients and is an important prognostic factor.

Serum protein electrophoresis always produces a sharp, narrow spike, or dense band usually migrating in the gamma area. Immunofixation must be performed in order to confirm the presence of a monoclonal protein and to determine its type. Approximately, 75 % of monoclonal proteins are IgM kappa. The quantitation of IgM on nephelometry may be 2–3 g/dL more than the densitometric measurement of the serum spike [16]. Thus, serum protein electrophoresis should be used to measure the IgM levels rather than nephelometry [17]. It is essential that one measures the protein abnormality by the same technique during treatment and follow-up because of the variability in the size of the serum M spike and the quantitation of IgM by nephelometry.

The uninvolved IgG value is reduced in approximately 60% of WM patients, while IgA is decreased in approximately 20% [18]. The IgM monoclonal protein

may precipitate in the cold (type 1cryoglobulin) but they are usually asymptomatic unless an increased thermal insolubility occurs. Although monoclonal light chains are found in almost three-fourths of patients with WM, their level is usually low and poses no specific problems.

Although the hyperviscosity syndrome was initially noted in 1929 [19], it was rarely recognized clinically until the review by Fahey et al., more than 35 years later [20]. The serum viscosity value should be determined if the serum M spike is more than 4 g/dL or any patient with oronasal bleeding, blurred vision, or neurologic symptoms suggestive of hyperviscosity. Various instruments may be used to determine the serum viscosity but the Ostwald-100 viscometer is commonly used. Other techniques include the Wells-Brookfield or Sonoclot viscometers. There is often a poor correlation between the serum viscosity value and clinical symptoms. Generally, most symptomatic patients have a relative serum viscosity > 4 cP. Rarely, a patient may have symptoms of hyperviscosity when it is < 4 cP and some have no symptoms even when the viscosity is 6-10 cP. In general, the level of relative viscosity producing symptoms in an individual patient is usually the same. In short, if a patient has symptoms with a relative viscosity of 5 cP, they will become symptomatic when the relative viscosity returns to the same level. One must be aware that the viscosity-protein concentration curve of IgM is not linear. At low serum IgM levels, an increase of 1-2 g/dL produces little or no change in the serum viscosity, but if the IgM is 4-5 g/dL an increment of 1-2 g/dL greatly increases the relative viscosity. In addition to the size of the serum M protein, the molecular characteristics and aggregation of the proteins, microvasculature changes, hematocrit level, and cardiac status all play a role in relative viscosity [21].

The bone marrow aspirate is frequently hypocellular, but the biopsy specimen is usually hypercellular and reveals extensive infiltration with clonal lymphoid or plasmacytoid cells. Intranuclear vacuoles containing IgM protein (Dutcher bodies) are common. Mast cells are frequently increased and may help differentiate WM from other lymphomas or myeloma. The pattern of bone marrow involvement is frequently diffuse (45 %), but nodular–interstitial infiltration (22 %), mixed paratrabecular–nodular (20 %), or paratrabecular infiltration was reported in 13 % [22]. The cellular components are B-cells with a low proliferative rate. The typical immunophenotype consists of surface IgM⁺, CD5⁻, CD10⁻, CD11C⁻, CD19⁺, CD20⁺, CD22⁺, CD23⁻, CD25⁺, CD27⁺, FMC7⁺, CD103⁻, and CD138⁻. The plasmacytic component is CD138⁺, CD38⁺ and CD45⁻, or DIM. They express only one type of light chain (kappa or lambda).

20.1.5 Serum Free Light Chain Assay

The serum free light chain (FLC) assay measures the serum kappa and lambda light chain levels and is then expressed as the kappa to lambda ratio. Normal FLC ratios are seen in patients without plasma cell or B lymphocyte proliferative disorders [23]. There is little data on FLC assays in WM but it appears that FLC assays correlate with other markers of tumor burden [24].

20.1.6 Differential Diagnosis

WM must be differentiated from other monoclonal conditions such as MGUS, multiple myeloma, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, and mantle cell lymphoma.

IgM MGUS is characterized by an IgM monoclonal protein < 3.0 g/dL, bone marrow containing < 10% lymphoplasmacytic cells, the absence of symptomatic anemia, lymphadenopathy, hepatosplenomegaly or hyperviscosity, and the absence of constitutional symptoms. The features of IgM MGUS have already been discussed. Symptomatic WM must also be differentiated from SWM and this has been discussed in detail.

Multiple myeloma with an IgM monoclonal protein is very rare and comprises only 0.5 % of multiple myeloma. The absence of CD56 is helpful in differentiation. Bone lesions are common in IgM MM but are rarely seen in WM. Hyperviscosity, lymphadenopathy, and splenomegaly are infrequently seen in IgM multiple myeloma. Translocation (11;14) may be present in IgM myeloma but is not seen in WM [25]. Recurrent somatic mutation involving the MYD88 gene (L265P) is present in approximately 90 % of patients with WM and can serve as a useful diagnostic marker. In cases that are histopathologically difficult to interpret, MYD88 L265P mutation status should be checked using allele-specific polymerase chain reaction (AS-PCR) assay.

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia is easily differentiated from WM by its immunophenotype. The abnormal B cells in CLL are CD5⁺, CD23⁺, and FMC7⁻. Mantle cell lymphoma has nuclear staining for Cyclin-D1 in more than 70% of patients. Most patients with mantle cell lymphoma have a t(11;14) translocation. The lymphocytes are CD5⁺ and CD23⁻. Patients with WM must also be differentiated from patients with IgG or IgA MM who have many lymphocytoid cells in the bone marrow and no lytic bone lesions [26].

Hematopathologists find it challenging to differentiate WM from other indolent lymphoproliferative disorders such as marginal zone lymphoma (MZL) and splenic marginal zone lymphoma (SMZL). Kyrtsonis et al. reported that 60 % of WM express CD38 in contrast to 18 % of SMZL patients [27]. MALT lymphoma must be considered in the differential diagnosis and is distinct from LPL [28]. Similar to WM, a neoplastic lymphoplasmacytic infiltrate with cell surface/cytoplasmic IgM is observed in MZL. Markers such as CD25 are less frequently observed in SMZL compared to WM. In contrast, CD11c, CD22, and CD103 may be overexpressed in SMZL. Additionally, chromosomal aberrations can occasionally assist in distinguishing WM from SMZL, with 6q deletion notable in 30–50 % of WM cases and 7q loss (19 %), 3q (19 %), and 5q (10 % cases) gains encountered occasionally in SMZL. Furthermore, MYD88 L265P mutation occurs in only a minority (10 %) of cases of SMZL.

20.1.7 Prognostic Factors

The median survival of patients with WM has been 5 years but at least a fifth of these patients survived for more than a decade and 10-20% die of unrelated causes [7, 29].

In a series of 167 patients with WM from a single institution, Facon et al. reported a median survival of 60 months [30]. The most important adverse prognostic factors for survival were a neutrophil value $< 1.7 \times 10^9$ /L, age > 60 years, and hemoglobin < 10 g/dL. In another group of patients with WM requiring therapy, multivariate analysis revealed that age > 70 years, hemoglobin < 9 g/dL, and the presence or absence of weight loss or cryoglobulinemia were the most significant prognostic features [31]. In a series of 232 French patients with WM, age > 65 years, albumin < 4 g/dL, and the presence of one or more cytopenias were the major risk factors affecting survival [32]. The 5-year OS was 87 % in patients with ≤ 1 risk factor, 62 % in those with two adverse risk factors, and 25 % in those with \geq 3 adverse risk factors [32]. Utilizing serum β2-microglobulin, hemoglobin, and serum IgM concentration, low-risk patients were defined as having β 2-microglobulin < 3 mg/L and Hb \geq 12 g/dL; medium risk had β 2-microglobulin < 3 mg/L, Hb < 12 g/dL or β 2-microglobulin > 3 mg/L, and serum IgM \geq 4 g/dL; and high risk consisting of β 2- microglobulin \geq 3 mg/L and IgM > 4 g/dL [33]. The 5-year OS rate with low risk was 87 %, medium risk was 63 and 53%, and high risk was 21%. At 10 years, an elevated serum lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) level was identified as an additional poor prognostic factor.

The International Prognostic Staging System for WM (IPSS WM) was developed by Morel et al. [34]. It is based on 587 patients from seven international The significant adverse features were age > 65institutions. vears. hemoglobin < 11.5 g/dL, platelets < $100,000 \times 10^9$ /L, β -2 microglobulin > 3 mg/ L, and serum IgM > 7 g/dL. Low-risk patients were < 65 years of age and had 0 or 1 risk factor. High-risk patients constituted 35% of the group and had two risk factors, while intermediate risk patients accounting for 38 % had two risk factors or those greater than age 65. Five-year OS rates for patients in the low-, intermediate-, and high-risk groups were 87 %, 68 %, and 36 %, respectively (p < 0.001). Other investigators have included gender, the presence of B symptoms, IgM value, performance status, presence of hyperviscosity, bone marrow infiltration pattern, and cytogenetic changes as additional prognostic factors.

20.1.8 When Should WM Actually Be Treated?

In many instances, it is easy to determine that immediate therapy is required. The patient who presents with severe constitutional symptoms such as high fever, drenching night sweats, or marked weight loss requires treatment. Constitutional symptoms may also be due to transformation to a myelodysplasia/acute leukemia in patients with WM [35]. The presence of anemia producing dyspnea, chest discomfort on exertion, and marked fatigue also should be started on therapy.

The presence of hyperviscosity is an indication for immediate plasmapheresis and the institution of systemic therapy to reduce the size of the M protein. Symptomatic lymphadenopathy such as a "bull" neck requires treatment. Occasionally, hepatosplenomegaly will cause symptoms of fullness, discomfort or pain, and require chemotherapy. Retroperitoneal lymphadenopathy is usually asymptomatic and does not require therapy. The size of the M spike is not an indication for immediate therapy.

Although the M spike may be high and infiltration of the bone marrow with clonal lymphocytes and plasma cells may be striking, patients with minimal or no symptoms should be observed. Approximately, 10% of patients with SWM may not require treatment for nearly a decade from diagnosis [7]. Moreover, active surveillance and delaying therapeutic intervention until development of symptoms have not been shown to adversely affect survival outcome in SWM [36]. The advice of Jan Waldentröm, "let well alone" must be kept in mind [37]. Although WM is a treatable disorder, it remains incurable despite the availability of many active agents, and clinicians should resist the temptation to initiate chemoimmunotherapy solely to improve the abnormal laboratory values in the patient. Waldenström also emphasized the need to listen to the symptoms of the patient and to perform a complete physical examination and to avoid treatment of mild symptoms. The patient does not require therapy simply because of the presence of a large monoclonal serum protein or marked infiltration of the bone marrow with lymphocytes and plasma cells consistent with the diagnosis of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. Waldenström said that if the patient is able to state on his tombstone, the words of the great Swedish poet, Stiernhielm, "Vixit, dum vixit, laetus" (He lived happily as long as he lived), the physician has succeeded in improving the quality of life of the patient. In short, the physician must not treat the patient too early or delay therapy in the presence of appropriate indications in a patient.

20.1.9 Recommendations for Follow-Up of "Watch and Wait" Patients

In the presence of SWM, follow-up is recommended in 3–4 months and, if stable, this can be lengthened to 6-month intervals. If stability continues, annual follow-up is reasonable. However, the patient must be advised to return to the physician in the event of any new symptoms or untoward problems.

There is no standard therapy for symptomatic WM. Several prospective trials have demonstrated the efficacy of various drugs or combinations, but it is difficult to compare these agents on the basis of response rates. Few prospective randomized studies have been performed.

In summary, a complete history and careful physical examination, including funduscopic examination (preferably by an ophthalmologist on a dilated pupil) to evaluate retinal vein engorgement with hemorrhages and exudates as well as the possibility of papilledema, must be performed. The use of densitometry is advised to determine the IgM level for serial evaluation. Nephelometry is also useful and both determinations are advised. The results of densitometry and nephelometry should not be directly compared with each other. However, therapy may be started for patients who have a rapidly rising IgM level or have progressive signs or symptoms of WM. The presence of hemoglobin ≤ 10 g/dL and/or a platelet level of $<100 \times 10^9$ /L that are attributable to the disease are additional indications for initiating treatment. Bulky adenopathy or symptomatic organomegaly also warrant therapy. The same is true for patients with recurrent high fever, drenching night sweats, significant weight loss, or severe fatigue. Symptoms of hyperviscosity, severe symptomatic neuropathy, coexisting amyloidosis, and symptomatic cryoglobulinemia are also indications for therapy. Immediate plasmapheresis is required for symptomatic hyperviscosity.

References

- 1. Waldenstrom J. Incipient myelomatosis or "essential" hyperglobulinemia with fibrinogenopenia: a new syndrome? Acta Med Scand. 1944;216:433–4 [Editorial].
- Treon SP, Xu L, Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Cao Y, et al. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(9):826–33 [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't].
- Roccaro AM, Sacco A, Jimenez C, Maiso P, Moschetta M, Mishima Y, et al. C1013G/CXCR4 acts as a driver mutation of tumor progression and modulator of drug resistance in lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. Blood. 2014;123(26):4120–31 [Clinical Trial Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't].
- 4. Hunter ZR, Xu L, Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Cao Y, et al. The genomic landscape of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia is characterized by highly recurring MYD88 and WHIMlike CXCR4 mutations, and small somatic deletions associated with B-cell lymphomagenesis. Blood. 2014;123(11):1637–46 [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't].
- Paiva B, Corchete LA, Vidriales MB, Garcia-Sanz R, Perez JJ, Aires-Mejia I, et al. The cellular origin and malignant transformation of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2015;125(15):2370–80.
- Owen RG, Treon SP, Al-Katib A, Fonseca R, Greipp PR, McMaster ML, et al. Clinicopathological definition of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: consensus panel recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):110–5.
- 7. Garcia-Sanz R, Montoto S, Torrequebrada A, de Coca AG, Petit J, Sureda A, et al. Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: presenting features and outcome in a series with 217 cases. Br J Haematol. 2001;115(3):575–82.
- Kyle RA, Therneau TM, Rajkumar SV, Remstein ED, Offord JR, Larson DR, et al. Long-term follow-up of IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Blood. 2003;102 (10):3759–64.
- 9. Kyle RA, Rajkumar SV. Criteria for diagnosis, staging, risk stratification and response assessment of multiple myeloma. Leukemia. 2009;23(1):3–9.
- Kyle RA, Benson JT, Larson DR, Therneau TM, Dispenzieri A, Kumar S, et al. Progression in smoldering Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: long-term results. Blood. 2012;119 (19):4462–6.
- Ghobrial IM, Fonseca R, Gertz MA, Plevak MF, Larson DR, Therneau TM, et al. Prognostic model for disease-specific and overall mortality in newly diagnosed symptomatic patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia. Br J Haematol. 2006;133(2):158–64.

- Abad S, Zagdanski AM, Brechignac S, Thioliere B, Brouet JC, Mariette X. Neurolymphomatosis in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia. Br J Haematol. 1999;106 (1):100–3.
- 13. Syms MJ, Arcila ME, Holtel MR. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and sensorineural hearing loss. Am J Otolaryngol. 2001;22(5):349–53.
- 14. Winterbauer RH, Riggins RC, Griesman FA, Bauermeister DE. Pleuropulmonary manifestations of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Chest. 1974;66(4):368–75.
- 15. Letendre L, Kyle RA. Monoclonal cryoglobulinemia with high thermal insolubility. Mayo Clin Proc. 1982;57(10):629–33.
- Riches PG, Sheldon J, Smith AM, Hobbs JR. Overestimation of monoclonal immunoglobulin by immunochemical methods. Ann Clin Biochem. 1991;28(pt3):253–9.
- 17. Kyle RA, Treon SP, Alexanian R, Barlogie B, Bjorkholm M, Dhodapkar M, et al. Prognostic markers and criteria to initiate therapy in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: consensus panel recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):116–20 [Review] [17 refs].
- Kyle RA, Garton JP. The spectrum of IgM monoclonal gammopathy in 430 cases. Mayo Clin Proc. 1987;62(8):719–31.
- 19. Bannick EG, Greene CH. Renal insufficiency associated with Bence-Jones proteinuria: report of thirteen cases with a note on the changes in the serum proteins. Arch Intern Med. 1929;44:486–501.
- 20. Fahey JL, Barth WF, Solomon A. Serum hyperviscosity syndrome. J Am Med Assoc. 1965;192:464–7.
- 21. Gertz MA, Kyle RA. Hyperviscosity syndrome. J Intensive Care Med. 1995;10(3):128–41 [Review 138 refs].
- Andriko JA, Aguilera NS, Chu WS, Nandedkar MA, Cotelingam JD. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a clinicopathologic study of 22 cases. Cancer. 1997;80(10):1926–35.
- 23. Katzmann JA, Abraham RS, Dispenzieri A, Lust JA, Kyle RA. Diagnostic performance of quantitative {kappa} and {lambda} free light chain assays in clinical practice. Clin Chem. 2005;51(5):878–81.
- 24. Leleu X, Xie W, Bagshaw M, Banwait R, Leduc R, Roper N, et al. The role of serum immunoglobulin free light chain in response and progression in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(9):3013–8.
- 25. Avet-Loiseau H, Garand R, Lode L, Harousseau JL, Bataille R. Translocation t(11;14)(q13; q32) is the hallmark of IgM, IgE, and nonsecretory multiple myeloma variants. Blood. 2003;101(4):1570–1.
- Maldonado JE, Kyle RA, Brown Jr AL, Bayrd ED. "Intermediate" cell types and mixed cell proliferation in multiple myeloma: electron microscopic observations. Blood. 1966;27 (2):212–26.
- 27. Kyrtsonis MC, Levidou G, Korkolopoulou P, Koulieris E, Bartzi V, Maltezas D, et al. CD138 expression helps distinguishing Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia (WM) from splenic marginal zone lymphoma (SMZL). Clin Lymphoma, Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11(1):99–102.
- 28. Berger F, Traverse-Glehen A, Felman P, Callet-Bauchu E, Baseggio L, Gazzo S, et al. Clinicopathologic features of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and marginal zone lymphoma: are they distinct or the same entity? Clin Lymphoma. 2005;5(4):220–4.
- Dimopoulos MA, Panayiotidis P, Moulopoulos LA, Sfikakis P, Dalakas M. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: clinical features, complications, and management. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18 (1):214–26 [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't Review].
- Facon T, Brouillard M, Duhamel A, Morel P, Simon M, Jouet JP, et al. Prognostic factors in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a report of 167 cases. J Clin Oncol. 1993;11(8):1553–8.
- 31. Gobbi PG, Bettini R, Montecucco C, Cavanna L, Morandi S, Pieresca C, et al. Study of prognosis in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a proposal for a simple binary classification with clinical and investigational utility. Blood. 1994;83(10):2939–45.

- 32. Morel P, Monconduit M, Jacomy D, Lenain P, Grosbois B, Bateli C, et al. Prognostic factors in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: a report on 232 patients with the description of a new scoring system and its validation on 253 other patients. Blood. 2000;96(3):852–8.
- 33. Dhodapkar MV, Hoering A, Gertz MA, Rivkin S, Szymonifka J, Crowley J, et al. Long-term survival in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: 10-year follow-up of Southwest Oncology Group-directed intergroup trial S9003. Blood. 2009;113(4):793–6.
- Morel P, Duhamel A, Gobbi P, Dimopoulos MA, Dhodapkar MV, McCoy J, et al. International prognostic scoring system for Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;113 (18):4163–70.
- 35. Leleu X, Soumerai J, Roccaro A, Hatjiharissi E, Hunter ZR, Manning R, et al. Increased incidence of transformation and myelodysplasia/acute leukemia in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia treated with nucleoside analogs. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(2):250–5.
- Alexanian R, Weber D, Delasalle K, Cabanillas F, Dimopoulos M. Asymptomatic Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):206–10.
- 37. Waldenstrom J. To treat or not to treat, this is the real question. Leuk Res. 1991;15(6):407-8.

Immunotherapy in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia

Véronique Leblond, Laetitia Souchet, Sylvain Choquet, and Christian Buske

21.1 Introduction

Treatment strategies and modalities have changed at the beginning of the twentyfirst century with the use of anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody rituximab. Alone or in combination, rituximab was widely used in WM patients. Since 2000, new monoclonal antibodies have been investigated, targeting CD20 or other antigens such as CD52 or CD22. The combination of anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody with chemotherapy is still a standard of care in this setting. Rituximab-based regimens remain a recommended primary therapy for most patients with WM [1–3].

21.2 Monoclonal Antibodies Used as a Single Agent

21.2.1 Rituximab

Rituximab is a chimeric monoclonal antibody, which targets the CD20 antigen, expressed on B-cells, including WM cells. Since the beginning of 2000s, rituximab is widely used in B lymphoproliferative diseases. Two schedules of administration were studied in monotherapy for WM: the standard one, in which one weekly infusion is administrated for 4 weeks, and the extensive one, in which responsive patients received four more infusions between the 12th and 16th week. In the standard schedule, overall response rates (ORRs) varied between 27 and 60 %, with 27–35 % of major response (\geq partial response), with a median time to

V. Leblond (🖂) • L. Souchet • S. Choquet

APHP Hôpital Pitié-Salpêtrière, UPMC Paris 6 GRC-11, GRECHY, Paris, France e-mail: veronique.leblond@aphp.fr

C. Buske

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), *Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_21

Comprehensive Cancer Center Ulm, Institute of Experimental Cancer Research, University Hospital Ulm, Ulm, Germany

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

response of 3 months and a duration of response (DOR) of 8 months, both in previously treated and untreated patients [4, 5]. Even for patient with minor response, an improvement of hemoglobin, platelet counts, and a reduction of lymphadenopathy and splenomegaly was observed. Extensive therapy allowed an ORR between 35 and 48 %, with a DOR longer than 29 months [6, 7]. High IgM level (>40 g/L) or low albumin (<35 g/L) is a predictive factor for a lower response and a shorter time to progression. Of note, response rate to rituximab is dependent on polymorphism of the Fc gamma RIIIa receptor: patients with the V158F variant gene (a valine amino acid instead of a phenylalanine at position 158) are more likely to respond to rituximab. Indeed, in a retrospective study, patients with the FCGR3A 158FF variant had a response rate of 9% versus 40% for patients with FCGR3A 158VV [43]. Rituximab is well tolerated; however, about 50% of patients will experience a transient increase of the IgM level, named flare-up effect. No predicting factors, like baseline IgM level, plasma viscosity level, bone marrow infiltration, or previous therapy, had been identified. The flare-up effect is seen mostly during the 1st months of treatment and can persist until the 4th month. This phenomenon is associated with a higher risk of treatment failure, but physicians should be cautious to interpret this too quickly as lack of response or even progression, because decrease of IgM level can occur slowly. No effect on progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS) was observed [8]. Patients for whom baseline serum IgM level or serum viscosity is higher than 50 g/L or 3.5 cp, respectively, IgM flare-up can induce hyperviscosity-related event. Such patients at risk should undergo prophylactic plasmapheresis or avoid rituximab during the first course of chemotherapy until IgM levels decline to safer level. Lateonset neutropenia (LON) was also described with single-agent rituximab [9]. The underlying mechanism of LON is not understood, and a cellular immune mechanism or antibodies-mediated complement cytotoxicity are supposed [10]. An association between specific polymorphism in the immunoglobulin G Fc receptor FCyRIIIa V158F and LON was also described [11]. Predisposing factors of LON in hematologic malignancy are previous autologous stem cell transplantation, advance disease, purine analogues' exposure, and previous intensive chemotherapy, eventually associated with radiotherapy [9].

Because of the lower chance to respond if the IgM level is high, and the risk of an IgM flare when used alone, rituximab single-agent therapy is now essentially used for WM patients with immunological disorders secondary to the WM, such as anti-MAG neuropathy.

21.2.2 Ofatumumab

Ofatumumab is a humanized CD20-directed monoclonal antibody that targets a CD20 region different than that of rituximab. One phase II trial studied ofatumumab in monotherapy in 37 treatment-naïve or previously treated patients. Fifty-nine percentage of the patients achieved at least a minimal responses after both cycles (38 % a PR), with somewhat higher responses at higher doses (47 %

versus 68 %), in therapy-naïve (6/9, 67 %) and rituximab-naïve (9/12, 75 %) patients than in rituximab-exposed patients (13/25, 52 %). Two patients experienced an IgM flare with necessity of plasmapheresis [12].

21.2.3 Alemtuzumab

Alemtuzumab is a CD52-directed monoclonal antibody. CD52 is widely expressed on WM cells, but also on mast cells. Treon studied alemtuzumab in 28 patients with lymphoplasmocytic lymphoma (including 27 patients with WM), among which 23 patients were in relapse or refractory. Alemtuzumab was infused at 30 mg three times a week for 12 weeks. ORR was 75 %, with 36 % of major response, and a time to progression of 14.5 months. Toxicities were hematological (including 5, 24, and 10 % of grade 3–4 neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, and anemia, respectively) and infectious with 17.8 % of CMV reactivation. Furthermore, 14 % of patients developed late-onset autoimmune thrombocytopenia, at a median time of 12.9 months after treatment completion [14]. Based on these considerable toxicities, alemtuzumab applications have not become an accepted treatment approach in WM.

21.2.4 Anti-BLyS Monoclonal Antibody

The B-lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS) protein is a cytokine belonging to the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) family, implicated in B-cell survival and maturation and overexpressed in WM. One phase II study used the anti-BLyS monoclonal antibody, belimumab, in 12 patients with WM. No objective response was reported and 10 patients had stable disease. Belimumab has not been studied in combination therapy yet [16].

21.2.5 Ublituximab

Ublituximab is a novel chimeric anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody that has a high affinity for NK FcγRIIIa receptors. Preclinical studies showed that ublituximab is more efficient than rituximab in inducing NK cell degranulation and antibody-dependant cellular cytotoxicity [17]. A phase I/II trial with single-agent ublituximab in patients with rituximab relapsed/refractory NHL, including WM patients, is currently ongoing.

21.3 Combinations with Rituximab

Because rituximab is an active and a non-myelosuppressive agent, its combination with various chemotherapeutic agents has been extensively explored in WM. The combination of anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody and chemotherapy is considered as a standard of care in patients in first line. The choice of chemotherapy depends on the comorbidities, how fast control of the disease has to be achieved, and the phenotype of the disease.

21.3.1 Rituximab + Alkylators

CHOP (cvclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisone) + rituximab compared to CHOP alone in first line was studied in a randomized multicenter phase III trial by the German Low Grade Lymphoma Study Group (GLSG). Sixty-nine patients, among them 48 patients with WM, were included. Thirty-four patients (23 WM) received RCHOP and 30 patients (25 WM) received CHOP. In WM patients, ORR (>PR) was 91 % versus 60 % (p = 0.0188), and the median time to treatment failure was 63 and 22 months (p = 0.0033) in the RCHOP and CHOP respectively. Adverse effects were mainly myelosuppression and arm. granulocytopenia, with 72 and 57% of grade 3-4 granulocytopenia and 6 and 13% of grade 3-4 infections in the RCHOP and CHOP arm, respectively. Toxicities did not differ between the two arms [18]. DC (dexamethasone, cyclophosphamide)+rituximab combination was tested in a phase II trial in 72 untreated WM. A high response rate (83%) was observed, with 7 and 67% complete and partial responses, respectively. The 2-year PFS was 67 % in all cohort and 80% in responders. Median time to response was, however, long with 4.1 months, suggesting that this combination is not appropriate if a rapid control of disease is necessary. Toxicities are mild, with only 9% of grade 3-4 neutropenia [19]. This study was updated in 2012 with a follow-up longer than 6 years for all patients. Time to treatment failure and time to next treatment were 35 and 51 months, respectively. Majority of relapsing patients were still sensitive to other rituximab-based therapies. The 5-year estimated OS was 100%, 67%, and 48% for patients with low-, intermediate-, and high-risk disease, respectively, based on IPSSWM. Regarding toxicities, one patient, having previously received fludarabine, developed a MDS and two patients (including one after multiple treatments which included alkylating agents and fludarabine) had a RT. This update indicates that DRC is an active and safe treatment choice in first line for WM with a manageable toxicity, even in frail patients [20].

In a retrospective study, Ioakimidis compared the outcome of WM patients in first line who received RCHOP (n = 23), RCVP (rituximab, cyclophosphamide, vincristine, prednisone, n = 16), or RCP (rituximab, cyclophosphamide, prednisone, n = 19). Response rates were similar between the three arms (96%, 88%, 95%, respectively), but toxicities, mainly neutropenic fevers and treatment-related

peripheral neuropathies, were higher in patients receiving RCHOP and RCVP compared to RCP [21].

21.3.2 Rituximab + Purine Analogues

Rituximab + fludarabine (RF) or rituximab + 2CDA was studied both in first line and in secondary treatment in WM. Treon published a phase II trial regarding RF association in 43 patients, including 27 in first line. ORR was 95.3 %, with a 4-year PFS of 67 %, and a median time to progression of 77 months. Patients in first line had similar ORR than those in relapse/refractory disease; however, patients in first line or with major response (\geq VGPR) had longer time to progression (77.6 months and >88.3 months, respectively) than patients in relapse/refractory disease (38.4 months) and minor response (36.9 months) [44].

R + cladribine (2CDA) association was studied by Laszlo. An ORR of 93 % with a median time to progression not reached after a median follow-up of 43 months was found [24]. Grade 3–4 toxicities in Treon's studies were similar in untreated and previously treated patients. Twenty-seven, 7, and 6 patients had grade 3–4 neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, and pneumonia (responsible for two deaths), respectively, 1 patient had hemolytic anemia and one had a flare-up effect. Two patients developed a HSV reactivation, but they did not have acyclovir prophylactic treatment, and 13 patients had dose reductions (n = 5) or treatment discontinuation (n = 9) secondary to toxicities. Of note, eight secondary cancers were reported, including six hematological cancers (three Richter transformations, two AML, and one myelodysplastic syndrome). Seven of these patients had been heavily treated before RF therapy. Laszlo found 37 % of grade 3–4 neutropenia but no grade 3 infections or flare-up effects.

Association of rituximab + alkylators + purine analogues was studied both with fludarabine and 2CDA. In 2006, Tam studied rituximab+cyclophosphamide + fludarabine (RFC) association in 77 patients with CLL or indolent lymphoma, including 10 patients with WM. Patients received rituximab at day 1 and fludarabine + cyclophosphamide from day 1 to 3 intravenously. Response rate for WM patients was 60%, with five partial responses and one complete response [25]. One prospective study was published in 2012, regarding 43 WM, in which 28 were in first line. Treatment schedule was similar to Tam's study. ORR was 79 with 74.4% of major responses. Interestingly, four patients had delayed responses, within the 6 months after treatment discontinuation, raising major response rate to 76.7 %. No statistical link between PFS and event-free survival (EFS) was found according to quality of response [26]. Finally, RFC was studied retrospectively in 82 patients including 25 patients untreated. Rituximab was administered intravenously at day 1 and fludarabine and cyclophosphamide from day 2 to 4 orally. ORR was 85.4 with 78% of major responses. Again, with a median follow-up of 47 months, 25 patients had a late improvement of response, increasing rates of very good partial responses and complete responses from 18 to 38 % within a median of 13.9 months after treatment discontinuation, suggesting

that late assessment of response is interesting with this combination therapy [27]. The PFS was 79 and 67% at 3 and 4 years, respectively. The duration of response (DOR) and PFS time were statistically longer in untreated patients (median not reached) compared to relapsing patients (median DOR 74 months, median PFS: 79 months) but DOR was not influenced by quality of response in both studies; toxicities were mainly hematological with 88.3 and 36% of grade 3–4 neutropenia in Tedeschi's and Souchet's studies, respectively. Also, long-lasting cytopenia were reported in 44 and 29% of patients, with a median time for resolution between 7 and 9 months, respectively. Six patients developed a grade 3–4 infection, during or within the 6 months after treatment discontinuation in Tedeschi's study, responsible for the death of two patients. Finally, secondary cancers were reported: three secondary myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) in Tedeschi's study, raising the question of the feasibility of purine analogues and alkylators association in these settings.

However, R-FC is the most effective in relapsed patients with the longer PFS and duration of response, at least in a historical comparison with other salvage regimen [28]. Association of rituximab, cyclophosphamide, and 2-CdA (RC-2CDA) was less studied. Weber published results with 17 patients, all previously untreated, receiving a median of two courses of RC-2CdA. ORR was also high, 93 %, with a DOR of 60 months [29].

21.3.3 Rituximab + Immunomodulators

Thalidomide + rituximab association was studied in a phase II trial published by Treon. Twenty-five patients, including 20 in first line, received thalidomide 200 mg daily for 2 weeks, followed by 400 mg daily for 1 year. Rituximab was administered weekly from week 2 to 5, followed by 4 additional weekly infusions from week 13. ORR was 72% and major response rate 64%, with a median time to progression of 38 months. More than 40% of patients developed peripheral neuropathies grade 2 or more. All patients required dose reduction and 11 patients had premature treatment discontinuation [30]. Rituximab and lenalidomide association was also studied by Treon in 16 patients (12 in first line). ORR was 50%, and only 1 neuropathy was noted. However, 88% of patients had reduction in their hematocrit, in spite of lenalidomide dose reduction. Lenalidomide with rituximab was associated with significant hematologic toxicity [23].

Lenalidomide should only be considered in the context of a clinical trial.

21.3.4 Rituximab + Bendamustine

Rituximab + bendamustine (RB) was compared to RCHOP in a phase III open-label trial A total of 546 patients were enrolled in this study for indolent NHL patients, including 41 patients with WM. Patients on the RB arm received bendamustine at

90 mg/m² on days 1, 2 and rituximab at 375 mg/m² on day 1 with the frequency of 4 weeks for each cycle. A similar ORR (95%) was found, but a higher PFS was reported in the RB arm (median 69.5 months versus 28.1 months in the RCHOP arm), with a better tolerance of chemotherapy (lower rates of grade 3–4 neutropenia, infectious complications and peripheral neuropathies, and no alopecia) [31]. A randomized study evaluating rituximab as maintenance treatment after RB therapy in first line is currently ongoing. In the salvage setting, the outcome of 30 WM patients with relapsed/refractory disease who received bendamustine alone or with a CD20-directed antibody was reported by Treon et al. An overall response rate of 83.3 % and a median progression-free survival of 13.2 months were reported in this study. Overall, therapy was well tolerated though prolonged myelosuppression occurred in patients who received prior nucleoside analogue therapy [13]. Tedeschi reported an Italian retrospective study in 72 patients with relapsed/refractory disease. Overall and major response rates were 80.2 and 74.6%, respectively. Major toxicity was grade 3/4 neutropenia occurring in 13% of courses. There was no significant association between baseline features or patients' characteristics and response achievement. Median progression-free survival was not reached after a median follow-up of 19 months (range 3-54). None of the patients developed aggressive lymphoma or secondary myelodysplastic syndrome/acute myeloid leukemia. BR combination showed to be as effective as more intensive salvage regimens in pretreated WM patients. Treatment showed to be well tolerated even in elderly patients with limited episodes of myelosuppression and infections when compared to purine analogues including regimens [32].

21.3.5 Rituximab + Bortezomib

Treon studied rituximab, bortezomib, and dexamethasone association in 23 untreated patients, with administration of intravenous bortezomib at 1.3 mg/m^2 and dexamethasone 40 mg twice a week at day 1, 4, 8, 11 and rituximab 375 mg/m² at day 11, for four cycles as induction treatment and four more cycles at 3 months as maintenance treatment. ORR and major response rate were 96% and 83%, respectively, with a median time to response of 1.4 months and a late improvement of response after treatment discontinuation with a median time to best response of 15 months. Sixty percent of patients had treatment discontinuation after four cycles because of peripheral neuropathy. Follow-up was short (22.8 months), preventing long-term evaluation of efficiency and toxicity [22]. Treatment of bortezomib was then reduced to one injection a week at 1.6 mg/m^2 in an attempt to reduce the occurrence of peripheral neuropathy. According to this schedule, rituximab + bortezomib was studied in first line by Ghobrial in 26 patients, with bortezomib 1.6 mg/m² administrated intravenously at day 1, 8, and 15 during six cycles, in a 28-day cycle, and rituximab 375 mg/m^2 at each cycle during four cycles. Eightyeight percent of patients obtained a response including 65% of major response (58 % achieved \geq PR, 8 % CRs/nCRs). The 1-year event free survival was 79 %. Response was obtained on IgM serum level and tumoral mass. Neurologic

complications were limited, and no grade 3-4 peripheral neuropathy was reported. Grade 3-4 neutropenia were noted in 12% of patients [42]. Likewise, in relapse/ refractory patients, ORR was 81 % with 51 % of major responses and a median PFS of 15.6 months. Sixteen percent of patients developed a grade 3 neutropenia and a grade 3 neuropathy occurred in only 5% of patients. "IgM flare" developed in 40% of patients and 54 % of patients developed peripheral neuropathy but in none of grade > 3 ([33]). Dimopoulos et al., in order to avoid "IgM flare", used an induction cycle of bortezomib (i.v. 1.3 mg/m² days 1, 4, 8, and 11), followed by four cycles of weekly bortezomib (i.v. 1.6 mg/m^2 for 4 weeks) with rituximab and dexame thas one on cycles 2 and 5. Peripheral neuropathy was observed in 46 % (grade > 3 in 7 %) but only 5 (8%) patients discontinued bortezomib due to neuropathy. Dimoupoulos reported the efficacy and toxicity of bortezomib, rituximab, and dexamethasone (BDR) in 59 naive-treatment patients. After a minimum follow-up of 32 months, median progression-free survival was 42 months, 3-year duration of response for patients with PR was 70%, and 3-year survival was 81%. Peripheral neuropathy occurred in 46% (grade ‡3 in 7%); only 8% discontinued bortezomib due to neuropathy [34]. Neurotoxicity is the major concern with bortezomib because underlying IgM-related neuropathy or neuropathies due to age-related comorbidities (such as diabetes) is common. Weekly dosing and subcutaneous administration may reduce rates and severity of neuropathy. Bortezomib is not stem cell toxic and long-term follow-up in myeloma patients does not suggest a risk for secondary malignancies. Prophylaxis against herpes zoster is strongly recommended. Primary therapy with bortezomib is recommended for patients with high levels of IgM, with symptoms of or, at risk of developing hyperviscosity syndrome, symptomatic cryoglobulinemia or cold agglutinemia, amyloidosis, and renal impairment [3]. Conversely to BCR inhibitors, bortezomib is also effective in vitro on tumor cells with CXCR4 mutation [35].

More recently, the efficacy of carfilzomib in combination with rituximab and dexamethasone (CaRD) was reported in 31 patients [36]. Carfilzomib, rituximab, and dexamethasone (CaRD) produced overall and CR/VGPR responses in 87 and 36% of frontline WM patients, respectively. With a median follow-up of 15.4 months, 20 patients remain progression free. CaRD activity was not impacted by MYD88 and CXCR4 mutations and represents a neuropathy-sparing option for treating WM patients.

21.4 Maintenance

One retrospective study used rituximab as maintenance therapy in 86 responsive patients who received previously combination therapy with rituximab. Maintenance treatment with rituximab seemed to extend PFS and OS, without major secondary effects [15]. However, this result need to be confirmed in prospective studies, and the use of rituximab in maintenance therapy is still discussed. A randomized prospective study is ongoing in Germany, analyzing the impact of

2-years rituximab in maintenance after an induction with rituximab + bendamustine in untreated patients.

21.5 Rituximab + BCR Inhibitors

Few patients have been treated with a combination of R + BCR inhibitors; 10 patients were reported by Gopal using the combination of rituximab+idelalisib in refractory/relapsing low-grade lymphoma. The overall response rate was 80% and the PFS was 22 months [37].

Treon have recently reported the results of a prospective study of ibrutinib in 63 symptomatic patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia who had received at least one previous treatment [38]. The median time to at least a minor response was 4 weeks. The overall response rate was 90.5 %, and the major response rate was 73.0 %. The estimated 2-year progression-free and overall survival rates among all patients were 69.1 % and 95.2 %, respectively. Treatment-related toxic effects of grade 2 or higher included neutropenia (in 22 % of the patients) and thrombocytopenia (in 14 %), which were more common in heavily pretreated patients; postprocedural bleeding (in 3 %); epistaxis associated with the use of fish-oil supplements (in 3 %); and a trial fibrillation associated with a history of arrhythmia (5 %).

The efficacy of this combination depended on CXCR4 mutation, with a lower response rate in mutated patients asking the question whether treatment should be stratified according to the CXCR4 mutational status. Randomized studies are ongoing comparing the efficacy of R+ placebo versus R+ ibrutinib in relapsing and treatment-naïve patients.

21.6 Prognostic

The International Prognostic Scoring System, including 96% of patients treated with alkylating agents and nucleoside analogs [39], is applicable in patients treated with rituximab-based regimen with a significant difference in overall survival with a 38 months median for high-risk patients [40].

21.7 Conclusion

Collectively, immunotherapy is the backbone of treatment for the majority of patients today. Rituximab in combination with chemotherapy is among the most effective treatment in WM and is uniformly recommended in national and international guidelines for first line and salvage treatment in this disease. Single-agent rituximab offers the possibility to elderly patients with comorbidities to control their disease, although to a lesser extent than rituximab/chemotherapy and also with a longer duration to first response. Because of its few side effects, rituximab is an

ideal backbone to add novel compounds such as the BCR inhibitors. Recently, impressive results has been seen in other indolent B-cell lymphomas, using PD1 inhibitors in combination with rituximab, following the concept to exploit the maximum of ADCC of rituximab by inhibiting co-inhibitory molecules on effector cells [41]. All this shows that immunotherapy is but also will stay one of the key therapeutic principles in patients with WM in the future.

References

- 1. Buske C, Leblond V. How to manage Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Leukemia. 2013;4:762–72.
- Buske C, Leblond V, Dimopoulos M, Kimby E, Jäger U, Dreyling M, ESMO Guidelines Working Group. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2013 Suppl 6:vi155–9.
- 3. Dimopoulos MA, Kastritis E, Owen RG, Kyle RA, Landgren O, Morra E, et al. Treatment recommendations for patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia (WM) and related disorders: IWWM-7 consensus. Blood. 2014;124:1404–11.
- Gertz MA, Rue M, Blood E, Kaminer LS, Vesole DH, Greipp PR. Multicenter phase 2 trial of rituximab for Waldenström macroglobulinemia (WM): an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Study (E3A98). Leuk Lymphoma. 2004;45:2047–55.
- Treon SP, Agus DB, Link B, Rodrigues G, Molina A, Lacy MQ, et al. CD20-directed antibodymediated immunotherapy induces responses and facilitates hematologic recovery in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. J Immunother. 2001;24:272–79.
- Dimopoulos MA, Zervas C, Zomas A, Kiamouris C, Viniou NA, Grigoraki V, et al. Treatment of Waldenström's macroglobulinemia with rituximab. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20:2327–33.
- 7. Treon SP, Emmanouilides C, Kimby E, Kelliher A, Preffer F, Branagan AR, et al. Extended rituximab therapy in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Ann Oncol. 2005;16:132–38.
- Ghobrial IM, Fonseca R, Greipp PR, Blood E, Rue M, Vesole DH, et al. Initial immunoglobulin M "flare" after rituximab therapy in patients diagnosed with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Study. Cancer. 2004;101:2593–8.
- 9. Wolach O, Bairey O, Lahav M. Late-onset neutropenia after rituximab treatment: case series and comprehensive review of the literature. Medicine (Baltimore). 2010;89:308–18.
- 10. Wolach O, Shpilberg O, Lahav M. Neutropenia after rituximab treatment: new insights on a late complication. Curr Opin Hematol. 2012;19:32–8.
- Li SC, Chen YC, Evens AM, Lee CC, Liao HF, Yu CC, Tung YT, et al. Rituximab-induced late-onset neutropenia in newly diagnosed B-cell lymphoma correlates with Fc receptor FcγRIIIa 158(V/F) polymorphism. Am J Hematol. 2010;85:810–2.
- 12. Furman RR, Eradat H, Switzky J. A phase II trial of Ofatumumab in subjects with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2011: 118: Abstract 3701.
- Treon SP, Hanzis C, Tripsas C, Ioakimidis L, Patterson CJ, Manning RJ, Sheehy P. Bendamustine therapy in patients with relapsed or refractory Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;1:133–5.
- 14. Treon SP, Soumerai JD, Hunter ZR, Patterson CJ, Ioakimidis L, Kahl B, et al. Long-term follow-up of symptomatic patients with lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/Waldenström' macroglobulinemia treated with the anti-CD52 monoclonal antibody alemtuzumab. Blood. 2011;118:276–81.
- 15. Treon SP, Hanzis C, Manning RJ, Ioakimidis L, Patterson CJ, Hunter ZR, et al. Maintenance rituximab is associated with improved clinical outcome in rituximab naïve patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia who respond to a rituximab-containing regimen. Br J Haematol. 2011;154:357–62.

- Bishton M, Spencer A, Dickinson M, Ritchie D. A single-arm, phase II study of the anti-blys monoclonal antibody belimumab in symptomatic Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2013;13:575–78.
- 17. Le Garff-Tavernier M, Herbi L, de Romeuf C, Azar N, Roos-Weil D, Bonnemye P, et al. The optimized anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody ublituximab bypasses natural killer phenotypic features in Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Haematologica. 2015;10:147–51.
- 18. Buske C, Hoster E, Dreyling M, Eimermacher H, Wandt H, Metzner B, et al. The addition of rituximab to front-line therapy with CHOP (R-CHOP) results in a higher response rate and longer time to treatment failure in patients with lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma: results of a randomized trial of the German Low-Grade Lymphoma Study Group (GLSG). Leukemia. 2009;23:153–61.
- Dimopoulos MA, Anagnostopoulos A, Kyrtsonis MC, Zervas K, Tsatalas C, Kokkinis G, et al. Primary treatment of Waldenström macroglobulinemia with dexamethasone, rituximab, and cyclophosphamide. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:3344–49.
- 20. Dimopoulos MA, Maria Roussou M, Kastritis E, Hadjiharissi E, Kyrtsonis MC, Symeonidis A, et al. Primary treatment of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with dexamethasone, rituximab and cyclophosphamide (DRC): final analysis of a phase II study. Blood. 2012;120:438.
- Ioakimidis L, Patterson CJ, Hunter ZR, Soumerai JD, Manning RJ, Turnbull B, et al. Comparative outcomes following CP-R, CVP-R, and CHOP-R in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9:62–6.
- 22. Treon SP, Ioakimidis L, Patterson CJ, Soumerai JD, Sheehy P, Nelson M, et al. Primary therapy of Waldenström macroglobulinemia with bortezomib, dexamethasone, and rituximab: WMCTG clinical trial 05–180. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:3830–35.
- 23. Treon SP, Soumerai JD, Branagan AR, Hunter ZR, Patterson CJ, Ioakimidis L, et al. Lenalidomide and rituximab in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:355–60.
- 24. Laszlo D, Andreola G, Rigacci L, Fabbri A, Rabascio C, Mancuso P, et al. Rituximab and subcutaneous 2-chloro-2'-deoxyadenosine combination treatment for patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: clinical and biologic results of a phase II multicenter study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:2233–38.
- 25. Tam CS, Wolf M, Prince HM, Januszewicz EH, Westerman D, Lin KI, et al. Fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab for the treatment of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia or indolent non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Cancer. 2006;106:2412–20.
- 26. Tedeschi A, Benevolo G, Varettoni M, Battista ML, Zinzani PL, Visco C, et al. Fludarabine plus cyclophosphamide and rituximab in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: an effective but myelosuppressive regimen to be offered to patients with advanced disease. Cancer. 2012;118:434–43.
- Souchet L, Levy V, Ouzegdouh M, Tamburini J, Delmer A, Dupuis J, et al. Efficacy and long-term toxicity of rituximab-fludarabine-cyclophosphamide combination therapy in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol. 2016 May 2. doi: 10.1002/ajh.24405. [Epub ahead of print].
- Tedeschi A, Ricci F, Goldaniga MC, Benevolo G, Varettoni M, Motta M, et al. Fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab in salvage therapy of Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2013;2:208–10.
- Weber DM, Dimopoulos MA, Delasalle K, Rankin K, Gavino M, Alexanian R. -2-chlorodeoxyadenosine alone and in combination for previously untreated Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:243–47.
- Treon SP, Soumerai JD, Branagan AR, Hunter ZR, Patterson CJ, Ioakimidis L, et al. Thalidomide and rituximab in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2008;112:4452–57.
- 31. Rummel MJ, Niederle N, Maschmeyer G, Banat GA, von Grünhagen U, Losem C, et al. Bendamustine plus rituximab versus CHOP plus rituximab as first-line treatment for

patients with indolent and mantle-cell lymphomas: an open-label, multicentre, randomised, phase 3 non-inferiority trial. Lancet. 2013;381:1203–10.

- 32. Tedeschi A, Picardi P, Ferrero S, Benevolo G, Margiotta Casaluci G, et al. Bendamustine and rituximab combination is safe and effective as salvage regimen in Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2015;56:2637–42.
- 33. Ghobrial IM, Hong F, Padmanabhan S, Badros A, Rourke M, Leduc R, et al. Phase II trial of weekly bortezomib in combination with rituximab in relapsed or relapsed and refractory Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:1422–28.
- 34. Dimopoulos MA, García-Sanz R, Gavriatopoulou M, Morel P, Kyrtsonis MC, Michalis E, et al. Primary therapy of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia (WM) with weekly bortezomib, low-dose dexamethasone, and rituximab (BDR): long-term results of a phase 2 study of the European Myeloma Network (EMN). Blood. 2013;122:3276–82.
- 35. Cao Y, Hunter ZR, Liu X, Xu L, Yang G, Chen J, et al. CXCR4 WHIM-like frameshift and nonsense mutations promote ibrutinib resistance but do not supplant MYD88(L265P)-directed survival signalling in Waldenström macroglobulinaemia cells. Br J Haematol. 2015;168:701–7.
- 36. Treon SP, Tripsas CK, Meid K, Kanan S, Sheehy P, Chuma S, et al. Carfilzomib, rituximab, and dexamethasone (CaRD) treatment offers a neuropathy-sparing approach for treating Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2014;124:503–10.
- 37. Gopal AK, Kahl BS, de Vos S, Wagner-Johnston ND, Schuster SJ, Jurczak WJ, et al. PI3Kδ inhibition by idelalisib in patients with relapsed indolent lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2014;370:1008–18.
- Treon SP, Tripsas CK, Meid K, Warren D, Varma G, Green R, et al. Ibrutinib in previously treated Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:1430–40.
- Morel P, Duhamel A, Gobbi P, Dimopoulos MA, Dhodapkar MV, McCoy J, et al. International prognostic scoring system for Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;113:4163–70.
- 40. Dimopoulos MA, Kastritis E, Delimpassi S, Zomas A, Kyrtsonis MC, Zervas K. The international prognostic scoring system for Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia is applicable in patients treated with rituximab-based regimens. Haematologica. 2008;93:1420–2.
- 41. Westin JR, Chu F, Zhang M, Fayad LE, Kwak LW, Fowler N, et al. Safety and activity of PD1 blockade by pidilizumab in combination with rituximab in patients with relapsed follicular lymphoma: a single group, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15:69–77.
- 42. Ghobrial IM, Xie W, Padmanabhan S, Badros A, Rourke M, Leduc R, et al. Phase II trial of weekly bortezomib in combination with rituximab in untreated patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol. 2010;85:670–74.
- 43. Treon SP, Hansen M, Branagan AR, Verselis S, Emmanouilides C, Kimby E, et al. Polymorphisms in FcgammaRIIIA (CD16) receptor expression are associated with clinical response to rituximab in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:474–81.
- 44. Treon SP, Branagan AR, Ioakimidis L, Soumerai JD, Patterson CJ, Turnbull B, et al. Longterm outcomes to fludarabine and rituximab in Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;113:3673–78.

Signal Inhibitors in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia

Steven P. Treon, Guang Yang, Zachary R. Hunter, and Jorge J. Castillo

22.1 Targeting Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase Signaling in WM

Whole genome sequencing has revealed activating somatic mutations in MYD88 (L265P) and the C-terminal domain of CXCR4 in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (WM) [1, 2]. In WM cells, MYD88^{L265P} triggers NFkB directed pro-survival signaling via two divergent pathways involving Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK) and IRAK1/IRAK4 (Fig. 22.1). Ibrutinib is an orally administered, small molecule inhibitor of BTK, which triggers apoptosis of MYD88^{L265P}-expressing WM cells [3, 4]. A prospective trial involving 63 previously treated WM patients administered ibrutinib (420 mg) until progression or intolerance [5]. Following treatment with ibrutinib, median serum IgM levels for the 63 WM patients who received ibrutinib declined from 3520 to 880 mg/dL at best response. In pre-therapy, 46/63 (73.0%) patients had a serum IgM >3000 mg/dL and following treatment, at best response, 6/63 (9.5%) patients had a serum IgM >3000 mg/dL. Median bone marrow involvement also decreased from 60 to 25 %, while hemoglobin increased from a median of 10.5 to 13.8 g/dL at best response. Responses included very good partial response (n = 10), partial response (n = 36), and minimal response (n = 11) for overall and major responses of 90.5% and 73.0%, respectively. The median time to at least minor and partial responses was 4 and 8 weeks, respectively. Overall responses were similar regardless of baseline age (<65 versus >65 years), ECOG status (0 versus >1), pre-therapy WM International Prognostic Scoring System score, serum β_2 -microglobulin levels (<3.0 versus >3.0 mg/L), hemoglobin (<11 versus >11 g/dL), serum IgM (<4000 versus ≥4000 mg/dL),

S.P. Treon, MD, PhD (⊠) • G. Yang, PhD • Z.R. Hunter, PhD • J.J. Castillo, MD Bing Center for Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia, Dana Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA, USA

Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA e-mail: steven_treon@dfci.harvard.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_22



Fig. 22.1 Model of survival signaling directed by activating mutations in MYD88 and CXCR4 in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia

bone marrow disease involvement (<50% versus $\ge 50\%$), prior relapsed or refractory status, and prior lines of therapy (1–3 versus >3).

The activity of ibrutinib against extramedullary disease was also assessed in this study. CT-defined adenopathy (≥ 1.5 cm) was present in 37 of the 63 patients at baseline. Serial imaging for 35 of these patients showed decreased or resolved (67.6%), stable (24.3%), or increased (n = 2.9%) adenopathy. Two patients came off study before repeat imaging was required. Among 7 patients with CT-defined splenomegaly (≥ 15 cm), spleen size was decreased (57.1%), stable (28.6%), or not evaluable (14.3%) following elective splenectomy. The impact of ibrutinib against IgM-related morbidity was also assessed. Nine patients (14.3%), 3 with positive anti-MAG antibodies, received ibrutinib for progressive IgM-related peripheral sensory neuropathy. All responded, and subjective improvements in peripheral sensory neuropathy occurred in five and remained stable in four during the treatment course. Symptomatic hyperviscosity related to progressive disease that required plasmapheresis prompted start of ibrutinib in 4 patients. All responded and none required additional plasmapheresis by the end of Cycle 2. One patient required plasmapheresis for acquired Factor VIII deficiency. He responded and did not require further plasmapheresis. The

spontaneous bleeding events that prompted therapy also resolved and this patient continued on ibrutinib.

With a median on treatment duration of 19.1 (range: 0.5-29.7) months, the estimated progression-free and overall survival at 24 months was 69.1% and 95.2%, respectively. For patients with progressive disease, the median time to progression was 9.6 (range: 3.5-19.4) months if transformation cases were censored and 9.5 (range: 3.5-19.4) months if transformation events were included. Subset analysis showed that >3 prior lines of therapy and high pre-therapy IPSS score were associated with inferior progression-free survival.

Overall, treatment was well tolerated among previously treated WM patients who received ibrutinib. Grade \geq 3 neutropenia and thrombocytopenia occurred in 14.32 % and 12.72 % of patients and occurred more commonly in patients with \geq 3 prior therapies. Ibrutinib-related neutropenia and thrombocytopenia were reversible, though necessitated dose reduction and/or treatment discontinuation in 3 and 4 patients, respectively. Grade \geq 2 bleeding events occurred in 4 patients (2 epistaxis, 2 post-procedure bleeding). Fish oil supplements contributed to both grade 2 epistaxis events and resolved with their discontinuation. Infections at least possibly associated with ibrutinib were few, and in most cases, IgA and IgG hypogammaglobulinemia preexisted. Ibrutinib did not significantly alter serum IgA and IgG levels as has also been observed in chronic lymphoid leukemia and mantle cell lymphoma patients [6, 7]. Collectively, the safety and IgA/IgG-sparing effects distinguish ibrutinib from other salvage options in WM [8, 9]. Transient increases in serum IgM levels, however, commonly occur during hold periods for toxicity or procedures and recover with reinstitution of therapy.

Atrial fibrillation related to ibrutinib occurred in 3 patients in this study, all of whom had a prior history of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. Atrial fibrillation resolved after ibrutinib was held, without cardiological intervention, and protocol therapy resumed uneventfully in all three patients. Atrial fibrillation associated with ibrutinib therapy was also been observed in patients with previously treated CLL in approximately 5 % of patients. Off-target effects may be responsible for both atrial fibrillation and bleeding diathesis associated with ibrutinib.

In a more recent study, the impact of MYD88 and CXCR4 mutation status was also assessed for ibrutinib response [10]. Both L265P and non-L265P MYD88 activating mutations, as well as CXCR4 WHIM mutations, were assessed. Activating CXCR4 somatic mutations in WM are similar to germline mutations found in WHIM (Warts, Hypogammaglobulinemia, Infections, and Myelokathexis) syndrome patients [11]. At least 30 different CXCR4^{WHIM} somatic mutations are present in WM [2, 12]. Tumor cells engineered to express CXCR4^{WHIM} mutations show enhanced activation of pro-survival factors, AKT and ERK (Fig. 22.1), and decreased in vitro ibrutinib-related apoptosis [13–15]. Overall and major response rates were highest in patients with MYD88^{L265P}CXCR4^{WT} (100% and 92%), followed by MYD88^{L265P}CXCR4^{WHIM} (86% and 62%) and MYD88^{WT}CXCR4^{WT} (60% and 0%) [10]. Overall and major response rates improved with prolonged therapy (>6 cycles) in patients with MYD88^{L265P}CXCR4^{WT} and MYD88^{L265P}CXCR4^{WHIM}, with more pronounced improvements occurring for the latter [5]. Best serum IgM and hemoglobin responses were also impacted by tumor

genotype, with improvements most evident in patients with MYD88^{L265P}CXCR4^{WT} and least in those with MYD88^{WT}CXCR4^{WT} [5]. Lastly, MYD88^{WT}CXCR4^{WT} mutation status was associated with inferior progression-free survival [5]. Therefore, the use of ibrutinib should be reserved for those patients with MYD88 mutated disease, and genotyping of tumor cells for MYD88 status should be considered in all WM patients being considered for ibrutinib therapy [8].

The single agent activity of ibrutinib in WM has also been reported in two other studies [16, 17]. The outcome of four previously treated WM patients who received ibrutinib as part of a Phase I study was reported in one of these studies wherein patients received 12.5 mg/kg/day to 560 mg a day of ibrutinib. Three of 4 WM patients included in this study achieved a major response and continued to respond >4 years following start of ibrutinib therapy [16]. Treatment was well tolerated for these individuals. One patient required dose reduction from 560 to 420 mg for atrial fibrillation. Dimopoulos et al. [17] reported the outcome of 31 rituximab refractory WM patients with a median prior therapies of four (range 1-8) that received treatment as part of an open-label, multicenter study. With a median follow-up of 7.7 months, the overall response rate was 84 % with major responses achieved in 65 % of patients. Treatment was well tolerated with common grade ≥ 3 adverse events that included neutropenia (13%), anemia, diarrhea, hypertension, and thrombocytopenia (6%) each). No episodes of atrial fibrillation were observed within the follow-up period in this study. One patient with wild-type MYD88 disease had early progressive disease. A frontline study examining the activity of ibrutinib has also been initiated and will also be examining subclonal evolution through longitudinal deep genomic sequencing. In addition to ibrutinib, other oral BTK-directed inhibitors are being investigated for their activity in WM patients including ACP-196, ONO/GS-4059, and BGB-3111.

While ibrutinib targets BTK, suppression of other kinases such as HCK may also contribute to responses in WM patients. HCK and IL6 transcription are both upregulated by MYD88 L265P [18]. IL6 triggers activation of HCK through IL6ST, and activated HCK triggers BTK, AKT, and ERK-directed pro-survival signaling. Ibrutinib binds to and suppresses HCK activation and blocks ATP kinase activity. In MYD88-mutated WM cells, transduction with either wild-type HCK or HCK bearing a mutated gatekeeper (T333M) leads to higher levels of ibrutinib resistance versus transduction with either wild-type BTK or BTK bearing a mutated ibrutinib binding site (C481S). The use of a more potent HCK inhibitor (A419259) versus ibrutinib also showed higher levels of WM cell killing compared to ibrutinib in MYD88-mutated WM and ABC DLBCL cells identifying HCK as a novel therapeutic target in WM [18].

22.2 Targeting PI3Kδ/AKT Signaling in WM

PI3K δ is triggered by activating mutations in MYD88 and CXCR4 [13, 14, 18, 19]. The use of inhibitors that target PI3K δ /AKT pathway has been investigated in WM. Everolimus is an oral inhibitor of the AKT–mTOR pathway. Inhibition of this pathway leads to apoptosis of primary WM cells and WM cell lines [20]. Sixty patients with a median of three prior therapies were treated with everolimus in a joint Dana Farber/Mayo Clinic study [21]. The ORR was 73%, with 50% of

patients attaining a major response. The median PFS in this study was 21 months. Grade 3 or higher related toxicities were observed in 67% of patients with cytopenias constituting the most common toxicity. Pulmonary toxicity occurred in 5 % of patients and dose reductions due to toxicity occurred in 52 % of patients. A clinical trial examining the activity of everolimus in 33 previously untreated patients with WM was recently reported by the WMCTG that included serial bone marrow biopsies in response assessment [22]. The ORR in this study was 72%, including partial or better responses in 60% of patients. However, discordance between serum IgM levels upon which consensus criteria for response are based and BM disease response was common and complicated response assessment. At assessments performed at 6 months, 10 of 22 (45.5%) patients for whom both serum IgM and BM assessments were performed, discordance between serum IgM and BM disease involvement was observed. Among these patients, 2 had no change and 8 had increased bone marrow disease involvement despite decreases in serum IgM levels. Grade ≥ 2 hematologic and non-hematologic toxicities related to everolimus were predominately hematological, including anemia (39.4%), thrombocytopenia (12%), and neutropenia (18.2%). Non-hematological toxicities included oral ulcerations (27.3%) that improved with oral dexamethasone swish and spit solution and pneumonitis (15%); the latter leading to treatment discontinuation in 5 patients.

The PI3K δ inhibitor, idelalisib, has also been examined in 10 previously treated WM patients that were treated in a prospective, multicenter study with various indolent B-cell malignancies. A 70% overall response rate was observed among the WM patients included in this series [23]. Idelalisib has received approval by the U.S. FDA for other malignant B-cell indications, and a prospective study to more clearly define the role of this agent in previously treated WM patients will be commencing.

22.3 Targeting TLR Signaling in WM

Knockdown of TLRs 7 and 9 has been shown to block NFkB signaling in MYD88^{L265P} –expressing cells and induce cytotoxicity [24]. IMO-8400 is an oligonucleotide designed to inhibit Toll-receptors (TLRs) 7, 8, and 9 and induces cytotoxicity in MYD88^{L265P}–expressing WM cells [25]. A clinical trial examining the safety and efficacy of IMO-8400 in WM has been initiated. IRAK1 and IRAK4 are kinases that mediate MYD88^{L265P}-directed NFkB signaling [3, 26]. Inhibition of these kinases leads to apoptosis of WM cells and the combination of inhibitors targeting BTK and IRAK1/4 induces synergistic tumor cell killing [3, 26]. Compounds that inhibit IRAK signaling have been developed and are under intense preclinical investigation for use in MYD88^{L265P} relevant diseases at this time [27, 28].

22.4 Targeting BCL-2 Signaling in WM

The antiapoptotic factor, BCL-2, is overexpressed in WM disease, though the etiology for this finding remains to be clarified [29, 30]. The BCL-2 inhibitor, ABT-199, induces apoptosis and shows at least additive antiapoptotic activity against WM cells co-treated with either ibrutinib or idelalisib [31]. In a prospective clinical study that included previously treated patients with various indolent B-cell malignancies, 3 of 4 WM patients demonstrated a response including one CR [32]. A prospective study to evaluate ABT-199 in WM patients with previously treated disease is contemplated, and future studies examining ABT-199 in combination with other active agents in WM including ibrutinib or idelalisib will also be of interest.

22.5 Targeting CXCR4 Signaling in WM

The C-terminal domain of CXCR4 is mutated in 30–35 % of patients and enhances SDF-1a triggered AKT and ERK signaling in WM cells engineered to express nonsense or frameshift mutations [2, 13–15]. Ibrutinib suppresses AKT and ERK signaling in CXCR4 wild-type expressing cells, but not mutated CXCR4 cells. AKT is hyperphosphorylated in malignant lymphoplasmacytic cells taken from the biopsies of WM patients with mutated CXCR4 and remains constitutively active despite ibrutinib therapy [13]. In preclinical studies, use of CXCR4 antagonists (plerixafor, ulocuplumab) blocked SDF-1a rescue of apoptosis mediated by ibrutinib, idelalisib, and other WM relevant therapeutics [13–15]. A long-term study of plerixafor in patients with germline WHIM syndrome showed that CXCR4 inhibition was both safe and effective, and a trial examining the combination of ibrutinib with the CXCR4 antagonist antibody ulocuplumab in CXCR4-mutated WM patients is being planned [33].

| Agent | Target | Pathway | Status | Supporting references | |
|----------------|-------------|-----------------|---|--|--|
| Ibrutinib | BTK, HCK | MYD88 | Approved for WM (FDA, EMA) | Treon et al. [5], Furman et al. [16], Dimopoulos et al. [17] | |
| ACP-196 | BTK | MYD88 | Investigational | www.clinicaltrials.gov | |
| ONO/GS 4059 | ВТК | MYD88 | Investigational | www.clinicaltrials.gov | |
| BGB-3111 | BTK | MYD88 | Investigational | Tam et al. [34] | |
| Idelalisib | ΡΙ3Κδ | MYD88, CXCR4 | Approved (CLL), investigational (WM) | Gopal et al. [23], www. clinicaltrials.gov | |
| Everolimus | MTOR | MYD88, CXCR4 | Approved (multiple indications), investigational (WM) | Ghobrial et al. [21], Treon et al. [22], www. clinicaltrials.gov | |
| Ulocuplumab | CXCR4 | CXCR4 | Investigational | Study pending | |
| ABT-199 | BCL-2 | BCL-2 | Investigational | Davids et al. [32], www. clinicaltrials.gov | |

Table 22.1 Targeted therapies in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia

22.6 Summary

In summary, the genomic revelations made possible by whole genome sequencing have enabled the development of targeted therapies for the treatment of WM. Other agents targeting MYD88-, CXCR4-, and BCL-2-related pathways are currently in clinical trials and will likely bring forward additional targeted agents for the treatment of this disease. Lastly, tumor genomics will play an even greater role in the future for designing personalized treatment approaches for WM patients (Table 22.1).

References

- 1. Treon SP, Xu L, Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Cao Y, et al. MYD88 L265P somatic mutation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(9):826–33.
- HunterZR XL, YangG ZY, LiuX CY, et al. The genomic landscape of Waldenstöm's macroglobulinemia is characterized by highly recurring MYD88 and WHIM-like CXCR4 mutations, and small somatic deletions associated with B-cell lymphomagenesis. Blood. 2014;123:1637–46.
- 3. Yang G, Zhou Y, Liu X, Xu L, Cao Y, Manning RJ, et al. A mutation in MYD88 (L265P) supports the survival of lymphoplasmacytic cells by activation of Bruton tyrosine kinase in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2013;122:1222–32.
- Advani R, Buggy JJ, Sharman JP, Smith SM, Boyd TE, Grant B, et al. Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor ibrutinib (PCI-32765) has significant activity in patients with relapsed/refractor B-cell malignancies. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:88–94.
- 5. Treon SP, Tripsas CK, Meid K, et al. Ibrutinib in previously treated patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:1430–40.
- 6. Byrd JC, Furman RR, Coutre SE, et al. Targeting BTK with ibrutinib in relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2013;369:32–42.
- Wang ML, Rule S, Martin P, et al. Targeting BTK with ibrutinib in relapsed or refractory mantle-cell lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369:507–16.
- 8. Treon SP, How I. Treat Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2015;126:721-32.
- 9. Dimopoulos M, Kastritis E, Owen R, et al. Treatment recommendations for patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (WM) and related disorders: consensus from the seventh international workshop on WM. Blood. 2014;124:1404–11.
- Treon SP, Xu L, Hunter ZR. MYD88 Mutations and response to ibrutinib in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:584–6.
- Dotta L, Tassone L, Badolato R. Clinical and genetic features of Warts, Hypogammaglobulinemia, Infections and Myelokathexis (WHIM) syndrome. Curr Mol Med. 2011;11:317–25.
- Treon SP, Cao Y, Xu L, et al. Somatic mutations in MYD88 and CXCR4 are determinants of clinical presentation and overall survival in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2014;123:2791–6.
- Cao Y, Hunter ZR, Liu X, et al. The WHIM-like CXCR4^{S338X} somatic mutation activates AKT and ERK, and promotes resistance to ibrutinib and other agents used in the treatment of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Leukemia. 2015;29:169–76.
- 14. Cao Y, Hunter ZR, Liu X, Xu L, Chen J, Tsakmaklis N, et al. CXCR4 WHIM-like frameshift and nonsense mutations promote ibrutinib resistance but do not supplant MYD88^{L265P}-directed survival signaling in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia cells. Br J Haematol. 2015;168:701–7.
- Rocarro AM, Saco A, Jimenez C, et al. C1013G/CXCR4 acts as a driver mutation of tumor progression and modulator of drug resistance in lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. Blood. 2014;123:4129–31.
- Furman R, Bilotti E, Graef T. Single-agent ibrutinib demonstrates long-term activity and safety in patients with relapsed/refractory Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Proc Eur Hematol Assoc. 2015; Abstract PB1786.

- 17. Dimopoulos M, Trotman J, Tedeschi A, et al. Ibrutinib therapy in rituximab-refractory patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: initial results from an international, multicenter, open-label phase 3 substudy (INNOVATETM). Proc Am Soc Hematol. 2015; Abstract 2745.
- Yang G, Buhrlage S, tan L, et al. HCK is a highly relevant target of ibrutinib in MYD88 mutated Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Proc Am Soc Hematol. 2015; Abstract 705.
- Yang G, Liu X, Zhou Y, et al. PI3K/AKT pathway is activated by MYD88 L265P and use of PI3K-delta inhibitors induces robust tumor cell killing in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2013;121: Abstract 4255.
- 20. Leleu X, Jia X, Runnels J, et al. The akt pathway regulates survival and homing in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2007;110:4417–26.
- Ghobrial IM, Witzig TE, Gertz M, et al. Long-term results of the phase II trial of the oral mTOR inhibitor everolimus (RAD001) in relapsed or refractory Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol. 2014;89(3):237–42.
- 22. Treon SP, Tripsas CK, Meid K, et al. Prospective, multicenter study of the MTOR inhibitor everolimus (RAD001) as primary therapy in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2013;122: Abstract 1822.
- 23. Gopal AK, Kahl BS, de Vos S, Wagner-Johnston ND, Schuster SJ, Jurczak WJ, et al. PI3Kő inhibition by idelalisib in patients with relapsed indolent lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2014;370 (11):1008–18.
- 24. Lim KH, Barton GM, Staudt LM. Oncogenic MYD88 mutants require toll-like receptors. Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res. 2013; Abstract 2332.
- 25. Brenner L, Arbeit RD, Sullivan T. IMO-8400, an antagonist of toll-like receptors 7, 8, and 9, in development for genetically defined B-cell lymphomas: safety and activity in phase 1 and phase 2 clinical trials. Proc Am Soc Hematol. 2014; Abstract 3101.
- 26. Ngo VN, Young RM, Schmitz R, et al. Oncogenically active MYD88 mutations in human lymphoma. Nature. 2011;470(7332):115–21.
- 27. Lim KH, Romero DL, Chaudhary D, et al. IRAK4 kinase as a novel therapeutic target in the ABC subtype of diffuse large B cell lymphoma; Proc Am Soc Hematol. 2012; Abstract 62.
- Burhlage S. Kinome targets and inhibitors. 8th International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. August 14–16, 2014; Abstract 27.
- Chng WJ, Schop RF, Price-Troska T, et al. Gene-expression profiling of Waldenström macroglobulinemia reveals a phenotype more similar to chronic lymphocytic leukemia than multiple myeloma. Blood. 2006;108:2755–63.
- Hunter ZR, Xu L, Yang G, Tsakmaklis N, et al. Transcriptome sequencing reveals a profile that corresponds to genomic variants in Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2016;128(6):827–38.
- 31. Cao Y, Yang G, Hunter ZR, et al. The BCL2 antagonist ABT-199 triggers apoptosis, and augments ibrutinib and idelalisib mediated cytotoxicity in CXCR4Wild-type and CXCR4WHIM mutated Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia cells. Br J Haematol. 2015;170 (1):134–8.
- 32. Davids MS, Seymour JF, Gerecitano JF, et al. Phase I study of ABT-199 (GDC-0199) in patients with relapsed/refractory non-Hodgkin lymphoma: responses observed in diffuse large B-cell (DLBCL) and follicular lymphoma at higher cohort doses. J Clin Oncol. 2015; 32(5s): Abstract 8522.
- McDermott DH, Liu Q, Ulrick J, et al. The CXCR4 antagonist plerixafor corrects panleukopenia in patients with WHIM syndrome. Blood. 2011;118:4957–62.
- 34. Tam C, Grigg AP, Opat S, et al. The BTK inhibitor, Bgb-3111, is safe, tolerable, and highly active in patients with relapsed/refractory B-cell malignancies: initial report of a Phase 1 first-in-human trial. Blood. 2015;126:Abst 832.

Immunomodulatory Agents and Proteasome Inhibitors in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia

23

Steven P. Treon, Jorge J. Castillo, Efstathios Kastritis, and Meletios A. Dimopoulos

23.1 Immunomodulatory Drugs

The success of immunomodulatory drugs (IMIDs) and proteasome inhibitors in multiple myeloma prompted in great part their investigation in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia (WM). The IMIDs have been investigated as single agents and in combination therapy (Table 23.1). Dimopoulos et al. [1] observed an overall and major response rate of 25 % in among 20 previously untreated and treated WM patients who received single-agent thalidomide. Dose escalation from the thalidomide (starting dose of 200 mg daily) was hindered by adverse events, particularly the development of peripheral neuropathy that obligated dose reduction or discontinuation of therapy in 25 % of patients. Low-dose thalidomide (50 mg daily) was then explored in combination with dexamethasone (40 mg once a week) and clarithromycin (250 mg orally twice a day) by Coleman et al. [2] in 12 previously treated WM patients. The overall and major response rate in this small study was 83 %, and time to progression was 7 months. Despite the lower thalidomide dose, 40% of patients in this study discontinued thalidomide due to neurotoxicity. Dimopoulos et al. [3] also explored the use of thalidomide (200 mg daily) along with dexamethasone (40 mg once a week) and clarithromycin (500 mg orally twice a day) in 12 previously treated WM patients. The overall and major response rates (i.e., at least partial response) in this study were 42% and 25%, respectively. Thalidomide dose was reduced to 100 mg a day in 5 (42%) patients due to neurotoxicity in this study.

The thalidomide derivative, lenalidomide, has also been explored as a single agent in WM. The results of a multicenter study in France that examined

S.P. Treon, MD, PhD (🖂) • J.J. Castillo, MD

Dana Farber Cancer Institute, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA e-mail: steven_treon@dfci.harvard.edu

E. Kastritis, MD • M.A. Dimopoulos, MD National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, School of Medicine, Athens, Greece

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_23

| Study | Regimen | N= | Population | ORR (%) | Major RR (%) | Response duration |
|--------------------------|--------------|----|----------------------------------|------------|-----------------|-------------------|
| Dimopoulos et al. [1] | Thalidomide | 20 | Untreated, previously treated | 25 | 20 | N/A |
| Coleman et al. [2] | BLT-D | 12 | Previously treated | 83 | 83 | 7 mo (TTP) |
| Dimopoulos et al. [3] | CTD | 12 | Previously treated | 42 | 25 | N/A |
| Leleu et al. [4] | Lenalidomide | 17 | Previously treated | 36 | N/A | 16 mo (TTP) |
| Treon et al. [8] | ThalR | 25 | Untreated, previously treated | 72 | 64 | 35 mo (TTP) |
| Treon et al. [9] | LenR | 16 | Untreated, previously treated | 50 | 25 | 17 mo (TTP) |
| Treon et al. [10] | PDR | 7 | Previously treated | 43 | 43 | 15 mo (DOR) |

 Table
 23.1
 Immunomodulatory
 drug-based
 treatment
 studies
 in
 Waldenstrom's

 macroglobulinemia

BLT-D clarithromycin (BiaxinTM), low dose thalidomide, dexamethasone; *CTD* clarithromycin, thalidomide, dexamethasone; *ThalR* thalidomide, rituximab; *LenR* lenalidomide, rituximab; *PDR* pomalidomide, dexamethasone, rituximab; *N/A* not available; *mo* months; *TTP* time to progression; *DOR* duration of response

lenalidomide were recently reported [4]. Seventeen previously treated patients with a median of one prior therapy were enrolled. The maximum tolerated dose achieved in this Phase I/II study was 15 mg/day 21 days out of 28. Only 7/17 (41 %) patients completed 1 year of single agent lenalidomide on this dose. On an intent-to-treat basis, the overall response rate was 36 %. A flare in serum IgM levels was observed in five patients. With a median follow-up of 36 months, 14 patients progressed with a median time to progression of 16 months. The most common adverse event was fatigue of at least grade 2 that was reported in 50 % of study patients. Grade \geq 3 anemia (14 %) and neutropenia (43 %) were the main hematological toxicities. No grade \geq 3 thrombocytopenia was observed. Moreover, no second primary malignancy or thromboembolic events were reported.

The combination of IMIDs with rituximab has also been explored. Thalidomide and lenalidomide were shown to significantly augment rituximab-mediated antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) against lymphoplasmacytic cells [5]. An expansion of natural killer cells was also observed with thalidomide, which in previous studies was shown to be associated with improved rituximab response [6, 7]. In view of these data, the WMCTG conducted three Phase II clinical trials in symptomatic patients with WM combining either thalidomide, lenalidomide or pomalidomide with rituximab [8–10]. In the thalidomide plus rituximab study, 25 untreated and previously treated patients not exposed to either thalidomide or rituximab were enrolled. Intended therapy consisted of thalidomide administered at 200 mg daily for 2 weeks, followed by 400 mg daily thereafter for 1 year [8]. Patients received four weekly infusions of rituximab at 375 mg/m² beginning 1 week after initiation of thalidomide, followed by four additional weekly infusions of rituximab at 375 mg/m² beginning at week 13. A flare in serum IgM was experienced in 50% of patients on thalidomide plus rituximab. The overall and major response rates were 72% and 64%, respectively. The median time to progression for all evaluable patients was 35 months in this series. Dose reduction of thalidomide occurred in all patients and led to discontinuation in 11 (44%) patients. Among 11 patients experiencing grade ≥ 2 neuroparesthesias, 10 resolved to grade 1 or less at a median of 7 months. Given the high incidence of treatment-related neuropathy, the investigators recommended that lower doses of thalidomide (i.e., ≤ 200 mg/day) should be considered in this patient population.

In the WMCTG study that investigated lenalidomide and rituximab, 16 patients were initiated on lenalidomide at 25 mg daily on a syncopated schedule, wherein therapy was administered for 3 weeks, followed by a 1-week pause for an intended duration of 48 weeks [9]. Patients received 1 week of therapy with lenalidomide. after which rituximab 375 mg/m² was administered weekly on weeks 2–5 and then on weeks 13–16. A flare in serum IgM was experienced in 75% of patients. The overall and major response rates in this study were 50 % and 25 %, respectively, and the median TTP for all evaluable patients was 17 months. In two patients with bulky disease, significant reductions in extramedullary disease were observed. An acute decline in hematocrit was also observed during the first 2 weeks of lenalidomide therapy in 13 (81%) patients with a median absolute decrease in hematocrit of 4.8%, resulting in anemia-related complications and hospitalizations for four patients. Despite dose reduction, most patients in this study continued to demonstrate aggravated anemia with lenalidomide. There was no evidence of hemolysis or general myelosuppression with lenalidomide in this study, and the mechanism for lenalidomide-related anemia in WM patients remains to be determined. Toxicities associated with lenalidomide led to its discontinuation in 14 (88%) patients in this study, and the use of this agent in WM patients remains limited.

The combination of pomalidomide, dexamethasone, and rituximab (PDR) was also explored by the WMCTG in previously treated WM patients in a dose escalating Phase I study [10]. Intended therapy consisted of 52 weeks of daily pomalidomide 0.5–4 mg with rituximab 375 mg/m² and dexamethasone 40 mg given intravenously every week on weeks 1–4 and 12–15. Seven patients were enrolled (3 at 0.5 mg and 4 at 1.0 mg of pomalidomide) before study closure for rituximab-related IgM flaring that required recurrent plasmapheresis. Among the seven enrolled patients, 3 (43%) attained a major response (1 VGPR; 2 PR), and three patients were nonresponders. One patient was not evaluable for response. Median time to response was 2.1 months. Three patients required emergent plasmapheresis for an IgM flare and led to discontinuance of protocol therapy. The median response duration was 15.1 months, and all three patients continued to respond at study reporting.
23.2 Proteasome Inhibitors

Unlike IMIDs, proteasome inhibitors (PIs) are widely used in the treatment of WM. Preclinical studies have elucidated multiple mechanisms of action for PIs in WM. Most of the preclinical work has focused on bortezomib, the first-in-class PI. Bortezomib blocks the ubiquitin–proteasome degradation pathway through reversible inhibition of the 26S proteasome, affecting signaling pathways that include NF-kB [11]. The induction of endoplasmic reticulum stress has also been implicated as a mechanism for bortezomib activity leading to disruption of the unfolded protein response that prompts WM cell apoptosis [12, 13]. PIs may also impact the supportive bone marrow microenvironment in WM as has also been implicated for its activity in multiple myeloma [12, 13]. Bortezomib has also demonstrated synergistic and/or additive preclinical activity in combination with other agents including steroids, rituximab, and signaling inhibitors in WM cells.

Given the above findings, PIs have undergone clinical investigation as a single agent and as part of combination therapy (Table 23.2). In a multicenter study by the WMCTG, previously treated WM patients received single agent bortezomib $(1.3 \text{ mg/m}^2 \text{ IV})$ on days 1, 4, 8, and 11 out of a 21 day cycle [14]. Twenty-seven patients received up to 8 cycles of bortezomib, and the overall and major response rates in this study were 85 % and 48 %, respectively. Responses were rapid in this trial, with median times to first and best responses of 1.4 months and 4.1 months, respectively. The median TTP for all patients was 7 months. A trend for a longer median TTP was observed in patients achieving a major response (9 months) in this study.

Similar results were also achieved with single agent bortezomib given in a similar manner as the WMCTG trial by the National Cancer Institute of Canada (NCIC) [15]. Twenty-seven untreated and previously treated patients were enrolled in the NCIC trial, wherein overall and major response rates were 78 % and 44 %, respectively. The median time to first response was 1.5 months. Nodal responses were assessed in this study and were slower, though occurred in most patients with a median time to response of 12 weeks. The median PFS for all patients was 16 months in this study. Dimopoulos et al. [16] also investigated the activity of single agent bortezomib in 10 previously treated patients. A major response was observed in 6 patients (60 %), while two (20 %) additional patients attained a minor response for an overall response rate of 80 %. The median time to a major response was 16 weeks, and the TTP was expected to exceed 11 months for responders. While changes in serum IgM are used to determine responses in WM, discordance between serum IgM and bone marrow burden reductions has been reported in studies examining single agent bortezomib [14, 17].

To improve depth of response as well as progression-free survival, combination therapies with bortezomib have been evaluated. The combination of bortezomib, dexamethasone, and rituximab (BDR) was investigated by the WMCTG as primary therapy in 23 WM patients [18]. Patients received, by intravenous injection, bortezomib at 1.3 mg/m² along with dexamethasone 40 mg on days 1, 4, 8, and 11 and rituximab was given on day 11 of each 21 day cycle. In this study, four

| Study | Regimen | N— | Population | ORR | Major RR | Response |
|---------------------------|------------|----|-------------------------------------|-----|-------------|---|
| Treon et al. [14] | Bortezomib | 27 | Previously treated | 85 | 48 | 7 mo (TTP) |
| Chen et al. [15] | Bortezomib | 27 | Untreated, previously treated | 78 | 44 | 16 mo (TTP) |
| Dimopoulos et al. [16] | Bortezomib | 10 | Previously treated | 60 | 20 | >11 mos (DOR) |
| Ghobrial et al. [20] | VR | 26 | Untreated | 88 | 65 | 79% (1 yr EFS) |
| Ghobrial et al. [21] | VR | 37 | Previously treated | 81 | 51 | 16 mo (TTP) |
| Agathocleous et al. [22] | VR | 10 | Previously treated | 90 | 90 | N/A |
| Treon et al. [18, 19] | BDR | 23 | Untreated | 96 | 83 | 66 mo (TTP) |
| Dimopoulos et al. [23] | BDR | 59 | Untreated | 85 | 68 | 43 mo (PFS) |
| Ghobrial et al. [24] | RVR | 36 | Previously treated | 89 | 56 | 21 mo (PFS) |
| Treon et al. [25] | CaRD | 31 | Untreated, previously treated | 87 | 68 | N/R after median follow-up of 15 mo |
| Siegel et al. [26] | Oprozomib | 17 | Previously treated | 59 | 29 | N/A |

Table 23.2 Proteasome inhibitor-based treatment studies in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia

BDR bortezomib, dexamethasone, rituximab; *VR* bortezomib, rituximab; *RVR* RAD001 (EverolimusTM), bortezomib (VelcadeTM), rituximab; *CaRD* carfilzomib, rituximab, dexamethasone

N/A not available; N/R not reached; TTP time to progression; DOR duration of response

cycles were administered as induction therapy. Twelve weeks after induction therapy, one cycle of therapy was given every 12 weeks for a total of four cycles as maintenance therapy. The overall response rate was 96 %, with 83 % of patients achieving a major response. The median time to response was 1.1 months in this study. An IgM flare was observed in only 9 % of patients. In a follow-up report, the median time to progression was 66 months with this regimen [19]. Treatment-related neuropathy contributed to bortezomib discontinuation in 60 % of patients. With the longer follow-up, complete resolution or partial resolution of treatment-related neuropathy to grade 1 was observed in most patients [19]. Dexamethasone-related hyperglycemia, myopathy, and gastritis also prompted omission or dose reduction of steroids in many patients. Furthermore, the addition of steroids to bortezomib was deemed responsible for herpes zoster that occurred in four of the first seven patients entered in this trial, who did not receive herpes zoster prophylaxis, leading to institution of prophylaxis while on active therapy plus six

additional months following end of therapy. The use of famotidine during active therapy along with use of lower dexamethasone dosing with BDR was also recommended by the study investigators.

In an effort to ameliorate steroid-related toxicity, Ghobrial et al. examined bortezomib in combination with rituximab (VR) in both untreated [20] and previously treated [21] patients with WM. In these trials, bortezomib was administered intravenously weekly at 1.6 mg/m² on days 1, 8, 15, and 28 days for six cycles and rituximab given at 375 mg/m^2 weekly during cycles 1 and 4. The overall response rate for the 26 untreated patients who received VR was 88 %, with a major response of 65 % [20]. The median time to progression at time of reporting was not reached, with an estimated 1-year event free rate of 79%. Common grade 3 and 4 therapyrelated adverse events included reversible neutropenia in 12%, anemia in 8%, and thrombocytopenia in 8% of patients. Treatment-related neuropathy was observed in 15% of patients at grade 2 and in none of the patients at the grade 3 or 4 level. Among 37 previously treated patients with VR, the overall response rate was 81%, including 51 % of patients who achieved a major response [21]. The median TTP in this study was 16.4 months. The most common grade 3 and 4 therapy-related adverse events included reversible neutropenia in 16%, anemia in 11%, and thrombocytopenia in 14%. Grade >3 treatment-related peripheral neuropathy occurred in two patients (5%). In the above studies with VR, the rate of rituximab-related IgM flaring was 20–30 %. Agathocleous et al. [22] also examined VR in previously treated WM patients, in a study that also included other lymphoma histologies, and randomized between weekly and twice weekly intravenous bortezomib along with rituximab. Nine of 10 (90%) WM patients in this study had a major response, and four of these patients remained free of progression after 2 years. The risk of neuropathy was not impacted by treatment arm (weekly versus biweekly bortezomib administration) in this study, though only a small number of WM patients were included in each arm.

In a prospective, multicenter clinical trial conducted by the European Myeloma Network (EMN), a novel schedule of administration for BDR was evaluated in 59 untreated WM patients [23]. Patients received twice weekly intravenous bortezomib (1.3 mg/m² days 1, 4, 8, and 11 of a single 21-day cycle) for the first cycle, then weekly (at a dose of 1.6 mg/m² on days 1, 8, 15, and 22 of 35-day cycles) for cycles 2–5, together with dexamethasone (40 mg). Rituximab (375 mg/m²) was dosed weekly in cycles 2 and 5. Unlike the WMCTG trial, no maintenance therapy was employed. An overall response rate of 85 % was attained, including a major response in 68 % of patients. The median PFS in this study was 43 months, and patients with VGPR or better had significantly longer PFS. Treatment-related peripheral neuropathy (PN) occurred at grade 2 in 17 % and grade 3 in 7 % of patients. Rituximab-related IgM flaring was observed in 11 % of patients without need for preemptive plasmapheresis.

The combination of the mTOR inhibitor everolimus with bortezomib and rituximab (RVR) has also been examined in a prospective trial in patients with previously treated WM [24]. Thirty-six patients received six cycles of RVR. Each 28 day cycle consisted of everolimus 10 mg by mouth daily; bortezomib 1.6 mg/m²

was given intravenously weekly on days 1, 8, 15, and for cycles 1 and 4 only; and rituximab 375 mg/m² was given intravenously on days 1, 8, 15, and 22. Following six cycles of therapy, patients continued on everolimus alone as maintenance therapy until progression. Most patients on RVR had received prior rituximab and/or bortezomib. An overall response rate of 89%, with a major response rate of 53% was observed in this study. The median progression-free survival was 21 months. No grade \geq 3 peripheral neuropathy was observed in this study, though cytopenias were commonly observed that included grade \geq 3 anemia (30%), neutropenia (13%), and thrombocytopenia (13%).

Given the reported neuropathy-sparing effects of carfilzomib in myeloma patients, the combination of carfilzomib, rituximab, and dexamethasone (CaRD) was examined in WM patients naïve to bortezomib and rituximab [25]. CaRD therapy consisted of intravenous carfilzomib 20 mg/m² (cycle 1), 36 mg/m² (cycles 2-6) with dexame has one 20 mg on days 1, 2, 8, 9 and rituximab 375 mg/m² on days 2, 9, and every 21 days. Maintenance therapy followed 8 weeks later with intravenous carfilzomib 36 mg/m² and dexamethasone 20 mg on days 1, 2 and rituximab 375 mg/m² on day 2 every 8 weeks for eight cycles. The overall response rate in this study was 87 % and 68 % of patients achieved a major response. MYD88 and CXCR4 tumor mutational status was examined in this study and did not appear to impact response attainment. With a median follow-up of 15.4 months, 20 patients remained progression free at the time of reporting. Grade 2 peripheral neuropathy occurred in one patient with underlying disease-related peripheral neuropathy, and no grade 3 or higher treatment-related neuropathy events were observed. Other grade ≥ 2 toxicities included asymptomatic hyperlipasemia (41.9%), reversible neutropenia (12.9%), and cardiomyopathy in one patient (3.2%) with multiple risk factors. Declines in serum levels of IgA and IgG were common and contributed to recurring sinobronchial infections and IVIG use in a few patients.

Oral PIs are also under investigation in WM patients, and their preliminary experience has been notable for their neuropathy-sparing effects. Oprozomib is an oral epoxyketone proteasome inhibitor that is an analog of carfilzomib. An ORR of 59 % with a major response rate of 29 % was observed in a Phase II study in 17 previously treated WM patients treated with single agent oprozomib [26]. Gastrointestinal intolerance has been a prominent toxicity of oprozomib necessitating antiemetic use. Clinical trials examining the oral proteasome inhibitor ixazomib have also been initiated in combination with dexamethasone and rituximab (IDR) in symptomatic untreated, as previously treated WM patients. Ixazomib was recently approved by the U.S. FDA for treatment of myeloma patients. Results from the IDR trials in WM patients are awaited.

In summary, IMIDs and PIs have shown significant activity in WM. IMIDs have activity in WM, however, their use in this disease is hampered by their toxicity profile. Neurotoxicity of thalidomide is of major concern, while the more potent IMIDs, lenalidomide and pomalidomide, seem to be rather poorly tolerated. In contrast, the high rates of efficacy, particularly in combination therapy, as well as the overall tolerability of PIs have resulted in their adoption as important mainstays of WM therapy. The development of strategies to mitigate neuropathy risk of PIs, including use of weekly, subcutaneous administration for bortezomib and exploration of novel neuropathy sparing agents will invariably lead to further advances in the use of this class of agents in the treatment of WM.

References

- 1. Dimopoulos MA, Zomas A, Viniou NA, Grigoraki V, Galani E, Matsouka C, et al. Treatment of Waldenström's macroglobulinemia with thalidomide. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19:3596–601.
- Coleman C, Leonard J, Lyons L, Szelenyi H, Niesvizky R. Treatment of Waldenström's macroglobulinemia with clarithromycin, low-dose thalidomide and dexamethasone. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:270–4.
- Dimopoulos MA, Zomas K, Tsatalas K, Hamilos G, Efstathiou E, Gika D, et al. Treatment of Waldenström's macroglobulinemia with single agent thalidomide or with combination of clarithromycin, thalidomide and dexamethasone. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:265–9.
- 4. Leleu X, Legouill S, chanaz L, et al. Lenalidomide is safe and active in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Proc Am Soc Hematol. 2014; Abstract 4478.
- Hayashi T, Hideshima T, Akiyama M, et al. Molecular mechanisms whereby immunomodulatory drugs activate natural killer cells: clinical application. Br J Haematol. 2005;128:192–203.
- 6. Davies FE, Raje N, Hideshima T, et al. Thalidomide and immunomodulatory derivatives augment natural killer cell cytotoxicity in multiple myeloma. Blood. 2001;98:210–6.
- Janakiraman N, McLaughlin P, White CA, et al. Rituximab: correlation between effector cells and clinical activity in NHL. Blood. 1998;92:337a.
- Treon SP, Soumerai JD, Branagan AR, et al. Thalidomide and rituximab in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2008;112:4452–7.
- Treon SP, Soumerai JD, Branagan AR, et al. Lenalidomide and rituximab in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;15:355–60.
- Treon SP, Tripsas C, Warren D, et al. Phase I study of pomalidomide, dexamethasone, rituximab (PDR) in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Proceeding 12th International Conference on Malignant Lymphoma 2013; Abstract 536.
- Leleu X, Eeckhoute J, Jia X, et al. Targeting NF-kappaB in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2008;111(10):5068–77.
- 12. Roccaro AM, Leleu X, Sacco A, et al. Dual targeting of the proteasome regulates survival and homing in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2008;111(9):4752–63.
- Sacco A, Aujay M, Morgan B, et al. Carfilzomib-dependent selective inhibition of the chymotrypsin-like activity of the proteasome leads to antitumor activity in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(7):1753–64.
- Treon SP, Hunter ZR, Matous J, et al. Multicenter clinical trial of bortezomib in relapsed/ refractory Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: results of WMCTG Trial 03-248. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(11):3320–5.
- 15. Chen CI, Kouroukis CT, White D, et al. Bortezomib is active in patients with untreated or relapsed Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: a phase II study of the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:1570–5.
- Dimopoulos MA, Anagnostopoulos A, Kyrtsonis MC, et al. Treatment of relapsed or refractory Waldenström's macroglobulinemia with bortezomib. Haematologica. 2005;90 (12):1655–8.
- 17. Strauss SJ, Maharaj L, Hoare S, et al. Bortezomib therapy in patients with relapsed or refractory lymphoma: potential correlation of in vitro sensitivity and tumor necrosis factor alpha response with clinical activity. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:2105–12.
- Treon SP, Ioakimidis L, Soumerai JD, et al. Primary therapy of Waldenström's macroglobulinemia with bortezomib, dexamethasone and rituximab. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:3830–5.

- 19. Treon SP, Meid K, Gustine J, et al. Long-term outcome of a prospective study of bortezomib, dexamethasone and rituximab (BDR) in previously untreated, symptomatic patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Proc Am Soc Hematol. 2015; Abstract 1833.
- 20. Ghobrial IM, Xie W, Padmanabhan S, et al. Phase II trial of weekly bortezomib in combination with rituximab in untreated patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol. 2010;85:670–4.
- Ghobrial IM, Hong F, Padmanabhan S, et al. Phase II trial of weekly bortezomib in combination with rituximab in relapsed or relapsed and refractory Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:1422–8.
- 22. Agathocleous A, Rohatiner A, Rule S, et al. Weekly versus twice weekly bortezomib given in conjunction with rituximab in patients with recurrent follicular lymphoma, mantle cell lymphoma, and Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Br J Haematol. 2010;151:346–53.
- 23. Dimopoulos MA, García-Sanz R, Gavriatopoulou M, et al. Primary therapy of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia (WM) with weekly bortezomib, low-dose dexamethasone, and rituximab (BDR): long-term results of a phase 2 study of the European Myeloma Network (EMN). Blood. 2013;122:3276–82.
- 24. Ghobrial IM, Redd R, Armand P, et al. Phase I/II trial of everolimus in combination with bortezomib and rituximab (RVR) in relapsed/refractory Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Leukemia. 2015; 29(12):2338–46.
- 25. Treon SP, Tripsas CK, Meid K, et al. Carfilzomib, rituximab and dexamethasone (CaRD) is active and offers a neuropathy-sparing approach for proteasome-inhibitor based therapy in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2014;124:503–10.
- 26. Siegel DS, Kaufman JL, Raje NS, et al. Updated results from a multicenter, open-label, doseescalation phase 1b/2 study of single-agent oprozomib in patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia (WM). Proc Am Soc Hematol. 2014; Abstract 1785.

High-Dose Therapy and Haemopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation in Waldenström's Macroglobulinaemia

24

C. Kyriakou

24.1 Introduction

Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia (WM) is, according to the World Health Organisation classification system, a lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma that is characterised by bone marrow infiltration by lymphoplasmacytic cells and associated IgM monoclonal gammopathy [1–3].

WM is a rare disease with overall incidence of approximately three per million persons per year, accounting for approximately 1-2% of all non-Hodgkin lymphomas. The highest incidence of WM occurs among older individuals, with a median age at diagnosis in the 60s [4, 5].

Despite its rarity, our understanding of the disease biology has significantly improved in recent years with the identification of recurrent mutations in the MYD88 and CXCR4 genes. Based on the diversity of clinical and biological features observed in WM patients, therapy should be highly personalised taking into account several individual patient and disease factors such as age, co-morbidities, constitutional symptoms, need for rapid disease response, candidacy for high-dose therapy and haemopoietic stem cell transplantation, IgM levels, cytopenias, presence of hyperviscosity, coagulopathy, cryoglobulinaemia, cold agglutinin disease and peripheral neuropathy.

WM patients with asymptomatic disease should be observed since they have similar survival to the general population [6-8]. The international consensus panel recommendations clearly identified the symptoms and/or signs that indicate the need to start therapy. The standard therapies for symptomatic WM patients at presentation or relapse include a variety of chemotherapeutic agents, monoclonal antibodies and new agents alone or in combinations. However, the rarity of the disease has prevented the development of well-designed prospective comparative

University College London Hospital, London, UK

e-mail: charalampia.kyriakou@uclh.nhs.uk; c.kyriakou@nhs.net; rmgvchr@ucl.ac.uk

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_24

C. Kyriakou, MD, PhD (🖂)

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

clinical trials that are necessary for any drugs or combinations to achieve formal indication. Accordingly, WM has no standard formally approved therapy. This reinforces the recommendations of experts, such as those provided by the consensus panel during the 7th International Workshop for WM [9]. The International Prognostic Scoring System for WM (IPSSWM) has been validated as a reliable tool for treatment decision and it is important to use for the risk stratification for the treatment of WM patients [10–13].

The data on therapies for WM come mainly from non-randomised studies. Based on the available data, as well as the experience in treating patients with low-grade lymphomas, the recommended treatment options for symptomatic disease include anti-CD20-based combinations with alkylating agents, steroids, proteasome inhibitors and purine analogues. The combination of anti-CD20 with dexamethasone cyclophosphamide (DRC), or bendamustine (BR), or fludarabine (RFluCy) or proteasome inhibitors (BRD) have achieved high response rates with relatively less toxicity and adequate duration of responses. The use of chemotherapeutic drug can enable better nodal disease debulking, whilst proteasome inhibitor can achieve rapid response. The use of anti-CD52 antibody has also produced good responses although with higher associated toxicity.

At disease relapse, treatment options depend on the duration and response to prior therapies, the patient's overall condition, age and candidacy for ASCT. Administering the same regimen used as initial treatment could be considered in patients who achieved response that lasted ≥ 12 months, otherwise, alternate single or combination treatments used as primary treatment options are effective salvage therapies. Further advances in new agents keep multiple options available for disease relapse.

24.2 Is There a Role for High-Dose Therapy and Autologous Stem Cell Transplantation in the Treatment of WM?

In the era of a plethora of highly effective and new promising drugs for an indolent disease that frequently affects elderly patients, the role of high-dose therapy and stem cell transplantation (SCT) has remained a controversial option.

From the biological point of view, WM is considered a transition from the mature B lymphoid cell after antigen stimulation in peripheral lymph nodes to the final antibody-secreting plasma cell. Therefore, WM is an intermediate disease between mutated CLL and MM and shares several characteristics with both entities, although the gene transcription profile of WM resembles more that of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL) than that of multiple myeloma (MM) [14]. Both WM characteristics have prompted the use of treatment strategies derived from B-CLL and MM, although the responses have not been predictable as might have been expected according to previous experience with these two entities. The value of SCT for CLL has been well documented [15], although the incidence of WM is considerably lower from both CLL and MM [14, 16]. There is no known typical adverse cytogenetics in WM as happens in the case of MM in which SCT is

regularly contemplated and 17p deletion is an uncommon abnormality [17, 18]. Furthermore, WM is a far less kinetically active cancer than MM [19, 20]. Thus, the low proliferative index rate and the favourable genetics of WM might suggest that high-dose myeloablative therapy could result in deeper and more durable response since the cells have not developed drug resistance and are unlikely to regrow in a short time. As a consequence, someone would expect better outcomes from SCT in WM.

24.3 High-Dose Therapy and Autologous Stem Cell Transplantation

For stem cell transplant candidates at first or subsequent relapses, the choice of first line therapy is important. The use of stem cell toxic therapeutic agents could compromise adequate peripheral blood stem cell mobilisation. Reports on the use of purine analogues in stem cell harvest failure have been reported in other low-grade lymphoma and CLL [21]. Updated treatment recommendations from the 7th International Workshop on WM and the NCNN guidelines specifically advise avoidance of purine nucleoside analogues for potential transplant candidates [22].

Furthermore, the successful haemopoietic stem cell mobilisation is directly related to the number of previous therapy lines and disease response following multiple relapses and consideration of stem cell collection is suggested. Due to borderline patient presentation or relapse age together with financial pressures for stem cell harvest, cryopreservation and storage, the harvest for "rainy days" has not been a standard practice in most nations.

Published literature on SCT for WM was limited to small case series (largest series on ASCT are summarised in Table 24.1). The German group was investigating in a prospective study the feasibility of high-dose therapy and SCT as part of first-line treatment of indolent lymphomas. Twelve WM patients were included, and after an optional cytoreduction with alkylators or fludarabine, they received salvage with Dexa Mini-BEAM for stem cell mobilisation and remission induction followed by myeloablative therapy with total body irradiation (TBI)/high dose cyclophosphamide and stem cell reinfusion. The first 5/12 patients' grafts were vigorously B-Cell depleted. All patients achieved very good partial response and 6 patients had disease progression at a median time of 69 months and with median time to retreatment of 82 months [23].

In another pilot study, five patients were treated with the stem cell transplant as part of initial therapy of WM using Cyclophosphamide/Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor (G-CSF) for stem cell harvest and Melphalan 200 mg/m² as conditioning. The authors reported blood and biochemical responses at a median follow-up of 66 months (range, 56–75); after the ASCT, all patients were evaluable, alive without clinical or serological signs of disease progression and maintain a stable very good partial response [24].

| Author or Series | Year | N | Median follow-up (months) | PFS | OS |
|------------------|------|-----|------------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|
| Initial therapy | | | | | |
| Dreger | 2007 | 12 | 69 | Median PFS: 69 months | 100 % at 69 months |
| Caravita | 2009 | 5 | 66 | 100 % at 66 months | - |
| Kyriakou | 2010 | 69 | 54 | 52% at 5 years | 77 % at 5 years |
| Relapse | | | | | |
| Anagnostopoulos | 2006 | 10 | 63 | 65% at 3 years | 70 % at 3 years |
| Gilleece | 2008 | 9 | 44 | DFS: 43 % at 4 years | 73 % at 4 years |
| Kyriakou | 2010 | 158 | 50 | 40% at 5 years | 69 % at 5 years |

Table 24.1 Autologous stem cell transplantation in WM

PFS progression-free survival, OS overall survival, DFS disease-free survival

Another group reported the outcome of ASCT on six WM patients, two having ASCT as first line therapy and four following disease relapse. Interestingly, this study identified the failure to harvest patients exposed previously on Fludarabine. Melphalan was used as conditioning regimen apart from one patient who had addition of TBI. The responses reported were high with patients been free of disease at follow up at 52, 15, 12 and 2 months, respectively [25].

In another study, eight WM patients underwent ASCT with melphalan-based regimen and seven achieved partial responses, one complete response and five of these eight patients were alive and relapse free at 6–77 months after ASCT [26].

In another publication, on 24 heavily pretreated WM patients who received ASCT with either melphalan or cyclophosphamide-based conditioning and nine of them had additional TBI, the results showed responses in 23/24 patients and 9/23 evaluable patients achieved a complete response [27].

The first report of the French experience on ASCT in 19 WM patients was published in 2003. The median time from diagnosis to transplant was 36 months. High-dose therapy yielded a 95 % response rate and within a median follow-up of 18 months, 12 patients were alive at 10–81 months and eight patients were relapse free at 10–34 months [28].

A retrospective review from the Center for International Blood and Marrow Transplant Research database reported the ASCT outcomes on nine WM patients with relapse or refractory disease and one patient treated as part of first line therapy. The reported progression-free and overall survivals at 3 years with median follow up of 63 months were 65 % and 70 %, respectively [29].

The British Society of Blood and Marrow Transplantation reported nine patients with lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma who were treated at subsequent relapses with ASCT. The median follow-up was 44 months with a 4-year PFS of 43 % and an OS at 4 years of 73 % [30].

The updated French experience on ASCT in 32 heavily pretreated WM has also been reported by Dhedin et al. Conditioning was with BEAM regimen in 13, melphalan and TBI in 9, TBI/cyclophosphamide in seven patients and with a median follow-up of 45 months, the median EFS was 32 months and the 5-year survival was 58 %. The TRM was 12.5 %. Thus, ASCT can achieve long-term responses even in heavily pretreated patients.

The largest cohort, so far, was published on 158 WM patients registered at the European Bone Marrow Transplant Registry (EBMT) and transplanted between 1991 and 2005. The median age at ASCT was 53 years, and at presentation, 37 % of the patients had intermediate-risk and 54 % had a high-risk disease as defined by the ISSWM. Twenty-one percent of the WM patients were autografted in first VGPR (VGPR1), 9% in second VGPR (VGPR2) and 5% in the third or later VGPR (VGPR3). Thirty-one percent of the patients were autografted in first partial response (PR1) and 19% in the second or later PR (PR2). G-CSF alone or in combination with chemotherapy in 77% was used for stem cell mobilisation. Conditioning regimen was chemotherapy-based in the majority of the patients. At a median follow-up of 4.2 years, CR was reported in 22%, VGPR in 50%, PR in 15 and 11% had disease relapse or progression. Sixty-eight percent of the patients were alive and 32 % died, with 26 % dying of disease progression. Incidence of nonrelapse mortality (NRM) was 3.8 % at 1 year, 4.6 % at 3 years and 5.6 % at 5 years post-ASCT. This study reported cumulative incidence of secondary malignancies after ASCT of 8.4 % at 5 years. In addition, analysis had stressed the prior use of fludarabine that was found to be an independent factor for secondary malignancies and also was associated with harvest failure and need for further mobilisation attempts. The OS rate at 5 years was 68.5 and 49% patients were alive and remained progression free, with estimated PFS rates of 39.7 % at 5 years. Fortyfive percent have relapsed or progressed within a median time from transplantation of 1.3 years and the estimated relapse rate was 48 % at 5 years. Chemorefractory disease, >3 prior therapy lines and poor performance were unfavourable factors for NRM, relapse rate (RR), PFS and OS. A subgroup analysis was performed on 69 patients autografted after a first response (VGPR1/PR1) and the estimated PFS at 5 years was 51.5 % and OS at 5 years was 77 % [31].

Although the published data are from small series and all reports are from retrospective studies, none of them reported high ASCT-related toxicity and all suggested that ASCT is a feasible treatment option for WM and produces durable responses. The international WM and the EBMT consensus recommendations suggest that ASCT should not be offered as first line therapy but should be considered a salvage treatment option for transplant eligible patients at first or subsequent disease relapse. It is important for the ASCT candidates to avoid first-line therapies with stem cell toxic chemotherapeutic combinations (Table 24.2). ASCT could also be a bridging therapy with lasting responses in the era of major advances in novel agent development. ASCT is a feasible and effective treatment option for transplant eligible patients but should be offered at early relapses. It can

| Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia |
|--|
| Treatment regimens for fist or subsequent line therapies that might be associated with stem cell |
| toxicity |
| Possible stem cell toxicity and/or unknown |
| Bendamustine \pm rituximab |
| Cladribine \pm rituximab |
| Chlorambucil |
| Fludarabine \pm rituximab |
| Fludarabine/cyclophosphamide \pm rituximab |
| Non-stem cell toxic regimens |
| Alemtuzumab |
| Bortezomib \pm rituximab |
| Bortezomib/dexamethasone |
| Bortezomib/dexamethasone \pm rituximab |
| Cyclophosphamide/doxorubicin/vincristine/prednisolone/rituximab |
| Everolimus |
| Ibrutinib |
| Ofatumumab |
| Rituximab |
| Rituximab/cyclophosphamide/dexamethasone |
| |

Table 24.2 Primary or salvage treatment regimen for Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia by possible stem cell toxicity

result in higher, deeper and lasting response rates with relatively low toxicity. ASCT is not beneficial for patients exposed to more than three line therapies or with chemorefractory disease.

24.4 Is There a Role for High-Dose Therapy and Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation in the Treatment of WM?

If the place of high-dose therapy and autologous stem cell transplantation in the treatment algorithm of the WM is gradually becoming clearer, the role of alloSCT remains still controversial. Data on alloSCT for patients with WM are limited. Certainly, the relatively high age of patients at diagnosis, the increasing therapeutic options for the WM patients and the difficulty to identify those patients destined to do poorly at diagnosis all may have contributed to the limited data. In addition, the unacceptably high NRM reported after myeloablative conditioning (MAC) alloSCT also played a role [28, 29]. NRM after alloSCT decreased in virtually all lymphoma subtypes over the last decade and this has largely been attributed to the introduction of reduced intensity conditioning (RIC). RIC protocols were designed to reduce NRM but to preserve the clinically important graft-versus-lymphoma effect. Initial data on alloSCT for WM are mainly from case reports on patients with refractory or multiply relapsed WM.

A retrospective review on MAC alloSCT in five WM treated with MAC using busulfan and cyclophosphamide combination reported that with a median follow up of 32 months, four of the five patients were alive and disease free, and in addition, a further gradual drop of the serum IgM levels in all patients was observed, suggesting an active graft-versus-WM effect [32].

An earlier case report on a 62-year-old man with refractory WM underwent a RIC alloSCT [33] and small case series on three WM patients from the MD Anderson group [34] reported encouraging outcomes. In another report by Meniane et al., a 52-year-old patient received RIC alloSCT for primary refractory WM disease but without adequate clinical response. Following donor lymphocyte infusion for mixed chimerism and refractory disease, the patient converted to full donor chimerism and developed limited chronic GVHD but the disease response was escalated to complete remission [35].

A systematic review, in six heavily pretreated WM patients, having alloSCT reported prolong survival in three of the six patients. Two patients died from NRM and one from disease progression [36].

The French group reported results in 10 WM patients treated with MAC alloSCT and six patients were alive at 3, 23, 50, 59, 74 and 76 months; however, the NRM was high at 40% [28].

In another review presented by Dhedin et al., at the International WM Workshop in 2006, 11 WM patients received RIC and 11 patients had MAC alloSCT. The reported median EFS had not been reached, the OS was 68 % at 5 years and NRM was 27 % for the RIC group. For the patients treated with MAC alloSCT, the median survival was 36 months, OS at 5 years was 54 % and NRM was 36 %.

Results were reported on 26 WM patients from the Center for International Blood and Marrow Transplant Research registry. MAC alloSCT was used in 58 % of this group and after a median follow-up of 65 months, 35 % of all patients were alive. NRM was 40 % and estimated PFS and OS at 3 years were 31 % and 46 %, respectively [29].

Meniane et al. reviewed reports on 46 WM patients receiving alloSCT. Twelve patients were transplanted using RIC and 34 using the MAC regimen. Survival was 46% and NRM 40% at 3 years [35].

The British group reported the experience of seven patients treated with RIC and 2 with MAC alloSCT. The median follow up was 32 months and NRM was 44 % at 1 year and the DFS and OS at 4 years were 44 % and 56 %, respectively [30].

Although the data from these initial reports were on small patient series, all reported outcomes on heavily pretreated WM patients and pointed to high transplant related toxicity but also suggested that the alloSCT is feasible in a population of WM patients who were refractory or had multiply relapsed disease and could result in prolong survival.

Garnier et al. reported on 25 WM patients, 13 treated with MAC and 11 with RIC alloSCT. Forty-four percent had primary refractory disease and a median of three prior therapy lines. The overall response rate was 92 %, with 50 % of the evaluable patients obtaining complete response. With a median follow-up of 64 months among survivors, the 5-year PFS and OS were 58 % and 67 %, respectively. This report showed that allogeneic stem cell transplants yielded a high rate of complete responses and were potentially curative in poor-risk group of WM patients [37].

Maloney et al. presented, at the fifth International Worskshop for WM in 2008, data on 13 patients with advanced stage WM who underwent allograft with low dose TBI (2 Gy) and fludarabine. The 4-year PFS and OS rates, in a heavily pretreated, chemorefractory group of WM patients, were 60%, NRM was 31% and response rate was 91%; those patients who developed extensive cGVHD had longer survival, suggesting the existence of a graft-versus-WM effect.

The Lymphoma Working Party reported the experience on 86 WM from the European Bone Marrow Transplant Registry. Thirty-seven were treated with myeloablative and 49 with reduced intensity conditioning. Eight patients had failed a previous autologous stem cell transplant and 68.6% had chemosensitive disease at the time of alloSCT. The median follow-up of survivors was 50 months and the overall response rate was 75.6%. The non-relapse mortality at 3 years was 33% for the MAC and 23% for the RIC patients. The 3-year relapse rate was 11% for myeloablative transplants and 25 % for reduced-intensity transplants. The 5-year PFS and OS were 56 % and 62 %, respectively, for myeloablative transplants and 49 % and 64 % for reduced-intensity transplants. Chronic GVHD was associated with higher non-relapse mortality and a lower relapse rate, leading to the improved PFS. This report showed that allogeneic stem cell transplant can induce durable remissions in heavily pretreated patients. The low relapse rate in patients developing chronic GVHD suggests the existence of a clinically relevant graft-versus-Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia effect [38] (largest series on alloSCT are summarised in Table 24.3).

Although there are major diagnostic and therapeutic advances in the management of WM patients, the disease remains still incurable with the current available therapies and following multiple relapses, the duration of responses, if still responding, shortens and ultimately the disease becomes refractory. There is also a recognised by the ISSWM group of patients with poor prognosis disease. The International consensus recommendations suggest that alloSCT should be ideally undertaken in the context of a clinical trial. Due to the rarity of the disease, older group of patients and the smaller subgroup of WM patients that might need the allo-SCT approach, clinical trial with alloSCT for WM is challenging. The information

| Series | | | Follow-up | | | |
|-----------------|------|--------------------|-----------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|
| Author | Year | Ν | (median) | NRM | PFS | OS |
| Anagnostopoulos | 2006 | MAC: 21 RIC: 5 | 75 months | 40 % at 3 years | 31 % at 3 years | 46 % at 3 years |
| Garnier | 2010 | MAC: 12 RIC: 13 | 63 months | 25 % at 1 year | 58 % at 5 years | 67 % at 5 years |
| Kyriakou | 2010 | MAC: 37 | 63 months | 33 % at 3 years | 56 % at 5 years | 62 % at 5 years |
| | | RIC: 49 | 44 months | 23 % at 3 years | 49% at 5 years | 64 % at 5 years |

 Table 24.3
 Allogeneic transplantation in WM

MAC myeloablative conditioning regimen, RIC reduced intensity conditioning regimen, NRM non-relapse mortality, PFS progression-free survival, OS overall survival

from the published data so far, although from small series and retrospective studies, suggests that a group of young alloSCT eligible WM patients can be rescued after multiple line therapies and with chemorefractory disease. The reduced intensity conditioning has become the choice of alloSCT in a rather elderly group of patients in an attempt to reduce toxicity. The association of cGVHD with better PFS and lower relapse rates, together with the fact that donor lymphocyte infusion can escalate disease response, favours the existence of graft-versus-WM effect. AlloSCT is associated with relatively higher toxicity. Patients who survive the toxicity of alloSCT can be potentially cured from this approach. This treatment option should remain as possible line therapy at advanced stage unless patients belong to the primary refractory group to conventional therapies group and then someone should consider the overall short- and long-term benefit of these patients and proceed to the procedure at earlier stage. It should remain an option for WM patients who experience failure of other therapies including ASCT.

References

- Harris NL, Jaffe ES, Diebold J, Flandrin G, Muller-hermelink HK, Vardiman J, Lister TA, Bloomfield CD. World Health Organization classification of neoplastic diseases of the hematopoietic and lymphoid tissues: report of the Clinical Advisory Committee meeting-Airlie House, Virginia, November 1997. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17:3835–49.
- Harris NL, Jaffe ES, Stein H, Banks PM, Chan JK, Cleary ML, Delsol G, De Wolf-peeters C, Falini B, Gatter KC, et al. A revised European-American classification of lymphoid neoplasms: a proposal from the International Lymphoma Study Group. Blood. 1994;84: 1361–92.
- Swerdlow SH, International Agency for Research on Cancer, World Health Organization. WHO classification of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2008.
- Gertz MA. Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: 2013 update on diagnosis, risk stratification, and management. Am J Hematol. 2013;88:703–11.
- Castillo JJ, Olszewski AJ, Cronin AM, Hunter ZR, Treon SP. Survival trends in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: an analysis of the surveillance, epidemiology and end results database. Blood. 2014;123:3999–4000.
- 6. Baldini L, Goldaniga M, Guffanti A, Broglia C, Cortelazzo S, Rossi A, Morra E, Colombi M, Callea V, Pogliani E, Ilariucci F, Luminari S, Morel P, Merlini G, Gobbi P. Immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathies of undetermined significance and indolent Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia recognize the same determinants of evolution into symptomatic lymphoid disorders: proposal for a common prognostic scoring system. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:4662–8.
- 7. Garcia-sanz R, Montoto S, Torrequebrada A, De Coca AG, Petit J, Sureda A, Rodriguez-garcia JA, Masso P, Perez-aliaga A, Monteagudo MD, Navarro I, Moreno G, Toledo C, Alonso A, Besses C, Besalduch J, Jarque I, Salama P, Rivas JA, Navarro B, Blade J, Miguel JF, Spanish Group for the Study of Waldenstrom M, Pethema. Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: presenting features and outcome in a series with 217 cases. Br J Haematol. 2001;115:575–82.
- Phekoo KJ, Jack RH, Davies E, Moller H, Schey SA, South Thames Haematology Specialist C. The incidence and survival of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia in South East England. Leuk Res. 2008;32:55–9.
- Dimopoulos MA, Kastritis E, Owen RG, Kyle RA, Landgren O, Morra E, Leleu X, Garciasanz R, Munshi N, Anderson KC, Terpos E, Ghobrial IM, Morel P, Maloney D, Rummel M, Leblond V, Advani RH, Gertz MA, Kyriakou C, Thomas SK, Barlogie B, Gregory SA,

Kimby E, Merlini G, Treon SP. Treatment recommendations for patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia (WM) and related disorders: IWWM-7 consensus. Blood. 2014;124: 1404–11.

- Morel P, Duhamel A, Gobbi P, Dimopoulos MA, Dhodapkar MV, Mccoy J, Crowley J, Ocio EM, Garcia-sanz R, Treon SP, Leblond V, Kyle RA, Barlogie B, Merlini G. International prognostic scoring system for Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;113:4163–70.
- 11. Morel P, Merlini G. Can ISSWM be used for making treatment decisions? Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:121–3.
- 12. Morel P, Merlini G. Risk stratification in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Expert Rev Hematol. 2012;5:187–99.
- 13. Morel P, Monconduit M, Jacomy D, Lenain P, Grosbois B, Bateli C, Facon T, Dervite I, Bauters F, Najman A, De Gramont A, Wattel E. Patients with the description of a new scoring system and its validation on 253 other patients. Blood. 2000;96:852–8.
- 14. Gribben JG. Stem cell transplantation in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2009;15:53–8.
- Gertz MA, Reeder CB, Kyle RA, Ansell SM. Stem cell transplant for Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: an underutilized technique. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2012;47:1147–53.
- Tam CS, Khouri I. The role of stem cell transplantation in the management of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Hematol Oncol. 2009;27:53–60.
- 17. Chang H, Samiee S, Li D, Patterson B, Chen CI, Stewart AK. Analysis of IgH translocations, chromosome 13q14 and 17p13.1(p53) deletions by fluorescence in situ hybridization in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a single center study of 22 cases. Leukemia. 2004;18: 1160–2.
- 18. Dimopoulos MA, Kastritis E, Christoulas D, Migkou M, Gavriatopoulou M, Gkotzamanidou M, Iakovaki M, Matsouka C, Mparmparoussi D, Roussou M, Efstathiou E, Terpos E. Treatment of patients with relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma with lenalidomide and dexamethasone with or without bortezomib: prospective evaluation of the impact of cytogenetic abnormalities and of previous therapies. Leukemia. 2010;24:1769–78.
- 19. Latreille J, Barlogie B, Johnston D, Drewinko B, Alexanian R. Ploidy and proliferative characteristics in monoclonal gammopathies. Blood. 1982;59:43–51.
- Schmid JR, Kiely JM, Tauxe WN, Owen Jr CA. In vitro DNA and RNA synthesis in human bone marrow cells: a study of 12 normal subjects and 12 patients with lymphoplasmocytic disorders. Blood. 1966;27:310–8.
- Nichols GL, Skerrett DL. Peripheral blood stem cell mobilization and harvesting after fludarabine therapy for low-grade lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Stem Cells Dev. 2005;14:3–5.
- 22. Dimopoulos MA, Kastritis E, Owen RG, Kyle RA, Landgren O, Morra E, Leleu X, Garciasanz R, Munshi N, Anderson KC, Terpos E, Ghobrial IM, Morel P, Maloney D, Rummel M, Leblond V, Advani RH, Gertz MA, Kyriakou C, Thomas SK, Barlogie B, Gregory SA, Kimby E, Merlini G, Treon SP. Treatment recommendations for patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia (WM) and related disorders: IWWM-7 consensus. Blood. 2014;124: 1404–11.
- 23. Dreger P, Schmitz N. Autologous stem cell transplantation as part of first-line treatment of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2007;13:623–4.
- 24. Caravita T, Siniscalchi A, Tendas A, Cupelli L, Dentamaro T, Natale G, Spagnoli A, De FP. High-dose therapy with autologous PBSC transplantation in the front-line treatment of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2009;43:587–8.
- Desikan R, Dhodapkar M, Siegel D, Fassas A, Singh J, Singhal S, Mehta J, Vesole D, Tricot G, Jagannath S, Anaissie E, Barlogie B, Munshi NC. High-dose therapy with autologous haemopoietic stem cell support for Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia. Br J Haematol. 1999;105:993–6.
- Munshi NC, Barlogie B. Role for high-dose therapy with autologous hematopoietic stem cell support in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:282–5.

- Anagnostopoulos A, Giralt S. Stem cell transplantation (SCT) for Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia (WM). Bone Marrow Transplant. 2002;29:943–7.
- Tournilhac O, Leblond V, Tabrizi R, Gressin R, Senecal D, Milpied N, Cazin B, Divine M, Dreyfus B, Cahn JY, Pignon B, Desablens B, Perrier JF, Bay JO, Travade P. Transplantation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia—the French experience. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:291–6.
- 29. Anagnostopoulos A, Hari PN, Perez WS, Ballen K, Bashey A, Bredeson CN, Freytes CO, Gale RP, Gertz MA, Gibson J, Goldschmidt H, Lazarus HM, McCarthy PL, Reece DE, Vesole DH, Giralt SA. Autologous or allogeneic stem cell transplantation in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2006;12:845–54.
- 30. Gilleece MH, Pearce R, Linch DC, Wilson M, Towlson K, Mackinnon S, Potter M, Kazmi M, Gribben JG, Marks DI. The outcome of haemopoietic stem cell transplantation in the treatment of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma in the UK: a British Society Bone Marrow Transplantation study. Hematology. 2008;13:119–27.
- 31. Kyriakou C, Canals C, Sibon D, Cahn JY, Kazmi M, Arcese W, Kolbe K, Gorin NC, Thomson K, Milpied N, Niederwieser D, Indrak K, Corradini P, Sureda A, Schmitz N. High-dose therapy and autologous stem-cell transplantation in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: the Lymphoma Working Party of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:2227–32.
- 32. Stakiw J, Kim DH, Kuruvilla J, Gupta V, Messner H, Lipton JH. Evidence of graft-versus-Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia effect after allogeneic stem cell transplantation: a single centre experience. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2007;40:369–72.
- 33. Ueda T, Hatanaka K, Kosugi S, Kishino BI, Tamaki T. Successful non-myeloablative allogeneic peripheral blood stem cell transplantation (PBSCT) for Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with severe pancytopenia. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2001;28:609–11.
- 34. Anagnostopoulos A, Dimopoulos MA, Aleman A, Weber D, Alexanian R, Champlin R, Giralt S. High-dose chemotherapy followed by stem cell transplantation in patients with resistant Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2001;27:1027–9.
- Meniane JC, El-Cheikh J, Faucher C, Furst S, Bouabdallah R, Blaise D, Mohty M. Long-term graft-versus-Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia effect following reduced intensity conditioning allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2007;40:175–7.
- 36. Anagnostopoulos A, Aleman A, Giralt S. Autologous and allogeneic stem cell transplantation in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: review of the literature and future directions. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:286–90.
- 37. Garnier A, Robin M, Larosa F, Golmard JL, Le GS, Coiteux V, Tabrizi R, Bulabois CE, Cacheux V, Kuentz M, Dreyfus B, Dreger P, Rio B, Moles-moreau MP, Bilger K, Bay JO, Leblond V, Blaise D, Tournilhac O, Dhedin N. Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation allows long-term complete remission and curability in high-risk Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: Results of a retrospective analysis of the Societe Francaise de Greffe de Moelle et de Therapie Cellulaire. Haematologica. 2010;95:950–5.
- 38. Kyriakou C, Canals C, Cornelissen JJ, Socie G, Willemze R, Ifrah N, Greinix HT, Blaise D, Deconinck E, Ferrant A, Schattenberg A, Harousseau JL, Sureda A, Schmitz N. Allogeneic stem-cell transplantation in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: report from the Lymphoma Working Party of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:4926–34.

Long-Term Toxicity of Therapy in Waldenström Macroglobulinemia

Enrica Morra, Anna Maria Frustaci, Paola Picardi, Antonino Greco, and Alessandra Tedeschi

25.1 Chemotherapy-Related Second Hematologic and Non-Hematologic Cancers

t-MDS/AML has been frequently reported as a long-term complication of WM [1–10]. The incidence of t-MDS/AML in WM ranges from 1.2 to 8.9% (Table 25.1). The real incidence may be underestimated due to the need of a bone marrow examination to confirm the diagnosis.

Disease transformation to DLBCL represents a well-known complication of chronic lymphocytic leukemia and follicular lymphoma. This event is less commonly described in other indolent lymphoproliferative disorders and mostly appears in heavily pretreated patients. In WM patients, the occurrence of transformation has been more frequently reported after NA treatment. The incidence of transformation ranges from 1.4 to 10 % (Table 25.1) [2, 4–6, 8–10]. The cumulative incidence of all hematologic malignancies is 4.2 % at 10 years [15].

Few data are available concerning the incidence of SSTs in WM. Varettoni et al. [16] reported a risk of second cancer in pretreated WM patients 1.69 times higher than expected. The cumulative incidence of solid tumors among survivors of WM is 12% at 10 years, while the cumulative incidence of any secondary malignancy is 9.5% at 5 years and 16.1% at 10 years [15].

Disease-related immunodeficiency and therapy-related DNA damage have been postulated as possible mechanisms predisposing to second cancers in non-Hodgkin lymphomas. Some authors underline the crucial role of the immune system in the oncogenesis in WM, reporting an increased risk of second hematologic and non-hematologic cancers also in untreated patients [16].

E. Morra (🖂) • A.M. Frustaci • P. Picardi • A. Greco • A. Tedeschi Niguarda Ca'Granda Hospital, 20162 Milan, Italy

e-mail: ENRICA.MORRA@OspedaleNiguarda.it

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

V. Leblond et al. (eds.), Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_25

| | | Median F-U | | | Transformation |
|------------------------|-----|------------|-----------|---------------|----------------|
| Study (Year) | N | (months) | Treatment | t-MDS/AML | to DLBCL |
| Facon et al. [1] | 167 | - | AA | 2/167 (1.2%) | |
| Leblond et al. [2] | 71 | 34 | NA | 1/71 (1.4%) | 5/71 (7%) |
| Kyle et al. [3] | 46 | - | AA | 4/46 (8.6%) | |
| Garcia-Sanz et al. [4] | 217 | - | AA | 3/217 (1.4%) | 3/217 (1.4%) |
| Leblond et al. [5] | 46 | 34 | NA | 4/45 (8.9%) | 3/45 (6.7 %) |
| Leblond et al. [5] | 46 | 34 | AA | 2/45 (4.5%) | 2/45 (4.5%) |
| Tamburini et al. [6] | 49 | 43 | NA + AA | 2/49 (4%) | 5/49 (10%) |
| Ghobrial et al. [7] | 237 | - | AA | 16/237 (6.7%) | |
| Rakkhit et al. [8] | 111 | 55 | NA | 1/111 (0.9%) | 11/111 (10%) |
| Leleu et al. [9] | 193 | 60 | NA | 3/173 (1.6%) | 9/193 (4.7 %) |
| Leleu et al. [9] | 136 | 60 | AA | 0/136 (0%) | 1/136 (0.4 %) |
| Treon et al. [11] | 43 | 40.3 | R + NA | 3/43 (6.9%) | 3/43 (6.9%) |
| Lazlo et al. [12] | 29 | 43 | R + NA | 0/29 (0%) | 0/29 (0%) |
| Tedeschi et al. [13] | 43 | 38.8 | R+NA | 3/44 (6.9%) | 0/44 (0%) |
| Leblond et al. [10] | 169 | 36 | NA | 0/207 (0%) | 11/207 (5.3 %) |
| Leblond et al. [10] | 170 | 36 | AA | 3/207 (1.4%) | 14/207 (6.8 %) |
| Tedeschi et al. [14] | 40 | 51 | R + NA | 2/40 (5%) | 1/40 (2.5 %) |

Table 25.1 Incidence of t-MDS/AML and of transformation to DLBCL in WM patients according to the type of treatment

25.2 Cytotoxic Agents Associated with Second Hematologic and Non-Hematologic Cancers

The drugs associated with higher risk of these complications are the AA and the NA.

AA damage DNA either by methylation or by DNA interstrand crosslink formation. AA tend to be associated with t-MDS/AML, with a gradual dysplastic clinical onset and a latency period of 5–10 years, with unbalanced chromosomal aberrations mainly involving chromosomes 5 and 7. The prognosis of t-MDS/AML is poor, with a median survival of 5 months.

NA share structural similarities with nucleotides and can be incorporated into DNA or RNA, causing inhibition of cell proliferation and DNA repair. The DNA damage of marrow progenitor cells induced by fludarabine may also account for the impairment of peripheral blood progenitor cells collection. The combination of fludarabine with cyclophosphamide or other AA may increase the risk of t-MDS/AML due to their synergistic effect in producing DNA damage [9]. The median time to t-MDS/AML is 5 years. High occurrence of abnormalities of chromosomes 5 and 7 has also been described in t-MDS/AML secondary to NA therapy. The incidence of t-MDS/AML and of DLBCL transformation after AA and/or NA is shown in Table 25.1.

25.2.1 Alkylating Agents

Alkylating agents such as chlorambucil and cyclophosphamide have been extensively used as first or subsequent lines of therapy in WM. Chlorambucil has been used for almost five decades. Kyle et al. [3] compared, in a prospective randomized study, continuous and intermittent chlorambucil therapy in 46 untreated WM patients. t-MDS/AML was developed in 4/46 patients. All four patients had received intermittent chlorambucil at a total dosage of 2000–3300 mg.

Garcia-Sanz et al. [4] analyzed late adverse events in 217 patients treated with chlorambucil \pm prednisone (80%) or other AA-based regimens. The most frequent cause of death was the development of second malignancies, which was responsible for 16 deaths. MDS occurred in three patients, transformation to DLBCL in three patients, and solid tumors in 10 patients.

The largest experience on long-term AA toxicity has been reported by Ghobrial et al. [7]. The analysis included 237 patients with newly diagnosed symptomatic WM. After a median follow-up of 11 years, death due to t-MDS/AML occurred in 16 patients (6.7%) indicating that this may be a serious and fatal complication of AA therapy.

25.2.2 Nucleoside Analogs

The role of NA, in particular of fludarabine alone or in combination, in leukemogenesis and transformation to DLBCL has been extensively investigated.

The risk of t-MDS/AML or transformation to DLBCL specifically attributable to fludarabine-based therapy is difficult to quantify because indolent lymphoproliferative diseases have a long natural history often involving exposure to multiple lines of cytotoxic treatment and to radiation. Prior cytotoxic therapy appears highly likely to contribute to the risk of t-MDS/AML following fludarabine treatment.

Concerning the use of fludarabine in monotherapy, Leblond et al. [2] reported the effects of fludarabine in 71 patients previously treated with alkylating agents. After a median follow-up of 34 months, one patient developed t-MDS/AML (1.4%) and 5 (7%) a transformation to DLBCL. The same group, in 2001, compared in a randomized study the efficacy and toxicity of fludarabine alone versus CAP regimen (cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, prednisone) in 92 WM patients in first relapse after AA. After a median follow-up of 34 months, the incidence of t-MDS/AML was 8.9% in the NA arm and 4.5% in the CAP arm. The incidence of transformation to high-grade lymphoma was 6.7% in the NA arm and 4.5% in the CAP arm (Table 25.1).

A large retrospective study with the intent to determine the incidence of transformation to DLBCL and of t-MDS/AML was conducted at Dana-Farber Cancer Institute by Leleu et al. [9]. Among 439 patients with WM, 193 and 136 were previously treated with and without a NA, respectively, and 110 had similar longterm follow-up without treatment. The median follow-up for all patients was 5 years. Overall, 12 patients (6.2 %) either developed DLBCL transformation (nine patients; 4.7 %) or t-MDS/AML (three patients; 1.6 %) among NA-treated patients, compared with one patient (0.4 %) who developed transformation in the non-NA treated group (P < 0.001). No such events occurred among untreated patients. The predominant transformed histology was DLBCL for eight patients in the NA group and one patient in the non-NA. Among NA-treated patients, the 15-year probabilities of developing either transformation to DLBCL or t-MDS/AML were 21 % and 8 %, respectively. DLBCL transformation and t-MDS/AML occurred at a median of 5 years from onset of NA therapy. All NA-treated patients who developed t-MDS/AML died at a median of 5 months, while the median survival of NA-treated patients who developed transformation to DLBCL did not differ from other NA-treated patients as a result of salvage treatment either with R-CHOP or with R-CHOP followed by autologous stem cell transplantation.

25.2.3 Combination Therapy of NA with AA

Not only prior exposure to AA but also the combination of NA with AA may potentiate DNA damage and contribute to oncogenesis.

The effects of the combination of fludarabine and cyclophosphamide (FC) have been reported by Tamburini et al. [6] in 49 WM patients (35 previously treated and 14 untreated). After a median follow-up of 41 months, 5/49 patients (10%) developed transformation to DLBCL and two (4%) had t-MDS/AML.

25.2.4 Fludarabine Versus Chlorambucil in Terms of Late Effects

In 2012, Leblond et al. [10] reported the results of the first randomized trial in WM comparing chlorambucil and fludarabine in patients with WM/lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. A total of 339 patients with WM were enrolled, 169 in the fludarabine arm and 170 in the chlorambucil arm. With a median follow-up of 36 months, no statistically significant differences were found between the two arms in terms of transformation to DLBCL (14 in the chlorambucil arm and 11 in the fludarabine arm) or development of t-MDS/AML (3 t-MDS/AML, 1 hypereosinophilic syndrome, 1 Burkitt, and 1 follicular lymphoma in the chlorambucil arm; 1 mastocytosis in the fludarabine arm). Surprisingly, a significantly higher number of solid tumors were evidenced in the chlorambucil arm (20 versus 5 cases in the fludarabine arm), with a 6-year cumulative incidence rate of second malignancies of 20.6 % versus 3.7 % in the fludarabine arm (P = 0.001).

25.2.5 Combination of AA and/or NA with Rituximab

In WM, the efficacy and safety of the combination of rituximab with fludarabine have been investigated by Treon et al. [11] in 43 pretreated and untreated patients

with progressive disease. With a median follow-up of 40.3 months, three patients (6.9%) developed DLBCL, three patients t-MDS/AML, and two patients a SST. The median time from therapy initiation to transformation to DLBCL was 21 months and to t-MDS/AML was 39.4 months.

Rituximab has the ability to sensitize cells to both fludarabine and cyclophosphamide, enhancing their cytotoxic activity. The efficacy of the fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab combination (FCR) has been explored by Leblond et al. in 55 WM patients (15 treatment naive and 40 relapsed/refractory). After a median follow-up of 28 months, t-MDS/AML was observed in two heavily pretreated patients (3.6%), while three patients developed a solid tumor.

Tedeschi et al. [13] treated 43 WM patients with FCR in a multicenter prospective study (65% at first line therapy and 35% pretreated with one line of chemotherapy). After a median follow-up of 38.8 months, three patients heavily pretreated with AA developed t-MDS/AML with complex karyotype after 5, 24, and 60 months, respectively. None of the patients showed transformation to DLBCL. The same group treated 40 relapsed/refractory patients with the FCR combination [14]. After a median follow-up of 51 months, two patients (5%) developed t-MDS/ AML and 1 (2.5%) transformed to DLBCL.

Although data on fludarabine are more frequently reported, few trials on longterm toxicity after Cladribine (2-CdA) therapy have been published. In a retrospective study, Rakkhit et al [8] reported the incidence of transformation and of second malignancies in 111 WM patients treated for progressive disease. Patients received 2-CdA alone or in combination with other agents including prednisone, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab. After a median follow-up of 55 months, 11 patients (10%) showed transformation to aggressive lymphoma, with a median time to transformation of 37 months; 12 patients (11%) developed a SST; and one patient (0.9%) AML.

The combination of rituximab with subcutaneous 2CdA (0.1 mg/kg for five consecutive days, administered monthly for four cycles) has been reported by Lazlo et al. [12] in a prospective study including 29 patients newly diagnosed or previously treated without NAs. With a median follow-up of 43 months, no patient developed transformation to DLBCL or t-MDS/AML.

25.3 Combination Therapy with Bendamustine and Rituximab

Treon et al. [17] treated 30 relapsed/refractory WM patients with bendamustine and rituximab (BR). Late toxicities attributed to BR included prolonged myelosuppression (four patients including three patients previously treated with NA). One responding patient transformed to DLBCL following four cycles of BR and subsequently succumbed for lymphoma. Prior therapies for this patient included CVP-R, Velcade/Rituximab, and CHOP-R. One patient developed myelodysplasia without cytogenetic abnormalities after five cycles of BR; prior therapies included fludarabine/rituximab and CP-R.

Rummel et al. [18] compared, in a phase III randomized study, six cycles of BR with six cycles of R-CHOP as first-line therapy in 514 patients with follicular lymphoma (FL), mantle cell lymphoma, and indolent non-FL (41 of them had WM). Long-term effects were similar in both groups: second malignancies occurred in 20 patients of the BR arm compared to 23 in the R-CHOP arm, with one t-MDS/AML in each group. Bendamustine, more recently introduced in the therapeutic armamentarium of WM, requires further studies to determine the impact of this drug on long-term adverse events.

25.3.1 Conclusive Remarks on Cytotoxic Agents Associated with Second Malignancies

Genetic instability caused by chemotherapy increases the possibility of transformation to DLBCL or t-MDS/AML. Even if multiple data are available about fludarabine-related increased risk of transformation to DLBCL or t-MDS/AML, its oncogenic potential seems enhanced by prior or concomitant alkylating agentbased therapy.

The higher incidence of second solid tumors seems to be peculiar to WM, compared with other non-Hodgkin lymphomas, and is enhanced by the use of alkylating agents.

Lastly, despite the reported clinical efficacy of NA-containing combinations, these appear not to be indicated in patients who are potential candidates to consolidation with high-dose therapy with autologous stem cell transplantation. In fact, NA therapy may impair for a long time the possibility of mobilizing peripheral blood progenitor cells.

Regarding the potential long-term adverse events following bendamustine treatment in patients with WM, prolonged follow-up is needed to precisely assess the risk of transformation to DLBCL or development of t-MDS/AML and secondary solid tumors.

25.4 Rituximab-Related Late Adverse Events

Late adverse events related to rituximab are uncommon in WM. They are mainly represented by late-onset neutropenia (LON) and by viral infectious complications.

25.4.1 Late-Onset Neutropenia

Most investigators define LON as grade III–IV neutropenia occurring at least 4 weeks after the last dose of rituximab, in the absence of an alternative explanation. LON has been extensively described in patients with other non-Hodgkin lymphoma by Wolach et al. [19], while there are few studies specifically addressing

LON in patients with WM. The incidence of LON is generally reported to be in the range of 3–27 %. Several retrospective studies have been performed to evaluate the characteristics of patients developing LON after rituximab treatment [19–24]. LON is more frequently observed in patients receiving rituximab after ASCT. Other factors significantly associated with LON are the number of rituximab doses (cutoff of 4), previous exposure to chemotherapy, advanced disease stage, and more intensive cytotoxic regimens.

The mechanism of LON has not yet been defined. It has been attributed to an antibody-mediated process, to a lymphocyte subpopulation imbalance (based on the demonstration of T-LGL in peripheral blood and bone marrow), and to a polymorphism in immunoglobulin G Fc receptor FCgammaRIIIa 158 V/F. Although, in some cases, bone marrow examination may result normal, the most common finding is a myeloid maturation defect.

The clinical implications of LON may be relevant as it may affect subsequent treatment strategies. Infection complications, however, are infrequent. Data from major retrospective studies show an infection rate of 16.9 %. The risk of infections is strictly dependent on depth and duration of neutropenia. Other risk factors are the concurrent and prolonged hypogammaglobulinemia and the cellular immune dysfunction induced by rituximab therapy. The role of therapy with granulocytecolony stimulating factor (G-CSF) is an unanswered issue as in most series data are not conclusive. In some cases, however, a prompt response to G-CSF has been reported.

LON has not been reported after rituximab maintenance or after alkylatingbased immunochemotherapy. A high incidence of long-lasting neutropenia episodes has been reported after purine analog-based immunochemotherapy (fludarabine plus rituximab or fludarabine and cyclophosphamide plus rituximab). In these cases, myelosuppression should be considered as the consequence of drug toxicity, increased by the concomitant administration of rituximab and alkylating agents, rather than an imbalance of targeted B-cells.

In the series of 43 patients receiving fludarabine and rituximab reported by Treon et al. [11], 27 patients developed neutropenia; in three cases, grade 4 neutropenia lasted more than 6 months and a prompt recovery was observed after G-CSF. Similarly, in the fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab study of Tedeschi et al. [13], 19 patients (44 %) experienced long-lasting episodes of neutropenia after the last course but this did not translate in an increased rate of infections. In four of these patients, bone marrow biopsy showed a hypocellular marrow (personal data) demonstrating that neutropenia should be considered as a consequence of NA-induced myelosuppression increased by the concomitant administration of rituximab and alkylating agents.

Up to now, only one retrospective study by Treon et al. [25] evaluated the efficacy of rituximab as maintenance therapy in WM after rituximab combination treatment. No significant difference in absolute neutrophil count was observed during the follow-up period in the 85 patients receiving maintenance therapy compared to the control group.

25.4.2 Viral Infectious Complications: Progressive Multifocal Leukoencephalopathy

Rituximab therapy has been associated with viral infectious complications such as hepatitis B reactivation, cytomegalovirus, herpes simplex virus, varicella zoster virus, West Nile virus, and JC polyoma virus (JCV). PML is a rare demyelinating disease of the central nervous system that results from reactivation of latent JCV. Up to 92 % of the adult population is JCV seropositive. The risk of PML in patients with hematologic malignancies is estimated to be 0.07 %, with the highest incidence (0.5 %) being reported in chronic lymphocytic leukemia.

In the series of 52 patients with lymphoproliferative disorders reported by Carson et al. [26], three patients had WM. Median time from first rituximab dose to PML diagnosis was 16 months (1–90) and was 5.5 months (0.3–66) from last rituximab to PML. The case fatality was 90, 100 % among PML cases diagnosed within 3 months from the last rituximab dose versus 84 % among PML presenting after 3 months from rituximab discontinuation.

PML should be always suspected in patients treated with rituximab developing confusion/disorientation, motor weakness/hemiparesis, poor motor coordination, speech changes, and vision changes. A definitive diagnosis of PML is primarily confirmed by magnetic resonance imaging and by the documentation of cerebrospinal fluid JCV DNA by polymerase chain reaction or by brain biopsy. Treatment is most often ineffective.

References

- Facon T, Brouillard M, Duhamel A, et al. Prognostic factors in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: a report of 167 cases. J Clin Oncol. 1993;11:1553–8.
- Leblond V, Ben-Othman T, Deconinck E, et al. Activity of fludarabine in previously treated Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: a report of 71 cases- Groupe Cooperatif Macroglobulinemia. J Clin Oncol. 1998;16:2060–4.
- Kyle RA, Greipp PR, Gertz MA, et al. Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia: a prospective study comparing daily with intermittent oral chlorambucil. Br J Haematol. 1999;108:737–42.
- 4. Garcia-Sanz R, Montoto S, Torrequebrada A, et al. Waldenström macroglobulinemia: presenting features and outcome in a series of 217 cases. Br J Haematol. 2001;115:575–82.
- Leblond V, Levy V, Maloisel F, et al. Multicenter randomized comparative trial of fludarabine and the combination of cyclophosphamide-doxorubicin-prednisone in 92 patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia in first relapse or with primary refractory disease. Blood. 2001;98:2640–4.
- Tamburini J, Levy V, Chaleteix C, et al. Fludarabine plus cyclophasphamide in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Leukemia. 2005;19:1831–4.
- Ghobrial IM, Fonseca R, Gertz MA, et al. Prognostic model for disease-specific and overall mortality in newly diagnosed symptomatic patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Br J Haematol. 2006;133:158–64.
- Rakkhit R, Delasalle KB, Gavino MB, et al. Incidence of transformation to large cell lymphoma and to second malignancies in symptomatic patients with Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia (WM) treated with cladribine (2-CdA) combination induction therapy. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts). 2008;112:3065.

- 9. Leleu X, Soumerai J, Roccaro A, et al. Increased incidence of transformation and myelodysplasia/acute leukemia in patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia treated with nucleoside analogues. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:250–5.
- Leblond V, Johnson S, Chevret S, et al. Results of a randomized trial of chlorambucil versus fludarabine for patients with untreated Waldenström macroglobulinemia, marginal zone lymphoma, or lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2012;31:301–7.
- 11. Treon SP, Branagan AR, Joakimidis L, et al. Long-term outcomes to fludarabine and rituximab in Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2009;113:3673–8.
- Lazlo D, Andreola G, Rigacci L, et al. Rituximab and subcutaneous 2-chloro-2-'-deoxyadenosine (2-CdA) combination treatment for patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: clinical and biological results of a phase II multicenter study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;13:2233–7.
- 13. Tedeschi A, Benevolo G, Varettoni M, et al. Fludarabine plus cyclophosphamide and rituximab in Waldenström macroglobulinemia: an effective but myelosuppressive regimen to be offered to patients with advanced disease. Cancer. 2012;118(2):434–43.
- Tedeschi A, Ricci F, Goldaniga MC, et al. Fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab in salvage therapy of Waldentröm's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2013;13:231–4.
- 15. Castillo JJ, Olszewski AJ, Kanan S et al. Incidence and survival outcome of secondary malignancies among survivors of Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2014;(ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts): Abstract 855
- Varettoni M, Tedeschi A, Arcaini L et al. Risk of second cancers in Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Ann Oncol. 2012; 23: 411–5.
- Treon S, Hanzis C, Tripsas C, et al. Bendamustine therapy in patients with relapsed or refractory Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:133–35.
- 18. Rummel MJ, Niederle N, Maschmeyer G, et al. On behalf of the Study group indolent Lymphomas (StiL): Bendamustine plus rituximab versus CHOP plus rituximab as first-line treatment for patients with indolent and mantle-cell lymphomas: an open-label, multicentre, randomized, phase 3 non-inferiority trial. Lancet. 2013;381:1203–10.
- 19. Wolach O, Barey O, Lahav M. Late-onset neutropenia after rituximab treatment: case series and comprehensive review of the literature. Medicine (Baltimore). 2010;89:308–18.
- Voog E, Morschhauser F, Solal-Seligny P. Neutropenia in patients treated with rituximab. N Engl J Med. 2003;348:2691–4.
- 21. Nitta E, Idzutsu K, Sato T, et al. A high incidence of late-onset neutropenia following rituximab-containing chemotherapy as a primary treatment of CD20-positive B-cell lymphoma: a single institution study. Ann Oncol. 2007;18:364–9.
- 22. Tesfa D, Gelius T, Sander T, et al. Late-onset neutropenia associated with rituximab therapy: evidence for a maturation arrest at the (pro)myelocyte stage of granulopoiesis. Med Oncol. 2008;25:374–9.
- Hirayama Y, Kohda K, Kanuma Y, et al. Late-onset neutropenia and immunoglobulin suppression of the patients with malignant lymphoma following autologous stem cell transplantation with rituximab. Intern Med. 2009;48:57–60.
- 24. Weng WK, Negrin RS, Lavori P, Horning SJ. Immunoglobulin G Fc receptor FcgammaRIIIA 158 V/F polymorphism correlates with rituximab-induced neutropenia after autologous transplantation in patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:279–84.
- Treon S, Hanzis C, Manning RJ, et al. Maintenance rituximab is associated with improved clinical outcome in rituximab naive patients with Waldenström. Br J Haematol. 2011;154:357–62.
- 26. Carson K, Evens A, Richei E, et al. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy after rituximab therapy in HIV-negative patients: a report of 57 cases from the research on adverse drug events and reports project. Blood. 2009;113:4834–40.

Treatment Recommendations in Waldenström Macroglobulinemia

26

Véronique Leblond, Meletios A. Dimopoulos, and Steven P. Treon

26.1 Introduction

The Second International Workshop on WM (IWWM-2) provided criteria for the clinicopathological diagnosis of WM, as well as indications for initiation of therapy in WM patients. IWWM consensus panels have since provided treatment recommendations that were updated in 2008 (IWWM-4), in 2012 (IWWM-7) and in 2014 (IWWM-8) [1, 3, 4, 11, 13]. The combination of an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody with chemotherapy remains a recommended therapy in most patients with WM. The choice of the optimal chemoimmunotherapy should depend on the patient's comorbidities, consideration of short- and long-term toxicities, necessity for rapid disease control, and candidacy for future autologous stem cell transplant. Despite considerable heterogeneity in biology and clinical course, many mature B-cell malignancies are highly sensitive to kinase inhibitors that disrupt BCR signaling. Thus, inhibition of BCR signaling is emerging as a new treatment paradigm for WM patients.

V. Leblond (🖂)

M.A. Dimopoulos

S.P. Treon Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA e-mail: steven treon@dfci.harvard.edu

AP-HP Hôpital Pitié Salpêtrière, UPMC Univ Paris 6 GRC-11, GRECHY, Paris, France e-mail: veronique.leblond@aphp.fr

Department of clinical Therapeutics, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens School of Medicine, Athens, Greece e-mail: mdimop@med.uoa.gr

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 V. Leblond et al. (eds.), *Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5_26

26.2 Treatment Indications

Several patients with a diagnosis of WM may not need immediate therapy. Criteria for the initiation of therapy include IgM-related complications and/or cytopenias, constitutional symptoms, and bulky extramedullary disease [5]. For patients who do not fulfill the criteria and in whom only laboratory evidence may indicate a possible development of progressive disease (such as a minor decrease in hemoglobin level with asymptomatic anemia or mild increases in IgM) or mild increase of lymph-adenopathy or splenomegaly without discomfort for the patient, close observation is recommended. Plasmapheresis should always and immediately be used for patients with symptomatic hyperviscosity. Plasmapheresis alone is not an effective treatment of the disease and must be followed by a rapidly acting cytoreductive treatment.

26.3 Treatment Strategies

Rituximab alone can be considered for WM patients with immunological disorders secondary to WM, such as anti-MAG neuropathy, or in frail patients less likely to tolerate chemoimmunotherapy. Rituximab should be avoided in patients with high IgM levels due to concerns of an IgM flare and prompting symptomatic hyperviscosity.

Because rituximab is an active and a non-myelosuppressive agent, its combination with various chemotherapeutic agents has been extensively explored in WM. The combination of anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody and chemotherapy is considered standard of care in patients in first line treatment. The choice of chemotherapy depends on the comorbidities, how fast control of the disease is required, and the phenotype of the disease.

Chemoimmunotherapy combinations with rituximab (R) and cyclophosphamide/dexamethasone (DRC) or bendamustine (Benda-R) or bortezomib/dexamethasone (BDR) provide durable responses and are still indicated in most patients [6–8].

DRC is an active and safe treatment choice in first line for WM with a manageable toxicity, even in frail patients and can be considered for the first line treatment setting. Fludarabine-based combinations can be considered in fit patients with relapsed/refractory WM who have failed other, less toxic treatments. In young patients who are ASCT eligible, stem cells should be collected before fludarabine administration. Benda-R is effective in treatment-naïve and as well as previously treated WM patients. Treatment is well tolerated even in elderly patients with limited episodes of myelosuppression and infections when compared to purine analogue-based regimens. In elderly patients, as well as those with renal impairment, dose of bendamustine needs to be lowered.

Primary therapy with bortezomib is recommended for patients with high levels of IgM, with symptomatic hyperviscosity, cryoglobulinemia or cold agglutinemia, amyloidosis, and renal impairment, or in young patients in whom avoidance of alkylator or nucleoside analogue therapy is desired. Bortezomib should ideally be given once weekly and possibly by subcutaneous route but, in case of urgent reduction of the IgM level, bortezomib can be started at a dose of twice a week for one or two cycles and then be changed to once weekly dosing in order to reduce risk of neurotoxicity.

Carfilzomib-based therapy represents an emerging neuropathy-sparing option for proteasome inhibitor-based therapy for WM. Cardiac toxicity has been reported in 3–4% of MM patients and could be an issue especially in elderly WM patients with preexisting cardiac conditions. Other open issues include the optimal dose of carfilzomib and the optimal schedule of administration.

Rituximab maintenance therapy is an option in WM patients; given the benefits observed in other indolent lymphomas, as well as the results from a retrospective outcome study, though confirmatory prospective data, as well as studies to address the optimal dose, schedule, and duration of maintenance rituximab, are needed.

Immunomodulatory agents (lenalidomide, pomalidomide) and m-TOR inhibitors (everolimus) should be considered in the context of a clinical trial until further data are available.

The approval of the BTK inhibitor ibrutinib in the USA and in Europe represents a novel and effective treatment option for both treatment-naïve and relapsing patients. Ibrutinib is a BTK inhibitor effective in high-risk CLL and in mantle cell lymphoma patients. There is a strong rationale to use this drug in WM patients given that BTK is activated by mutated MYD88 and enhances the survival of WM cells by activation of NFKB. The efficacy of this drug may be also depend on CXCR4 mutations, with a lower response rate and delay in response in mutated patients asking the question whether treatment should be stratified according to the CXCR4 mutational status. Ibrutinib is an option in symptomatic WM patients [2, 9, 12]. However, the optimal use of therapy with ibrutinib (i.e., first line, or relapse) and use as a single agent or in combination (i.e., with rituximab or other anti-CD20 antibodies, proteasome inhibitors such as bortezomib or carfilzomib, or other agents) continue to be a subject of investigation. Stem cell transplantation should be discussed in selected WM cases, though should take into account the numerous available alternative treatment options, and should preferably be considered in the context of clinical trials.

In conclusion, many options are available in first line: chemoimmunotherapy with anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies or the combination of anti-CD20 MoAbs with proteasome inhibitors. The aim of the first line treatments is to reach a high response rate with a prolonged PFS. Clinical trials are needed with chemotherapy-free combinations with new compounds alone or in combination with anti-CD20 antibodies. Ibrutinib is approved in the front-line setting, and front-line trials with ibrutinib and other BCR inhibitors are needed for assessing the efficacy and tolerability of these agents in treatment-naïve patients.

In relapsed/refractory setting, investigation of BCR inhibitors along with existing and novel compounds in patients must be performed. Combination with proteasome inhibitors would be of interest for overcoming resistance and interfering with the two key pathways that are affected by MYD88. Obinutuzumab

with its shown efficacy in CLL and also now in follicular lymphoma will be of interest as a combination partner in WM. The use of CXCR4 antagonists such as plerixafor or ulucuplomab may also offer an opportunity to extend the activity of therapeutics impacted by the CXCR4 mutation in WM patients. Active enrollment in clinical trials is endorsed by the panel for most patients with WM.

References

- Dimopoulos MA, Kastritis E, Owen RG, Kyle RA, Landgren O, Morra E, et al. Treatment recommendations for patients with Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia (WM) and related disorders: consensus from the Seventh International Workshop on WM. Blood. 2014;124 (9):1404–11.
- Dimopoulos MA, Trotman J, Tedeschi A, et al. Ibrutinib therapy in rituximab-refractory patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia: initial results from an international, multicenter, open-label phase 3 substudy (INNOVATETM). Blood. 2015;126: Abstract 2745.
- Gertz MA, Anagnostopoulos A, Anderson K, et al. Treatment recommendations in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: consensus panel recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):121–6.
- Treon SP, Gertz MA, Dimopoulos M, et al. Update on treatment recommendations from the Third International Workshop on Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2006;107 (9):3442–6.
- Kyle RA, Treon SP, Alexanian R, et al. Prognostic markers and criteria to initiate therapy in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: consensus panel recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. Semin Oncol. 2003;30(2):116–20.
- 6. Buske C, Leblond V. How to manage Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Leukemia. 2013;4:762–72.
- Buske C, Leblond V, Dimopoulos M, Kimby E, Jäger U, Dreyling M. ESMO Guidelines Working Group. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2013;Suppl 6:vi155-9.
- 8. Treon SP. How I treat Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Blood. 2015;126:721-32.
- Furman R, Bilotti E, Graef T. Single-agent ibrutinib demonstrates long-term activity and safety in patients with relapsed/refractory Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Proc Eur Hematol Assoc. 2015; Abstract 1786.
- Buske C, Seymour J. Immunochemotherapy in Waldenström macroglobulinemia: still the backbone of treatment. Leuk Lymphoma. 2015;9:1–6.
- Dimopoulos MA, Gertz MA, Kastritis E, et al. Update on treatment recommendations from the Fourth International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27 (1):120–6.
- Treon SP, Tripsas CK, Meid K, Warren D, Varma G, Green R, et al. Ibrutinib in previously treated Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:1430–40.
- Leblond V, Kastritis E, Advani R, Ansell SM, Buske C, Castillo JJ, et al. Treatment recommendations for Waldenström macroglobulinemia from the Eighth International Workshop on WM. Blood. 2016. pii: blood-2016-04-711234. [Epub ahead of print].

Index

A

AA. See Alkylating agents (AA) Aberrant splicing, 39 Acquired angioedema (AAE), 233 Acquired von Willebrand syndrome (AVWS), 234, 247 AIHA. See Autoimmune hemolytic anemias (AIHA) AL amvloidosis diagnosis, 224, 225 lymphoplasmacytic proliferative disorder, 224 peripheral neuropathy, 225 treatment, 225 Alemtuzumab, 317 Alkylating agents (AA) chlorambucil and cyclophosphamide, 359 NA, 360-361 Amyloidosis, 189 characteristics, 198-199 diagnosis, 196 lung, 199-200 monoclonal gammopathy, 198 nerve, 199 rectal biopsy, 197 soft tissue, 200 therapy, 203–204 Anemia, 240, 241 Anti-BLyS monoclonal antibody, 317 Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC), 336 Anti-ganglioside, 188 Antigenic stimulation, 84 Anti-MAG paraproteinaemic peripheral neuropathy cerebellar and peripheral components, 186 nerve biopsy, 187 ARID1A, 59 ARID1B, 59

Atrial fibrillation, 329 Autoimmune hemolytic anemias (AIHA), 175, 176 Autologous stem cell transplantation chemorefractory disease, 349 cyclophosphamide-based conditioning, 348 line therapy, 348 melphalan-based regimen, 348 mobilisation, 347 NCNN guidelines, 347 treatment option, 349 in WM, 348 AVWS. *See* Acquired von Willebrand syndrome (AVWS)

B

B-cell antigen receptor (BCR), 79 B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL), 25 B-CLL. See B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL) BCR. See B-cell Antigen Receptor (BCR) Bendamustine (BR), 346 Bing-Neel syndrome (BNS), 190 antibody-mediated disease, 217 characteristics, 214, 215 CNS, 209, 210 CSF, 211 CTH, 211 features, 214 LPC cells, 210 treatment, 215-217 Biochemical investigations complement exploration, 251 cryoglobulins, 250, 251 diagnosis, 247, 248 Hevylite assay, 252, 253 limitations, 249, 250

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 V. Leblond et al. (eds.), *Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22584-5

Biochemical investigations (cont.) serum IgM monoclonal protein, 248, 249 sFLC, 251, 252 urine proteinuria, 250 B-lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS), 317 **B**-lymphocytes immunophenotypes, 24 BLyS. See B-lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS) Bone marrow (BM) biopsy, 200 CXCR4, 245, 246 cytogenetics and molecular biology, 244 **FISH**, 244 flow cytometric and immunohistochemistry study, 11 heterogeneity, 271 immunophenotypic study, 243 infiltration. 243 microenvironment cellular compartment, 74-75 cytokines, 85 miRNAs, 85 noncellular compartment, 75, 77, 78, 80 MYD88 L265P, 244, 245 myelofibrosis, 242 myeloma and CLL, 10 Bortezomib, 203, 204, 270, 338, 369 Bortezomib, dexamethasone, and rituximab (BDR), 338 Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK), 53, 54, 59, 327

С

CAD. See Cold agglutinin disease (CAD) Cancer predispositions aberrant splicing, 39 splicing defects, 39, 40 Cancer progenitors, 40 Cancer stem cells, 35, 36, 40 Carfilzomib, 369 C-C motif ligand 5 (CCL5), 77 CCL3. See Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 3 (CCL3) CCL5. See C-C motif ligand 5 (CCL5) Center for International Blood and Marrow Transplant Research, 348, 351 Central nervous system (CNS), 190, 191 **DLBCL**, 209 LPC cells, 218 Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leukocytes, 214 pleocytosis, 214 Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 3 (CCL3), 78 Chemotherapy (CTH), 211

Chlorambucil vs. fludarabine, 360 Chronic cold agglutinin disease (CAD) diagnosis, 176 extravascular hemolysis, 177 fludarabine therapy, 179 hemolysis, 177 LPL, 176 rituximab therapy, 179 Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (CIDP), 191 Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL), 346 Chronic lymphocytic leukemia, 308 CIDP. See Chronic inflammatory demvelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (CIDP) Clarithromycin, 335 Clonal dominance, 37 Clonal T-cells, 85-86 Cold agglutinin disease (CAD), 9 Cold agglutinin-mediated hemolytic anemia, 175 Combination of carfilzomib, rituximab, and dexamethasone (CaRD), 341 Complete remission (CR), 267-268 Conventional dose chemotherapy, 203-204 Cryoglobulinaemic vasculitis, 188-189 Cryoglobulinemia IgM/IgG, 180 treatment, 181 Cryoglobulins, 250, 251 CTH. See Chemotherapy (CTH) Cutaneous macroglobulinosis, 229 C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4) MYD88 L265P mutations, 245 CXCR4 cells, 332 CXCR4 somatic mutations clinical features, 57-59 GPCR. 56 heterotrimeric G proteins, 56 β -arrestin signaling, 57 Cytogenetic analysis, 244 Cytogenetics chromosome 6 (6q), 49 CXCR4 mutations, 8 FISH. 49 IGHV, 8 TP53 deletion, 50 trisomy 4 and 18, 50 WGS, 7 Cytotoxic agents AA, 359 bendamustine treatment, 362 chlorambucil vs. fludarabine, 360 NA, 359-360

D

Dexamethasone, 203, 204, 335 Dexamethasone cyclophosphamide (DRC), 346 Dexamethasone-related hyperglycemia, 339 Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL), 54, 56, 59, 209, 218 chronic lymphocytic leukemia, 357 follicular lymphoma, 357 t-MDS/AML, 359, 362

Е

EBV. See Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) Endoneurium, 189–190 Endothelial cells, 75, 76 Epigenetics histone acetylation, 69–70 miRNA, 68–69 miRNA-9*, 69–70 Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), 12 European Bone Marrow Transplant Registry (EBMT), 349 European Myeloma Network (EMN), 340 Extramedullary involvement, 6–7

F

Fanconi's syndrome, 227
FISH. See Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH)
Flare effect, 253–254
FLC. See Free light chain (FLC)
Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH), 49, 244
Free light chain (FLC), 307

G

G protein coupled receptor (GPCR), 56, 57 Gangliosides, 188 G-CSF. *See* Granulocyte- colony -stimulating factor (G-CSF) Genetic predisposition autoimmunity, 125–128 B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders, 136 candidate gene approach, 134 cytogenetics, 133–134 epidemiology, 124–125 genome-wide linkage analysis, 134 haplotype, 135 *HAS1*, 135–136 hematolymphoproliferative malignancy, 123

hyper-responder phenotype, 132 IgA/IgG and IgM disorders, 121 IgM monoclonal gammopathy, 128-131 immunoglobulin abnormality, 131 lymphoproliferative disorders, 121, 122 MGUS, 112, 113, 115, 117 monoclonal gammopathy, 111 myelopoietic cancers, 123 paraproteinemia, 111 paraproteins, 135 phenotype correlation, 124 tumorigenesis, 136 Glomerular monoclonal IgM, 226 GOMMID/immunotactoid GN, 227 GPCR. See G protein coupled receptor (GPCR) Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), 347, 363

H

Haemopoietic recovery, 272 Haemopoietic stem cell (HSC) transplantation high-dose myeloablative therapy, 347 WM characteristics, 346 HAS1. See Hyaluronan synthase 1 (HAS1) HATs. See Histone acetyl transferases (HATs) HCK, 54 HCV. See Hepatitis C virus (HCV) HDAC. See Histone deacetylase (HDAC) Hematological abnormality anemia, 240, 241 thrombocytopenia, 241 white blood cells, 242 Hemolysis, 177, 179 Hemostasis AVWS, 247 bleeding syndrome, 247 thromboembolism, 246, 247 viscosity, 246 Hepatic function. See Renal Function Hepatitis C virus (HCV), 100 Histone acetyl transferases (HATs), 69-70 Histone acetylation, 69-70 Histone deacetylase (HDAC), 69 Hyaluronan synthase 1 (HAS1), 135 inherited genetic changes, 40, 41 SNPs, 41, 42 systemic B cell malignancies, 43 Hyperviscosity syndrome (HVS), 229, 307 cryoglobulinemia, 173 plasmapheresis, 175 treatment, 173-175 viscosity, 172

I

Ibrutinib, 266, 270 BTK inhibitor, 369 IEP. See Immunoelectrophoresis (IEP) IFE. See Immuno fixation electrophoresis (IFE) IGHV. See Immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region (IGHV) IgM, 186 amyloidosis, 189 anti-MAG neuropathy (see Anti-MAG paraproteinaemic peripheral neuropathy) CAD.9 clonotypic sequences, 36-37 cryoglobulinaemic vasculitis, 188-189 endoneurium, 189-190 MGUS, 8-9 myeloma, 10 tumefactive amyloid Deposition, 190, 191 IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (IgM-MGUS), 8-9 differential diagnosis, 308 lymphoplasmacytic proliferative process, 298 prognostic factors, 309 risk factors, 99-101, 299 Immuno fixation electrophoresis (IFE), 144, 145, 149 Immunoelectrophoresis (IEP), 144 Immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region (IGHV), 8 Immunoglobulin Type M monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (IG-MGUS) definition, 144-145 IGH. 149 M-protein, 143 MYD88 L265P, 150 non-malignant causes, 158-160 plasmacytic/lymphoid malignancies, 158 prevalence, 146-148 risk factors, 148-149 Immunomodulatory drugs (IMIDs) combination therapy, 335 hematological toxicities, 336 lenalidomide, 337 myelosuppression, 337 neurotoxicity, 335 phase I/II study, 336 rituximab, 336 thalidomide, 336 Immunophenotype B-lymphocytes, 28

bone marrow, 3 characteristic, 243 FCM, 30 flow cytometric study, 5 heterogeneity, 26, 27 heterogeneous disorder, 5 IgM MGUS vs. WM, 27 lymphocytes, 22, 24, 25 lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma, 3, 4 MFC. 22 monoclonal antibody-based therapy, 29 MYD88 gene, 28 purine analogue, 29 Immunophenotypic protein expression profiles (iPEP), 24 Immunosuppression clonal cytotoxic T-cell, 88 pSTAT5 inhibitors, 89 Immunotherapy alemtuzumab, 317 anti-BLyS monoclonal antibody, 317 ofatumumab, 316, 317 rituximab, 315-316 ublituximab, 317 International Prognostic Scoring System for WM (IPSSWM), 283, 284, 327, 346 iPEP. See Immunophenotypic protein expression profiles (iPEP) Ixazomib, 341

L

Late-onset neutropenia (LON), 316 G-CSF, 363 non-Hodgkin lymphoma, 362 LC cast nephropathy (CN), 226 LON. See Late-onset neutropenia (LON) LPD. See Lymphoproliferative disorder (LPD) LPL. See Lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma (LPL) Lugano criteria, 266 Lung, 199-200 Lymph nodes, 271 Lympho plasmacytic lymphoma (LPL) BM. 21 clonal B lymphocytes, 26 Lymphocytes clonal B-cells, 22 intracytoplasmic/light-chain restriction, 24 iPEP, 24 Lymphoid malignancy acute myelocytic leukemia, 152 B-cell malignancy, 151

immunofixation electrophoresis, 157 lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma, 156 non-IgG MGUS vs. IgG MGUS, 152 retrospective approach, 157 Lymphoplasmacytic (LPC) CSF, 210, 216 Lymphoplasmacytic cells, 227, 332 Lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma (LPL), 3, 4, 176, 310 autoimmune disease therapy, 105 BM. 97 diagnosis, 101, 102 hematologic malignancy, 102 lung cancer, 104 myeloid leukemias, 104 myeloid malignancy, 104 non-Hodgkin lymphoma, 100 solid tumors, 104 thromboembolism, 105

M

Mast cells, 74-75 MFC. See Multiparameter flow cytometry (MFC) MGRS. See Monoclonal gammopathy of renal significance (MGRS) Minimal residual disease (MRD), 268 Minor response (MR), 268 miRNA, 68-69 miRNA-155, 68-69 miRNA-9*, 69-70 Molecular genetics. See Cytogenetics Monoclonal gammopathy, 198 Monoclonal gammopathy of renal significance (MGRS), 6, 227-228 Monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS), 227-233 acquired C1 inhibitor deficiency, 233 AL amyloidosis, 224–226 AVWS, 234 cutaneous manifestations autoimmune bullous skin diseases, 230 clonal cells, 229 hyperviscosity syndrome, 229 Schnitzler syndrome, 231-233 renal manifestations immunofluorescence, 229 metabolic disorders, 228 MGRS, 227-228 Monoclonal IgM PFS, 270 purine analogue-based therapy, 270

MRD. See Minimal residual disease (MRD)
Multiparameter flow cytometry (MFC), 22, 27, 30
Multiple myeloma (MM), 346
MYD88
clinical features, 57–59
DLBCL, 54, 56
HCK signaling, 54
MYD88^{L265P}, 54
MYD88^{WT}, 56
NF-kB signaling, 53
MYD88 mutated disease, 330
MYD88 mutation, 12
Myeloablative conditioning (MAC), 350
Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC), 88

N

NA. See Nucleoside analogs (NA) National Cancer Institute of Canada (NCIC), 338 Natural killer (NK) cells, 336 NK2 D receptor, 87 PD-1/PD-L1 axis, 87 **TCR**, 87 Neuropathy CNS, 190, 191 IgM, 186 nerve epitopes, 186-188 Neutropenia, 329 Non-relapse mortality (NRM), 349 Nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB) BTK, 54 MYD88 pathway, 59 TRAF6, 53 Nucleoside analogs (NA) AA. 360 DLBCL, 359, 360 rituximab, 360-361

0

Obinutuzumab, 369 Ofatumumab, 316–317 Oprozomib, 341

P

Paraproteinemia, 111, 112 Partial remission, 268 Peripheral nervous system (PNS), 210, 214 Peripheral neuropathy, 254, 298 PFS. *See* Predict progression-free survival (PFS) Pomalidomide, dexamethasone, and rituximab (PDR), 337 Predict progression-free survival (PFS), 270 Prognostic markers, 255-256 Progression-free survival (PFS), 269 Progressive disease, 269 Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML), 364 Proteasome inhibitors (PIs), 338 bortezomib activity, 338 everolimus, 341 mTOR inhibitor, 340 MYD88 and CXCR4 tumor, 341 nodal responses, 338 serum levels, 341 steroid-related toxicity, 340 thalidomide, 341 treatment, 339, 340 treatment-related neuropathy, 339 WMCTG trial, 338, 340

R

Renal function, 255 Risk assessment, 282-285 alkylating agent/ purine analogs, 280 asymptomatic patients, 282 biological characteristics, 284, 285 marrow failure, 280 prognosis, 281, 286 salvage therapy, 288 symptomatic patients combination chemotherapy/chemoimmunotherapy, 282 first-line therapy, 282, 283 genetic polymorphisms, 284 IPSSWM, 283 microRNA, 285 VWF, 284 treatment, 286-288 Rituximab, 10-12, 174, 179, 181, 203, 204, 337 AA and NA, 360-361 alkylators, 318-319 anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody, 368 B lymphoproliferative diseases, 315 BCR inhibitors, 323 bendamustine, 320-321, 361-362 bortezomib, 321-322 chemoimmunotherapy, 368 immunomodulators, 320 LON, 316, 362, 363 PML, 364

purine analogues, 319–320 Rituximab + alkylators, 318–319 Rituximab + BCR inhibitors, 323 Rituximab + bendamustine (RB), 320, 321 Rituximab + bortezomib, 321–322 Rituximab + immunomodulators, 320 Rituximab + purine analogues, 319, 320

S

Salvage therapy, 288 sCD27. See Soluble CD27 (sCD27) Schnitzler syndrome IL-1 receptor antagonist anakinra, 232 monoclonal IgM gammopathy, 231, 232 NOD-like receptor, 233 urticarial rash, 231, 232 SDF-1. See Stromal-derived factor (SDF-1) Second hematologic and non-hematologic cancers chemotherapy, 357 cytotoxic agents, 358-361 SEER. See Surveillance, epidemiology, and end results (SEER) Serum free light chain (sFLC), 251, 252 Serum protein electrophoresis (SPEP), 248 Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), 41 - 42HAS1 (see Hyaluronan synthase 1 gene (HAS1):) Smoldering Waldenström's macroglobulinemia biclonal gammopathy, 300 bone marrow lymphoplasmacytic infiltration, 299 lymphoplasmacytic bone marrow cells, 299, 302 SNPs. See Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) Soft tissue, 200 Soluble CD27 (sCD27), 256 SPEP. See Serum protein electrophoresis (SPEP) Splenomegaly. See Lymph nodes Stable disease (SD), 268-269 Stem cell therapy, 203 Stem cell transplantation (SCT), 346 Stromal cells, 74 Stromal-derived factor (SDF-1), 78 Surveillance, epidemiology, and end results (SEER), 102, 103 Systemic B cell malignancies HAS1.43
Т

T-cell receptor (TCR), 87 TCR. See T-cell receptor (TCR) Th17 cells, 88 The British Society of Blood and Marrow Transplantation, 348 Therapy-related myelodysplasia/acute myeloid leukemia (t-MDS/AML) DLBCL, 358, 359 DNA damage, 358 Thrombocytopenia, 241 Thromboembolism, 246 Toll-receptors (TLRs), 331 Total body irradiation (TBI), 347 TP53 deletion, 50 Treg cells, 88 Trisomy 4 and 18, 50 Tumefactive amyloid deposition, 190

U

Ublituximab, 317 Urine proteinuria, 250

V

Very good partial response (VGPR), 268 von Willebrand factor (vWF), 77, 234

W

Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (WM) alloSCT, 350, 353 anemia, 306 antiapoptotic factor, 331 anti-CD20-based combinations, 346 ASCT, 346 asymptomatic disease, 345 β2-microglobulin value, 305 biopsies, 331 bleeding diathesis, 306 bone marrow aspirate, 307 central nervous system, 305 chemorefractory disease, 353 chimerism and refractory disease, 351

chlorambucil/prednisone, 304 clonal evolution, 35-38 CT-defined adenopathy, 328 CXCR4 antagonist, 332 cytotoxicity, 331 diagnosis, 302, 304 donor chimerism, 351 dose escalation. 335 drugs/combinations, 346 everolimus, 331 fludarabine, 352 frameshift mutations, 332 HCK, 330 hemoglobin, 327 hyperviscosity syndrome, 307 ibrutinib, 327 idelalisib, 331 IgA and IgG levels, 329 immunomodulatory drug-based treatment, 336 lenalidomide, 335 lymphoproliferative disorders, 99 MAC alloSCT, 351 MYD88 and CXCR4 mutation, 329 myeloablative transplants, 352 myelodysplasia/acute leukemia, 309 neurotoxicity, 335 non-Hodgkin lymphomas, 345 phase I, 330 PI3K8, 330 plasmapheresis, 328 RIC alloSCT, 351 rituximab refractory WM patients, 330 splenectomy, 328 stem cell toxicity, 350 subclonal evolution, 330 targeted therapies, 332 thalidomide dose, 335 toxicity, 351 treatment algorithm, 350 treatment duration, 329 tumor cells, 329 White blood cells, 242 Whole genome sequencing (WGS), 7 World Health Organisation classification, 345